Acta Neurochirurgica Supplement 125

Massimiliano Visocchi Editor

New Trends in Craniovertebral Junction Surgery

Experimental and Clinical Updates for a New State of Art



Acta Neurochirurgica Supplement 125

Series Editor H.-J. Steiger

For further volumes: http://www.springer.com/series/4 Massimiliano Visocchi Editor

New Trends in Craniovertebral Junction Surgery

Experimental and Clinical Updates for a New State of Art



Editor Massimiliano Visocchi Institute of Neurosurgery Catholic University of Rome Institute of Neurosurgery Rome Italy

ISSN 0065-1419 ISSN 2197-8395 (electronic) Acta Neurochirurgica Supplement ISBN 978-3-319-62514-0 ISBN 978-3-319-62515-7 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62515-7

Library of Congress Control Number: 2018967723

© Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Contents

Part I Editorial	
Why the Craniovertebral Junction?	3
Part II Anatomy	
The Craniovertebral Junction and Laboratory Experience: The Italian Paradox Francesco Signorelli	11
Mastering Craniovertebral Junction Surgical Approaches: The Dissection Laboratory Experience at the Catholic University of Rome Francesco Signorelli, Vittorio Stumpo, Antonio Oliva, Vincenzo Lorenzo Pascali, Alessandro Olivi, and Massimiliano Visocchi	13
Surgical Highways to the Craniovertebral Junction: Is It Time for a Reappraisal? Giuseppe Roberto Giammalva, Domenico Gerardo Iacopino, Francesca Graziano, Antonella Giugno, Carlo Gulì, Luigi Basile, Massimiliano Visocchi, and Rosario Maugeri	17
The Endoscopic Endonasal Approach to Craniovertebral Junction Pathologies: Surgical Skills and Anatomical Study Paolo Pacca, Valentina Tardivo, Giancarlo Pecorari, Diego Garbossa, Alessandro Ducati, and Francesco Zenga	25
Endonasal and Transoral Approaches to the Craniovertebral Junction: A Quantitative Anatomical Study Francesco Doglietto, Francesco Belotti, Jimmy Qiu, Elena Roca, Ivan Radovanovic, Anne Agur, Walter Kucharczyk, Alberto Schreiber, Andrea Bolzoni Villaret, Piero Nicolai, Fred Gentili, and Marco Maria Fontanella	37
Ventral Brainstem Anatomy: An Endoscopic Transoral Perspective Oreste de Divitiis, Alfredo Conti, Teresa Somma, Flavio Angileri, and Paolo Cappabianca	45
Transoral Approach to the Craniovertebral Junction: A Neuronavigated Cadaver Study. Francesco Signorelli, Alessandro Costantini, Vittorio Stumpo, Giulio Conforti, Alessandro Olivi, and Massimiliano Visocchi	51

Part III Pathophysiology
Atlantoaxial Instability: Evolving Understanding. 59 Atul Goel 59
Ossification of the Posterior Longitudinal Ligament: Analysis of the Role of Craniovertebral and Spinal Instability
Role of Subaxial Spinal and Atlantoaxial Instability in MultisegmentalCervical Spondylotic Myelopathy71Atul Goel
The Craniovertebral Junction in Rheumatoid Arthritis: State of the Art.79Angelo Ferrante, Francesco Ciccia, Giuseppe Roberto Giammalva, Domenico Gerardo Iacopino, Massimiliano Visocchi, Federica Macaluso, and Rosario Maugeri79
Part IV Chiari
Chiari Malformations. 89 Cristina Mancarella, Roberto Delfini, and Alessandro Landi
The Role of Arachnoid Veils in Chiari Malformation Associatedwith Syringomyelia97Pasquale Ciappetta, Francesco Signorelli, and Massimiliano Visocchi
Atlantoaxial Fixation for Treatment of Chiari Formationand Syringomyelia with No Craniovertebral Bone Anomaly:Report of an Experience with 57 Cases.Atul Goel, Amol Kaswa, and Abhidha Shah
The Relationship Between Basilar Invagination and ChiariMalformation Type I: A Narrative Review.111Chenlong Liao, Massimiliano Visocchi, Wenchuan Zhang, Shiting Li,111Min Yang, Wenxiang Zhong, and Pengfei Liu111
Bony Decompression for Chiari Malformation Type I:Long-Term Follow-Up119Luca Massimi, Paolo Frassanito, Daniela Chieffo, Gianpiero Tamburrini,and Massimo Caldarelli
Surgical Treatment in Symptomatic Chiari Malformation Type I: A Series of 25 Adult Patients Treated with Cerebellar Tonsil Shrinkage
Treatment of Holocord Syringomyelia–Chiari Complex by Posterior Fossa Decompression and a Syringosubarachnoid Shunt in a Single-Stage Single Approach.133Giovanni Raffa, Stefano Maria Priola, Rosaria Viola Abbritti, Antonino Scibilia, Lucia Merlo, and Antonino Germanò133

Surgical Treatment of Chiari Malformation in Adults: Comparison of Surgical Techniques Described in the Literature and Our Experience L. Lavorato, A. Spallone, and M. Visocchi	139
Part V Surgery: Decompression—Lateral Approaches	
The High Cervical Anterolateral Retropharyngeal Approach Nabeel S. Alshafai and V. R. N. Gunness	147
Compression Syndromes of the Vertebral Artery at the Craniocervical Junction Jan Frederick Cornelius, Raoul Pop, Marco Fricia, Bernard George, and Salvatore Chibbaro	151
The Far Lateral Approach to the Craniovertebral Junction: An Update Nabeel S. Alshafai and Tomasz Klepinowski	159
Endoscope-Assisted Far Lateral Approach to the Craniovertebral Junction with Neuronavigation: A Cadaver Laboratory Experience Francesco Signorelli, Marco Pace, Vittorio Stumpo, Pasquale Ciappetta, Alessandro Costantini, Alessandro Olivi, and Massimiliano Visocchi	165
Extreme Lateral Approach to the Craniovertebral Junction: An Update Nabeel S. Alshafai and Tomasz Klepinowski	171
The Extreme Lateral Approach to the Craniovertebral Junction:An Anatomical Study	175
Part VI Direct Approaches	
Transoral Versus Transnasal Approach for Craniovertebral Junction Pathologies: Which Route Is Better? Massimiliano Visocchi, Francesco Signorelli, Chenlong Liao, Mario Rigante, Pasquale Ciappetta, Giuseppe Barbagallo, and Alessandro Olivi	181
The Endonasal Endoscopic Approach to Pathologies of the Anterior Craniocervical Junction: Analytical Review of Cases Treated at Four European Neurosurgical Centres. Salvatore Chibbaro, Mario Ganau, Helene Cebula, Beniamino Nannavecchia, Julien Todeschi, Antonio Romano, Christian Debry, Francois Proust, Alessandro Olivi, Stephane Gaillard, and Massimiliano Visocchi	187
Endoscopic Endonasal Odontoidectomy and Posterior Fusion in a Single-Stage Surgery: Description of Surgical Technique and Outcome Rosaria Viola Abbritti, Felice Esposito, Filippo Flavio Angileri, Fabio Cacciola, Daniele Marino, Giuseppe La Fata, Nicola Gorgoglione, Giovanni Raffa, Antonino Scibilia, and Antonino Germanò	197
Endoscopic Endonasal Approaches for Treatment of Craniovertebral Junction Tumours Davide Locatelli, Apostolos Karligkiotis, Mario Turri-Zanoni, Frank Rikki Canevari, Fabio Pozzi, and Paolo Castelnuovo	209

The Endoscopic Endonasal Approach for Treatment of Craniovertebral Junction Pathologies: A Minimally Invasive but not Minimal-Risk Approach 225 Massimiliano Visocchi, Francesco Signorelli, Chenlong Liao, Mario Rigante, Gaetano Paludetti, Giuseppe Barbagallo, and Alessandro Olivi
Stability-Sparing Endoscopic Endonasal Odontoidectomy in a Malformative Craniovertebral Junction: Case Report and Biomechanical Considerations229Matteo Vitali, Frank Rikki Canevari, Andrea Cattalani, Teresa Somma, Vincenzo Maria Grasso, and Andrea Barbanera20
Refinement of the Transoral Approach to Craniovertebral235Junction Malformations235Paolo Perrini, Nicola Benedetto, Francesco Cacciola, Pasquale Gallina,235and Nicola Di Lorenzo235
Part VII CVJ Instrumentation and Fusion
Occipitocervical Fusion
Occipitocervical Fusion: An Updated Review
Wiring or Screwing at the Craniovertebral Junction in Childhood:Past and Present Personal Experience253Massimiliano Visocchi, Francesco Signorelli, Alessandro Olivi, and Massimo Caldarelli253
Retro-odontoid Degenerative Pseudotumour Causing Spinal CordCompression and Myelopathy: Current Evidence on the Role ofPosterior C1–C2 Fixation in TreatmentPosterior C1–C2 Fixation in Maione, Massimiliano Visocchi,and Giuseppe M. V. Barbagallo
Insights into the Past and Future of Atlantoaxial Stabilization Techniques
Realignment of Basilar Invagination by C1–C2 Joint Distraction:A Modified Approach to a Paradigm Shift273Francesco Cacciola, Bronek Boszczyk, Paolo Perrini, Pasquale Gallina,273and Nicola Di Lorenzo273
Grisel's Syndrome: Non-traumatic Atlantoaxial Rotatory Subluxation—Report of Five Cases and Review of the Literature
Odontoid Fusion

Part VIII CVJ Trauma

Posttraumatic Anatomical Injuries of the Craniovertebral Junction and Treatment Implications: Part I. 297 Pasquale Ciappetta, M. Alsagheir, Francesco Signorelli, and Massimiliano Visocchi
Posttraumatic Anatomical Injuries of the Craniovertebral Junction and Treatment Implications: Part II Pasquale Ciappetta, M. Alsagheir, Francesco Signorelli, and Massimiliano Visocchi
The Decision-Making Process in Traumatic Lesions of the Craniovertebral Junction: An Evidence-Based Approach? Part I.309Pasquale Ciappetta, M. Alsagheir, Francesco Signorelli, and Massimiliano Visocchi
The Decision-Making Process in Traumatic Lesions of the Craniovertebral Junction: An Evidence-Based Approach? Part II313Pasquale Ciappetta, M. Alsagheir, Francesco Signorelli, Lorenzo Pescatori, and Massimiliano Visocchi313
Type II Odontoid Fracture: a case series highlighting the treatment strategies. 317 Ettore Fiumara, Silvana Tumbiolo, Maria Cristina Lombardo, Rosario Maugeri, Simona Porcaro, Francesco Gioia, Massimiliano Visocchi, and Domenico Gerardo Iacopino
Learning Curve in Surgical Treatment of Odontoid Fixation for aSeries of Type II C2 Fractures.Series of Maugeri, Domenico Gerardo Iacopino, Giuseppe Roberto Giammalva,Francesca Graziano, and Carlo Gulì
Functional Outcome After Odontoid Fractures in the Elderly
Part IX CVJ Infections
Management of Craniovertebral Junction Tuberculosis Presenting with Atlantoaxial Dislocation 337 Granit Molliqaj, Philipp Dammann, Karl Schaller, Ulrich Sure, and Enrico Tessitore
Extensive Spinal Epidural Abscesses Resolved with Minimally Invasive Surgery: Two Case Reports and Review of the Recent Literature
Complications of Halo Placement

Part X CVJ Neurophysiology

Occipital Nerve Stimulation for Refractory Pain after Occipitocervical Fusion . Giusy Guzzi, Attilio Della Torre, Donatella Gabriele, Giorgio Volpentesta, Domenico Chirchiglia, Carmelino Angelo Stroscio, and Angelo Lavano	365
Intraoperative Neurophysiological Monitoring for Craniovertebral Junction Surgery	369
Francesco Sala and Pietro Meneghelli	
Management of Anaesthesia. Federica Tosi, Orazio Genovese, Tamara Jovanovic, and Massimiliano Visocchi	381
Author Index	387

Editorial

Why the Craniovertebral Junction?

Massimiliano Visocchi



Historically considered a no man's land, CVJ surgery, or the CVJ specialty, has recently attracted strong consideration as a symbol of challenging surgery as well as selective toplevel qualifying surgery.

Although many years have passed since the beginning of this pioneering surgery, managing lesions situated in the anterior aspect of the CVJ still remains a challenging neurosurgical problem. Many studies are available in the literature, aiming to examine the microsurgical anatomy of both the anterior and posterior extradural and intradural aspects of the CVJ, as well as the differences in all possible surgical exposures obtained by the 360° approach philosophy. In this paper the author provides a short but quite complete at-aglance tour of personal experience and publications and the more recent literature available.

This special *Acta Neurochirurgica* supplement is entirely dedicated to the craniovertebral junction (CVJ). Anatomy, physiology, embryology, malformations, microsurgery and endoscopic surgery, as well as instrumentation and fusion procedures of the CVJ, are the main topics of the supplement.

Many national and international contributors have been invited to provide their experience and to highlight tips and tricks in their surgical practice according to the trends at their own schools and the worldwide interest in this special topic.

At present, if we do keyword searches in PubMed we can find 837 papers on 'craniovertebral junction', 558 on 'craniovertebral junction surgery', 311 on 'craniovertebral junction abnormalities', 470 on 'craniovertebral junction anatomy', 102 on 'craniovertebral junction transoral approach', 40 on 'craniovertebral junction transnasal approach', 27 on 'craniovertebral junction far lateral approach' and 5 on 'craniovertebral junction extreme lateral approach.'

Obviously such a search must be considered unreliable since it does not reflect the exact number of specific papers dealing with the topic. Nevertheless, the proliferation of special issues on CVJ in different journals, as well as local societies and the international CVJ society (i.e. the Craniovertebral Junction and Spine Society), demonstrate that such a scientific topic deserves strong consideration in the neurosurgical and spine community.

Schematically, we can divide the topic into direct and oblique approaches.

M. Visocchi



Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Direct Approaches

These are the transnasal and transoral anterior approaches, and the suboccipital midline approaches for decompression, instrumentation and fusion of the CVJ.

Endoscopically Assisted Endonasal Procedures

The introduction of video-assisted procedures in pituitary surgery and for treatment of skull base lesions latu sensu has allowed the publication of many anatomical and clinical studies dealing with the endoscopic endonasal approach to different areas of the midline skull base (from the olfactory groove to the CVJ) in recent years. Historically, the very first cadaver and clinical study publication line started in 2002 with Alfieri and then continued with Jho; by means of one or two nostril routes, both of them performed a totally transnasal endoscopic odontoidectomy [1]. Most important, Rodlens endoscopes were used: 2.7 or 4 mm in diameter and 18 cm in length, with 0°, 30° and 70° lenses. The surgical landmarks leading to the CVJ were considered the inferior margin of the middle turbinate, the Eustachian tubes and the nasopharynx. To identify the nasopharynx, the inferior margin of the middle turbinate was assumed to be a reference point. The juncture between the clivus and atlas was indicated by a line drawn between the Eustachian tubes. Alfieri et al. [2] concluded that "contrary to a conventional transoral approach, this endoscopic endonasal approach provides unlimited access to the midline clivus and a potential of carrying out surgical decompression at the ventral craniocervical junction without adding C1-2 instability". Three years later, Cavallo confirmed such an observation in a cadaver study [3, 4]. The first surgical case of fully transnasal endoscopic resection of the odontoid was performed by Kassam in 2005; the patient was a 73-year-old woman affected by rheumatoid arthritis. Kassam's equipment consisted of (1) a 0° endoscope; (2) a navigation system; (3) an ultrasonic aspirator; (4) a long angled endonasal drill; and (5) bayoneted handheld microinstrumentation. Soon after his very first experience, Kassam reported that "the defect created by transnasal approach is above the level of soft palate and should not be exposed to the same degree of bacterial contamination" [5]. Nevertheless he concluded that the transoral approach still remains the gold standard.

Although some studies have concluded that the endoscopic endonasal approach provides less morbidity than the transoral approach, this matter is still under discussion, which is consistent with our personal experience [6, 7]. The 'nasopalatine line' (NPL) concept was conceived in 2009 by Kassam's group in order to predict possible surgical problems related to anatomical limitations. The line was created by connecting the most posterior point on the hard palate in the midsagittal plane with the most inferior point on the nasal bone.

The intersection of the so-called Kassam line with the CVJ is measured relative to the inferior aspect of the body of C2 along its posterior surface. A preoperative radiological study of the possible anatomical limitations of the endonasal approach is mandatory in predicting the maximal extent of inferior dissection and the efficacy of odontoid surgery. Again, Kassam's conclusions were that the transnasal approach is indicated in *selected* cases as a valid alternative to the transoral microscopic approach for dealing with CVJ and should be performed only by dedicated endonasal surgeons after consistent cadaver anatomy training [8].

Endoscopically Assisted Transoral Procedures

In order to avoid full soft-palate splitting, hard-palate splitting, or an extended maxillo/mandibulotomy, use of a 30° endoscope has been proposed for the transoral approach. The introduction of the endoscope in such challenging surgery has changed the modern transoral philosophy; the operator gains access in all directions by rotating the instrument, thereby avoiding more destructive manoeuvres. In more detail, abnormalities, as in the high midclivus, can be visualized with the aid of an endoscope, without extensive soft- or hard-palate manipulation [5, 8]. Superior illumination can be obtained by the light source being located at the level of the abnormality.

One of our cadaver studies comparing the transnasal and transoral approaches demonstrated that the surgical exposition obtained using the endoscope in the transoral approach appears to be wider than that obtained using the transnasal approach in both the anterior and lateral projections: (1) in the coronal plane, both in coronal exposition (transnasal inferior to transoral from 50.77% to 83.88%, average 70.34%) and in the coronal surgical angle (from 65.58% to 86.71%, average 76.70%); and (2) in the sagittal plane, both in the vertical surgical angle (from 22% to 77.42%, average 56.53%) and in vertical exposition (transnasal inferior to transoral from 5.89% to 76.48%, average 35.89%). The surgical domain in the sagittal plane was found to span from the middle third of the clivus to the NPL with the transnasal approach and from the inferior third of the clivus to C3 with the transoral approach. Our conclusions were, and still are, that (1) with the aid of the endoscope and image guidance, it is possible to approach the ventral CVJ *completely*; (2) the inferior third of the clivus overlapped the surgical domain areas of the transnasal and transoral approaches; and (3) transorally it is possible to gain access to the CVJ with minimal tissue dissection, no palatal splitting and no compromise of surgical freedom, thanks to angled-lens endoscopes, which significantly improve the exposure of the clivus without splitting of the soft palate [9–12].

Endoscopically Assisted Transcervical Procedures

In 2007 an alternative endoscopic route to the anterior CVJ with the endoscopic transcervical approach was described by Wolinsky [13]. The choice of this option is strictly related to the limitation of the transpharyngeal approaches. With use of the transnasal and transoral (i.e. transpharyngeal) approaches, in the case of dura laceration, contamination with oral flora is likely to occur, tremendously increasing the risks of infection, meningitis and poor pharyngeal healing. Moreover, transcervical exposure is guite familiar to neurosurgeons and is mainly used in screw fixation of traumatic odontoid fractures. Such a 'revised' strategy has been proposed by the author for the surgical treatment of downseated CVJ lesions. Since the postoperative recovery time is shorter, it is possible to allow patients to consume food orally shortly after removal of the endotracheal tube. Moreover, in this surgery there is no need for a tracheostomy or a gastric or duodenal feeding tube as a result of the procedure in patients without preoperative dysphagia. On the other hand, CVJ decompression is too oblique and insufficient because there is very little control of the C1 ring, making this surgery uncomfortable and challenging. In fact the unfavourable angle of the C1 ring matching makes it difficult or impossible to dissect this portion, which needs to be removed to gain access to the lower clivus, increasing the risk of damage. Basilar impression and other high pathologies do not seem suitable for this approach [13].

The Navigated Transoral Approach

The surgeon's ability to visually reconstruct the imagingmagnified three-dimensional anatomy is greatly improved by the use of image guidance, allowing a thorough inspection in multiple reconstructed views of the anatomical images before and during the surgical procedure. In order to better plan the surgical technique, preoperative and intraoperative use of neuronavigation is helpful and allows fluoroscopy to be avoided. It takes no more than 5-10 min to perform the registration procedures. The calculated accuracy is less than 1 mm, but the error associated with a spinal shift is not completely eliminated. There is increasing acceptance of robotic surgical technology, which holds promise for use in a growing number of applications. Nevertheless, its indications in head and neck surgery are limited so far. Use of robotics along with neuronavigation allows (1) performance of two-handed surgery through small openings; (2) use of articulated instruments; and (3) improved fine motor control with a tremor filter [9–11].

Sublaminar Instrumented Wiring Versus Lateral Mass Screw Implants

In 1939 Gallie reported his method of laminar wiring. Bone grafts from the patient's iliac crest were put over the C2 spinous process against the C1 posterior arch. In 1971 Barbour first introduced anterior transarticular screw fixation of C1-C2, and it was used to stabilize the lateral atlantoaxial joints in cases of odontoid fractures. In 1975 Tucker introduced the concept of applying interlaminar clamps to the atlantoaxial joint, and in 1988 Holness described the first case of it. In 1979 Magerl introduced the transarticular screw technique, which, for the first time, enabled complete obliteration of the rotational movement and could be used when the posterior axis was damaged. In 1978 Brooks and Jenkins offered an alternative to address this rotational instability problem; two iliac crest grafts were placed between the C1 and C2 arches and stabilized with two wires, one on each side. In 1984 Goel introduced C1 lateral mass screws and C2 pedicle screws (C1LMS, C2PS); subsequently Harms and Melcher substituted the plates used by Goel with rods and contributed to popularization of the method [14]. In 1991 Dickman and Sonntag published a modification of the wiring techniques in an attempt to solve the disadvantages of the two previously described techniques by using only one self-locking titanium cable [15]. In 2002 Benzel et al. published a different entry point: through the posterior arch. In the same year Wright developed the translaminar screw (TLS) for C2; such a procedure is less stable biomechanically and poses a very small risk to the vertebral artery. Several clinical studies have been reported, stating that the results achieved by lateral mass screw implants are better than those achieved by sublaminar instrumented wiring [16]. However, complications reported at the very beginning of the experience (e.g. 30% of screws pulling out in the suboccipital area and a mortality rate of up to 9% after complex spine decompression and fixation) discouraged mainly paediatric spine surgeons [17]. Very interestingly, a 100% rate of fusion and a 10.4% rate of complications, including vertebral artery injuries, have been reported with lateral mass screw implantations in a paediatric population [14]. Otherwise, both lateral mass screw implantations and sublaminar instrumented procedures have apparently resulted in the same 100% rate of fusion in more recent experiences [17]. According to our personal experience, good mechanical properties with low complication rates are offered by sublaminar instrumented wiring procedures, and so far they can be considered an excellent simple method for stabilizing the upper cervical spine and the CVJ. Wiring, augmented with external immobilization, produces good stiffness, according to the number of vertebrae enclosed in instrumentation, and can be associated with a 100% rate of bone fusion. Despite clear advantages of screwing techniques in terms of blood loss, surgery duration and postoperative immobilization, the complication rates in terms of infection seem to be similar [18].

Oblique Approaches

These are the anterolateral (extreme lateral) and posterolateral (far lateral) approaches.

In 1972 Hammon first described the far lateral approach (posterolateral approach) (FLA) for vertebral artery aneurysms; this approach has since undergone numerous modifications, including drilling of the occipital condyle, removal of the laminas of the upper cervical vertebrae and so on. Also, the range of indications has increased exponentially. George described a vertebral artery (VA) medial mobilization from C2 to its dural entrance point, with ligation of the sigmoid sinus and without condyle drilling [19]. The FLA, as originally described, is a surgical approach through a lateral suboccipital route, directed behind the vertebral artery and the sternocleidomastoid muscle, just medial to the atlas, the occipital condyles and the atlanto-occipital joints. The standard suboccipital approach can be considered the precursor of the FLA, which was conceived in order to maximize the exposure of the CVJ, mainly in the lateroventral aspect. Bone removal improves the angle of view by removing the posterior arch of C1 and the most lateral part of the inferior occipital squama, following a basic principle of cranial base surgery. Various portions of the occipital condyle are drilled, thus increasing the exposure. On rare occasions the vertebral artery is transposed in order to improve tangential lateroventral cervicomedullary area exposition for an unobstructed view of the CVJ more consistent with better management of the huge and heterogeneous spectrum of different pathological patterns involving this area.

The transcondylar, supracondylar and paracondylar approaches are considered expressions as well as variants of

the FLA, all devoted to more effective surgical control of intradural, anterior and anterolateral CVJ lesions. Exposure of the upper cervical spine, the foramen magnum and the lower third of the clivus can be obtained without a significant decrease in the stability of the CVJ. Minimization of morbidity is possible because of watertight dural closure, far from contaminated regions.

Excellent exposure of extradural lesions located in the ipsilateral anterolateral aspects of the CVJ and anterior to the extradural region is provided by the far lateral atlantooccipital transarticular approach. On the other hand, the socalled extreme lateral atlanto-occipital transarticular approach provides excellent surgical exposure extending across the midline to the medial aspect of the contralateral atlanto-occipital joint and the lower clivus.

The *extreme lateral approach* (*anterolateral approach*), as originally described, is a direct anterolateral approach behind the internal jugular vein along the front of the vertebral artery and deep to the anterior part of the sternocleidomastoid muscle. This term dates back to 1990 when Sen and Sekhar depicted an alternative way to handle meningiomas and schwannomas located anteriorly at the cervicomedullary junction [20].

The extreme lateral approach (ELA) is generally considered a more aggressive extension of the FLA. By drilling the condyles at the atlanto-occipital joints also in the ELA, it is possible to widen the surgical view but with a different exposure angle because of the differences in the direction of the approach.

The FLA and ELA variants of the atlanto-occipital transarticular approach to the anterior extradural structures at the CVJ provide an effective alternative to the classic transoral approach. In fact, with both of the latter approaches described here, it is possible to (1) avoid the contaminated nasopharynx; (2) reduce the incidence of cerebrospinal fluid leakage; (3) provide a shorter surgical route; and (4) allow the lateral limitations of the atlanto-occipital joints to be overcome.

The posterolateral and anterolateral approaches and their modifications should be strongly considered in the armamentarium of all surgeons dedicated to approaching lesions of the CVJ.

Conclusion

Although it has appeared to be quite detailed, this brief tour around the world of the craniovertebral junction has provided merely a glimpse of this world, which is full of no man's lands that deserve to be better investigated and stories that need to be continued.

The craniovertebral junction is one of the most fascinating surgical fields of the future.

Menezes algorithm



Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The author declares that he has no competing interests.

References

- Visocchi M. Advances in videoassisted anterior surgical approach to the craniovertebral junction. Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg. 2011;37:97–110.
- Alfieri A, Jho HD, Tschabitscher M. Endoscopic edonasal approach to the ventral craniocervical junction: anatomical study. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2002;144:219–25.
- Visocchi M, Di Martino A, Maugeri R, González Valcárcel I, Grasso V, Paludetti G. Videoassisted anterior surgical approaches to the craniocervical junction: rationale and clinical results. Eur Spine J. 2015;24(12):2713–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-015-3873-6.
- 4. Visocchi M. Transnasal and transoral approach to the clivus and the craniovertebral junction. J Neurosurg Sci. 2015.
- Visocchi M, Signorelli F, Liao C, Rigante M, Paludetti G, Barbagallo G, et al. Endoscopic endonasal approach for craniovertebral junction pathologies: myth and truth in clinical series and personal experience. World Neurosurg. 2017;101:122–9. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.01.099.
- Visocchi M, Signorelli F, Liao C, Rigante M, Paludetti G, Barbagallo G, et al. Transoral versus transnasal approach for craniovertebral junction pathologies: never say never. World Neurosurg. 2018;110:592–603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.05.125.
- Visocchi M, Iacopino DG, Signorelli F, Olivi A, Maugeri R. Walk the line: the surgical highways to the craniovertebral junction in endoscopic approaches: a historical perspective. World Neurosurg. 2018;110:544–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. wneu.2017.06.125.
- Visocchi M, Pappalardo G, Pileggi M, Signorelli F, Paludetti G, La Rocca G. Experimental endoscopic angular domains of transnasal and transoral routes to the craniovertebral junction. Light and shade. Spine. 2015;24(Suppl 4):S564–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00586-014-3720-1.
- Visocchi M, Trevisi G, Iacopino DG, Tamburrini G, Caldarelli M, Barbagallo GM. Odontoid process and clival regeneration with Chiari malformation worsening after transoral decompression: an

unexpected and previously unreported cause of "accordion phenomenon". Eur Spine J. 2014;18:564–8.

- Visocchi M, Della Pepa GM, Doglietto F, Esposito G, La Rocca G, Massimi L. Video-assisted microsurgical transoral approach to the craniovertebral junction: personal experience in childhood. Childs Nerv Syst. 2011;27:825–31.
- Visocchi M. Videoassisted anterior surgical approaches to the craniocervical junction: rationale and clinical results. Eur Spine J. 2014;24(12):2713–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00586-015-3873-6.
- Visocchi M, La Rocca G, Della Pepa GM, Stigliano E, Costantini A, Di Nardo F, et al. Anterior video-assisted approach to the craniovertebral junction: transnasal or transoral? A cadaver study. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2014;156:285–92.
- Wolinsky JP, Sciubba DM, Suk I, Gokaslan ZL. Endoscopic image-guided odontoidectomy for decompression of basilar invagination via a standard anterior cervical approach. Technical note. J Neurosurg Spine. 2007;6:184–91.
- Visocchi M. Considerations on "endoscopic endonasal approach to the craniovertebral junction: the importance of the anterior C1 arch preservation or its reconstruction" [letter]. Acta Otorhinolaringol Ital. 2016;36:228–30. https://doi.org/10.14639/0392-100X-927.
- Visocchi M, Di Rocco F, Meglio M. Craniocervical junction instability: instrumentation and fusion with titanium rods and sublaminar wires. Effectiveness and failures in personal experience. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2003;145:265–72.
- Visocchi M, Fernandez EM, Ciampini A, Di Rocco C. Reducible and irreducible os odontoideum treated with posterior wiring, instrumentation and fusion. Past or present? Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2009;151(10):1265–74.
- Visocchi M, Pietrini D, Tufo T, Fernandez E, Di Rocco C. Preoperative irreducible C1–C2 dislocations: intra-operative reduction and posterior fixation. The "always posterior strategy". Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2009;151:551–9.
- Visocchi M, Mattogno PP, Signorelli F, Zhong J, Iacopino G, Barbagallo G. Complications in craniovertebral junction instrumentation: hardware removal can be associated with long-lasting stability. Personal experience. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2017;124:187–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-39546-3_29.
- Babu RP, Sekhar LN, Wright DC. Extreme lateral transcondylar approach: technical improvements and lessons learned. J Neurosurg. 1994;81(1):49–59.
- Sen CN, Sekhar LN. An extreme lateral approach to intradural lesions of the cervical spine and foramen magnum. Neurosurgery. 1990;27(2):197–204.

Anatomy

The Craniovertebral Junction and Laboratory Experience: The Italian Paradox



Francesco Signorelli

Current neurosurgical training can rely on innovative methods that have been provided, especially in recent years, by the remarkable and constant evolution of surgical techniques, instruments and additional dedicated tools. Moreover, the increasingly widespread access to educational material in the forms of lectures, surgical videos and anatomical dissections represents an innovative and helpful resource, which is easily available to young surgeons. Nevertheless, the international scientific literature agrees that anatomical dissection of cadavers remains fundamental in the long process of neurosurgical education and constitutes an invaluable tool for anatomical and surgical research.

The craniovertebral junction (CVJ) is a complex anatomical region frequently affected by different pathologies, which can be either congenital or acquired. Because of its regional complexity, practical knowledge and full mastery of craniocervical anatomy—which can be mostly achieved only through direct anatomical dissection—are required to safely perform surgical procedures in this intricate area.

In this scenario, Italy nowadays represents a paradox: despite the secular tradition of anatomical dissection begun by Leonardo da Vinci and moved forward by authorities such as Vesalius and Golgi, surgical training in anatomical laboratories is an opportunity that is seldom exploited and is obstructed by the constraints of a lacking and fragmentary legislative framework and by the absence of body donation programmes for study and research purposes. Because it is so difficult to perform cadaver dissections in Italy—the cradle of anatomical studies in the sixteenth century—Italian surgeons often need to go abroad to attend rather expensive training courses in anatomical dissection laboratories.

The legal procedure to become a donor is hindered by some unresolved cultural issues such as the 'ownership' of cadavers, how consent is to be given during the donor's life and which Institution has the responsibility for conservation of the body

F. Signorelli

[1]. The current legislation actually makes it impossible to use cadavers for anatomosurgical dissection. In particular, the main legal reference point dates back more than 80 years [2]. The article regulates religious sentiment and pity for the deceased, punishing anyone who dissects or, in any other way, uses a corpse or part of it for scientific or didactic purposes in cases not allowed by law. An almost contemporary decree (Regio Decreto of 31 August 1933) establishes that only bodies not recognized by the deceased person's relatives within six degrees of consanguinity can be used for scientific purposes. Such a regulation, which is still in force, is never applied in actual practice. Moreover, the legitimacy of using unclaimed bodies has exposed vulnerable groups to dissection without their consent [3]. In the absence of a consistent legislative framework, a number of centres for body collections and programmes for body donations have only recently been established [4].

A craniovertebral junction surgery research centre was established in March 2015 at the Catholic University School of Medicine in Rome (Rector's Decree No. 1674). The research centre and its laboratory are located at the Section of Legal Medicine and Insurance, Institute of Public Health, at the University. In this setting, to maximize the dissection experience and to overcome the lack of anatomical specimens, we have used—in addition to fresh cadavers—injected head and neck specimens:

 Fresh cadavers of individuals who have died between 24 and 48 h beforehand in non-traumatic circumstances, only in those cases in which a diagnostic examination is required and in which there is a specific indication to dissect the neck for forensic–legal reasons: Special authorization has already been obtained from the ethics committee (protocol no. P663/EC/2010, approved on 28 July 2010; subsequent amendment no. P437/CE 2012, approved on 2 May 2012). Fresh cadavers have mostly been used to perform an anterolateral (extreme lateral) approach, transcervical retropharyngeal approach, and transoral or transnasal approaches to the CVJ.

Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

2. Fresh-frozen specimens that are later injected with a silicone solution to perfuse the venous and arterial system, purchased from private companies: With the aim of cost reduction, we have carried out all phases of specimen preparation (i.e. thawing, irrigation, fixation, perfusion and storage) according to a protocol developed at our research centre. On these specimens, posterior and posterolateral approaches to the CVJ, as well as other keyhole approaches, have been performed with the aid of neuronavigation, visual magnification of 3.5× offered by binocular lenses, a microscope and an endoscope.

To conclude, anatomical dissections play an irreplaceable role in the training of residents and young specialists, especially when they are approaching an anatomical region that is among the most complex in the entire body, such as the craniovertebral junction. Accordingly, promotion of donation programmes is crucial to allow Italian universities to keep up with the training provided by the most prestigious European and American higher education centres. **Compliance with Ethical Standards** No financial support was received for the preparation of this paper.

Competing Interests The author declares that he has no competing interests.

References

- Ciliberti R, Martini M, Bonsignore A, Penco S. Break with tradition: donating cadavers for scientific purposes and reducing the use of sentient beings. Ann Ist Super Sanità. 2016;52(2):261–8.
- Rocco A. Dei delitti contro il sentimento religioso e contro la pietà dei defunti. Penal code, second book, title IV, articles. Milan: Vallardi; 1930. p. 402–13.
- Jones DG, Whitaker MI. Anatomy's use of unclaimed bodies, reasons against continued dependence on an ethically dubious practice. Clin Anat. 2012;25(2):246–54. https://doi.org/10.1002/ca.21223.
- De Caro R, Macchi V, Porzionato AA. Promotion of body donation and use of cadavers in anatomical education at the University of Padova. Anat Sci Educ. 2009;2(2):91–2. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ase.69.

Mastering Craniovertebral Junction Surgical Approaches: The Dissection Laboratory Experience at the Catholic University of Rome



Francesco Signorelli, Vittorio Stumpo, Antonio Oliva, Vincenzo Lorenzo Pascali, Alessandro Olivi, and Massimiliano Visocchi

Introduction

Methods

The craniovertebral junction is an intricate anatomical region frequently affected by neoplastic, vascular, traumatic, congenital and degenerative pathology. Because the topography of this region is complex, direct knowledge and full mastery of craniocervical anatomy is mainly obtained through anatomical dissections performed in neuroanatomical laboratories.

In neurosurgery, scientific knowledge and manual skills must converge; therefore, anatomical dissection of cadavers remains the cornerstone of neurosurgical education and represents an invaluable tool for research.

Nowadays, in Italy—despite the secular tradition of anatomical dissection practised by pioneers such as Mondino de Luzzi, Leonardo da Vinci, Andreas Vesalius, Giovanni Battista Morgagni, Antonio Pacchioni, Luigi Rolando, Camillo Golgi and many others—surgical training in anatomical laboratories is rarely performed, being halted by the restrictions of disconnected legislative regulations and the absence of donation programmes for bodies to be used for study, training and research purposes.

In this paper we outline our experience in establishing an equipped craniovertebral junction laboratory for anatomical dissection, with a specific focus on some aspects concerning the preparation of specimens.

Laboratory Environment

Most of our equipment has been purchased with funds from the Craniovertebral Junction Surgery Research Centre, established in March 2015 at the Catholic University School of Medicine in Rome (Rector's Decree no. 1674), and from the "Master on Surgical Approaches to the Craniovertebral Junction" fund of the University. All phases of the studies are conducted at the Section of Legal Medicine and Insurance, Institute of Public Health, at the University. The Institute has two dissection stations, which mimic the operating room environment, and a dedicated computed tomography (CT) station. Each dissection station houses a scialytic lamp with a video capture unit, which allows recording of both still images and video for archival purposes. The laboratory is equipped with the following instruments: binocular lenses (visual magnification 3.5×), 420 mm; 0° and 30° rod lens endoscope (Storz, Tuttlingen, Germany); neuronavigation (Medtronic StealthStation Treon Plus): high-speed drill (Storz); vacuum aspirator (Super Vega Battery); digital camera (EOS 7D telescopic lens image stabilizer ultrasonic macro 100 mm; Canon, Tokyo, Japan); operating microscope (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany); microsurgical instruments; and stainless steel headholder.

Cadaver Specimens

With the aim of providing the best possible dissection experience, two kinds of anatomical specimens are used: fresh cadavers and injected 'head and neck' specimens.

A. Oliva · V. L. Pascali Institute of Public Health, Section of Legal Medicine, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

F. Signorelli (\boxtimes) · V. Stumpo · A. Olivi · M. Visocchi Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

These are cadavers of individuals who have died in nontraumatic circumstances between 1 and 2 days beforehand and for which a diagnostic examination is needed, with a specific interest in the neck area. Special authorization has already been obtained from the ethics committee (protocol no. P663/EC/2010, approved on 28 July 2010; subsequent amendment no. P437/CE/2012, approved on 2 May 2012). The surgical approaches (all targeting the CVJ region) that are performed on the fresh cadavers are the anterolateral (extreme lateral) approach, transcervical retropharyngeal approach, and transoral or transnasal approaches.

Injected 'Head and Neck' Specimens

Fresh-frozen specimens have been purchased from private companies, but, to reduce the costs involved in the necessary specimen preparation, we have directly performed all of the processing—including the phases of thawing, irrigation, fixation, perfusion and storage—according to a protocol developed at our research centre. The thawing solution and the phases of preparation of the specimen are summarized in Table 1 and in Figs. 1 and 2.



Fig. 1 Phases of preparation of anatomical specimens



Fig. 2 Timing of execution of computed tomography (CT) scan of anatomical specimens

The purchased specimens have been serologically tested and certified for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-1, HIV-2, hepatitis B and hepatitis C; death certificates and informed consent from the donors' families have previously been obtained in accordance with the Uniform Anatomical Gift Act and in compliance with all national and international laws governing the recovery and distribution of anatomical specimens.

We perfuse the vascular system with coloured silicone solutions: blue-coloured for the venous system and redcoloured for the arterial system. Before being perfused, the formalin-fixed specimens undergo a high-definition CT scan with Iomeprol (Iomeron[®]) 375 mg/mL—a monomeric contrast medium iodinated, diluted at a ratio of 3:1 and injected at an approximate rate of 1 mL/s. The imaging data (saved in DICOM [Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine] format) are stored on compact disc (CD) and imported into the neuronavigation workstation (Medtronic Treon) to perform three-dimensional reconstructions.

Then—with the aid of neuronavigation, the visual magnification of $3.5\times$ offered by the binocular lenses, the microscope and the endoscope—posterior and posterolateral approaches to the CVJ, as well as other keyhole approaches, are performed.

Discussion

Although they were probably introduced for cultural and religious reasons, embalming techniques have ultimately been shown to have huge scientific and educational value. Embalming prevents putrefaction of corpses, and dissection can be done in a methodical way and shown to other people. In our studies the use of a solution of formaldehyde, ethanol and glycerol for thawing preparations and for conservation after fixation, together with a low concentration of formaldehyde (4%), results in an optimal state of preservation and hydration of the specimens. The injection of silicone solutions with low viscosity and quick hardening allows optimal vascular perfusion, extending also to the microcirculation.

Anatomical dissections have always provided a useful tool for neurosurgeons to enhance their anatomical knowledge and microsurgical skills [1–3].

The addition of a surgical skills laboratory can augment the surgical training experience, as trainees are able to gain better understanding of surgical anatomy and approaches without the constraints of the operating room atmosphere. Moreover, by exploiting adjunctive image guidance systems such as the endoscope and neuronavigation, which are now consolidated instruments of the neurosurgical armamentarium, the quality and learning outcomes of anatomical dissection can be enormously enhanced. Different points of view provided by the microscope and the endoscope can help in acquiring better spatial orientation, especially in a deep and curvilinear space such as the CVJ [4].

In addition, neuronavigation can provide real-time positional information, which allows precise localization, thus dramatically improving the reliability of the approach [5]. An essential condition for neuronavigation is execution of a high-quality CT scan of the anatomical preparations; for the sake of better identification of vascular structures—that is, preliminary to the execution of the surgical approach—we perform a study with contrast medium by injecting a mixture of water and iodized water-soluble monomeric low-viscosity contrast medium, with satisfactory impregnation not only of the vascular tree but also of the subarachnoid cisterns. Few studies have reported the use of contrast medium for cerebral anatomical preparations, and in many cases they have used solutions—generally with high viscosity—that were detrimental for the impregnated preparation, which was thus eventually no longer available for anatomical dissection [6]. This event has not occurred in our experience.

Conclusions

Our studies confirm the paramount importance of anatomical dissections in the training of residents and young neurosurgeons, with particular reference to complex spinal surgery at the craniovertebral junction level because of its inherent anatomical complexity.

Further studies are needed to develop an optimal impregnation contrastographic protocol for the study of cadavers or anatomical specimens for which a diagnostic examination or anatomical dissection is planned.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for the preparation of this paper.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Aboud E, Al-Mefty O, Yaşargil MG. New laboratory model for neurosurgical training that simulates live surgery. J Neurosurg. 2002;97:1367–72.
- Klein I, Steger U, Timmermann W, Thiede A, Gassel HJ. Microsurgical training course for clinicians and scientists at a German university hospital: a 10-year experience. Microsurgery. 2003;23:461–5.
- Liu JKC, Kshettry VR, MD RPF, Kamian K, Schlenk RP, Benzel EC. Establishing a surgical skills laboratory and dissection curriculum for neurosurgical residency training. J Neurosurg. 2015;123:1331–8.
- Tschabitscher M, Di Leva A. Practical guidelines for setting up an endoscopic/skull base cadaver laboratory. World Neurosurg. 2013;79(2 Suppl):S16.e1–7.
- Guan MW, Wang JY, Feng DX, Fu P, Chen LH, Li MC, et al. Anatomical study of endoscope-assisted far lateral keyhole approach to the ventral craniocervical region with neuronavigational guidance. Chin Med J. 2013;126:1707–10.
- Van Eijk RP, Van der Zwan A, Bleys RL, Regli L, Esposito G. Novel application of postmortem CT angiography for evaluation of the intracranial vascular anatomy in cadaver heads. Am J Roentgenol. 2015;205(6):1276–80.

Surgical Highways to the Craniovertebral Junction: Is It Time for a Reappraisal?



Giuseppe Roberto Giammalva, Domenico Gerardo Iacopino, Francesca Graziano, Antonella Giugno, Carlo Gulì, Luigi Basile, Massimiliano Visocchi and Rosario Maugeri

Abstract *Background:* The craniovertebral junction (CVJ) can be affected by a variety of congenital or acquired anomalies. Because of its complexity, a careful evaluation of bones and ligamentous structures in all three planes is required. This can be achieved by studying the CVJ in terms of several anatomical and radiological lines that have been visualized to facilitate understanding of its surgical anatomy. In this study we aimed to review the state-of-the art craniometric CVJ lines and approaches.

Methods: In December 2016 a PubMed search was performed, including the search terms 'CVJ surgical approach/ line', 'cervical approach', 'craniometric measurement', 'CVJ anatomy' and 'ventral/dorsal/far-lateral approach'. Anatomical and radiological lines and angles evaluated on traditional radiography, computed tomography (CT) scanning or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in the axial/sagittal/coronal views were included and described.

Results: Several measurements and radiological landmarks were included to evaluate the anatomy of the CVJ. They were fully described and categorized on the basis of the anatomical plan and the surgical or diagnostic purpose they are used for.

Conclusion: Among the numerous radiological measurements described, it has been shown that McRae's line, Chamberlain's line, McGregor's line, the Redlund-Johnell method and Ranawat's line are the most widely used and reliable ones for evaluating skull base craniometry. Secondly, the hard palate line (HPL), nasoaxial line (NAxL) and palatine–inferior dental arch line (PIA) are used to preoperatively assess the ventral endonasal or transoral surgical approaches.

M. Visocchi

Thirdly, the C7 slope has been demonstrated as a reliable predictor of occipitocervical and spinopelvic alignment in CVJ fusion.

Keywords Cranio-vertebral junction · Surgical approach · Radiological lines · Skull base craniometry · Surgical angles

Introduction

The craniovertebral junction (CVJ) defines a complex anatomical area where the occiput, atlas and axis interrelate with each other. This area contains neural and vascular structures and gives motion to the skull and the upper segment of the spine [1, 2]. Its unique range of motion is ascribed to the articulation between segments and their anatomical properties. At the atlanto-occipital joint (C0–C1), the atlas joins the occiput through the occipital condyles and surrounds the foramen magnum. At the atlantoaxial junction (C1–C2), the atlas, lacking a vertebral body, joins the odontoid process of the axis. Thus articulated by the CVJ, the cervical spine range of motion consists of 33–47° in flexion/extension, 90° in rotation and up to 12.2° in lateral bending [1].

The CVJ can be affected by a variety of congenital or acquired anomalies that result in its instability; given its involvement in wide angles of neck movement, those conditions pose a challenging problem [3]. Among these anomalies, congenital bone malformations, intradural and extradural tumours, inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis or ankylosing spondylitis, and traumatic injuries still represent a surgical challenge because of their high mortality and morbidity [4–6]. Since the onset of neurological symptoms related to the cervical spinal cord, brainstem, cerebellum, cervical nerve roots, lower cranial nerves, and vasculature represents a poor prognostic factor for those conditions, early surgery is advocated to safeguard the vital structures housed in the CVJ [7].

G. R. Giammalva · D. G. Iacopino · F. Graziano · A. Giugno · C. Gulì · L. Basile · R. Maugeri (\boxtimes)

Neurosurgical Clinic, AOUP "Paolo Giaccone", Neurologic Surgery, Department of Experimental Biomedicine and Clinical Neurosciences, School of Medicine, University of Palermo, 90127 Palermo, Italy

Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University School of Medicine, Policlinico "Agostino Gemelli", Rome, Italy

Because of its complexity, the surgical anatomy of the CVJ and the skull base has attracted increasing interest in order to gain better access to lesions affecting this region [8]. For this reason, careful evaluation of bones and ligamentous structures in all three planes is required, through use of conventional radiography of the skull and upper cervical spine, and through computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). On the basis of imaging it is possible to measure several craniometrical indexes to estimate the best surgical approach [9].

Over the decades, several surgical routes and approaches have been proposed in order to gain functional and safe exposition of the CVJ. They can be divided into ventral approaches (transoral, transnasal, transmaxillary, transpalatal, transmandibular and extended opendoor maxillotomy), the endoscopic endonasal skull base approach, the endoscopic endonasal transclival transodontoid approach [10], the far/extreme lateral approach (paracondylar, transcondylar) [8] and the dorsal approach (midline and dorsolateral) [11].

To diagnose and classify CVJ anomalies, to assess the severity of disease, to verify the feasibility of surgical approaches and to evaluate new routes for newer and more sophisticated surgical devices, several anatomical and radiological lines have been visualized and compared to facilitate understanding of CVJ surgical anatomy. In this study we aimed to review the state-of-the art craniometrical CVJ lines evaluated in surgical, anatomical and radiological studies.

Materials and Methods

The aim of this review was to identify and describe the most widely used and reliable radiological and surgical lines and angles for analysing CVJ anatomy. It was intended to provide a synoptic view of the craniometric landmarks and measurements that can be evaluated on conventional radiography, CT scanning and MRI, and on the surgical field, in order to provide an up-to-date diagnostic instrument for preoperative assessment in CVJ surgery.

In December 2016 a PubMed (http://ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed) search was performed, including the search terms 'CVJ surgical approach/line', 'cervical approach', 'craniometric measurement', 'CVJ anatomy' and 'ventral/dorsal/ far-lateral approach'. Cadaver studies, radiological retrospective studies and reviews were included. The criteria for exclusion were papers in which only surgical procedures or anatomical dissection were described without mentioning lines and landmarks, papers in which no anatomical line or craniometric landmarks were described, and papers not published in English. For papers that were considered potentially eligible, the full-text versions were sought. When the fulltext versions had been obtained, the papers were further investigated for eligibility: only anatomical and radiological lines and angles evaluated on traditional radiography, CT scanning or MRI in the axial/sagittal/coronal views were included and described.

Results

A wide variety of anatomical landmarks and radiological lines were found. The most clinically useful and frequently employed ones in radiological and neurosurgical practice are discussed below.

Assessment of Craniovertebral Junction Anatomy and Surgical Approaches

Sagittal Plane

McRae's Line

This is a line drawn across the foramen magnum from the tip of the anterior margin (basion) to the tip of the posterior margin (opisthion), and it determines the anteroposterior dimension of the foramen magnum [7, 9, 12-15].

Chamberlain's Line

This is a line drawn from the posterior edge of the hard palate to the posterior border of the foramen magnum (opisthion). Usually the odontoid process is located ± 3 mm around this line. When it extends more than 6 mm above Chamberlain's line, this signifies basilar invagination [2, 7, 9, 12, 14, 15].

McGregor's Line

This is a line drawn from the posterior pole of the hard palate to the lowest point of the occipital curve on the midline. This makes it easier to identify on a standard lateral radiograph than Chamberlain's line. The mean distance between McGregor's line and the odontoid tip is 1.45 mm in males and 0.44 mm in females; a distance greater than 4.5 mm signifies a diagnosis of basilar impression [2, 7, 12, 14, 15].

Ranawat's Line

This is a perpendicular line drawn from the centre of the C2 sclerotic ring (representing the radiographic projection of the pedicles) to the transverse axis of the atlas, measured along the axis of the odontoid process on conventional radiographs. The mean length is 17 mm in males and 15 mm in females. The midpoint of the C2 base is used as a landmark on CT scanning since the C2 sclerotic ring is not applicable (the modified Ranawat's line) [7, 14, 15].

Modified Ranawat's Line

This is a perpendicular line between the midpoint of the base of the C2 end plate and the transverse axis of the atlas, drawn from the centre of the anterior arch to the centre of the posterior arch of C1 [7, 14].

Wackenheim's Clivus Base Line

This is a line drawn along the clivus and extending inferiorly into the upper cervical canal. It should be tangential to the posterior aspect of the tip of the odontoid process. When it intersects with the body of the odontoid process, this signifies anterior cervical dislocation [2, 7, 9].

Redlund-Johnell Method

This method measures the minimum distance between the midpoint of the base of the C2 end plate and McGregor's line [7, 14].

Odontoid Length

This is the distance from the midpoint of the base of the C2 end plate to the odontoid tip [7].

Clivus–Canal Angle

The clivus–canal angle (CCA) is the angle formed by Wackenheim's line and a line drawn along the posterior surface of the odontoid process and the inferodorsal portion of the C2 body. This angle ranges from 150° in flexion to 180° in extension. If this angle is less than 150° , ventral spinal cord compression may occur [2, 9, 16].

Occipitocervical Angle

This is an angle measured at the intersection of a line drawn along the inferior end plate of C2 and the occiput line, or alternatively using Chamberlain's line, McRae's line or McGregor's line. It has been shown that the occipitocervical angle is most reliably reproduced when McGregor's line is used [17].

Effective Canal Diameter

The effective canal diameter (ECD) is the distance from the posterior surface of the odontoid process to the nearest posterior bony structure (the foramen magnum or the posterior arch of the atlas). The ECD is measured on CVJ CT scans in a neutral view and represents the space occupied by the buffer space (which permits neck movements without compromising neural structures) and the cord itself [18].

Welcher's Basal Angle

This is the angle formed at the intersection between the nasion–tuberculum line and the tuberculum–basion line. On average it measures about 132° and should be not more than 140° . A wider angle results from abnormal skull base flattening [2, 16].

Clivodens Angle

This is the angle formed by the intersection of a line drawn along the long axis of the clivus and one drawn along the long axis of the odontoid process on a midsagittal reconstructed CT scan. Its mean value is 135.8° , and a diagnosis of basilar invagination is suggested by an angle less than 125° [19].

Atlantodental Interval

The atlantodental interval (ADI) is the distance between the posterior border of the anterior arch of the atlas and the anterior border of the odontoid process, measured on a midline reconstructed CT scan [16]. An ADI greater than 3 mm in adults and 5 mm in children is diagnostic of atlantoaxial dislocation [9].

Posterior Atlantodental Interval

The posterior atlantodental interval (PADI) is the distance between the posterior border of the odontoid process and the anterior border of the posterior arch of the atlas. On average it is greater than 13 mm; a measure shorter than 13 mm is suggestive of canal narrowing [9].

Grabb-Oakes Method

This measures the distance from a line perpendicularly drawn from the most posterior region of the dura mater covering the odontoid process to a line drawn between the inferior surface of the basion and the posteroinferior aspect of the C2 vertebral body. It is used to measure ventral cervico-medullary encroachment by the odontoid process [16].

Transcondylar Angle

This is the angle measured between a reference line, drawn tangentially to the posterior aspect of the occipital condyle and to the posterior rim of the foramen magnum, and a line drawn from the medial edge of the nearest two-thirds condyle after theoretical drilling to the farthest point on the clivus, intersecting with the reference line [8].

Boogard's Angle

This is the angle measured between a line drawn from the dorsum sellae to the basion and McRae's line [20].

Coronal Plane

Atlanto-occipital Joint Axis Angle

This is the angle formed between lines drawn parallel to the atlanto-occipital joints, which usually intersect at the centre of the odontoid process when the condyles are symmetrical. On average it ranges from 124° to 127° , and it is wider in cases of occipital condyle hypoplasia [2].

Axial Plane

Paracondylar Angle

This is the angle measured between a reference line, drawn tangentially to the posterior aspect of the occipital condyle and to the posterior rim of foramen magnum, and a line drawn from the posterior edge of the occipital condyle intersecting with the reference line [8].

Assessment of the Ventral Craniovertebral Junction Approach

Coronal Plane

Hard Palate (Palatine) Line

The hard palate (palatine) line (HPL) is a line drawn along the plane of the hard palate toward the craniovertebral junction on a sagittal CT image. It is used to determine the feasibility of the endonasal approach if a lesion lies above or under this line [10, 21].

Nasopalatine (Kassam's) Line

The nasopalatine (Kassam's) line (NPL) is a line drawn from the most inferior point on the nasal bone (rhinion) toward the posterior edge of the hard palate, extending to the craniovertebral junction, on the midsagittal radiological plane. It is used to assess the maximal inferior extension of dissection [10, 21–23].

Nasopalatine Angle

This is the angle created between the NPL and the plane of the hard palate (HPL), which defines the surgical exposure to the CVJ through the endonasal approach [22].

Nasoaxial Line

The nasoaxial line (NAxL) is a line drawn from the midpoint between the rhinion and the anterior nasal spine of the maxillarybone, running through the posterior edge of thehard palate to the C2 vertebral body [10, 21, 23]. It has been shown that the NAxL more accurately predicts the lowest limit of the endoscopic endonasal approach to the CVJ [24].

Mandibulopalatine Line/Palatine Inferior Dental Arch

The mandibulopalatine line/palatine inferior dental arch line (PIA) is a line drawn from the inferior dental arch to the posterior aspect of the hard palate, measured on a laterolateral conventional radiograph with a wide-open mouth [10].

Rhinopalatine Line

This is a line drawn from the point that corresponds to two thirds of the distance between the rhinion and the anterior nasal spine of the maxillary bone, to the posterior nasal spine of the palatine bone and then extends posteriorly and inferiorly to the CVJ [21].

Atlantosuperior Dental Arch Line

The atlantosuperior dental arch line (ASA) is a line drawn between the superior dental arch and the anterior base of the atlas on a laterolateral conventional radiograph with a wideopen mouth [10].

Superior Nostril Hard Palatine Line

This is a line drawn from the inferior edge of the nostril toward the posterior edge of the hard palate, extending to the craniovertebral junction, on the midsagittal radiological plane. Actually, it seems that this line is not a reliable predictor for the endoscopic endonasal approach, because it underestimates its inferior limit [24].

Coronal Plane

Inter-Eustachian Line

This is a line drawn between the Eustachian tubes, which corresponds to the atlantoaxial (C1–C2) joint. This line and the middle turbinates, on the aspect of the nasopharynx, represent surgical landmarks of the CVJ [23].

Assessment of Occipitocervical Alignment

Sagittal Plane

C2–C7 Cobb's Angle

This is an angle measured at the intersection of a line parallel to the C2 inferior end plate and a line parallel to the C7 inferior end plate [25].

C2-C7 Harrison's Angle

This is an angle measured at the intersection of a line drawn parallel to the C2 posterior border and a line drawn parallel to the C7 posterior border [25].

C7 Slope

This is the angle measured at the intersection between a line parallel to the superior end plate of C7 and a horizontal reference line measured on a midsagittal CT scan or laterolateral conventional radiograph. It has been proposed as a novel parameter for the assessment of spinopelvic alignment, since it is correlated with cervical alignment, the occipitocervical angle and the spinal slope [25].

C1–C2 Angle

This is the angle measured between a line drawn parallel to the inferior aspect of C1 and a line drawn below the inferior end plate of C2 [25].

Cervical Lordosis

This is the angle measured between a line drawn from the most inferodorsal to the most superodorsal part of C2 (the tip

Discussion

The CVJ is a complex anatomical structure, which can be involved in several primary malformations and acquired pathological alterations. Thus far, numerous measurements and craniometric landmarks have been proposed to assess the functional state of the CVJ, to plan the best surgical strategy and to follow up its anatomy after the procedure [15]. The former measurements, such as Chamberlain's, McGregor's and McRae's lines [12], used to be evaluated on plain conventional radiographs for the pathological first assessment and diagnostic purposes [15]. However, conventional laterolateral radiography makes it difficult to identify bony landmarks and to accurately evaluate CVJ measurements because of the low imaging resolution and the superimposition of several structures [7]. Therefore, multislice CT scanning and MRI have been tested for the assessment of CVJ anatomy and used instead of conventional radiography because of their superior resolution and three-dimensional views [12]. Using these techniques, the accuracy of the former radiological lines has been re-evaluated and new ones have been studied for both surgical and diagnostic purposes [7, 12].

In recent years, different studies using CT scanning and MRI have confirmed the surgical reliability of McRae's, Chamberlain's, McGregor's and Ranawat's lines, which have been demonstrated to be the most sensible and widely used ones in diagnosing CVJ anomalies and basilar impression [15]. The availability of CT and MRI allows better delineation of CVJ anatomy and better diagnosis of occipitocervical diseases, providing more detailed imaging of soft tissues and bony details [12]. In a cross-sectional imaging study by Kwong et al., McRae's line was demonstrated to be the most concordant one on both radiographic and CT measurements, although the identification of its landmarks seems difficult on plain radiographs [7]. However, McRae's line has been confirmed as the easiest measurement to use for assessing basilar invagination according to the distance of the odontoid tip (mean value 5.8 ± 1.6 mm) [7]. On the other hand, McGregor's and Chamberlain's lines (with mean values of the extension of the odontoid tip of 1.6 ± 2.8 mm and 2.3 ± 2.6 mm, respectively), which have mostly been used on plain radiographs, seem to be less reliable on CT scanning and MRI because of the frequent exclusion of the hard palate in the field of view [7]. Also, the Redlund-Johnell method (mean value 37.5 ± 4.0 mm) and the modified Rawanat's line (mean value 29.7 ± 2.6 mm) have found wide agreement on CT scanning with respect to the plain radiographic counterpart [7]. It has been demonstrated that some differences exist between CT measurement and radiographic measurement of Chamberlain's and McGregor's lines [7]. Moreover, McRae's and Ranawat's lines appear to be more reliable and easier to measure, for these reasons they should be preferred [15].

With regard to CVJ surgery, several anterior approaches have been proposed to expose the cranial base and the upper cervical spine [26, 27]. The ventral approach has been mostly carried out through the transoral route and has been improved in recent years by use of transnasal routes. The high risks of surgical complications and morbidity related to microsurgical ventral approaches have recently been overcome by the use of the endoscopic endonasal approach (EEA) and the transoral approach (TOA) to the skull base [10, 23]. The EEA provides wide access to the midline clivus and the CVJ, but entails the necessity of using surgical instrumentation with a precise range of motion in a confined space. In the preoperative assessment, the feasibility of the endonasal approach instead of the TOA can be determined by evaluation of the level of the lesion in regard to the HPL [10, 21]. Evaluation of the extension of the dissection in ventral endoscopic surgery can be performed on plain radiographs by open-mouth evaluation of the NAxL and PIA. While the NPL overestimates the caudal exposure of the CVJ and the superior nostril-hard palate line (HPL) underestimates it [24], it has been shown that the NAxL is a reliable predictor of the maximal caudal extension of the endonasal approach [23, 27]. In preoperative assessment of ventral CVJ surgery, the PIA reliably marks the cranial extension of the TOA [23].

With regard to CVJ stabilization and occipitocervical and spinopelvic interdependence, Matsunaga et al. reported a higher incidence of subaxial cervical malalignment in the case of occipitocervical fusion in an abnormal position [28]. On the basis of this evidence, a study by Núñez-Pereira et al. aimed to evaluate the range of compensatory mechanisms for successful occipitocervical fusion [25]. To identify these compensatory mechanisms and assess a reliable measurement to evaluate appropriate cervical alignment, several parameters were verified. Among these, the C7 slope was demonstrated to be a reliable and useful indicator of cervical alignment and sagittal thoracolumbar balance, since it was shown that it correlates with the C0–C2 angle, C2–C7 angle, spinal slope and C7 sagittal vertical axis, and acts as a link between the cervical and thoracolumbar spine [25].

Even if some of the relevant studies present several limitations, such as the lack of a standardized neck position [7], within the wide variety of radiological measurements and surgical landmarks, some of them deserve to be pointed out. In fact, Chamberlain's, McGregor's and McRae's lines, the Redlund-Johnell method, Ranawat's line on plain radiographs and the modified Ranawat's line on CT scans still represent the most widely used radiological measurements in the assessment of skull base craniometry and CVJ diseases, whereas in the microsurgical or endoscopic ventral approach, the preoperative plan can be easily evaluated on plain radiographs of the skull and cervical spine using the HPL, NAxL line and surgical PIA as state-of-the-art ventral CVJ landmarks.

Conclusion

The craniovertebral junction (CVJ) is a complex anatomical area whose structures are involved in a wide angle of neck movement. It can be affected by several congenital or acquired anomalies that bring about CVJ instability. Thus, several approaches have been proposed to gain functional and safe exposition of the CVJ, and anatomical and radiological lines have been studied. Among these, McRae's line, Chamberlain's line, McGregor's line, the Redlund-Johnell method, Ranawat's line and the modified Ranawat's line are the most reliable ones for diagnosis of basilar invagination. Secondly, in the ventral approach to the CVJ, the hard plate line allows us to determine the feasibility of the endonasal or transoral approaches, while the nasoaxial line is used to predict the maximal caudal extension on the endonasal approach and the surgical palatine inferior dental arch line marks the cranial extension of the transoral approach. Thirdly, in occipitocervical fixation and in cervical spine surgery, the C7 slope can be easily evaluated and is a reliable predictor of occipitocervical and spinopelvic alignment, and of thoracolumbar sagittal balance.

Compliance with Ethical Standards

No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Lopez AJ, Scheer JK, Leibl KE, Smith ZA, Dlouhy BJ, Dahdaleh NS. Anatomy and biomechanics of the craniovertebral junction. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38(4):E2.
- Smoker WRK. Craniovertebral junction: normal anatomy, craniometry and congenital anomalies. Radiographics. 1994;14(2): 255–77.
- Kansal R, Sharma A, Kukreja S. An anterior high cervical retropharyngeal approach for C1–C2 intrafacetal fusion and transarticular screw insertion. J Clin Neurosci. 2011;18(12):1705–8.
- Akar A, Civelek E, Cansever T, Aydemir F, Altinors MN. The relationship of the vertebral artery with anatomical landmarks in the posterior craniovertebral junction of fresh human cadavers in the Turkish population. Turk Neurosurg. 2016;26(3):389–98.
- Cavallo LM, Cappabianca P, Messina A, Esposito F, Stella L, de Divitiis E, Tschabitscher M. The extended endoscopic endonasal approach to the clivus and cranio-vertebral junction: anatomical study. Childs Nerv Syst. 2007;23(6):665–71.

- Kalthur SG, Padmashali S, Gupta C, Dsouza AS. Anatomic study of the occipital condyle and its surgical implications in transcondylar approach. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2014;5(2):71–7.
- Kwong Y, Rao N, Latief K. Craniometric measurements in the assessment of craniovertebral settling: are they still relevant in the age of cross-sectional imaging? Am J Roentgenol. 2011;196(4):W421–5.
- Patel AJ, Gressot LV, Cherian J, Desai SK, Jea A. Far lateral paracondylar versus transcondylar approach in the pediatric age group: CT morphometric analysis. J Clin Neurosci. 2014;21(12): 2194–200.
- Jain N, Verma R, Garga UC, Baruah BP, Jain SK, Bhaskar SN. CT and MR imaging of odontoid abnormalities: a pictorial review. Indian J Radiol Imaging. 2019;26(1):108–19.
- Liu JK, Patel J, Goldstein IM, Eloy JA. Endoscopic endonasal transclival transodontoid approach for ventral decompression of the craniovertebral junction: operative technique and nuances. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38(4):E17.
- Refai D, Shin JH, Iannotti C, Benzel EC. Dorsal approaches to intradural extramedullary tumors of the craniovertebral junction. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2010;1(1):49–54.
- Cronin CG, Lohan DG, Mhuircheartigh JN, Meehan CP, Murphy J, Roche C. CT evaluation of Chamberlain's, McGregor's, and McRae's skull-base lines. Clin Radiol. 2009;64(1):64–9.
- Ladner TR, Dewan MC, Day MA, Shannon CN, Tomycz L, Tulipan N, Wellons JC III. Posterior odontoid process angulation in pediatric Chiari I malformation: an MRI morphometric external. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2015;16(2):138–45.
- Lee HJ, Hong JT, Kim IS, Kwon JY, Lee SW. Analysis of measurement accuracy for craniovertebral junction pathology: most reliable method for cephalometric analysis. J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2013;54(4):275–9.
- Tassanawipas A, Mokkhavesa S, Chatchavong S, Worawittayawong P. Magnetic resonance imaging study of the craniocervical junction. J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong). 2015;13(3):228–31.
- Batista UC, Joaquim AF, Fernandes YB, Mathias RN, Ghizoni E, Tedeschi H. Computed tomography evaluation of the normal craniocervical junction craniometry in 100 asymptomatic patients. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38(4):E5.
- Shoda N, Takeshita K, Seichi A, Akune T, Nakajima S, Anamizu Y, Miyashita M, Nakamura K. Measurement of occipitocervical angle. Spine (Phila PA 1976). 2004;29(10):E204–8.
- Mehrotra A, Srivastava A, Sahu RN, Kumar R. Role of effective canal diameter in assessing the pre-operative and the postoperative status of patients with bony cranio-vertebral anomalies. Asian J Neurosurg. 2016;11(4):396–401.
- Xu S, Gong R. Clivodens angle: a new diagnostic method for basilar invagination at computed tomography. Spine (Phila PA 1976). 2016;41(17):1365–71.
- Botelho RV, Ferreira ED. Angular craniometry in craniocervical junction malformation. Neurosurg Rev. 2013;36(4):603–10.
- La Corte E, Aldana PR, Ferroli P, Greenfield JP, Härtl R, Anand VK, Schwartz TH. The rhinopalatine line as a reliable predictor of the inferior extent of endonasal odontoidectomies. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38(4):E16.
- De Almeida JR, Zanation AM, Snyderman CH, Carrau RL, Prevedello DM, Gardner PA, Kassam A. Defining the nasopalatine line: the limit for endonasal surgery of the spine. Laryngoscope. 2009;119(2):239–44.
- Visocchi M, Pappalardo G, Pileggi M, Signorelli F, Paludetti G, La Rocca G. Experimental endoscopic angular domains of transnasal and transoral routes to the craniovertebral junction. Spine (Phila PA 1976). 2016;41(8):669–977.
- 24. Aldana PR, Naseri I, La Corte E. The naso-axial line: a new method of accurately predicting the inferior limit of the endoscopic

endonasal approach to the craniovertebral junction. Neurosurgery. 2012;71(2 Suppl Operative):308–14.

- Núñez-Pereira S, Hitzl W, Bullmann V, Meier O, Koller H. Sagittal balance of the cervical spine: an analysis of occipitocervical and spinopelvic interdependence, with C-7 slope as a marker of cervical and spinopelvic alignment. J Neurosurg Spine. 2015;23(1): 16–23.
- 26. Visocchi M, Di Martino A, Maugeri R, González Valcárcel I, Grasso V, Paludetti G. Videoassisted anterior surgical approaches

to the craniocervical junction: rationale and clinical results. Eur J Spine. 2015;24(12):2713–23.

- 27. Visocchi M, La Rocca G, Della Pepa GM, Stigliano E, Costantini A, Di Nardo F, Maira G. Anterior video-assisted approach to the craniovertebral junction: transnasal or transoral? A cadaver study. Acta Neurochir. 2014;156(2):285–92.
- Matsunaga S, Onishi T, Sakou T. Significance of occipitoaxial angle in subaxial lesion after occipitocervical fusion. Spine (Phila PA 1976). 2011;26(2):161–5.

The Endoscopic Endonasal Approach to Craniovertebral Junction Pathologies: Surgical Skills and Anatomical Study



Paolo Pacca, Valentina Tardivo, Giancarlo Pecorari, Diego Garbossa, Alessandro Ducati, and Francesco Zenga

Abstract *Introduction:* Surgical anterior decompression is the treatment of choice for symptomatic irreducible ventral craniovertebral junction (CVJ) compression. Along with the classic transoral approach, the endoscopic endonasal approach has evolved and is gaining growing success.

Materials and Methods: In this work we discuss the surgical technique, give a complete step-by-step description of dissection of the craniovertebral junction and report a specific case of endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy with use of a high-definition (HD) three-dimensional (3D) endoscope.

Discussion: The extended endonasal approach exploits an anatomical corridor to the odontoid process, involving only a small incision in the nasopharynx and sparing palate integrity. The most important limitation of the technique is 2D visualization, which hinders correct recognition of anatomical structures.

Conclusion: The endoscopic endonasal route to the odontoid process has proven to be a feasible, safe and welltolerated procedure. Anatomical study is very important for better understanding of the 3D anatomy of the CVJ and relation of critical neurovascular structures to specific bony and muscular landmarks.

Keywords Odontoidectomy · Endoscopic · Endonasal approach · CVJ stability · Anatomical study

P. Pacca (🖂)

Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Neurosciences, University of Turin, Turin, Italy

SC Neurochirurgia U, Presidio Molinette Dipartimento di Neuroscienze e Salute Mentale, Città della Salute e della Scienza, Turin, Italy

V. Tardivo · D. Garbossa · A. Ducati · F. Zenga Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Neurosciences, University of Turin, Turin, Italy

G. Pecorari

1st ENT Division, Department of Surgical Sciences, University of Turin, Turin, Italy

Introduction

The craniovertebral junction (CVJ) is a complex transition area between the skull and the upper cervical spine, and it provides stability and motion [1-3]. Biomechanical studies have confirmed that the majority of spine flexion, extension and rotation occur at this level [4-6]. Moreover, vital neurological and vascular structures are housed in the CVJ. Different pathologies may affect the CVJ, leading to impairment/limitation of its physiological function with loss of mobility and eventually compression of neurovascular structures. Prompt surgical intervention is required when these disorders cause symptomatic high spinal cord or brainstem compression. Focusing on the pathology of the odontoid process, if such disorders are not treated, they may cause ventral brainstem and spinal cord compression with subsequent neurological deficits. In addition, if the ligaments are disrupted (especially the transverse ligament), instability and subassial atlo-occipital dislocation may occur. Rheumatoid arthritis, metastasis and congenital deformities represent the most frequent disorders involving the CVJ and the odontoid process [7]. In cases of irreducible ventral compression at the CVJ, anterior approaches offer direct access to the lesion without the need for neural tissue retraction, with a consequently low rate of lower cranial nerve injury [8]. Along with the classic transoral approach, the endoscopic endonasal approach has evolved and is gaining growing success. The latter, in fact, has been shown to be safe and effective, avoiding the need for tongue retraction, upper airway swelling, and the need for palate splitting [9]. The surgical field has anatomical limits dictated by the osseous structures of the region (the nasal and palatine bones), which form two lines: the Kassam line and the nasoaxial line, which define a triangle-shaped surgical corridor [10]. The most important limitation of the technique is twodimensional (2D) visualization, which hinders correct recognition of anatomical structures. The high-definition (HD) 3D endoscope is a new instrument that overcomes this problem, thus giving the transnasal approach enormous and growing importance in surgery in this region [11, 12]. This paper discusses our experience with the extended endoscopic endonasal approach (EEA) to the craniovertebral junction, using a specific case to provide a complete step-by-step description of the surgical technique used for the dissection, and discusses the advantages and limitations of this approach.

Dissection

Access to the foramen magnum and the CVJ requires a low trajectory in comparison with sellar approaches [13]. The posterior nasal septum, inferior sphenoid wall and vomer are removed so the rhinopharyngeal part of the clivus can be reached [14]. The inferior third of the clivus is drilled away to improve the exposure of anterior CVJ. The lateral

limits of the exposure are determined by the carotid protuberance, foramen lacerum, vidian canal and Eustachian tube. The nasopharyngeal mucosa is removed, widely exposing the underlying basipharyngeal fascia and the median raphe covering the prevertebral muscles (Fig. 1). Two muscles cover this area anterior to the foramen magnum and extend from the clivus downward: the longus capitis and rectus capitis anterior (RCpA). The longus capitis is removed and has multiple bellies (Fig. 1). The atlantooccipital membrane (AOM) is a broad fibrous structure, which extends from the anterior edge of the foramen magnum to the superior edge of the anterior arch of the atlas (Fig. 2). The median raphe is a band of connective tissue, which is attached to the clivus and continues as the anterior longitudinal ligament (Fig. 2). It is necessary to remove the AOM and the anterior median raphe to expose the foramen magnum and the anterior arch of C1 (Fig. 3). The alar and



Fig. 1 Stepwise endoscopic approach to the foramen magnum and craniovertebral junction. (a) View of the mucosa of the rhinopharynx (*green arrow*) with the Eustachian tubes (ET) and the fossa of Rosenmüller (RF) as the lateral limits of this exposure. (b) Floor of the nasal cavity (*blue arrow*). The nasopharyngeal mucosa has been removed, exposing the basipharyngeal fascia overlying the longus capitis muscle (*red arrow*) and

the median raphe attached to the pharyngeal tubercle on the midline (AL). (c) The longus capitis muscle (*red arrow*) can be seen after removal of the fascia. It is attached laterally to the pharyngeal tubercle along the superior clival line. (d) The longus capitis muscle has multiple bellies and is attached in layers to the clivus, as can be seen after partial removal from the right side (*purple arrow*). (AM) anterior atlantooccipital membrane



Fig. 2 Stepwise endoscopic approach to the foramen magnum and the craniovertebral junction. (a) Both sides of the longus capitis are removed, exposing the median raphe part of the anterior longitudinal ligament (AL) attached to the pharyngeal tubercle and laterally forming a thick, broad membrane called the anterior atlanto-occipital membrane (AM). (b) Both the longus capitis and the anterior atlanto-occipital membrane have been removed, exposing the anterior longitudinal ligament on the midline (AL) and the atlanto-occipital joint. The rectus capitis anterior muscle can be seen laterally attached along the clivus from the inferior clival line to the foramen magnum (*purple arrow*).

apical ligaments are located within the space between the foramen magnum and the anterior arch of C1. To view the odontoid process and the ligaments it is necessary to partly remove the anterior arch of C1 (Fig. 3). The atlas has two lateral masses: an anterior arch with a midline anterior tubercle, and a posterior surface (Fig. 3). The alar ligaments are fibrous bands arising from the lateral surface of the odontoid process and ascending toward the alar tubercle on the medial side of the occipital condyles (Fig. 3). The apical ligament of the odontoid process has a cartilaginous base arising from the apex of the dens and coming up to the anterior edge of the foramen magnum. The posterior surface of the dens also has a posterior facet, which articulates

(c) Extended endonasal approach to the clivus (CV); the sphenoid stage of dissection has been completed. On the right side, the infratemporal fossa has been dissected, showing the path of the Eustachian tube and the branches of the mandibular nerve in depth (V3). (d) The anterior longitudinal ligament and rectus capitis anterior have also been removed here, exposing the foramen magnum and the arch of C1 with both atlanto-occipital joints (*white arrow*). The gap between the C1 arch and the foramen magnum is filled with dense connective tissue, which also encloses the apical and alar ligaments attached to the dens of C2. The pharyngeal tubercle can be seen here (*red arrow*)

with the cartilaginous facet on the anterior surface of the cruciform ligament (Fig. 4). The anterior cortical surface and the core of the dens are drilled, leaving only a thin shell of bone, which can be removed with rongeurs. Removal of the dens exposes a thick, strong, white band called the transverse ligament, which arches posteriorly the dens and holds it in position. It extends from the tubercles on the medial side of the lateral mass of the atlas (Fig. 4). The transverse ligament is the horizontal part of the cruciform ligament, which has two upper and lower vertical bands. The tectorial membrane, a broad fibrous band that spans the area between the medial edges of the occipital condyles, is a rostral extension of the posterior longitudinal ligament,



Fig. 3 Stepwise endoscopic approach to the foramen magnum and craniovertebral junction. (a) The foramen magnum after removal of the anterior longitudinal ligament and the anterior atlanto-occipital membrane. The supracondylar groove can be identified laterally with the rectus capitis anterior muscle (*red arrow*). (b, c) The clivus after removal of the muscles, showing the superior and inferior clival lines (*red arrow*). The inferior clival line corresponds to the supracondylar

which attaches to the axis inferiorly and the clivus superiorly (Fig. 4). It is separated from the dura by the epidural venous plexus. Once the dura is opened, the junction of the spinal canal with the medulla, which is defined as being at the level of the origin of the C1 ventral root, is exposed.

Case Illustration

The patient was a 71-year-old woman affected by an odontoid lesion. Because of radiological evidence of C1 myelopathy associated with both lower and upper limb weakness, she had undergone posterior C1–C2 laminectomy in November 2010 at another hospital.

groove laterally. The anterior arch of C1 is partly removed (*white arrow*), exposing the odontoid process (OP). (**d**) The alar ligaments (AR), which are thick fibrous bands that attach to the posterolateral roughened surface of the odontoid process and ascend obliquely and laterally to attach the alar tubercles located on the medial side of the occipital condyles. Odontoidectomy begins with drilling of the central core, as seen here

After some months of disease stability she experienced worsening of limb weakness, with development of spastic paraparesis and gait impairment. Her reflexes were overreactive. She also complained of paraesthesia. Brain–cervical spine magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (Fig. 5a, b) and computed tomography (CT) scanning (Fig. 6a, b) were performed. The radiological exams showed worsening of myelopathy without lesion growth.

Therefore, the patient underwent endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy. The surgical procedure was uneventful, and postoperative CT scanning confirmed the success of the procedure. After 1 week a posterior C0–C2 arthrodesis was performed with an occipital plate and a C2 transcortical screw. Another cervical spine CT scan was performed to check for correct screw positioning.



Fig.4 Stepwise endoscopic approach to the foramen magnum and craniovertebral junction. (a) The alar ligaments (AR), which are thick fibrous bands that attach to the posterolateral roughened surface of the odontoid process and ascend obliquely and laterally to attach the alar tubercles located on the medial side of the occipital condyles (OC). Odontoidectomy begins with drilling of the central core, as seen here (OP). (**b**, **c**) Once the dens is removed, the transverse ligament (*blue star*) can be seen extending between the transverse tubercles on the

The hospital stay was uneventful, and the patient was discharged after the second surgery. The histological diagnosis was an odontoid G2 chondrosarcoma. An intensive rehabilitation programme was useful to help the patient to reduce her gait impairment. MRI (Fig. 5c, d) and CT scans (Fig. 6c, d) were performed postoperatively, showing complete decompression of the dura. After 6 months a large area of arthrodesis was evident.

Surgical Technique

The procedure was performed with the assistance of neurophysiological monitoring. Somatosensory and motor-evoked potential data were collected for the patient. The surgical

medial side of the C1 lateral masses (CC). The tectorial membrane (*green arrow*) can be seen extending from the transverse ligament (*blue star*) to the foramen magnum. (**d**) Final image of the extended endonasal approach to the clivus (CV) when the sphenoid stage of dissection has been completed. The right and left infratemporal fossae have been dissected, showing the path of the Eustachian tube (ET) and the branches of the mandibular nerve in depth (V3). Complete dissection of the craniovertebral junction has been performed

team was composed of a neurosurgeon and an ear, nose and throat surgeon. The surgery was done with a Visionsense III, 3D endoscope (Visionsense Ltd, Petach Tikva, Israel). Everyone in the surgical theatre wore passive polarized glasses to obtain a stereoscopic view [15, 16].

The patient was placed in a supine position with the head fixed in a three-pin head holder (Mayfield Infinity Skull Clamp; Integra LifeSciences Corporation. We positioned the head slightly tilted to the left on the coronal plane and slightly flexed to slide up the dens. All positioning manoeuvres were performed under neurophysiological monitoring. The nasal cavities were prepared preoperatively with 2 mL of 10% carbocaine (mepivacaine) with adrenaline, which was applied topically with patties. A binostril 4-hand technique was used routinely. Once the surgeons entered the



Fig. 5 (a, b) Preoperative magnetic resonance image (MRI) showing a complex craniovertebral junction malformation with a lesion of the odontoid process. (c, d) Postoperative MRI showing good spinal cord decompression


Fig. 6 (a, b) Preoperative computed tomography (CT) scan showing a complex craniovertebral junction malformation with a lesion of the odontoid process. (\mathbf{c} , \mathbf{d}) Postoperative CT scan showing good bone decompression

right nostril, the inferior and middle turbinates were displaced laterally to widen the surgical corridor (Figs. 7 and 8). The inferior margin of the middle turbinate, the nasopharynx, and the Eustachian tubes were the surgical landmarks that led the surgeons to the craniocervical junction. We usually do not remove the turbinates to preserve physiological airflow. The inferior margin of the middle turbinate was then followed until the nasopharyngeal cavity was entered. To enable use of both nostrils, the posterior third of the nasal septum was removed (Fig. 9). The junction between the clivus and the atlas was grossly defined by a line connecting the Eustachian tubes. The anatomical boundaries of the surgical field were defined by the floor of the sphenoidal sinus superiorly, the upper part of the oropharynx inferiorly, and the Eustachian tubes and the fossa of Rosenmüller laterally. The neuronavigation system provided significant help for identification of the anatomy at this point, especially concerning the vertical tracts of the internal carotid arteries. An inverted U-shaped flap of nasopharyngeal mucosa and muscular layers was harvested with the laser (CH fibre laser; Dornier MedTech, Munich, Germany) (Fig. 9). The Eustachian tubes had to be considered the most lateral margin of the incision because they identified the parapharyngeal segment of the carotid artery. The craniocaudal extension of the flap involved



Fig. 7 (\mathbf{a} , \mathbf{b}) In the right nostril, the inferior and middle turbinates are displaced laterally to widen the surgical corridor. (\mathbf{c} , \mathbf{d}) Identification and initial opening of the ostium of the sphenoid sinus

the inferior third of the clivus superiorly and the C2 vertebral body inferiorly, and the lateral margin of the surgical exposure included the lateral masses of the C1 vertebra. Skeletonization of the anterior arch of C1 and the odontoid process was then carried out in a subperiosteal fashion. The lowest part of the clivus and the C1 anterior arch were then removed [17].

We checked the correct surgical position with the navigation system. A 3-mm coarse diamond burr was used to enter the anterior cortex of the odontoid process (extra-long highspeed microdrill; The Anspach Effort, Inc., Palm Beach Gardens, FL, USA). We proceeded with excision of pathological tissue between the odontoid process and the dura of the pontomedullary junction. An ultrasonic bone curette was then used to remove the tip of the odontoid process (Sonopet Omni ultrasonic surgical system; Stryker, Inc., Kalamazoo, MI, USA). Finally, the residual shell of the odontoid process could be removed by sectioning of the apical and alar ligaments, and separation of the process from adhesions to surrounding tissues [18]. Exposition of the dura anterior to the pontomedullary junction that was covered by inflammatory tissue. At the end of the procedure, image guidance was helpful for assessment of the effectiveness of the decompression. Furthermore, the integrity and the pulsatility of the dura were checked to rule out the risk of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leakage.

After the procedure, the inverted U-shaped mucosal nasopharyngeal flap that had been harvested at the beginning of the procedure was retrieved to cover the surgical cavity and fixed with fibrin glue. A Foley catheter was used to hold it in place for 2 days to promote the healing process. Both nostrils were packed with nasal swabs.

Discussion

'Craniovertebral junction' is a collective term that refers to the occipital bone, atlas and axis with supporting ligaments and membranes that provide stability and mobility to this



Fig. 8 (a, b) Opening of the ostium of the sphenoid sinus. (c, d) Identification of the sphenoid sinus and clivus

critical crossroads of the central nervous system at the brainstem transition to the spinal cord. Different surgical approaches have been described for exposing the CVJ, depending on the location of the pathology. If irreducible ventral compression of the brainstem occurs, an anterior route is the gold standard for obtaining straightforward access to the lesion without the need for neural tissue retraction [19]. The transoral, endonasal and transcervical approaches represent the three main options for performing odontoidectomy [4, 5, 8, 20]. The first approach to be reported was the transoral-transpharyngeal route to the ventral CVJ, described by Kanavel in 1917 [21]. Despite the wide surgical exposition (from the clivus to C2-C3) provided by this approach, it carries the risk of bacterial contamination, prolonged postoperative intubation, nasogastric tube feeding, tongue swelling and nasopharyngeal incompetence after transoral surgery [22]. The refinement of transsphenoidal endoscopic approaches to midline skull base lesions has led to the introduction of an endonasal route as a less invasive approach to the CVJ [23-25]. The extended endonasal approach exploits an anatomical corridor to the

odontoid process, involving only a small incision in the nasopharynx and sparing palate integrity, without exposure to saliva and oropharyngeal bacteria, and therefore with a theoretically lower infectious risk [24, 26]. The endoscopic approach can provide access to the entire skull base, extending from the anterior cranial fossa to the body of C2 on the midline. The lateral exposure is limited here by the Eustachian tube, medial pterygoid plates and paraclival internal carotid arteries (ICAs). The muscles of the ventral CVJ are thin and have an avascular plane on the midline that can be used to retract them laterally or remove them as a U-shaped flap for later reconstruction. The anterior tubercle of C1 is a useful midline landmark, which can be confirmed with image guidance. A cadaver study by Baird et al. [27], comparing the endonasal, transoral and transcervical endoscopic approaches, showed that the EEA offers a shorter distance to the surgical target. Moreover, with the endonasal approach, the trajectory is entirely top down; thus, it is favourable to achieve better control of the drill and advantageous for detaching the ligaments while performing clivus and odontoid resection [27]. In addition, the endoscope provides supe-



Fig. 9 (a) Rostrum of the sphenoid bone. (b) Clivus and paraclival carotid. (c, d) Inverted U-shaped flap of nasopharyngeal mucosa and muscular layers harvested with the laser

rior visualization and a larger optical field than the microscope does, which has turned out to be particularly advantageous in this deep surgical field. As highlighted by Ponce-Gómez et al. [3] in the odontoidectomy setting, the views differ between the endoscope and the microscope, and in such a narrow working area, movements are more fluent and faster with an endoscope. 3D endoscopes, which provide depth perception, may further improve the precision and safety of surgical manoeuvres [11, 15].

Maintenance of CVJ stability is another major issue to consider while performing surgical procedures at this level. Preservation of anterior C1 arch continuity by resection of only the odontoid process and pathological tissue—when feasible—reduces the risk of spinal biomechanical instability and the need for posterior fusion [9, 15]. One of the main criticisms of the EEA to the upper cervical spine is the limited exposure inferiorly. The K line, also known as the nasopalatine line (NPL), provides a window of caudal exposure inferior to the horizontal plane of the hard palate. As De Almeida et al. [26] demonstrated in their work

describing extrapolation of the NPL to the vertebral column, the most inferior limit of dissection with endoscopic instruments is about 8.9 mm above the base of the C2 vertebral body. These findings suggest that while removal of the C2 body cannot be performed with the EEA, odontoidectomy usually is feasible with the EEA. It is currently thought that the surgical approach has to be tailored to the unique anatomical setting of each patient and the features of the lesion. On the basis of our own surgical experience, drilling of the inferior nasal spine, located between the soft and the hard palate, can be useful to widen the route of access to the CVJ, to gain more caudal access [16]. Further inferior dissection may require the use of angled instruments or a transoral approach [26]. Another drawback of the EEA may be the steep and long learning curve that this complex approach requires. Last-but not least-for a skull base neurosurgeon, being familiar with the EEA means not only being able to perform it but also being able to deal effectively with the complications that may derive from this approach.

A recent review by Shriver et al. [6] stated that postoperative CSF leakage rates are higher after the EEA than after the transoral approach. This systematic review, comparing complications associated with transoral and transnasal odontoidectomy, reported intraoperative CSF leakage rates of 0.3% and 30%, respectively, and postoperative CSF leakage rates of 0.8% and 5.2%, respectively. CSF leaks, if not properly treated, may lead to meningitis. Therefore, a skull base neurosurgeon dealing with the EEA should be prepared to deal with complex CSF leaks.

We performed the approach using a Visionsense III 3D endoscope. The relative importance of the 3D view depends on the relative increase in the depth of field it provides in comparison with a 2D endoscope. In 2012, Castelnuovo et al. [28] described one case of transnasal resection of an anterior skull base malignancy with a 3D endoscope. They reported that the surgeons were able to recognize and manage anatomical structures, and control bleeding easily, thanks to use of a bimanual technique and 3D visualization. Probably the most fascinating potential of 3D vision is the ability to control the anatomical structures that are present but not usually and easily visible. The addition of depth perception allows us to overcome the limitations of 2D, making the new 3D endoscopic system an ideal tool for a wide range of procedures. Finally, the accuracy of the visualization of the anatomical structures and their relationships makes the 3D endoscope a versatile tool, which entails a shorter learning curve than the traditional 2D endoscope [12].

Conclusion

The endoscopic endonasal route to the odontoid process has proven to be a feasible, safe and well-tolerated procedure. Anatomical study is mandatory for better understanding of the three-dimensional anatomy of the craniovertebral junction (CVJ) and relation of critical neurovascular structures to specific bony and muscular landmarks. Endoscopic relation of CVJ anatomy is difficult and complex, and cadaver studies help to ensure safety and control during surgical procedures. Anatomical knowledge and dissection in the cadaver laboratory will help future neurosurgeons to develop approaches, facilitate safe surgery and reduce the current limitations of the endoscopic endonasal approach to the CVJ: the caudal exposure limited by nasal and palatine bony and soft tissues. The advantages of the endoscopic endonasal approach are the location of the incision (in the nasopharynx rather than in the oropharynx) and the wider, closer and brighter view provided by the endoscope. High-definition three-dimensional endoscopes, lasers and ultrasound bony curettes have been shown to be useful tools for this approach.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Lopez AJ, Scheer JK, Leibl KE, Smith ZA, Dlouhy BJ, Dahdale NS. Anatomy and biomechanics of the craniovertebral junction. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38:E2.
- Menezes AH, Traynelis VC. Anatomy and biomechanics of normal craniovertebral junction (a) and biomechanics of stabilization (b). Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24:1091–100.
- Ponce-Gómez JA, Ortega-Porcayo LA, Soriano-Barón HE, Sotomayor-González A, Arriada-Mendicoa N, Gómez-Amador JL, Palma-Díaz M, Barges-Coll J. Evolution from microscopic transoral to endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy. Neurosurg Focus. 2014;37(4):E15.
- Dickman CA, Crawford NR, Brantley A, Sonntag V. Biomechanical effects of transoral odontoidectomy. Neurosurgery. 1995;36(6):1146–53.
- Naderi S, Crawford NR, Melton MS, et al. Biomechanical analysis of cranial settling after transoral odontoidectomy. Neurosurg Focus. 1999;6:E7.
- Shriver MF, Kshettry VR, Sindwani R, Woodard T, Benzel EC, Recino PF. Transoral and transnasal odontoidectomy complications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2016;148:121–9.
- Nayak JV, Gardner PA, Vescan AD, Carrau RL, Kassam AB, Snyderman CH. Experience with the expanded endonasal approach for resection of the odontoid process in rheumatoid disease. Am J Rhinol. 2007;21:601–6.
- Steinmetz MP, Mroz TE, Benzel EC. Craniovertebral junction: biomechanical considerations. Neurosurgery. 2010;66(3 Suppl):7–12.
- A Gladi M, Iacoangeli M, Specchia N, Re M, Dobran M, Alvaro L, Moriconi E, Scerrati M. Endoscopic transnasal odontoid resection to decompress the bulbo-medullary junction: a reliable anterior minimally invasive technique without posterior fusion. Eur Spine J. 2012;21(Suppl 1):S55–60.
- Magrini S, Pasquini E, Mazzatenta D, Frank G, et al. Endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy in a patient affected by Down syndrome: technical case report. Neurosurgery. 2008;63:e373–4.
- Altieri R, Tardivo V, Pacca P, Pennacchietti V, Penner F, Garbossa D, Ducati A, Garzaro M, Zenga F. 3D HD endoscopy in skull base surgery: from darkness to light. Surg Technol Int. 2016;29: 359–65.
- Pennacchietti V, Garzaro M, Grottoli S, Pacca P, Garbossa D, Alessandro D, Zenga F. Three-dimensional endoscopic endonasal approach and outcomes in Sellar lesions: a single-center experience of 104 cases. World Neurosurg. 2016;89:121–5.
- Cavallo LM, Cappabianca P, Messina A, Esposito F, Stella L, de Divitiis E, et al. The extended endoscopic endonasal approach to the clivus and cranio-vertebral junction: anatomical study. Childs Nerv Syst. 2007;23:665–71.
- Cavallo LM, Messina A, Cappabianca P, Esposito F, de Divitiis E, Gardner P, Tschabitscher M. Endoscopic endonasal surgery of the midline skull base: anatomical study and clinical considerations. Neurosurg Focus. 2005;19:1–14.
- Zenga F, Marengo N, Pacca P, Pecorari G, Ducati A. C1 anterior arch preservation in transnasal odontoidectomy using threedimensional endoscope: a case report. Surg Neurol Int. 2015;6:192.

- Zenga F, Pacca P, Tardivo V, Pennacchietti V, Garbossa D, Pecorari G, Ducati A. Endoscopic endonasal approach to the odontoid pathologies. World Neurosurg. 2016;89:394–403.
- Agrawal A, Reyes PM. A novel technique of odontoidoplasty and C1 arch reconstruction: anatomical and biomechanical basis. Neurosurgery. 2011;68(1 Suppl Operative):103–13.
- Zenga F, Villaret AB, Fontanella MM, Nicolai P. Endoscopic transnasal odontoidectomy using ultrasonic bone curette: technical case report. Neurol India. 2013;61:69–72.
- Jhawar S, Nunez M, Pacca P, Voscoboinik DS, Truong H. Craniovertebral junction 360°: a combined microscopic and endoscopic anatomical study. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2016;7(4):204.
- Dasenbrock HH, Clarke MJ, Bydon A, Wolinsky J-P, et al. Endoscopic image-guided transcervical odontoidectomy: outcomes of 15 patients with basilar invagination. Neurosurgery. 2012;70:351–60.
- Kanavel AB. Bullet located between the atlas and the base of the skull: technique of removal through the mouth. Surg Clin Chicago. 1917;1:361–6.
- Crockard HA. Transoral surgery: some lessons learned. Br J Neurosurg. 1995;9:283–93.

- Alfieri A, Jho HD, Tschabitscher M. Endoscopic endonasal approach to the ventral cranio-cervical junction: anatomical study. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2002;144:219–35.
- 24. Kassam AB, Snyderman C, Gardner P, Carrau R, Spiro R. The expanded endonasal approach: a fully endoscopic transnasal approach and resection of the odontoid process: technical case report. Neurosurgery. 2005;57(Suppl 1):E213.
- Messina A, Bruno MC, Coste A, Cavallo LM, de Divittis E, Cappabianca P, Tschabitscher M. Pure endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy: anatomical study. Neurosurg Rev. 2007;30(3):189–94.
- De Almeida JR, Zanation AM, Snyderman CH, Carrau RL, Prevedello DM, Gardner PA, Kassam AB. Defining the nasopalatine line: the limit for endonasal surgery of the spine. Laryngoscope. 2009;119:239–44.
- Baird CJ, Conway JE, Sciubba DM, Prevedello DM, Quiñones-Hinojosa A, Kassam AB. Radiographic and anatomic basis of endoscopic anterior craniocervical decompression: a comparison of endonasal, transoral, and transcervical approaches. Neurosurgery. 2009;65(6 Suppl):158–64.
- Castelnuovo P, Battaglia P, Bignami M, Dallan I. Endoscopic transnasal resection of anterior skull base malignancy with a novel 3D endoscope and neuronavigation. Acta Otorhinolaryngol Ital. 2012;32:189–91.

Endonasal and Transoral Approaches to the Craniovertebral Junction: A Quantitative Anatomical Study



Francesco Doglietto, Francesco Belotti, Jimmy Qiu, Elena Roca, Ivan Radovanovic, Anne Agur, Walter Kucharczyk, Alberto Schreiber, Andrea Bolzoni Villaret, Piero Nicolai, Fred Gentili^{\$}, and Marco Maria Fontanella^{\$}

Abstract *Background:* The endoscopic endonasal approach has recently been added to the surgical armamentarium to access the anterior craniovertebral junction (CVJ). Comparative analyses with the transoral approach are scarce. The aim of this study was to provide a quantitative anatomical analysis of both approaches.

Methods: In four specimens the endoscopic endonasal approach (before and after sphenoidectomy) and the transoral approach (without and with a soft palate split) were performed. ApproachViewer—part of GTx-UHN (Guided Therapeutics software, developed at University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada)—was used to quantify and visualize the working volume, as well as the exposed area, of each surgical approach. Different modalities (crossing and non-crossing) were used to quantify the exposure of the deep surface, providing an indirect quantitative value of the 'surgical freedom'. The lowest point exposed by the endonasal

Author contributed equally with all other contributors. Fred Gentili and Marco Maria Fontanella

F. Doglietto (\boxtimes) · F. Belotti · E. Roca · M. M. Fontanella Neurosurgery, Department of Medical and Surgical Specialties, Radiological Sciences and Public Health, University of Brescia, Brescia, Italy

e-mail: francesco.doglietto@unibs.it

J. Qiu · W. Kucharczyk Division of Neuroradiology, Department of Medical Imaging, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

Division of Neuroradiology, Department of Surgery, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

I. Radovanovic · F. Gentili

Division of Neurosurgery, Toronto Western Hospital, Department of Surgery, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

A. Agur

Division of Anatomy, Department of Surgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

A. Schreiber · A. B. Villaret · P. Nicolai Otorhinolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery, Department of Medical and Surgical Specialties, Radiological Sciences and Public Health, University of Brescia, Brescia, Italy approaches was compared with that predicted by preoperative radiological lines. Non-parametric Welch analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used for statistical analyses.

Results: The working volume was significantly larger and the distance to the target was shorter with the transoral approaches than with the endonasal approaches. Clival exposure was better with the endonasal approaches than with the non-crossing transoral approach without a soft palate split; areas below C1 were better exposed with the transoral routes. The nasoaxial line best predicted surgical exposure with the endonasal approaches.

Conclusion: Endoscopic endonasal and transoral approaches to the anterior CVJ provide optimal exposure of different areas that overlap at the level of C1 when no anatomical anomalies are present. A split of the soft palate is not necessary during the transoral approach if it is combined with an endoscopic endonasal approach.

Keywords Anatomy · Craniovertebral junction · Endonasal Quantitative · Transoral

Introduction

Endoscopic endonasal approaches to the anterior craniovertebral area have recently been added to the surgical armamentarium for the treatment of pathologies that involve this anatomically complex region [1-3].

Detailed anatomical descriptions of the endoscopic endonasal approach are available [1, 2, 4], but only a few papers have attempted a comparative analysis of this approach and the transoral approach [5–9]. Limited clinical comparative data are available [10].

The aim of this paper is to systematically analyse the anatomical features of the endonasal and transoral routes to the anterior craniovertebral junction (CVJ), using a recently developed research method that allows visualization and quantification of the surgical pyramid that defines a surgical approach [11, 12].

Materials and Methods

Specimens

Four lightly embalmed specimens underwent computed tomography (CT) scans, using a 1×1 frame with contiguous slices, at both 1 and 3 mm. CT was performed using a gantry of 0°, with a scan window diameter of 225 mm and a pixel size of more than 0.44×0.44 (University of Toronto Research Ethics Board (REB) approval no. 23,849). The CT scan files were saved in DICOM (Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine) format.

Surgical Approaches

Surgery was simulated at the University of Toronto Surgical Skills Centre at Mount Sinai Hospital. Endoscopic dissections were performed using a high-definition head camera with 0° and 30° rod-lens scopes (Karl Storz[®], Tuttlingen, Germany). Microsurgical dissections were performed under microscopic visualization at ×4 to ×18 magnifications. A Crockard retractor (Codman[®], Randolph, MA, USA) was used for the transoral approaches.

The endoscopic endonasal approach to the anterior CVJ was performed. Using a 0° rod-lens scope. The inferior turbinate was out-fractured to visualize the choana bilaterally. A rubber band was introduced into the nostril and pulled out of the oral cavity bilaterally, so as to retract the soft palate. A right middle turbinectomy and maxillary antrostomy were performed, and a nasoseptal flap was harvested on the right and positioned in the maxillary sinus. A posterior septectomy was performed, taking special care to drill the septum flush with the posterior portion of the hard palate. A linear incision was performed at the level of the rhinopharynx, down to the prevertebral fascia, and the muscles were dissected subperiosteally, exposing the anterior tubercle of the atlas. Then a wide sphenoidectomy was added to the approach, drilling the sphenoid floor to the clival plexus posteriorly and laterally to both the vidian and hypoglossal nerves.

The *microsurgical transoral approach* was also performed. The mouth opening was checked and, if it was abnormal because of the partial fixation of the specimens, it was normalized using an incision at the level of the masseter insertion into the zygoma. Once self-retaining retractors were positioned, a rubber catheter was placed through the nose and then sutured to the uvula to retract it out of the field. A midline incision was performed at the level of the oropharynx, elevating a single myomucosal flap from the anterior longitudinal ligament.

The soft palate was then divided at its midline from the junction with the hard palate to the side of the uvula, deviating off the midline to preserve it.

Quantifications

A dedicated software package called ApproachViewer—part of GTx-UHN (Guided Therapeutics software, developed at University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada)—was used for the anatomical quantifications [11, 12].

ApproachViewer allows for real-time evaluation and comparison of surgical approaches, as well as postdissection analyses of collected data. It was developed to visualize, in three dimensions (3D), the surgical approach inside the head in which it was performed, as well as quantifying its anatomical features. The quantitative comparison of approaches was therefore based on their anatomical features, defining them as 'truncated pyramids', as described by Andaluz et al. [13]. A truncated pyramid is defined by its superficial surface (or 'surgical window'), deep surface (or 'area of exposure'), height (the distance between the previous areas) and pyramid volume (the surgical space that is available for straight instruments) (Fig. 1).

Commercially available navigation hardware was used (Northern Digital Imaging[®], Waterloo, ON, Canada) and included a passive rigid body, a passive probe (pointer) with four markers, and the Polaris Vicra[®] optical tracking system. The Polaris optical camera emits infrared (IR) light and captures IR reflections off sphere markers attached to the pointer, whose geometry allows reproduction of its position and orientation with a multiplanar reconstruction.

DICOM files were uploaded into GTx-UHN and a registration tolerance of <2 mm was accepted. In addition to providing neuronavigation during the dissections, ApproachViewer allows collection of deep and superficial surfaces, using the pointer to track their perimeters, and provides real-time visualization and quantification of the surgical pyramid in axial, coronal and sagittal sections, and as a 3D rendering (Fig. 4) [11, 12]. The quantification procedure was repeated twice for each approach, tracking both 'non-crossing' and 'crossing' pyramids. A non-crossing pyramid is obtained by keeping the pointer in corresponding positions on both deep and superficial surfaces, thus obtaining the widest obstacle-free working space, defined by a straight instrument. A crossing pyramid is obtained by keeping the pointer in opposite positions on



Fig. 1 Surgical pyramid with 'non-crossing' and 'crossing' collection modalities. Two different modalities are used to evaluate the working volume of each approach. (a) Non-crossing modality: when the pointer is positioned at the level of the deep area, at the anterior craniovertebral junction (CVJ), special care is taken to touch the superficial area at the same level (i.e. the pointer touches the 12 o'clock point on both surfaces). (b) Crossing modality: the pointer positioned on the deepest surface is positioned at the opposite level in the superficial area (i.e. the pointer is positioned at 12 o'clock on the deep surface and touches the 6 o'clock point on the superficial area). The aim of the non-crossing registration is to record the widest volume in which surgical manoeuvrability is maximal, as each point on the deep surface can be reached by all points in the superficial area. The aim of the crossing modality is to record the widest possible deep area; its periphery is made up of points that can be reached only through contralateral points on the superficial area (i.e. for bimanual surgery, the surgeon has to have an angled instrument in one hand to control that point with two instruments)

deep and superficial surfaces (i.e. at 3 o'clock at the pyriform aperture and at 9 o'clock at the posterior wall of the sphenoid sinus), defining the largest deep surface that can be reached with a straight instrument (Fig. 1).

ApproachViewer also allows a postdissection analysis to be performed by drawing areas of interest on the specimen CT scans [11, 12]. The drawings were done by tracing lines

extending from one side to the other side of the desired surface in each consecutive axial CT slice, which were automatically assembled to generate the surface. The following five areas were traced for this study: the lower clivus, the C0-C1 space, the anterior arch of the C1 vertebra, the odontoid process and the body of the C2 vertebra (Fig 2). The lower clivus area was defined by the floor of the sphenoid sinus as the superior border, by the lower end of the clivus as the inferior border and by the vertical projections of both hypoglossal canals as the lateral borders. The CO-C1 space area was the surface between the lower clivus and the anterior arch of C1, bound laterally by the occipital condyles. The anterior arch of the C1 vertebra was drawn from the upper border of the arch down to its lower edge, the lateral border being the junction between the arch and transverse processes. The odontoid process area corresponded to the space located between the anterior arch of C1 superiorly, the base of the odontoid process inferiorly and the medial border of C1-C2 articulation laterally. The body of the C2 vertebra area was defined as the anterior surface of the body of C2; its superior border corresponded to the base of the odontoid process, its inferior border was the inferior edge of the vertebra itself, and the lateral borders consisted of the lateral edges of the vertebra inferiorly and the junctions between the body and transverse processes superiorly (Fig. 2). Matching the areas of interest and the surgical pyramids, ApproachViewer provided absolute and percentage values of the surface exposed by each approach.

The height of each approach was calculated by measuring the distance between the midpoint of the superficial surface of the pyramid and the closest point on the odontoid process.

Radiological and Surgical Lines for the Endonasal Approach to the Craniovertebral Junction

The nasopalatine line (NPL) [14] and the nasoaxial line (NAxL) [15] were drawn on CT scans (Fig. 3). The distance between the projections of the NAxL and NPL on the odontoid process was divided into five segments (Fig. 3). Subsequently, the segment reached by the most caudal point of the endonasal approaches was identified and recorded (Fig. 3).

Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses comparing the percentages of exposure provided by the endonasal and transoral approaches were



Fig. 2 Anterior craniovertebral junction (CVJ) segmentation. In ApproachViewer, five different areas are drawn: the lower clivus (*green*), the C0–C1 space (*red*), the anterior arch of C1 (*light blue*), the



Fig. 3 Predictive lines for endonasal approaches. The nasopalatine line (NPL; *yellow*) and the nasoaxial line (NAxL; *green*) are drawn on computed tomography (CT) images on the midsagittal plane. The NPL is defined by the line that connects the inferior margin of the nasal bones anteriorly and the posterior border of the hard palate posteriorly [14]. The NaXL is the line that starts from the midpoint of the distance from the rhinion to the anterior nasal spine of the maxillary bone and ends at the C2 vertebra, tangential to the posterior nasal spine of the palatine bone [15]. The distance between the two lines at the level of the anterior craniovertebral junction (CVJ) is divided into five segments (*blue line*). The lowest point at the level of the anterior CVJ included in the noncrossing (*yellow*) and crossing (*red*) endonasal approaches is recorded (see text for further details)

performed for each area of interest. The same analyses were performed also for the heights and volumes of the approaches, but the crossing volumes were excluded, as they do not define a real working space.

'odontoid process' (*yellow*) and the body of C2 (*dark blue*) (see text for further details). The same areas are shown with part of the sphenoid and pterygoid processes still visible (**a**) or removed (**b**)

The predictivity of the NAxL and NPL was analysed by recording where the lowest point of the surgical pyramids was for all endonasal approaches; crossing and non-crossing approaches were compared.

The normality and homogeneity of the variances were tested and demonstrated to not be present for each group of results. Therefore, non-parametric Welch analyses of variance (ANOVAs) were performed.

Results

The mean operative volume of the endonasal approaches was 27.4 cm³ before the sphenoidectomy, which led to a statistically significant increase to 53.3 cm³ (p = 0.00005) (Table 1). This gain of volume was directed superiorly, as shown in Fig. 3, and not relevant to surgical exposure of the odontoid process.

The mean operative volumes of the transoral approaches, without and with a soft palate split, were 82.2 and 111.5 cm³, respectively (with a gain of 26.37%); the difference between the two was not statistically significant (Table 1).

The approach height was significantly greater with the endonasal approaches than with the transoral approaches, with mean distances of 90.2 and 80.4 mm, respectively (p = 0.008) (Table 1).

The analyses of the anterior craniovertebral areas exposed by each approach are summarized in Table 2. The lower



Fig. 4 Areas shared by the endonasal and transoral approaches. The endonasal and transoral approaches share a common area at the level of C1, as shown on the three axes and with the reconstructed surgical volumes in ApproachViewer. An endonasal approach after sphenoidec-

tomy is shown in *blue (lighter blue and larger volume:* crossing; *darker blue and smaller volume:* non-crossing). A transoral approach without a soft palate split is shown in *red (lighter red and larger volume:* crossing; *darker red and smaller volume:* non-crossing)

Table 1 Heights and volumes of transnasal and transoral approaches (see text for further details)

	Transnasal approach		Transoral approach		
Height					
[mm (range)]	90.22 (79.4–103.57)		80.35 (63.73–96.91)		
Volume [cm ³ (range)]	Without sphenoidectomy 27.42 (14.96–37.43)	After sphenoidectomy 53.30 (34.36–69.92)	Without soft palate split 82.16 (42.7–133.85)	After soft palate split 111.47 (57.68–147.5)	

clivus exposures obtained with the crossing and non-crossing endonasal approaches (47.67% and 38.02%, respectively) were significantly larger than those obtained with the non-crossing transoral approach without a soft palate split (5.93%; p < 0.00001).

The only statistically significant difference in C0–C1 surface exposure was between the crossing and non-crossing endonasal approaches (76.71% versus 55.91%; p = 0.01).

A similar result was demonstrated for the C1 surface (62.38% versus 22.90%). The non-crossing endonasal approaches showed also significantly less exposure of the C1 surface than the crossing transoral approaches without a soft palate split (80.33%) and with a soft palate split (87.32%). The crossing transoral approaches with a soft palate split provided more exposure than the crossing endonasal approaches (p < 0.00001).

The odontoid process surface (i.e. between the inferior margin of C1 and the body of C2; see Fig. 1) was significantly less exposed by the non-crossing and crossing endonasal approaches (0% and 10.54%, respectively) than by the non-crossing and crossing transoral approaches without a soft palate split (65.42% and 83.67%, respectively) and with a soft palate split (78.61% and 90.48%, respectively; p < 0.00001 for the comparison between the endonasal and transoral approaches). Similarly, the C2 surface was more exposed by the transoral approaches than by the endonasal approaches (p < 0.00001) (Table 1).

The Welch ANOVA performed on the segments reached by crossing versus non-crossing approaches showed that the mean segment reached by non-crossing approaches was the first (mean value 1.19) and the segment reached by crossing approaches was the third (mean value 2.89; p = 0.01).

 Table 2
 Percentages of the different areas of interest exposed by each approach (see text for further details)

	Value [% (range)]						
	TN	TN X	ТО	TO X	TO-S	TO-S X	
Lower clivus	38.02	47.67	5.93	35.53	22.23	55.77	
	(3.63–74.66)	(20.48–81.45)	(0–20.58)	(2.31–69.27)	(0–49.85)	(0–94.86)	
C0-C1	55.91	76.71	29.52	69.86	57.32	72.44	
	(34.57–69.41)	(51.26–99.32)	(0–72.37)	(23.85–96.84)	(0–85.61)	(25.95–99.32)	
C1	22.90	62.38	53.35	80.33	63.01	87.32	
	(0–51.61)	(43.69–83.01)	(0–80.88)	(51.6–96.71)	(17.42–79.62)	(77.14–94.3)	
Odontoid	0	10.54	65.42	83.67	78.61	90.48	
	(0–0)	(0–45.61)	(0.91–88.32)	(64.68–100)	(70.61–94.86)	(76.22–100)	
C2	0	0	35.09	71.71	51.79	86.26	
	(0–0)	(0–0)	(0.47–78.4)	(16.64–99.54)	(20.34–80.37)	(51.95–99.74)	

TN transnasal, TN X transnasal, crossing, TO transoral, TO X transoral, crossing, TO-S transoral after soft palate split, TO-S X transoral after soft palate split, crossing

Discussion

As the endonasal endoscopic approach to the CVJ has recently been added to the surgical armamentarium and the pathologies for which it is indicated are rare, clinical data are relatively scarce, as documented by a recent systematic review and meta-analysis that attempted a comparative analysis between transoral and endonasal approaches and was able to include only 92 patients who had undergone transnasal odontoidectomy [10].

Some authors have performed an anatomical comparative analysis of transoral and endonasal approaches to the anterior CVJ.

In this study we applied a new research method, based on the software ApproachViewer (part of GTx-UHN), which allows visualization and quantification of the surgical pyramid that defines an approach, as well as the absolute and percentage values of exposed areas of interest. The volumetric analysis confirmed what seems obvious to the experienced surgeon and has been qualitatively or indirectly demonstrated by others: the endonasal approach provides a significantly smaller working volume than the transoral approach. The height of the surgical pyramid proved to be significantly greater with the endonasal approach. These data are novel and do not confirm previous radiological analyses [16]. Together, these data describe what is qualitatively evident in the volume visualization: the endonasal approach is a significantly narrower corridor to the odontoid; it can be significantly augmented by sphenoidectomy, which provides a further cranial working volume (Fig. 4).

The exposed area analyses well documented that the endonasal approach provides less working space than the transoral approach: the crossing modality, which signifies the extreme surface touched by a straight instrument, almost always significantly led to an increase in exposure when compared with the non-crossing modality in the endonasal approach. These data, though, were documented for each nasal cavity: in a standard odontoidectomy, a bi-nostril technique is used; furthermore, angled instruments might be used to augment the working space.

The comparative area analysis proved that there is a significant overlap between the endonasal and transoral approaches, as reported by others [8, 16–18]. In this study, the area was at the level of the anterior arch of C1. In a previous study of fresh cadavers with the aid of x-rays and CT scans, Visocchi et al. described the different angles that defined both approaches, and they defined the inferior third of the clivus as the shared surgical domain area [8]. The slight difference in these studies' data was most probably due to the difference in the specimens that were used.

As for the preoperative lines that predict the most inferior point exposed by the endonasal approach, we defined both the nasopalatine line (NPL, or 'Kassam' line) [14] and the nasoaxial line (NAxL) [15]. Our findings confirmed that the nasoaxial line best predicts the lowest point of the 'straight' working volume, i.e. the one with the greatest possible surgical manoeuvrability. The NPL was instead closer to the lowest possible point, exposed only by the crossing modality, i.e. the lowest point reached with an endonasal approach with a straight instrument. The inferior margin of the endonasal approaches, as measured by us and defined by the preoperative lines, does not take into account the possibility of using curved drills and instrumentation, which have already been developed for use in endonasal odontoidectomy; furthermore, we did not drill the posterior portion of the hard palate, which is another well-known procedure that can reduce the exposure obtained with an endonasal approach.

Though all of these data might seem obvious to the surgeon who is experienced in both approaches, they validate some clinical impressions and have clinical implications: (1) the transoral approach might be easier to perform because of the single and wider working space, but it will not effectively expose the clivus in most cases without a soft palate split; (2) the endonasal approach requires specific training and angled instruments to fully take advantage of a narrower surgical corridor; and (3) a combination of these approaches eliminates the need for a soft palate split in the case of a transoral approach.

Limits of the Present Study

The use of lightly embalmed rather than fresh specimens probably led to underestimation of both endonasal and transoral approaches due to relatively greater stiffness of the tissues.

We did not compare use of a microscope and an endoscope in the transoral approach. The aim of the study was to document the working volume of each approach, which is not influenced by the visualizing tool: as shown by the group led by Ammirati in an anatomical study [19] and by others in clinical reports [17, 20, 21], use of an endoscope can certainly increase visualization, but specific angled instrumentation might be needed to fully take advantage of endoscopic visualization and to optimize surgical manoeuvrability.

Conclusion

The endoscopic endonasal and transoral approaches to the anterior craniovertebral junction provide optimal exposure of different areas that overlap at the level of C1 when no anatomical anomalies are present. A split of the soft palate is not necessary during a transoral approach if it is combined with an endoscopic endonasal approach. Detailed knowledge of the non-crossing volume that defines an approach might contribute to the development of optimal angled instrumentation.

Acknowledgements The authors would like to thank Lisa Satterthwaite and her team at the University of Toronto Surgical Skills Centre at Mount Sinai Hospital for their invaluable support during the anatomical dissections.

Compliance with Ethical Standards The study was approved by University of Toronto Research Ethics Board. Francesco Doglietto was in part sponsored by a grant from the Fondazione Giuseppe Alazio, via Torquato Tasso, 22, 90144 Palermo, Italy (www.fondazionealazio.org).

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Alfieri A, Jho HD, Tschabitscher M. Endoscopic endonasal approach to the ventral cranio-cervical junction: anatomical study. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2002;144:219–25.
- Cavallo LM, Cappabianca P, Messina A, Esposito F, Stella L, de Divitiis E, et al. The extended endoscopic endonasal approach to the clivus and cranio-vertebral junction: anatomical study. Childs Nerv Syst. 2007;23:665–71.
- Kassam AB, Snyderman C, Gardner P, Carrau R, Spiro R. The expanded endonasal approach: a fully endoscopic transnasal approach and resection of the odontoid process: technical case report. Neurosurgery. 2005;57:E213.
- Messina A, Bruno MC, Decq P, Coste A, Cavallo LM, de Divittis E, et al. Pure endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy: anatomical study. Neurosurg Rev. 2007;30:189–94.
- 5. Visocchi M. Transnasal and transoral approach to the clivus and the craniovertebral junction. J Neurosurg Sci. Epub 2015 Mar 4.
- Visocchi M, Barbagallo G, Pascali VL, Mattogno P, Signorelli F, Iacopino G, et al. Craniovertebral junction transnasal and transoral approaches: reconstruct the surgical pathways with soft or hard tissue endocopic lines? This is the question. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2017;124:117–21.
- Visocchi M, Germano A, Umana G, Richiello A, Raudino G, Eldella AM, et al. Direct and oblique approaches to the craniovertebral junction: nuances of microsurgical and endoscope-assisted techniques along with a review of the literature. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2017;124:107–16.
- Visocchi M, La Rocca G, Della Pepa GM, Stigliano E, Costantini A, Di Nardo F, et al. Anterior video-assisted approach to the craniovertebral junction: transnasal or transoral? A cadaver study. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2014;156:285–92.
- Visocchi M, Pappalardo G, Pileggi M, Signorelli F, Paludetti G, La Rocca G. Experimental endoscopic angular domains of transnasal and transoral routes to the craniovertebral junction: light and shade. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2016;41:669–77.
- Shriver MF, Kshettry VR, Sindwani R, Woodard T, Benzel EC, Recinos PF. Transoral and transnasal odontoidectomy complications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2016;148:121–9.
- Doglietto F, Qiu J, Ravichandiran M, Radovanovic I, Belotti F, Agur A, et al. Quantification and comparison of neurosurgical approaches in the anatomy laboratory: a novel, neuronavigationbased, research method. Neurosurg Rev. 2016;39(3):357–68.
- Doglietto F, Qiu J, Ravichandiran M, Radovanovic I, Belotti F, Agur A, Zadeh G, Fontanella MM, Kucharczyk W, Gentili F. Quantitative comparison of cranial approaches in the anatomy laboratory: a neuronavigation based research method. World J Methodol. 2017;7(4):139–47. https://doi.org/10.5662/wjm. v7.i4.139.
- Andaluz N, Van Loveren HR, Keller JT, Zuccarello M. Anatomic and clinical study of the orbitopterional approach to anterior communicating artery aneurysms: in reply. Neurosurgery. 2004;52:1140–9.
- de Almeida JR, Zanation AM, Snyderman CH, Carrau RL, Prevedello DM, Gardner PA, et al. Defining the nasopalatine line: the limit for endonasal surgery of the spine. Laryngoscope. 2009;119:239–44.
- 15. Aldana PR, Naseri I, La Corte E. The naso-axial line: a new method of accurately predicting the inferior limit of the endoscopic

endonasal approach to the craniovertebral junction. Neurosurgery. 2012;71:ons308–14.

- Baird CJ, Conway JE, Sciubba DM, Prevedello DM, Quinones-Hinojosa A, Kassam AB. Radiographic and anatomic basis of endoscopic anterior craniocervical decompression: a comparison of endonasal, transoral, and transcervical approaches. Neurosurgery. 2009;65:158–64.
- El-Sayed IH, Wu JC, Ames CP, Balamurali G, Mummaneni PV. Combined transnasal and transoral endoscopic approaches to the craniovertebral junction. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2010;1:44–8.
- Seker A, Inoue K, Osawa S, Akakin A, Kilic T, Rhoton AL Jr. Comparison of endoscopic transnasal and transoral approaches to the craniovertebral junction. World Neurosurg. 2010;74:583–602.
- 19. Pillai P, Baig MN, Karas CS, Ammirati M. Endoscopic imageguided transoral approach to the craniovertebral junction: an anatomic study comparing surgical exposure and surgical freedom obtained with the endoscope and the operating microscope. Neurosurgery. 2009;64:437–44.
- Visocchi M, Della Pepa GM, Doglietto F, Esposito G, La Rocca G, Massimi L. Video-assisted microsurgical transoral approach to the craniovertebral junction: personal experience in childhood. Childs Nerv Syst. 2011;27:825–31.
- 21. Visocchi M, Doglietto F, Della Pepa GM, Esposito G, La Rocca G, Di Rocco C, et al. Endoscope-assisted microsurgical transoral approach to the anterior craniovertebral junction compressive pathologies. Eur Spine J. 2011;20:1518–25.

Ventral Brainstem Anatomy: An Endoscopic Transoral Perspective



Oreste de Divitiis, Alfredo Conti, Teresa Somma, Flavio Angileri, and Paolo Cappabianca

Abstract In recent years the use of the endoscope through the transclival route has gained new attention as a minimally invasive operative method to successfully treat numerous clival pathologies such as chordomas, meningiomas, haemangiopericytomas, enterogenous and epidermoid cysts, and metastasis(Cappabianca et al. Neurosurgery 55:933-940, 2004; Cappabianca et al. Childs Nerv Syst 20:796-801, 2004; Cappabianca et al. Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg 33:151-199, 2008; Cappabianca et al. Neurosurgery 49:473-475, 2001; Cappabianca et al. Surg Neurol 62:227-233, 2004; Dehdashti et al. Neurosurgery 63:299-307, 2008; Kerschbaumer et al. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 25:2708-2715, 2000; Saito et al. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 154:879-886, 2012; Stippler et al. Neurosurgery 64:268-277, 2009). Here we describe the endoscopic anatomy of the region reached through an endoscopic transoral approach. Fresh and formalin-fixed cadaver specimens were used to demonstrate both the feasibility of an endoscopic transoral-transclival intradural approach and its potential exposure. The transoral approach was performed using a clival opening of 20×15 mm. This smaller access point through the clivus, which allowed insertion of the endoscope and its instruments, did not limit the complete exposure of the cisternal spaces and permitted reconstruction of all anatomical layers.

This endoscopic approach thus provides excellent exposure of some of the most dangerous and inaccessible territories of the brain, respecting the anatomy and remaining a

Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Neurosciences,

Reproductive and Odontostomatological Sciences, School of Medicine and Surgery, Federico II University of Naples, Naples, Italy

e-mail: oreste.dedivitiis@unina.it; http://www.neurosurgery.unina.it

A. Conti · F. Angileri

minimally invasive approach. Further extensive clinical experience is necessary to prove its safety. The endoscopic transoral-transclival approach will presumably be selected to gain access to lesions of the lower ventral brainstem and the surrounding cisternal spaces, with development of new and more efficient surgical strategies for dural and bone defect repair.

Keywords Transoral \cdot Endoscopy \cdot Brainstem \cdot Vertebrobasilar system \cdot Anatomy \cdot Brain tumour

Introduction

A wide spectrum of neoplastic and malformative lesions can affect the ventral portion of the brainstem and the vertebrooccipital junction. The approach for surgical resection of tumours and vascular lesions of the petroclival junction and anterior brainstem still remains one of the major challenges of contemporary neurosurgery, although many different possible routes have been proposed to reach this critical area. With a conventional skull base approach it is possible to achieve a good view of the anterior brainstem through a posterolateral route, but it is aggressive and requires wide bone removal and a high degree of cerebral and vascular manipulation, in contrast to the modern concept of minimally invasive surgery [10, 16-18, 28, 32-34, 37, 38, 41]. The less deconstructive and direct route to reach the anterior surface of the brainstem is through the pharynx and the clival bone, which offers a direct view of the anterior brainstem and vertebrobasilar junction without requiring dislocation or manipulation of any noble structure.

The transoral approach has been used extensively for surgical removal of extradural lesions and is considered effective to reach ventral tumours and also non-neoplastic lesions of the clivus and the craniovertebral junction (CVJ) [1, 9, 10, 12, 19, 20, 22–25, 35].

O. de Divitiis (🖂) · T. Somma · P. Cappabianca

Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Biomedical and Dental Sciences, and Morpho-functional Imaging, University of Messina, Messina, Italy

This approach for treatment of an extra-axial tumour was described for the first time by Mullan et al. [26] in 1966; since then the approach has been used to treat midbasilar or vertebrobasilar junction aneurysms [13, 14, 18, 30]. In 1991, Crockard and Sen [10] reported surgical resection of seven intradural lesions, comprising meningiomas and neurofibromas, using this access route.

Despite their innovative efforts, these authors reported various postoperative complications such as meningitis and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) fistula. Obtaining a watertight closure of the clival dura mater is actually extremely difficult. Therefore, all patients experienced CSF leaks, which required positioning of lumbar drainage or a multilayer reconstruction. Because of this set of problems, use of the transoral approach for intradural pathology was mostly abandoned. In recent years, use of an endoscope through the transclival route has gained new attention as a minimally invasive operative method to successfully treat numerous clival pathologies such as chordomas, meningiomas, haemangiopericytomas, epidermoid cysts and metastasis [2-6, 11, 21, 31, 36]. Here we describe the endoscopic anatomy of the region reached through a transoral approach.

Endoscopic Anatomy of the Anterior Brainstem and Surrounding Structures

Methods

а

This anatomical study was performed at the Institute of Anatomy of the University of Vienna in Austria. For the study we used ten heads from fresh cadavers and five from formalin-fixed cadavers. The arteries and veins were injected under pressure with coloured silicone rubber (Dow Corning, Midland, MI, USA) via the internal carotid arteries and internal jugular veins. We used rigid endoscopes with 0° , 30° , 45° and 70° rod lenses, 2.7 mm or 4 mm in diameter and 11 cm or 18 cm in length (Karl Storz, Tuttlingen, Germany).

A retractor system was used to keep the mouth open. The soft palate was split on the midline. The pharyngeal mucosa was incised and the mucoperiosteal layer was retracted, exposing the clivus. On the clival surface the pharyngeal tubercle was identified, and a clival craniectomy with an average diameter of 20 mm in length and 15 mm in width was performed just above it, with a high-speed drill. The dura mater was visualized and opened with a linear incision. A video-capture system (Sony digital still recorder) was used for digital acquisition of endoscopic images.

Results

Through the opened dura mater we directly visualized the premedullary, the prepontine, and the lateral cerebellomedullary cisterns (Fig. 1a, b). Following the cisternal course of the vertebral arteries we reached the vertebrobasilar junction at the pontomedullary junction. In a lateral view, coming from the vertebral arteries, the origin of the two posteroinferior cerebellar arteries and the anterior spinal artery were visible from the cerebellomedullary cistern and the premedullary cistern, respectively. At this level we also observed the fibres of the hypoglossal nerve arising from the preolivary sulcus.



b

tine cistern (b) were visualized. After the opening of the dura mater in the centre of the endoscopic field we could visualize the basilar artery (BA) and the vertebrobasilar junction. Lying over the pyramid decussation the two vertebral arteries (VA) were visible and could be followed until the spinomedullary junction. Along the course of the basilar sulcus

to the upper part of the basilar artery, at the border of the interpeduncular cistern, the origin of the anteroinferior cerebellar artery and the perforating branches could be visualized. The entire free course of both abducens nerves (VI) could be followed in the preportine cistern, from their origin in the pontomedullary sulcus to Dorello's canal (DC)

The basilar artery—with its typical variability in diameter, length and course—could be visualized in the lower two thirds of the field in the prepontine cistern [29]. In this cistern the abducens nerve was recognized and followed along its course toward Dorello's canal. It was possible to visualize the cerebellopontine cistern from a premeatal route by using a 30–45° optical lens and lateral inclination of the endoscope. The acoustic–facial bundle was identified coming after the anteroinferior cerebellar artery, and we were able to follow it along its free cisternal course to the internal acoustic channel (Fig. 2a).

The anatomical characteristics of the internal acoustic channel that can be visualized are very dependent on the optical properties of the endoscope. In fact, it was also possible to identify the labyrinthine arteries in their course toward this channel (Fig. 2a). Using the same angled optical lens at 30° and 45° rotated rostrally, we were able to explore the upper part of the cerebellopontine angle. The most important structure visualized under this view was represented by the trigeminal nerve along its course from the pons toward Meckel's cave (Fig. 2b). With the same angled optical lens and with the endoscope turned laterally and downward, it was possible to reach the posterior part of the lateral cerebellomedullary cistern (Fig. 2c, d).

The interpeduncular fossa was also reached with this approach, using an angled optical lens at 45° or 70° . With the endoscope directed upward with an inclination of approximately 45° it was possible to follow the basilar artery to its



Fig. 2 With lateral inclination of the endoscope and a $30-45^{\circ}$ optical lens it was possible to enter the cerebellopontine cistern via a premeatal route along the anteroinferior cerebellar artery (AICA) course. The acoustic–facial bundle (VII–VIII) was identified coming after the anteroinferior cerebellar artery, and we were able to follow it along its free cisternal course to the internal acoustic channel (IAC). At this level it was possible to visualize the labyrinthine arteries (LbA) in their course toward the internal acoustic channel (**a** and **c**). Using an angled optical lens at 30° and 45° rotated rostrally, we were able to explore the upper part of the cerebellopontine angle. The most important structure

visualized under this view was represented by the trigeminal nerve (V) along its course from the pons toward Meckel's cave (**b**). By using the same angled optical lens and turning the endoscope laterally and downward, we could reach the posterior part of the lateral cerebellomedullary cistern. It was possible to visualize the IX and X nerves (IX–X) running laterally and posteriorly from the retro-olivary sulcus to the jugular foramen, covered in their anterior portion by a tuft of the choroidal plexus (CP) exiting from the foramen of Luschka and by the variable looping of the posteroinferior cerebellar artery (**d**)



Fig. 3 We reached the interpeduncular cistern by using a 70° optical lens and upward inclination of the instrument, following the basilar artery (BA) to its superior third. In this cisternal space the visual field was limited superiorly by the tuber cinereum (TC), anterolaterally by Liliequist's membrane (LM) and posterolaterally by the optic tracts. The basilar tip, the basilar bifurcation, the superior cerebellar arteries (SCA) and the P1 tracts of the posterior cerebral arteries were completely visible. The perforating branches of the basilar tip and of P1 were visible in detail and could be followed while entering the posterior perforated substance. The posterior communicating arteries (PcoA)

superior third, which was hidden by the border of the clival craniectomy. It was thus possible to reach and widely explore the interpeduncular cistern (Fig. 3a). The oculomotor nerves could be clearly identified (Fig. 3a–c). In the anterolateral part of the surgical field the posterior communicating arteries appeared, and they crossed Liliequist's membrane to reach the posterior cerebral arteries with a lateral deflection (Fig. 3d). The mammillary bodies and the tuber cinereum were also visualized (Fig. 3c). The perforating branches of the basilar tip and of P1 were visible in detail and could be followed while entering the posterior perforated substance (Fig. 3d).

appeared in the anterolateral part of the surgical field, where they crossed Liliequist's membrane with a lateral deflection to reach the posterior communicating arteries. Above the posterior perforated substance and posterior to the tuber cinereum, mammillary bodies (MB) were also visualized. Identification of the oculomotor nerves (III) completed the exploration of the cistern. They coursed from the interpeduncular fossa, passing between the superior cerebellar arteries and the posterior communicating arteries in an anterior and superior direction toward the tentorial edge

Discussion

An endoscopic minimally invasive approach for the treatment of intradural lesions located in or around the anterior brainstem offers several theoretical advantages. In our anatomical study we confirmed that this approach allows the operator to obtain full access to the anterolateral brainstem and to the cisternal space that surrounds it, from the spinomedullary junction to the interpeduncular cistern, offering a thorough vision of the vertebrobasilar arterial system and of cranial nerves III–XII. This endoscopic approach thus provides excellent exposure of some of the most dangerous and inaccessible territories of the brain, remaining a minimally invasive approach.

Furthermore, the majority of the technical problems related to the microscope-assisted transoral approach could be solved by use of endoscopic instrumentation. In fact, in the microsurgical transoral procedure proposed by Crockard and Sen [10] the clival opening needed for identification of intradural lesions was 2-3 cm; in our study the opening sufficient for the endoscopic view was limited to 20 mm in length and 15 mm in width, and it was located in a 'safe' entry zone through the clivus. This smaller access point through the clivus did not limit the complete exposure of the cisternal spaces and could reduce the rate of postoperative instability by minimizing the risk of condyle injuries. Moreover, the use of the endoscope for this approach offers exposure superior to that of the traditional open transoral route, as was confirmed in a recent anatomical study performed by La Corte et al. [23]. Furthermore, the endoscopic transoral approach permits better preservation of velopharyngeal function; a wider clival defect created with the microscopic approach is responsible for incompetence between the posterior pharyngeal wall and the soft palate, resulting in postoperative deficits in swallowing and in phonation. In fact, as reported by Chan et al. [8], the endoscopic endonasal approach could be reliably used to gain access to the CVJ, avoiding the dissection of soft palate tissue associated with a palate-splitting technique or with an extended endonasal approach. Another possible complication related to the microscope-assisted transoral approach, recently confirmed by Visocchi et al. [39], is the need for postoperative tracheostomy placement due to postoperative respiratory dysfunction.

The dural opening was minimized with the endoscopeassisted transoral technique because it was sized to allow introduction of only the endoscope and the instruments, and it is possible to close the dura mater by use of multilayer reconstruction. In comparison with the transsphenoidal approach, the wider entrance area and the shorter distance make the reconstruction of the bone plane easier and allow repositioning of the mucoperiosteal flap.

Both of these aspects—the limited size of the entry point and the possibility of easier reconstruction—may be the basis for the reduced occurrence of postoperative cerebrospinal leakage and meningitis, which represent the main postoperative complications of the standard approach.

Nowadays the endoscopic transoral approach is not the standard technique. However, clinical findings on the use of an endoscopic transoral-transpharyngeal approach to treat craniocervical junction abnormalities have been reported in the neurosurgical literature, and endoscopes have also been used to assist in the removal of brainstem cavernous angiomas and clival tumours [7, 9, 15, 27, 40, 42]. The endoscopic transoral-transclival approach will presumably be selected to gain access to lesions of the lower ventral brainstem and the surrounding cisternal spaces, with development of new and more efficient surgical strategies for dural and bone defect repair. For appropriately selected lesions near the palatal line, the endoscopic transoral approach appears to be the preferred approach [8].

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Apuzzo ML, Weiss MH, Heiden JS. Transoral exposure of the atlantoaxial region. Neurosurgery. 1978;3:201–7.
- Cappabianca P, Cavallo LM, de Divitiis E. Endoscopic endonasal transsphenoidal surgery. Neurosurgery. 2004;55:933–40. Discussion 940-931.
- Cappabianca P, Cavallo LM, Esposito F, de Divitiis E. Endoscopic endonasal transsphenoidal surgery: procedure, endoscopic equipment and instrumentation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2004;20:796–801.
- Cappabianca P, Cavallo LM, Esposito F, De Divitiis O, Messina A, De Divitiis E. Extended endoscopic endonasal approach to the midline skull base: the evolving role of transsphenoidal surgery. Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg. 2008;33:151–99.
- Cappabianca P, Cavallo LM, Mariniello G, de Divitiis O, Romero AD, de Divitiis E. Easy sellar reconstruction in endoscopic endonasal transsphenoidal surgery with polyester–silicone dural substitute and fibrin glue: technical note. Neurosurgery. 2001;49:473–5. Discussion 475-476.
- Cappabianca P, Cavallo LM, Valente V, Romano I, D'Enza AI, Esposito F, et al. Sellar repair with fibrin sealant and collagen fleece after endoscopic endonasal transsphenoidal surgery. Surg Neurol. 2004;62:227–33. Discussion 233.
- Cha ST, Jarrahy R, Yong WH, Eby T, Shahinian HK. A rare symptomatic presentation of ecchordosis physaliphora and unique endoscope-assisted surgical management. Minim Invasive Neurosurg. 2002;45:36–40.
- Chan AK, Benet A, Ohya J, Zhang X, Vogel TD, Flis DW, et al. The endoscopic transoral approach to the craniovertebral junction: an anatomical study with a clinical example. Neurosurg Focus. 2016;40(2):E11.
- Crockard HA, Pozo JL, Ransford AO, Stevens JM, Kendall BE, Essigman WK. Transoral decompression and posterior fusion for rheumatoid atlanto-axial subluxation. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1986;68:350–6.
- Crockard HA, Sen CN. The transoral approach for the management of intradural lesions at the craniovertebral junction: review of 7 cases. Neurosurgery. 1991;28:88–97. Discussion 97-88.
- Dehdashti AR, Karabatsou K, Ganna A, Witterick I, Gentili F. Expanded endoscopic endonasal approach for treatment of clival chordomas: early results in 12 patients. Neurosurgery. 2008;63:299–307. Discussion 307-299.

- Di Lorenzo N. Transoral approach to extradural lesions of the lower clivus and upper cervical spine: an experience of 19 cases. Neurosurgery. 1989;24:37–42.
- Drake CG. Surgical treatment of ruptured aneurysms of the basilar artery. Experience with 14 cases. J Neurosurg. 1965;23:457–73.
- Drake CG. The surgical treatment of aneurysms of the basilar artery. J Neurosurg. 1968;29:436–46.
- Frempong-Boadu AK, Faunce WA, Fessler RG. Endoscopically assisted transoral-transpharyngeal approach to the craniovertebral junction. Neurosurgery. 2002;51:S60–6.
- George B, Dematons C, Cophignon J. Lateral approach to the anterior portion of the foramen magnum. Application to surgical removal of 14 benign tumors: technical note. Surg Neurol. 1988;29:484–90.
- George B, Lot G, Boissonnet H. Meningioma of the foramen magnum: a series of 40 cases. Surg Neurol. 1997;47:371–9.
- Gilsbach JM. Extreme lateral approach to intradural lesions of the cervical spine and foramen magnum. Neurosurgery. 1991;28:779.
- Hadley MN, Spetzler RF, Sonntag VK. The transoral approach to the superior cervical spine. A review of 53 cases of extradural cervicomedullary compression. J Neurosurg. 1989;71:16–23.
- James D, Crockard HA. Surgical access to the base of skull and upper cervical spine by extended maxillotomy. Neurosurgery. 1991;29:411–6.
- Kassam A, Snyderman CH, Carrau RL, Gardner P, Mintz A. Endoneurosurgical hemostasis techniques: lessons learned from 400 cases. Neurosurg Focus. 2005;19:E7.
- 22. Kerschbaumer F, Kandziora F, Klein C, Mittlmeier T, Starker M. Transoral decompression, anterior plate fixation, and posterior wire fusion for irreducible atlantoaxial kyphosis in rheumatoid arthritis. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2000;25:2708–15.
- La Corte E, Aldana PR. Endoscopic approach to the upper cervical spine and clivus: an anatomical study of the upper limits of the transoral corridor. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2017;159(4):633–9.
- Lee SH, Park K, Kong DS, Kim ES, Eoh W. Long-term follow up of transoral anterior decompression and posterior fusion for irreducible bony compression of the craniovertebral junction. J Clin Neurosci. 2010;17:455–9.
- Menezes AH, VanGilder JC. Transoral-transpharyngeal approach to the anterior craniocervical junction. Ten-year experience with 72 patients. J Neurosurg. 1988;69:895–903.
- Mullan S, Naunton R, Hekmat-Panah J, Vailati G. The use of an anterior approach to ventrally placed tumors in the foramen magnum and vertebral column. J Neurosurg. 1966;24:536–43.
- Reisch R, Bettag M, Perneczky A. Transoral transclival removal of anteriorly placed cavernous malformations of the brainstem. Surg Neurol. 2001;56:106–15. Discussion 115-106.

- Rhoton AL Jr. The posterior fossa cisterns. Neurosurgery. 2000;47:S287–97.
- Rhoton AL Jr, Tedeschi H. Lateral approaches to the cerebellopontine angle and petroclival region (honored guest lecture). Clin Neurosurg. 1994;41:517–45.
- Saito I, Takahashi H, Joshita H, Usui M, Sasaki T, Sano K. Clipping of vertebro-basilar aneurysms by the transoral transclival approach. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 1980;20:753–8.
- Saito K, Toda M, Tomita T, Ogawa K, Yoshida K. Surgical results of an endoscopic endonasal approach for clival chordomas. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2012;154:879–86.
- Sekhar LN, Nanda A, Sen CN, Snyderman CN, Janecka IP. The extended frontal approach to tumors of the anterior, middle, and posterior skull base. J Neurosurg. 1992;76:198–206.
- Sen CN, Sekhar LN. An extreme lateral approach to intradural lesions of the cervical spine and foramen magnum. Neurosurgery. 1990;27:197–204.
- Seoane E, Tedeschi H, de Oliveira E, Wen HT, Rhoton AL Jr. The pretemporal transcavernous approach to the interpeduncular and prepontine cisterns: microsurgical anatomy and technique application. Neurosurgery. 2000;46:891–8. Discussion 898-899.
- Spetzler RF, Hadley MN, Sonntag VK. The transoral approach to the anterior superior cervical spine. A review of 29 cases. Acta Neurochir Suppl (Wien). 1988;43:69–74.
- Stippler M, Gardner PA, Snyderman CH, Carrau RL, Prevedello DM, Kassam AB. Endoscopic endonasal approach for clival chordomas. Neurosurgery. 2009;64:268–77. Discussion 277-268.
- Tedeschi H, Rhoton AL Jr. Lateral approaches to the petroclival region. Surg Neurol. 1994;41:180–216.
- Uttley D, Moore A, Archer DJ. Surgical management of midline skull-base tumors: a new approach. J Neurosurg. 1989;71:705–10.
- Visocchi M, Signorelli F, Liao C, Rigante M, Paludetti G, Barbagallo G, et al. Transoral versus transnasal approach for craniovertebral junction pathologies: never say never. World Neurosurg. 2018;110:592–603.
- Welch WC, Kassam A. Endoscopically assisted transoral-transpharyngeal approach to the craniovertebral junction. Neurosurgery. 2003;52:1511–2.
- Wen HT, Rhoton AL Jr, Katsuta T, de Oliveira E. Microsurgical anatomy of the transcondylar, supracondylar, and paracondylar extensions of the far-lateral approach. J Neurosurg. 1997;87:555–85.
- 42. Yamamoto T, Yano S, Hide T, Kuratsu J. A case of ecchordosis physaliphora presenting with an abducens nerve palsy: a rare symptomatic case managed with endoscopic endonasal transsphenoidal surgery. Surg Neurol Int. 2013;4:13.

Transoral Approach to the Craniovertebral Junction: A Neuronavigated Cadaver Study



Francesco Signorelli, Alessandro Costantini, Vittorio Stumpo, Giulio Conforti, Alessandro Olivi, and Massimiliano Visocchi

Introduction

More than 100 years after the first description by Kanavel of a transoral-transpharyngeal approach to remove a bullet impacted between the atlas and the clivus [1], the transoral approach (TOA) still represents the 'gold standard' for surgical treatment of a variety of conditions resulting in anterior craniocervical compression and myelopathy [2, 3]. Nevertheless, some concerns—such as the need for a temporary tracheostomy and a postoperative nasogastric tube, and the increased risk of infection resulting from possible bacterial contamination and nasopharyngeal incompetence [4-6]-led to the introduction of the endoscopic endonasal approach (EEA) by Kassam et al. [7] in 2005. Although this approach, which was conceived to overcome those surgical complications, soon gained wide attention, its clear predominance over the TOA in the treatment of craniovertebral junction (CVJ) pathologies is still a matter of debate [3]. In recent years, several papers have reported anatomical studies and surgical experience with the EEA, targeting different areas of the midline skull base, from the olfactory groove to the CVJ [8–19]. Starting from these preliminary experiences, further anatomical studies have defined the theoretical (radiological) and practical (surgical) craniocaudal limits of the endonasal route [20-25]. Our group has done the same for the TOA [26, 27] and compared the reliability of the radiological and surgical lines of the two different approaches. Very recently, a cadaver study, with the aid of neuronavigation, tried to define the upper and lower limits of the endoscopic TOA [28].

A. Costantini

The purpose of the present study, whose preliminary data were published in 2015 [27], is to exploit the accuracy provided by neuronavigation in order to further compare operative craniocaudal extensions of the transnasal and transoral routes.

Materials and Methods

Materials

Two adult formalin-fixed cadavers were examined after computed tomography (CT) scanning (multidetector, 128 layers) and with the aid of neuronavigation (Medtronic StealthStation Treon Plus) and use of the following instruments: a highspeed drill (Storz, Tuttlingen Germany); vacuum aspirator (Super Vega Battery); digital camera (EOS 7D telescopic lens image stabilizer ultrasonic macro 100 mm; Canon, Tokyo, Japan); microsurgical instruments; stainless steel headholder; and jaw block.

Methods

All four phases of specimen preparation (thawing, irrigation, fixation and perfusion) were performed at our centre, following a research protocol developed by our group. Before perfusion. the formalin-fixed specimens underwent high-definition CT scanning with the iodinated monomeric contrast medium Iomeprol (Iomeron®) 375 mg/mL. The imaging data (saved in DICOM [Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine] format) were stored on compact disc (CD) and imported into the neuronavigation workstation (Medtronic Treon), and three-dimensional reconstructions were obtained. A jaw block was used to achieve maximal opening of the oral aperture.

F. Signorelli (\boxtimes) · V. Stumpo · G. Conforti · A. Olivi · M. Visocchi Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

Institute of Radiology, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

Results

The examination of the CT scan of the two specimens did not reveal any CVJ pathology. With the aid of neuronavigation, accurate measurements were made in both cadaver heads. The results for both specimens in terms of craniocaudal and lateral exposures are summarized in Tables 1 and 2 and shown in Fig. 1.

Discussion

The TOA, spanning ventrally from the inferior third of the clivus to the C2-C3 interspace, allows shorter, wider and more direct access to the CVJ than other approaches, including the anterior, lateral and posterior approaches [29, 30]. Because of these anatomical and surgical considerations, this approach has been considered the preferred route to treat irreducible extradural ventral lesions causing cervicomedullary compression [4, 31–33]. Extensions of the approach with palatotomy, labiomandibulotomy or osteotomy, which are sometimes required to expose lesions located more rostrally, carry high risks of various types of permanent damage, including velopharyngeal insufficiency, malocclusion, neural deficits, temporomandibular joint (TMJ) dysfunction, swallowing and speech difficulties, and need for a tracheostomy and nasogastric feeding tube [33, 34]. The need to overcome the occurrence of these comorbidities of considerable clinical significance led to the development of alternative and potentially less invasive techniques to address ventral CVJ pathology, such as the EEA. Extensive literature has demonstrated through comparative anatomical and clinical studies that an endoscope-in addition to providing increased rostral exposure, brighter illumination and closer visualization of the lesion to be treated [35, 36]—can be used during the TOA as a valid complementary tool in a combined procedure. Nevertheless, though a recent systematic review

Table 1 Craniocaudal exposure: comparison between transoral and transnasal approaches

Craniocaudal			Percent superiority of
exposure	Transoral	Transnasal	transoral to transnasal (%)
Specimen A	45 mm	30.1 mm	33.12
Specimen B	44.9 mm	20.2 mm	55.02

Table 2Lateral exposure: comparison between transoral and
transnasal approaches

Lateral exposure	Transoral	Transnasal	Percent superiority of transoral to transnasal (%)
Specimen A	50 mm	29.8 mm	40.4
Specimen B	58.6 mm	25.8 mm	55.98

and meta-analysis [37] demonstrated a statistically significant increased risk of postoperative tracheostomy after the TOA in comparison with the EEA, it also showed a slight trend toward an increased morbidity/mortality prevalence with the EEA in comparison with the TOA (mortality 4% versus 2.9%; intraoperative cerebrospinal fluid [CSF] leakage 30% versus 0.3%; postoperative CSF leakage 5.2% versus 0.8%; meningitis 4% versus 0-4%; reoperation 5.1% versus 2.5%; velopharyngeal insufficiency 6.4% versus 3.3%; sepsis 7.7% versus 1.9%), although none of these differences were statistically significant. These data have prompted us to reconsider the presumed clear-cut superiority of the EEA over the endoscopic TOA, demonstrating the need for further comparative studies to better define and quantify real advantages and disadvantages of these techniques that are useful for the surgical decision-making process.

To clearly define the limits of the TOA, our research group devised a radiological 'theoretical' line—the palatine inferior dental arch line (PIA), a conceptual analogue of the nasopalatine line (NPL)—as a reliable predictor of the maximal superior extension of the TOA, and we then compared the reliability of the radiological and surgical lines of the two different approaches.

A recent cadaver study by LaCorte et al. was also performed with the aid of neuronavigation, with the aim of defining the upper and lower limits of the endoscopic TOA [28].

In the wake of our previous experimental volumetric studies [26, 27] and other recent contributions, we tried to exploit the accuracy provided by neuronavigation, to further compare operative sagittal and axial extensions of the transnasal and transoral corridors. Our observations were consistent with a relevant advantage of the TOA over the EEA in terms of craniocaudal and lateral extension in both specimens. It is worth noting that our measurements were performed in the setting of a minimal oral aperture as a consequence of the jaw block. Considering that this setting was suboptimal, we speculate that the actual advantage of the TOA is even greater than that reported in our study. We also conclude that even in cases in which wide opening of the mouth is not achievable, as in the case of paediatric patients, the TOA still offers a significant gain in terms of sagittal and axial exposure.

This study has limitations that are inherent to many cadaver studies: the specimens had normal cranial base anatomy, and the findings in this study may not be applicable in cases where the cranial base or oropharyngeal anatomy is abnormal as a result of disease or congenital variation. Moreover, the CVJ is a 'moving target', with great variability even among individuals without CVJ pathologies, as recently reported by Burke et al. [38]. In their study the CVJ was positioned below the palatine line (PL) in two thirds of



Fig. 1 (a, b) Sagittal and (c, d) axial neuronavigated computed tomography (CT) scans with contrast medium showing (a) craniocaudal and (c) lateral exposures of the transnasal approach and (b) craniocaudal and (d) lateral exposures of the transnasal approach

the control group and above it in one third of the group. Furthermore, because of the small number of specimens, our findings require validation in larger studies.

Conclusion

Our experimental study, conducted with the aid of neuronavigation, confirms that the transoral approach (TOA) offers a wider surgical working channel than the endoscopic endonasal approach (EEA), even in conditions in which the oral aperture is suboptimal. These findings, along with recent observations that the EEA can produce complications similar to those seen with the TOA in craniovertebral junction surgery—including velopharyngeal insufficiency and severe infections—suggest that the presumed superiority of the EEA over the TOA needs to be re-examined.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Kanavel AB. Bullet located between the atlas and the base of the skull: technique of removal through the mouth. Surg Clin Chicago. 1917;1:361–6.
- Menezes AH, VanGilder JC. Transoral-transpharyngeal approach to the anterior craniocervical junction. Ten-year experience with 72 patients. J Neurosurg. 1988;69:895–903. https://doi.org/10.3171/ jns.1988.69.6.0895.
- Visocchi M, Signorelli F, Liao C, Rigante M, Paludetti G, Barbagallo G, Olivi A. Endoscopic endonasal approach for craniovertebral junction pathologies: myth and truth in clinical series and personal experience. World Neurosurg. 2017;101:122–9. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.01.099.
- Crockard HA. Transoral surgery: some lessons learned. Br J Neurosurg. 1995;9:283–93.
- Visocchi M. Advances in videoassisted anterior surgical approach to the craniovertebral junction. Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg. 2011;37:97–110. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7091-0673-0_4.
- Liu JK, Patel J, Goldstein IM, Eloy JA. Endoscopic endonasal transclival transodontoid approach for ventral decompression of the craniovertebral junction: operative technique and nuances. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38:E17. https://doi.org/10.3171/2015.1.F OCUS14813.
- Kassam AB, Snyderman C, Gardner P, Carrau R, Spiro R. The expanded endonasal approach: a fully endoscopic transnasal approach and resection of the odontoid process: technical case report. Neurosurgery. 2005;57:E213.
- Yu Y, Wang X, Zhang X, Hu F, Gu Y, Xie T, Jiang X, Jiang C. Endoscopic transnasal odontoidectomy to treat basilar invagination with congenital osseous malformations. Eur Spine J. 2013;22(5):1127–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-012-2605-4.
- Yen YS, Chang PY, Huang WC, Wu JC, Liang ML, Tu TH, Cheng H. Endoscopic transnasal odontoidectomy without resection of nasal turbinates: clinical outcomes of 13 patients. J Neurosurg Spine. 2014;21:929–37. https://doi.org/10.3171/2014.8.SP INE13504.
- Wu JC, Huang WC, Cheng H, Liang ML, Ho CY, Wong TT, Shih YH, Yen YS. Endoscopic transnasal transclival odontoidectomy: a new approach to decompression: technical case report. Neurosurgery. 2008;63:ONSE92–4. https://doi.org/10.1227/01. neu.0000335020.06488.c8.
- Ponce-Gomez JA, Ortega-Porcayo LA, Soriano-Baron HE, Sotomayor-Gonzalez A, Arriada-Mendicoa N, Gomez-Amador JL, Palma-Diaz M, Barges-Coll J. Evolution from microscopic transoral to endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy. Neurosurg Focus. 2014;37:E15. https://doi.org/10.3171/2014.7.FOCUS14301.
- Nayak JV, Gardner PA, Vescan AD, Carrau RL, Kassam AB, Snyderman CH. Experience with the expanded endonasal approach for resection of the odontoid process in rheumatoid disease. Am J Rhinol. 2007;21:601–6. https://doi.org/10.2500/ajr.2007.21.3089.
- Mazzatenta D, Zoli M, Mascari C, Pasquini E, Frank G. Endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy: clinical series. Spine. 2014;39:846– 53. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.00000000000271.
- Lee A, Sommer D, Reddy K, Murty N, Gunnarsson T. Endoscopic transnasal approach to the craniocervical junction. Skull Base. 2010;20:199–205. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0029-1246220.
- Goldschlager T, Hartl R, Greenfield JP, Anand VK, Schwartz TH. The endoscopic endonasal approach to the odontoid and its impact on early extubation and feeding. J Neurosurg. 2015;122:511–8. https://doi.org/10.3171/2014.9.JNS1473.
- 16. Gladi M, Iacoangeli M, Specchia N, Re M, Dobran M, Alvaro L, Moriconi E, Scerrati M. Endoscopic transnasal odontoid resection to decompress the bulbo-medullary junction: a reliable anterior minimally invasive technique without posterior fusion.

Eur Spine J. 2012;21(Suppl 1):S55-60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-012-2220-4.

- Gempt J, Lehmberg J, Grams AE, Berends L, Meyer B, Stoffel M. Endoscopic transnasal resection of the odontoid: case series and clinical course. Eur Spine J. 2011;20:661–6. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00586-010-1629-x.
- Duntze J, Eap C, Kleiber JC, Theret E, Dufour H, Fuentes S, Litre CF. Advantages and limitations of endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy. A series of nine cases. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2014;100:775–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.otsr.2014.07.017.
- Choudhri O, Mindea SA, Feroze A, Soudry E, Chang SD, Nayak JV. Experience with intraoperative navigation and imaging during endoscopic transnasal spinal approaches to the foramen magnum and odontoid. Neurosurg Focus. 2014;36:E4. https://doi.org/10.31 71/2014.1.FOCUS13533.
- Alfieri A, Jho HD, Tschabitscher M. Endoscopic endonasal approach to the ventral cranio-cervical junction: anatomical study. Acta Neurochir. 2002;144:219–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s007010200029.
- Cavallo LM, Messina A, Cappabianca P, Esposito F, de Divitiis E, Gardner P, Tschabitscher M. Endoscopic endonasal surgery of the midline skull base: anatomical study and clinical considerations. Neurosurg Focus. 2005;19:E2.
- Messina A, Bruno MC, Decq P, Coste A, Cavallo LM, de Divitis E, Cappabianca P, Tschabitscher M. Pure endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy: anatomical study. Neurosurg Rev. 2007;30:189– 94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10143-007-0084-6.
- de Almeida JR, Zanation AM, Snyderman CH, Carrau RL, Prevedello DM, Gardner PA, Kassam AB. Defining the nasopalatine line: the limit for endonasal surgery of the spine. Laryngoscope. 2009;119:239–44. https://doi.org/10.1002/lary.20108.
- Aldana PR, Naseri I, La Corte E. The naso-axial line: a new method of accurately predicting the inferior limit of the endoscopic endonasal approach to the craniovertebral junction. Neurosurgery. 2012;71:ons308–14. https://doi.org/10.1227/ NEU.0b013e318266e488.
- La Corte E, Aldana PR, Ferroli P, Greenfield JP, Hartl R, Anand VK, Schwartz TH. The rhinopalatine line as a reliable predictor of the inferior extent of endonasal odontoidectomies. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38:E16. https://doi.org/10.3171/2015.1.FOCUS14777.
- Visocchi M, La Rocca G, Della Pepa GM, Stigliano E, Costantini A, Di Nardo F, Maira G. Anterior video-assisted approach to the craniovertebral junction: transnasal or transoral? A cadaver study. Acta Neurochir. 2014;156:285–92. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00701-013-1910-y.
- Visocchi M, Pappalardo G, Pileggi M, Signorelli F, Paludetti G, La Rocca G. Experimental endoscopic angular domains of transnasal and transoral routes to the craniovertebral junction light and shade. Spine. 2015;41(3):669–77.
- La Corte E, Aldana PR. Endoscopic approach to the upper cervical spine and clivus: an anatomical study of the upper limits of the transoral corridor. Acta Neurochir. 2017;159:633–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00701-017-3103-6.
- Rhoton AL Jr. Rhoton's cranial anatomy and surgical approaches. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2007.
- Singh H, Harrop J, Schiffmacher P, Rosen M, Evans J. Ventral surgical approaches to craniovertebral junction chordomas. Neurosurgery. 2010;66(3 Suppl):96–103.
- Goel A, Cacciola F. The craniovertebral junction. Diagnosis, pathology, surgical techniques. 1st ed. Stuttgart: Thieme Medical Publishers; 2011.
- Greenberg AD, Scoville WB, Davey LM. Transoral decompression of atlanto-axial dislocation due to odontoid hypoplasia. Report of two cases. J Neurosurg. 1968;28:266–9.
- Hsu W, Wolinsky JP, Gokaslan ZL, Sciubba DM. Transoral approaches to the cervical spine. Neurosurgery. 2010;66(3 Suppl):119–25.

- Menezes AH. Surgical approaches: postoperative care and complications "transoral-transpalatopharyngeal approach to the craniocervical junction". Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24:1187–93.
- Visocchi M, Della Pepa GM, Doglietto F, Esposito G, La Rocca G, Massimi L. Video-assisted microsurgical transoral approach to the craniovertebral junction: personal experience in childhood. Childs Nerv Syst. 2011;27:825–31.
- 36. Pillai P, Baig MN, Karas CS, Ammirati M. Endoscopic imageguided transoral approach to the craniovertebral junction: an anatomic study comparing surgical exposure and surgical free-

dom obtained with the endoscope and the operating microscope. Neurosurgery. 2009;64(5 Suppl 2):437–42.

- Shiriver MF, Kshettry VR, Sindwani R, Woodard T, Benzel EC, Recinos PE. Transoral and transnasalodontoidectomy complications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2016;148:121–9.
- Burke K, Benet A, Aghi MK, El-Sayed I. Impact of platybasia and anatomic variance on surgical approaches to the craniovertebral junction. Laryngoscope. 2014;124:1760–6.

Pathophysiology

Atlantoaxial Instability: Evolving Understanding

Atul Goel



All movements in the atlantoaxial joint occur at the large and strong facet joints. The odontoid process acts to guide and direct the movements. The odontoid process and intervertebral discs are designed to act like opera conductors for musicians, symbolized by the facets. The odontoid process and intervertebral discs are similar in function and act as the 'brain' of the movements, while the 'brawn' of the movements is at the facets [1, 2].

In general, as they say, there is no terror of error in nature. However, considering the remarkable and flawless activity that needs to be performed, any kind of disuse or misuse of muscles, physical injury, and chemical or genetic disorganization leading to abnormal ligamentous laxity can make the joint unstable. Tuberculosis, rheumatoid arthritis and tumours can also destroy the fabric of the bone construction, making the joint unstable. Poor child delivery practices and protein calorie malnutrition can initiate and establish atlantoaxial instability early in life.

Conventionally, atlantoaxial instability is diagnosed by an abnormal increase in the atlantodental interval on flexion of the neck [3, 4]. In general, on plain radiographs, an atlanto-

A. Goel

dental interval of more than 3 mm on flexion of the head is considered to be abnormal. In children, because of the suppleness of the tissues, the atlantodental interval may normally be a little larger than that in adults. For several decades, when plain radiography formed the prime investigative modality, this parameter constituted the sole mode of diagnosing atlantoaxial instability. With the introduction of computer-based imaging, the range of parameters that suggested instability increased, but the abnormal increase in the atlantodental interval and its consequent neural effects formed the basis of diagnosis. Computed tomography (CT) examination showing a reduction in spinal canal dimensions and neural compression provides clear evidence of instability. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) has brought clarity to imaging and shows cord compression and pressure effects on the neural structures vividly. Compression of the subarachnoid space anterior to the cord and posterior to the odontoid process is also suggestive of atlantoaxial instability.

As our understanding of the region and radiographic imaging have improved over the years, other forms of atlantoaxial instability have also been included in the range and scope of clinical diagnosis. The previously labelled 'irreducible' atlantoaxial dislocation is now considered to be a pathologically mobile and unstable clinical entity [5]. The understanding of this has revolutionized surgery for basilar invagination, which has now moved on from decompression via the anterior transoral route or posterior foramen magnum decompression to atlantoaxial stabilization [6-8]. Vertical atlantoaxial dislocation is identified by superior migration of the odontoid process in the presence of maintained atlantodental alignment. It results in basilar invagination. Vertical atlantoaxial dislocation can be mobile and reducible on dynamic imaging. Incompetence of the facets and the joint appears to form the basis of vertical atlantoaxial dislocation [9]. Lateral facetal instability occurs in situations where the ring of the atlas is broken following trauma or infection, or in association with bone-destructive tumours or bifid anterior



Department of Neurosurgery, King Edward VII Memorial Hospital and Seth GS Medical College, Mumbai, India

or posterior arches of the atlas [10-12]. The facet of the atlas is dislocated laterally in relation to the facet of the axis. *Rotatory dislocation* generally occurs in young children. In this condition the facet of the atlas rotates anteriorly in relation to the facet of the axis on one side and the facet of the atlas is posterior to the facet of the axis on the contralateral side [13].

Apart from diagnosis of instability on the basis of an increase in the atlantodental interval, atlantoaxial dislocation or instability can also be diagnosed on the basis of the alignment of the facets of the atlas and axis [14, 15]. On a lateral profile image, sagittal CT scan or MRI, type A facetal dislocation is when the facet of the atlas is positioned or dislocated anteriorly in relation to the facet of the axis. The alignment of the facets in this type of dislocation simulates the alignment of vertebral bodies in cases of lumbosacral listhesis [16]. We have labelled this situation as *spondyloptosis*, when the entire facet of the atlas is dislocated and positioned anteriorly in relation to the facet of the axis. The dislocation of facets results in posterior and superior migration of the odontoid process, resulting in basilar invagination and atlantoaxial dislocation. The odontoid process compresses the spinal cord. We recently hypothesized that more than neural deformation or compression, it is the repeated microtrauma related to instability that produces clinical symptoms [17]. As the neural compression occurs relatively early in the course of the disease and the joints are clearly unstable, the symptoms are relatively acute in this type of facetal instability. Type A facetal instability is associated more frequently with mobile atlantoaxial dislocation and group A basilar invagination.

Type B facetal instability is when the facet of the atlas is dislocated posteriorly in relation to the facet of the axis or when there is retrolisthesis of the facets. We have also identified type C facetal instability, when the facets are in alignment on lateral imaging but there are clinical parameters and other radiological evidences-such as the presence of a short neck, torticollis, basilar invagination, assimilation of the atlas, bifid anterior and posterior arches, platybasia, Klippel-Feil abnormality, Chiari malformation type I and syringomyelia-that suggest the presence of instability. The atlantodental interval may not be increased and the odontoid process may not be displaced posteriorly in type B and C facetal instability. The clinical symptoms are long-standing or chronic in this situation. We recently hypothesized that musculoskeletal and neural malformations are secondary effects of atlantoaxial instability and are probably protective in their function [18]. The atlantoaxial instability in type B and C cases can primarily be identified on direct bone manipulations during surgery. The evidence that atlantoaxial instability is the cause of myelopathic symptoms and also is the primary cause of various musculoskeletal and neural responses is supported by the immediate postoperative

recovery of symptoms and reversal of both symptoms and musculoskeletal and neural alterations following surgery that involves atlantoaxial fixation alone without any bone or soft tissue removal.

As our understanding of the region has matured, we have identified that instability of the atlantoaxial joint is relatively frequent and significantly underdiagnosed. Considering that the atlantoaxial joint is the most mobile joint in the body, the possibility of developing instability is most profound. The relatively flat joint surfaces that facilitate extensive movements also make this joint prone to instability. It appears that missing or ignoring the presence of atlantoaxial instability can frequently cause persistence of symptoms or failure of treatment. Atlantoaxial instability can be present even when there is no alteration in the positioning of the odontoid process, no alteration in the atlantodental interval and even no malalignment of the facets. Direct handling of the bones of the atlantoaxial vertebrae during surgery can provide significant evidence of instability. However, to diagnose instability on the basis of direct bone handling necessarily requires extensive surgical experience.

We recently presented our study on degenerative spondylosis of the spine and concluded that vertical instability of the spinal segments that is manifested by slipping or telescoping of the facets in the subaxial spine is the primary nodal point of the genesis of spondylotic spinal changes [15, 19-26]. This is at variance with the disc-centric theory suggesting that disc space reduction due to loss of water content is the initial pathological event. The standing human position and misuse or disuse of the muscles supporting the spinal pillar are the primary causes of spinal instability. Because of the oblique profile of the cervical and dorsal facets and the vertical profile of the lumbar facets, it is difficult to identify instability of the facets by using conventional and even modern imaging techniques. However, malalignment of the atlantoaxial facets is relatively easily identified by imaging, because of their flat and rectangular brick-like structure on lateral imaging. Corroborative evidence such as the presence of osteophytes, ligamental buckling and associated clinical symptoms can suggest facetal instability in the subaxial spine. In the atlantoaxial region the presence of basilar invagination, assimilation of the atlas, C2-C3 fusion, retroodontoid and parafacetal osteophytes, bifid arches of the atlas, platybasia, a short neck, torticollis and several similar features provide evidence of the presence of atlantoaxial instability, even when this is not demonstrated by imaging [18]. Instability of the atlantoaxial and subaxial facet joints can be identified by direct observation of the facets and manual handling of the bones during surgery. An open joint cavity and the presence of excessive and abnormal movements are indications of instability of the joint. Instability of the facet joint can be present even when there is no MRI evidence of spinal changes in the segment. Alert assessment of the presence of facetal instability during surgery and treatment can lead to a satisfactory and gratifying therapeutic outcome.

Atlantoaxial instability may be the primary nodal point of the genesis of 'degenerative' changes in the region and in the cervical spine. Corroborative evidence such as the presence of retro-odontoid soft or 'firm' tissue that represents osteophytes in the region, the presence of osteophytes around the facets and the odontoid process, and the presence of subtle atlantoaxial dislocation and basilar invagination are indicators of degenerative instability of the atlantoaxial joint [27– 30]. In the presence of other evidence, instability of the atlantoaxial joint can be expected even when there is no other corroborative radiological evidence. Direct handling or manipulation of the facets can confirm the presence of instability. Ignoring atlantoaxial instability and avoiding stabilization surgery can lead to disastrous clinical consequences.

Atlantoaxial instability can be frequently associated with single or multilevel cervical spondylotic myelopathy [31, 32]. Cervical spondylosis can be primary and associated with atlantoaxial instability or even secondary to atlantoaxial dislocation. Atlantoaxial instability and prolonged neck spasm and shortening of the neck can lead to secondary spondylotic changes in the cervical spine. Long-standing shortening of the neck can lead to bone fusions and Klippel– Feil syndrome.

Cervical spondylosis is commonly identified in the lower cervical spine. The presence of degenerative changes in atlantoaxial dislocation is generally but erroneously considered extremely rare. We identified that atlantoaxial instability is frequently associated with subaxial facetal instability that leads to so-called degenerative cervical spinal changes. It might even be that multilevel cervical spinal spondylosis is invariably associated with atlantoaxial instability [31, 32]. When the clinical symptoms related to myelopathy are disproportionately greater than is evidenced by subaxial cervical spinal imaging, instability of the atlantoaxial joint can be suspected. Atlantoaxial instability in such cases is usually type B facetal instability. However, even type C facetal instability can be present. Identification of instability by direct bone handling of the atlantoaxial joint appears to be a major criterion for assessment of instability that can otherwise be missed, and an opportunity for rational and comprehensive treatment can be lost.

We recently hypothesized that instability of the spinal segments is the cause of ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament (OPLL) and related symptoms of myelopathy [33, 34]. Accordingly, we recommended stabilization alone as the rational mode of surgical treatment. We identified that atlantoaxial instability is frequently associated with OPLL. It may be that atlantoaxial instability is the primary event and that subaxial instability and OPLL are secondary spinal events. It may also be that multilevel instability that includes atlantoaxial instability is the nodal pathogenetic factor for OPLL. Treatment by atlantoaxial and subaxial stabilization seems to be a rational mode of therapy in such cases.

Ignoring the presence of atlantoaxial instability in cases with basilar invagination, Chiari malformation, syringomyelia, cervical spondylosis, OPLL and several other common spinal ailments may be a cause of failure of treatment [35, 36]. Apart from facetal malalignment, identification of the instability on the basis of direct bone handling during surgery can be an important diagnostic criterion. The remarkable clinical recovery that can occur in the immediate postoperative period following atlantoaxial stabilization emphasizes the importance of diagnosing the instability.

Diagnosis of atlantoaxial instability by evaluation of the status of facets on imaging and evaluation of stability during surgery has opened up a new dimension in the understanding and treatment of the craniovertebral junction.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The author declares that he has no competing interests.

References

- Goel A. Treatment of odontoid fractures. Neurol India. 2015;63(1):7–8.
- Kothari M, Goel A. The so-called inter-vertebral disc—a 4-D reverie. Neurol India. 2007;55(2):97–8.
- Goel A, Desai K, Muzumdar D. Atlantoaxial fixation using plate and screw method: a report of 160 treated patients. Neurosurgery. 2002;51:1351–7.
- Goel A, Laheri VK. Plate and screw fixation for atlanto-axial dislocation. (Technical report). Acta Neurochir. 1994;129:47–53.
- Goel A, Kulkarni AG, Sharma P. Reduction of fixed atlantoaxial dislocation in 24 cases: technical note. J Neurosurg Spine. 2005;2(4):505–9.
- Goel A. Treatment of basilar invagination by atlantoaxial joint distraction and direct lateral mass fixation. J Neurosurg Spine. 2004;1(3):281–6.
- Goel A. Can foramen magnum decompression surgery become historical? J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2015;6(2):49–50.
- Goel A, Bhatjiwale M, Desai K. Basilar invagination: a study based on 190 surgically treated cases. J Neurosurg. 1998;88:962–8.
- Goel A, Shah A, Rajan S. Vertical and mobile atlanto-axial dislocation. Clinical article. J Neurosurg Spine. 2009;11(1):9–14.
- Goel A, Goel N, Shah A. Pathogenesis of tuberculosis of the craniovertebral junction: its implication in surgical management. In: Goel A, Cacciola F, editors. The craniovertebral junction: diagnosis, pathology, surgical techniques. Stuttgart: Georg Thieme Verlag; 2011. p. 415–22.
- Goel A, Nadkarni T, Shah A, Ramdasi R, Patni N. Bifid anterior and posterior arches of atlas; surgical implication and analysis of 70 cases. Neurosurgery. 2015;77(2):296–305.
- Goel A, Shah A. Lateral atlantoaxial facetal dislocation in craniovertebral region tuberculosis: report of a case and analysis of an alternative treatment. Acta Neurochir. 2010;152(4):709.

- Goel A, Shah A. Atlantoaxial facet locking: treatment by facet manipulation and fixation. Experience in 14 cases. J Neurosurg Spine. 2011;14(1):3–9.
- Goel A. Goel's classification of atlantoaxial "facetal" dislocation. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2014;5(1):3–8.
- Goel A. Facetal alignment: basis of an alternative Goel's classification of basilar invagination. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2014;5(2):59–64.
- Kothari M, Goel A. Transatlantic odonto-occipital listhesis: the socalled basilar invagination. Neurol India. 2007;55(1):6–7.
- Goel A. Instability and basilar invagination. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2012;3(1):1–2.
- Goel A, Shah A. Reversal of longstanding musculoskeletal changes in basilar invagination after surgical decompression and stabilization. J Neurosurg Spine. 2009;10(3):220–7.
- Goel A. Facet distraction–arthrodesis technique: can it revolutionize spinal stabilization methods? J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2011;2(1):1–2.
- Goel A. 'Only fixation' as rationale treatment for spinal canal stenosis. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2011;2(2):55–6.
- 21. Goel A. Is it necessary to resect osteophytes in degenerative spondylotic myelopathy? J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2013;4(1):1–2.
- Goel A. Facet distraction spacers for treatment of degenerative disease of the spine: rationale and an alternative hypothesis of spinal degeneration. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2010;1(2): 65–6.
- Goel A. Not neural deformation or compression but instability is the cause of symptoms in degenerative spinal disease. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2014;5(4):141–2.
- Goel A. Vertical facetal instability: is it the point of genesis of spinal spondylotic disease? J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2015;6(2): 47–8.
- Goel A, Shah A. Facetal distraction as treatment for single- and multilevel cervical spondylotic radiculopathy and myelopathy: a preliminary report. J Neurosurg Spine. 2011;14(6): 689–96.

- Goel A, Shah A, Jadhav M, Nama S. Distraction of facets with intraarticular spacers as treatment for lumbar canal stenosis: report on a preliminary experience with 21 cases. J Neurosurg Spine. 2013;19(6):672–7.
- Goel A. Retro-odontoid mass: an evidence of craniovertebral instability. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2015;6(1):6–7.
- Goel A, Dange N. Immediate postoperative regression of retroodontoid pannus after lateral mass reconstruction in a patient with rheumatoid disease of the craniovertebral junction. Case report. J Neurosurg Spine. 2008;9(3):273–6.
- Goel A, Shah A, Gupta SR. Craniovertebral instability due to degenerative osteoarthritis of the atlantoaxial joints: analysis of the management of 108 cases. J Neurosurg Spine. 2010;12(5): 592–601.
- Goel A, Sharma P. Craniovertebral realignment for basilar invagination and atlantoaxial dislocation secondary to rheumatoid arthritis. Neurol India. 2004;52(3):338–41.
- Goel A. Atlantoaxial instability associated with single or multilevel cervical spondylotic myelopathy. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2015;6(4):141–3.
- Goel A. Posterior atlantoaxial 'facetal' instability associated with cervical spondylotic disease. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2015;6(2):51–5.
- Goel A. Is atlantoaxial instability the cause of "high" cervical ossified posterior longitudinal ligament? Analysis on the basis of surgical treatment of seven patients. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2016;7(1):20–5.
- 34. Goel A, Nadkarni T, Shah A, Rai S, Rangarajan V, Kulkarni A. Is only stabilization an ideal treatment of OPLL? Report of early results with a preliminary experience with 14 cases. World Neurosurg. 2015;84(3):813–9.
- Goel A. Is Chiari malformation nature's protective "air-bag"? Is its presence diagnostic of atlantoaxial instability? J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2014;5(3):107–9.
- Goel A. Chiari malformation—is atlantoaxial instability the cause? Outcome analysis of 65 patients with Chiari malformation treated by atlantoaxial fixation. J Neurosurg Spine. 2015;22(2):116–27.

Ossification of the Posterior Longitudinal Ligament: Analysis of the Role of Craniovertebral and Spinal Instability

Atul Goel

Keywords Atlantoaxial dislocation · Facetal fixation · Ossified posterior longitudinal ligament · Spinal instability

Introduction

Ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament (OPLL) is a disabling cervical spinal disease. The complex structural presentation and potential for devastating postsurgical neurological complications make this disease a surgeon's nightmare. A number of possible aetiological factors have been implicated in its development, but none has been seen to be convincing or consistent [1-10]. As the pathogenesis is unclear, the treatment strategy adopted is essentially based on radiological evidence of spinal canal intrusion by the bony mass anterior to the spinal cord, and is focused on restoring spinal canal dimensions that permit an unrestricted and uncompromised traverse of the neural structures.

This paper presents an experience of 29 cases where multiple spinal segment fixation alone was done, without any form of bony or soft tissue decompression or direct resection of the OPLL. In 15 cases in the latter half of the series, the atlantoaxial joint was included in the fixation construct. This treatment strategy is based on the understanding that atlantoaxial and spinal instability forms the basis of the pathogenesis and development of OPLL [11, 12].

Materials and Methods

During the period from June 2012 to April 2016, 29 patients with OPLL were treated with fixation alone as the treatment strategy, aimed at arthrodesis of the spinal segments. This analysis of the subject includes a case experience described in two previous publications [11, 12]. There were 28 males and one female in the series, and their ages ranged from 28 to 75 years (average 57 years). All patients presented with progressive



Abstract Background: This paper reviews an experience of surgically treating ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament (OPLL) with fixation of the involved spinal segments alone, without resorting to any bony or soft tissue decompression or attempts at direct resection of the OPLL. While in the early part of the experience, stabilization of only the involved subaxial cervical spinal segments was done, in the later part of the experience, atlantoaxial fixation was included in the multisegmental spinal fixation construct. This treatment is based on the understanding that spinal instability that includes atlantoaxial instability forms the nodal point of the pathogenesis and development of OPLL, and maturation of the presenting clinical symptoms.

Materials and Methods: Twenty-nine patients were treated in this series. There were 28 males and one female, and their ages ranged from 28 to 75 years (average 57 years). All patients presented with symptoms of neck pain, and progressive and disabling myelopathy-related quadriparesis. In the early part of the series (from 2012 to 2014), 14 patients underwent multilevel subaxial cervical spinal fixation by a transarticular technique of facetal fixation. After November 2014, atlantoaxial lateral mass fixation was included in the fixation construct in the subsequent 15 patients. Clinical assessments were done using a visual analogue scale (VAS), the Japanese Orthopaedic Association (JOA) scale and Goel's clinical grading scale.

Results: All patients' clinical symptoms improved in the immediate postoperative period, and the improvement was sustained and progressive in 28 patients.

Conclusion: Atlantoaxial and subaxial spinal instability seems to be the nodal pathogenetic factor in OPLL. Only stabilization of spinal segments that includes the atlantoaxial joint can provide a safe, simple and rational form of treatment.

A. Goel

Department of Neurosurgery, Seth GS Medical College and KEM Hospital, Mumbai, India

Table 1 Table showing the demographics of the patients, types of OPLL, and the number of spinal levels affected

Sex	Number of patients
Male	28
Female	1
Mean age (years)	57 (28–75)
Levels involved	
C1-2	2
C2-3	9
C3-4	20
C4-5	27
C5-6	23
C6-7	7
C7-T1	1
Number of levels fixed	
One-level	2
Two-level	4
Three-level	4
Four-level	6
Five-level	6
Six-level	7
Type of OPLL	
Continuous	14
Mixed	8
Segmental	5
Unclassified	2

quadriparesis as the primary symptom. Neck and hand pain were also prominent symptoms. Table 1 summarizes the clinical and radiological findings at the time of presentation and prior to surgery [13, 14]. Preoperative imaging included dynamic plain radiographs, computed tomography (CT) scanning and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in all patients. During the period from June 2012 to August 2014, 14 patients were treated with multisegmental subaxial cervical spinal fixation. After November 2014, in 15 patients, atlantoaxial fixation was additionally included in the fixation construct. Atlantoaxial instability was diagnosed on the basis of our recently described classification based on facetal malalignment in a neutral head position (type A: when the facet of the atlas is dislocated anterior to the facet of the axis; type B: when the facet of the atlas is dislocated posterior to the facet of the axis) or when facetal instability was identified during direct bone handling and manipulation during surgery (type C) [15]. Eleven patients had type B and four patients had type C atlantoaxial facetal instability. With use of the transarticular screw fixation technique described by Roy Camille and Saillant in 1972, subaxial spinal fixation was done [16]. Atlantoaxial fixation was done with use

of the technique described by us in 1994 [17–19] (Figs. 1 and 2). For transarticular screw fixation the screws were 14 mm in length and 2.8 mm in diameter [15]. In nine patients, two screws were used for transarticular fixation as this method was considered to be safe and possible. Such 'double insurance' transarticular fixation was seen to add significant stability to the implant [20]. For atlantoaxial fixation the atlas and axis screws were 28 mm in length and 2.8 mm in diameter. A bone graft was harvested from the iliac crest and placed in the atlantoaxial joint cavity and in the appropriately prepared host bone of the midline spinal elements, which included the laminae and spinous processes and the lateral gutter. The patients were mobilized within 24 h of surgery and were advised to wear a hard cervical collar for a period of 3 months. After the 3-month healing period and confirmation of bone fusion, all activities and neck movements were permitted. Clinical assessments were done using a visual analogue scale (VAS), the Japanese Orthopaedic Association (JOA) scale and Goel's clinical grading scale.

Results

All patients showed 'remarkable' immediate postoperative clinical improvement. During the follow-up period, which ranged from 4 to 50 months (average 29 months), the improvement was sustained and progressive in 28 of the 29 patients. Tables 2, 3 and 4 depict the clinical outcome after a minimum follow-up of 3 months. One 45-year-old male who had undergone subaxial spinal fixation in a case of OPLL that extended from C2 to C6 had postoperative improvement, but his neurological condition worsened 3 months after surgery. He then underwent anterior spinal decompression surgery and was subsequently lost to follow-up. The rest of the patients are well, are improved in terms of their clinical symptoms, are independent and active, and have not needed any further surgical treatment.

All patients underwent evaluation using static and dynamic cervical spine radiographs, CT scans and MRI. Static neutral lateral radiographs were used to assess cervical sagittal balance, while anteroposterior radiographs were used to exclude abnormal coronal alignment. The lordotic angle was measured using Cobb's method of measurement [11, 12]. Preoperative assessment suggested that all patients had loss of cervical lordosis, with a lordotic angle ranging from 5° to 15°. After surgery there was a mild decrease in the lordotic angle, with the postoperative angle ranging from 4° to 12°. There was no significant difference between the preoperative and postoperative values. There were no wound infections, implant-related failures or complications. There was restriction of all spinal movements. Although all patients complained of this problem, none were unduly



Fig. 1 Images of a 53-year-old female patient. (a) A T2-weighted magnetic resonance image (MRI) shows ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament (OPLL) extending from the C3 to C6 cervical levels. (b) A sagittal computed tomography (CT) scan shows the OPLL.

disturbed, considering the improvement in their limbs and their general ability to perform all activities of daily living. Fusion of the spinal segment was defined as the presence of bone formation across the facet joints, with absence of all (c) A sagittal image shows that the facets of the atlas and axis are in alignment. (d) A postoperative CT scan shows the facetal implant from C1 to T1. (e) A CT scan shows the implant

kinds of motion between spinous processes and intervertebral bodies on flexion–extension, using CT images. According to these criteria, successful bone fusion was observed in all cases at follow-up assessments.



Fig. 2 Images of a 55-year-old male patient. (a) A T2-weighted magnetic resonance image (MRI) shows multisegmental ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament (OPLL). (b) A sagittal computed

tomography (CT) scan shows the OPLL. (c) A sagittal image of the atlantoaxial facets shows marginal type B facetal instability. (d) A CT scan shows the implant

 Table 2
 Distribution as per clinical grading system

Grade	Description	Number of patients (pre-operative)	Number of patients (post-operative)
Grade 1	Independent and normally functioning	2	14
Grade 2	Walks on own but needs support/help to carry out routine household activities	10	10
Grade 3	Walks with minimal support and requires help to carry out household activities	8	2
Grade 4	Walks with heavy support and unable to carry out household activities	7	2
Grade 5	Unable to walk and dependent for all activities	2	1

Table 3 Grading of myelopathy by the Japanese Orthopedic Association Score

Score	Pre-operative (No. of patients)	Post-operative (No. of patients)
<7	11	3
8–12	16	5
>13	2	18
16–17	-	3

Table 4	Visual	analog	scale	(0: no	pain,	10:	maximum	pain))
---------	--------	--------	-------	--------	-------	-----	---------	-------	---

VAS score	Pre-operative	Post-operative	Post-operative (3 months)
Neck pain	6.2 (3–9)	2.1 (0-3)	0.3 (0-1)

Discussion

OPLL, with its related myelopathy, is a relatively rare clinical event. Although it has been identified throughout the world, the entity has been more frequently reported in Asian countries. OPLL frequently presents in an advanced state, when it has already occupied a significant dimension of the spinal canal. OPLL may be segmental or continuous and can extend over several spinal segments. The additional intrusion of bony elements, which compromise the diameter of the spinal canal and indent into the neural tissues, poses a significant therapeutic challenge. The location of the OPLL anterior to the spinal cord and posterior to the vertebral bodies, and its hard bony consistency, make wide surgical exposure and therapeutic resection difficult and dangerous. The pathogenesis of OPLL is entirely unclear and has been only speculated about [1, 2, 21]. Dietary, environmental, infective and physical constitution-related factors, apart from a host of other factors, have been incriminated as possible causes [1-10, 22-24]. In general, patients with OPLL are moderately obese, have a relatively thick neck girth and in general have a sedate lifestyle. Although a number of nonsurgical treatment forms have been advocated, the progressive and devastating nature of the clinical symptoms mandates a surgical solution. The surgical treatment is difficult to conceptualize, as the pathogenesis of the disease process is unclear.

The pathology of OPLL involves introduction of additional bony elements into the spinal canal, which traverses between the spinal segments. Considering this issue, the general opinion has been that patients with OPLL have a stable spine or a spine that is more than normally stable [11, 12]. The symptoms of progressive myelopathy and a radiological appearance of severe and long segmental spinal neural compression make the correlation straightforward. Most surgeons dealing with OPLL conceptually favour direct removal of OPLL and consider it the best surgical option, associated with long-term relief from symptoms and a cure for this condition [21, 23, 25–37]. However, the formidable nature of the surgical procedure, the need for extensive bone removal for wide exposure, the high risk of neural damage during exposure and OPLL dissection off the spinal cord, and the significant risk of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leakage make the surgical option of direct resection of OPLL less favourable [38]. Moreover, the devastating nature of the neurological complications following a failed operation makes the entity of OPLL a generally feared disease.

Considering the issues related to direct resection of the OPLL, the majority of surgeons prefer an indirect form of decompression. Some surgeons decide on anterior or posterior decompressive surgery on the basis of the presence or absence of kyphosis or lordosis of the cervical spine. Anterior decompression involves multilevel corpectomies and discoidectomies, and posterior decompression involves a wide and long decompressive laminectomy or various forms of spinal canal-expanding laminoplasty. The issue of spinal instability and the need for bone fusion of the treated spinal segment is considered a consequence of wide and multisegmental bone removal and has been associated with immediate or delayed postoperative spinal instability. Anterior stabilization techniques that include multisegmental metal cage implants with or without associated bone grafting have been identified as a satisfactory mode of spinal stabilization after decompression [23, 25, 26, 29, 30, 34, 36]. Posterior stabilization includes a number of wire/screw and metal rod/ loop/ring fixation methods [27, 30, 33, 39]. Essentially, spinal stabilization is a treatment to ward off the possible destabilizing effects of decompressive surgery.

More recently some authors have identified that instability of the spinal segments is associated with OPLL. While neural compression is a static factor of cord compromise, instability is the dynamic factor affecting cord function [2, 11, 12]. On the basis of the premise that the entire pathological sequel of OPLL is related to spinal instability, fixation alone without any form of bony or soft tissue decompression or direct resection of OPLL has been identified as an ideal form of surgical treatment [11, 12]. Despite extensive bone formation in the posterior longitudinal ligament, the articular joints are always functional and active. Direct observation of the facets suggests that the joints not only are functional but actually appear to function excessively and pathologically. In the earlier part of the present study (from June 2012 to August 2014), transarticular screw fixation was done on segments in the vicinity of the OPLL after assessment of their unstable character [12]. Clinical improvement without any decompression and with stabilization alone confirmed that instability was the defining feature in the pathogenesis of OPLL. The observations emphasized that it is not neural compression or deformation but repeated microtrauma related to instability that is the cause of the symptoms [11, 12, 40-46]. Neural structures have remarkable elasticity, plasticity and capacity to sustain deformation if it is of a long-standing and slowly progressive nature. Such deformation of the spinal cord can be observed in benign spinal tumours and in cases of syringomyelia where the cord substance may be remarkably reduced in girth but the spinal cord still retains its significant functional ability.

As the concept of spinal instability as the cause of the symptoms and pathogenesis of OPLL gained ground, it was identified that atlantoaxial instability was associated with high cervical OPLL, particularly where the OPLL extended above the level of the C3 vertebra [11, 12]. Although the atlantoaxial instability could not be identified on dynamic imaging by assessment of alteration of the atlantodental interval, atlantoaxial facetal instability was identified [15]. Types B and C atlantoaxial facetal instability, as identified in our patients, have been grouped as central or axial instability. In these two types of atlantoaxial instability the atlantodental interval may not be altered and direct compression of the neural structures by the odontoid process is not a hallmark [15]. As cord compression is not a major or primary issue in these cases, the symptoms are subtle and longstanding. It was speculated earlier that instability of the atlantoaxial joint is the primary issue and that musculoskeletal alterations, torticollis, basilar invagination, Chiari malformation type I and syringomyelia are secondary and probably protective bodily responses [47, 48]. It may be that the bone formation in the posterior longitudinal ligament is protective and a response of the body to multisegmental spinal instability [11, 12]. We had speculated earlier that the presence of a retro-odontoid pseudotumour and ossification

and osteophyte formation in the degenerative spine are secondary spinal features and a response to spinal instability [49]. It was also suggested that the presence of a retro-odontoid pseudotumour and cervical subaxial osteophytes as indicators of spinal instability suggests the need for stabilization. Direct removal of a retro-odontoid tumour or osteophytes has been considered a counterproductive operative procedure [43, 44, 49]. The understanding that atlantoaxial instability is associated with high OPLL has led to inclusion of atlantoaxial stabilization in the multilevel spinal fixation construct.

With further maturation of our understanding and with increasing experience in the subject, it was realized that atlantoaxial instability is frequently associated with even mid- and low cervical OPLL. In the subsequent part of our series, all 15 patients underwent multilevel spinal fixation that included atlantoaxial fixation. Although it cannot be concluded from the present study, it may be that atlantoaxial instability is the primary nodal point of the pathogenesis of cervical OPLL. While the results regarding the extent of spinal stability in patients treated for OPLL are still under evaluation, it seems that multilevel fixation aimed at arthrodesis of spinal segments including the atlantoaxial joint appears to be a rational form of surgical treatment that addresses the nodal point of the pathogenesis of OPLL.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The author declares that he has no competing interests.

References

- Epstein N. Ossification of the cervical posterior longitudinal ligament: a review. Neurosurg Focus. 2002;13(2):ECP1.
- Fujiyoshi T, Yamazaki M, Okawa A, Kawabe J, Hayashi K, Endo T, et al. Static versus dynamic factors for the development of myelopathy in patients with cervical ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament. J Clin Neurosci. 2010;17:320–4.
- Inamasu J, Guiot BH, Sachs DC. Ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament: an update on its biology, epidemiology, and natural history. Neurosurgery. 2006;58:1027–39.
- 4. Kobashi G, Washio M, Okamoto K, Sasaki S, Yokoyama T, Miyake Y, et al. High body mass index after age 20 and diabetes mellitus are independent risk factors for ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament of the spine in Japanese subjects: a case–control study in multiple hospitals. Spine. 2004;29:1006–10.
- Matsunaga S, Sakou T. Ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament of the cervical spine: etiology and natural history. Spine. 2012;37(5):E309–14.
- Matsunaga S, Yamaguchi M, Hayashi K, Sakou T. Genetic analysis of ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament. Spine. 1999;24:937–9.
- 7. Matsunaga S, Kukita M, Hayashi K, Shinkura R, Koriyama C, Sakou T, et al. Pathogenesis of myelopathy in patients with
ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament. J Neurosurg. 2002;96(2 Suppl):168–72.

- Ramos-Remus C, Russell AS, Gomez-Vargas AS, Hernandez-Chavez A, Maksymowych WP, Gamez-Nava JI, et al. Ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament in three geographically and genetically different populations of ankylosing spondylitis and other spondyloarthropathies. Ann Rheum Dis. 1998;57:429–33.
- Sakou T, Taketomi E, Matsunaga S, Yamaguchi M, Sonoda S, Yashiki S. Genetic study of ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament in the cervical spine with human leukocyte antigen haplotype. Spine. 1991;16:1249–52.
- Song J, Mizuno J, Hashizume Y, Nakagawa H. Immunohistochemistry of symptomatic hypertrophy of the posterior longitudinal ligament with special reference to ligamentous ossification. Spinal Cord. 2006;44:576–81.
- Goel A. Is atlantoaxial instability the cause of "high" cervical ossified posterior longitudinal ligament? Analysis on the basis of surgical treatment of seven patients. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2016;7(1):20–5.
- Goel A, Nadkarni T, Shah A, Rai S, Rangarajan V, Kulkarni A. Is only stabilization the ideal treatment for ossified posterior longitudinal ligament? Report of early results with a preliminary experience in 14 patients. World Neurosurg. 2015;84(3):813–9.
- Fujiwara A, Kobayashi N, Saiki K, Kitagawa T, Tamai K, Saotome K. Association of the Japanese Orthopaedic Association score with the Oswestry Disability Index, Roland–Morris Disability Questionnaire, and Short-Form 36. Spine. 2003;28:1601–7.
- 14. Huskisson EC. Measurement of pain. J Rheumatol. 1982;9:768-9.
- Goel A. Goel's classification of atlantoaxial "facetal" dislocation. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2014;5(1):3–8.
- Roy-Camille R, Saillant G. Surgery of the cervical spine. 2. Dislocation. Fracture of the articular processes. J Nouv Presse Med. 1972;1:2484–5.
- Goel A, Bhatjiwale M, Desai K. Basilar invagination: a study based on 190 surgically treated cases. J Neurosurg. 1998;88:962–8.
- Goel A, Desai K, Muzumdar D. Atlantoaxial fixation using plate and screw method: a report of 160 treated patients. Neurosurgery. 2002;51:1351–7.
- Goel A, Laheri VK. Plate and screw fixation for atlantoaxial dislocation. (Technical report). Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1994;129:47–53.
- Goel A. Alternative technique of cervical spinal stabilization employing lateral mass plate and screw and intraarticular spacer fixation. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2013;4(2):56–8.
- Sugrue PA, McClendon J Jr, Halpin RJ, Liu JC, Koski TR, Ganju A. Surgical management of cervical ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament: natural history and the role of surgical decompression and stabilization. Neurosurg Focus. 2011;30:E3.
- 22. Chiba K, Kato Y, Tsuzuki N, Nagata K, Toyama Y, Iwasaki M, et al. Computer-assisted measurement of the size of ossification in patients with ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament in the cervical spine. J Orthop Sci. 2005;10:451–6.
- Matsunaga S, Sakou T, Taketomi E, Komiya S. Clinical course of patients with ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament: a minimum 10-year cohort study. J Neurosurg Spine. 2004;100(3 Suppl):245–8.
- Resnick D, Guerra J Jr, Robinson CA, Vint VC. Association of diffuse idiopathic skeletal hyperostosis (DISH) and calcification and ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1978;131:1049–53.
- Abe H, Tsuru M, Ito T, Iwasaki Y, Koiwa M. Anterior decompression for ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament of the cervical spine. J Neurosurg. 1981;55:108–16.
- 26. Belanger TA, Roh JS, Hanks SE, Kang JD, Emery SE, Bohlman HH. Ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament. Results of

anterior cervical decompression and arthrodesis in sixty-one North American patients. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2005;87:610–5.

- Cho WS, Chung CK, Jahng TA, Kim HJ. Post-laminectomy kyphosis in patients with cervical ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament: does it cause neurological deterioration? J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2008;43:259–64.
- Epstein NE. Circumferential surgery for the management of cervical ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament. J Spinal Disord. 1998;11:200–7.
- Goel A, Pareikh S. Limited oblique corpectomy for treatment of ossified posterior longitudinal ligament. Neurol India. 2005;53(3):280–2.
- Iwasaki M, Kawaguchi Y, Kimura T, Yonenobu K. Long-term results of expansive laminoplasty for ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament of the cervical spine: more than 10 years follow up. J Neurosurg. 2002;96(2 Suppl):180–9.
- Iwasaki M, Okuda S, Miyauchi A, Sakaura H, Mukai Y, Yonenobu K, et al. Surgical strategy for cervical myelopathy due to ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament: part 2: advantages of anterior decompression and fusion over laminoplasty. Spine. 2007;32:654–60.
- Kaiser MG, Mummaneni PV, Matz PG, Anderson PA, Groff MW, Heary RF, et al. Radiographic assessment of cervical subaxial fusion. J Neurosurg Spine. 2009;11:221–7.
- Kato Y, Iwasaki M, Fuji T, Yonenobu K, Ochi T. Long-term follow-up results of laminectomy for cervical myelopathy caused by ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament. J Neurosurg. 1998;89:217–23.
- Matsuoka T, Yamaura I, Kurosa Y, Nakai O, Shindo S, Shinomiya K. Long-term results of the anterior floating method for cervical myelopathy caused by ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament. Spine. 2001;26:241–8.
- Mizuno J, Nakagawa H. Ossified posterior longitudinal ligament: management strategies and outcomes. Spine J. 2006;6(6 Suppl):282S–8S.
- Odom GL, Finney W, Woodhall B. Cervical disc lesions. J Am Med Assoc. 1958;166:23–8.
- Onari K, Akiyama N, Kondo S, Toguchi A, Mihara H, Tsuchiya T. Long-term follow-up results of anterior interbody fusion applied for cervical myelopathy due to ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2001;26:488–93.
- Joseph V, Kumar GS, Rajshekhar V. Cerebrospinal fluid leak during cervical corpectomy for ossified posterior longitudinal ligament: incidence, management, and outcome. Spine. 2009;34:491–4.
- Houten JK, Cooper PR. Laminectomy and posterior cervical plating for multilevel cervical spondylotic myelopathy and ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament: effects on cervical alignment, spinal cord compression, and neurological outcome. Neurosurgery. 2003;52:1081–8.
- Goel A. Facet distraction spacers for treatment of degenerative disease of the spine: rationale and an alternative hypothesis of spinal degeneration. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2010;1(2):65–6.
- Goel A. Facet distraction–arthrodesis technique: can it revolutionize spinal stabilization methods? J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2011;2(1):1–2.
- 42. Goel A. 'Only fixation' as rationale treatment for spinal canal stenosis. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2011;2(2):55–6.
- Goel A. Is it necessary to resect osteophytes in degenerative spondylotic myelopathy? J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2013;4(1):1–2.
- 44. Goel A. Letter to Editor: resolution of cystic deterioration of the C1–2 articulation with posterior fusion: treatment implications for asymptomatic patients. Puffer RC, Van Gompel JJ, Morris JM, Krauss WE. World Neurosurg. 2013;79(5–6):773–8.
- 45. Goel A, Shah A. Facetal distraction as treatment for single- and multilevel cervical spondylotic radiculopathy and myelopathy: a preliminary report. J Neurosurg Spine. 2011;14(6):689–96.

- 46. Goel A, Shah A, Jadhav M, Nama S. Distraction of facets with intraarticular spacers as treatment for lumbar canal stenosis: report on a preliminary experience with 21 cases. J Neurosurg Spine. 2013;19(6):672–7.
- 47. Goel A. Chiari malformation—is atlantoaxial instability the cause? Outcome analysis of 65 patients with Chiari malformation treated by atlantoaxial fixation. J Neurosurg Spine. 2015;22(2):116–27.
- Goel A. Treatment of basilar invagination by atlantoaxial joint distraction and direct lateral mass fixation. J Neurosurg Spine. 2004;1(3):281–6.
- 49. Goel A. Retro-odontoid mass: an evidence of craniovertebral instability. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2015;6(1):6–7.

Role of Subaxial Spinal and Atlantoaxial Instability in Multisegmental Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy

Atul Goel

Abstract *Aim:* In this paper the role of atlantoaxial and multilevel subaxial spinal instability as the primary nodal point of the pathogenesis of degenerative cervical spinal disease– related myelopathy, and the focus of surgical treatment for it, is evaluated.

Materials and Methods: The series analyses the treatment of 73 patients with single or multilevel degenerative cervical spinal disease by fixation of the involved spinal segment(s) alone, aimed at arthrodesis. No bone decompression or disc/ osteophyte resection was done. In 23 patients, the atlantoaxial joint was included in the spinal fixation, as atlantoaxial instability was identified by facetal malalignment on imaging or by observations on direct bone manipulation during surgery. There were 70 males and 3 females. The ages of the patients ranged from 35 to 76 years (average 57 years). The transarticular screw method was deployed for subaxial spinal fixation and a lateral mass plate/rod and screw technique was used for atlantoaxial fixation.

Results: During the follow-up period, which ranged from 3 to 42 months (average 27 months), all patients improved in terms of their clinical symptoms. There were no surgery- or implant-related complications.

Conclusion: Atlantoaxial joint instability is frequently associated with subaxial multilevel spinal instability in degenerative spinal disease. Fixation of the spinal segments provides a safe, effective and rational treatment for single or multilevel spinal degeneration.

Keywords Atlantoaxial instability · Subaxial spinal instability · Cervical myelopathy · Degeneration

A. Goel

Introduction

The craniovertebral junction is generally excluded from the ambit of discussion on multisegmental degenerative cervical spondylotic disease. More commonly, degenerative cervical spondylotic disease is identified in the lower cervical region and the incidence of spinal involvement progressively reduces in higher segments, and the discussion generally does not involve the spine above the C2–C3 level. This paper discusses the relationship of subaxial and atlantoaxial region 'instability' in the pathogenesis of multisegmental spinal degenerative disease, particularly in those cases associated with relatively 'severe' myelopathic symptoms.

Materials and Methods

During the period from March 2013 to June 2016, 73 patients with single- or multilevel cervical spinal degeneration were treated with fixation of the involved spinal segments alone. The case material updates and includes the experience analysed in our previous publications on the subject [1, 2]. Atlantoaxial joint fixation was included in the fixation construct after June 2013. Among 40 subsequent cases of treatment for multilevel spinal degeneration, 12 cases included atlantoaxial fixation. The criteria to include the atlantoaxial joint in the fixation construct included the presence of facetal malalignment in a neutral head position (type A and type B facetal instability) and observation of atlantoaxial instability during manual manipulation of bones in the region during surgery (type C facetal instability) in the presence of severe myelopathy symptoms (Goel grade 3–5) [3] (Figs. 1 and 2).

There were 70 males and 3 females. All patients had chronic or long-standing symptoms related to myelopathy with or without radiculopathy. The duration of significant neurological symptoms ranged from 6 to 24 months (average 10 months). The study excluded patients with radicular



Department of Neurosurgery, Seth GS Medical College and KEM Hospital, Mumbai, India



Fig. 1 Images of a 70-year-old male patient. (a) A T2-weighted magnetic resonance image (MRI) shows multilevel cervical degenerative changes. (b) A sagittal computed tomography (CT) scan shows changes of spinal degeneration. (c) A sagittal CT scan shows the facets; the

atlantoaxial facets are normally aligned. (d) A postoperative CT scan shows transarticular screw fixation. (e) A postoperative CT scan shows reduction of kyphosis. (f) A sagittal cut through the facets shows the transarticular screws



Fig. 1 (continued)

symptoms alone, patients with acute symptoms related to disc herniation, patients with a history of significant trauma to the head or the neck, and patients with bone anomalies that included fusions.

The clinical and radiological features at the time of presentation are detailed in Table 1. Clinical assessments on the basis of a five-point clinical grading scale [4], the Japanese Orthopaedic Association (JOA) scale [5] and a visual analogue scale (VAS) [6] are elaborated in Tables 2, 3, and 4. Preoperative investigations included dynamic plain radiography, computed tomography (CT) scanning and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). The patients were placed in a prone surgical position with the head under traction. The exposure included C1–C2, and the subaxial spinal exposure



Fig. 2 Images of a 55-year-old female. (**a**) A T2-weighted magnetic resonance image (MRI) shows multilevel cervical spinal degeneration and evidence of cord compression; there is no cord compression at the level of the craniovertebral junction. (**b**) A sagittal computed tomogra-

phy (CT) scan shows multilevel spinal degeneration. (c) A sagittal CT scan passing through the facets; type 2 atlantoaxial facetal instability can be observed. (d) A postoperative sagittal CT scan. (e) A postoperative CT scan shows atlantoaxial and subaxial facetal fixation

Sex	
Male	70
Female	3
Mean age	57 (35–76)
Number of levels fixed	
Two-level	5
Three-level	26
Four-level	29
Five-level	9
Six-level	4

 Table 1
 Table showing the presenting clinical and radiological features

depended on the extent of spinal degeneration. Transarticular fixation was done for the subaxial spine, using the technique described by Camille and Saillant [7]. For C1–C2 fixation a lateral mass plate and screw technique was used, as described by us in 1994 [8, 9]. The levels of spinal fixation are elaborated in Table 1. For transarticular screw fixation, screws 14 mm long and 2.8 mm in diameter were used [10]. For atlantoaxial fixation the screws measured 28 mm in length and 2.8 mm in diameter. A bone graft harvested from the iliac crest was placed into the atlantoaxial articular cavity, into the facet joints alongside the screws and in the midline after appropriate preparation of the host bone over the laminae and spinous processes. Postoperatively the traction was removed and the patients were advised to wear a cervical collar for a period of 3 months.

Results

All patients in the series improved in terms of their symptoms in the immediate postoperative phase, and the improvement progressed subsequently. The follow-up period ranged from 3 to 42 months (average 27 months). Tables 2, 3, and 4 depict the preoperative clinical status and the postoperative clinical status 3 months after surgery. During the period of follow-up (range 3–42 months, average 27 months), no patient showed delayed neurological worsening or needed any further surgery on the cervical spine. Bone fusion could be observed in the facets and lamina in all cases where the follow-up was more than 6 months. There were no infections or implant failures.

Discussion

The analysis of degenerative spinal disease has been 'disccentric' for several decades. The age-related reduction in the water content of the disc and its effects on disc height have

Number of Number of patients patients Grade Description (pre-operative) (post-operative) Grade 1 Independent and 29 normally functioning Grade 2 Walks on own but 27 32 needs support/help to carry out routine household activities 7 Grade 3 Walks with minimal 30 support and requires help to carry out household activities 3 Grade 4 Walks with heavy 12 support and unable to carry out household activities Grade 5 2 Unable to walk and 4 dependent for all activities

 Table 2
 Distribution as per clinical grading system

Table 3 Table showing the pre-operative and post-operative clinical assessment as per JOA scoring system

JOA score	Pre-operative (No. of patients)	Post-operative (No. of patients)
<7	20	3
8–12	41	9
13–15	12	33
16–17	-	28

Table 4 Visi	al analog	scale (0: no i	pain.	10:	maximum	pain)	
--------------	-----------	---------	---------	-------	-----	---------	-------	--

VAS score	Pre-operative	Post-operative	Post-operative (3 months)
Neck pain	5.9 (4–7)	1.5 (0-3)	0.4 (0-1)

been implicated as the genesis point of the entire spectrum of degenerative spinal disease [11-14]. The prominence of 'empty space' seen on plain radiography images allows the clinician to evaluate its pathology without actually visualizing the disc. Osteophyte formation, ligamentous 'hypertrophy', retrolisthesis of the facets and similar features have been discussed more often as associated pathological entities and less frequently as a secondary response to primary disc disease [11–13, 15]. The overall consequence of degenerative spinal disease is a reduction in the dimensions of the spinal canal and neural foramina. With technological improvements in radiological investigations and the advent of computer-based technology, the radiological evidence of cord compression and its effects on the cord substance have become more starkly evident. With imaging clarity showing cord compression, surgical endeavours have been focused on removing compressing factors, 'decompressing' neural

structures, increasing the spinal and neural canal dimensions, and providing a free traverse for the neural structures [12, 16, 17].

Although instability of the spine and spinal segments is sometimes considered in the overall pathogenesis of disease and of clinical symptoms, its *numero uno* position in the entire scenario of degenerative disease has not been extensively evaluated and therapeutically exploited. In general the issue of instability and the need for stabilization and fusion are considered, as decompressive surgery involves significant bone/soft tissue/disc/osteophyte removal, using either an anterior or a posterior approach, and can have a destabilizing effect on the spinal column in the immediate postoperative period or as a delayed consequence [12, 16–18].

Despite the advances in computer-based radiological imaging, the facets and their instability continue to be inadequately visualized because of their lateral location and oblique profile. A recent evaluation of the subject identified that instability of the spinal segments is the primary nodal point of the pathogenesis of degenerative spinal disease [1, 2,]10, 19–24]. Standing human posture and disuse/misuse or injury of the paraspinal muscles lead to 'vertical' spinal instability, which is manifested by telescoping or slipping of the superior facet over the inferior facet. This vertical instability has also been labelled as *retrolisthesis of facets* [22]. Retrolisthesis has been previously identified to be a consequence of disc degeneration and disc space reduction. It appears that subtle instability of the spinal segment(s) may be paramount in the pathogenesis of the entire structural deformation. Such instability is rather easily observed on direct visualization of the joint during surgery, even when preoperative dynamic radiographs do not depict it. Identification of the fact that instability of the spine is the primary event, and that the rest of the so-called pathological features (such as disc space reduction, osteophyte formation and ligamentous pathology) are secondary and possibly protective in function, has the potential to revolutionize the treatment paradigm for the entity of 'spinal degeneration' [1, 2, 10, 19–24]. Stabilization of the affected spinal segment addresses the primary pathology of the disease process [1, 2, 15, 21-27].

In the year 2010, we introduced facetal distraction of the affected spinal segments as a stand-alone form of treatment for patients with single or multilevel disc degeneration who presented with radiculopathy or myelopathy [19, 20, 25–27]. Specially designed 'Goel facet spacers' were impacted into the intra-articular cavity after appropriate distraction of the facets. The technique was aimed at achieving distraction–arthrodesis of the affected spinal segments [25–27]. The observation that distraction of the facets resulted in immediate postoperative reversal of all known pathological features of the degenerative spine gave credence to this hypothesis [25–27]. Distraction of the facets resulted in stretch reversal of buckling of circumferential intervertebral ligaments, an

increase in the disc space height and an increase in the spinal and neural canal dimensions. It was identified that with distraction of the facets, there was potential for regression of osteophytes. We recently reported immediate postoperative regression of 'contained' disc herniation, which had displaced the posterior longitudinal ligament, following distraction of the facets [27]. Essentially, the operation involved stabilization of the spinal segment and avoided the need for resection of any part of the bone, soft tissues, osteophyte or disc [21]. The treatment thus changed to dealing with posteriorly located facets than an anteriorly located disc and from surgery that was previously aimed at decompression of neural structures to that directed at spinal fixation.

On further evaluation of the subject, it appears that it is not neural compression or deformation but repeated microinjuries to the spinal cord, as a result of instability, that is the cause of neurological symptoms [21]. It was realized that more than distraction of the spinal segments, it is their stabilization that is most important for restoration of neural function and amelioration of symptoms. Accordingly, we resorted to fixation alone as the treatment for single or multilevel spinal degeneration-related radiculopathy or myelopathy [1, 2, 2]15, 23, 24]. Transarticular facetal fixation was identified to be a safe, strong and rather straightforward surgical option for fixation. The oblique profile, relatively large size and biomechanical strength of the facets can be used effectively and safely for transarticular screw insertion [10]. The mineral density of the bones of the facets and pedicles is significantly superior to that of any other part of the vertebra, imparting greater strength to the process of screw implantation. Moreover, the fixation is at the fulcrum of all spinal movements. Extension of the levels of fixation is relatively easy and remarkably quick.

Although instability of the subaxial facets is difficult to evaluate radiologically, because of their oblique profile, atlantoaxial facetal instability is relatively easy to decipher because of the brick-over-brick rectangular configuration. Our studies have concluded that the atlantoaxial joint, which is the most mobile joint in the body, is most likely to develop instability [2, 23]. An alternative classification divided atlantoaxial dislocation on the basis of facetal malalignment and identification of instability on direct bone manipulation during surgery [3]. Atlantoaxial instability in the absence of disturbance of the atlantodental interval and direct compression of neural structures by the odontoid process was labelled as central or axial atlantoaxial dislocation. In such a form of instability the facet of the atlas is dislocated posterior to the facet of the axis in a neutral head position (type B atlantoaxial facetal dislocation), or the facets of the atlas and axis are in alignment but the dislocation or instability is identified by direct bone handling or manipulation during surgery (type C atlantoaxial facetal instability). As neural compression is not an early or prominent feature, the symptoms are chronic and long-standing in nature. Such forms of dislocation are associated with chronic pathological entities such as group B basilar invagination, Chiari malformation type I, syringomyelia, a short neck, torticollis, bone fusions and several features that seem to be long-standing protective responses to atlantoaxial instability [4, 5, 24, 28-31]. Central or axial atlantoaxial instability is also associated with chronic degenerative spinal changes that manifest as multilevel spondylosis. On the other hand, in type A facetal instability, where in lateral-profile imaging the facet of the atlas is dislocated anterior to the facet of the axis, the symptoms are relatively acute, as there is an abnormal alteration in the atlantodental interval and compression of the spinal cord by the odontoid process. Type A facetal instability is less frequently associated with chronic pathological entities such as degeneration-related spinal disorders. It appears that atlantoaxial instability could be a primary pathology that leads to secondary degenerative changes in the cervical spine, or it may be associated with multilevel spinal instability. Identification of atlantoaxial instability and subaxial multilevel spinal instability and stabilization may provide a rational form of treatment for multilevel spinal degeneration. All of our patients who were treated with such a surgical strategy of fixation alone showed a remarkable recovery from their clinical symptoms in the immediate postoperative period and at follow-up assessments [1, 2, 15, 23, 24].

The exact indication for inclusion of the atlantoaxial joint in the fixation construct will have to be evaluated by further clinical studies. Moreover, larger case studies with multiple treating surgeons will have to collect and compile their observations to validate the concept. The efficacy and safety of the techniques of fixation we have adopted are apparent from our successful results. The technique has resulted in demonstrated improvements in gait, strength, sensations, pain, degree of myelopathy, and bladder and bowel control. We have not observed recurrent disease, pseudoarthrosis or hardware failure in any case. The drawback of this study is that it did not include a comparative cohort of patients who had undergone traditional open anterior or posterior surgery.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The author declares that he has no competing interests.

References

- Goel A. 'Only fixation' as rationale treatment for spinal canal stenosis. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2011;2(2):55–6.
- Goel A. Posterior atlantoaxial 'facetal' instability associated with cervical spondylotic disease. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2015;6(2):51–5.
- Goel A. Goel's classification of atlantoaxial "facetal" dislocation. J Craniovertbr Junction Spine. 2014;5(1):15–9.

- Goel A. Chiari malformation—is atlantoaxial instability the cause? Outcome analysis of 65 patients with Chiari malformation treated by atlantoaxial fixation. J Neurosurg Spine. 2015;22(2): 116–27.
- Fujiwara A, Kobayashi N, Saiki K, Kitagawa T, Tamai K, Saotome K. Association of the Japanese Orthopaedic Association score with the Oswestry Disability Index, Roland–Morris Disability Questionnaire, and Short-Form 36. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2003;28:1601–7.
- 6. Huskisson EC. Measurement of pain. J Rheumatol. 1982;9:768-9.
- Roy-Camille R, Saillant G. Surgery of the cervical spine.
 Dislocation. Fracture of the articular processes. Nouv Presse Med. 1972;1:2484–5.
- Goel A, Desai K, Muzumdar D. Atlantoaxial fixation using plate and screw method: a report of 160 treated patients. Neurosurgery. 2002;51:1351–7.
- Goel A, Laheri VK. Plate and screw fixation for atlanto-axial dislocation (technical report). Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1994;129: 47–53.
- Goel A. Alternative technique of cervical spinal stabilization employing lateral mass plate and screw and intra-articular spacer fixation. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2013;4(2):56–8.
- Baron EM, Young WF. Cervical spondylotic myelopathy: a brief review of its pathophysiology, clinical course, and diagnosis. Neurosurgery. 2007;60(1 Suppl 11):S35–41.
- Fehlings MG, Tetreault LA, Wilson JR, Skelly AC. Cervical spondylotic myelopathy: current state of the art and future directions. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2013;38:S1–8.
- Karadimas SK, Erwin WM, Ely CG, Dettori JR, Fehlings MG. Pathophysiology and natural history of cervical spondylotic myelopathy. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2013;38:S21–36.
- Shedid D, Benzel EC. Cervical spondylosis anatomy: pathophysiology and biomechanics. Neurosurgery. 2007;60(1 Suppl 11):S7–13.
- Goel A, Nadkarni T, Shah A, Rai S, Rangarajan V, Kulkarni A. Is only stabilization the ideal treatment for ossified posterior longitudinal ligament? Report of early results with a preliminary experience in 14 patients. World Neurosurg. 2015;84(3):813–9.
- Lawrence BD, Shamji MF, Traynelis VC, Yoon ST, Rhee JM, Chapman JR, et al. Surgical management of degenerative cervical myelopathy: a consensus statement. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2013;38:S171–2.
- Skelly AC, Hashimoto RE, Norvell DC, Dettori JR, Fischer DJ, Wilson JR, et al. Cervical spondylotic myelopathy: methodological approaches to evaluate the literature and establish best evidence. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2013;38:S9–18.
- Goel A, Pareikh S. Limited oblique corpectomy for treatment of ossified posterior longitudinal ligament. Neurol India. 2005;53(3):280–2.
- Goel A. Facet distraction spacers for treatment of degenerative disease of the spine: rationale and an alternative hypothesis of spinal degeneration. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2010;1(2):65–6.
- Goel A. Facet distraction–arthrodesis technique: can it revolutionize spinal stabilization methods? J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2011;2(1):1–2.
- 21. Goel A. Is it necessary to resect osteophytes in degenerative spondyloticmyelopathy? J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2013;4(1):1–2.
- Goel A. Vertical facetal instability: is it the point of genesis of spinal spondylotic disease? J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2015;6(2):47–8.
- Goel A. Atlantoaxial instability associated with single or multilevel cervical spondylotic myelopathy. J Craniovertbr Junction Spine. 2015;6(4):141–3.
- Goel A. Is atlantoaxial instability the cause of "high" cervical ossified posterior longitudinal ligament? Analysis on the basis of surgical treatment of seven patients. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2016;7(1):20–5.

- Goel A, Shah A. Facetal distraction as treatment for single- and multilevel cervical spondylotic radiculopathy and myelopathy: a preliminary report. J Neurosurg Spine. 2011;14(6):689–96.
- 26. Goel A, Shah A, Jadhav M, Nama S. Distraction of facets with intraarticular spacers as treatment for lumbar canal stenosis: report on a preliminary experience with 21 cases. J Neurosurg Spine. 2013;19(6):672–7.
- Goel A, Shah A, Patni N, Ramdasi R. Immediate postoperative reversal of disc herniation following facetal distraction—fixation surgery: report of four cases. World Neurosurg. 2016;94:339–44.
- Goel A, Bhatjiwale M, Desai K. Basilar invagination: a study based on 190 surgically treated cases. J Neurosurg. 1998;88:962–8.
- Goel A, Nadkarni T, Shah A, Sathe P, Patil M. Radiological evaluation of basilar invagination without obvious atlantoaxial instability (group B—basilar invagination): an analysis based on a study of 75 patients. World Neurosurg. 2016;95:375–82.
- Goel A, Shah A. Reversal of longstanding musculoskeletal changes in basilar invagination after surgical decompression and stabilization. J Neurosurg Spine. 2009;10:220–7.
- Goel A. Treatment of basilar invagination by atlantoaxial joint distraction and direct lateral mass fixation. J Neurosurg Spine. 2004;1(3):281–6.

The Craniovertebral Junction in Rheumatoid Arthritis: State of the Art



Angelo Ferrante, Francesco Ciccia, Giuseppe Roberto Giammalva, Domenico Gerardo Iacopino, Massimiliano Visocchi, Federica Macaluso, and Rosario Maugeri

Abstract Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a chronic inflammatory disorder, characterized by polyarticular inflammation causing progressive joint damage and disability. The mechanisms underlying its pathogenesis involve activation of innate and adaptive immunity, microvascular endothelial cell activation, and inflammatory infiltration of lymphocytes and monocytes into the synovium. Spinal involvement in RA is not typical; when it occurs, the main radiological features are (1) atlantoaxial subluxation (AAS), which is the most typical form of cervical spine involvement; (2) cranial settlingalso known as basilar impression, atlantoaxial impaction or superior migration of the odontoid-which is the most severe form of associated spinal instability; and (3) subaxial subluxation. A combination of these alterations may occur. Synovitis is characterized by infiltration of innate and adaptive immune cells; joint destruction is a consequence of activation of synovial fibroblasts, which acquire aggressive, inflammatory, invasive features, associated with increased chondrocyte catabolism and synovial osteoclastogenesis.

Neck pain is the most frequent symptom of spinal involvement in RA; it occurs in 40–80% of patients and is mostly localized at the craniocervical junction. Other symptoms caused by compression of neural structures such as the greater occipital nerve (at C2), the nucleus of the spinal trigeminal tract and the greater auricular nerve—are occipital neuralgia, facial pain and ear pain, respectively. Irritation of the lesser occipital nerve (at C1) can cause pain in the suboccipital region. Sometimes patients may complain of a sensa-

G. R. Giammalva · D. G. Iacopino · R. Maugeri (⊠) Department of Experimental Biomedicine and Clinical Neurosciences, School of Medicine, Neurosurgical Clinic, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy

M. Visocchi

Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University of Rome, Rome, Italy

tion of their head falling down with flexion, weakness, reduced endurance, loss of ability, gait alterations, paraesthesias or other symptoms due to cord and medullary compression, and upper or lower motor neuron signs, or both. Surgical management of RA remains a challenging field.

Keywords Craniovertebral junction · Rheumatoid arthritis Cervical spine · Inflammation · Transnasal decompression Transoral decompression · Instrumentation and fusion procedures · Atlantoaxial dislocation · Atlantoaxial instability · Atlantoaxial synovitis · Basilar invagination

Introduction

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a chronic inflammatory disorder, characterized by polyarticular inflammation causing progressive joint damage and disability. The mechanisms underlying its pathogenesis involve activation of innate and adaptive immunity, microvascular endothelial cell activation and inflammatory infiltration of lymphocytes and monocytes into the synovium. The final consequence of these immunological processes is development of synovial hypertrophy with pannus formation, which finally leads to erosion of articular cartilage and subchondral bone [1].

RA is a chronic, symmetrical, erosive disease, mainly involving small joints in the hands and feet. However, cervical spine involvement may also be present in a significant number of patients, sometimes in early disease. Cervical spine involvement, however, is more commonly a finding of long-standing RA, observed in over half of all patients after a mean of 10 years of the disease [2, 3].

The prevalence of cervical spine abnormalities in RA is estimated to be between 17% and 88% [4, 5]. The breadth of this range is related to variability in populations (as observed in several retrospective studies), use of different classifications of the disease and evolving medical therapies for the disease [6]. Almost 1% of the general population in Europe and in the

A. Ferrante · F. Ciccia · F. Macaluso

Di.Bi.M.I.S., Section of Rheumatology, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy

USA is affected by RA, and approximately 10% of these patients develop significant cervical spine involvement [7].

Cervical spine involvement in RA is related to the presence of peripheral erosions, the use of corticosteroids and previous joint surgery, which are considered independent risk factors for development of serious cervical spine abnormalities. Beyond inflammatory involvement of cervical spine related to RA, patients can develop age-related degenerative alterations (known as cervical spondylosis), which also affect the general population [8].

Anatomy and Physiopathology

The cervical spine can be separated into two different parts: the upper tract (C1 and C2, with the atlantoaxial, atlantoodontoid and atlanto-occipital joints) and the lower tract (C3-C7, with uncovertebral and facet joints present at each level). The upper cervical spine is mainly involved in rotational movements of the neck, whereas the lower tract is involved in flexion-extension movements. Like the rest of the spine, the cervical spine has the function of guaranteeing protection of the neural structures contained in the spinal canal and allowing both physiological stability and movement capacity between the vertebrae through the joints connecting them, which are powered by various muscle attachments. The occiput-C1 and C1-C2 articulations lack intervertebral discs, consisting exclusively of synovial joints. Thanks to these peculiar anatomical features, the atlas and axis allow increased mobility of the cervical spine. The atlas, without a vertebral body, supports the head though lateral articulations with the occipital condyles. The superior articular facet of the atlas receives occipital condyles at the base of the skull, whereas the inferior articular facet stands upon the axis; articulation between the atlas and axis is permitted by vertical projections of the odontoid process, which assumes a position between the lateral masses of C1. The joints are stabilized by different ligaments, such as the transverse ligament, the alar ligaments and the accessory atlantoaxial ligaments [9, 10]. The integrity of the transverse ligament prevents anterior subluxation of the atlas, particularly during neck flexion. In RA, this ligament is often compromised because of its involvement in the inflammatory process of the synovial articulation of the dens. Whole rupture of the transverse ligament causes only 4-5 mm anterior subluxation of the atlas if the secondary stabilizers are not damaged. In RA, the stability of the atlantoaxial joint is definitely compromised as a result of impairment of the secondary stabilizers, and it can be further compromised by possible erosions of the odontoid process. Atlantoaxial instability (most frequently anterior) is often due to loss of ligament support caused by development of erosive pannus at the C1–C2 level and bone destruction (Fig. 1). This process leads to damage to the ligamentous complex that usually stabilizes the atlas in the axis, especially damage to the transverse ligament, but also to the articular capsular joint of C1–C2.

The weight of the head and insufficient mobility of the thoracic spine create dynamic forces that worsen the situation, further compromising the ligamentous stabilizers, causing fracture of an impaired dens, or both.

The most frequent clinicopathological presentations of spinal involvement in RA are (1) atlantoaxial subluxation (AAS), which is the most common manifestation of cervical damage; (2) cranial settling—also known as basilar impression, atlantoaxial impaction or superior migration of the odontoid—which is the most severe form of spinal involvement in RA; and (3) subaxial subluxation (SAS). A combination of these alterations may occur [11, 12].

In AAS, the normal <3 mm range of the anterior atlantodental interval (ADI) is extended and that of the posterior atlantodental interval (PADI)—the space between the posterior border of the dens and the anterior aspect of the posterior arch of C1—is decreased, inducing compression of the upper spinal cord [12]. Winfield et al. [13] observed anterior atlantoaxial dislocation (AAD) in 12% of RA patients during a follow-up period of 7 years. In autopsy studies, the rate changed from 11% to 46% [9]. Anterior AAD accounts for 75% of all cases of AAD. According to evidence from



Fig. 1 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) T2-weighted sagittal reconstruction of retro-odontoid pannus impinging on the bulbomedullary junction in a 68-year-old woman (*red arrow*)

experimental studies, disruption of the transverse ligament alone can cause slipping of C1 anteriorly over C2. When the transverse ligament is the only one compromised, the maximum displacement is about 5 mm, but it increases to 6.5– 10 mm and 7 mm when the alar or atlantoaxial ligaments, respectively, are also compromised, and 12 mm when all three ligaments are damaged [10, 14].

In 20% of cases of AAD, C1 is shifted laterally [15], causing an abnormal head posture. Lateral AAD is the result of unilateral or asymmetrical involvement of the lateral atlantoaxial joint. When no more than 1 mm of subchondral bone on the lateral mass of C1 or the articular process of C2 is lost, C1 shifts laterally by 2.5 mm. When the loss of bone is more than 1 mm, the shift can reach 5 mm and is limited by contact between the lateral mass of C1 and the dens. At the same time, the lateral mass of C1 is in contact with C2, shifting and tilting C1. An anteroposterior open-mouth x-ray permits diagnosis, evidencing involvement of either or both of the C1 and C2 joints with a major than 2 mm displacement of C1 on C2 and tilting of C1 on C2. The degree of compromise of the lateral mass of C2 determines the extent of the tilting [15]. Rotatory dislocation is caused by unilateral C1-C2 joint damage with impairment of the transverse ligament. Dislocation is well demonstrated by an open-mouth projection scan, which is considered the best x-ray projection because it shows lateral displacement of the dens, asymmetry of the C1 lateral masses with respect to the dens and abnormal lateral mass geometry (Fig. 2a). A rarer manifestation is posterior atlantoaxial subluxation, which is usually caused by a fracture of the dens and carries a greater risk of cord injury than AAS (6-7%) [16]. The dens damage caused by the pannus underlies posterior subluxation, subsequent to





Fig. 2 (a) Traditional X-ray measurements investigating the C1–C2 relationship. *ADI* anterior atlantodental interval, *PADI* posterior atlantodental interval (*left*) and rotatory subluxation (*right, red arrow*). (b) Radiological criteria for cranial settling. Chamberlain line: findings are considered positive if the apex of the odontoid is 3 mm above a line from the posterior edge of the hard palate to the opisthion (the posterior

b

rim of the foramen magnum). McGregor line: findings are considered positive if the apex of the odontoid is >4.5 mm above a line drawn from the posterior hard palate to the most inferior point on the occipital curve. McRae line (1953): findings are positive if the tip of the odontoid extends above a line drawn from the basion (the anterior rim of the foramen magnum) to the opisthion

posterior slippage of C1. The result is upward movement of the anterior arch of C1 and downward inclination of the posterior arch until it is located in front of the spinous process of C2. The erosion of the occipitus–C1 and C1–C2 joints causes cranial settling, with displacement of the odontoid in the foramen magnum. This can cause brainstem compression and possibly death [17].

Cranial settling is observed in 4-35% of RA patients and is responsible for 20% of all AAD cases [15, 18]. It is caused by erosion of the occipital condyles, the superior articular processes of C2 and the lateral masses of C1. The collapse of the compromised joints is followed by settling of the skull on the upper cervical spine.

Subaxial subluxation can cause several abnormalities in the cervical spine, ranging from spondylolisthesis to cervical kyphosis and/or a "staircase" deformity due to the destruction of the facet joints as well as the uncovertebral joint. Plain X-rays permit us to visualize subaxial cervical spine abnormalities. Spinal cord compression is rarer than with upper cervical spine lesions but it can result in more severe lesions [19].

Pathogenesis

The pathogenesis of RA is heterogeneous and is characterized by activation of innate and adaptive immunity. The presence of autoantibodies is a negative prognostic factor and is related to more severe clinical manifestations, erosive disease and increased mortality [20, 21]. The increased mortality seems to be probably related to the presence of immune complexes between autoantibodies against citrullinated peptides (ACPAs) and citrulline-containing antigens, leading to complement activation [22]. The lung seems to be the main tissue in which the immune response is activated, through formation of ACPAs, which is increased by smoking. Several studies have demonstrated an association between smoking and the presence of shared citrullinated peptides in both lung and synovial tissue biopsies [23]. ACPAs themselves have a pathogenetic role, triggering innate immunity by directly stimulating macrophages (e.g. by binding to toll-like receptors through the bound antigen, by Fc-receptor engagement, or both). Recent studies have suggested that ACPAs could promote activation of osteoclasts through development of immune complex and Fc-receptor involvement or probably by ligating membrane citrullinated vimentin [24], therefore directly causing bone loss. In RA, activation of immune responses leads to development of leucocyte infiltration in synovial membranes, causing synovial hypertrophy, which clinically occurs with joint swelling. The cellular composition of synovitis in RA is heterogeneous, including innate immune cells (e.g. monocytes, dendritic cells, mast cells and

innate lymphoid cells) and adaptive immune cells (e.g. T-helper-1 and T-helper-17 cells, B cells, plasmablasts and plasma cells) [24]. Joint destruction is a consequence of activation of synovial fibroblasts, which acquire aggressive inflammatory and invasive features, associated with increased chondrocyte catabolism and synovial osteoclastogenesis [25, 26]. Ultrasound-guided biopsies of small joints and detailed molecular analyses (in particular, transcriptomic analyses) have demonstrated the presence of different subtypes of synovial inflammatory infiltrates—namely, myeloid-dominant, lymphocytic-dominant and fibroid-dominant infiltrates—providing new insights into pathogenetic processes, which could have significant therapeutically implications [27].

The mediators of inflammation that are mainly implicated in progression of RA are chemokines, cytokines, growth factors and metalloproteinases. The immune response is characterized by activation and attraction of inflammatory cells from peripheral blood to the site of inflammation and by subsequent proliferation of synoviocytes. Tumour necrosis factor (TNF), interleukin 6 and probably granulocyte–monocyte colony-stimulating factor play central roles in the development and maintenance of the inflammatory process [28].

Activated fibroblasts—in synergy with inflammatory infiltrates composed of activated T and B cells, monocytes and macrophages—finally act by triggering osteoclast activation through the receptor RANKL (receptor activator of nuclear factor κ B ligand, expressed on T and B lymphocytes and fibroblasts), which interacts with its cognate receptor, RANK, expressed on preosteoclasts, macrophages and dendritic cells [29, 30]. Activation of osteoclasts induces the appearance of joint erosions by release of proteolytic enzymes (matrix metalloproteinases). The cartilage matrix is degraded by matrix metalloproteinases and aggrecanases. The proteases can consequently infiltrate and damage articular cartilage, subchondral bone, tendons and ligaments, ultimately leading to instability and subluxation of all of the joints involved, including the cervical spine.

Clinical Manifestations

Cervical spine involvement in RA is often a silent condition. Even in the presence of severe cervical spine damage, many patients may be asymptomatic. Beyond RA-related inflammation in the cervical spine, this site can also be compromised by degenerative age-related disease. Both conditions occur with almost the same symptomatology, characterized by neck pain, myelopathy and radiculopathy. Neck pain is the most frequent symptom reported by patients with spinal involvement in RA; it occurs in 40–80% of patients [31], mostly localized at the craniocervical junction. Occipital headaches are often present as well. Compression of neural structures—such as the greater occipital nerve (in C2), the nucleus of the spinal trigeminal tract and the greater auricular nerve—can cause occipital neuralgia, facial pain and ear pain, respectively. Irritation of the lesser occipital nerve (in C1) can also cause pain in the suboccipital region. Sometimes patients may complain of a feeling of their head falling down with flexion and with a clunking sensation, weakness, reduced endurance and dexterity, gait alterations, paraesthesias [12, 32] or other symptoms due to cord and medullary compression, and upper or lower motor neuron signs, or both.

Axial pain originates from involvement of various components of the vertebral column and is due to damage of the bone and cartilage in the neck or deformities resulting in misalignment.

Myelopathy describes a constellation of symptoms usually caused by compression of the brainstem or spinal cord; earlier symptoms can worsen coordination of hand movements and cause disturbances in balance, a sensation of heaviness in the lower extremities and gait disorders. Other clinical manifestations may be difficulty in execution of fine motor skills—such as buttoning a shirt or inserting a key into a lock—or a progressive change in handwriting [33].

Neck movements, particularly flexion, can cause the occurrence of electric shock sensations in the torso and extremities (Lhermitte's sign), or either alone. Vertebrobasilar insufficiency or mechanical compression of the cervicomedullary junction can cause symptoms of tinnitus, vertigo, visual alterations, disturbances of equilibrium, diplopia and dysphagia; the most severe manifestations of upper cervical spine involvement, caused by vertebrobasilar insufficiency, are stroke or sudden death, which are rarely reported [12, 34].

A complete history and physical examination can highlight bowel and bladder disturbances, movement disabilities, balance and coordination alterations, and/or difficulties in manual dexterity. Physical examination findings can differ significantly and have been demonstrated to be variable in patients with cord compression. Beside Lhermitte's sign, suggestive signs of myelopathy are Hoffman's sign, an inverted brachioradialis reflex, hyperreflexia, continuous clonus or more than five beats of clonus, a positive Romberg sign and/or a Babinski sign, as well as the occurrence of dysdiadochokinesia, dysmetria or problems with the heel to shin test and/or the tandem gait test. These signs/symptoms can be associated with various levels of motor and/or sensory alterations in the upper and/or lower extremities. A complete neurological examination should be performed, including all of the aforementioned provocative tests. Unfortunately, in patients with RA, severe joint involvement may sometimes prevent a thorough neurological examination from being done, delaying diagnosis and making it more difficult [35].

Diagnosis

Patients with RA, even asymptomatic ones, should undergo an X-ray evaluation in lateral, anteroposterior (AP) and open-mouth odontoid views, and in lateral flexion-extension dynamic projections, to assess cervical spine involvement [12, 36, 37]. Radiographic alterations related to early cervical spine involvement are most commonly represented by odontoid erosions, disc narrowing, and atlantoaxial and subaxial subluxation [38, 39]. X-ray evaluation permits clear identification of bone alignment, quality and deformities, but it has some limitations for identification of bony erosions, the craniovertebral junction (CVJ) and cervicothoracic junctions (because of superimposition of the cranial base structures and of the glenohumeral joints) and soft tissue changes such as pannus and spinal cord compression. In the presence of radiographic alterations in cervical spine involvement and/or in cases of neurological symptoms or cervical pain, computed tomography (CT) scans and/or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the cervical spine are mandatory [11, 40].

CT scanning with multiplanar reconstruction represents the gold-standard method for clear visualization of bone changes (erosions, anatomy, ankylosis and spondylosis) but has limitations for assessment of soft tissues, the spinal cord and nerve roots [11, 41]. MRI evaluation is the most sensitive method for evaluation of cervical spine involvement in RA, especially because it allows better visualization of soft tissue and neural elements. It should be performed in all patients with suspected or confirmed radiographic signs of cervical spine involvement and in patients complaining of neurological symptoms [42, 43] (Fig. 1). Both CT scanning and MRI are fundamental for surgical planning.

As reported above, traditional X-ray evaluation, considering the C1-C2 relationship, includes the ADI; a distance of <3 mm is considered normal. However, patients with RA, even asymptomatic ones, frequently have measurements of 5 mm or even up to 10 mm [39]. In this regard, it has been demonstrated that the PADI is a better predictor of paralysis and recovery. The PADI, in particular, estimates the greater amount of space available for the upper cervical spinal cord [39, 43] (Fig. 2a). The cervical spinal cord occupies 10 mm of the canal diameter; additionally, it needs 1 mm for the dura and 1 mm for the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) anterior to the cord, and the same posteriorly, for a total of 14 mm. Compression of the cord occurs when the available space is <14 mm. X-ray evaluations should include both PADI and ADI measurements obtained in flexion and extension. Boden et al. [39] observed a high rate of neurological recovery, after fusion and stabilization, in patients with a PADI >14 mm, whereas a PADI <10 mm was related to a worse clinical outcome. However, neither the ADI nor the PADI can be used to

assess cord compression caused by soft tissues, such as pannus development in the retro-odontoid space. Thus, spinal cord compression can be present even in the absence of abnormalities in plain X-ray measurements.

The possibility of rotatory AAS should be considered in the presence of asymmetry or lateral displacement of the atlas on the axis by >2 mm in an open-mouth view or in cases of asymmetrical collapse of the lateral atlas mass [44]. Fracture of the dens may be another sign of lateral displacement. A CT scan is the method of choice for confirmation of the diagnosis. Diagnosis of cranial settling through X-ray evaluation can often be very difficult because osseous structures of the cranial base are superimposed upon the landmarks, particularly in the cervical spine [44]. Diagnosis of cranial settling may be further complicated by the presence of erosions of the dens. Plain X-rays generally allow evaluation of the extent of cranial settling in relation to several parameters based on different anatomical landmarks (Fig. 2). Various parameters are used to assess cranial settling with plain X-rays, including McRae's line, McGregor's line, the Ranawat index, the Redlund-Johnell value and the Clark stations. The measurements most commonly used are the Ranawat index [45] and the Redlund-Johnell value [46]. Lateral scanning allows clear visualization of the anatomical landmarks used for these measurements (Fig. 2b). An altered Ranawat index most likely matches settling at the C1-C2 level, and the Redlund-Johnell value shows occiput-C2 changes. In 1989, Clark et al. [47] described a method involving identification of three equidistant stations of the odontoid process of the axis. Usually the superior third of the odontoid is at the same level as, or close to, the anterior ring of the atlas. With mild cranial settling, the middle third of the odontoid process is level with the anterior ring of the atlas (station II). With severe cranial settling, the inferior third of the odontoid process is level with the anterior ring of the atlas (station III) [48]. In addition, these authors recommended considering as positive the results of screening for basilar impression when at least one of the following three criteria is positive: the Clark stations, the Redlund-Johnell value or the Ranawat index. Use of these criteria in combination increased the sensitivity to 94% and the negative predictive value to 91%. In the presence of a positive result on at least one of the three criteria, a more detailed study with CT scanning or MRI is mandatory. However, MRI has replaced CT scanning as the evaluation of choice in clinical evaluation because of its greater sensitivity in identifying inflammatory alterations in the joints and synovial changes, especially at the early stages of the disease. MRI allows better visualization of soft tissue, neural structures (the spinal cord and nerve roots) and the contents of the epidural space, providing further information for assessment of spinal cord compression [49].

Through triplanar images, MRI permits clear visualization of facet subluxations, joint damage and dens dislocation [50], giving precise information about CVJ relationships. MRI is also suggested for assessment of the cervicomedullary angle: in two studies, patients with an angle $<135^{\circ}$ had a diagnosis of cranial settling and myelopathy [51, 52]. In addition, MRI alterations can be useful for prognosis: T1-weighted spinal cord signal changes are associated with a poor clinical status and also a poor final postoperative outcome [52]. MRI is also useful to evaluate pannus regression after surgical treatment.

Since pannus formation is probably related to articular hypermobility, fusion of the affected joint can lead to pannus regression (especially in cases imaged with contrast enhancement) [53]. Dynamic MRI has been used with the patient in flexed or extended positions and in the traditional neutral position. Roca et al. recommend performing functional MRI in a flexed position in patients with RA with suspected cervical subluxation when routine MRI findings in the neutral position are normal [54]. Other authors have suggested performing functional MRI as a preoperative examination [55].

Management

The goals of RA treatment are symptom relief and a reduction in the disease activity rate. Good control of disease activity is considered to be the primary non-surgical treatment of cervical spine involvement in RA. However, prolonged high-dosage use of corticosteroids represents an independent risk factor for cervical subluxation in RA [56– 59]. Moreover, an elevated incidence of SAS has also been reported in patients not affected by RA, and it is directly associated with the duration of corticosteroid exposure.

In a clinical series of 67 patients it was demonstrated that treatment with disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs) was correlated with a greatly decreased incidence of cervical spine involvement: reductions of 9% in the rate of atlantoaxial subluxation, 4% in the rate of basilar invagination and 2% in the rate of subaxial subluxation were reported [60]. Combination therapy with different DMARDs might further reduce the rates of cervical spine involvement. No cases of atlantoaxial subluxation or basilar invagination were observed in a study of 195 patients with early RA treated with more DMARDs during a follow-up period of 2 years, and only 3.5% of these patients were reported to have subaxial subluxation [61]. These findings suggest that biological DMARDs might be more useful for preventing de novo cervical spine involvement than for slowing the progression of pre-existing pathology [62].

Conservative treatment is the preferred therapeutic strategy in RA patients with cervical spine involvement but without neurological deficits. When neurological symptoms and signs are present, surgical treatment should be considered, evaluating different factors such as age, the severity of the disease and the patient's general condition. Properly administered anaesthesia is crucial, and surgical treatment should be performed at centres with expertise in treating CVJ abnormalities. Nevertheless, surgical management of RA is a stimulating field. There clearly has been a reduction in cases of mutilating RA involving the CVJ, thanks to steady improvement in surgical procedures.

A successful surgical procedure requires a great deal of expertise to achieve stable decompression of the CVJ. Therefore, a skilled preoperative evaluation, an appropriate choice of surgical procedure, and use of suitable haemostatic and sealant devices and stabilization instruments are required to achieve the best functional result and avoid surgical complications [63, 64].

Enlarged transoral approaches—despite being associated with greater morbidity—are helpful when severe basilar invagination, cranial extension of the lesion or limited jaw mobility are present.

The introduction of endoscopy in transoral surgery and the endoscopic transnasal approach have strongly improved the outcome of RA patients with rapidly progressive myelopathic symptoms. For those patients with chronic symptoms, CVJ fixation procedures seem to be more suitable both for stabilization and for secondary progressive pannus reabsorption [62, 65–68].

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Smolen JS, Aletaha D, McInnes IB. Rheumatoid arthritis. Lancet. 2016;388:2023–38.
- Garrod AE. A treatise on rheumatism and rheumatoid arthritis. London: Griffin's Medical Series; 1890.
- Cha TD, An HS. Cervical spine manifestations in patients with inflammatory arthritis. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2013;9:423–32.
- Agarwal AK, Peppelman WC Jr, Kraus DR, Eisenbeis CH Jr. The cervical spine in rheumatoid arthritis. BMJ. 1993;306:79–80.
- Halla JT, Hardin JG, Vitek J, Alarcon GS. Involvement of the cervical spine in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1989;32:652–9.
- Reiter MF, Boden SD. Inflammatory disorders of the cervical spine. Spine. 1998;23:2755–66.
- Kauppi MJ, Neva MH, Laiho K, Kautiainen H, Luukkainen R, Karjalainen A, et al. Rheumatoid atlantoaxial subluxation can be prevented by intensive use of traditional disease modifying antirheumatic drugs. J Rheumatol. 2009;36(2):273–8.
- Del Grande M, Del Grande F, Carrino J, Bingham CO III, Louie GH. Cervical spine involvement early in the course of rheumatoid arthritis. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2014;43:738–44.
- Bland J, Boushey D. Anatomy and physiology of the cervical spine. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 1990;20:1–20.

- La Caffinière JY, Seringe R, Roy-Camille R. Étude physiopathologique des lésions ligamentaires graves dans les traumatismes de la charnière occipito-rachidienne. Rev Chir Orthop. 1972;58:11–9.
- Krauss WE, Bledsoe JM, Clarke MJ, Nottmeier EW, Pichelmann MA. Rheumatoid arthritis of the craniovertebral junction. Neurosurgery. 2010;66:83–95.
- Wasserman BR, Moskovich R, Razi AE. Rheumatoid arthritis of the cervical spine—clinical considerations. Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis. 2011;69:136–48.
- Winfield J, Young A, Williams P, Corbett M. Prospective study of the radiologic changes in hands, feet, and cervical spine in adult rheumatoid disease. Ann Rheum Dis. 1983;42:613–8.
- Bouchaud-Chabot A, Lioté F. Cervical spine involvement in rheumatoid arthritis. A review. Joint Bone Spine. 2002;69:141–54.
- Lipson S. Rheumatoid arthritis of the cervical spine. Clin Orthop. 1984;182:143–9.
- Lipson S. Cervical myelopathy and posterior atlanto-axial subluxations in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J Bone Joint Surg. 1985;67A:593–7.
- Menezes AH, VanGilder JC, Clark CR, El-Khoury G. Odontoid upward migration in rheumatoid arthritis. An analysis of 45 patients with "cranial settling". J Neurosurg. 1985;63(1):500–9.
- Cabot A, Becker A. The cervical spine in rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Orthop. 1978;131:130–40.
- Seignon B, Tellart-Chaudeur MO, Gougeon J. Les lesions destructrices du rachis cervical moyen et inférieur au cours de la polyarthrite rhumatoïde. Sem Hôp Paris. 1975;51:1157–66.
- Gonzalez A, Icen M, Kremers HM, et al. Mortality trends in rheumatoid arthritis: the role of rheumatoid factor. J Rheumatol. 2008;35:1009–14.
- van Gaalen FA, van Aken J, Huizinga TW, et al. Association between HLA class II genes and autoantibodies to cyclic citrullinated peptides (CCPs) influences the severity of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50:2113–21.
- 22. Anquetil F, Clavel C, Offer G, Serre G, Sebbag M. IgM and IgA rheumatoid factors purified from rheumatoid arthritis sera boost the Fc receptor– and complement-dependent effector functions of the disease-specific anti-citrullinated protein autoantibodies. J Immunol. 2015;194:3664–74.
- Reynisdottir G, Olsen H, Joshua V, et al. Signs of immune activation and local inflammation are present in the bronchial tissue of patients with untreated early rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75(9):1722–7.
- Harre U, Georgess D, Bang H, et al. Induction of osteoclastogenesis and bone loss by human autoantibodies against citrullinated vimentin. J Clin Investig. 2012;122:1791–802.
- 25. Smolen JS, Aletaha D, Koeller M, Weisman M, Emery P. New therapies for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Lancet. 2007;370:1861–74.
- McInnes IB, Schett G. The pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:2205–19.
- 27. Humby F, Kelly S, Hands R, et al. Use of ultrasound-guided small joint biopsy to evaluate the histopathologic response to rheumatoid arthritis therapy: recommendations for application to clinical trials. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2015;67:2601–10.
- Feldmann M, Maini SR. Role of cytokines in rheumatoid arthritis: an education in pathophysiology and therapeutics. Immunol Rev. 2008;223:7–19.
- Pettit AR, Ji H, von Stechow D, et al. TRANCE/RANKL knockout mice are protected from bone erosion in a serum transfer model of arthritis. Am J Pathol. 2001;159:1689–99.
- Redlich K, Hayer S, Ricci R, et al. Osteoclasts are essential for TNFα-mediated joint destruction. J Clin Investig. 2002;110:1419–27.
- Rawlins BA, Girardi FP, Boachie-Adjei O. Rheumatoid arthritis of the cervical spine. Rheum Dis Clin North Am. 1998;24:55–65.

- 32. Dreyer SJ, Boden SD. Natural history of rheumatoid arthritis of the cervical spine. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1999;366:98–106.
- Bohlman HH, Emery SE, Goodfellow DB, Jones PK. Robinson anterior cervical discectomy and arthrodesis for cervical radiculopathy. Long-term follow-up of one hundred and twenty-two patients. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1993;75:1298–307.
- Blom M, Creemers MC, Kievit W, Lemmens JA, van Riel PL. Long-term follow-up of the cervical spine with conventional radiographs in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Scand J Rheumatol. 2013;42:281–8.
- Kim HJ, Nemani VM, Riew KD, Brasington R. Cervical spine disease in rheumatoid arthritis: incidence, manifestations, and therapy. Curr Rheumatol Rep. 2015;17(2):9.
- Yurube T, Sumi M, Nishida K, et al. Accelerated development of cervical spine instabilities in rheumatoid arthritis: a prospective minimum 5-year cohort study. PLoS One. 2014;18:e88970.
- Zikou AK, Alamanos Y, Argyropoulou MI, Tsifetaki N, Tsampoulas C, Voulgari PV, et al. Radiological cervical spine involvement in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a cross sectional study. J Rheumatol. 2005;32:801–6.
- Kwek TK, Lew TW, Thoo FL. The role of preoperative cervical spine X-rays in rheumatoid arthritis. Anaesth Intensive Care. 1998;26(6):636–41.
- Boden SD, Dodge LD, Bohlman HH, Rechtine GR. Rheumatoid arthritis of the cervical spine. A long-term analysis with predictors of paralysis and recovery. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1993;75(9):1282–97.
- 40. Ahn JK, Hwang JW, Oh JM, Lee J, Lee YS, Jeon CH, et al. Risk factors for development and progression of atlantoaxial subluxation in Korean patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatol Int. 2011;31:1363–8.
- Sugita S, Chikuda H, Kadono Y, Ohtsu H, Takeshita K, Nishino J, et al. Clinical characteristics of rheumatoid arthritis patients undergoing cervical spine surgery: an analysis of National Database of Rheumatic Diseases in Japan. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2014;15:203.
- Zoli A, Priolo F, Galossi A, Altomonte L, Di Gregorio F, Cerase A, et al. Craniocervical junction involvement in rheumatoid arthritis: a clinical and radiological study. J Rheumatol. 2000;27:1178–82.
- Joaquim AF, Ghizoni E, Tedeschi H, Appenzeller S, Riew KD. Radiological evaluation of cervical spine involvement in rheumatoid arthritis. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38:1–7.
- Aggarwal A, Kulshreshtha A, Chaturvedi V, Misra R. Cervical spine involvement in rheumatoid arthritis: prevalence and relationship with overall disease severity. J Assoc Physicians India. 1996;44:468–71.
- 45. Ranawat CS, O'Leary P, Pellicci P, et al. Cervical spine fusion in rheumatoid arthritis. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1979;61:1003–10.
- Redlund-Johnell I, Pettersson H. Radiographic measurements of the cranio-vertebral region. Designed for evaluation of abnormalities in rheumatoid arthritis. Acta Radiol Diagn (Stockh). 1984;25(1):23–8.
- Clark CR, Goetz DD, Menezes AH. Arthrodesis of the cervical spine in rheumatoid arthritis. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1989;71:381–92.
- Riew KD, Hilibrand AS, Palumbo MA, Sethi N, Bohlman HH. Diagnosing basilar invagination in the rheumatoid patient. The reliability of radiographic criteria. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2001;83-A:194–200.
- Tehranzadeh J, Ashikyan O, Dascalos J. Magnetic resonance imaging in early detection of rheumatoid arthritis. Semin Musculoskelet Radiol. 2003;7:79–94.
- 50. Stiskal MA, Neuhold A, Szolar DH, Saeed M, Czerny C, Leeb B, et al. Rheumatoid arthritis of the craniocervical region by

MR imaging: detection and characterization. Am J Roentgenol. 1995;165:585–92.

- Bundschuh C, Modic MT, Kearney F, Morris R, Deal C. Rheumatoid arthritis of the cervical spine: surface-coil MR imaging. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1988;151:181–7.
- Reijnierse M, Breedveld FC, Kroon HM, Hansen B, Pope TL, Bloem JL. Are magnetic resonance flexion views useful in evaluating the cervical spine of patients with rheumatoid arthritis? Skeletal Radiol. 2000;29:85–9.
- Kroft LJ, Reijnierse M, Kloppenburg M, Verbist BM, Bloem JL, van Buchem MA. Rheumatoid arthritis: epidural enhancement as an underestimated cause of subaxial cervical spinal stenosis. Radiology. 2004;231:57–63.
- Roca A, Bernreuter WK, Alarcon GS. Functional magnetic resonance imaging should be included in the evaluation the cervical spine in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol. 1993;20(9):1485–8.
- Weissman BN, Aliabadi P, Weinfeld MS, et al. Prognostic features of atlantoaxial subluxation in rheumatoid arthritis patients. Radiology. 1982;144(4):745–51.
- Lourie H, Stewart WA. Spontaneous atlantoaxial dislocation. A complication of rheumatoid disease. N Engl J Med. 1961;265:677–81.
- Mathews JA. Atlanto-axial subluxation in rheumatoid arthritis. A 5-year follow-up study. Ann Rheum Dis. 1974;33:526–31.
- Rasker JJ, Cosh JA. Radiological study of cervical spine and hand in patients with rheumatoid arthritis of 15 years' duration: an assessment of the effects of corticosteroid treatment. Ann Rheum Dis. 1978;37:529–35.
- Yonezawa T, Tsuji H, Matsui H, Hirano N. Subaxial lesions in rheumatoid arthritis. Radiographic factors suggestive of lower cervical myelopathy. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1995;20:208–15.
- Paimela L, Laasonen L, Kankaanpaa E, Leirisalo-Repo M. Progression of cervical spine changes in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol. 1997;24:1280–4.
- Neva MH, et al. Combination drug therapy retards the development of rheumatoid atlantoaxial subluxations. Arthritis Rheum. 2000;43:2397–401.
- 62. Kaito T, et al. Effect of biological agents on cervical spine lesions in rheumatoid arthritis. Spine. 2012;37:1742–6.
- Graziano F, Maugeri R, Basile L, Meccio F, Iacopino DG. Aulogous fibrin sealant (Vivostat[®]) in the neurosurgical practice: part II: vertebro-spinal procedure. Surg Neurol Int. 2016;7(Suppl 3):S77–82.
- Maugeri R, Giammalva GR, Graziano F, Iacopino DG. May autologue fibrin glue alone enhance ossification? An unexpected spinal fusion. World Neurosurg. 2016;95:611–2.
- Visocchi M, Doglietto F, Della Pepa GM, et al. Endoscope-assisted microsurgical transoral approach to the anterior craniovertebral junction compressive pathologies. Eur Spine J. 2011;20:1518–25.
- 66. Visocchi M, Signorelli F, Liao C, Rigante M, Paludetti G, Barbagallo G, et al. Endoscopic endonasal approach for craniovertebral junction pathologies: myth and truth in clinical series and personal experience. World Neurosurg. 2017;101:122–9. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.01.099.
- Visocchi M, Pietrini D, Tufo T, Fernandez E, Di Rocco C. Preoperative irreducible C1–C2 dislocations: intraoperative reduction and posterior fixation. The always posterior strategy. Acta Neurochir. 2009;151(5):551–9.
- Visocchi M, Iacopino DG, Signorelli F, Olivi A, Maugeri R. Walk the line. The surgical highways to the craniovertebral junction in endoscopic approaches: a historical perspective. World Neurosurg. 2018;110:544–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. wneu.2017.06.125.

Chiari

Chiari Malformations

Cristina Mancarella, Roberto Delfini, and Alessandro Landi



Abstract *Background:* Chiari malformations (CM) represent a group of anomalies characterized by descent of the cerebellar tonsils or vermis into the cervical spinal canal. These malformations can be associated with abnormalities such as hydrocephalus, spina bifida, hydromyelia, syringomyelia, curvature of the spine (kyphosis and scoliosis) and tethered cord syndrome. Hereditary syndromes and other disorders that affect growth and bone formation—such as craniosynostosis, Ehlers–Danlos syndromes and Klippel– Feil syndrome—can also be associated with CM.

Methods: The literature concerning treatment is large, and an extensive range of therapeutic protocols have been described. The literature is inclined in favour of surgery; however, there is controversy over when to perform surgery and which procedure is most appropriate. Lately, the indications for stabilization have been under discussion.

Results and Conclusion: In this paper we review the literature and discuss the historical background, anatomical forms, pathophysiology, clinical presentation, relationships with other diseases and diagnostic procedures for these abnormalities.

Keywords Chiari malformation · Craniocervical junction Syringomyelia

Introduction

Chiari malformations (CM) comprises various pathologies that have in common anatomical deformities of the brainstem and cerebellum. In the early 1890s, Professor Hans Chiari (1851–1916), an anatomopathologist at the German University in Prague, Czechoslovakia, described the congenital anomalies that would later be named Chiari malforma-

C. Mancarella · R. Delfini · A. Landi (🖂)

Department of Neurology and Psychiatry, Division

of Neurosurgery, "Sapienza" University of Rome, Rome, Italy

tion types I–IV [1–3]. These anomalies are characterized by downward elongation or displacement of the cerebellar tonsils or the vermis into the cervical spinal canal. Hydrocephalus is sometimes present. Other abnormalities can be associated with CM, such as syringomyelia, spina bifida, hydromyelia, kyphosis, scoliosis and tethered cord syndrome. Moreover, CM may be associated with hereditary syndromes and other disorders that affect growth and bone formation, such as craniosynostosis, Ehlers–Danlos syndromes and Klippel–Feil syndrome.

The literature concerning treatment is large, and many therapeutic protocols have been described. The literature is inclined in favour of surgery. Moreover, there is controversy over when to perform surgery and which procedure is most appropriate. Lately, the indications for stabilization have been under discussion.

In this paper, we review the literature and discuss the historical background, anatomical forms, pathophysiology, clinical presentation, relationships to other diseases and diagnostic procedures for these abnormalities.

History

In 1883, Cleland was the first author to define what later became known as Chiari malformation type II or Arnold– Chiari malformation, with his report on a single infant with myelomeningocele and hindbrain abnormalities [4]. In 1891, Chiari published his first manuscript in which he collated and analysed data from over 40 postmortem inspections of hindbrain malformations [2] and described CM types I, II, and III [2, 5]. In 1894, Arnold described a case of a child with elongation and descent of the inferior part of the cerebellum into the spinal canal and spina bifida [6]. Later, the type IV malformation was described in Chiari's 1895 publication [3], which stated that "other factors must play a role in this condition"—namely, insufficient skull growth, causing hydrocephalus.

The CM classification divides the abnormalities according to the severity of cerebellar tonsil descent and other neurological anomalies.

vious report, in which he postulated that CM was caused by

Chiari Malformation Type I

This is the least severe type and usually presents in adulthood. Hydrocephalus is infrequent. Syringomyelia is often found. Neuroimaging shows cerebellar tonsil elongation into the upper cervical canal through the foramen magnum. In general, tonsils lying 5 mm or more below the foramen magnum on neuroimaging are considered consistent with CM, though there is no direct correlation between clinical severity and how low the tonsils are lying. Usually, the origin is mesodermal.

Chiari Malformation Type II

This is the most frequent form. It is also known as 'classic' or 'Arnold–Chiari' malformation. Hydrocephalus is present in more than 70% of cases. The cerebellar hemispheres and the inferior vermis extend into the foramen magnum with displacement of the brainstem (the fourth ventricle, lower portion of the pons and medulla) inside the spinal canal and elongation of the aqueduct and fourth ventricle. It is associated with spina bifida and other cerebral, spinal and meningeal abnormalities. Its origin is a neuroectodermal disturbance.

Chiari Malformation Type III

This is a rare form. Hydrocephalus is present in 50% of cases and is of the obstructive type because of an associated Dandy–Walker malformation or aqueductal stenosis. It is characterized by caudal displacement of the medulla and herniation of part of the cerebellum in an occipital, cervical or occipital–cervical meningocele. Sometimes part of the hindbrain is also herniated. It is a disorder of neuroectodermal origin.

Chiari Malformation Type IV

This is the least frequent but most severe form of CM, characterized by an incomplete or undeveloped cerebellum (cerebellar hypoplasia or aplasia) and alterations of the pons with a 'pigeon breast' deformity of the brainstem. These anatomical alterations cause evident dilatation of the fourth ventricle, cisterna magna and basal cisterns, although hydrocephalus is infrequent. It is a neuroectodermal malformation.

Other Forms of Chiari Malformation

CM type 0 is characterized by the presence of syringomyelia without detectable descent of the cerebellar tonsils [7]. CM type 1.5 is characterized by tonsillar herniation and caudal migration of the brainstem and fourth ventricle, but with absence of spina bifida.

Pathophysiology

Many theories have been proposed to explain the causes of CM, but still none of the causes is completely clear. Here, we discuss the four main theories that have been offered in an attempt to explain the different hindbrain pathology seen in CM, although no single error in development appears to produce the anomaly.

- Hans Chiari, in his initial theory, ascribed hindbrain herniation to hydrocephalus. The theory stated that the ICP due to hydrocephalus and the consequent cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) pressure differential in the cranial and spinal compartments may cause cerebellar vermian herniation. However, this model fails to explain several features of CM. Between 10% and 20% of children with myelomeningocele and CM never develop hydrocephalus. Moreover, from prenatal imaging it is known that CM is often present prior to radiographic appearance of hydrocephalus. In addition, the small posterior fossa, low-lying torcular herophili and upward 'herniation' of the vermis are not explained by this theory [3].
- Cleland postulated that a primary dysgenesis of the hindbrain may occur, characterized by central nervous system (CNS) malformations in the posterior fossa. This theory fails to account for the cranial and supratentorial anomalies frequently associated with CM and myelomeningocele [4].
- Another theory postulated that a mesodermal disorder may result in a low-volume posterior fossa and subsequent

overcrowding; this may explain the vermian and brainstem herniation. A similar concept involves an 'induced' small posterior fossa secondary to chronic CSF leakage from an open spinal defect. Again, these theories fail to explain the widespread CNS abnormalities seen in patients with myelomeningocele.

 Traction theorists, including Penfield, postulated that development of CM occurred by the open and tethered spinal cord pulling the brainstem and cerebellum inferiorly, resulting in elongation and herniation of the posterior fossa structures. This theory does not explain many CNS deformities. Another flaw in this theory is the fact that traction forces applied to the lumbar spinal cord are essentially non-existent beyond four spinal levels from the tethered site [8].

McLone and Knepper combined these theories into a 'unified theory' of CM [9]. In this concept, the loss of CSF troughs via both an open neural tube defect and incomplete spinal occlusion causes a subsequent drop in ICP. CSF drains through the central canal and is therefore not retained in the ventricular system. The absence of the ventricular CSF driving force during fetal development results in poor cranial vault expansion, resulting in a small posterior fossa. The unexpectedly narrowed posterior fossa leads to caudal displacement of the brainstem and cerebellum through the foramen magnum. This theory also explains the development of hydrocephalus due to overcrowding of the posterior; with CSF outflow blocked or impaired at the foramina of Luschka and Magendie, progressive ventriculomegaly ensues.

Epidemiology and Clinical Presentation

The prevalence of CM has been estimated to be between 0.1% and 0.5%, but it is possible that higher rates will be identified by increasing use of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Most clinical cohort studies show an equal prevalence in both sexes or a slight female predominance. There is no particular ethnic or geographical distribution, and there are no known risk factors other than family history.

The majority of cases of CM are asymptomatic. Most patients with CM type I are diagnosed in late childhood to early adulthood.

Symptoms related to CM vary. The most common symptoms in these patients are headaches and neck pain, frequently associated with dysaesthesia in the C2 dermatome. The pain is exacerbated by coughing or sneezing. Given that CM type II is often associated with myelomeningocele, the first sign is an open neural tube defect. Approximately 33% of patients with CM type II will develop signs and symptoms of brainstem herniation/compression prior to the age of 5 years, and more than one third of patients with such early manifestations will not survive.

The symptoms of CM include alterations in the pattern of breathing (including periods of apnoea, stridor and dysphagia resulting in aspiration); a depressed gag reflex; involuntary, rapid, downward eye movements; and loss of arm strength.

Whatever the age of the child, it is important to evaluate hydrocephalus if it is present. Untreated hydrocephalus or a malfunctioning shunt can worsen CM and make it symptomatic by increasing the ICP with subsequent downward herniation of an already caudally displaced brainstem and vermis.

In infants, other signs and symptoms of CM include paraparesis (more commonly in the upper extremities) or quadriparesis, hypotonia, opisthotonos, nystagmus, a weak cry and developmental delay.

In older children, symptoms are insidious, slowly progressive and far less frequently life threatening. An occipital headache and/or craniocervical pain with signs and symptoms of cervical myelopathy may be present, with upperextremity weakness and spasticity being the most common findings. Changes in handwriting skills, agility and self-care may be the first outwardly noticeable signs. Ataxia of both the upper extremities and the trunk is also common. Syringomyelia is associated with CM type II (as in CM type I) and should be looked for in a symptomatic child. Suspended disassociated sensory loss, hand atrophy, scoliosis, back pain and lower motor neuron findings should prompt radiological evaluation of the spine, specifically looking for syringomyelia.

Relationships with Other Disease States and Syndromes

Hydrocephalus

Hydrocephalus is noted in approximately 4–18% of patients with CM type I. It is due to obstruction of the aqueduct or the outflow foramina of the fourth ventricle. These patients all require CSF diversion in addition to surgical posterior fossa decompression. Endoscopic fenestration (ventriculostomy) of the floor of the third ventricle establishes an alternative route for CSF toward the subarachnoid space.

Craniosynostosis

The association between craniosynostosis and CM type I was first documented by [10]. In 1% of cases the abnormal skull base that causes a decreased posterior fossa volume and subsequent tonsillar herniation is due to early fusion of the lambdoid suture. Synostosis can be present alone or as part of a syndrome; it has been reported to occur in 72.7% of patients with Crouzon syndrome, 1.9% of those with Apert syndrome, 50% of those with Pfeiffer syndrome and 100% of those with Kleeblattschädel syndrome. Moreover, CM type I can also be associated with Pfeiffer syndrome type II, Jackson–Weiss syndrome, Seckel syndrome and other rare pathologies.

Endocrinopathy

Growth hormone deficiency is associated with CM type I in 5–20% cases. The tonsillar herniation is due to insufficient development of the posterior fossa.

Acromegaly has also been implicated as an endocrinerelated disorder causing CM type I. In these cases an excessive amount of growth hormone is believed to thicken the bones of the posterior fossa, resulting in CM type I.

Achondroplasia has been observed in patients with CM type I, who have a small, shallow posterior cranial fossa.

Hyperostosis

When hyperostosis affects the posterior fossa, it can often lead to CM type I. Paget's disease of the skull is one example in which excessive bone turnover leads to thickening and deformation of bones.

Cases of CM type I relating to craniometaphyseal dysplasia are also extremely rare. CM type I secondary to osteopetrosis and erythroid hyperplasia has been documented but is considered to be exceptionally rare.

Bone Mineral Deficiency

Patients with familial vitamin D–resistant rickets have a higher incidence of CM type I. This is probably caused by bone overgrowth and calvarial thickening because of low serum phosphate levels, with subsequent overcrowding of the posterior fossa.

Cutaneous Disorders

Cutaneous disorders are frequently reported to occur in conjunction with CM type I. Neurofibromatosis type I has been related to CM in 8% of cases; this association is possibly due to a mesodermal deficiency. Several other cutaneous disorders have been postulated to be associated with CM type I, such as macrocephaly-cutis marmorata telangiectatica congenita, blue rubber bleb nevus syndrome, phacomatosis pigmentovascularis type II, LEOPARD [lentigines. electrocardiographic conduction defects, ocular hypertelorism, pulmonary stenosis, abnormalities of the genitals, retarded growth and deafness] syndrome, acanthosis nigricans, giant congenital melanocytic nevi and Waardenburg syndrome variants.

Spinal Defects

Scoliosis is often associated with CM. A few disorders such as spondyloepiphyseal dysplasia, basilar impression, caudal regression syndrome, Klippel–Feil syndrome, atlantoaxial assimilation and odontoid retroflexion—are also associated with CM type I. Little is known about the pathophysiology of these spinal deformities, but it is believed that difficulty in equilibrating the dynamic CSF pulse pressure induced by the Valsalva manoeuvre is responsible for CM type I presentation.

Lipomeningomyelocele has also been shown to be coupled with CM type I in as many as 3–6% of patients.

Space-Occupying Lesions

This category includes both space-occupying lesions (ranging from brain tumours to haematomas) and CSF leaks.

Rare Cases

Rare cases of Beckwith–Wiedemann syndrome, Costello syndrome and Marfan syndrome have been reportedly associated with CM type I. Additionally, associations with Williams–Beuren syndrome have been found, with morphometric analyses suggesting a diminished posterior fossa leading to CM type I. Finally, associations with disorders such as cystic fibrosis, situs inversus, Pierre Robin syndrome, Fabry disease, Ehlers–Danlos syndromes, Kabuki syndrome, CHERI [CM type I with or without a cleft palate, deviant electrocardiogram or epilepsy, and retarded intelligence with delayed language development] syndrome and cloacal exstrophy have been reported, with no clear pathophysiological mechanism being identified yet.

Preoperative Evaluation

A complete neurological examination is indispensable in the preoperative evaluation. The lower cranial nerves have to be examined because dysfunction of these nerves could possibly necessitate postoperative tracheostomy or gastrostomy. Cardiac and pulmonary function should also be assessed preoperatively.

Thanks to the advent of MRI, which has become the gold standard for diagnosis of syringomyelia and CM, these pathologies are now diagnosed more often. In 1985, Aboulezz et al. used MRI to establish that the tonsil tips, in normal conditions, can extend up to 3 mm below the foramen magnum; in patients affected by CM their extension can exceed 5 mm[11]. Barkovich et al. reported that the limit in normal cases was 5 mm below the foramen magnum; in Chiari cases they described the 'peg-like' aspect of the tonsils and narrowing or complete effacement of the subarachnoid space at the foramen magnum. The cerebellar vermis can occasionally be very low, entering the upper thoracic canal. An important role in our understanding of the pathophysiology of CM type I is played by cine-flow MRI, allowing us to study the dynamics of CSF flow at the posterior fossa and foramen magnum. Moreover, because of these advanced technologies, it has been possible to demonstrate that myelomeningocele is present in all children with CM type II [12].

Another characteristic sign is the ultrasonographic 'banana sign', which is due to the abnormal shape of the cerebellum together with an absent cisterna magna. This sign is well identified on prenatal ultrasonography. Despite the small size of the cerebellum, the posterior fossa appears 'crowded' because of the abnormally small size of the compartment. The tentorium, which is typically hypoplastic, is abnormally low, often placing the torcular herophili just above the foramen magnum—a critical point to keep in mind when a suboccipital craniectomy is being considered or performed.

Approximately two thirds of patients will show a medullary 'kink' dorsal to the upper cervical spinal cord. The presence of a medullary kink has been associated with a more symptomatic clinical course in 75% of patients with this finding below C4. Depending on the presence and severity of this sign, the lower cranial nerves exiting from the medulla can travel in a cephalad direction and the tracts of the spinal cord can double back on themselves for a short distance.

Multiple ventricular anomalies are commonly found in the patient with CM type II. The fourth ventricle, which is typically small and poorly visualized, is frequently displaced into the cervical canal. The aqueduct is similarly small and rarely seen on routine imaging but probably does not contribute significantly to hydrocephalus. The third ventricle is termed the 'shark tooth' deformity because it may appear in a narrow-angled form. The lateral ventricular appearance varies from nearly normal to severely deformed and hydrocephalic. 'Beaking' of the frontal horns is sometimes seen when the frontal horns point inferiorly. This finding is attributed to interdigitations of the cerebral hemispheres in the region.

Surgery

History

In 1932, Van Houweninge Graftdijk was the first person to propose surgical treatment of CM [13]. In a monograph, he described suboccipital decompression and resection of the tonsils. The aim of this procedure was to relieve CSF flow obstruction at the foramen magnum. All of the patients described in this report died as a direct consequence of the surgical procedure or afterward because of postoperative complications. In 1934, Ebenius described a case of basilar impression treated with suboccipital decompression [14]. In 1938, McConnell and Parker reported that five adult patients died after surgical treatment of hydrocephalus. Autopsies showed tonsil descent through the foramen magnum in three of them [15]. In the same year, Aring [16] described the case of a 20-year-old boy who died after surgical treatment for increased ICP and in whom posterior fossa exploration showed tonsil descent through the foramen magnum. In 1940, Gustafson and Oldberg described two patients with an intraoperative diagnosis of CM [17]. At autopsy, one of them was also found to have basilar impression and syringomyelia. With the aim of ensuring order in the nomenclature, Russell suggested in 1949 that the 'Arnold-Chiari' term should be used only for patients affected by spina bifida [18]. Subsequently, Baker [19] described 11 cases as Arnold-Chiari malformations with tonsil descent to the C1 level, and remarked that the normal level of the cerebellar tonsils is when the tips are above a line between the clivus tip and the posterior rim of the foramen magnum on a lateral X-ray. Three cases underwent surgery; the rest of them were described as "mild forms of Arnold-Chiari malformation"

and did not require surgery. The confusion regarding the nomenclature persisted until not long ago; even in 1971 it was suggested that the designation 'Chiari malformation' should be reserved for infants with associated spina bifida and hydrocephalus.

The Midline Posterior Approach

It is possible to use the sitting, ventral or lateral position. A midline incision is performed from the occipital protuberance down to the upper cervical region. The posterior muscles are opened through the midline avascular plane, up to the occipital protuberance and down to the spinous process of C2. The drill and Kerrison rongeurs are used to open the bone. The opening is always limited to the lower part of the occipital bone and the posterior arch of the atlas. Some surgeons perform a Doppler ultrasound study to determine whether to open the dura or not. Occasionally, removal of the bone alone may re-establish normal CSF flow. The dura is then opened in a T- or Y-shaped fashion and retracted with stitches. The tonsils and cisterna magna are now visible to the surgeon. Depending on the extent of the tonsil herniation, the damaged parts may be shrunk with electrocautery. This shrinkage guarantees elimination of the blockage of CSF flow out of the fourth ventricle. To enlarge the dura opening and the space around the tonsils, a patch is necessary. The patch can be made of synthetic material or part of the patient's pericranium (deep scalp tissue from just outside the skull). The dural patch is sealed in a watertight fashion. The suture line is topped with a dural sealant to reduce the risk of CSF leakage [20].

New Prospects

The real nature and origins of CM have still not been entirely elucidated. Lately, new proposals have been suggested for treatment of this malformation. One of the most important and interesting theories was suggested by Goel in 2015 [21]. He proposed a new 'philosophy' in which CM (with or without concomitant basilar invagination) is considered secondary to atlantoaxial instability. He observed that the previously suggested concept that a small posterior cranial fossa volume causes tonsillar herniation no longer seems to be valid. He noted that the cerebellum is more frequently atrophied in such cases; consequently, decompression cannot be a solution to the problem. Goel proposed that CM and syringomyelia are secondary results of subtle and longstanding atlantoaxial instability. The atlantoaxial facet joint is one of the most mobile joints in the body; it is the centre of mobility and also the centre of instability of the atlantoaxial region. His hypothesis was that the tonsils in CM position themselves in a strategic location. He defined them as "nature's airbag", which protects the cord from getting pinched between the bones in the event of instability. Similar beliefs appear to be valid for syringomyelia. The cause of instability in the atlantoaxial region is the joint. Such instability begins in the joint and then manifests in the rest of the constituent bones of the region. This is why the Goel proposed performing C1-C2 posterior instrumented fusion alone, without concomitant posterior fossa decompression. In patients treated only with atlantoaxial fixation, the tonsils migrate back to their original position and the syrinx cavity collapses following the surgical procedure. The Goel believes that screw fixation should not include occipital bone, since the instability is not at the occipitoaxial joint but at the atlantoaxial joint. Fixating a joint that is not unstable damages the biomechanical strength of the construct and limits neck movements. Moreover, opening the atlantoaxial joint and filling bone graft within its margins not only offers stability to the construct but also enlarges the bone surface for bone fusion and fixes the region in itself. This new point of view will require further studies in order to be accepted and validated [21].

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Chiari H. Concerning alterations in the cerebellum resulting from cerebral hydrocephalus (translated by A. Radkowski). Pediatr Neurosci. 1987;13:3–8.
- Chiari H. Uber Veranderungen des Kleinhirns infolge von Hydrocephalie des Grosshims. Dtsch Med Wochenschr. 1891;17:1172–5.
- Chiari H. Uber Veranderungen des Kleinhirns, der Pons und der Medulla oblongata infolge von congenitaler Hydrocephalie des Grosshirns. Denkschr Akad Wiss Wien. 1895;63:71–115.
- Cleland J, et al. Contribution to the study of spina bifida, encephalocele, and anencephalus. J Anat Physiol. 1883;17(Pt 3):257–92.
- Bejjani GK. Definition of the adult Chiari malformation: a brief historical overview. Neurosurg Focus. 2001;11:1–8.
- Arnold J. Myelocyste, Transposition von Gewebskeimen und Sympodie. Beitr Path Anat. 1894;16:1–28.
- Tubbs RS, et al. Analysis of the posterior fossa in children with the Chiari 0 malformation. Neurosurgery. 2001;48:1050–5.
- Penfield W, Cobum DF. Arnold-Chiari malformation and its operative treatment. Arch Neurol Psychiatry. 1938;40:328–36.
- McLone DG, Knepper PA. The cause of Chiari II malformation: a unified theory. Pediatr Neurosci. 1989;15:1–12.

- Saldino RM, Steinbach HL, Epstein CJ. Familial acrocephalosyndactyly (Pfeiffer syndrome). Am J Roentgenol Radium Therapy Nucl Med. 1972;116:609–22.
- Aboulezz AO, Sartor K, Geyer CA, Gado MH. Position of cerebellar tonsils in the normal population and in patients with Chiari malformation: a quantitative approach with MR imaging. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 1985;9(6):1033–6.
- Barkovich AJ, Wippold FJ, Sherman JL, Citrin CM. Significance of cerebellar tonsillar position on MR. Am J Neuroradiol. 1986;7(5):795–9.
- Van Houweninge Graftdijk CJ. Over hydrocephalus. Leiden: Eduard Ijdo; 1932.
- 14. Ebenius B. The roentgen appearance in four cases of basilar impression. Acta Radiol (Stockolm). 1934;15:652–6.
- McConnell AA, Parker HL. A deformity of the hind-brain associated with internal hydrocephalus. Its relation to the Arnold-Chiari malformation. Brain. 1938;61:415–29.

- Aring CD. Cerebellar syndrome in an adult with malformation of the cerebellum and brain stem (Arnold-Chiari deformity), with a note on the occurrence of "torpedoes" in the cerebellum. J Neurol Psychiatry. 1938;1(2):100–9.
- Gustafson WA, Oldberg E. Neurologic significance of platybasia. Arch Neurol Psychiatry. 1940;44:1184–98.
- Russell DS. Observations on the pathology of hydrocephalus. MRC Special Report No. 265. London: Her Majesty's Stationery Office; 1949. 4th impression 1968.
- Baker WC. Infantile hydrocephalus. Some clinical and pathological aspects. II. Pathological aspects. East Afr Med J. 1963;40:544–51.
- Barbaro NM, Wilson CB, Gutin PH, Edwards MSB. Surgical treatment of syringomyelia: favorable results with syringoperitoneal shunting. J Neurosurg. 1984;61(3):531–8.
- Goel A. Is atlantoaxial instability the cause of Chiari malformation? Outcome analysis of 65 patients treated by atlantoaxial fixation. J Neurosurg Spine. 2015;22(2):116–27.

The Role of Arachnoid Veils in Chiari Malformation Associated with Syringomyelia



Pasquale Ciappetta, Francesco Signorelli, and Massimiliano Visocchi

Introduction

Chiari malformation type I (CM-I), or hindbrain herniation syndrome, has traditionally been defined as a dislocation of the cerebellar tonsils 5 mm or more below the foramen magnum on sagittal magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) [1, 2]. An association of this anomaly with syringomyelia is observed in 45–68% of patients [3, 4].

CM-I is a disorder of the para-axial mesoderm, which leads to posterior cranial fossa (PCF) hypoplasia and consequent overcrowding of the hindbrain [5, 6]. However, CM-I can also represent a condition secondary to disorders unrelated to PCF hypoplasia, such as hydrocephalus [7], intracranial tumours [8, 9], cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leaks [10], genetic disorders of connective tissue associated with craniovertebral junction (CVJ) instability and cranial settling [11], tethered cord syndrome [5], craniosynostosis [12], acromegaly [13] and Paget's disease.

All of these possible situations that lead to abnormal CSF dynamics can define a clinical picture characterized by occipital Valsalva-type headaches, lower cranial nerve abnormalities and myelopathy [2, 4, 14].

Posterior fossa decompression has proven to be effective in symptomatic CM-I with syringomyelia, except in the presence of ventral compression, where anterior craniovertebral decompression is mandatory [15].

Several authors who have performed exploration of the fourth ventricle in addition to duraplasty after osseous decompression have noticed intradural membranes described as veils, pouches or webs at the fourth ventricular outlet of the foramen of Magendie, interfering with CSF flow through it [16–22].

F. Signorelli · M. Visocchi

The presence of a fourth ventricular outlet obstruction and consequent craniospinal pressure differentials have been inculpated in the genesis of syringomyelia since the hydrodynamic theory was first devised by Gardner [23]. However, the exact relation between arachnoid veils and syringomyelia is not yet completely understood.

Patients

We studied five consecutive patients harbouring CM-1 malformation without syringomyelia in which intradural exploration showed the presence of arachnoid veils.

Headache was the most relevant symptom in all cases. Two patients had dysphagia, causing aspiration pneumonia in one case, and one patient complained of tinnitus. One patient presented with acute intracranial hypertension and was comatose at admission. In this case the patient, an obese 15-year-old, dramatically improved after surgery and had a good neurological status at 3-year follow-up (Fig. 1).

Discussion

CM-I is a common cause of cervical syringomyelia, which has an incidence of around 8.4 cases per 100,000 people and a mean age of presentation of around 30 years [24]. Nevertheless, the aetiopathogenesis of syringomyelia in the context of CM still represents an enigma. The association of syringomyelia with descent of the cerebellar tonsils, PCF overcrowding and altered CSF dynamics has led to a belief that a CSF obstruction occurs at the foramen magnum or above it [15]. This craniospinal CSF dissociation also depends on obstruction of the fourth ventricular outlet. Anomalies of the median fourth ventricular outlet—the foramen of Magendie—in patients with CM-I and syringomyelia are reported rarely. The arachnoid veils at the

P. Ciappetta (🖂)

University of Bari, Medical School, Section of Neurological Surgery, Bari, Italy

Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy



Fig. 1 Left: Preoperative magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan showing Chiari malformation (CM). Right: Intraoperative picture showing arachnoid veils

foramen of Magendie are considered remnants of the rhombic lip [25]—two areas of focal thickening forming along the lateral edges of the roof plate during the fourth to sixth weeks of gestation, which differentiate into the cerebellar hemispheres as they enlarge and approximate each other on the midline [26].

In eight of 30 patients with CM-I who underwent surgical exploration, Saez et al. [20] noticed that the obex appeared 'veiled over' by a thin membrane which, when pierced, allowed an outflow of CSF. Stovner and Rink [21] reported the presence of 'membranes' in patients with CM-I that might have led to CSF flow obstruction at the outflow foramina from the fourth ventricle to the basal cisterns. Tubbs et al. [25] reported that arachnoid veils caused obstruction of the foramen of Magendie in 12.5% of patients they operated on for CM-I and syringomyelia; once the lesion was punctured, the CSF drained freely from this median aperture. In all patients with arachnoid veils and syringomyelia, radiological resolution of syringomyelia was evident on follow-up studies. The authors described these structures as distinct from the arachnoid scarring that might have occurred around the caudally displaced cerebellar tonsils, because the veils in their series were always midline and wall-like. Menezes et al. [15] noticed a veil over the foramen of Magendie in 11% of patients in their CM-I series. In 1988, Bidzinski [17] published a report on 63 cases of PCF decompression in patients with syringomyelia. He found partial occlusion of the foramen of Magendie and CM-I in 16 patients, atresia of the foramen of Magendie and CM-I in nine and atresia of the foramen of Magendie alone in one.

Realistically, arachnoid veils are a frequent condition. In 1987, Rifkinson-Mann et al. [27] supposed that 6% of foramina of Magendie may be partially or completely obstructed.

Probably the presence of arachnoid veils over the foramen of Magendie is not a sufficient condition per se to determine syringomyelia in otherwise normal patients. On the other hand, Barr [16] noted that 20% of the normal population may have congenital imperforate foramina of Luschka, which are frequently bilaterally symmetrical. Tonsillar ectopia–induced compression obstructs the foramina of Luschka, compressing them against the foramen magnum; the simultaneous presence of arachnoid veils could lead to obstruction of the foramen of Magendie and consequently to abnormal CSF dynamics that are prodromal of syringomyelia.

However, this does not explain why, in the so-called Chiari malformation type 0 (without tonsillar ectopia), syringomyelia improves after PCF decompression [28, 29]. Moreover, patients with Dandy–Walker syndrome, with atresia of the fourth ventricular outlets, rarely present with associated syringomyelia [30].

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Menezes AH, Smoker WRK, Dyste GN. Syringomyelia, Chiari malformations and hydromyelia. In: Youmans JR, editor. Youman's neurological surgery. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 1990. p. 1421–59.
- Milhorat TH, Chou MW, Trinidad EM, Kula RW, Mandell M, Wolpert C, et al. Chiari I malformation redefined: clinical and radiographic findings for 364 symptomatic patients. Neurosurgery. 1999;44:1005–17.
- Menezes AH, Greenlee JDW, Donovan KA. Honored guest presentation: lifetime experiences and where we are going: Chiari I with syringohydromyelia—controversies and development of decision trees. Clin Neurosurg. 2005;52:297–305.
- Greenlee J, Garell PC, Stence N, Menezes AH. Comprehensive approach to Chiari malformation in pediatric patients. Neurosurg Focus. 1999;6:E6. Article 4.
- Milhorat TH, Bolognese OA, Nishikawa M, Francomano CA, McDonnell NB, et al. Association of Chiari malformation type I and tethered cord syndrome: preliminary results of sectioning filum terminale. Surg Neurol. 2009;72:20–35.
- Nishikawa M, Sakamoto H, Hakuba A, Nakanishi N, Inoue Y. Pathogenesis of Chiari malformation: a morphometric study of the posterior cranial fossa. J Neurosurg. 1997;86:40–7.
- Chiari H. Über Veränderungen des Kleinhirns in folge von Hydrocephalie des Grosshirns. Dtsch Med Wochenschr. 1891;17:1172–5.
- Lee M, Rezai AR, Wisoff JH. Acquired Chiari-I malformation and hydromyelia secondary to a giant craniopharyngioma. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1995;22:251–4.
- Morioka T, Shono T, Nishio S, Yoshida K, Hasui K, Fukui M. Acquired Chiari I malformation and syringomyelia associated with bilateral chronic subdural hematoma. Case report. J Neurosurg. 1995;83:556–8.
- Atkinson JL, Weinshenker BG, Miller GM, Piegras DG, Mokri B. Acquired Chiari I malformation secondary to spontaneous spinal cerebrospinal fluid leakage and chronic intracranial hypotension syndrome in seven cases. J Neurosurg. 1998;88:237–42.
- 11. Milhorat TH, Bolognese PA, Nishikawa M, McDonnell NB, Francomano CA. Syndrome of occipitoatlantoaxial hypermobility, cranial settling, and Chiari malformation type I in patients with hereditary disorders of connective tissue. J Neurosurg Spine. 2007;7:601–9.
- Cinalli G, Spennato P, Sainte-Rose C, Arnaud E, Aliberti F, Brunnelle F, et al. Chiari malformation in craniosynostosis. Childs Nerv Syst. 2005;21:889–901.

- Lemar HJ Jr, Perloff JJ, Merenich JA. Symptomatic Chiari-I malformation in a patient with acromegaly. South Med J. 1994;87:284–5.
- Menezes AH. Current opinions for treatment of symptomatic hindbrain herniation or Chiari type I malformation. World Neurosurg. 2011;75:226–8.
- Menezes AH. Craniovertebral junction abnormalities with hindbrain herniation and syringomyelia: regression of syringomyelia after removal of ventral craniovertebral junction compression. J Neurosurg. 2012;116:301–9.
- Barr ML. Observations on the foramen of Magendie in a series of human brains. Brain. 1948;71:281–9.
- Bidzinski J. Pathological findings in suboccipital decompression in 63 patients with syringomyelia. Acta Neurochir. 1988;43:26–8.
- Gardner WJ. Hydrodynamic mechanism of syringomyelia: its relationship to myelocele. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1965;28:247–59.
- Huang YC, Chang CN, Chuang HL, et al. Membranous obstruction of the fourth ventricle outlet. Pediatr Neurosurg. 2001;35:43–7.
- Saez RJ, Onofrio BM, Yanagihara T. Experience with Arnold-Chiari malformation, 1960 to 1970. J Neurosurg. 1976;45:416–22.
- Stovner LJ, Rink P. Syringomyelia in Chiari malformation: relation to extent of cerebellar tissue herniation. Neurosurgery. 1992;31:913–7.
- Tubbs RS, McGirt MJ, Oakes WJ. Surgical experience with 130 pediatric patients with Chiari I malformations. J Neurosurg. 2003;99:291–6.
- Gardner W, Angel J. The mechanism of syringomyelia and its surgical correction. Clin Neurosurg. 1957;6:131–40.
- Rai SK, Rai PS. Volume change theory for syringomyelia: a new perspective. Asian J Neurosurg. 2015;10(4):245–51.
- Tubbs RS, Smyth MD, Wellons JC, Oakes WJ. Arachnoid veils and the Chiari I malformation. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2004;100(5 Suppl):465–7.
- Cotes C, Bonfante E, Lazor J, Jadhav S, Caldas M, Swischuk L, et al. Congenital basis of posterior fossa anomalies. Neuroradiol J. 2015;28(3):238–53.
- Rifkinson-Mann S, Sachdev VP, Huang YP. Congenital fourth ventricular midline outlet obstruction. Report of two cases. J Neurosurg. 1987;67:595–9.
- Iskandar BJ, Hedlund GL, Grabb PA, et al. The resolution of syringohydromyelia without hindbrain herniation after posterior fossa decompression. J Neurosurg. 1998;89:212–6.
- 29. Tubbs RS, Elton S, Grabb P, et al. Analysis of the posterior fossa in children with the Chiari 0 malformation. Neurosurgery. 2001;48:1050–5.
- Hammond CJ, Chitnavis B, Penny CC, et al. Dandy–Walker complex and syringomyelia in an adult: case report and discussion. Neurosurgery. 2002;50:191–4.

Atlantoaxial Fixation for Treatment of Chiari Formation and Syringomyelia with No Craniovertebral Bone Anomaly: Report of an Experience with 57 Cases



Atul Goel, Amol Kaswa, and Abhidha Shah

Abstract *Aim:* In this paper we evaluate the role of atlantoaxial instability in the pathogenesis of Chiari formation type I and the role of atlantoaxial stabilization for treatment of this condition in cases with no obvious bone malformation in the region of the craniovertebral junction.

Materials, Methods and Results: During the period from January 2010 to July 2016, we identified 57 cases of Chiari formation where there was no bone malformation or evidence of craniovertebral junction instability that could be diagnosed on the basis of an abnormal increase in the atlantodental interval on dynamic imaging. Forty-eight of these patients had syringomyelia. The average duration of followup was 42 months. There were 30 males and 27 females in the series. The ages of the patients ranged from 4 to 57 years. The Japanese Orthopaedic Association (JOA), visual analogue scale (VAS) and Goel clinical grading systems were used to assess the patients' clinical status. Atlantoaxial instability was diagnosed on the basis of vertical mobility of the odontoid process on dynamic radiographs, facetal malalignment on imaging or direct bone handling during the surgical procedure. Surgical treatment was achieved using atlantoaxial fixation. Foramen magnum decompression or syrinx manipulation was not done. All patients had immediate postoperative and sustained clinical symptomatic recovery. A reduction in the size of the syrinx was observed in ten patients and regression of tonsillar herniation was observed in 12 of 23 cases in which postoperative magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was possible.

Conclusion: Atlantoaxial instability is the prime factor in the genesis of Chiari formation even when there is no bone abnormality in the craniovertebral junction.

A. Kaswa · A. Shah

Keywords Atlantoaxial instability · Chiari formation · Foramen magnum decompression · Syringomyelia

Introduction

In 2014 we reported our experience with 65 cases of Chiari formation type I treated using atlantoaxial fixation [1]. It was identified that Chiari formation may not be the primary pathology; rather, it may be secondary to atlantoaxial dislocation. Essentially this meant that atlantoaxial stabilization may be the most appropriate treatment for Chiari formation and that foramen magnum decompression is unnecessary. In our earlier publication, there were 46 patients who had basilar invagination and 19 patients who had no bone anomaly at the craniovertebral junction [1]. This paper reports our current experience with 57 cases of Chiari formation with no craniovertebral junction bone anomaly or instability that could be diagnosed on the basis of existing and validated radiological parameters. Apart from our report discussing this pattern of treatment for Chiari formation, there is no other such report in the literature. Considering the potential significance of these observations, our current experience is presented here.

Materials and Methods

During the period from January 2010 to July 2016, 57 cases were identified in which there was Chiari formation in the absence of any bone anomaly in the craniovertebral junction. Five of these patients had previously undergone surgical foramen magnum decompression. This series excluded cases of Chiari formation associated with basilar invagination or bone anomalies and fusions of the region, and cases related to any gross structural brain or spinal cord malformation, hydrocephalus, tumour, infection or any connective tissue disorder.

A. Goel (🖂)

Department of Neurosurgery, KEM Hospital and Seth GS Medical College, Mumbai, India

Lilavati Hospital and Research Centre, Mumbai, India

Department of Neurosurgery, KEM Hospital and Seth GS Medical College, Mumbai, India

Results

There were 30 males and 27 females in this series. The ages of the patients ranged from 4 to 57 years, the average being 34.5 years. Table 1 summarizes the clinical profile of the patients. All patients were evaluated on the basis of the Japanese Orthopaedic Association (JOA), [2] visual analogue scale (VAS) [3] and Goel clinical grading systems [1, 4] both before and after surgery. Pyramidal symptoms were present in 73% of patients. Kinaesthetic sensations were affected in 70.7% of patients and spinothalamic dysfunction was identified in 56% of patients (Table 1). Neck pain was a major presenting symptom in 29.26% of patients. Neuropathic pain in the shoulders and hands was present in 34.1% of patients. The duration of symptoms ranged from 1 month to 21 years (mean 48.48 months). All patients were investigated with dynamic computed tomography (CT) scanning (with the head in flexion, extension and neutral positions) and with magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) both before and after surgery. Vertical atlantoaxial dislocation was identified when the odontoid process moved vertically and rostrally on flexion of the head and returned to a normal position on head extension [5]. Such dislocation was identified in ten patients. Atlantoaxial facetal instability was diagnosed according to our recently described classification [6]. For this evaluation, radiological examinations were done with MRI or CT sagittal images passing through the atlantoaxial facets with the head in a neutral position. Type 1 atlantoaxial facetal instability was diagnosed when the facet of the atlas was dislocated anterior to the facet of the axis. Type 2 atlantoaxial facetal instability was diagnosed when the facet of the atlas was dislocated posterior to the facet of the axis. In type 3 atlantoaxial facetal instability, the facets of the atlas and axis were in alignment and atlantoaxial instability was diagnosed only during the operation by being observed during direct manual manipulation of the bones. Type 2 or 3 atlantoaxial instability was labelled as axial or central atlantoaxial instability, as alteration of the atlantodental interval was not a constant or primary feature (as is observed in type 1 atlantoaxial instability). In 48 patients there was syringomyelia. In nine patients there was external syringomyelia [7], meaning that an excessive amount of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) was present in the extramedullary space. In 20 cases, both internal and external syringes were present. In 15 cases there was external syringobulbia, suggesting there was an excessive amount of CSF surrounding the brainstem and cerebellum [7].

Table 1 Presenting comp	olaints
---------------------------------	---------

Presenting complaints	Number of patients
Pyramidal involvement	40
Kinesthetic involvement	41
Spinothalamic involvement	32
Neck pain	17

All patients underwent atlantoaxial fixation using the techniques described in 1994 and 2004 [8–10]. The aim of surgery in all cases was atlantoaxial stabilization leading to arthrodesis. A bone graft was harvested from the iliac crest, packed into the atlantoaxial joint cavity and placed in the midline, over the (appropriately prepared) host bone of the arch of the atlas and lamina and the spinous process of the axis. Stainless steel plates with monoaxial non-locking-type screws were used in the initial part of the series. After June 2013, the plates and screws used for fixation were made of MRI-compatible titanium material. Foramen magnum decompression was not done in any case.

Clinical improvement was observed in the immediate postoperative phase in all patients. The progress of improvement was sustained at follow-up. The follow-up period ranged from 6 to 78 months, the average being 42 months. All postoperative assessments were performed using clinical and radiological information obtained at least 6 months after surgical treatment. Dynamic plain radiography and CT scanning were used to confirm postoperative arthrodesis. In particular, fusion of the facets and the posterior elements of the atlantoaxial bone were observed. Despite the presence of artefacts related to the use of stainless steel and titanium metal implants, the CT image quality was satisfactory for demonstration of alignment and bone fusion. Fusion was considered to be successful when the implant demonstrated maintenance of fixation on dynamic radiography and bone fusion was observed in the facets. As titanium implants were used only after June 2013, it was impossible to use MRI to evaluate the long-term status of syringomyelia and Chiari formation. However, definite reductions in the dimensions of the syrinx and reductions in tonsillar herniation were observed within a period ranging from 2 days to 12 months after surgery in 12 of 23 cases in which postoperative MRI was available for evaluation (Figs. 1 and 2). No patient's clinical symptoms worsened after initial recovery. Tables 2, 3 and 4 depict the extent of clinical recovery at a minimum follow-up of 6 months. Five patients with preoperative symptoms related to lower cranial nerve weakness had symptomatic improvement following surgery. Although voice volume and quality were not assessed or evaluated during the preoperative examination, at least three patients reported improvements in their voice volume and quality at follow-up. No patient suffered delayed neurological worsening sufficient to warrant foramen magnum decompressive surgery or needed any kind of reoperation. No patient required re-exploration for failure of implant fixation.

Discussion

Chiari formation and syringomyelia are frequently associated with bone anomalies at the craniovertebral junction [11, 12]. The issue up for discussion is whether Chiari formation



Fig. 1 Images of a 45-year-old male patient. (**a**) T2-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showing Chiari formation and syringomyelia. Note the atrophic cerebellum. (**b**) Mid-sagittal computed tomography (CT) scan showing no evidence of any alteration in the atlantodental interval. (**c**) Sagittal CT scan with the cut passing through the facets.

There is type 2 atlantoaxial facetal instability. (d) Postoperative midsagittal CT scan. (e) Postoperative CT scan showing the implant and fixation. (f) Postoperative MRI showing a reduction in the size of the syrinx and superior regression of the tonsils



Fig. 1 (continued)

differs in its pathogenesis, and requires different surgical treatment, according to the presence or absence of associated bone anomalies at the craniovertebral junction [13, 14]. We hypothesized that Chiari formation is always secondary to atlantoaxial instability irrespective of whether bone anomalies related to basilar invagination are associated with it [1]. The current report re-emphasizes this concept.

Hans Chiari first identified Chiari formation as a 'pathological' entity in 1887 [15]. Since then there has been considerable speculation regarding its pathogenesis and treatment [16–18]. Foramen magnum decompression has been the most widely accepted method of treatment [8]. When Chiari formation is associated with syringomyelia, tonsillar resection, arachnoid dissection, plugging of the obex, introduction of a shunt into the central spinal canal through the region of the obex, syringoperitoneal/subarachnoid shunts and a host of other treatment forms have been identified and successfully deployed [19-23]. Foramen magnum decompression surgery has ranged from bone decompression to dural decompression, introduction of pericranial grafts and fascia lata grafts for dural reconstruction [19, 20, 22–24], introduction of reverse foramen magnum bone grafts [25] and metal implants, and several such alternatives. In our earlier report, it was commented that there are as many different variations of the surgical procedure for foramen magnum decompression as there are surgeons performing this procedure [1, 23]. Every surgeon is convinced that the methods of foramen magnum decompression used by him or her are optimal and produce the best results.

In 1998 it was identified that when Chiari formation was associated with basilar invagination, the posterior fossa volume was relatively small; accordingly, foramen magnum decompression was the recommended mode of treatment [21]. For the first time in the literature, it was suggested that bone decompression was sufficient and that there was no need to perform dural decompression for Chiari formation, even when there was associated syringomyelia [21]. Some authors have identified that Chiari formation associated with basilar invagination is pathogenetically different from the scenario in which there is no craniovertebral region bone anomaly [26]. Our observations in 2014 suggested that Chiari formation with or without bone abnormalities at the craniovertebral junction-is secondary to atlantoaxial instability; accordingly, we treated this entity with atlantoaxial stabilization alone [1].

The conventional mode of identification of atlantoaxial instability has been alteration of the atlantodental interval on dynamic imaging. It was identified that atlantoaxial instability can be vertical [5], horizontal–anteroposterior or lateral [27], and central or axial in nature [6]. Identification of such forms of atlantoaxial instability has added a new dimension to our understanding of the subject. On evaluation of the dynamic images, we identified ten cases that had vertical mobile and reducible atlantoaxial dislocation [5]. In all



Fig. 2 Images of a 17-year-old male patient. (a) T2-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showing Chiari formation and syringomyelia. (b) T1-weighted MRI showing Chiari formation and the syrinx. (c) Mid-sagittal computed tomography (CT) scan with the head in flexion, showing no evidence of any alteration in the atlantodental interval. (d) Sagittal CT scan with the cut passing through the facets. There is type 2 atlantoaxial facetal instability. (e) Postoperative mid-sagittal CT scan. (f) Postoperative CT scan showing the implant and fixation. (g) Immediate postoperative (after 18 h of surgery) T1-weighted MRI showing a reduction in the size of the syrinx. (h) Immediate postoperative T2-weighted MRI showing a reduction in the size of the syrinx. (i) Delayed postoperative T1-weighted MRI (12 months after surgery) showing a reduction in the size of the syrinx and superior regression of the tonsils. (j) Delayed postoperative T2-weighted MRI showing a reduction in the size of the syrinx and superior regression of the tonsils.



Fig. 2 (continued)



Fig. 2 (continued)

Table 2 Table showing the pre-operative and post-operative clinical assessment as per JOA scoring system

	Pre-operative	Post-operative
JOA score	(No. of patients)	(No. of patients)
<7	9	2
8–12	12	6
13–15	21	19
16–17	15	30

Table 3 Table showing pre-operative and post-operative clinical assessment as per VAS scoring system

VAS score	Pre-operative	Post-operative
Neck pain	3–7	0-1

cases, the vertical dislocation was subtle but definite. Identification of such vertical dislocation seems to be an important additional parameter suggesting that there is instability of the region and incompetence of the atlantoaxial joints. Analysis of facetal malalignment on sagittal imaging with the head in a neutral position provides additional information about the stability of the atlantoaxial joint. Although some millimetres of facetal malalignment can be considered to be within the spectrum of normal physiological limits, the association of this malalignment with other abnormalities in the region indicates the presence of instability. Apart from basilar invagination and Chiari formation, central or axial

		Number of patients (pre-	Number of patients (post-	L = lower cranial nerve
Grade	Description	operative)	operative)	deficits
Grade 1	Independent and normally functioning	17	30	
Grade 2	Walks on own but needs support/help to carry out routine household activities	19	22	1
Grade 3	Walks with minimal support and requires help to carry out household activities	12	3	1
Grade 4	Walks with heavy support and unable to carry out household activities	7	2	2
Grade 5	Unable to walk and dependent for all activities	2	_	1

Table 4 Distribution as per clinical grading system
atlantoaxial instability has been associated with chronic or long-standing spinal diseases such as cervical spondylosis, ossified posterior longitudinal ligament and Hirayama disease [28–31].

Earlier it was speculated that a short neck/torticollis, Klippel-Feil abnormalities, assimilation of the atlas, platybasia and several other musculoskeletal abnormalities were unrelated to embryonic dysgenesis but were secondary and naturally protective events in situations of long-standing or chronic atlantoaxial instability [32]. Altantoaxial stabilization can initiate immediate postoperative reversal of musculoskeletal changes. It was therefore decided that the term 'craniovertebral junction alterations' is preferable to the term 'craniovertebral junction anomalies' [1, 4]. As the various issues that are involved became more clarified, it was realised that just as musculoskeletal alterations are external manifestations, Chiari formation and syringomyelia can be internal and neural manifestations of atlantoaxial instability. Chiari formation is a protective 'airbag' that is placed in position in situations with potential or manifest atlantoaxial instability. It provides a natural cushion-like support for neural structures [33]. Along similar lines, it was speculated that syringomyelia is a protective self-neural alteration that ultimately works in the interests of neural structures and of the human body. Accordingly, it was decided that the term 'Chiari formation' is preferable to the term 'Chiari malformation', considering its functional role and the nature of its pathogenesis [34]. Subtle and longstanding atlantoaxial instability and minimal or no direct neural compression by the odontoid process allow both internal and external reparative processes to gradually develop, progress and mature.

In the patients in our series, anteroposterior measurements of the cervical spinal canal dimensions at the mid-C6 vertebral body level suggested that the spinal canal had increased in girth by 10%. Forty-eight patients had syringomyelia. In nine patients there was an external syrinx [7]. In 20 patients there were both internal and external syringes. Measurement of the total spinal cord girth revealed that the neural girth was reduced by 60% although the spinal canal dimension had increased by 10% (Table 5). The extra space thus created was filled with CSF, irrespective of whether it was present inside, out-

Table 5 Radiological parameters

Radiological parameter	Present cohort	Normal
Cervical spinal canal dimension at mid-C6 vertebral body level	11–20 mm (mean 15 mm)	11–14 mm (mean 12.78 mm)
Cervical cord girth at mid-C6 vertebral body level	2–7.3 mm (mean 4.4 mm)	6.9–9.4 mm (mean 10.9 mm)

side, or both inside and outside the spinal cord. Evaluation of the posterior fossa content revealed that an excessive amount of CSF was present around the brainstem and cerebellum—an entity identified earlier as external syringobulbia [7]. The fourth ventricle was normal in its shape but larger in its anteroposterior dimensions. These spinal cord and cerebellar features suggested there was no evidence that the posterior fossa contents were tightly or compactly placed. The foramen magnum canal dimension was increased, suggesting that the herniated cerebellar tonsil progressively increased the foramen magnum size to facilitate its positioning.

The primary aims of surgery in all cases were to achieve firm stabilization of the atlantoaxial joint and segmental arthrodesis. It was observed that cases in which direct atlantoaxial fixation was performed in the presence of Chiari formation and syringomyelia had marked venous sinusoidal pooling in the lateral mass gutters, making dissection of the region difficult and fraught with the risk of excessive blood loss. The exact cause of venous pooling in the region was unclear, but chronic and long-standing alterations in the pressure dynamics of the region probably resulted in venous congestion. Moreover, the presence of a lax dura, an atrophic cord and an increase in potential extradural space in the region of the craniovertebral junction increased the scope of venous pooling in the region.

Our observations that 100% of patients recovered from their symptoms to a considerable extent following the surgical procedure of atlantoaxial stabilization alone and that these improvements in neurological symptoms were evident in the immediate postoperative period suggest that atlantoaxial instability plays a role in the pathogenesis of Chiari formation and syringomyelia. Moreover, these improvements in neurological symptoms were observed in patients who had previously undergone failed foramen magnum decompression surgery. Direct observation of the joint status was possible during surgery when the lateral mass plate and screw fixation technique was applied [8-10]. Instability of the atlantoaxial joint was invariably identified during surgery. The primary aims of surgery in all cases were to achieve firm stabilization of the atlantoaxial joint and segmental arthrodesis. During the follow-up period, all patients had firm arthrodesis of the region and there were no instances of implant failure or infection. No foramen decompression was done in any case, although such treatment is currently considered to be the gold standard in the treatment of this entity. From this experience, it is clear that foramen magnum decompression surgery may be unnecessary or even counterproductive. Although the follow-up period in our series was relatively short, our positive results indicate that treatment for Chiari formation should be directed toward atlantoaxial stabilization. The fact that no patient's clinical symptoms worsened after initial improvement during the period of follow-up provides further evidence of the validity of this concept.

This study reiterates our hypothesis that Chiari formation may be nature's own protective mechanism, providing a protective soft cushion, or airbag, to guard the vital spinal cord against potential or manifest compression by the odontoid process and pinching between bones [33]. It appears that Chiari formation is unrelated to reduced posterior cranial fossa volume and is not attributable to a primary or relative increase in cerebellar mass. The presence of syringomyelia, external syringomyelia and external syringobulbia suggest that the neural structures float within an excessive amount of CSF in the spinal canal and posterior fossa. As discussed earlier, the temporary neurological improvement that has been uniformly observed by several authors following foramen magnum decompression could be akin to the effects of deflating a full airbag, and, in the long term, such a form of surgery could be counterproductive. Syringomyelia may be a response of the body that balances the pressures within the neural structures in the interests of the patient [35, 36]. The presence of Chiari formation and syringomyelia suggests chronicity of the process and subtlety of atlantoaxial dislocation. The observations that syringomyelia was reduced and that the tonsils regressed from their herniated position in 52% of the patients in whom MRI was possible-without any form or bone manipulation or dural opening-validate this concept. To consolidate these observations, longer follow-up and multi-institutional experience are mandatory.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Goel A. Chiari malformation—is atlantoaxial instability the cause? Outcome analysis of 65 patients with Chiari malformation treated by atlantoaxial fixation. J Neurosurg Spine. 2015;22(2):116–27.
- Fujiwara A, Kobayashi N, Saiki K, Kitagawa T, Tamai K, Saotome K. Association of the Japanese Orthopaedic Association score with the Oswestry Disability Index, Roland–Morris Disability Questionnaire, and Short-Form 36. Spine. 2003;28:1601–7.
- 3. Huskisson EC. Measurement of pain. J Rheumatol. 1982;9:768-9.
- Goel A. Occiput, C1 and C2 instrumentation. In: Winn RH, editor. Youmans and Winn neurological surgery. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2017. p. 2643–55.
- Goel A, Shah A, Rajan S. Vertical and mobile atlanto-axial dislocation. Clinical article. J Neurosurg Spine. 2009;11(1):9–14.
- Goel A. Goel's classification of atlantoaxial "facetal" dislocation. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2014;5(1):3–8.
- Goel A, Nadkarni T, Shah A, Sathe P, Patil M. Radiological evaluation of basilar invagination without obvious atlantoaxial instability

(group B basilar invagination): an analysis based on a study of 75 patients. World Neurosurg. 2016;95:375–82.

- Goel A. Treatment of basilar invagination by atlantoaxial joint distraction and direct lateral mass fixation. J Neurosurg Spine. 2004;1(3):281–6.
- Goel A, Desai K, Muzumdar D. Atlantoaxial fixation using plate and screw method: a report of 160 treated patients. Neurosurgery. 2002;51:1351–7.
- Goel A, Laheri VK. Plate and screw fixation for atlanto-axial dislocation (technical report). Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1994;129: 47–53.
- Menezes AH. Primary craniovertebral anomalies and hindbrain herniation syndrome (Chiari I): database analysis. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1995;23:260–9.
- Von Torklus D, Gehle W. The upper cervical spine: regional anatomy, pathology, and traumatology. A systematic radiological atlas and textbook. New York: Grune & Stratton; 1972. p. 1–98.
- Brockmeyer DL. The complex Chiari: issues and management strategies. Neurol Sci. 2011;32(Suppl 3):S345–7.
- Fenoy AJ, Menezes AH, Fenoy KA. Craniocervical junction fusions in patients with hindbrain herniation and syringohydromyelia. J Neurosurg Spine. 2008;9:1–9.
- Chiari H. Ueber Verderbungen des Kleinhirns infolge von Hydrocephalie des Grossihirns. Dwochenschr. 1891;17:1172–5.
- Milhorat TH, Chou MW, Trinidad EM, Kula RW, Mandell M, Wolpert C. Chiari I malformation redefined: clinical and radiographic findings for 364 symptomatic patients. Neurosurgery. 1999;44:1005–17.
- Milhorat TH, Nishikawa M, Kula RW, Dlugacz YD. Mechanisms of cerebellar tonsil herniation in patients with Chiari malformations as guide to clinical management. Acta Neurochir. 2010;152:1117–27.
- Smith BW, Strahle J, Bapuraj JR, Muraszko KM, Garton HJL, Maher CO. Distribution of cerebellar tonsil position: implications for understanding Chiari malformation. J Neurosurg. 2013;119:812–9.
- 19. Batzdorf U, McArthur DL, Bentson JR. Surgical treatment of Chiari malformation with and without syringomyelia: experience with 177 adult patients. J Neurosurg. 2013;118:232–42.
- da Silva JA, dos Santos AA Jr, Melo LR, de Araujo AF, Regueira GP. Posterior fossa decompression with tonsillectomy in 104 cases of basilar impression, Chiari malformation and/or syringomyelia. Arq Neuropsiquiatr. 2011;69(5):817–23.
- Goel A, Bhatjiwale M, Desai K. Basilar invagination: a study based on 190 surgically treated cases. J Neurosurg. 1998;88:962–8.
- Klekamp J. Surgical treatment of Chiari I malformation—analysis of Intraoperative findings, complications and outcome for 371 foramen magnum decompressions. Neurosurgery. 2012;71(2): 365–80.
- 23. Sakushima K, Hida K, Yabe I, Tsuboi S, Uehara R, Sasaki H. Different surgical treatment techniques used by neurosurgeons and orthopedists for syringomyelia caused by Chiari malformation in Japan. J Neurosurg Spine. 2013;18:588–92.
- Bekelis K, Duhaime AC, Missios MD, Belden C, Simmons N. Placement of occipital condyle screws for occipitocervical fixation in a pediatric patient with occipitocervical instability after decompression for Chiari malformation. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2010;6:171–6.
- Goel A, Achawal S. Surgical treatment for Arnold Chiari malformation associated with atlantoaxial dislocation. Br J Neurosurg. 1995;9:67–72.
- Klekamp J. Chiari I malformation with and without basilar invagination: a comparative study. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38(4):E12.
- Goel A, Shah A. Lateral atlantoaxial facetal dislocation in craniovertebral region tuberculosis: report of a case and analysis of an alternative treatment. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2010;152(4): 709–12.

- Goel A. Atlantoaxial instability associated with single or multilevel cervical spondylotic myelopathy. J Craniovertbr Junction Spine. 2015;6(4):141–3.
- Goel A. Posterior atlantoaxial 'facetal' instability associated with cervical spondylotic disease. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2015;6(2):51–5.
- Goel A. Is atlantoaxial instability the cause of "high" cervical ossified posterior longitudinal ligament? Analysis on the basis of surgical treatment of seven patients. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2016;7(1):20–5.
- Goel A, Dhar A, Shah A. Multilevel spinal stabilization as a treatment for Hirayama disease: report of an experience with 5 cases. World Neurosurg. 2017;99:186–91.
- Goel A, Shah A. Reversal of longstanding musculoskeletal changes in basilar invagination after surgical decompression and stabilization. J Neurosurg Spine. 2009;10(3):220–7.
- Goel A. Is Chiari malformation nature's protective "air-bag"? Is its presence diagnostic of atlantoaxial instability? J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2014;5(3):107–9.
- 34. Goel A. Is Chiari a malformation or a formation? J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2017;8(1):1–2.
- Goel A. Is syringomyelia pathology or a natural protective phenomenon? J Postgrad Med. 2001;47:87–8.
- Goel A, Desai KI. Surgery for syringomyelia: an analysis based on 163 surgical cases. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2000;142:293–302.

The Relationship Between Basilar Invagination and Chiari Malformation Type I: A Narrative Review



Chenlong Liao, Massimiliano Visocchi, Wenchuan Zhang, Shiting Li, Min Yang, Wenxiang Zhong, and Pengfei Liu

Abstract Basilar invagination (BI) and Chiari malformation type I CM-I) are the most common adult craniovertebral junction malformations, and they are frequently associated with each other and present synchronously. The relationship between BI and CM-I has remained incompletely understood, and the choice of surgical strategy has remained controversial. This brief review focuses on the different aspects of BI and CM-I, and further discusses the relationship between these two concomitant pathologies on the basis of the concepts proposed over the last three decades.

Keywords Basilar invagination · Chiari I malformation Craniovertebral junction · Posterior cranial fossa

Introduction

Basilar invagination (BI) and Chiari malformation (CM) type I (CM-I) are the most common adult craniovertebral junction (CVJ) malformations [1]. These two pathologies are frequently associated with each other and present synchronously. According to craniometric studies, it seems that both of these pathologies belong to a spectrum of malformations whose common features include underdevelopment of the occipital bone and consequent neural and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) flow compression [2]. However, each of these two malformations can present in isolation and be attributed to different aetiological factors and causal mechanisms [3–5]. The relationship between BI and CM-I has remained incom-

pletely understood, thus hindering the development of therapeutic strategies.

With the purpose of better understanding these two malformations, this paper first focuses on different aspects of both BI and CM-I, and then discusses the relationship between these two concomitant pathologies on the basis of the concepts proposed over the last three decades.

Basilar Invagination

Definition and Aetiology

Basilar invagination is defined as a developmental anomaly of the CVJ in which the odontoid process abnormally prolapses upward and backward into the foramen magnum. However, several other terms such as 'basilar impression', 'platybasia' and 'cranial settling' have been interchangeably used in the literature to describe BI, causing terminological confusion over the years. In contrast to primary BI, the term 'basilar impression' refers to acquired or secondary BI, which may result from softening of the bone around the skull base. 'Platybasia' is an anthropological term describing an abnormally obtuse (>140°) angle between the anterior skull base and the clivus [6]. The term 'cranial settling' is typically used when BI is associated with rheumatoid arthritis.

Many pathologies may lead to development of BI. The reported aetiological factors include basioccipital/clivus hypoplasia, occipital condyle hypoplasia, atlas hypoplasia, an incomplete ring of C1 with spreading of the lateral masses, achondroplasia and atlanto-occipital assimilation (occipitalization of the atlas) [4, 5, 7, 8].

C. Liao (⊠) · W. Zhang (⊠) · S. Li · M. Yang · W. Zhong · P. Liu Department of Neurosurgery, Xinhua Hospital, Affiliated to Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, P. R. China

M. Visocchi Department of Neurosurgery, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

Clinical Presentations

Craniometric Measurement and Diagnosis

The clinical presentations of BI are related to compression of neural and vascular structures around the CVJ area, as well as obstruction of CSF circulation. The symptoms and signs are diverse because of the multitude of aetiological factors in BI and the wide range of structures involved, including signs of medullary dysfunction such as nystagmus, dysphagia, ataxia, dysmetria and cranial nerve palsy; and signs of myelopathy such as motor dysfunction (weakness, restricted neck movements), sensory dysfunction (neck pain, paraesthesia) and vegetative dysfunction (bowel and bladder disturbance). The clinical presentation varies depending on the underlying or accompanying pathological process [9]. A series of craniometric measurements were employed to detect and diagnose BI in the previous literature. However, only a minor part of them are routinely used in clinical work, since most craniometric measurements lack adequate specificity and sensitivity [10]. There are three reference lines widely used in clinical work: the Chamberlain line, the McGregor line and the McRae line [11]. These three lines have been routinely adopted because of their high specificity, sensitivity and reproducibility. They are all viewed on lateral radiographs of the skull (Fig. 1).

The Chamberlain line extends from the posterior portion of the hard palate to the opisthion, which is the midpoint of



Fig. 1 Demonstration of three reference lines for measurement of basilar invagination (BI). (a) The Chamberlain line on a sagittal computed tomography (CT) scan [*orange*]. (b) The Chamberlain line on T2 magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) [*orange*]. (c) The McGregor line on a

sagittal CT scan [*green*]. (d) The McGregor line on T2 MRI [*green*]. (e) The McRae line on a sagittal CT scan [*yellow*]. (f) The McRae line on T2 MRI [*yellow*]

the posterior margin of the foramen magnum (Fig. 1a, b) [6]. The tip of the odontoid process typically lies below or on the Chamberlain line. It is considered normal for the odontoid process to extend no more than 2.5 mm above this line, although the range varies, depending on the literature source [6, 12-14]. Generally, BI is considered present if the extension is greater than 5 mm [10].

Since precise identification of the opisthion on lateral radiographs is always difficult, McGregor proposed a modification of the Chamberlain line—the McGregor line—which extends from the posterior margin of the hard palate to the lowest point of the occipital squamosal surface (Fig. 1c, d) [12]. This line is about 2 mm inferior to the Chamberlain line, and thus it is considered abnormal when the tip of the odontoid process extends more than 7 mm above the line [12, 14].

The McRae line extends from the anterior (basion) to the posterior (opisthion) rim of the foramen magnum and is basically the anteroposterior length of the foramen magnum (Fig. 1d, e) [15]. The tip of the odontoid process should normally lie below this line. Furthermore, this line can also be used to define narrowing of the foramen magnum when the anteroposterior length is less than 19 mm in the sagittal plane [15].

While computed tomography (CT) is ideal for evaluation of osseous anatomy, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) provides better assessment of soft tissue [8, 10]. In addition to conventional imaging—which includes plain radiography, CT and MRI—the development of dynamic imaging expands the ability to detect associated CVJ instability, functional stenosis of the spinal canal and cord compression [16–19].

Treatment Strategy

Surgical treatment for BI should be considered when neurological disturbance is present or foreseen. A large proportion of patients with BI present with neurological deficits resulting from compression of the cervicomedullary junction or the upper cervical cord [20–22]. The compression can be caused by a prolapsing dens or CVJ instability. Therefore, the definitive treatment for BI includes decompression and stabilization. Otherwise, in some patients without neurological symptoms where BI is an incidental finding, the necessity of surgical treatment should be carefully evaluated, since BI may present as a progressive deterioration and can result in neurological impairment and even sudden death if left untreated [23].

Thus, preoperative evaluation is of great importance. Aside from history taking and physical examination, nutritional status, dental hygiene and pulmonary status should be assessed [24]. Multimodal preoperative imaging of the CVJ, including CT and MRI (and even dynamic imaging), is an integral part of surgical planning [8, 10, 25]. In addition to searching for signs and sites of compression, preoperative assessment mainly focuses on the reducibility of BI, which is the critical factor in selection of the most suitable surgical approach.

A trial of axial cervical traction is usually performed in patients with BI to assess the degree to which the odontoid process might be reduced. It is now generally accepted that a posterior surgical approach alone, including decompression and fusion, can be adapted if the BI is reducible, while anterior decompression combined with posterior stabilization should be performed if the BI is not reducible [4, 23, 25–27].

Chiari Malformation Type I

Definition and Aetiology

Chiari malformation type I is characterized by downward herniation of the cerebellar tonsils and is defined as displacement of the cerebellar tonsils by more than 5 mm below the foramen magnum [28]. However, this is merely a radiographic definition, and the distances reported have varied from 3 mm to 5 mm, depending on the source [29, 30]. It has thus been suggested that the radiographic definition is limited to a terminological criterion and is not necessarily associated with clinical symptoms [31]. Therefore, cerebellar tonsil herniation of less than 5 mm or less than 3 mm does not exclude the diagnosis of CM-I.

In essence, CM-I is a disorder of the para-axial mesoderm, which is characterized by underdevelopment of the posterior cranial fossa (PCF) and overcrowding of the normally developed hindbrain [1, 32]. However, it can be associated with other miscellaneous conditions such as craniosynostosis [33], CSF leakage [34], Paget's disease [35] and intracranial mass lesions [36, 37]. Furthermore, five distinct causal mechanisms of cerebellar tonsil herniation-(1) cranial constriction, (2) cranial settling, (3) spinal cord tethering, (4) intracranial hypertension and (5) intraspinal hypotension-which have been reported to have diagnosis and therapeutic implications, were identified in a previous study [3]. Therefore, CM-I is a disorder of multiple aetiological factors, including genetic predisposition, congenital anomalies and acquisition through trauma or illness, and it should be better defined generically.

Clinical Presentations

Only a small proportion of patients with CM-I are symptomatic [38]. The clinical presentation may be attributed to the original disorders as well as to the secondary pathological changes such as syringomyelia, scoliosis and BI. Taking syringomyelia as an example, it has been reported that patients with syringomyelia present at a slightly younger age and receive earlier diagnoses than patients without syringomyelia [31]. According to a large-scale patient-reported CM-I symptom study, pain is the most common symptom, and headache is the most frequently implicated type of pain [39]. Headache is also an indication for surgical treatment of CM-I in the absence of syringomyelia [38]. Other frequent clinical presentations of CM-I consist of a wide range of non-specific symptoms such as dizziness, sleeping disorder, neck pain, exhaustion and weakness [40].

Radiological Measurement and Diagnosis

According to the definition of CM-I, it is diagnosed radiologically as herniation of the cerebellar tonsils below the plane of the foramen magnum. However, the precise degree of herniation is not well established. It was suggested that in doubtful cases, cardiac-gated cine MRI is valuable in demonstrating a CSF flow obstruction as an indicator of clinically relevant herniation [41–43]. Furthermore, as the feature of CM-I, the ectopic tonsil position may result from a wide range of anatomical anomalies—such as craniosynostosis and an underdeveloped PCF—around the CVJ, leading to overcrowding of the PCF [44]. Therefore, analysis of the PCF is critical for better understanding of the pathogenesis and development of CM-I. Investigation of the PCF includes morphological and volumetric analyses, performed with the application of MRI.

Morphological Analysis of the Posterior Cranial Fossa

Measurements are performed on midline sagittal images, and four parameters are used to characterized the morphology of the PCF: (1) the length of the supraocciput, measured from the centre of the internal occipital protuberance to the opisthion; (2) the length of the clivus, measured from the tip of the dorsum sellae to the basion; (3) the slope of the tentorium, measured by calculation of the angle formed by the tentorium and a line drawn between the internal occipital protuberance and the opisthion; and (4) the extent of the cerebellar herniation, measured from the tips of the tonsils to a line drawn between the basion and the opisthion (Fig. 2) [31].



Fig. 2 Measurement of posterior cranial fossa (PCF) morphology on T1 sagittal magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). The length of the supraocciput (IO) is measured by the distance from the centre of the internal occipital protuberance (I) to the opisthion (O). The length of the clivus (DB) is measured by the distance from the top of the dorsum sellae (D) to the basion (B). The slope of the tentorium (T) is calculated from the angle (a) formed by the supraocciput and tentorium. The level of the foramen magnum is defined by a line drawn from the basion (B) to the opisthion (O)

Volumetric Analysis of the Posterior Cranial Fossa

The posterior cranial fossa is defined as a space bounded by a series of osseous anatomical structures, including the clivus, occipital bone, tentorium and bilateral petrous ridges. Volumetric measurement is performed by the Cavalieri method. A clear grid with regularly spaced dots (4 mm apart) is placed on each equally spaced consecutive axial image of the posterior fossa. The section thickness is recorded as T, while the number of points that fall on the posterior fossa for each slice is recorded as P_i . Then the distances between the dots on the grid are correlated with the actual distance on the MRI by comparison with the centimetre scale on the image. The area (A_p) between points on the grid is calculated by squaring the actual anatomical distance between each set of two adjacent dots. The volume of the PCF (V) is calculated with the use of the following equation: $V = A_p * \sum P_i * T$. Apart from a reduced volume of the PCF, additional anomalies may involve the joint and discs of the CVJ. Klippel–Feil syndrome, atlanto-occipital assimilation and BI are features to look for in preoperative imaging, since these may indicate CVJ instability [24, 42, 45, 46]. Thus, routine employment of preoperative functional X-rays of the cervical spine in flexion and extension is recommended.

Treatment Strategy

The primary goals of surgery for CM-I include removing the compression from the brainstem and re-establishing CSF circulation. In the patient with syringomyelia, the goal is to prevent any additional neurological deficit and to decrease the size of the syrinx. However, there is no general consensus on the indication for the surgery. In a survey of American Society of Pediatric Neurosurgeons, Rocque et al. proposed that the presence of a syrinx seems to be a reasonable justification for operation [47]; other researchers have suggested that the decision regarding surgery should depend on the likelihood that a fixed neurological deficit as a consequence of the syrinx is more probable than spontaneous syrinx resolution, which has been observed, and the range of time necessary for a CM-Irelated syrinx to resolve is yet to be explored [38, 48]. Another opinion from the perspective of symptomatology, held by Klekamp, is that asymptomatic patients have not been considered for surgery whether there was any sign of a syrinx or not, since he stated that he had not encountered an asymptomatic patient with a progressive syrinx [49].

With regard to the surgical strategy, although foramen magnum decompression is widely accepted as the treatment of choice for CM-I, controversies remain as to how this operation should be performed [50, 51]. The ongoing debate focuses on the risk and benefit of posterior fossa decompression alone versus posterior fossa decompression with duraplasty. According to a meta-analysis performed by Durham et al., posterior fossa decompression alone was associated with a significantly higher rate of reoperation (12.6% versus 2.1%) but a lower rate of CSF-related complications (1.8% versus 18.5%) than posterior fossa decompression with duraplasty [52]. In another meta-analysis, no convincing conclusion that one method was superior to the other could be drawn [53]. Complication rates are lower with procedures that leave the dura intact. However, this would be counterbalanced by lower rates of syrinx reduction and higher rates of symptom recurrence. Therefore, it appears that the surgical strategy should be tailored for individual patients according to preoperative evaluations using a series of radiographic tools and intraoperative assessments, such as intraoperative ultrasound [54–56].

On the other hand, another completely different surgical strategy has been proposed on the basis that the pathogenesis of CM-I is primary associated with atlantoaxial instability. In his series of studies, Goel suggested that CM-I may be a secondary phenomenon and a natural neural alteration in the face of atlantoaxial instability, and that surgical treatment should aim to restore atlantoaxial stabilization [57–59]. This conception was drawn from the observation of frequent concomitant presentation of BI and CM-I and the speculation that BI and CM-I are a continuum of the same pathological phenomenon originating from atlantoaxial instability, which needs to be investigated further.

The Relationship Between Basilar Invagination and Chiari Malformation Type I

In contrast to scenarios in which each of these two clinical entities presents in isolation, when BI is associated with CM-I (which frequently occurs in clinical observation), a variety of aspects—including the clinical presentation, natural progress, treatment strategy and prognosis—become very complicated and different.

Basilar Invagination with or Without Chiari Malformation Type I

The clinical course and symptoms of BI have been reported to be different when it is associated with CM-I. In an early study of 190 patients treated surgically for BI, the symptom onset of patients without CM-I was relatively acute, while the duration of symptoms of those with CM-I was long lasting. The most common presentations in the former population included weakness (100%), torticollis (69%), neck pain (59%), restricted neck movements (59%), posterior column dysfunction (39%), a low hairline (48%), a short neck (41%), bowel and bladder disturbance (28%) and paraesthesia (25%), while the most frequent presentations in the latter population included weakness (94%), paraesthesia (79%), disturbances of the posterior column and spinothalamic tract (56%), a short neck (50%) and ataxia (47%). Accordingly, in that study, Goel et al. presented a classification system for BI, which was divided into two subgroups on the basis of absence of CM (group I) and presence of CM (group II) [26]. In essence, group I included patients with invagination of the odontoid process into the foramen magnum, as well as potential compression of the brainstem. The tip of the odontoid process was distanced from the anterior arch of the atlas or the inferior aspect of the clivus, suggesting the presence of instability of the CVJ. However, the angle of the clivus and the volume of the PCF were not affected. On the other hand, in group II a reduced PCF volume could be noted from the superior migration of the assembly of the odontoid process, the clivus and the anterior arch of the atlas, thus leading to the presence of CM-I. This classification provided a comprehensive understanding of the pathology and pathogenesis of the anomaly and would be helpful in selection of surgical treatment, as well as in prediction of the outcome. On the premise that CM-I in the presence of BI results from reduced PCF volume, it could be deduced that while anterior transoral surgery should be performed in group I patients, posterior foramen magnum decompression should be additionally performed in group II patients. In 2014, Visocchi et al. first reported that clinical and radiological resolution of CVJ compression after transoral correction of BI was evident for up to 2 years postoperation, at which time the child had a relapse of some of the presenting symptoms and follow-up CT and MRI scans showed quite complete regrowth of the odontoid process, partial clival regeneration and recurrence of preoperative CM. Also, in this case the correlation of BI and CM was further confirmed [60].

Chiari Malformation Type I with or Without Basilar Invagination

Different incidence rates of BI in patients with CM-I have been reported, ranging from 12% to 35% [24, 31, 61]. Although the symptoms of CM-I commonly include occipital pain and gait ataxia, several differences in clinical presentation are noted between patients who have CM-I with invagination and those who have CM-I without invagination. Patients with invagination tend to be more affected by caudal cranial nerve deficits and gait disturbances owing to ventral compression, while patients without invagination are more likely to suffer from sensory disorders or neuropathic pain, which may be related to syringomyelia. In comparison with radiological findings in patients without invagination, segmentation anomalies such as assimilation of the atlas or Klippel–Feil syndrome are more common in patients with invagination [61].

The combination with BI makes treatment of CM-I more complicated. Although complication rates have reportedly been significantly higher in patients who have CM-I with BI than in those who have CM-I without BI [61], the issue of whether the combination with BI is associated with a worse long-term outcome of surgical treatment of CM-I remain controversial [61-63]. The clinical outcome may depend on the treatment strategy adopted, as well as individual differences, and thus there is a series of subsequent questions that remain to be resolved. As stated above, symptomatic patients with CM-I require surgical decompression of the foramen magnum. However, whether additional operations such as ventral transoral decompression, traction and realignment should be incorporated for treatment of concurrent BI remains controversial, since the presence of ventral compression or instability should be carefully evaluated before or during the operation.

The sign of instability is sometimes difficult to detect on preoperational radiographs or CT scans because the range of motion may be restricted by biomechanical limitations. When tabling the paradoxical discussion on low rates of symptomatic improvement and high rates of recurrence with conservative surgery, or the other way around with aggressive surgery, Goel proposed a series of surgeries aiming at atlantoaxial stabilization by listing the negative long-term outcomes of foramen magnum decompression [64, 65] and claiming that CM-I was caused by atlantoaxial dislocation regardless of the presence or absence of BI [57]. However, in studies with large populations, the coincidence of atlantoaxial instability with CM-I is less frequent [31, 45, 66]. Furthermore, defining instability in complex patients can be challenging. Although intraoperative findings may provide clues regarding instability, no objective criterion is available so far for diagnosing instability during surgery. As demonstrated in Goel's clinical grading system for atlantoaxial dislocation, no gross physical or radiological abnormality may be present in cases of type III dislocation. It is illogical and even dangerous to perform a stabilization operation alone when instability is not clinically presented.

With regard to compression, the site and degree of compression should be assessed thoroughly for preoperational planning. When CM-I is associated with BI, aside from dorsal compression of the brainstem by herniated cerebellar tonsils, ventral compression by the odontoid peg may also be present. Is there any causal relationship between ventral and dorsal compression, thus making more decompression possible with less surgery? In a comparative study of 323 patients undergoing 350 operations, Klekamp demonstrated good short- and long-term results in patients who had CM-I with or without additional BI, through application of a treatment algorithm. He recommended that patients who had CM-I without BI and those who had BI without ventral compression could be managed by foramen magnum decompression alone, while most patients with ventral compression could be treated by posterior decompression, realignment and stabilization, reserving anterior decompression for patients with profound, symptomatic brainstem compression [61].

With further development of the research on the pathological theory and surgical strategies, the relationship between BI and CM-I—and the potential compression and instability involved in these two concomitant pathologies should become better understood and managed.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Nishikawa M, Sakamoto H, Hakuba A, Nakanishi N, Inoue Y. Pathogenesis of Chiari malformation: a morphometric study of the posterior cranial fossa. J Neurosurg. 1997;86(1):40–7.
- Ferreira JA, Botelho RV. The odontoid process invagination in normal subjects, Chiari malformation and basilar invagination patients: pathophysiologic correlations with angular craniometry. Surg Neurol Int. 2015;6:118.
- Milhorat TH, Nishikawa M, Kula RW, Dlugacz YD. Mechanisms of cerebellar tonsil herniation in patients with Chiari malformations as guide to clinical management. Acta Neurochir. 2010;152(7):1117–27.
- Klimo P Jr, Rao G, Brockmeyer D. Congenital anomalies of the cervical spine. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2007;18(3):463–78.
- Menezes AH. Craniocervical developmental anatomy and its implications. Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24(10):1109–22.
- Chamberlain WE. Basilar impression (platybasia): a bizarre developmental anomaly of the occipital bone and upper cervical spine with striking and misleading neurologic manifestations. Yale J Biol Med. 1939;11(5):487–96.
- Charnas LR, Marini JC. Communicating hydrocephalus, basilar invagination, and other neurologic features in osteogenesis imperfecta. Neurology. 1993;43(12):2603–8.
- Smoker WR. Craniovertebral junction: normal anatomy, craniometry, and congenital anomalies. Radiographics. 1994;14(2):255–77.
- Pinter NK, McVige J, Mechtler L. Basilar invagination, basilar impression, and platybasia: clinical and imaging aspects. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2016;20(8):49.
- Smoker WR, Khanna G. Imaging the craniocervical junction. Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24(10):1123–45.
- Cronin CG, Lohan DG, Mhuircheartigh JN, Meehan CP, Murphy J, Roche C. CT evaluation of Chamberlain's, McGregor's, and McRae's skull-base lines. Clin Radiol. 2009;64(1):64–9.
- Mc GM. The significance of certain measurements of the skull in the diagnosis of basilar impression. Br J Radiol. 1948;21(244):171–81.
- VanGilder JC, Menezes AH, Dolan KD. The craniovertebral junction and its abnormalities. New York: Futura; 1987.
- 14. Menezes AH, VanGilder JC. Anomalies of the craniovertebral junction. Philadelphia: Saunders; 1990.
- McRae DL, Barnum AS. Occipitalization of the atlas. Am J Roentgenol Radium Ther Nucl Med. 1953;70(1):23–46.
- El Asri AC, Akhaddar A, Gazzaz M, et al. Dynamic CT scan of the craniovertebral junction: a role in the management of os odontoideum. Neurol Neurochir Pol. 2010;44(6):603–8.

- Gupta V, Khandelwal N, Mathuria SN, Singh P, Pathak A, Suri S. Dynamic magnetic resonance imaging evaluation of craniovertebral junction abnormalities. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2007;31(3):354–9.
- Reijnierse M, Breedveld FC, Kroon HM, Hansen B, Pope TL, Bloem JL. Are magnetic resonance flexion views useful in evaluating the cervical spine of patients with rheumatoid arthritis? Skelet Radiol. 2000;29(2):85–9.
- Karhu JO, Parkkola RK, Koskinen SK. Evaluation of flexion/extension of the upper cervical spine in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: an MRI study with a dedicated positioning device compared to conventional radiographs. Acta Radiol. 2005;46(1):55–66.
- Bassi P, Corona C, Contri P, Paiocchi A, Loiero M, Mangoni A. Congenital basilar impression: correlated neurological syndromes. Eur Neurol. 1992;32(4):238–43.
- Erbengi A, Oge HK. Congenital malformations of the craniovertebral junction: classification and surgical treatment. Acta Neurochir. 1994;127(3–4):180–5.
- Goel A, Desai K. Surgery for syringomyelia: an analysis based on 163 surgical cases. Acta Neurochir. 2000;142(3):293–301. discussion 301-292.
- Sawin PD, Menezes AH. Basilar invagination in osteogenesis imperfecta and related osteochondrodysplasias: medical and surgical management. J Neurosurg. 1997;86(6):950–60.
- Smith JS, Shaffrey CI, Abel MF, Menezes AH. Basilar invagination. Neurosurgery. 2010;66(3 Suppl):39–47.
- Menezes AH. Evaluation and treatment of congenital and developmental anomalies of the cervical spine. Invited submission from the Joint Section Meeting on Disorders of the Spine and Peripheral Nerves, March 2004. J Neurosurg Spine. 2004;1(2):188–97.
- Goel A, Bhatjiwale M, Desai K. Basilar invagination: a study based on 190 surgically treated patients. J Neurosurg. 1998;88(6):962–8.
- Menezes AH. Surgical approaches: postoperative care and complications "transoral-transpalatopharyngeal approach to the craniocervical junction". Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24(10):1187–93.
- Elster AD, Chen MY. Chiari I malformations: clinical and radiologic reappraisal. Radiology. 1992;183(2):347–53.
- Aboulezz AO, Sartor K, Geyer CA, Gado MH. Position of cerebellar tonsils in the normal population and in patients with Chiari malformation: a quantitative approach with MR imaging. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 1985;9(6):1033–6.
- Armonda RA, Citrin CM, Foley KT, Ellenbogen RG. Quantitative cine-mode magnetic resonance imaging of Chiari I malformations: an analysis of cerebrospinal fluid dynamics. Neurosurgery. 1994;35(2):214–23. discussion 223-214.
- Milhorat TH, Chou MW, Trinidad EM, et al. Chiari I malformation redefined: clinical and radiographic findings for 364 symptomatic patients. Neurosurgery. 1999;44(5):1005–17.
- Milhorat TH, Bolognese PA, Nishikawa M, et al. Association of Chiari malformation type I and tethered cord syndrome: preliminary results of sectioning filum terminale. Surg Neurol. 2009;72(1):20–35.
- Cinalli G, Spennato P, Sainte-Rose C, et al. Chiari malformation in craniosynostosis. Childs Nerv Syst. 2005;21(10):889–901.
- Atkinson JL, Weinshenker BG, Miller GM, Piepgras DG, Mokri B. Acquired Chiari I malformation secondary to spontaneous spinal cerebrospinal fluid leakage and chronic intracranial hypotension syndrome in seven cases. J Neurosurg. 1998;88(2):237–42.
- Elisevich K, Fontaine S, Bertrand G. Syringomyelia as a complication of Paget's disease. Case report. J Neurosurg. 1987;66(4):611–3.
- Lee M, Rezai AR, Wisoff JH. Acquired Chiari-I malformation and hydromyelia secondary to a giant craniopharyngioma. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1995;22(5):251–4.
- Morioka T, Shono T, Nishio S, Yoshida K, Hasuo K, Fukui M. Acquired Chiari I malformation and syringomyelia associated with bilateral chronic subdural hematoma. Case report. J Neurosurg. 1995;83(3):556–8.

- Rocque BG, Oakes WJ. Surgical treatment of Chiari I malformation. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2015;26(4):527–31.
- 39. Fischbein R, Saling JR, Marty P, et al. Patient-reported Chiari malformation type I symptoms and diagnostic experiences: a report from the national Conquer Chiari Patient Registry database. Neurol Sci. 2015;36(9):1617–24.
- Mueller DM, Oro JJ. Prospective analysis of presenting symptoms among 265 patients with radiographic evidence of Chiari malformation type I with or without syringomyelia. J Am Acad Nurse Pract. 2004;16(3):134–8.
- Hofkes SK, Iskandar BJ, Turski PA, Gentry LR, McCue JB, Haughton VM. Differentiation between symptomatic Chiari I malformation and asymptomatic tonsilar ectopia by using cerebrospinal fluid flow imaging: initial estimate of imaging accuracy. Radiology. 2007;245(2):532–40.
- Tubbs RS, Lyerly MJ, Loukas M, Shoja MM, Oakes WJ. The pediatric Chiari I malformation: a review. Childs Nerv Syst. 2007;23(11):1239–50.
- Panigrahi M, Reddy BP, Reddy AK, Reddy JJ. CSF flow study in Chiari I malformation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2004;20(5):336–40.
- Tubbs RS. Definitions and anatomic considerations in Chiari I malformation and associated syringomyelia. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2015;26(4):487–93.
- Tubbs RS, Beckman J, Naftel RP, et al. Institutional experience with 500 cases of surgically treated pediatric Chiari malformation type I. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2011;7(3):248–56.
- 46. Kagawa M, Jinnai T, Matsumoto Y, et al. Chiari I malformation accompanied by assimilation of the atlas, Klippel-Feil syndrome, and syringomyelia: case report. Surg Neurol. 2006;65(5):497–502. discussion 502
- 47. Rocque BG, George TM, Kestle J, Iskandar BJ. Treatment practices for Chiari malformation type I with syringomyelia: results of a survey of the American Society of Pediatric Neurosurgeons. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2011;8(5):430–7.
- Doughty KE, Tubbs RS, Webb D, Oakes WJ. Delayed resolution of Chiari I–associated hydromyelia after posterior fossa decompression: case report and review of the literature. Neurosurgery. 2004;55(3):711.
- Klekamp J. Surgical treatment of Chiari I malformation—analysis of intraoperative findings, complications, and outcome for 371 foramen magnum decompressions. Neurosurgery. 2012;71(2):365–80. discussion 380.
- Sakushima K, Tsuboi S, Yabe I, et al. Nationwide survey on the epidemiology of syringomyelia in Japan. J Neurol Sci. 2012;313(1–2):147–52.
- Schijman E, Steinbok P. International survey on the management of Chiari I malformation and syringomyelia. Childs Nerv Syst. 2004;20(5):341–8.
- 52. Durham SR, Fjeld-Olenec K. Comparison of posterior fossa decompression with and without duraplasty for the surgical treat-

ment of Chiari malformation type I in pediatric patients: a metaanalysis. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2008;2(1):42–9.

- Hankinson T, Tubbs RS, Wellons JC. Duraplasty or not? An evidence-based review of the pediatric Chiari I malformation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2011;27(1):35–40.
- Hayhurst C, Richards O, Zaki H, Findlay G, Pigott TJ. Hindbrain decompression for Chiari–syringomyelia complex: an outcome analysis comparing surgical techniques. Br J Neurosurg. 2008;22(1):86–91.
- Menezes AH, Greenlee JD, Donovan KA. Honored guest presentation: lifetime experiences and where we are going: Chiari I with syringohydromyelia–controversies and development of decision trees. Clin Neurosurg. 2005;52:297–305.
- Milhorat TH, Bolognese PA. Tailored operative technique for Chiari type I malformation using intraoperative color Doppler ultrasonography. Neurosurgery. 2003;53(4):899–905. discussion 905-896.
- Goel A. Is atlantoaxial instability the cause of Chiari malformation? Outcome analysis of 65 patients treated by atlantoaxial fixation. J Neurosurg Spine. 2015;22(2):116–27.
- Goel A. Atlantoaxial facetal distraction spacers: indications and techniques. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2016;7(3):127–8.
- Goel A. Basilar invagination, Chiari malformation, syringomyelia: a review. Neurol India. 2009;57(3):235–46.
- 60. Visocchi M, Trevisi G, Iacopino DG, Tamburrini G, Caldarelli M, Barbagallo GM. Odontoid process and clival regeneration with Chiari malformation worsening after transoral decompression: an unexpected and previously unreported cause of "accordion phenomenon". Eur Spine J. 2015;24(Suppl 4):S564–8.
- Klekamp J. Chiari I malformation with and without basilar invagination: a comparative study. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38(4):E12.
- Aghakhani N, Parker F, David P, et al. Long-term follow-up of Chiari-related syringomyelia in adults: analysis of 157 surgically treated cases. Neurosurgery. 2009;64(2):308–15. discussion 315
- Arora P, Behari S, Banerji D, Chhabra DK, Jain VK. Factors influencing the outcome in symptomatic Chiari I malformation. Neurol India. 2004;52(4):470–4.
- Klekamp J. Neurological deterioration after foramen magnum decompression for Chiari malformation type I: old or new pathology? J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2012;10(6):538–47.
- Naftel RP, Tubbs RS, Menendez JY, Wellons JC 3rd, Pollack IF, Oakes WJ. Worsening or development of syringomyelia following Chiari I decompression: case report. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2013;12(4):351–6.
- Goldstein HE, Anderson RC. Craniovertebral junction instability in the setting of Chiari I malformation. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2015;26(4):561–9.

Bony Decompression for Chiari Malformation Type I: Long-Term Follow-Up



Luca Massimi, Paolo Frassanito, Daniela Chieffo, Gianpiero Tamburrini, and Massimo Caldarelli

Abstract *Background:* Several surgical techniques are used for the management of Chiari malformation type I (CM-I). Bony posterior fossa decompression is considered a good option in children, though with a higher risk of requiring reoperation. However, there is not enough evidence from the series in the literature, which are often limited by inadequate follow-up. The goal of this study was to assess the effectiveness of suboccipital craniectomy alone in children after long-term follow-up.

Methods: Forty-two children (25 female and 17 male; mean age 6.7 years), operated on with bony decompression alone, were retrospectively reviewed. All patients underwent suboccipital craniectomy. Thirty-eight children required C1 laminectomy, and 21 also underwent dural delamination on the basis of intraoperative ultrasound investigations. The outcome was assessed using the traditional measurement and the Chicago Chiari Outcome Scale (CCOS). The mean follow-up period was 11.3 years (range 5–15 years).

Results: Headache was the most frequent preoperative symptom (81%), followed by neck pain (40%), vertigo (40%), ataxia (26%), and upper and lower extremity paraesthesia (26%). Syringomyelia was present in 19 patients (45%). Resolution and significant improvement of preoperative clinical symptoms were observed in 36.5% and 21.5% of cases, respectively. Three children required adjunctive surgery for symptom recurrence (7%). The tonsil position and syringomyelia were normalized or improved in 50% and 79% of cases, respectively. No complications occurred. According to the CCOS scores, 69.5% of children had an

D. Chieffo

excellent outcome, 28.5% had a functional outcome and 2% had an impaired outcome.

Conclusion: Bony decompression alone is an effective, safe and long-lasting treatment for children with CM-I. A certain risk of symptom recurrence requiring new surgery exists, but it is widely counterbalanced by the low risk of complications. Careful patient selection is crucial for a good outcome. Prospective and randomized studies are needed for further validation.

Keywords Chiari I malformation · Syringomyelia · Posterior fossa decompression · Duraplasty · Intraoperative ultrasound

Introduction

Chiari malformation type I (CM-I) is a heterogeneous condition encompassing a wide spectrum of clinical and radiological presentations. Several surgical techniques are currently used for its correction, ranging from suboccipital craniectomy/C1 laminectomy alone to transoral or transnasal ventral decompression followed by posterior stabilization, and including endoscopic posterior decompression, dural delamination, duraplasty, arachnoid dissection with/without tonsil coagulation, and minimally invasive tonsillectomy [1-9]. When one is dealing with CM-I patients, the first limitation is the lack of standardized surgical management. In fact, no guidelines are available in the literature, where no evidence of a 'best' treatment can be found. Similarly, no standardized methods for outcome evaluation have been identified so far [10]; a further limitation, partially related to this, is represented by the relatively short follow-up reported in many series. In this paper we present the late outcome of a paediatric series after long follow-up to contribute information on the management of selected cases with bony decompression alone.

L. Massimi (\boxtimes) · P. Frassanito · G. Tamburrini · M. Caldarelli Paediatric Neurosurgery, Agostino Gemelli Hospital Foundation, Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Paediatric Neuropsychology, Agostino Gemelli Hospital Foundation, Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Materials and Methods

All consecutive paediatric patients (aged 0–16 years) surgically treated at our institution with suboccipital craniectomy (with/without C1 laminectomy) in the decade of 2001–2011

(with/without C1 laminectomy) in the decade of 2001-2011 were considered. This time period was established to ensure a minimum of 5-year follow-up. The patient-tailored selection criteria in use at our institution can be summarized as follows: (1) asymptomatic patients without relevant syringomyelia (<2 mm thickness): clinical and radiological followup; (2) symptomatic patients with tonsillar herniation above C2 or asymptomatic patients with 2-5 mm syringomyelia: bony decompression of the posterior cranial fossa; and (3) symptomatic patients (especially those with signs of brainstem dysfunction) with tonsils below C2 and/or >5 mm syringomyelia: bony decompression plus duraplasty (and subpial tonsil coagulation, if needed). Patients with psychomotor delay or behavioural problems but without clear signs/ symptoms of CM-I were not considered for surgery but were enrolled for follow-up.

All patients underwent a preoperative workup consisting of physical and neurological examination, craniospinal magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), polysomnography and neuropsychological tests. The same examinations were utilized for the postoperative follow-up with the following timing: physical and neurological examinations every 6 months for the first 2 years, then yearly; neuropsychological tests yearly up to the scholar age and working age, according to the patients' characteristics; craniospinal MRI yearly for the first 3 years, then every 2 or 3 years; and polysomnography 1 year after surgery in negative cases and yearly until normalization in positive cases. Decompression of the posterior fossa was achieved by suboccipital craniectomy with/without C1 laminectomy and/or delamination of the external layer of the dura mater. The epidural fibrous ring at the occipitocervical junction was resected. The extension of the craniectomy, as well as the laminectomy, were tailored on the basis of the patient's age and characteristics. In any case, the re-expansion of the cisterna magna and pulsations of the tonsils were assessed by intraoperative ultrasound (IUS), and the extent of the craniectomy was adapted accordingly. The posterior arch of C1 was routinely removed unless the posterior compression at that level was not relevant. Beyond the traditional treatment outcome measurement ('resolution', 'improvement', 'stability' or 'worsening'), the Chicago Chiari Outcome Scale (CCOS) was used for outcome assessment [11]. According to the CCOS, the outcome is graded as 'excellent' with a score of 16 points, 'functional' with a score of 12-15 points, 'impaired' with a score of 8-11 points and 'incapacitated' with a score of 4-7 points.

Results

Patient Characteristics

Among 164 paediatric patients admitted for CM-I during the relevant period, only 42 children were eligible for the study. Indeed, more than one third of all cases were asymptomatic, while the others needed duraplasty at least. Moreover, in six cases where a suboccipital craniectomy was planned, IUS did not show good expansion of the cerebellomedullary cistern, so duraplasty was performed (and they were not included in the present series).

The cohort was composed of 17 boys and 25 girls (male to female ratio 0.68), with a mean age of 6.7 years (range 15 months-16 years) at the time of surgery. The mean followup period for the entire cohort was 11.3 years, ranging from 5 to 15 years. In five cases (12%), the diagnosis was incidental (asymptomatic patients), while 15 children (35.5%) presented with specific signs-such as macrocrania and psychomotor delay-other than a suboccipital headache. Finally, 22 patients (52.5%) showed CM-I/syringomyelia-specific symptoms and signs, such as a suboccipital headache, neck pain, vertigo, ataxia, upper and/or lower limb paraesthesia and scoliosis (see Table 1). Tonsillar caudal herniation was detected in all cases: a 5-mm ectopia in eight cases (19%), a 6- to 10-mm ectopia in 18 cases (43%) and a \geq 11 mm ectopia in 16 cases (38%). Syringomyelia was present in 19 patients (45%): cervical (eight cases, 43%), dorsal (three cases, 15.5%), cervicodorsal (five cases, 26%) and holocord (three cases, 15.5%) (see Table 2). Neuropsychological tests did not show significant alterations, with normal full-scale IQ (FSIQ), verbal IQ (VIQ) and performance IQ (PIQ) scores in 88% of cases (37 patients). In five children, some working memory, planning and attention disorders were detected, which clearly correlated with sleep disorders. Polysomnography was normal in 35 cases (83.5%) but revealed sleep-disordered breathing in seven cases (16.5%).

Surgical Outcome

All patients underwent suboccipital craniectomy. C1 laminectomy was carried out in 38 cases (90%), while dural delamination was performed in 21 cases (50%). At the end of the surgical procedure, IUS showed a satisfactory fluid film between the dura and the tonsils, and good tonsil pulsation in all cases. Complete resolution of the clinical picture at late follow-up was achieved in 76.5% of cases (32 patients) and an improvement in nine cases (21.5%); only in one case was

Table 1	Clinical	symptoms	at onset and	l late outcome
---------	----------	----------	--------------	----------------

		Late outcomes $[n (\%)]$		
Clinical symptom or sign	Cases at diagnosis $[n (\%)]$	Resolution	Improvement	Stability
Suboccipital 'cough' headache	34 (81)	30 (88)	2 (6)	2 (6)
Neck pain	17 (40)	14 (82)	2 (12)	1 (6)
Vertigo	16 (38)	14 (87.5)	1 (6.25)	1 (6.25)
Ataxia	11 (26)	10 (91)	-	1 (9)
Paraesthesia	11 (26)	9 (82)	1 (9)	1 (9)
Sleep-disordered breathing	7 (16.5)	5 (71.5)	2 (28.5)	_
Progressive scoliosis	5 (12)	4 (80)	-	1 (20)
Psychomotor delay	5 (12)	4 (80)	-	1 (20)
Macrocrania	4 (9.5)	_	_	4 ^a

^aThis sign was not considered in the results because it was not correlated with Chiari malformation type I

 Table 2
 Radiological findings and outcomes

		Late outcomes $[n (\%)]$			-
Finding	Cases at diagnosis $[n (\%)]$	Resolution	Improvement	Stability	
Tonsil herniation					
5 mm	8 (19)	5 (12)	1 (2.5)	2 (5)	
6–10 mm	18 (43)	6 (14)	3 (7)	9 (21.5)	
≥11 mm	16 (38)	2 (5)	4 (9.5)	10 (23.5)	
Total	42 (100)	13 (31)	8 (19)	21 (50)	
Syrinx					
Cervical	8 (43)	4 (21)	3 (15)	1 (5)	
Dorsal	3 (15.5)	_	2 (11)	1 (5)	
Cervicodorsal	5 (26)	1 (5)	2 (11)	2 (11)	
Holocord	3 (15.5)	1 (5)	2 (11)	-	
Total	19 (45)	6 (31)	9 (48)	4 (21)	

there no improvement (2%). The evolution of the clinical symptoms is reported in detail in Table 1. These results were obtained after three patients (7%) experienced symptom recurrence ranging from 1 to 7 years after the first operation (all of them had experienced initial clinical improvement). All of them underwent second-look surgery: in the first patient (the youngest in the series), a newly formed suboccipital bone was found and was removed again, with clinical resolution; in the second patient, a thick fibrous scar was found, and clinical normalization was achieved after its excision; the third case required two operations (the first one for fibrous scar removal followed by a second one for tonsil coagulation and duraplasty), resulting in only transient symptom improvement. No surgical complications occurred except for postoperative neck pain in one third of cases, requiring extra analgesic drug therapy. On the basis of CCOS scores and considering the single reoperation as a 'transient complication' and the double reoperation as a 'permanent complication, well controlled', 29 patients (69.5%) had an excellent outcome, 12 (28.5%) had a functional outcome and one (2%) had an impaired outcome.

The position of the cerebellar tonsils remained stable or improved in 69% of cases (29 patients), while normalization of their position was achieved in the remaining 13 cases (31%). The tonsil ascent was mainly observed in the late phases of follow-up, often seven or more years after surgery (Fig. 1). Syringomyelia disappeared or showed a significant reduction in 31% (six patients) and in 48% of cases (nine patients), respectively; it remained unchanged in the remaining four cases (21%). The radiological results are summarized in Table 2. Polysomnography improved in all cases, with normalization in five of seven patients. A sleep-correlated improvement in the neuropsychological deficits was detected in all five affected cases, with normalization in four of them.



Fig. 1 Magnetic resonance imaging of a boy operated on for Chiari malformation type I at the age of 6 years. (a) Preoperative image showing a stenosis of the foramen magnum with 8 mm caudal descent of the cerebel-

lar tonsils. (b) Postoperative image after 3-year follow-up, demonstrating ascent of the cerebellar tonsils but not yet normalization. (c) Normalization of the radiological picture after 6.5-year follow-up

Discussion

According to a recent analysis of a large US nationwide healthcare network, the numbers of surgical procedures performed for CM-I increased by 51% in the paediatric population and by 28% in the adult population in the last 14 years [12]. Despite this large number of surgical procedures, the 'old' dilemma regarding decompression of the posterior fossa-posterior fossa bony decompression alone (PFD) versus posterior fossa bony decompression plus duraplasty (PFDD)-has not been resolved yet. Although the matter is still controversial, PFDD is currently suggested in adultsdespite the higher rate of complications and the longer operation time-on the basis of the significantly better outcome and the lower recurrence (and reoperation) rates [13–16]. As far as children are concerned, the current trend seems to be in favour of PFD, though there is no level I or IIa evidence for this [17]. Some authors, however, advocate the use of duraplasty for the same reasons as those given for adults [18, 19], whereas many authors propose to reserve duraplasty for the small number of children who experience recurrence after bony decompression, which shows a significantly lower rate of complications (especially cerebrospinal fluid [CSF] leakage) [20-25] and virtually no risk of surgical death [26]. One meta-analysis (which is still the only one available in the literature for children), published by Durham and Fjeld-Olenec in 2008, considered seven papers describing 582 paediatric patients treated by suboccipital craniectomy alone (266 cases) or with duraplasty (316 cases), and found that the outcome was statistically similar with the two techniques in term of clinical improvement and syrinx reduction, while PFDD ensured a significantly lower rate of recurrence (2.1% versus 12.6%) [27]. As expected, the data were significantly

in favour of PFD when CSF leakage was considered (1.8% versus 18.5%), with no substantial differences regarding the other complications. The authors noted that the follow-up (ranging from 2 to 120 months) was 'inconsistently reported across studies'.

The goal of our study was to report a series with a sufficient length of follow-up to present definitive results. After 11.3 years of follow-up, 76.5% of our cases showed clinical resolution and 21.5% of them showed a considerable clinical improvement, with an excellent outcome in nearly 70% of cases and a functional outcome in 28% of cases (according to their CCOS scores). Only one patient did not show any improvement and had an impaired outcome despite two reoperations (the second one involved subpial tonsillectomy). On these grounds, PFD can be definitely considered a valid option for surgical management of CM-I in children. A certain risk of recurrence exists (7% in the present series) but can be successfully managed by second-look surgery. Moreover, permanent and/or significant complications are virtually absent. Indeed, the risk of reoperation is counterbalanced by the low rate of complications, so the final balance between complications and reoperations in PFDD and in PFD seems to be more favourable in PFD [28, 29]. To achieve this outcome, it is necessary for the patients to be carefully selected, and PFD is used in less severe cases [22, 30]. On these bases, the less satisfactorily radiological results do not represent a limitation since they are frequently reported in the literature and do not preclude a good clinical outcome [20, 31, 32].

Such good outcomes of PFD in children result from two main factors. The first one is progressive enlargement of the posterior fossa in children, which is due to physiological growth of the skull in the paediatric age group. In contrast to the scenario in adults, this growth may make PFDD unnecessary simply because the bone opening supports the spontaneous bone enlargement in providing space for the neural structures of the posterior fossa. For these reasons, the extent of bony decompression is crucial and must be tailored according to the patient's characteristics and age. Indeed, in infants and young children the suboccipital craniectomy should not be too large (because of the risk of a pseudomeningocele resulting from cerebellar pulsations) and should not be too small (because of the risk of bone re-formation, as happened in one patient in our series) [6]. In patients with thicker, more slowly growing bone, such as older children and adolescents, the extent of bone removal should be estimated on the basis of the severity of the clinical and radiological picture. IUS currently is the most widely used tool to assess the correct extension of craniectomy/laminectomy because it allows the neurosurgeon to directly visualize the re-expansion and pulsation of the cisterna magna. In our experience, IUS was effective in achieving this goal: six patients (not included in the present series) were actually managed with PFDD because PFD did not provide good intraoperative results; moreover, among the three patients with recurrence, only one needed PFDD, while the other two patients were managed with newly formed bone and scar removal. Successful experiences with IUS have been reported by other authors [33, 34], even though it is less effective in cases of tonsil herniation caudal to C1 [35]. A criticism of this strategy has been raised by the use of intraoperative MRI in CM-I surgery. Bond et al. recently reported their experience involving 15 adults who underwent pre-incision prone intraoperative MRI: at that time, 93% of them (14 of 15 cases) showed a substantial improvement in the CSF flow dorsal to the cerebellar tonsils [36]. Therefore, one could speculate that the prone position is sufficient to improve CSF dynamics, so bony decompression does not add significant advantages to the operation. However, this experience needs to be replicated in children, where the physiologically 'crowded' posterior fossa (in comparison with that in adults) would not respond so well to prone positioning alone.

The second crucial factor is careful patient selection. The main limitation of our study, which is also the main merit of our management policy, is represented by a selection bias due to the adopted criteria (see 'Materials and Methods'). This is the reason why we did not present a comparative cohort: since the patients treated with PFD and those treated with PFDD have different clinical and radiological characteristics, it is not possible to compare them. At the same time, however, this policy allowed us to select the most suitable candidates for PFD and to obtain good and stable long-term results. These considerations apply also to the literature [23, 25, 37, 38] and are further supported by the very recent experience reported by Pomeraniec and co-workers in their series of 95 children with CM-I [39]. After careful patient selection, 70 children were managed conservatively and had a good out-

come without clinical or radiological worsening. Only 25 children underwent surgery, with a significant clinical improvement (75%) and radiological improvement (87.5%), regardless of the surgical technique used (bony decompression with a dural split versus duraplasty).

Taking into account the limitations inherent in a retrospective analysis of a single cohort from a single institution, this analysis of long-term results allows us to conclude that in children, PFD should be considered as a first-choice option in patients with a less severe clinical picture (no signs of brainstem dysfunction, tonsils above C2, thin syringomyelia), who are often the majority among paediatric patients. PFDD, with or without intradural manipulation, should be performed in more severe cases or in rare cases of failure of the previous strategy. The good final outcome of our series, according to the CCOS scores, shows that overall the risk of recurrence after PFD is broadly balanced by the very low risk of complications. For correct outcome assessment, a sufficiently long follow-up period (at least 7-10 years) is mandatory. Further prospective and randomized studies are required to validate these observations.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Albert GW, Menezes AH, Hansen DR, Greenlee JD, Weinstein SL. Chiari malformation type I in children younger than age 6 years: presentation and surgical outcome. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2010;5:554–61.
- Beecher JS, Liu Y, Qi X, Bolognese PA. Minimally invasive subpial tonsillectomy for Chiari I decompression. Acta Neurochir. 2016;158:1807–11.
- Chauvet D, Carpentier A, George B. Dura splitting decompression in Chiari type 1 malformation: clinical experience and radiological findings. Neurosurg Rev. 2009;32:465–70.
- Di X. Endoscopic suboccipital decompression on pediatric Chiari type I. Minim Invasive Neurosurg, 2009;52:119–25.
- Hankinson TC, Grunstein E, Gardner P, Spinks TJ, Anderson RC. Transnasal odontoid resection followed by posterior decompression and occipitocervical fusion in children with Chiari malformation type I and ventral brainstem compression. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2010;5:549–53.
- Massimi L, Caldarelli M, Paternoster G, Novegno F, Tamburrini G, Di Rocco C. Mini-invasive surgery for Chiari type I malformation. Neuroradiol J. 2008;21:65–70.
- Parker SR, Harris P, Cummings TJ, George T, Fuchs H, Grant G. Complications following decompression of Chiari malformation type I in children: dural graft or sealant? J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2011;8:177–83.
- Sindou M, Gimbert E. Decompression for Chiari type I-malformation (with or without syringomyelia) by extreme lateral foramen magnum opening and expansile duraplasty with

arachnoid preservation: comparison with other technical modalities (literature review). Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg. 2009;34:85–110.

- Tubbs RS, Beckman J, Naftel RP, Chern JJ, Wellons JC, Rozzelle CJ, Blount JP, Oakes WJ. Institutional experience with 500 cases of surgically treated pediatric Chiari malformation type I. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2011;7:248–56.
- Greenberg JK, Milner E, Yarbrough CK, Lipsey K, Piccirillo JF, Smyth MD, Park TS, Limbrick DD Jr. Outcome methods used in clinical studies of Chiari malformation type I: a systematic review. J Neurosurg. 2015;122:262–72.
- Aliaga L, Hekman KE, Yassari R, Straus D, Luther G, Chen J, Sampat A, Frim D. A novel scoring system for assessing Chiari malformation type I treatment outcomes. Neurosurgery. 2012;70:656–65.
- Wilkinson DA, Johnson K, Garton HJ, Muraszko KM, Maher CO. Trends in surgical treatment of Chiari malformation type I in the United States. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2016;11:1–9.
- Förander P, Sjåvik K, Solheim O, Riphagen I, Gulati S, Salvesen Ø, Jakola AS. The case for duraplasty in adults undergoing posterior fossa decompression for Chiari I malformation: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2014;125:58–64.
- 14. Gürbüz MS, Berkman MZ, Ünal E, Akpınar E, Gök Ş, Orakdöğen M, Aydın S. Foramen magnum decompression and duraplasty is superior to only foramen magnum decompression in Chiari malformation type 1 associated with syringomyelia in adults. Asian Spine J. 2015;9:721–7.
- Rehman L, Akbar H, Bokhari I, Babar AK, M Hashim AS, Arain SH. Posterior fossa decompression with duraplasty in Chiari-1 malformations. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2015;25:254–8.
- Xu H, Chu L, He R, Ge C, Lei T. Posterior fossa decompression with and without duraplasty for the treatment of Chiari malformation type I—a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurosurg Rev. 2016;40(2):213–21.
- Hankinson T, Tubbs RS, Wellons JC. Duraplasty or not? An evidence-based review of the pediatric Chiari I malformation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2011;27:35–40.
- Foreman P, Safavi-Abbasi S, Talley MC, Boeckman L, Mapstone TB. Perioperative outcomes and complications associated with allogeneic duraplasty for the management of Chiari malformations type I in 48 pediatric patients. Neurosurg Pediatr. 2012;10:142–9.
- Ma J, You C, Chen H, Huang S, Ieong C. Cerebellar tonsillectomy with suboccipital decompression and duraplasty by small incision for Chiari I malformation (with syringomyelia): long term followup of 76 surgically treated cases. Turk Neurosurg. 2012;22:274–9.
- Caldarelli M, Novegno F, Massimi L, Romani R, Tamburrini G, Di Rocco C. The role of limited posterior fossa craniectomy in the surgical treatment of Chiari malformation type I: experience with a pediatric series. J Neurosurg. 2007;106(3 Suppl):187–95.
- Genitori L, Peretta P, Nurisso C, Macinante L, Mussa F. Chiari type I anomalies in children and adolescents: minimally invasive management in a series of 53 cases. Childs Nerv Syst. 2000;16:707–18.
- Kennedy BC, Kelly KM, Phan MQ, Bruce SS, McDowell MM, Anderson RC, Feldstein NA. Outcomes after suboccipital decompression without dural opening in children with Chiari malformation type I. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2015;16:150–8.
- 23. Lee A, Yarbrough CK, Greenberg JK, Barber J, Limbrick DD, Smyth MD. Comparison of posterior fossa decompression with or without duraplasty in children with type I Chiari malformation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2014;30:1419–24.

- Limonadi FM, Selden NRJ. Dura-splitting decompression of the craniocervical junction: reduced operative time, hospital stay, and cost with equivalent early outcome. J Neurosurg. 2004;101:184–8.
- Navarro R, Olavarria G, Seshadri R, Gonzales-Portillo G, McLone DG, Tomita T. Surgical results of posterior fossa decompression for patients with Chiari I malformation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2004;20:349–56.
- Korshunov AE, Kushel' YV. Posterior decompression of the craniovertebral junction in children with Chiari malformation: a surgery extent issue [in Russian]. Zh Vopr Neirokhir Im N N Burdenko. 2016;80:13–20.
- Durham SR, Fjeld-Olenec K. Comparison of posterior fossa decompression with and without duraplasty for the surgical treatment of Chiari malformation type I in pediatric patients: a metaanalysis. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2008;2:42–9.
- Mutchnick IS, Janjua RM, Moeller K, Moriarty TM. Decompression of Chiari malformation with and without duraplasty: morbidity versus recurrence. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2010;5:474–8.
- Shweikeh F, Sunjaya D, Nuno M, Drazin D, Adamo MA. National trends, complications, and hospital charges in pediatric patients with Chiari malformation type I treated with posterior fossa decompression with and without duraplasty. Pediatr Neurosurg. 2015;50:31–7.
- Chotai S, Medhkour A. Surgical outcomes after posterior fossa decompression with and without duraplasty in Chiari malformation-I. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2014;125:182–8.
- McGirt MJ, Nimjee SM, Floyd J, Bulsara KR, George TM. Correlation of cerebrospinal fluid flow dynamics and headache in Chiari I malformation. Neurosurgery. 2005;56:716–21.
- McGirt MJ, Nimjee SM, Fuchs HE, George TM. Relationship of cine phase-contrast magnetic resonance imaging with outcome after decompression for Chiari I malformations. Neurosurgery. 2006;59:140–6.
- Narenthiran G, Parks C, Pettorini B. Management of Chiari I malformation in children: effectiveness of intra-operative ultrasound for tailoring foramen magnum decompression. Childs Nerv Syst. 2015;31:1371–6.
- Yeh DD, Koch B, Crone KR. Intraoperative ultrasonography used to determine the extent of surgery necessary during posterior fossa decompression in children with Chiari malformation type I. J Neurosurg. 2006;105(1 Suppl):26–32.
- McGirt MJ, Attenello FJ, Datoo G, Gathinji M, Atiba A, Weingart JD, Carson B, Jallo GI. Intraoperative ultrasonography as a guide to patient selection for duraplasty after suboccipital decompression in children with Chiari malformation type I. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2008;2:52–7.
- Bond AE, Jane JA Sr, Liu KC, Oldfield EH. Changes in cerebrospinal fluid flow assessed using intraoperative MRI during posterior fossa decompression for Chiari malformation. J Neurosurg. 2015;122:1068–75.
- Munshi I, Frim D, Stine-Reyes R, Weir BK, Hekmatpanah J, Brown F. Effects of posterior fossa decompression with and without duraplasty on Chiari malformation–associated hydromyelia. Neurosurgery. 2000;46:1384–9.
- Novegno F, Caldarelli M, Massa A, Chieffo D, Massimi L, Pettorini B, Tamburrini G, Di Rocco C. The natural history of the Chiari type I anomaly. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2008;2:179–87.
- Pomeraniec IJ, Ksendzovsky A, Awad AJ, Fezeu F, Jane JA Jr. Natural and surgical history of Chiari malformation type I in the pediatric population. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2016;7:343–52.

Surgical Treatment in Symptomatic Chiari Malformation Type I: A Series of 25 Adult Patients Treated with Cerebellar Tonsil Shrinkage



Alessandro Villa, Alessia Imperato, Rosario Maugeri, Massimiliano Visocchi, Domenico Gerardo Iacopino, and Natale Francaviglia

Abstract *Background:* The variety of symptoms and radiological findings in patients with Chiari malformation type I makes both the indication for surgery and the technical modality controversial. We report our 5-year experience, describing our technique and critically evaluating the clinical results.

Methods: Between 2012 and 2016, 25 patients (15 female and 10 male; mean age 39.2 years) underwent posterior fossa decompression for Chiari malformation type I. Their clinical complaints included headache, nuchalgia, upper limb weakness or numbness, instability, dizziness and diplopia. Syringomyelia was present in 12 patients (48%). Suboccipital craniectomy was completed in all cases with C1 laminectomy and shrinkage of the cerebellar tonsils by bipolar coagulation; duraplasty was performed with a suturable dura substitute.

Results: Gratifying results were observed in our series. Symptoms and signs were resolved in 52% of patients, and 20% of patients had an improvement in their preoperative deficits. The symptoms of six patients (24%) were essentially unchanged, and one patient (4%) deteriorated despite undergoing surgery. Generally, patients with syringomyelia on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showed less symptomatic improvement after surgery. The syrinx disappeared in seven of 12 patients, and complications occurred in three patients (12%).

R. Maugeri · D. G. Iacopino

M. Visocchi Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University of Rome, Rome, Italy *Conclusion:* Cerebellar tonsil reduction and restoration of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) circulation provided clinical improvement and a stable reduction in the syrinx size in the vast majority of treated patients, with a low rate of complications.

Keywords Chiari malformation type I · Posterior fossa decompression · Cerebellar tonsil shrinkage · Syringomyelia Duraplasty

Introduction

Chiari malformation type I (CM-I) is defined by an ectopic position of the cerebellar tonsils under the foramen magnum [1]. The prevalence of the disease, based on an anatomical definition, is almost 1% in the general population [2] (ranging between 0.56% and 0.77% in the reported literature) [3, 4], and the rate of incidentally discovered malformations has markedly risen with extensive use of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) [5]. However, only a small proportion of these patients will show signs or symptoms during their lives.

CM-I usually presents after the second or third decade of life [6]. In 30–70% of patients, the malformation is associated with syringomyelia [7, 8].

Evolutionary observations have led to the conclusion that CM-I is a consequence of asynchronism between brain growth and braincase growth [9]. Advances in brain MRI have clearly demonstrated a decreased posterior fossa volume as the common characteristic of CM-I: this is mainly due to basioccipital hypoplasia and sometimes platybasia causing posterior fossa 'overcrowding' and consequently tonsil herniation through the foramen magnum [10–12].

The indication for surgery is usually driven by the presence of a syrinx. Although some patients have been shown to have spontaneous syrinx resolution, the decision to proceed

A. Villa (⊠) · N. Francaviglia

Division of Neurosurgery, ARNAS Civico Hospital, Palermo, Italy

A. Imperato Division of Neurosurgery, IRCCS Neuromed, Pozzilli, Italy

Neurosurgical Clinic, Department of Experimental Biomedicine and Clinical Neurosciences, School of Medicine, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy

with surgery depends on the fact that a neurological deficit caused by the syrinx is more probable than spontaneous syrinx resolution [13]. When syringomyelia is absent, a continuous headache is the main complaint of patients and is exacerbated by Valsalva-like manoeuvres [14].

A variety of technical modalities to perform decompression have been described in the literature [15]; one such modality is suboccipital craniectomy with C1 laminectomy. If insufficient decompression is achieved, surgery can go further with enlargement of the dura. Some authors have advocated incision of only the external layer of the dura (preserving the internal layer); another option is to perform duraplasty, opening both layers of the dura with a vertical [16] or Y-shaped incision [17, 18] and suturing it to the periosteum [19–21], the fascia lata [22] or an artificial dura [18]. Dural opening may be accompanied by subarachnoid space exploration to visualize the foramen of Magendie [23, 24]. Some authors consider bilateral resection of tonsils necessary to achieve optimal decompression of the occipitocervical junction [25–27].

We describe a single-institution, 5-year experience in an adult population: all patients were treated by duraplasty along with bipolar coagulation to shrink cerebellar descendent tonsils, the goal being opening of the obex to restore cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) circulation.

Patients and Methods

We performed a retrospective review of patients with CM-I treated in the Division of Neurosurgery at the ARNAS Civico Hospital in Palermo, analysing medical and surgical records, and radiological imaging. We collected data on the presentation, management, outcome and follow-up evaluations of these patients.

Twenty-five patients with CM-I underwent surgical treatment at this institution between January 2012 and December 2016. The mean age of the patients was 39.2 years (range 19–66 years). There were 15 female patients (60%) and 10 male patients (40%).

Clinical Presentation

All patients were symptomatic; the duration of their initial symptoms prior to definitive diagnosis ranged between 6 months and 4 years (mean 18.2 months).

Pain was the most frequent symptom, occurring in 68% of cases (Table 1). In six patients the headache was limited to the nuchal region, while it was diffuse in the other patients. The occipital headache was associated with radic-

 Table 1
 Presenting symptoms in 25 cases of Chiari malformation type I

Symptom	Cases [<i>n</i> (%)]	
Pain	17 (68)	
Headache	10	
Neck	6	
Upper limb	1	
Weakness	10 (40)	
Upper limb	9	
Lower limb	1	
Sensory disturbance	8 (32)	
Upper limb	7	
Trunk	1	
Instability	4 (16)	
Dizziness and vertigo	2 (8)	
Diplopia	1 (4)	

ular pain to the upper limbs in one patient. Ten patients (40%) complained of weakness mostly in one or both arms, and eight (32%) complained of loss of sensation, mostly in the hands. Other common symptoms were instability (in 16% of patients), dizziness and vertigo (in 8%) and diplopia (in 4%).

The neurological examination showed motor deficits: hyposthenia, atrophy or reflex changes in 13 patients (52%) and gait instability in four patients (16%). Eight patients had objective sensory disturbances, and in four patients (16%) we found dissociated sensory loss (loss of pain and temperature sensations with preserved touch and joint position sense). One patient had unilateral paresis of the sixth cranial nerve. None of the patients exhibited lower cranial nerve dysfunction.

Radiological Evaluation

All patients had preoperative head and cervical MRI including sagittal and axial spin-echo T1 and T2 sequences to confirm in all cases that the cerebellar tonsils descended into the cervical canal and to search for associated syringomyelia. CSF velocity/flow studies (cine-MRI) were not performed in all cases, so we do not discuss them in this paper. The downward migration of the cerebellar tonsils was measured on MRI and ranged from 5 to 21 mm (only two patients had severe migration >15 mm).

Syringomyelia was present in 12 patients (48%): cervical syringes were found in eight patients and cervicothoracic syringes in four patients. Scoliosis was observed in one patient. None of the patients showed associated spinal dysraphism or basilar invagination.

Surgical Treatment

Patients were operated on in a prone position with the head fixed in a Mayfield[®] three-point headrest (Integra LifeSciences Corporation, Cincinnati, OH, USA). A midline skin incision extending from the external occipital protuberance down to the level of C2-C3 was performed. A large enough suboccipital craniectomy and C1 laminectomy were carried out in all cases. Under microscopic visualization, a Y-shaped incision was made in the dura mater. Arachnoid dissection allowed exposure of the herniated cerebellar tonsils: the pial surface was cauterized by bipolar coagulation (on a low setting) to achieve tonsil shrinkage. The procedure was completed with exploration of the obex to restore CSF circulation. In all cases the dura was patched with lyophilized bovine pericardium (Lyoplant[®], B. Braun Aesculap, Tuttlingen, Germany) (Fig. 1). The graft was closed with a watertight suture and fibrin glue was added around the dural closure to ensure sealing. The anaesthesia team performed Valsalva manoeuvres to test the integrity of the closure.

According to the available recordings, the mean operating time was 120 min (range 80–160 min); the longer surgical procedures were performed in those patients with a short neck or hard tonsils.



Fig. 1 Intraoperative view of duraplasty with a sutured patch

Postoperative Assessment

All patients underwent early computed tomography (CT) scanning on postoperative day 1. The clinical evaluation consisted of a neurological examination at discharge and at the first outpatient visit after almost 1 month. Patients with syringomyelia had MRI of both the brain and the whole spinal cord at the first outpatient visit, while patients with isolated cerebellar herniation had craniocervical MRI at the second visit 3 months after surgery.

In cases where serious clinical manifestations persisted we performed further MRI at 6-month follow-up. Thereafter, patients were re-evaluated 12 months after surgery and by a telephone questionnaire at 2 years or more, according to follow-up.

The follow-up period ranged from 3 to 60 months (mean 33 months).

Results

There were no major intraoperative complications or deaths, and gratifying results were achieved in our series. One patient's surgery was rescheduled because of the onset of severe bradycardia at the induction of general anaesthesia, but there were no neurological sequelae.

The changes in each symptom were graded at the last follow-up visit, as follows: complete remission, improvement, stabilization or worsening; in the event of multiple symptoms and inconsistent outcomes, we considered the worst outcome among the different symptoms. None of the patients experienced new-onset symptoms after surgery. Evaluation of the entire series showed that symptoms improved or were cured after surgery in 72% of patients. Table 2 shows the overall outcomes in our series. In 52% of patients, complete remission was achieved, with symptoms resolved. Twenty per cent of patients had an improvement of their preoperative deficits. Six patients (24%) were classified as stable, as some of their preoperative deficits improved while others were stabilized. Finally, one patient (4%) deteriorated despite undergoing surgery.

More specific analysis showed that those patients whose complaint was pain responded very well to surgery, with complete resolution in 14 of 17 cases (82.3%). Headaches or

Table 2Long-term overall outcome in 25 cases of Chiari malformation type I

Outcome	Cases [<i>n</i> (%)]
Complete remission	13 (52)
Improvement	5 (20)
Stabilization	6 (24)
Worsening	1 (4)

nuchalgia improved within the first 10–15 days after surgery in ten patients. On the other hand, preoperative motor deficits were cured (with a return to normal strength) in only four of ten patients (40%). Moreover, sensory deficits responded poorly to surgery: four of eight patients (50%) with such deficits had no change, while one patient experienced deficit progression. In general, dizziness and vertigo also improved, except in one patient with significant cervical spondylosis, which remained stable. With regard to outcomes in cases of cranial nerve deficits, the single patient with abducens nerve dysfunction had complete resolution of this sign (Table 3).

Generally, after surgery, patients who had initially presented with syringomyelia on MRI showed less symptomatic

Table 3 Long-term symptomatic outcome in 25 cases of Chiari malformation type I

Symptom	Cases $[n(\%)]$
Pain	17
Resolved	14 (82.3)
Improved	1 (5.9)
Unchanged	2 (11.8)
Worsened	0
Weakness	10
Resolved	4 (40)
Improved	4 (40)
Unchanged	2 (20)
Worsened	0
Sensory disturbance	8
Resolved	2 (25)
Improved	1 (12.5)
Unchanged	4 (50)
Worsened	1 (12.5)
Instability	4
Resolved	3 (75)
Improved	1 (25)
Unchanged	0
Worsened	0
Dizziness and vertigo	2
Resolved	1 (50)
Improved	0
Unchanged	1 (50)
Worsened	0
Diplopia	1
Resolved	1 (100)
Improved	0
Unchanged	0
Worsened	0



Fig. 2 Comparison of general improvements in symptoms in patients with and without syringomyelia

improvement than patients without a syrinx (52.6% versus 93.3%) (Fig. 2).

The syringes disappeared in seven of 12 cases (Fig. 3). In three patients this was evident on postoperative MRI obtained between 1 and 3 months after surgery. In four other cases, syringomyelia was considerably reduced but still present at the last follow-up. Conversely, in one patient the syrinx had not decreased at the 6-month follow-up MRI examination. In no patient was an increased syrinx demonstrated postoperatively.

Complications occurred in three patients (12%): one had a superficial wound infection; one had a CSF leak, which was treated conservatively; and one had a pseudomeningocele, which was treated initially with temporary lumbar drainage and later required a second surgical procedure for revision of the duraplasty.

Discussion

It is of particular importance to identify candidates who are suitable for surgery on the basis of clinical indications: a patient with no clear symptoms who is incidentally diagnosed with CM-I without syringomyelia should not be considered for surgery [28] (given that 15–30% of patients with adult Chiari malformation are asymptomatic) [29]. Asymptomatic patients may be followed up and operated upon if and when they become symptomatic; even patients who have been slightly symptomatic (i.e. experiencing a light headache evoked only by Valsalva-like manoeuvres)



Fig. 3 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in a 33-year-old male patient treated with posterior fossa decompression combined with cerebellar tonsil shrinkage by bipolar coagulation. (a) Preoperative T2-weighted sagittal image: Chiari malformation type I with a cervico-

thoracic syrinx. (b) Postoperative T2-weighted sagittal image obtained 3 months after surgery, illustrating a restored cisterna magna and disappearance of the syrinx

and stable for years may be considered for observation, with surgery being indicated in the event of deterioration. Symptomatic patients—meaning those who have an invalidating headache independently of the presence of syringomyelia—should be considered for surgery.

Surgical treatment of CM-I is aimed at expanding the volume of the posterior fossa; several surgical techniques have been used with good outcomes [18, 25].

Generally, postoperative symptomatic improvement has been reported in 61.5–93% of patients in different studies [30–33].

Certainly, the clinical response is the main priority for surgical decision making [34]; the radiological results may not be as clear as the clinical improvement. Though the compression has been relieved by the surgical procedure (enlarging subarachnoid spaces and improving CSF circulation with clinical benefit), the persistence of arachnoid scarring may prevent the nervous structures from regaining their normal position [35]. Moreover, there is no statistically significant correlation between the reduction in the syrinx size and the degree of clinical improvement [32]. Nevertheless, there can be no doubt that a permanent postoperative reduction in the syrinx size is an indicator of sufficient decompression.

One of the largest controversies in the surgical management of CM-I is whether a bony decompression is sufficient to treat the symptoms or whether duraplasty is necessary [36]. As was emphasized in a recent review [37], there is no level I or IIa evidence favouring one approach or the other. Regarding this vexata quaestio, our experience completely supports duraplasty, in accord with the literature, where lower rates of clinical response and higher rates of reoperation have been reported with dura-sparing procedures [38]. Furthermore, in experienced hands, the rate of CSFrelated complications (reported as the main disadvantage of duraplasty) may be considerably outweighed by the clinical improvement provided [39].

In our department, the next step is subarachnoid exploration to open the fourth ventricle and restore CSF flow. This manoeuvre is performed after tonsil shrinkage by bipolar coagulation in order to avoid excessive retraction on the floor of the fourth ventricle. Many authors have advocated arachnoid dissection and eventually cerebellar tonsil resection to provide an opening for the fourth ventricular outlet [40]; this procedure allows CSF circulation to be restored. It is our opinion that intradural exploration is needed, as long as CSFrelated complications can be kept low; this is based on the observation that 6–10% of patients have an intradural finding that precludes free flow of CSF out of the fourth ventricle [41].

The microsurgical procedure ends with dural closure, as we firmly believe in the importance of dural suturing to avoid CSF-related complications, such as pseudomeningocele and fistula [15]. There is a plethora of materials available [42] and there is still debate about the optimal dural graft [43, 44], which should provide a watertight suture without inducing arachnoid scarring or stimulating an inflammatory response. Use of autologous tissue requires steps for harvest (extension of the surgical incision or a second one, with an increased risk of morbidity) but ideally avoids the possibility of reaction to the graft material. Since the commercialization of synthetic materials, progress has been made toward the realization of a resistant, inert, suturable dural substitute. It is our policy to suture lyophilized bovine pericardium (Lyoplant®, B. Braun) in a watertight fashion and test the integrity of the closure with a Valsalva manoeuvre while the patient is in the Trendelenburg position. This, in our experience, minimizes the risk of postoperative CSF leakage and its consequences.

Conclusion

Osteodural decompression of the posterior fossa with cerebellar tonsil shrinkage by cautious bipolar coagulation is an operation with a high rate of success in properly selected patients. The vast majority of treated patients experience clinical improvement and a stable reduction in the size of the syrinx. In this paper, we have presented the technique with a critical analysis of the results in terms of clinical outcome and complications.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The author declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Chiari H. Über Veränderungen des Kleinhirns, des Pons und der Medulla oblongata in Folge von congenitaler Hydrocephalie des Grosshirns. Wien: K.K. Hof- und Staatsdruckerei; 1896.
- Rocque BG, Oakes WJ. Surgical treatment of Chiari I malformation. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2015;26:527–31.
- Elster AD, Chen MY. Chiari I malformations: clinical and radiologic reappraisal. Radiology. 1992;183:347–53.
- Fernández AA, Guerrero AI, Martínez MI, Vázquez ME, Fernández JB, Chesa i Octavio E, et al. Malformations of the craniocervical junction (Chiari type I and syringomyelia: classification, diagnosis and treatment). BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2009;10(Suppl 1):S1.
- Meadows J, Kraut M, Guarnieri M, Haroun RI, Carson BS. Asymptomatic Chiari type I malformations identified on magnetic resonance imaging. J Neurosurg. 2000;92:920–6.
- Nishikawa M, Sakamoto H, Hakuba A, Nakanishi N, Inoue Y. Pathogenesis of Chiari malformation: a morphometric study of the posterior cranial fossa. J Neurosurg. 1997;86:40–7.
- Anson JA, Benzel EC, Awad IA, AANS Publications Committee. Syringomyelia and the Chiari malformations. Park Ridge: American Association of Neurological Surgeons; 1997.
- Hwang HS, Moon JG, Kim CH, Oh SM, Song JH, Jeong JH. The comparative morphometric study of the posterior cranial fossa: what is effective approaches to the treatment of Chiari malformation type 1? J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2013;54:405–10.

- Fernandes YB, Ramina R, Campos-Herrera CR, Borges G. Evolutionary hypothesis for Chiari type I malformation. Med Hypotheses. 2013;81:715–9.
- Furtado SV, Reddy K, Hegde AS. Posterior fossa morphometry in symptomatic pediatric and adult Chiari I malformation. J Clin Neurosci. 2009;16:1449–54.
- Milhorat TH, Nishikawa M, Kula RW, Dlugacz YD. Mechanisms of cerebellar tonsil herniation in patients with Chiari malformations as guide to clinical management. Acta Neurochir. 2010;152:1117–27.
- Schijman E. History, anatomic forms, and pathogenesis of Chiari I malformations. Childs Nerv Syst. 2004;20:323–8.
- Briganti F, Leone G, Briganti G, Orefice G, Caranci F, Maiuri F. Spontaneous resolution of Chiari type 1 malformation. A case report and literature review. Neuroradiol J. 2013;26:304–9.
- Chavez A, Roguski M, Killeen A, Heilman C, Hwang S. Comparison of operative and non-operative outcomes based on surgical selection criteria for patients with Chiari I malformations. J Clin Neurosci. 2014;21:2201–6.
- Sindou M, Chávez-Machuca J, Hashish H. Cranio-cervical decompression for Chiari type I-malformation, adding extreme lateral foramen magnum opening and expansile duroplasty with arachnoid preservation. Technique and long-term functional results in 44 consecutive adult cases—comparison with literature data. Acta Neurochir. 2002;144:1005–19.
- Blagodatsky MD, Larionov SN, Alexandrov YA, Velm AI. Surgical treatment of Chiari I malformation with or without syringomyelia. Acta Neurochir. 1999;141:963–8.
- Ellenbogen RG, Armonda RA, Shaw DW, Winn HR. Toward a rational treatment of Chiari I malformation and syringomyelia. Neurosurg Focus. 2000;8:E6.
- Sahuquillo J, Rubio E, Poca MA, Rovira A, Rodriguez-Baeza A, Cervera C. Posterior fossa reconstruction: a surgical technique for the treatment of Chiari I malformation and Chiari I/syringomyelia complex—preliminary results and magnetic resonance imaging quantitative assessment of hindbrain migration. Neurosurgery. 1994;35:874–85.
- Sakamoto H, Nishikawa M, Hakuba A, Yasui T, Kitano S, Nakanishi N, Inoue Y. Expansive suboccipital cranioplasty for the treatment of syringomyelia associated with Chiari malformation. Acta Neurochir. 1999;141:949–61.
- Vanaclocha V, Saiz-Sapena N. Duraplasty with freeze-dried cadaveric dura versus occipital pericranium for Chiari type I malformation: comparative study. Acta Neurochir. 1997;139:112–9.
- Vanaclocha V, Saiz-Sapena N, Garcia-Casasola MC. Surgical technique for cranio-cervical decompression in syringomyelia associated with Chiari type I malformation. Acta Neurochir. 1997;139:529–40.
- Klekamp J, Batzdorf U, Samii M, Bothe HW. The surgical treatment of Chiari I malformation. Acta Neurochir. 1996;138:788–801.
- Pillay PK, Awad IA, Little JR, Hahn JF. Symptomatic Chiari malformation in adults: a new classification based on magnetic resonance imaging with clinical and prognostic significance. Neurosurgery. 1991;28:639–45.
- Versari PP, D'Aliberti G, Talamonti G, Collice M. Foraminal syringomyelia: suggestion for a grading system. Acta Neurochir. 1993;125:97–104.
- Fischer EG. Posterior fossa decompression for Chiari I deformity, including resection of the cerebellar tonsils. Childs Nerv Syst. 1995;11:625–9.
- Guyotat J, Bret P, Jouanneau E, Ricci AC, Lapras C. Syringomyelia associated with type I Chiari malformation. A 21-year retrospective study on 75 cases treated by foramen magnum decompression with a special emphasis on the value of tonsils resection. Acta Neurochir. 1998;140:745–54.

- Raftopoulos C. Surgical treatment of syringomyelia based on magnetic resonance imaging criteria. Neurosurgery. 1993;33:535–6.
- Kalb S, Perez-Orribo L, Mahan M, Theodore N, Nakaji P, Bristol RE. Evaluation of operative procedures for symptomatic outcome after decompression surgery for Chiari type I malformation. J Clin Neurosci. 2012;19:1268–72.
- Pryse-Phillips W. Evaluating migraine disability: the headache impact test instrument in context. Can J Neurol Sci. 2002;29(Suppl 2):S11–5.
- Caldarelli M, Novegno F, Vassimi L, Romani R, Tamburrini G, Di Rocco C. The role of limited posterior fossa craniectomy in the surgical treatment of Chiari malformation type I: experience with a pediatric series. J Neurosurg. 2007;106:187–95.
- Chauvet D, Carpentier A, George B. Dura splitting decompression in Chiari type 1 malformation: clinical experience and radiological findings. Neurosurg Rev. 2009;32:465–70.
- Durham SR, Fjeld-Olenec K. Comparison of posterior fossa decompression with and without duraplasty for the surgical treatment of Chiari malformation type I in pediatric patients: a metaanalysis. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2008;2:42–9.
- Limonadi FM, Selden NR. Dura-splitting decompression of the craniocervical junction: reduced operative time, hospital stay, and cost with equivalent early outcome. J Neurosurg. 2004;101:184–8.
- Xu H, Chu L, He R, Ge C, Lei T. Posterior fossa decompression with and without duraplasty for the treatment of Chiari malformation type I—a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurosurg Rev. 2017;40(2):213–21.
- Galarza M, Sood S, Ham S. Relevance of surgical strategies for the management of pediatric Chiari type I malformation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2007;23:691–6.

- Abd-El-Barr M, Groff MW. Less is more: limiting the size of posterior fossa decompressions in Chiari I malformations. World Neurosurg. 2014;81:706–7.
- Hankinson T, Tubbs RS, Wellons JC. Duraplasty or not? An evidence-based review of the pediatric Chiari I malformation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2011;27:35–40.
- Navarro R, Olavarria G, Seshadri R, Gonzales-Portillo G, McLone DG, Tomita T. Surgical results of posterior fossa decompression for patients with Chiari I malformation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2004;20:349–56.
- Hoffman CE, Souweidane MM. Cerebrospinal fluid-related complications with autologous duraplasty and arachnoid sparing in type I Chiari malformation. Neurosurgery. 2008;62:156–61.
- Tubbs RS, Beckman J, Naftel RP, Chern JJ, Wellons JC, Rozzelle CJ, et al. Institutional experience with 500 cases of surgically treated pediatric Chiari malformation type I. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2011;7:248–56.
- Tubbs RS, Smyth MD, Wellons JC, Oakes WJ. Arachnoid veils and the Chiari I malformation. J Neurosurg. 2004;100:465–7.
- Abla AA, Link T, Fusco D, Wilson DA, Sonntag VK. Comparison of dural grafts in Chiari decompression surgery: review of the literature. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2010;1:29–37.
- 43. Attenello FJ, McGirt MJ, Garcés-Ambrossi GL, Chaichana KL, Carson B, Jallo GI. Suboccipital decompression for Chiari I malformation: outcome comparison of duraplasty with expanded polytetrafluoroethylene dural substitute versus pericranial autograft. Childs Nerv Syst. 2009;25:183–90.
- Danish SF, Samdani A, Hanna A, Storm P, Sutton L. Experience with acellular human dura and bovine collagen matrix for duraplasty after posterior fossa decompression for Chiari malformations. J Neurosurg. 2006;104:16–20.

Treatment of Holocord Syringomyelia–Chiari Complex by Posterior Fossa Decompression and a Syringosubarachnoid Shunt in a Single-Stage Single Approach



Giovanni Raffa, Stefano Maria Priola, Rosaria Viola Abbritti, Antonino Scibilia, Lucia Merlo, and Antonino Germanò

Abstract *Background:* Posterior fossa decompression with expansive duraplasty is the first-line surgical approach for the treatment of symptomatic syringomyelia associated with Chiari malformation. Despite good decompression, the clinical failure rate is reported to be up to 26%. A syringosubarachnoid (S-S) shunt may be used as a secondary option.

Methods: In this paper we describe a single-institution experience of three cases of holocord syringomyelia–Chiari complex treated with foramen magnum decompression, expansive duraplasty and an S-S shunt carried out in a single-stage single approach. Following a standard suboccipital craniectomy, patients were submitted to syrinx fenestration and simultaneous insertion of an S-S shunt through a 1-mm posterior midline myelotomy at the C2 level prior to expansive dural reconstruction.

Results: Postoperative imaging showed immediate reduction of the holocord cavities. Preoperative neurological deficits rapidly improved significantly and were stabilized at follow-up.

Conclusion: In our experience the positioning of the shunt catheter at a high level of the spinal cord (C2) did not add a significant risk of morbidity and obviated the need for a second operation and/or a separate incision in cases of clinical failure. This technique avoided the risk associated with a second surgery and its morbidity, and allowed prompt clinical recovery.

G. Raffa (🖂)

Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Messina, Messina, Italy

Division of Neurosurgery, University of Messina, Messina, Italy e-mail: giovanni.raffa@unime.it

S. M. Priola Division of Neurosurgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

R. V. Abbritti · A. Scibilia · L. Merlo · A. Germanò Division of Neurosurgery, University of Messina, Messina, Italy **Keywords** Chiari malformation · Holocord syringomyelia Single-stage approach · Syringosubarachnoid shunt

Introduction

Since the first description of syringomyelia–Chiari complex [1], several surgical procedures have been proposed. So far, however, none of these has been able to completely resolve the disease and be proposed as a universally recognized standard [2–11]. In the last decade, surgical strategies have been focused on splitting the outer leaf of the dura mater without duraplasty [12], widening or decompression of the foramen magnum by dural microincisions alone [13] or by excision of the external dura with delamination and widening of the internal layer through longitudinal incisions [14] and, finally, posterior fossa reconstruction with duraplasty [15].

Nevertheless, a syringosubarachnoid (S-S) shunt typically placed at the largest level of the syrinx has also been suggested in patients with a large-sized cavity and central cord syndrome [3, 4, 16, 17].

Despite these numerous treatments aimed at direct and/or indirect resolution of the proposed different pathophysiological mechanisms of this complex disease, in some cases it is still possible to have an unsatisfactory clinical and/or radiological postoperative outcome after posterior fossa decompression (PFD). The current literature reports a clinical failure rate of up to 26% [18] and a radiological failure rate of up to 55% in these cases [19–21]. Therefore, treatment of syringomyelia still requires new surgical strategies to improve the prognosis in these subsets of patients.

PFD and S-S shunting are usually performed separately in different types of patients [3, 4, 16, 17, 22], eventually combined in the same patient but usually separated into two different surgical sessions [4, 9, 17, 23] or performed in a two-stage approach [16, 24].

The aim of this study is to describe our experience with three cases of holocord syringomyelia associated with Chiari malformation submitted to standard PFD with expansive duraplasty and, simultaneously, placement of a C2 S-S shunt in a single-stage single approach.

Material and Methods

Patient Population

Between September 2010 and October 2011, three patients (two male and one female), ranging in age from 18 to 62 years (mean 46.7 years), were diagnosed with holocord syringomyelia–Chiari complex by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). We collected and reviewed information on all nosological, preoperative and postoperative clinical symptoms and neurological signs, neuroradiological findings, and length of follow-up for each patient, as reported in Table 1. All patients signed informed consent for surgery and for scientific use of their clinical data.

The patients experienced progressive symptoms over a period ranging from 3 weeks to 2 years before diagnosis,

which included a common history of dysesthesia in the lower extremities and extending to the upper ones, unsteady gait, and impairment of fine hand movements. The neurological examination on admission revealed spastic paraparesis with increased reflexes and weakness of the forearm muscles and grasp, with hypesthesia in all cases, increased muscle tone in the upper extremities in two patients and hand deformity (*main en griffe*) in one.

We semiquantitatively assessed the severity of cervical myelopathy by using the modified Japanese Orthopaedic Association (mJOA) scale [25]. The mean preoperative mJOA score was 9.4 (range 9–10).

MRI of the spinal cord showed caudal dislocation of the cerebellar tonsils into the cervical canal below the foramen magnum, ranging from 10 to 17.2 mm (mean 14.1 mm) (Table 1), associated with a large holocord syringomyelia with thinned spinal cord tissue and an obliterated spinal subarachnoid space extending from C2 to T11 level (Fig. 1a). The preoperative mean diameter of the cavity, calculated at the largest level on the axial T2 sequence, was 12.2 mm (range 8.4–18.1 mm) (Fig. 1b; Table 1). The syrinx/canal index proposed by Hida and Iwasaki [3] exceeded 90% in all cases (range 91.3–97.5%) (Table 2).

Table 1 Summary of nosological, neuroradiological and clinical data

	Patient age	Time to diagnosis	Syrinx location	Cerebellar tonsil caudal	Main diameter of syrinx (mm)		Symptoms and signs ^a		Follow-up
Case no.	(years); sex	(months)		dislocation (mm)	Preoperative	Postoperative	Preoperative	Postoperative	duration (months)
#1	18; male	12	C2-T11	17.2	18.1	6.2	mJOA score 10	mJOA score 16	60
							I: 2 (right hand <i>en griffe</i>)	I: 3 (right hand <i>en griffe</i>)	
							II: 2	II: 4	
							III: 1/1/1 (>right side)	III: 2/2/2	
							IV: 3	IV: 3	
#2	62; male	24	C2-T7	10	8.4	2.8	mJOA score 9	mJOA score 16	58
							I: 2	I: 4	
							II: 2	II: 3	
							III: 1/0/1	III: 2/2/2	
							IV: 3 Dysphagia and odynophagia	IV: 3	
#3	60;	15	C2-T5	15	10	2.5	mJOA score 9	mJOA score 17	48
	female						I: 2	I: 4	
							II: 2	II: 4	
							III: 1/1/0	III: 2/2/2	
							IV: 3	IV: 3	

^aSymptoms and signs according to the modified Japanese Orthopaedic Association (mJOA) scale



Fig. 1 Preoperative magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of case #1. (a) Sagittal T2-weighted study demonstrating Chiari malformation type I and a large holocord syringomyelia extending from C2 to T11.

Table 2 Pre- and postoperative syrinx/canal indexes [9]

	Syrinx/canal index (%)		
Case no.	Preoperative	Postoperative	
#1	97.5	31	
#2	91.3	59.7	
#3	92.5	42.3	

Operative Procedure

Patients were submitted to standard PFD. The operation was carried out in the prone position, with a midline skin incision extending from the external occipital protuberance to the spinous process of C3. A suboccipital craniectomy $(3 \times 3 \text{ cm})$ with opening of the foramen magnum, removal of the posterior arch of C1 and laminectomy of C2 was performed. The dura mater at the cervico-occipital junction was exposed and an operating microscope was brought in. The dura mater was carefully opened in a Y shape and the arachnoid membrane

(**b**) Axial T2-weighted image; the syrinx/canal index at the C2 level exceeds 90%. (The *dashed line* indicates the maximum diameter of the spinal canal; the *solid line* shows the diameter of the syrinx cavity)

was incised, showing migration of the cerebellar tonsils into the spinal canal.

At this point, a 1-mm-long posterior C2 myelotomy was performed on the midline, targeted to the syrinx, in a relatively avascular area (Fig. 2a). With use of microscissors, the cavity was fenestrated, obtaining immediate outflow of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) under pressure. Thereafter, an antibiotic-impregnated silicone catheter with multiple fenestrations at its end [26] (Codman® Bactiseal® EVD Catheter Set; Codman & Shurtleff, Inc., Raynham, MA, USA) was inserted (Fig. 2b). The catheter was placed in a cephalic direction to maintain the physiological CSF outflow, with the caudal part positioned in the subarachnoid space at the C3 level. The distal lateral catheter's outlets were left outside the cavity to facilitate free CSF subarachnoid drainage. The catheter was left in place without any securing [27] to avoid iatrogenic spinal cord fixation. Finally, an expansive reconstructive posterior fossa duraplasty was performed with a dural substitute graft (Gore Preclude® PDX; WL Gore & Associates, Inc., Flagstaff, AZ, USA).



Fig. 2 Intraoperative pictures of case #1. (a) Posterior 1-mm midline myelotomy performed in a relatively avascular area at the C2 level following posterior fossa decompression. (b) Insertion of a syringosubarachnoid shunt into the syrinx cavity through the myelotomy



Fig. 3 Postoperative magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of case #1. (a) Sagittal T2-weighted study demonstrating the catheter inside the syrinx (*arrow*) and significant reduction of the holocord cavity. (b, c) Axial T2-weighted images showing the catheter within the cavity

(*arrow*), exiting from the spinal cord at the C2 level and lying freely in the subarachnoid space, and confirming the reduction of the syrinx/ canal index (*dashed line*)

Results

Clinical Course and Outcome

The patients had a fast postoperative recovery. Improvement of the preoperative leg weakness and hypesthesia was immediately evident 1 day after surgery. At a mean follow-up of 55 months after surgery (range 48–60 months), all patients had achieved satisfactory recovery of their neurological symptoms. At follow-up the mean mJOA score was 16.4 (range 16–17). In detail, motor weakness had improved by two points in two cases and by one point in the remaining patient, whose right hand was still *en griffe*. Sensitive deficits showed a threepoint improvement in the mJOA score in one case and four points in the other two. No bladder dysfunction was present preoperatively or postoperatively in any of the patients. In case #2, the patient experienced dysphagia and odynophagia, but they rapidly resolved in the postoperative period. The patients remained neurologically stable at the follow-up evaluations up to 60 months postoperatively (Table 1).

MRI performed in the postoperative period demonstrated optimal PFD together with a significant reduction in the holocord cavity (Fig. 3a). Axial T2 MRI sequences showed that the maximum diameter of the syrinx cavity at the C2 level was reduced by 75–66.6% (mean 69.1%) to 3.8 mm (range 2.5–6.2 mm) (Fig. 3b, c). Therefore, the syrinx/canal index was reduced to 31% (range 31–59.7%) (Table 2). No surgical complications or damage of the spinal cord at the myelotomy entry point were observed.

Discussion

In this paper we report a retrospective analysis of a singlecentre experience of three patients affected by holocord syringomyelia and Chiari malformation treated at our institution with combined PFD, expansive duraplasty and simultaneous insertion of a C2 S-S shunt. All surgical procedures were carried out in a single-stage single approach. This strategy was performed with the aim of combining the two most widely used surgeries for management of this disease complex. The combination of these techniques allowed effective and less invasive treatment with prompt clinical and radiological recovery.

In recent years we have observed a growing body of literature focused on analysis of the pathophysiological mechanisms of syringomyelia–Chiari complex, suggesting different surgical procedures [1]. PFD is one of the most widely used surgical procedures for treatment of this disease complex. Nevertheless, there is still a significant proportion of patients who fail to improve, either clinically or radiologically, after PFD.

Over the years, several surgical strategies have been proposed to improve the clinical and neuroradiological results of PFD: removal [12] or widening by transverse microincisions [13] of the outer layer of the dura mater; opening of both dural layers, leaving the arachnoid intact [14]; and posterior fossa reconstruction with expansive dural grafting [15].

Although none of these approaches is free of complications [12, 28], PFD with its variants remains the most widely performed surgical approach for syringomyelia–Chiari complex. Therefore, the positioning of an S-S shunt is still considered a secondary procedure that should be performed in the event of failure of the former procedure [29].

There is evidence that in some cases, patients with small syringes could experience progression despite craniovertebral decompression and could require a second surgery for the syrinx shunt [16]. Conversely, in some cases the syrinx resolves after shunting alone, even if PFD is not performed and the CSF flow obstruction at the level of the foramen magnum has not been removed [10]. Subsequently, to ensure postoperative relief of symptoms, PFD and S-S shunting are often both necessary to achieve a satisfactory outcome in many cases.

In the literature, various types of shunts have been described, including S-S [3, 4, 7, 9], syringoperitoneal [5], syringopleural [11] and the coperitoneal [10] shunting. These procedures are associated with a good postoperative outcome, at least in the early postoperative period. Nevertheless, there are some reports of delayed complications and disadvantages, such as shunt malfunction, slippage and cord injury [4, 30]. Moreover, it has been reported that many patients treated using shunt procedures alone have required a subsequent revision or PFD [29].

In the light of such evidence, PFD and S-S shunts should be considered two complementary procedures, acting on two different pathophysiological mechanisms: compression at the craniovertebral junction and alteration of the normal CSF circulation. Actually, they are usually performed separately in different subset of patients [3, 4, 16, 17, 22]. In many cases, they are combined but done during two separate surgical sessions [4, 9, 17, 23]. In a few cases, they are performed during the same operation [8] or in a two-stage approach [16, 24]. The shunt is usually inserted at the largest level of the syrinx [3, 4, 9, 16, 17, 23, 24, 30, 31], usually at the lower cervical or midthoracic level. The choice of the catheter insertion point usually corresponds to the largest portion of the syrinx, where its insertion is considered to ensure better decompression. This has been reported even for multilocular syringes [9]. Nevertheless, in the literature there is also a lack of consensus regarding myelotomy in terms of its exact location (dorsal root entry [3, 4] versus midline entry [16]) and its length (1 cm [8] versus 2 mm [17]), and the direction of the shunt (craniocaudal [17] versus caudocranial [31]).

Considering the conflicting literature reports, it is actually difficult to prove the usefulness of any therapeutic procedure in decreasing intramedullary tension. Currently there are no objective criteria and no standard radiological parameters to suggest which technique will better resolve a syrinx when it is associated with Chiari malformation. The clinical and radiological recurrence rate of syringes following PFD with duraplasty alone in patients with syringomyelia–Chiari complex has been reported to be up to 26% [18], with a long-term radiological failure rate ranging between 6% [18] and 55% [19–21].

In the light of this evidence, there is still a need for definition of an effective strategy for treatment of syringomyelia-Chiari complex, aimed at improving the postoperative outcome. In the literature, there are only a few reports describing the combination of PFD with an S-S shunt, or insertion of an S-S shunt following failure of initial PFD [8, 9, 16, 22, 24]. In those studies it was concluded that the combination of PFD and an S-S shunt was superior to PFD or shunt placement alone: resolution of the syrinx was achieved in a higher percentage of patients, without recurrences [8, 9, 9]16, 22, 24]. In the present study, we documented that simultaneous PFD and S-S shunt insertion could be performed in a single-stage approach and was associated with satisfactory short- and long-term postoperative outcomes. Moreover, the strength of this strategy is that it could avoid the need for subsequent surgeries after treatment failure in cases in which PFD or an S-S shunt alone is not sufficient to provide satisfactory relief from symptoms.

Conclusion

In this paper we have presented a different surgical strategy to treat holocord syringomyelia–Chiari complex in a singlestage procedure. The positioning of the shunt catheter at a high level of the spinal cord (C2) did not add a significant risk of morbidity. This technique, which links two already standardized procedures in a single-stage single approach, avoided the risk associated with a second surgery and its morbidity, and allowed prompt clinical recovery.

We recognize that a retrospective single-institution experience does not allow us to draw definitive conclusions. However, our report supports the existing evidence that the combination of both techniques performed in the same surgical approach is safe, is feasible and contributes to achieving faster recovery times without adding a significant risk of morbidity related to both the site of catheter insertion and a second surgery, in comparison with a standard two-stage approach.

Further studies are required to evaluate the long-term efficacy of this strategy.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- 1. Pinna G, Alessandrini F, Alfieri A, Rossi M, Bricolo A. Cerebrospinal fluid flow dynamics study in Chiari I malformation: implications for syrinx formation. Neurosurg Focus. 2000;8:E3.
- Guyotat J, Bret P, Jouanneau E, Ricci AC, Lapras C. Syringomyelia associated with type I Chiari malformation. A 21-year retrospective study on 75 cases treated by foramen magnum decompression with a special emphasis on the value of tonsils resection. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1998;140:745–54.
- Hida K, Iwasaki Y. Syringosubarachnoid shunt for syringomyelia associated with Chiari I malformation. Neurosurg Focus. 2001;11:E7.
- Iwasaki Y, Hida K, Koyanagi I, Abe H. Reevaluation of syringosubarachnoid shunt for syringomyelia with Chiari malformation. Neurosurgery. 2000;46:407–12. Discussion 412-403.
- Lesoin F, Petit H, Thomas CE 3rd, Viaud C, Baleriaux D, Jomin M. Use of the syringoperitoneal shunt in the treatment of syringomyelia. Surg Neurol. 1986;25:131–6.
- Milhorat TH, Johnson WD, Miller JI. Syrinx shunt to posterior fossa cisterns (syringocisternostomy) for bypassing obstructions of upper cervical theca. J Neurosurg. 1992;77:871–4.
- Padovani R, Cavallo M, Gaist G. Surgical treatment of syringomyelia: favorable results with syringosubarachnoid shunting. Surg Neurol. 1989;32:173–80.
- Rhoton AL Jr. Microsurgery of Arnold–Chiari malformation in adults with and without hydromyelia. J Neurosurg. 1976;45:473–83.
- Tator CH, Meguro K, Rowed DW. Favorable results with syringosubarachnoid shunts for treatment of syringomyelia. J Neurosurg. 1982;56:517–23.
- Vassilouthis J, Papandreou A, Anagnostaras S, Pappas J. Thecoperitoneal shunt for syringomyelia: report of three cases. Neurosurgery. 1993;33:324–7. Discussion 327-328.
- 11. Williams B, Page N. Surgical treatment of syringomyelia with syringopleural shunting. Br J Neurosurg. 1987;1:63–80.
- Isu T, Sasaki H, Takamura H, Kobayashi N. Foramen magnum decompression with removal of the outer layer of the dura as treatment for syringomyelia occurring with Chiari I malformation. Neurosurgery. 1993;33:845–9. Discussion 849-850.

- Gambardella G, Caruso G, Caffo M, Germano A, La Rosa G, Tomasello F. Transverse microincisions of the outer layer of the dura mater combined with foramen magnum decompression as treatment for syringomyelia with Chiari I malformation. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1998;140:134–9.
- Kotil K, Ton T, Tari R, Savas Y. Delamination technique together with longitudinal incisions for treatment of Chiari I/syringomyelia complex: a prospective clinical study. Cerebrospinal Fluid Res. 2009;6:7.
- Sahuquillo J, Rubio E, Poca MA, Rovira A, Rodriguez-Baeza A, Cervera C. Posterior fossa reconstruction: a surgical technique for the treatment of Chiari I malformation and Chiari I/syringomyelia complex—preliminary results and magnetic resonance imaging quantitative assessment of hindbrain migration. Neurosurgery. 1994;35:874–84. Discussion 884-875.
- Alzate JC, Kothbauer KF, Jallo GI, Epstein FJ. Treatment of Chiari I malformation in patients with and without syringomyelia: a consecutive series of 66 cases. Neurosurg Focus. 2001;11:E3.
- Hida K, Iwasaki Y, Koyanagi I, Sawamura Y, Abe H. Surgical indication and results of foramen magnum decompression versus syringosubarachnoid shunting for syringomyelia associated with Chiari I malformation. Neurosurgery. 1995;37:673–8. Discussion 678-679.
- Hayhurst C, Richards O, Zaki H, Findlay G, Pigott TJ. Hindbrain decompression for Chiari–syringomyelia complex: an outcome analysis comparing surgical techniques. Br J Neurosurg. 2008;22:86–91.
- Alfieri A, Pinna G. Long-term results after posterior fossa decompression in syringomyelia with adult Chiari type I malformation. J Neurosurg Spine. 2012;17:381–7.
- Kalb S, Perez-Orribo L, Mahan M, Theodore N, Nakaji P, Bristol RE. Evaluation of operative procedures for symptomatic outcome after decompression surgery for Chiari type I malformation. J Clin Neurosci. 2012;19:1268–72.
- Lee HS, Lee SH, Kim ES, Kim JS, Lee JI, Shin HJ, et al. Surgical results of arachnoid-preserving posterior fossa decompression for Chiari I malformation with associated syringomyelia. J Clin Neurosci. 2012;19:557–60.
- Goel A, Desai K. Surgery for syringomyelia: an analysis based on 163 surgical cases. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2000;142:293–301. Discussion 301-292.
- Agarwal A, Thamburaj K. Syringosubarachnoid shunt for syringomyelia associated with Chiari I malformation. Pediatr Radiol. 2010;40(Suppl 1):S156.
- Ergun R, Akdemir G, Gezici AR, Tezel K, Beskonakli E, Ergungor F, et al. Surgical management of syringomyelia–Chiari complex. Eur Spine J. 2000;9:553–7.
- Benzel EC, Lancon J, Kesterson L, Hadden T. Cervical laminectomy and dentate ligament section for cervical spondylotic myelopathy. J Spinal Disord. 1991;4:286–95.
- Raffa G, Marseglia L, Gitto E, Germano A. Antibiotic-impregnated catheters reduce ventriculoperitoneal shunt infection rate in highrisk newborns and infants. Childs Nerv Syst. 2015;31:1129–38.
- Raffa G, Conti A, Cardali SM, Angileri FF, Germano A. The efficacy of 90 cm–long peritoneal shunt catheters in newborns and infants. J Neurosurg Sci. 2017;61:33–8.
- Batzdorf U. Chiari I malformation with syringomyelia. Evaluation of surgical therapy by magnetic resonance imaging. J Neurosurg. 1988;68:726–30.
- Batzdorf U, Klekamp J, Johnson JP. A critical appraisal of syrinx cavity shunting procedures. J Neurosurg. 1998;89:382–8.
- Sgouros S, Williams B. A critical appraisal of drainage in syringomyelia. J Neurosurg. 1995;82:1–10.
- Vaquero J, Martinez R, Salazar J, Santos H. Syringosubarachnoid shunt for treatment of syringomyelia. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1987;84:105–9.

Surgical Treatment of Chiari Malformation in Adults: Comparison of Surgical Techniques Described in the Literature and Our Experience



L. Lavorato, A. Spallone, and M. Visocchi

Keywords Chiari · Malformation · Surgery · Techniques

Introduction

Chiari malformations (CMs) constitute a group of different clinicopathological entities with varying aetiology, pathophysiology and clinical features. They represent varying degrees of herniation through the foramen magnum. Professor Hans Chiari (1851–1916) devised a four-tier classification system for these entities [1, 2]. His initial description was based on the findings of these malformations in 40 autopsies he performed in Prague [1, 2].

CM type I (CM-I), initially described in 1891, constitutes a syndrome where the cerebellar tonsils descend through the foramen magnum for at least 3–5 mm (Fig. 1). It may be occasionally associated with an elongated fourth ventricle. Frequently, it is a disorder of mesodermal origin, but neuroectodermal and acquired forms have also been reported [3].

CM type II (CM-II), described in 1896, consists of descent of the cerebellar vermis, the fourth ventricle and the lower brainstem, and almost always is seen in conjunction with a myelomeningocele. It is the most common form of CM. Hydrocephalus always coexists with CM-II, and it may also be associated with spina bifida and other abnormalities. The syndrome has a neuroectodermal origin [3]. CM-II remains the leading cause of death in patients with a treated myelomeningocele [4, 5].

A. Spallone

NCL-NEUROMED, Institute of Neuroscience, Rome, Italy

M. Visocchi

CM type III (CM-III) is based on the description of a single case, in which there was a large dermal sac in the occipital region, containing herniated cerebellum. CM-III is characterized by displacement of the medulla and herniation of part of the cerebellum into a meningocele. Sometimes part of the hindbrain is also herniated. Hydrocephalus is present in 50% of these cases and is always of obstructive aetiology, with an aqueductal stenosis or an associated Dandy–Walker malformation. CM-III is a neuroectodermal malformation [3].

CM type IV (CM-IV) represents a pathological entity of cerebellar hypoplasia. It is the least frequent form of CM and is characterized by hypoplasia or aplasia of the cerebellar hemispheres and morphological alterations of the pons. Hydrocephalus is quite rare among patients with CM-IV. It is a disorder of neuroectodermal origin [3].



Fig. 1 Chiari malformation (CM)

L. Lavorato (🖂)

NCL-NEUROMED, Institute of Neuroscience, Rome, Italy

Catholic University "Our Lady of Good Counsel", Tirana, Albania e-mail: segreteria1@nclroma.it

Department of Neurosurgery, Policlinico "A. Gemelli", University "Cattolica", Rome, Italy

Many researchers have described another form, CM type 0, which is characterized by an alteration in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) hydrodynamics at the anatomical level of the foramen magnum. It is a pathological entity characterized by some degree of posterior tilt of the pons and the medulla, with displacement of the medulla oblongata, a low tip of the obex and a normal position of the cerebellar tonsils. Patients with this condition also demonstrate syringomyelia, either without tonsil herniation or with only mild tonsil herniation [6, 7]. Mottolese et al., like many other neurosurgeons, have expressed doubts regarding the existence of this type of CM [8].

Caudal displacement of the brainstem with cerebellar tonsil ectopia in the absence of spina bifida has been considered a separate form of Chiari malformation and is called CM type 1.5 [9].

The pathogenesis of CM has been extensively studied by several researchers, who have developed various explanatory theories. Examples of these theories are developmental arrest due to myeloschisis [10-13]; the overgrowth theory, which suggests enlargement of the neural plate prior to neurulation, thus preventing fusion of the neural folds [14]; the neuroschisis theory [15, 16]; the neuroectodermal-mesodermal spatial dyssynchrony theory [11]; and the traction theory [17]. In regard to the pathogenetic mechanisms implicated in the development of CM syringomyelia, which frequently coexists with CM-I, Gardner, in 1965, developed the hydrodynamic theory, which postulates that lack of perforation of the rhombencephalic roof and persistence of a patent communication between the fourth ventricle and the central canal of the spinal cord could lead to syrinx development [18]. Oldfield and colleagues reported another theory regarding the creation of a syringomyelic cavity, based on cine magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and intraoperative ultrasonographic findings [19]. According to this theory, CM-associated anomalies could induce a piston-like motion, thus affecting the cerebellar tonsils and producing a systolic wave in the CSF flow, which acts on the spinal cord and induces CSF leakage through the interstitial and perivascular spaces [19]. Nishikawa et al. studied posterior fossa morphology in 30 sporadic cases of CM-I anomalies and 50 control cases, and they reported underdevelopment of the occipital bone along with compression of the cerebellum and the brainstem, resulting in caudal herniation through the foramen magnum [20]. In addition, several other authors have reported development of acquired CM-I, secondary to prolapse of the cerebellar tonsils through the foramen magnum in patients with previously inserted ventriculoperitoneal or lumbar-peritoneal shunts [21, 22]. Occipital hypoplasia, overgrowth of posterior fossa anatomical elements, decreased osseous posterior fossa volume, underdevelopment of the occipital bone, and the presence of posterior fossa vascular malformations, hydrocephalus, posterior fossa masses, lumbar-peritoneal

shunts, and craniofacial and posterior cranial base malformations may contribute to development of CM.

The aim of our study was to review the literature regarding surgical treatment of CM, with evaluation of different surgical approaches, their modifications and our experience with our techniques.

Materials and Methods

A total of 20 patients underwent corrective surgery for CM from 1990 to 2015. All patients underwent craniectomy and laminectomy (C1) and dura opening without arachnoid opening. All patients were noted to have undergone a thorough clinical examination and MRI prior to surgery. All patients received an explanation of the advantages and possible complications of the procedure before giving their written consent for the procedure.

Of the 20 patients, 11 had CM-I and the other nine had CM-II (Fig. 2). The average age of the patients was 31 years (range 27–35 years). All of the patients presented with a headache, and their other symptoms included neck pain, hemiparesis, nystagmus, dysmetria and other cerebellar signs. In two cases, CM was associated with a spinal deformity and in four cases it was associated with syringomyelia.

Surgery was performed in all patients in the prone position with a head elevation of 20–30°. The head was held in a Mayfield three-pin frame. The patient's neck was flexed at the craniocervical junction and extended at the



Fig. 2 Preoperative T2-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)



Fig. 3 Intraoperative view: the dura mater has been opened and the arachnoid has been conserved

cervicothoracic junction for easy and safe access to the foramen magnum. Surgery was performed via a midline incision, which extended from 2 cm to 3 cm above the inion to the second cervical vertebra. The inion, the midline of the occiput down to the foramen magnum, the posterior arch of C1 and the lamina of C2 were exposed. Suboccipital craniectomy was carried out from the inferior nuchal line to the posterolateral rim of the foramen magnum, and C1 laminectomy alone was done to expose the dura. The dura was opened without opening the arachnoid (Fig. 3).

After were no placed dural patch. Patients were closely followed up over the years to detect any recurrence of symptoms at an early stage. In all patients, MRI was performed after surgery (Fig. 4).

Results

The data of the 20 patients who underwent corrective surgery for CM were retrieved and analysed.

A CSF leak was noted in five patients (25%). The leak either resolved spontaneously and not needed a shunt procedure.

Neck and shoulder pain, headache and paraesthesia were the common presenting complaints in all patients. These symptoms improved in all patients after the surgery.

During follow-up, we observed an early beneficial outcome and stabilization of the disease in 18 patients (90%). Two (10%) showed late deterioration. The two patients diagnosed with syringomyelia both had a sustained improvement. One patient died from clinical problems not related to CM.



Fig.4 Postoperative T2-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI): the intrafascial cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leakage has resolved spontaneously

Discussion of the Surgical Techniques Described in the Literature

There is evidence that underdevelopment of the mesodermal occipital bone is responsible for the small volume of the posterior fossa found in patients with CM, resulting in abnormal flow of CSF at the foramen magnum [11, 12]. The logical target is to extrapolate enlargement of the dimensions of the posterior fossa and re-establishment of CSF flow at the craniocervical junction to improvement of symptoms. Badie et al. [9] demonstrated that CM-I patients with a decreased posterior fossa volume responded better to surgical decompression than those with a normal posterior fossa volume [9]. The outcome is difficult to predict and is variable despite perceived adequate decompression. Improvement or resolution of symptoms has been reported in large series in the literature [10, 14].

The optimal surgical treatment for symptomatic CM remains controversial. The target of surgery is to restore normal CSF dynamics at the craniocervical junction. However, to achieve this surgical target, many different operative techniques have been recommended. Establishment of good CSF flow from the fourth ventricle to the cervical subarachnoid space is the aim of hindbrain decompression. Williams described the traditional technique of creating an artificially enlarged cisterna magna to provide a reservoir for spinal pressure surges [13, 15]. His technique included suturing the

dural edges to the divided suboccipital muscles with wide arachnoid dissection [15]. A modification of this technique includes duraplasty to avoid CSF leakage and pseudomeningocele formation, with dura splitting (leaving the inner layer of the dura and arachnoid intact) or bone-only decompression to avoid CSF exposure and subsequent arachnoid adhesion formation. The extent of decompression necessary to achieve normal CSF dynamics varies between patients and is not dependent only on the level of tonsillar descent, the presence of a syrinx and the resulting symptomatology. Even when good CSF flow is thought to have been achieved by surgery, with the extent of decompression tailored to the individual patient's circumstances, a significant proportion of patients will have no improvement in their symptoms. Bone-only decompression provides a minimally invasive method of restoring CSF circulation. Patients undergoing bone-only decompression, many of whom have previously suffered from headaches, have experienced resolution or improvement of their symptoms, whereas poor outcomes have been seen in patients with dysaesthetic pain or ataxia. This suggests that patients presenting with more than a simple classical Chiari-type headache should undergo a formal dural-opening procedure. In addition, the rate of recurrence of symptoms is significantly higher after bony decompression than after dural opening. Predicting which patients' symptomatology will consistently improve with hindbrain decompression remains an elusive goal. McGirt et al. described the use of cine phase contrast MRI of CSF flow at the foramen magnum as a predictor of which patients are likely to respond to hindbrain decompression, and showed that complete obstruction of CSF flow demonstrated preoperatively was an independent predictor of long-term symptom resolution, regardless of the degree of tonsillar ectopia [17]. In addition, patients with syringomyelia or generalized headaches were at increased risk of symptom recurrence. There was a complication rate of up to 42% in patients where the dura was opened and a 10% complication rate in those where the dura was left intact [18-20]. Indeed, postoperative pyogenic meningitis occurred only in the group treated with dural opening without duraplasty. Several deaths have been reported after posterior fossa decompression for CM, with a reported mortality rate of 3% [19, 21]. Many complications of hindbrain decompression are related to CSF exposure to blood, muscle and cellular debris, resulting in adhesive arachnoiditis and causing impedance of CSF flow. Although bone-only decompression may avoid these complications, the outcome in relation to symptom improvement is poor, with 25% of patients showing no change in their headaches and 60% showing no change in arm dysaesthesia. Some authors advocate a dura-splitting approach to avoid CSF exposure but provide better decompression than removing only bone [22]. Williams noted that signs related to a syringomyelic cavity, such as muscle wasting and sensory loss,

seldom improve following hindbrain decompression. The longer the clinical history, the worse the prognosis. Some authors suggest that patients with symptoms lasting longer than 2 years have a worse prognosis [23]. This is particularly true of syringomyelia, where irreversible neurological damage may persist after surgery even when resolution of the syrinx is seen. This may explain the poor outcome of patients with dysaesthetic pain or weakness. Studies have reported that posterior fossa syndromes such as headache, ataxia and drop attacks were more likely to improve following hindbrain decompression. This finding was demonstrated in 70-100% of cases [18, 19, 23, 24]. Radiological resolution or improvement of the syrinx was seen in 88% of cases. Improvement or stabilization of syringomyelia occurred in 65-88% of cases following hindbrain decompression [17, 21, 25, 26]. With regard to scoliosis, a lot of patients showed resolution or stabilization of the curvature following hindbrain decompression. Up to 71% of children showed improvement [18, 27, 28].

Conclusion

Chiari malformation is being increasingly diagnosed but remains little understood in terms of its aetiology and symptomatology. Restoration of cerebrospinal fluid flow dynamics at the foramen magnum by surgical decompression, demonstrated both at operation and on postoperative imaging, does not consistently result in resolution of symptoms in all patients. Identification of predictors of a successful outcome following decompression, coupled with early intervention and an appropriate choice of procedure, may result in improved outcomes. Many studies have suggested that boneonly decompression should be reserved for patients with isolated headache symptoms.

In our experience the surgical technique we have adopted is a good strategy to treat CM, the results are good, and the improvements observed during follow-up are encouraging, arguing against a greater surgical commitment. The operation used in these patients poses significant technical difficulties related to the need to keep the arachnoid intact while opening the dura mater, but this method has the advantage of preventing complications related to contamination of nonbacterial liquor that may occur with some frequency with speeches in which it is planned to open the dura mater.

As noted in the present experience, improvement of syringomyelic cavities possibly present is constant.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Abd-El-Barr MM, Strong CI, Groff MW. Chiari malformations: diagnosis, treatments and failures. J Neurosurg Sci. 2014;58:215–21.
- 2. Greenberg MS. Handbook of neurosurgery. 7th ed. New York: Thieme; 2010.
- Speer MC, Enterline DS, Mehltretter L, et al. Chiari type I malformation with or without syringomyelia: prevalence and genetics. J Genet Couns. 2003;12:297–311.
- Batzdorf U. Syringomyelia, Chiari malformation and hydromyelia. In: Youman JR, editor. Neurological surgery. 4th ed. Philadelphia: Saunders; 1996. p. 1090–109.
- 5. Tubb RS, Pugh JA, Oakes WJ. Chiari malformations. In: Winn HR, editor. Youmans neurological surgery. 6th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders; 2011. p. 1918–27.
- Batzdorf U. Microsurgery of syringomyelia and syringomyelia cord syndrome. In: Schmidek HH, Roberts DW, editors. Operative neurosurgical techniques. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier; 2006. p. 1767–75.
- Pollack IF, Pang D, Albright AL, et al. Outcome following hindbrain decompression of symptomatic Chiari malformations in children previously treated with myelomeningocele closure and shunt. J Neurosurg. 1992;77:881–8.
- Castillo M. Neuroradiology companion. 4th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2012.
- Badie B, Mendoza D, Batzdorf U. Posterior fossa volume and response to suboccipital decompression in patients with Chiari I malformation. Neurosurgery. 1995;37:214–8.
- Alzate JC, Kothbauer KF, Jallo GI, Epstein FJ. Treatment of Chiari I malformation in patients with and without syringomyelia: a consecutive series of 66 cases. Neurosurg Focus. 2001;11:E3.
- Cahan LD, Bentson JR. Considerations in the diagnosis and treatment of syringomyelia and the Chiari malformation. J Neurosurg. 1982;57:24–31.
- Rhoton AL Jr. Microsurgery of Arnold–Chiari malformation in adults with and without hydromyelia. J Neurosurg. 1976;45:473–83.
- Williams B. Surgery for hindbrain related syringomyelia. Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg. 1993;20:107–64.
- Tubbs RS, McGirt MJ, Oakes WJ. Surgical experience in 130 pediatric patients with Chiari I malformations. J Neurosurg. 2003;99:291–6.
- Findlay G, Owen R. Surgery of the spine: a combined orthopaedic and neurosurgical approach. Boston: Blackwell Scientific Publications; 1992.

- Yeh DD, Koch B, Crone KR. Intraoperative ultrasonography used to determine the extent of surgery necessary during posterior fossa decompression in children with Chiari malformation type I. J Neurosurg. 2006;105(1 Suppl):26–32.
- McGirt MJ, Nimjee SM, Fuchs HE, George TM. Relationship of cine phase-contrast magnetic resonance imaging with outcome after decompression for Chiari I malformations. Neurosurgery. 2006;59:140–6. discussion 140–6.
- Genitori L, Peretta P, Nurisso C, Macinante L, Mussa F. Chiari type I anomalies in children and adolescents: minimally invasive management in a series of 53 cases. Childs Nerv Syst. 2000;16(10–11):707–18.
- Klekamp J, Batzdorf U, Samii M, Bothe HW. The surgical treatment of Chiari I malformation. Acta Neurochir. 1996;138:788–801.
- Munshi I, Frim D, Stine-Reyes R, et al. Effects of posterior fossa decompression with and without duraplasty on Chiari malformation–associated hydromyelia. Neurosurgery. 2000;46:1384–9. discussion 1389–90.
- Guyotat J, Bret P, Jouanneau E, Ricci AC, Lapras C. Syringomyelia associated with type I Chiari malformation. A 21-year retrospective study on 75 cases treated by foramen magnum decompression with a special emphasis on the value of tonsils resection. Acta Neurochir. 1998;140(8):745–54.
- Limonadi FM, Selden NR. Dura-splitting decompression of the craniocervical junction: reduced operative time, hospital stay, and cost with equivalent early outcome. J Neurosurg. 2004;101(2 Suppl):184–8.
- Cai C, Oakes WJ. Hindbrain herniation syndromes: the Chiari malformations (I and II). Semin Pediatr Neurol. 1997;4(3):179–91.
- Park JK, Gleason PL, Madsen JR, Goumnerova LC, Scott RM. Presentation and management of Chiari I malformation in children. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1997;26(4):190–6.
- Ergun R, Akdemir G, Gezici AR, et al. Surgical management of syringomyelia–Chiari complex. Eur Spine J. 2000;9(6):553–7.
- Goel A, Desai K. Surgery for syringomyelia: an analysis based on 163 surgical cases. Acta Neurochir. 2000;142:293–301. discussion 301–2.
- Brockmeyer D, Gollogly S, Smith JT. Scoliosis associated with Chiari 1 malformations: the effect of suboccipital decompression on scoliosis curve progression: a preliminary study. Spine. 2003;28:2505–9.
- Sengupta DK, Dorgan J, Findlay GF. Can hindbrain decompression for syringomyelia lead to regression of scoliosis? Eur Spine J. 2000;9(3):198–201.

Surgery: Decompression—Lateral Approaches
The High Cervical Anterolateral Retropharyngeal Approach

Check for updates

Nabeel S. Alshafai and V. R. N. Gunness

Abstract The first high cervical anterolateral retropharyngeal (HCALR) approach was reported by Stevenson et al. for a clivus chordoma in 1966. Anterior approaches to the spine have often been developed in response to problems presented by tuberculous spondylitis. This approach is indicated in anterior high cervical spine cases such as tumour resection, abscess drainage, atlantoaxial subluxation; decompression and stabilization. To our knowledge, only 21 papers in the literature have mentioned this approach. Its main advantage over posterior approaches is easy positioning and minimal need for soft tissue dissection. The HCALR approach provides wide exposure (of the anterior upper cervical spine, lower clivus and brainstem region) and feasibility for instrumentation. The limited space in which important neurovascular and visceral structures course and overlap contributes to the complexity of the anatomy. Navigating this intricate anatomy is essential for the safety of this approach and has been a drawback for utilization of the retropharyngeal corridor. This approach is one of the safest and most effective methods available to access the craniocervical junction. The benefits clearly outweigh the risks and complications.

Keywords Craniocervical junction · Anterior approach · Anatomical corridors · Minimally invasive

Introduction

This paper aims to describe the anterior approach to the high cervical spine through the anatomical corridor of the retropharyngeal space. Different authors have used different terminology for this approach. Terms such as 'anterolateral'

N. S. Alshafai (🖂)

Alshafai Neurosurgical Academy (ANA), Toronto, ON, Canada

V. R. N. Gunness

[1], 'submandibular' [1, 2], 'anterior high cervical' [3, 4] and 'retropharyngeal prevascular' [5, 6] have been used to describe this approach between the carotid sheath lateral to the high cervical spine and the pharyngeal constrictor muscles medial to it. Anterior approaches have principally been developed for tuberculous spondylitis. In 1956, Hodgson and Stock reported their experiences with anterior decompressive surgeries [7]. Cloward [8] and Robinson and Smith [9] have been credited with implementing the anterior approach to the cervical spine for management of disc herniation.

The retropharygeal prevascular approach, which was described by McAfee et al. [5], used the same fascial plane that was illustrated by Southwick and Robinson [10].

In a paper published by Soo-An Park et al. in 2013, they tried to develop a suitable anterior cervical approach to the C2–C3 level [6].

Materials and Methods

Indications for and Importance of This Procedure

The anterior retropharyngeal approach provides wide exposure of the anterior upper cervical spine, lower clivus and brainstem [11, 12], with feasibility for instrumentation [1]. In comparison with other anterior approaches, the retropharyngeal route offers lower rates of infection (with no contamination by nasopharyngeal flora) and lower morbidity by forgoing mandibular osteotomy or tongue division [13]. This approach is indicated in anterior high cervical spine cases of tumour resection, abscess drainage in infections, fixed atlantoaxial subluxation; decompression and stabilization, and arthrodesis minus the necessity of second-stage posterior stabilization [13]. In addition to ventromedial skull base

Department of Neurosurgery, St Michael's Hospital, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

lesions [14], C1–C4 involvement in patients with short necks as a part of Klippel–Feil syndrome or other pathologies [3].

A systematic search was performed on PubMed, without a temporal limitation, to identify all clinical reports in which the high anterior cervical approach was mentioned. The following search strategy was used '[(high cervical) OR (high anterior cervical) OR (submandibular) OR (anterolateral) OR (retropharyngeal prevascular)]'. The search was performed independently in parallel by one junior neurosurgery resident and one medical student.

The inclusion criteria included any cases of the aforementioned search terms.

Results

We found 28 papers that matched the search terms, but only 21 papers matched our inclusion criteria. We grouped the sample into four categories: 114 cadavers, seven case reports, 584 patients and one vertebrae (Fig. 1).

Discussion

Several studies have shown the usefulness of the high cervical anterolateral retropharyngeal (HCALR) approach in providing wide exposure from the clivus and the anterior rim of the foramen magnum to the rostral cervical spine up to C4 [5, 15].

The aims of treatment of upper cervical spine lesions are to decompress nervous structures and provide stability.

A superior extension of the anterior approach was used by Smith and Robinson to expose the atlas to the subaxial cervical spine. They did not dissect the carotid sheath or expose the vertebral artery [5].



Fig. 1 Numbers of patients, cadavers, case reports and vertebrae

This prevascular extraoral retropharyngeal approach gives good and safe access in the region of the upper cervical spine. Furthermore, anterior osteosynthetic stabilization, including C2–C3, can be performed using this technique, with low morbidity [16].

One of the main advantages of this approach is that it can be performed using traditional instrumentation, and surgeons familiar with the anterior cervical spine will not find it too difficult.

However, this approach can be challenging for the following reasons:

- 1. Broad dissection of the nerves and vascular structures is required, which is a weakness of this approach.
- This approach carries a small risk of injury to the marginal mandibular, hypoglossal and superior laryngeal nerves. These nerves cross the operative field and may look like blood vessels. They can be cauterized or ligated.
- 3. The HCALR approach may cause hypoglossal nerve palsy and superior laryngeal nerve palsy because of excessive retraction [17].

The common postoperative complications due to this approach are dysphagia and dysphonia, which are often transitory, lasting for only a few days, but they can also last for several months.

The dissection is blunt through soft tissues, and finding a plane is of utmost importance to allow us to reach the spine while avoiding the likelihood of nerve damage [17].

Laus et al. published a review of ten cases of anterior extraoral surgery of the upper cervical spine. The authors reported four cases of transient paralysis of the mandibular branch of the facial nerve [18]. Park et al. did not report any paralysis of the facial nerve in their series [17].

The possibility of performing this procedure especially in patients with a short neck, patients with Klippel–Feil syndrome or patients suffering from upper cervical disc herniation—for example, C2–C3 or C3–C4—was reported by Behari et al.

The HCALR approach gives broad exposure to the spine. It avoids the potential contamination that can accompany the transoral approach. It also allows us to do a simultaneous fusion with instrumentation [19].

There are more complications at the C2–C3 level than at any other level. This approach has the highest potential for morbidity, which includes voice abnormalities and aspiration pneumonia due to injury to the superior laryngeal nerve [20].

In the literature, several other risks with this approach have been mentioned, such as injury to the submandibular gland, the recurrent laryngeal nerve and the content of the carotid sheath [17].

The procedural steps in the exposure and the structures at risk during the procedure are listed in Table 1.

Table 1	Procedural	steps and	structures at risk	during the procedure
---------	------------	-----------	--------------------	----------------------

Step	Structures at risk
<i>Step 1:</i> Submandibular incision from the midline to the anterior border of the sternocleidomastoid	Marginal mandibular branch of the facial nerve
Step 2: Subplatysmal dissection	Marginal mandibular branch of the facial nerve
<i>Step 3:</i> Submandibular gland dissection and retraction	Facial artery and vein, and marginal mandibular branch of the facial nerve
<i>Step 4:</i> Mobilization of the fibrous sling of the digastric muscle	Hypoglossal nerve
<i>Step 5:</i> Tracing of the hypoglossal nerve and superior retraction	Lingual artery and ranine venous plexus ^a
<i>Step 6:</i> Tracing of the internal superior laryngeal nerve and inferior retraction	Superior laryngeal artery
<i>Step 7:</i> Blunt dissection of the facial plane of the retropharyngeal space	Vein draining the retropharyngeal space
<i>Step 8:</i> Lateral retraction of the sternocleidomastoid and dissection around the carotid sheath	Hypoglossal nerve (at the level of bifurcation or superior to it)
<i>Step 9:</i> Palpation of the midline and longitudinal opening of the prevertebral fascia	Ipsilateral vertebral artery (during dissection); it should also be noted that the longus colli muscle is attached until C1

^aAlso called the sublingual vein

Conclusion

The high cervical anterolateral retropharyngeal (HCALR) approach should be learned by every neurosurgeon interested in spine practice because it provides broad bilateral exposure and a safe approach. It avoids the oropharyngeal cavity and at the same time gives the surgeon the option to do an arthrodesis and instrumentation during the primary surgical procedure without the need for a second posterior stage.

With detailed knowledge of the anatomy of the submandibular triangle and the retropharyngeal space, this approach can be easily mastered and added to the neurosurgeon's armamentarium.

The superomedial trajectory of the approach makes it difficult for the surgeon to maintain orientation of the midline during bony drilling. Both neuronavigation and neuromonitoring are helpful to avoid nerve damage.

The HCALR approach should be used strictly for midline lesions restricted to the craniocervical junction.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- 1. Song Y, Tharin S, Divi V, Prolo LM, Sirjani DB. Anterolateral approach to the upper cervical spine: case report and operative technique. Head Neck. 2015;37(9):E115–9.
- Russo A, Albanese E, Quiroga M, Ulm AJ. Submandibular approach to the C2–3 disc level: microsurgical anatomy with clinical application. J Neurosurg Spine. 2009;10(4):380–9.
- Fard SA, Patel AS, Avila MJ, Sattarov KV, Walter CM, Skoch J, Baaj AA. Anatomic considerations of the anterior upper cervical spine during decompression and instrumentation: a cadaveric based study. J Clin Neurosci. 2015;22(11):1810–5.
- Haller JM, Iwanik M, Shen FH. Clinically relevant anatomy of high anterior cervical approach. Spine. 2011;36(25):2116–21.
- McAfee PC, Bohlman H, Riley LH Jr, Robinson RA, Southwick WO, Nachlas NE. The anterior retropharyngeal approach to the upper part of the cervical spine. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1987;69(9):1371–83.
- Park S-A, Lee J-H, Nam Y-S, An X, Han S-H, Ha K-Y. Topographical anatomy of the anterior cervical approach for C2–3 level. Eur Spine J. 2013;22(7):1497–503.
- Hodgson AR, Stock FE. Anterior spinal fusion: a preliminary communication on the radical treatment of Pott's disease and Pott's paraplegia. Br J Surg. 1956;44(185):266–75.
- Cloward RB. The anterior approach for removal of ruptured cervical disks. J Neurosurg Spine. 1958;15(6):602–17.
- Robinson RA, Smith GW. Anterolateral cervical disc removal and interbody fusion for cervical disc syndrome. Bull John Hopkins Hosp. 1955;96:223–4.
- Southwick WO, Robinson RA. Surgical approaches to the vertebral bodies in the cervical and lumbar regions. J Bone Joint Surg. 1957;39-A(3):631–44.
- Stevenson GC, Stoney RJ, Perkins RK. A transcervical transclival approach to the ventral surface of the brain stem for removal of a clivus chordoma. J Neurosurg. 1966;24(2):544–51.
- Russo VM, Graziano F, Russo A. High anterior cervical approach to the clivus and foramen magnum: a microsurgical anatomy study. Oper Neurosurg. 2011;69(1):ONS103–14.
- Herkowitz HN. Cervical spine surgery atlas. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2004.
- Kassam AB, Patel A, Welch W, Balzer J, Snyderman C, Hirsch B, Carrau R. The carotid–vertebral space: an 'extended' lateral window to the ventromedial cranial base and lower craniocervical junction. Ear Nose Throat J. 2005;84(5):312–5.
- McDonnell DE, Harrison SJ. Anterolateral cervical approach to the craniovertebral junction. In: Wilkins RH, Rengachary SS, editors. Neurosurgery, vol. 2. 2nd ed. New York: McGraw Hill; 1996. p. 1641–53.
- Vender JR, Harrison SJ, McDonnel DE. Fusion and instrumentation at C1–3 via the high anterior cervical approach. J Neurosurg. 2000;92:24–9.
- 17. Park SH, Sung JK, Lee SH, et al. High anterior cervical approach to the upper cervical spine. Surg Neurol. 2007;68:519–24.
- Laus M, Pignatti G, Malaguti MC, et al. Anterior extraoral surgery to the upper cervical spine. Spine. 1996;21:1687–93.
- Behari S, Banerji D, Trivedi P, et al. Anterior retropharyngeal approach to the cervical spine. Neurol India. 2001; 49:324–9.
- Finn MA, Macdonald JD. C2–3 anterior cervical fusion: technical report. Clin Spine Surg. 2016;29(10):E536–41.

Compression Syndromes of the Vertebral Artery at the Craniocervical Junction



Jan Frederick Cornelius, Raoul Pop, Marco Fricia, Bernard George, and Salvatore Chibbaro

Abstract Compression syndromes of the vertebral artery that occur at the craniocervical junction are extremely rare causes of haemodynamic insufficiency of the posterior cerebral circulation. The aetiology of the compression syndrome may be a malformation, trauma, tumour, infection or degenerative pathology. This may lead to dynamic vertebral artery occlusion where the vessel courses around the atlas and the axis-the so-called V3 segment. This in turn may result in insufficient collateral flow to the posterior fossa. The clinical picture is a vertebrobasilar insufficiency syndrome of variable expression ranging from vertigo to posterior fossa stroke. The typical clinical presentation is syncope occurring during rotation of the head, also known as 'bow hunter's syndrome'. The workup is based on dynamic angiography and computed tomography angiography. The treatment of choice is surgical vascular decompression, resulting in a good clinical outcome. However, in some instances, atlantoaxial fusion may be indicated. Alternatively, conservative and endovascular options have to be considered in inoperable patients.

Keywords Bow hunter's syndrome · Extrinsic compression of the vertebral artery · Craniocervical junction · Surgical management · Vertebrobasilar insufficiency and stroke

J. F. Cornelius (⊠) Neurochirurgische Klinik, Universitätsklinikum, Dusseldorf, Germany e-mail: cornelius@med.uni-duesseldorf.de

R. Pop

Service de neuroradiologie interventionnelle, CHU, Strasbourg, France

M. Fricia

Neurosurgery Department, Cannizzaro Hospital, Catania, Italy

B. George Service de neurochirurgie, CHU Lariboisiere, Paris, France

S. Chibbaro Service de neurochirurgie, CHU, Strasbourg, France

Introduction

Compression syndromes of the vertebral artery can occur at different levels: on the segment between the subclavian artery and the cervical spine (the V1 segment), on the segment running through the cervical transverse foramina (the V2 segment), at the loop around the atlantoaxial complex reaching the posterior fossa dura (the V3 segment) and, finally, on the segment after the dura has been penetrated up to the vertebrobasilar junction (the V4 segment) [1, 2]. In this chapter we focus on compression syndromes of the vertebral artery at the craniocervical junction, i.e. the so-called V3 segment (Fig. 1). The associated clinical presentation has been described as bow hunter's syndrome (BHS).

Patients and Methods

As this disease is extremely rare, the medical records and radiological images of eight patients with a vertebral artery compression syndrome at the craniocervical junction, managed over the last 14 years at three different centres, were collected and retrospectively analysed. In the present analysis, three new patients were able to be added to the previous case series of five patients reported by our group in 2012 [3]. The study was conducted according to the Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects, stated in the 2004 revision of the Declaration of Helsinki (the most recent version of the document at the time when the present study began). The patients signed standard informed consent forms approved by the respective institutional research boards at each university hospital (Strasbourg, Lariboisiere and Dusseldorf). Furthermore, a thorough review of the pertinent English literature was performed on Medline to explore the role of surgery versus both endovascular and conservative management.



Fig. 1 Possible sites of dynamic vertebral artery compression. Computed tomography (CT) angiogram of the craniocervical junction, showing volume-rendered reconstructions in (**a**) the anterior view and (**b**) the lateral

view. The three main sites where the vertebral artery can be compressed during contralateral head rotation are posterior to the lateral mass of the atlas (1) and within the foramen transversarium of the atlas (2) and axis (3)

Results

Of the eight patients studied, six were men and two were women, with a mean age of 24.4 years (ranging from 8 to 46 years). Clinically the most frequent symptoms and signs were vertigo and visual problems occurring during rotation of the head. Extreme head movements-especially rotation and extension-caused symptoms such as fainting, falling and even a posterior circulation infarction in a young boy. The detailed patient demographic characteristics and clinical features are summarized in Table 1. To verify a clinical suspicion of BHS, the patients regularly underwent dynamic digital subtraction angiography (DSA). The patients were asked to actively perform head movements in all directions (left and right rotation, left and right lateral inclination, and inclination and reclination in the sagittal plane) to detect the exact location of the compression and determine the degree of stenosis (Figs. 2 and 3). Furthermore, collateral flow from the anterior circulation could be examined during the examination. The angiograms showed that in all patients in the present series, the vertebral artery was being compressed at the loop around the axis and atlas (the V3 segment). The artery that caused symptoms upon occlusion was always the dominant vessel. Interestingly, the posterior communicating arteries were generally either hypo- or aplastic and the collateral flow from the anterior circulation was insufficient.

Seven patients were treated via an anterolateral cervical approach, which allowed direct decompression of the vertebral artery (Figs. 2 and 3). In one patient (patient no. 2) a posterior approach with decompression and craniocervical osteosynthesis had to be performed because the craniovertebral junction was judged to be unstable. In one patient (patient no. 3) the anterolateral cervical approach had to be performed bilaterally because he presented with a complex malformation. The mean follow-up period was 96 months (ranging from 48 to 144 months). Clinically all patients showed improvements in comparison with their preoperative clinical status; in particular, they became free of syncope. Postoperative dynamic DSA and/or computed tomography (CT) angiography (CTA) were performed to verify the restored vertebral artery flow in the formerly compressing head position (Fig. 4). Perioperative blood loss was negligible in all cases. No wound infections or vascular complications were documented. There was no recurrence, and there were no deaths.

Discussion

Because the first documented clinical case of a vertebral artery compression syndrome was seen in a man drawing a bow, the syndrome was named 'bow hunter's syndrome'

Ataxia, vertigo, nause, hemiparesis, gait disturbance, bilateral hemiparesis, gait disturbance, bilateral hemiparesis, gait disturbance, bilateral hemiparesis, gait disturbance, bilateral when head to the right- Bony malformation C1-C2 - Vascular decompression, elf naturcolateral- Residual hemiparesis decompression, of C2-C2 - Vascular decompression, elf naturcolateral- Residual hemiparesisNo. 2, M, 9None1 yearVariago, nause, anytagmus, torticollis (with head bended to the left), when head hended to the left- Bony malformation C4-C5- Vascular decompression, elf naturcolateral- Symptom-free after 7 years approxNo. 3, M, 16Arnold's neuralgia1 yearNeck pain and loss of consciousness during extreme head rotation (to either side)- Bilateral bony estimate and tous of or formass of C2 - Fibrous band on left anterolateral- No syncope - No syncope - Fibrous band at sulcus of atlas- No syncope - No syncope - Essorect - No syncope - Right-sided VA duplication passing through two distinct formina (aberrant course)- No syncope - No syncope - Right-sided VA duplication passing through two distinct formina (aberrant course)- No syncope - Right-sided VA duplication passing through two distinct formina (aberrant course)- No syncope - Right-sided VA duplication passing through two distinct formina (aberrant course)- No syncope - Right-sided VA duplication passing through two distinct formina (aberrant course)- No syncope - Right-sided VA duplication passing through two distinct formina (aberrant course)- No syncope - Righ	Patient number, sex, and age (in years) No. 1, M, 8	Past medical history	Time to diagnosis (in months or years)	Symptoms	Diagnosis – Cerebellar CVA	Treatment, approach	Outcome at last follow-up – No syncope
No. 2, M, 9None1 yearVertigo, nausea, mystagmus, torticollis (with head bended to the left- Bony malformation C0-C1- Vascular decompression, posterior bilateral - Fusion C0-C2- Symptom-free after 7 yearsNo. 3, M, 16Arnold's neuralgia1 yearNeck pain and loss of consciousness during extreme head rotation (to either side)- Bilateral bony stenosis at of transv. of C1 - Fibrous band on left - Right sided VA uplication passing through two distinct for transv. of C2- Vascular decompression, anterolateral- No syncope - No syncope - Less vertigoNo. 4, M, 42None6 monthsVertigo, during rotation to the right and head extension, loss of consciousness during extreme hovement- Fibrous band at sulcus of atlas- Vascular decompression, anterolateral- No syncope - Less vertigoNo. 5, F, 46Car accident, 		TIA	6 months	Ataxia, vertigo, nausea, hemiparesis, gait disturbance, bilateral pyramidal tract signs, when head to the right	 Bony malformation C1–C2 with stenosis at left for transv. of C2 Fibrous band C1–C2 Bilateral VA loops at C4–C5 	 Vascular decompression, left anterolateral 	– Residual hemiparesis
No. 3, M, 16 neuralgiaArmold's neuralgia1 year yearNeck pain and loss of consciousness during extreme head rotation (to either side)- Bilateral bony stenosis at for transv. of C2 - Fibrous band on left - Right-sided VA duplication passing through two distinct for amina (aberrant course)- Vascular decompression, anterolateral- No syncope decompression, anterolateralNo. 4, M, 42None6 monthsVertigo, during rotation to the right and head extension, loss of consciousness during extreme movement- Fibrous band st sulcus of atlas- Vascular decompression, left anterolateral- No syncope - Less vertigoNo. 5, F, 46Car accident, chiropractic manoeuver> 1 yearNeck pain, visual impairment, dysphasia; dizziness, dysphagia,- Fibrous bands C1-C2 - Fibrous bands C1-C2- Vascular decompression, 	No. 2, M, 9	None	1 year	Vertigo, nausea, nystagmus, torticollis (with head bended to the right and turned to the left), when head bended to the left	 Bony malformation C0-C1 Bilateral bony compression of VA at sulcus of atlas Spinal instability 	 Vascular decompression, posterior bilateral Fusion C0–C2 	 Symptom-free after 7 years
No. 4, M, 42None6 monthsVertigo, during rotation to the right and head extension, loss of consciousness during extreme movement- Fibrous band at sulcus of atlas- Vascular decompression, left anterolateral- No syncope - Less vertigoNo. 5, F, 46Car accident, chiropractic manoeuver>1 yearNeck pain, visual impairment, dysphasia; dizziness, dysphagia,- Fibrous bands C1-C2- Vascular decompression, left anterolateral- No syncope - Less vertigoNo. 6, M, 29None2 yearsVertigo and loss of consciousness during extreme head rotation (to the left-hand side)- Fibrous band at sulcus of atlas- Vascular decompression, left anterolateral- No syncope - Residual psychosomatic symptomsNo. 7, M, 24None1 yearVertigo, nausea, and visual disturbances (during head bending to the right while playing ternis), when head bended and turned to the right-hand side- Fibrous bands C1-C2- Vascular decompression, right anterolateral- Free of symptoms at 	No. 3, M, 16	Arnold's neuralgia	1 year	Neck pain and loss of consciousness during extreme head rotation (to either side)	 Bilateral bony stenosis at for transv. of C2 Fibrous band on left Right-sided VA duplication passing through two distinct foramina (aberrant course) 	 Vascular decompression, anterolateral bilateral 	– No syncope
No. 5, F, 46Car accident, chiropractic manoeuver>1 yearNeck pain, visual impairment, dysphasia; dizziness, dysphagia,- Fibrous bands C1-C2- Vascular decompression, left anterolateral- No syncope - Residual psychosomatic symptomsNo. 6, M, 29None2 yearsVertigo and loss of consciousness during extreme head rotation (to the left-hand side)- Fibrous band at sulcus of atlas- Vascular decompression, left anterolateral- Free of symptoms at latest FU (6 years)No. 7, M, 24None1 yearVertigo, nausea, and visual disturbances (during head bending to the right-hand side)- Fibrous bands C1-C2- Vascular decompression, right anterolateral- Free of symptoms at latest FU (5 years)No. 8, F, 21None3 yearsVertigo during extreme head rotation (to left side while playing volley)- Bony stenosis at for transv. of C2 - Fibrous band on VA- Vascular decompression, right anterolateral- Free of 	No. 4, M, 42	None	6 months	Vertigo, during rotation to the right and head extension, loss of consciousness during extreme movement	 Fibrous band at sulcus of atlas 	 Vascular decompression, left anterolateral 	– No syncope – Less vertigo
No. 6, M, 29None2 yearsVertigo and loss of consciousness during extreme head rotation (to the left-hand side)- Fibrous band at sulcus of atlas- Vascular decompression, left anterolateral- Free of symptoms at latest FU (6 years)No. 7, M, 24None1 yearVertigo, nausea, and visual disturbances (during head bending to the right while playing tennis), when head bended and turned to the right-hand side- Fibrous bands C1-C2 extreme head rotation of C2- Vascular decompression, right anterolateral- Free of symptoms at latest FU 	No. 5, F, 46	Car accident, chiropractic manoeuver	>1 year	Neck pain, visual impairment, dysphasia; dizziness, dysphagia,	– Fibrous bands C1–C2	 Vascular decompression, left anterolateral 	 No syncope Residual psychosomatic symptoms
No. 7, M, 24None1 yearVertigo, nausea, and visual disturbances (during head bending to the right while playing tennis), when head bended and turned to the right-hand side- Fibrous bands C1-C2 right anterolateral- Vascular decompression, right anterolateral- Free of symptoms at latest FU (5 years)No. 8, F, 21None3 yearsVertigo during extreme head rotation (to left side while playing volley)- Bony stenosis at for transv. of C2 - Vascular - Fibrous band on VA left anterolateral- Free of symptoms at latest FU (7 years)	No. 6, M, 29	None	2 years	Vertigo and loss of consciousness during extreme head rotation (to the left-hand side)	 Fibrous band at sulcus of atlas 	 Vascular decompression, left anterolateral 	 Free of symptoms at latest FU (6 years)
No. 8, F, 21None3 yearsVertigo during extreme head rotation (to left side while playing volley)- Bony stenosis at for transv. of C2- Vascular decompression, left anterolateral- Free of symptoms at latest FU (7 years)	No. 7, M, 24	None	1 year	Vertigo, nausea, and visual disturbances (during head bending to the right while playing tennis), when head bended and turned to the right-hand side	– Fibrous bands C1–C2	 Vascular decompression, right anterolateral 	 Free of symptoms at latest FU (5 years)
	No. 8, F, 21	None	3 years	Vertigo during extreme head rotation (to left side while playing volley)	 Bony stenosis at for transv. of C2 Fibrous band on VA 	 Vascular decompression, left anterolateral 	 Free of symptoms at latest FU (7 years)

Compression Syndromes of the Vertebral Artery at the Crar	niocervical Junction

Table 1 Demography and clinical features of the series of eight patients

in the medical literature [4]. Compression syndromes of the vertebral artery at the loop around the atlantoaxial complex may have different aetiologies such as a bony, dural or arterial malformation; instability of degenerative, traumatic or inflammatory origin such as rheumatoid arthritis; or a tumour or pseudo-tumour [5-16]. In rare, so-called idiopathic cases, with no evident compressing element on imaging, surgical exploration has shown fibrous connective tissue (bands or rings) as the only possible cause of arterial constriction [9, 13, 17–20]. There is either a thickening of the complex atlantoaxial ligaments or some fibrosis of small neck muscles. Most often these compression syndromes present in middle-aged adults (being acquired), except for malformations that are generally encountered earlier in life, in a paediatric population (being congenital).



Fig. 2 Illustrative case of typical bow hunter's syndrome. (a) Normal left vertebral artery angiogram, anteroposterior incidence. (b) The same artery with head rotation 90° to the right, demonstrating occlusion at the atlantoaxial level



Fig. 3 Illustrative case of extrinsic compression by osseous malformation. (a) Normal right vertebral artery angiogram, anteroposterior incidence. (b) The same artery with contralateral head rotation, demonstrating tight stenosis at the atlantoaxial level (*red arrow*). (c-e)

Computed tomography (CT) angiogram, bone window views: (c) coronal multiplanar reconstruction (MPR) and (d, e), volume-rendered reconstructions demonstrating abnormal lateral bone formations at the C1 and C2 level on the right side (*red circle*)



Fig. 4 Illustrative case of C1–C2 decompression. (a) Preoperative right vertebral angiogram with contralateral head rotation, showing occlusion at the atlantoaxial level. (b, c) Postoperative computed tomography (CT) scan, bone window axial views, demonstrating the

three sites of decompression: behind the massa lateralis of the atlas (1), partial transversectomy of the atlas (2) and the axis (3). (d) Postoperative angiogram showing good patency in the same provoking position

The vertebral artery is stretchable to a large degree and is well adapted to follow the important and complex movements between the atlas and axis. If there is an element (e.g. an osteophyte) externally compressing the vertebral artery, this may completely occlude the vessel when the head reaches an extreme position [21, 22]. In most cases, collateral flow through the contralateral vertebral artery and via the posterior communicating artery down to the basilar artery is sufficient. However, arterial variations such as hypoplastic arteries or posterior inferior cerebellar artery (PICA)–ending vertebral arteries may cause haemodynamic vertebrobasilar insufficiency [23, 24]. Another pathomechanism is thromboembolic stroke due to repetitive microtrauma of the intima [25].

A third cause of vertebrobasilar insufficiency is compression of the vertebral artery below C2, which typically occurs during ipsilateral rotation of the head [9, 19, 26–31].

In fact, there are two different subtypes of BHS. These were defined in an earlier publication as 'atlantoaxial BHS' and 'subaxial BHS' [3]. Also, a 'mixed type' of atlantoaxial *and* subaxial vertebral artery compression with bilateral hypoperfusion has been documented [32].

The symptoms and signs of BHS comprise a spectrum from dizziness and vertigo to visual signs, syncope and cerebellar stroke [25].

Usually, BHS has a long delay between the initial symptoms and diagnosis. Typical symptoms occur during extreme head movements, especially during rotation and simultaneous extension of the head. In general, the symptoms immediately regress when the head is back in a normal position. A thorough diagnostic workup is necessary to verify or rule out extrinsic compression, which can then be treated accordingly.

The diagnostic workup starts with classical neuroimaging modalities: magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or magnetic resonance angiography (MRA), and CT or CTA [33–36]. These will identify bony malformations or tumours. Dynamic x-rays may detect luxation or any other instability. This may be completed by transcranial Doppler (TCD) and neurophysiological examinations, including examination of the long tracts (motor evoked and somatosensory evoked potentials) and brainstem pathways (e.g. the brainstem auditory evoked response) [30, 37, 38].

Although it is invasive, dynamic angiography remains the gold standard to verify a positional vertebral artery occlusion [5, 13, 24, 39]. With the head extremely rotated and extended, a vertebral angiogram may exactly indicate the location of the vertebral artery occlusion. A four-vessel angiogram has to be performed to assess collateral flow into the posterior fossa [13, 40–42].

In most instances, decompression of the vertebral artery in its V3 (atlantoaxial) segment is a reasonable treatment [13, 31]. In fact, all but one patient treated at our centres underwent arterial decompression via an anterolateral cervical approach. All details of this technique can be found elsewhere [2, 21, 41, 43–46]. In summary, the vertebral artery is accessed from an anterolateral cervical approach and has to be controlled below the axis and above the atlas (the atlantoaxial loop). For safe identification, micro-Doppler imaging may be very helpful in most cases [23]. The next step is to open the transverse foramina of the atlas and the axis. In some cases, additional sharp disruption of fibrous 'bands' or 'rings', or drilling of bony spurs compromising the vertebral artery, is necessary. Such tight fibrous structures are 'invisible' on standard imaging modalities. Consequently, they may be overlooked and may not be sufficiently addressed with a simple posterior approach [20, 47, 48]. On the other hand, a posterior approach with osteosynthesis may be necessary if the main or only cause of vascular compression is spinal instability (as seen in patient no. 2 in the present series). Finally, bilateral anterolateral approaches may be required (extremely rarely) if there are compressions on both sides (as seen in patient no. 3 in the present series).

While decompression of the compressed artery seems an obvious strategy, osteosynthesis of C1 and C2 to prevent vertebral artery occlusion has only been considered subsequently [7, 8, 20, 22, 25, 49, 50]. First, it was indicated only for atlantoaxial instability but then also as a treatment for BHS per se [8, 20]: osteosynthesis of the atlas and axis prevents any movements that could result in vertebral artery occlusion. Although osteosynthesis may show good relief of typical BHS symptoms, the main disadvantage is the major restriction in movements of the head. When considering osteosynthesis in BHS, especially when opting for screw-based techniques, it is crucial to keep in mind that the vertebral artery course may be highly variable. There are safer options without screws, but they generally achieve lower fusion rates [51].

The result of any surgical procedure—the aim of which is sufficient vertebral artery decompression—may be controlled by one of the following methods: micro-Doppler, indocyanine green angiography, CTA or DSA (Fig. 4d) [30, 38, 52–55]. In centres with a hybrid operating room the angiogram may be obtained intraoperatively, giving the possibility of immediate correction if necessary. At the latest, DSA should be performed within the first few postoperative days.

Concerning alternative treatment options, rare reports about treating BHS with endovascular devices (stents) exist, but the results have been inconsistent [42, 56]. However, as yet, the data are too sparse to allow general recommendations [57]. Also, the natural history is largely unknown. Some authors believe that repetitive mechanical occlusion and endothelial lesions finally lead to embolic strokes. For these reasons, many reported conservative options include cervical immobilization (e.g. a soft collar or orthesis) or resemble stroke prevention treatments [4, 35, 42, 58, 59]. Because of the small patient numbers and very heterogeneous treatment strategies, no clear recommendation for conservative treatment can be given yet.

Conclusion

Compression syndromes of the vertebral artery that occur at the craniocervical junction are extremely rare. In some cases, there are only subtle and misleading symptoms. The typical symptoms are vertigo and loss of consciousness with extreme turning of the head. A posterior fossa stroke is a rare but potentially fatal situation. The diagnosis is confirmed by dynamic computed tomography angiography (CTA) or dynamic angiography. Surgical decompression of the vertebral artery achieves good results. In some cases, atlantoaxial fusion may be indicated. Alternatively, conservative and endovascular options exist for inoperable patients.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- George B. Extracranial vertebral artery anatomy and surgery. Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg. 2002;27:179–216.
- George B, Laurian C. Surgical approach to the whole length of the vertebral artery with special reference to the third portion. Acta Neurochir. 1980;51:259–72.
- Cornelius JF, George B, N'Dri Oka D, Spiriev T, Steiger HJ, Hanggi D. Bow-hunter's syndrome caused by dynamic vertebral artery stenosis at the cranio-cervical junction—a management algorithm based on a systematic review and a clinical series. Neurosurg Rev. 2012;35:127–35.
- 4. Sorensen BF. Bow hunter's stroke. Neurosurgery. 1978;2:259-61.
- Barton JW, Margolis MT. Rotational obstructions of the vertebral artery at the atlantoaxial joint. Neuroradiology. 1975;9:117–20.
- Brunon J, Goutelle A. Surgical treatment of vertebro-basilar insufficiency caused by extrinsic compression of the extracranial vertebral artery [in French]. Neurochirurgie. 1974;20:125–45.
- Chough CK, Cheng BC, Welch WC, Park CK. Bow hunter's stroke caused by a severe facet hypertrophy of C1–2. J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2010;47:134–6.
- Ford FR. Syncope, vertigo and disturbances of vision resulting from intermittent obstruction of the vertebral arteries due to defect in the odontoid process and excessive mobility of the second cervical vertebra. Bull Johns Hopkins Hosp. 1952;91:168–73.
- George B. Surgical treatment of extrinsic and neoplastic vertebral artery compression [in French]. Bull Acad Natl Med. 1993;177:99–112.
- George B, Archilli M, Cornelius JF. Bone tumors at the craniocervical junction. Surgical management and results from a series of 41 cases. Acta Neurochir. 2006;148:741–9.
- George B, Atallah A, Laurian C, Tayon B, Mikol J. Cervical osteochondroma (C2 level) with vertebral artery occlusion and second cervical nerve root irritation. Surg Neurol. 1989;31:459–64.

- Hardin CA, Williamson WP, Steegmann AT. Vertebral artery insufficiency produced by cervical osteoarthritic spurs. Neurology. 1960;10:855–8.
- Kuether TA, Nesbit GM, Clark WM, Barnwell SL. Rotational vertebral artery occlusion: a mechanism of vertebrobasilar insufficiency. Neurosurgery. 1997;41:427–33.
- Puca A, Scogna A, Rollo M. Craniovertebral junction malformation and rotational occlusion of the vertebral artery. Br J Neurosurg. 2000;14:361–4.
- Shimizu S, Yamada M, Takagi H, Fujii K, Kan S. Bow hunter's stroke associated with an aberrant course of the vertebral artery case report. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 1999;39:867–9.
- Tominaga T, Takahashi T, Shimizu H, Yoshimoto T. Rotational vertebral artery occlusion from occipital bone anomaly: a rare cause of embolic stroke. Case report. J Neurosurg. 2002;97:1456–9.
- Hanakita J, Miyake H, Nagayasu S, Nishi S, Suzuki T. Angiographic examination and surgical treatment of bow hunter's stroke. Neurosurgery. 1988;23:228–32.
- Hardin CA, Poser CM. Rotational obstruction of the vertebral artery due to redundancy and extraluminal cervical fascial bands. Ann Surg. 1963;158:133–7.
- Mapstone T, Spetzler RF. Vertebrobasilar insufficiency secondary to vertebral artery occlusion from a fibrous band. Case report. J Neurosurg. 1982;56:581–3.
- Matsuyama T, Morimoto T, Sakaki T. Comparison of C1–2 posterior fusion and decompression of the vertebral artery in the treatment of bow hunter's stroke. J Neurosurg. 1997;86:619–23.
- Chibbaro S, Mirone G, Yasuda M, Marsella M, Di Emidio P, George B. Vertebral artery loop—a cause of cervical radiculopathy. World Neurosurg. 2012;78:375.e11–3.
- Felbaum DR, Ryan JE, Stemer AB, Anaizi AN. Bilateral sub-axial rotational vertebral artery occlusion in a setting of a prior cervical construct. World Neurosurg. 2016;97:762.e5–10.
- Cornelius JF, Slotty P, El Khatib M, Bostelmann R, Hanggi D, Steiger HJ. Hemodynamic stroke: a rare pitfall in cranio cervical junction surgery. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2014;5:122–4.
- Matsuyama T, Morimoto T, Sakaki T. Bow hunter's stroke caused by a nondominant vertebral artery occlusion: case report. Neurosurgery. 1997;41:1393–5.
- Kageyama H, Yoshimura S, Iida T, Shirakawa M, Uchida K, Tomogane Y, Miyaji Y. Juvenile cerebral infarction caused by bow hunter's syndrome during sport: two case reports. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 2016;56:580–3.
- Bakay L, Leslie EV. Surgical treatment of vertebral artery insufficiency caused by cervical spondylosis. J Neurosurg. 1965;23:596–602.
- Bulsara KR, Velez DA, Villavicencio A. Rotational vertebral artery insufficiency resulting from cervical spondylosis: case report and review of the literature. Surg Neurol. 2006;65:625–7.
- 28. George B, Laurian C. Impairment of vertebral artery flow caused by extrinsic lesions. Neurosurgery. 1989;24:206–14.
- Miele VJ, France JC, Rosen CL. Subaxial positional vertebral artery occlusion corrected by decompression and fusion. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2008;33:E366–70.
- Vilela MD, Goodkin R, Lundin DA, Newell DW. Rotational vertebrobasilar ischemia: hemodynamic assessment and surgical treatment. Neurosurgery. 2005;56:36–45.
- Zaidi HA, Albuquerque FC, Chowdhry SA, Zabramski JM, Ducruet AF, Spetzler RF. Diagnosis and management of bow hunter's syndrome: 15-year experience at Barrow Neurological Institute. World Neurosurg. 2014;82:733–8.
- Kimura T, Sako K, Tohyama Y, Hodozuka A. Bow hunter's stroke caused by simultaneous occlusion of both vertebral arteries. Acta Neurochir. 1999;141:895–6.
- Gelbert F, Reizine D, George B, Assouline E, Aymard A, Merland JJ. An MRI study of the cervical segment of the vertebral artery [in French]. Ann Radiol (Paris). 1989;32:261–6.

- Matsuyama T, Morimoto T, Sakaki T. Usefulness of threedimensional CT for bow hunter stroke. Acta Neurochir. 1997;139:265–6.
- Wakayama K, Murakami M, Suzuki M, Ono S, Shimizu N. Ischemic symptoms induced by occlusion of the unilateral vertebral artery with head rotation together with contralateral vertebral artery dissection—case report. J Neurol Sci. 2005;236:87–90.
- Wang S, Wang C, Liu Y, Yan M, Zhou H. Anomalous vertebral artery in craniovertebral junction with occipitalization of the atlas. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2009;34:2838–42.
- Iguchi Y, Kimura K, Shibazaki K, Iwanaga T, Ueno Y, Inoue T. Transcranial Doppler and carotid duplex ultrasonography findings in bow hunter's syndrome. J Neuroimaging. 2006;16:278–80.
- Velat GJ, Reavey-Cantwell JF, Ulm AJ, Lewis SB. Intraoperative dynamic angiography to detect resolution of bow hunter's syndrome: technical case report. Surg Neurol. 2006;66:420–3.
- Bauer R, Sheehan S, Meyer JS. Arteriographic study of cerebrovascular disease. II. Cerebral symptoms due to kinking, tortuosity, and compression of carotid and vertebral arteries in the neck. Arch Neurol. 1961;4:119–31.
- George B, Carpentier A. Compression of and by the vertebral artery. Oper Tech Neurosurg. 2001;4:202–18.
- George B, Cornelius JF. Vertebral artery: surgical anatomy. Oper Tech Neurosurg. 2001;4:168–81.
- Horowitz M, Jovin T, Balzar J, Welch W, Kassam A. Bow hunter's syndrome in the setting of contralateral vertebral artery stenosis: evaluation and treatment options. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2002;27:E495–8.
- Bruneau M, Cornelius JF, George B. Antero-lateral approach to the V3 segment of the vertebral artery. Neurosurgery. 2006;58:ONS29–35.
- Chibbaro S, Mirone G, Bresson D, George B. Cervical spine lateral approach for myeloradiculopathy: technique and pitfalls. Surg Neurol. 2009;72:318–24.
- 45. Chibbaro S, Mirone G, Makiese O, George B. Multilevel oblique corpectomy without fusion in managing cervical myelopathy: long-term outcome and stability evaluation in 268 patients. J Neurosurg Spine. 2009;10:458–65.
- 46. George B, Laurian C. Surgical possibilities in the third portion of the vertebral artery (above C2). Anatomical study and report of a case of anastomosis between subclavian artery and vertebral artery at C1–C2 level. Acta Neurochir Suppl (Wien). 1979;28:263–9.
- Netuka D, Benes V, Mikulik R, Kuba R. Symptomatic rotational occlusion of the vertebral artery—case report and review of the literature. Zentralbl Neurochir. 2005;66:217–22.
- Shimizu T, Waga S, Kojima T, Niwa S. Decompression of the vertebral artery for bow-hunter's stroke. Case report. J Neurosurg. 1988;69:127–31.
- Jost GF, Dailey AT. Bow hunter's syndrome revisited: 2 new cases and literature review of 124 cases. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38:E7.
- Yang PJ, Latack JT, Gabrielsen TO, Knake JE, Gebarski SS, Chandler WF. Rotational vertebral artery occlusion at C1–C2. Am J Neuroradiol. 1985;6:96–100.
- Harms J, Melcher RP. Posterior C1–C2 fusion with polyaxial screw and rod fixation. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2001;26:2467–71.
- 52. Bruneau M, Sauvageau E, Nakaji P, Vandesteene A, Lubicz B, Chang SW, Baleriaux D, Brotchi J, De Witte O, Spetzler RF. Preliminary personal experiences with the application of near-infrared indocyanine green videoangiography in extracranial vertebral artery surgery. Neurosurgery. 2010;66:305–11.
- Chaudhry NS, Ambekar S, Elhammady MS, Riley JP, Pradilla G, Nogueira RG, Ahmad FU. Combined use of intraoperative indocyanine green and dynamic angiography in rotational vertebral artery occlusion. J Clin Neurosci. 2016;30:152–4.
- 54. Ding D, Mehta GU, Medel R, Liu KC. Utility of intraoperative angiography during subaxial foramen transversarium decompression for bow hunter's syndrome. Interv Neuroradiol. 2013;19:240–4.

- 55. Nguyen HS, Doan N, Eckardt G, Pollock G. Surgical decompression coupled with diagnostic dynamic intraoperative angiography for bow hunter's syndrome. Surg Neurol Int. 2015;6:147.
- Sugiu K, Agari T, Tokunaga K, Nishida A, Date I. Endovascular treatment for bow hunter's syndrome: case report. Minim Invasive Neurosurg. 2009;52:193–5.
- 57. Darkhabani MZ, Thompson MC, Lazzaro MA, Taqi MA, Zaidat OO. Vertebral artery stenting for the treatment of bow hunter's syn-

drome: report of 4 cases. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2012;21:908. e1–5.

- Grossmann RI, Davis KR. Positional occlusion of the vertebral artery: a rare cause of embolic stroke. Neuroradiology. 1982;23:227–30.
- Tanaka S, Inatomi Y, Yonehara T, Hirano T, Uchino M. Bow hunter's syndrome with spontaneous improvement [in Japanese]. Rinsho Shinkeigaku. 2012;52:34–7.

The Far Lateral Approach to the Craniovertebral Junction: An Update



Nabeel S. Alshafai and Tomasz Klepinowski

Abstract *Introduction:* Since 1972, when Hammon first described the far lateral approach (FLA) for treatment of vertebral artery aneurysms, it has undergone numerous modifications, including drilling of the occipital condyle, removal of the laminas of upper cervical vertebrae and so on. Also, the range of indications has increased exponentially.

Objective: In this paper we discuss state-of-the-art advances in the FLA, such as promising minimally invasive variants where an endoscope is used, and many others.

Methods: We reviewed all articles touching upon the FLA in the modern era (from the year 2000 onward) and selected those that presented a significant contribution to the development of the relevant approach. The database used was PubMed.

Results and Conclusion: We found several new caveats not mentioned in other reviews or book chapters. The FLA is an ever-changing field of battle where the common and ultimate goals are to minimize the risk of injuring the major vessel in the region—the vertebral artery—and to provide such an angle of attack upon the tumours in the anterior and anterolateral foramen magnum that it is feasible to ensure gross total resection. This paper is an update on the knowledge about this approach, which we feel is necessary.

Keywords Far lateral approach · Foramen magnum Vertebral artery · Occipital condyle · MIST

Introduction

Starting from the 1970s, many surgeons developed and introduced into their clinical practice new skull base approaches to the lesions of the anterolateral foramen magnum, with each of them bringing their own variations and modifications [1]. Hammon et al. in 1972 and thereafter Roberto C. Heros in 1986 described a true lateral suboccipital approach for vertebral and vertebrobasilar aneurysms [2, 3]. Heros described the combination of lateral suboccipital craniotomy, C1 laminectomy and drilling of the occipital bone at the level of the posterior occipital condyle (OC). However, Seeger was the first to describe, in 1978, partial resection of the OC to reach the anterior surface of the medulla oblongata [1]. In his variants, published in 1985, Koos suggested a way to increase the exposure of the ventral foramen magnum without drilling the OC [1]. After these initial reports, the far lateral approach (FLA) was popularized by many surgeons [1]. George described vertebral artery (VA) medial mobilization from C2 to its dural entrance point, with ligation of the sigmoid sinus and without condyle drilling [1]. Conversely, Spetzler, Bertalanfy and Seeger mobilized the VA from C1 to the dural entrance point by drilling the C1 facet, posterior C1 arch and posterior lateral third of the OC [1]. Also the range of indications has increased, and they currently encompass basically any lesion, including vascular malformations, in the anterolateral foramen magnum, lower clivus and upper cervical spinal cord [4–10]. Recently, in the twenty-first century, a number of great inventions have been implemented so as to improve the safety and efficacy of the FLA [11]. These are thoroughly covered in this paper, which constitutes an update on this procedure.

N. S. Alshafai (🖂)

Alshafai Neurosurgical Academy (ANA), Toronto, ON, Canada

T. Klepinowski

Department of Neurosurgery, Collegium Medicum Jagiellonian University, Alshafai Neurosurgical Academy (ANA), Kraków, Poland

Methods

Using the PubMed Medline database (accessed via https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed), we searched for the keyword term 'far lateral approach'. The search engine responded with 659 results. Those referring to a far lateral approach (the same technique name) but for lumbar disc herniation and other unrelated topics were omitted. We included cadaver, biomechanical and clinical papers produced since the beginning of the current millennium. Forty articles were found that were technically contributory, plus five book sections were added, which gave a total of 45 papers. They were analysed in terms of FLA modifications and upgrades.

Results

Minimizing Skin Incisions

Previous trends to perform a large U-shaped or hockey-stick incision are being gradually replaced with a tendency to make a small lazy S-shaped cut (see Fig. 1) or a linear incision placed about 2 cm medially from the mastoid tip [12, 13]. Such a small entry point turns out to be enough to dissect muscles, even layer by layer, detaching them from their attachments [13]. However, the ultimate length of the incision is always dictated by the inferior extension of the tumour and, if necessary, it might go down as far as C3 or lower [14, 15].

The Muscular Stage

To date, two major methods for accomplishing this step successfully have been introduced. They are:

- The piecemeal method [16, 17]
- The single-flap method [13, 18, 19]

Not surprisingly, each of them has pros and cons. The piecemeal method, in which each muscle is dissected separately, is safer in terms of protecting the VA. It also minimizes the risk of postoperative cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leakage [17]. Nevertheless, it is vastly time consuming and thus it prolongs the entire procedure. The VA sits in the depth of the suboccipital triangle, which is made up of the obliquus capitis superior, obliquus capitis inferior and rectus capitis posterior major. Therefore, the piecemeal method ensures



Fig. 1 (a) A short S-shaped incision positioned roughly one finger breadth medially from the mastoid process. It is often employed in new minimally invasive variants of the far lateral approach. (b) A classic inverted U-shaped skin incision, which consists of three limbs: midline

vertical; horizontal, which runs just above the sigmoid sinus; and vertical, reaching just below the mastoid tip. (Photograph courtesy of the Department of Anatomy, Collegium Medicum, Uniwersytet Jagielloński (CMUJ), Kraków, Poland)

safe identification of the VA simply by meticulous anatomical dissection [17]. The single-flap method, on the other hand, entails cutting all muscles in the relevant region simultaneously. This provides quick access to the skull base. The potential threat is inadvertent injury of the VA. To minimize the risk of this serious complication, one should choose the side of the non-dominant VA on the basis of preoperative radiological assessment. In up to 40% of people the left and right VA differ: one is normal whereas the other is hypoplastic and of less significance [20]. This of course will not be valid if the tumour has a large lateral extension toward the dominant VA. The single-layer method also creates a bulk of muscles on one side of the surgical field, which might impair the corridor [21].

Handling the Vertebral Artery

Early control of this major vessel is imperative [22]. An easy and efficient four-step method has been invented to systematically locate the VA [13]:

- 1. Find the inferior-posterior point of the sigmoid sinus after having it unroofed [23].
- 2. Move posteriorly to identify the opisthion.
- 3. Crawl down to palpate the bony landmark—the posterior tubercle of the C1 arch [24].
- 4. Slide laterally to face the J-groove of the VA.

Note that the pulse of the VA at times may not be palpable, especially when the vessel is calcified or small [13, 21]. Therefore, thorough knowledge of the regional anatomy is obligatory. The artery is surrounded by fatty tissue and the venous plexus, which might be a source of profuse bleeding. The venous plexus is carefully dissected in three short steps:

- 1. Apply direct tamponade pressure.
- 2. Divide it with microscissors.
- 3. Coagulate with bipolar cautery.

This process exposes the arterial wall. Packing with haemostatic agents might be considered if the venous bleeding cannot be controlled with direct pressure.

VA transposition is usually part of the extreme lateral approach (ELA) [20, 25] but has also been used in the FLA. [21, 26]. We, however, disagree with mobilizing the VA in the FLA as this step is an inherent part of the ELA. The rationale for VA mobilization is that it widens the surgical corridor and hence minimizes manipulation of the low cranial nerves and the brainstem [25]. However, the issue of when and if it should be done at all remains controversial. The VA can be transposed at two sites: either at the C1 transverse foramen (extradural VA transposition) or at the dural entry point of the artery (intradural VA transposition) [15]. The former option is reserved for purely extradural tumours or intradural ones with a significant extradural component [27].

The latter option, on the other hand, is more beneficial for purely intradural tumours or extradural tumours with intracranial invasion [25, 28, 29].

The Occipital Condyle: To Drill or Not to Drill?

Probably, thorough preoperative evaluation with imaging is the key here [30]. Bone-windowed computed tomography (CT) carries details required to decide whether a patient's condyle will obscure vision, since surgery on a wider condyle might be more technically demanding [31, 32]. The same goes for a condyle whose medial lip protrudes into the foramen magnum [32]. Thus, drilling it increases the angle of attack [33, 34]. The chief objection stopping neurosurgeons from condylectomy is a potential risk of instability entailing subsequent fusion (see Table 1).

Fusion After Drilling the Condyle: Where Are We Now?

How the FLA destroys the atlanto-occipital joint and when or if fusion is needed are still a matter of debate. Earlier, to avoid craniocervical instability after condylectomy, some authors suggested that if more than 50% of the condyle is removed, CO–C1 stabilization must follow prophylactically [21, 35]. However, there have been reports of condylectomy reaching 75% without any clinically or radiologically evident instability [36]. Biomechanical studies have shown that the range of motion after the transcondylar approach increases significantly, but this has been proved on cadaveric specimens lacking action of the relevant muscles [37]. Stabilization of movement in the normal individual is largely affected by the

 Table 1
 Advantages and disadvantages of occipital condylectomy

 [17, 28, 36, 37, 43–47]

Advantages of occipital condyle drilling	Disadvantages of occipital condyle drilling
 Obviates the need for traction on the neuraxis Visual exposure increases by ~15° in both adult and paediatric populations; this enables the surgeon to reach parts of the tumour adjacent to the anterior medulla and potentially facilitates gross total resection 	 Risk of instability: fractures on follow-up have been reported Significantly increases the range of movement between C0–C1 and C1–C2—and hence cumulatively between C0 and C2 (10.1° to the left 7.8° to the right for right occipital condyle drilling)—if two thirds is drilled Increased risk of hypoglossal nerve damage Increased risk of vertebral artery injury Increased operating time Increased postoperative pain

support of the relevant musculature. Currently, it is prudent to believe that occipitocervical instability is a cause of disturbing neck pain following a transcondylar approach, particularly if this pain is of a progressive nature or if there are concomitant transient neurological signs, or a new deformity. These patients might be candidates for stabilization, but so far there is no class I or II evidence to support it as prophylaxis following condylectomy reaching beyond a certain percentage [37]. On the basis of these findings, fusion should be considered on a case-by-case basis, depending on the bony destruction by the pathology, the amount of OC resection, the histology of the disease, and the patient's status [36].

Newly Emerging Variants

The Transcondylar Fossa Approach

In the transcondylar fossa approach (TCFA), there is no condyle drilling at all. The condylar fossa, which also serves as the posterior part of the jugular tubercle, is resected using a high-speed drill. The drilling is extradural. The key point of this approach is the bony removal along the condylar canal anteriorly, resulting in removal of the posterior part of the jugular tubercle. The atlanto-occipital joint can be kept intact [38].

The Minimally Invasive Supracondylar Transtubercular Approach

The minimally invasive supracondylar transtubercular (MIST) approach is very similar to the TCFA, as it also targets the condylar fossa. The difference between the two is that the MIST approach includes a significantly smaller craniectomy and minimal condylar resection; only about 10% of the condyle is drilled (see Fig. 2). Tuberculectomy is done in the same fashion described for the TCFA above. Here, an

endoscope might be introduced via three disparate routes [12, 39]:

- 1. The inferomedial trajectory, inferior to the eleventh cranial nerve: This provides great vision of the anterior and anterolateral foramen magnum. It constitutes a useful alternative to a classic open FLA.
- 2. The transtubercular trajectory: This corridor is obtained once the jugular tubercle has been drilled. To the side of the endoscope there is the retracted dura, the accessory nerve is below, and the glossopharyngeal and vagus nerves are above. This angle of attack allows access to areas of the lower and middle clivus.
- 3. The superior trajectory: This necessitates superior medial retraction of the tonsils and the lower lateral cerebellum, which certainly is a limitation of this approach. However, the endoscope is inserted above the vagus nerve, just inferolateral to the flocculus. Therefore, it grants excellent vision of the cerebellopontine angle. This approach might be of particular value if a tumour has a significant extension into this region.

Tips and Tricks

Closure must be done meticulously. These are the ways to ensure it is watertight:

- A free abdominal fat graft, placed over the dura: The abdomen should be draped beforehand. It might be difficult in the modified park bench position, but still feasible. The autologous fat is also used to aggressively obliterate the mastoid and its antrum [28]. It might also be placed between the dura and titanium mesh [21].
- Fibrin glue [21].
- Suboccipital aponeurosis: This may serve as a dural patch [40].



Fig. 2 Comparison of craniotomy (shown by the *shaded area*) (**a**) for the minimally invasive supracondylar transtubercular (MIST) approach and (**b**) for the classic far lateral transcondylar approach. In the MIST

approach, only up to 10% of the condyle is drilled, whereas in the classic approach, usually at least one third of the condyle is resected (shown by the *oblique lines*)

- Fascia overlying the sternocleidomastoid: This might be harvested to serve as a dural graft at the time of dural closure [13].
- Fascia lata: This may serve as a dural patch. The lateral surface of one thigh should be draped in advance [41].
- Bone wax: This might be used to obliterate mastoid air cells.

Positioning pearl: In either a modified park bench position or a semi-sitting position, check motor and sensory function (of adequate nerves) before and after positioning to ensure that there are no adverse changes from baseline once the positioning is complete. If it cannot be conducted (as abnormal potentials appear even though the positioning has been checked several times), then awake surgery has been described as an option [42].

Conclusion

The far lateral approach has evolved remarkably in recent years, and all of the changes that have been implemented so far seem to have three major goals in common: first, to protect the vertebral artery and therefore minimize the risk of potentially dangerous complications; second, to avoid the risk of instability by not resorting to drilling much of the occipital condyle; and third, to ensure gross total resection with minimal or no retraction, which might potentially cure the patient completely. This paper is an update and checkpoint on the path to the perfect version of the far lateral approach.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Babu RP, Sekhar LN, Wright DC. Extreme lateral transcondylar approach: technical improvements and lessons learned. J Neurosurg. 1994;81(1):49–59.
- Hammon WM, Kempe LG. The posterior fossa approach to aneurysms of the vertebral and basilar arteries. J Neurosurg. 1972;37(3):339–47.
- Heros RC. Lateral suboccipital approach for vertebral and vertebrobasilar artery lesions. J Neurosurg. 1986;64(4):559–62.
- Bian LG, Sun QF, Tirakotai W, Zhao WG, Bertalanffy H, Shen JK. Surgical management of PICA aneurysm and incidental facial nerve schwannoma: case report. Skull Base. 2007;17(2):145–50.
- Flores BC, Boudreaux BP, Klinger DR, Mickey BE, Barnett SL. The far-lateral approach for foramen magnum meningiomas. Neurosurg Focus. 2013;35(6):E12.

- Krishnan P, Behari S, Banerji D, Mehrotra N, Chhabra DK, Jain VK. Surgical approach to C1–C2 nerve sheath tumors. Neurol India. 2004;52(3):319–24.
- Liu JK, Couldwell WT. Far-lateral transcondylar approach: surgical technique and its application in neurenteric cysts of the cervicomedullary junction. Report of two cases. Neurosurg Focus. 2005;19(2):E9.
- van Overbeeke JJ, Cornips E. General principles of cranial base surgery. In: Sekhar LN, Fessler RG, editors. Atlas of neurosurgical techniques—brain. 2nd ed. New York: Thieme; 2015. p. 199–208.
- Tirakotai W, Benes L, Kappus C, Sure U, Farhoud A, Bien S, Bertalanffy H. Surgical management of dural arteriovenous fistulas with transosseous arterial feeders involving the jugular bulb. Neurosurg Rev. 2007;30(1):40–8.
- Ueda R, Yoshida K, Kawase T. Intradural C-1 ventral root schwannomas treated by surgical resection via the lateral suboccipital transcondylar approach—three case reports. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 2006;46(6):298–301.
- Kawashima M, Tanriover N, Rhoton AL, et al. Comparison of the far lateral and extreme lateral variants of the atlanto-occipital transarticular approach to anterior extradural lesions of the craniovertebral junction. Neurosurgery. 2003;53(3):662–75.
- Russo VM, Graziano F, Quiroga M, Russo A, Albanese E, Ulm AJ. Minimally invasive supracondylar transtubercular (MIST) approach to the lower clivus. World Neurosurg. 2012;77(5–6):704–12.
- Wanibuchi M, Fukushima T, Zenga F, Friedman AH. Simple identification of the third segment of the extracranial vertebral artery by extreme lateral inferior transcondylar–transtubercular exposure (ELITE). Acta Neurochir. 2009;151(11):1499–503.
- Bambakidis N, Megerian C, Spetzler R. The far-lateral approach and its variations. In: Bambakidis NC, Dickman CA, Spetzler RF, Sonntag VKH, editors. Surgery of the craniovertebral junction. New York: Thieme; 2012. p. 350–61.
- Wu B, Chen L-Y, Huang G-F, Liu W-D. Disposal of occipital condyle in far lateral approach for ventrolateral foramen magnum meningiomas. World Neurosurg. 2016;93:29–37.
- Chaddad Neto F, Doria-Netto HL, de Campos Filho JM, Reghin Neto M, Rothon AL Jr, de Oliveira E. The far-lateral craniotomy: tips and tricks. Arq Neuropsiquiatr. 2014;72(9):699–705.
- Nanda A, Vincent DA, Vannemreddy PS, Baskaya MK, Chanda A. Far-lateral approach to intradural lesions of the foramen magnum without resection of the occipital condyle. J Neurosurg. 2002;96(2):302–9.
- Matsushima T, Kawashima M, Masuoka J, Mineta T, Inoue T. Transcondylar fossa (supracondylar transjugular tubercle) approach: anatomic basis for the approach, surgical procedures, and surgical experience. Skull Base. 2010;20(2):83–91.
- Sughrue M, Parsa A. Far-lateral suboccipital approach. In: Jandial R, McCormick P, Black P, editors. Core techniques in operative neurosurgery. Philadelphia: Saunders; 2011. p. 104–10.
- Bruneau M, George B. Foramen magnum meningiomas: detailed surgical approaches and technical aspects at Lariboisière Hospital and review of the literature. Neurosurg Rev. 2008;31(1):19–33.
- 21. Gordon D, Sen C. Far lateral approach. Fundam Oper Tech Neurosurg; 2011.
- Avci E, Kocaogullar Y, Fosseti D. Vertebral artery landmarks for the far-lateral transcondylar approach: an anatomical study. Turk Neurosurg. 2000;10:112–7.
- Spektor S, Anderson GJ, McMenomey SO, Horgan MA, Kellogg JX, Delashaw JB. Quantitative description of the far-lateral transcondylar transtubercular approach to the foramen magnum and clivus. J Neurosurg. 2000;92(5):824–31.
- 24. Benet A, Prevedello DM, Carrau RL, Rincon-Torroella J, Fernandez-Miranda JC, Prats-Galino A, Kassam AB. Comparative analysis of the transcranial "far lateral" and endoscopic endonasal

"far medial" approaches: surgical anatomy and clinical illustration. World Neurosurg. 2014;81(2):385–96.

- Park HH, Lee K-S, Hong C-K. Vertebral artery transposition via an extreme-lateral approach for anterior foramen magnum meningioma or craniocervical junction tumors. World Neurosurg. 2016;88:154–65.
- Moscovici S, Umansky F, Spektor S. "Lazy" far-lateral approach to the anterior foramen magnum and lower clivus. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38(4):E14.
- Landi A, Dugoni DE, Delfini R. Postero-lateral approach to the cranio-vertebral junction: how, when and why. J Spine. 2016;5:303. https://doi.org/10.4172/2165-7939.1000303.
- Margalit NS, Lesser JB, Singer M, Sen C. Lateral approach to anterolateral tumors at the foramen magnum: factors determining surgical procedure. Neurosurgery. 2005;56(4 Suppl):324–36.
- Sen C, Shrivastava R, Anwar S, Triana A. Lateral transcondylar approach for tumors at the anterior aspect of the craniovertebral junction. Neurosurgery. 2010;66(Supplement):A104–12.
- Wanebo JE, Chicoine MR. Quantitative analysis of the transcondylar approach to the foramen magnum. Neurosurgery. 2001;49(4):934–43.
- Avci E, Dagtekin A, Hakan Ozturk A, et al. Anatomical variations of the foramen magnum, occipital condyle and jugular tubercle. Turk Neurosurg. 2011;21(2):181–90.
- Naderi S, Korman E, Çitak G, Güvençer M, Arman C, Şenoğlu M, Tetik S, Arda MN. Morphometric analysis of human occipital condyle. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2005;107(3):191–9.
- Lanzino G, Paolini S, Spetzler RF. Far-lateral approach to the craniocervical junction. Neurosurgery. 2005;57(4 Suppl):367–71.
- Wu A, Zabramski JM, Jittapiromsak P, Wallace RC, Spetzler RF, Preul MC. Quantitative analysis of variants of the far-lateral approach. Oper Neurosurg. 2010;66(6 Suppl):191–8.
- 35. Kshettry VR, Healy AT, Colbrunn R, Beckler DT, Benzel EC, Recinos PF. Biomechanical evaluation of the craniovertebral junction after unilateral joint-sparing condylectomy: implications for the far lateral approach revisited. J Neurosurg. 2016;127:1–8.
- Shiban E, Török E, Wostrack M, Meyer B, Lehmberg J. The farlateral approach: destruction of the condyle does not necessarily result in clinically evident craniovertebral junction instability. J Neurosurg. 2016;125(July):196–201.

- Cardoso AC, Fontes RBV, Tan LA, Rhoton AL, Roh SW, Fessler RG. Biomechanical effects of the transcondylar approach on the craniovertebral junction. Clin Anat. 2015;28(5):683–9.
- Mei-hua L, Geng-sheng X, Zhi-qun J, Yi-yun L, Tao H. Supracondylar transjugular tubercle approach to intradural lesions anterior or anterolateral to the craniocervical junction without resection of the occipital condyle. Turk Neurosurg. 2013;23(2):202–7.
- Guan MW, Wang JY, Feng DX, et al. Anatomical study of endoscope-assisted far lateral keyhole approach to the ventral craniocervical region with neuronavigational guidance. Chin Med J. 2013;126(9):1707–13.
- Komotar RJ, Zacharia BE, McGovern RA, Sisti MB, Bruce JN, D'Ambrosio AL. Approaches to anterior and anterolateral foramen magnum lesions: a critical review. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2010;1(2):86–99.
- Crowley W, Dumont A, McKisic S, Jane J. Positioning for cranial surgery. In: Winn H, Winn H, editors. Youmans neurological surgery. 6th ed. Philadelphia: Saunders; 2011. p. 442–6.
- 42. Huang J, Dai M, Cheng C, Wu D, Jiang C, Zhou Z, Shao J. Farlateral approach assisted by multimodal neuronavigation and electrophysiological monitoring technique for complex clival tumor. Br J Neurosurg. 2015;29(4):597–9.
- 43. Calzada G, Isaacson B, Yoshor D, Oghalai J. Surgical approaches to the hypoglossal canal. Skull Base. 2007;17(3):187–96.
- Katsuta T, Matsushima T, Wen HT, Rhoton AL. Trajectory of the hypoglossal nerve in the hypoglossal canal: significance for the transcondylar approach. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 2000;40(4):206–10.
- 45. Liu JK, Rao G, Schmidt MH, Couldwell WT. Far lateral transcondylar transtubercular approach to lesions of the ventral foramen magnum and craniovertebral junction. Contemp Neurosurg. 2007;29(10):1–8.
- 46. Menezes AH. Surgical approaches: postoperative care and complications "posterolateral-far lateral transcondylar approach to the ventral foramen magnum and upper cervical spinal canal". Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24(10):1203–7.
- Patel AJ, Gressot LV, Cherian J, Desai SK, Jea A. Far lateral paracondylar versus transcondylar approach in the pediatric age group: CT morphometric analysis. J Clin Neurosci. 2014;21(12):2194–200.

Endoscope-Assisted Far Lateral Approach to the Craniovertebral Junction with Neuronavigation: A Cadaver Laboratory Experience



Francesco Signorelli, Marco Pace, Vittorio Stumpo, Pasquale Ciappetta, Alessandro Costantini, Alessandro Olivi, and Massimiliano Visocchi

Introduction

The far lateral approach (FLA) is a technique performed nowadays to gain access to and remove intradural lesions located ventrolaterally to the brainstem and to the craniovertebral junction (CVJ).

The FLA represents an extension of the suboccipital approach with additional removal of a variable amount of occipital bone. During the 1980s, Heros and George separately performed the first attempts at the FLA [1, 2], followed shortly afterward by Spetzler and Grahm [3]. Since then, several variants of the approach have been proposed, which can be considered as a continuum in which the extent of bone removal is guided by the localization and dimensions of the lesion to be removed.

In recent years, endoscopy has gained wide popularity and became a fundamental tool in the neurosurgical armamentarium. Endoscopy has been used extensively for treating skull base lesions, and several studies have reported the indications and advantages of endoscopy-assisted techniques for operating on the CVJ [4, 5]. The neuronavigation system provides real-time information, which allows accurate localization, better identification and precise resection of these lesions, thus significantly increasing the safety of the approach [6].

Few anatomical studies of neuroendoscopy combined with neuronavigation in the ventral craniocervical junction have been reported to date [6-8].

P. Ciappetta

A. Costantini

Our cadaver study was conducted with the purpose of investigating the benefits, potential and limitations of neuronavigation and endoscopy in the FLA to the craniocervical junction.

Materials and Methods

Materials

Two adult formalin-fixed cadaver specimens (four sides) were examined in stepwise dissection. The following instruments were used: a multidetector 128-layer computed tomography (CT) scanner, binocular lenses (visual magnification 3.5×), 420 mm; 0° and 30° rod lens endoscope (Storz, Tuttlingen, Germany); neuronavigation (Medtronic StealthStation Treon Plus); high-speed drill (Storz); vacuum aspirator (Super Vega Battery); digital camera (EOS 7D telescopic lens image stabilizer ultrasonic macro 100 mm; Canon, Tokyo, Japan); operating microscope (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany); microsurgical instruments; and stainless steel headholder.

Methods

The thawing, irrigation, fixation and perfusion phases were performed according to a protocol developed at our research centre. The formalin-fixed samples thus underwent a highdefinition CT scan after being injected with the monomeric iodinated contrast medium Iomeprol (Iomeron[®]), and the vascular system was later perfused with coloured silicone solutions: blue for the venous system and red for the arterial system. The imaging data (saved in DICOM [Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine] format) were stored on compact disc (CD) and imported into the neuronavigation workstation to create three-dimensional (3D) reconstructions.

F. Signorelli (\boxtimes) · M. Pace · V. Stumpo · A. Olivi · M. Visocchi Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

Section of Neurological Surgery, University of Bari Medical School, Bari, Italy

Institute of Radiology, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

The neuronavigation system, binocular lenses, microscope and endoscope were used during simulation of the four FLAs (one on each side of the two cadaver specimens).

Results

After an inverted hockey-stick incision, stepwise dissection of all muscular layers was performed; the occipital artery was identified and isolated from its distal to proximal end until the corner of the jaw, together with the greater occipital nerve, which was also dissected and isolated along its superficial course. Close to the artery, the occipital vein was identified, together with the emissary mastoid vein and its foramen. Once this latter vein was sectioned, the previously isolated occipital artery and vein were overturned posterolaterally and preserved. The suboccipital triangle was then identified, housing the vertebral artery on its floor, wrapped by its venous plexus and surrounded by the C1 nerve. The muscular branch of the vertebral artery was also identified along its posterior surface, and the distance between the midline and the artery entry point into the dura mater was measured (1.9 cm and 2.1 cm in specimen A, and 1.8 cm and 2.3 cm in specimen B). After subperiosteal vertebral artery mobilization, a lateral suboccipital craniectomy was performed, followed by C1 semiarch removal. Subsequently, with the aid of neuronavigation, the occipital condyle was identified and its posterior third was removed. The dura mater was then incised approximately 1 cm from the vertebral artery entry point and reflected laterally. On both sides of the two specimens, the posterior inferior cerebellar artery (PICA) displayed an intradural origin. During the intradural phase, optimal fixation of the cerebellar parenchyma in terms of trophism and consistency, complete arterial and venous perfusion of the intracerebral vessels (demonstrated by the filling of the cerebellar cortical vessels) and arachnoid preservation were evident (Fig. 1). After the arachnoid incision, endoscopic exploration by means of the 0° and 30° endoscope lenses was performed, allowing identification of the lower cranial nerves, PICA and intradural vertebral artery (Fig. 2). In one case, during the endoscopic exploration of the inferior corridor, tearing of the emerging roots of the eleventh cranial nerve occurred. With the aid of neuronavigation, it was possible to identify the posterior skull base structures, the clivus and its condyles (Fig. 3).

Discussion

The FLA nowadays represents a mainstay for the surgical treatment of intradural pathologies of the ventral craniocervical junction. Since the first description by Heros and



Fig. 1 Intradural vision of the bulbomedullary junction, brainstem, lower cranial nerves and posterior inferior cerebellar artery (PICA) obtained with the far lateral approach

George, extensive discussion and modifications of this approach have been reported in the literature.

Overall, the crucial steps in this approach are the positioning, skin incision, muscular dissection, vertebral artery (VA) management, suboccipital/retrosigmoid craniotomy, lateral foramen magnum rim removal and drilling of the condyle, dural opening, intradural microsurgery, and closure. In the extensive literature on the FLA, execution of each step is described in several ways by different authors. The crucial issues with regard to the extradural steps of the FLA are the extent of condyle resection (with its potential for CVJ instability) and VA management, which have both been described with different strategies ranging from the most aggressive to more conservative ones.

The ventrolateral bulbomedullary junction—the target of the FLA—is a complex anatomical region characterized by dense distribution of nerves and blood vessels, an irregular skull base and a narrow operating space; therefore, execution of each step requires accurate topographical anatomy knowledge and extensive experience in both spinal and skull base surgery. Endoscopy-assisted techniques exploit the potential of the endoscope to provide a wider, brighter, magnified and multi-angle panoramic view through narrow surgical corridors. Overall, these features result in improved visualization of the surgical field while minimizing brain retraction and trauma to neurovascular structures that need to be identified and preserved while one is working in the space around and beyond them.

Several cadaver studies have demonstrated the use and benefits of endoscopy in the FLA [4, 6, 9]. In one study [9] the surgical corridors for the insertion of the endoscope were divided into superior, middle and inferior corridors. Cranial nerves VII and VIII, IX and X, and XII are the roofs and floors, respectively, of the three corridors, with access to and observation of aspects of the brainstem and posterior



Fig. 2 Endoscopic intradural exploration through (**a**) the upper corridor, (**b**) the middle corridor and (**c**) the inferior corridor, according to Chotai et al. [9]



Fig. 3 Neuronavigated computed tomography (CT) scan: identification of the occipital condyle with the probe

circulation provided by means of the 0° lens (for the superior and middle corridors) and the 30° lens (for the inferior corridor).

Another cadaver study compared the 3D endoscopic and microscopic views in the FLA after partial condylectomy and resection of the jugular tubercle [10]. In that study the 3D endoscope provided a better view of the bulbopontine segment of the anterior inferior cerebellar artery (AICA), the subarcuate artery, the labyrinthine artery, the origin of the PICA, the vertebrobasilar junction, the anterior spinal artery and the lateral aspect of the lower cranial nerves. However, the study concluded that the 3D endoscopic probe was too large and, although there was reasonably safe and adequate access for visualization of the deeper structures, the surgical manoeuvrability was significantly hampered. On the other hand, in a more recent study [6] the authors claimed that the endoscopy-assisted FLA has the potential to reduce exposure of the surrounding brain tissue and shorten the neck incision, thus avoiding excessive injury to the muscles and ligaments. Several authors have reported similar benefits with use of the endoscope in clinical series. These studies reported a significant benefit from the ability of the endoscope to identify any tumour that was adherent to the brainstem or clivus and was amenable to resection [9, 11-13].

Nonetheless, there are several limitations of endoscopyassisted techniques that warrant awareness. First, there is a learning curve associated with endoscopy-assisted techniques. In addition, the endoscope occupies space in the surgical corridor, leaving less room for instruments. Moreover, insertion and removal of the endoscope increase the risk of damaging neurovascular structures and must be done under microscopic visualization. Finally, the endoscope can sometimes provide superior visualization without equivalent surgical manoeuvrability, especially in a narrow curvilinear corridor between delicate neurovascular structures, as in the case of the CVJ [9].

In our anatomical study, the endoscope allowed exploration of the three main access routes as described, and the intradural anatomy was extensively observed, but in one case we noticed tearing of some lower cranial nerve fibres, particularly of cranial nerve XI, which is especially fragile because of the discrete cerebellar rigidity.

The endoscopy-assisted FLA with navigation guidance combines the advantages of neuronavigation and neuroendoscopy. Neuronavigation could overcome the risk connected with incorrect introduction of the instrument and the inability of the endoscope to see straight ahead, resulting in possible injury to adjacent structures [6, 14, 15]. In addition, neuronavigation can be employed before surgery to determine the direction and extent of jugular tubercle and occipital condyle drilling needed for the FLA. Real-time monitoring of the drilling size allows the surgeon to avoid injuring the hypoglossal canal. In our study, neuronavigation was useful to confirm the identity of clearly recognizable structures and, more crucially, provided essential support for safe identification of deep structures in the preliminary and intermediate phases of dissection, such as the occipital condyles, the dens and the clivus.

Conclusion

Anatomical dissections constitute irreplaceable training for young surgeons and have further importance in approaches to one of the most complex anatomical regions in the entire human body: the craniovertebral junction. With the aid of endoscopy and image guidance, it is possible to maximize the dissection experience. Furthermore, in the clinical setting, use of neuronavigation during endoscopic procedures provides the surgeon with constant orientation in the surgical field, thus increasing the accuracy and the safety of the approach.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Heros RC. Lateral suboccipital approach for vertebral and vertebrobasilarartery lesions. J Neurosurg. 1986;64:559–62.
- George B, Dematons C, Cophignon J. Lateral approach to the anterior portion of the foramen magnum. Surg Neurol. 1988;29:484–90.
- Spetzler RF, Grahm TW. The far lateral approach to the inferior clivus and the upper cervical region: technical note. BNI Q. 1990;6:35–8.
- Hayashi N, Cohen AR. Endoscope-assisted far-lateral transcondylar approach to the skull base. Minim Invasive Neurosurg. 2002;45:132–5.
- Russo VM, Graziano F, Russo A, Albanese E, Ulm AJ. High anterior cervical approach to the clivus and foramen magnum: a microsurgical anatomy study. Neurosurgery. 2011;69:ONS103–16.
- Guan MW, Wang JY, Feng DX, Fu P, Chen LH, Li MC, et al. Anatomical study of endoscope-assisted far lateral keyhole approach to the ventral craniocervical region with neuronavigational guidance. Chin Med J. 2013;126:1707–10.
- Wu CY, Lan Q. Quantification of the presigmoid transpetrosal keyhole approach to petroclival region. Chin Med J. 2008;121:740–4.
- Xia Y, Li XP, Han DM, Zheng J, Long HS, Shi JF. Anatomic structural study of cerebellopontine angle via endoscope. Chin Med J. 2007;120:1836–9.
- Chotai S, Kshettry VR, Ammirati M. Endoscopic-assisted microsurgical techniques at the craniovertebral junction: 4 illustrative cases and literature review. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2014;121:1–9.
- Anichini GBD, Evins A, Santoro A, Stieg PE, Bernardo A. 3D endoscope-assisted anatomy of the foramen magnum and

cranio-vertebral junction through a far lateral approach—a technical note. In: 2012 Annual Meeting of the Congress of Neurological Surgeons, Chicago, October 2012; 2012.

- Sekhar LN, Ramanathan D. Evolution of far lateral and extreme lateral approaches to the skull base. World Neurosurg. 2012;77:617–8.
- Kshettry VR, Chotai S, Hou J, Lamki T, Ammirati M. Successful resection of anterior and anterolateral lesions at the craniovertebral junction using a simple posterolateral approach. J Clin Neurosci. 2013;4:616–22.
- Velat GJ, Spetzler RF. The far-lateral approach and its variations. World Neurosurg. 2012;77:619–20.
- Di X. Multiple brain tumor nodule resections under direct visualization of a neuronavigated endoscope. Minim Invasive Neurosurg. 2007;50:227–32.
- Mayberg MR, LaPresto E, Cunningham EJ. Image-guided endoscopy: description of technique and potential applications. Neurosurg Focus. 2005;19:E10.

Extreme Lateral Approach to the Craniovertebral Junction: An Update



Nabeel S. Alshafai and Tomasz Klepinowski

Abstract *Introduction:* The term 'extreme lateral approach' (ELA) was first introduced by Sen and Sekhar relatively recently (in 1990). Its definition varies and remains controversial, but it generally entails more aggressive bony removal than the far lateral approach (FLA).

Goal: In this paper we review the relevant literature and weigh up the advantages and disadvantages of this approach. We propose methods to manage the complications resulting from the more invasive character of the ELA. Some modern trends regarding how to definitely distinguish the ELA from the FLA are also presented.

Methods: Using the PubMed database, literature was collected on the relevant topics and subsequently reviewed. All up-to-date tips and tricks were carefully gathered, and current morbidity and mortality rates were obtained, as well as further perspectives.

Results and Conclusion: The morbidity associated with the ELA remains higher than that associated with the FLA, but the mortality nowadays is comparable. The ELA undoubtedly is a challenging procedure requiring deep insight into the relevant anatomy and its normal variants.

Keywords Extreme lateral approach · Meningiomas · ELITE Vertebral artery transposition · Craniovertebral junction

Introduction

The extreme lateral approach (ELA) is generally considered a more aggressive extension of the far lateral approach (FLA). The term 'extreme lateral approach' dates back to 1990, when

N. S. Alshafai (🖂)

Alshafai Neurosurgical Academy (ANA), Toronto, ON, Canada

T. Klepinowski Alshafai Neurosurgical Academy (ANA), Toronto, ON, Canada

Department of Neurosurgery, Collegium Medicum Jagiellonian University, Kraków, Poland

Sen and Sekhar depicted an alternative way to handle meningiomas and schwannomas located anteriorly at the cervicomedullary junction [1]. The rationale behind this procedure was to enable gross total resection of lesions with significant lateral extensions that would otherwise be inaccessible, e.g. via the anterior or classical far lateral approaches. Essentially, the ELA involves a greater extent of bony removal, as it sometimes aims for nearly total condulectomy [2] or skeletonization of the jugular bulb along with the sigmoid sinus (in the transjugular variant of the ELA); more often, vertebral artery (VA) transposition is performed. The exact delineation of craniotomy and other nuances lie within a spectrum of variation under the umbrella of the ELA, as reported by Salas and Ziyal [3, 4]. Thus, it renders the surgical corridor wide open, but on the other hand it is inherently associated with higher rates of morbidity and mortality [5-7].

Methods

A literature search was performed by means of the PubMed Medline database (accessed via https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed). The phrase that constituted the subject of our search was 'extreme lateral approach'. Initially, as many as 259 results were produced. Forty-two papers pertaining to the craniocervical ELA were found, issued between September 1990 and July 2016. Since the present paper is an update on what is already known, only contemporary literature after the year 2000 was included in our analysis. Thus, ultimately, 24 articles were included, published from November 2001 until July 2016.

Results

We found that the literature pertaining to the ELA is rather sparse, with the mean production of new articles being less than 2/year (1.62/year since 1990) worldwide (see Fig. 1 for the last 9 years). The year 2016 was the most productive since 2004. All of the papers included in this review then underwent critical scrutiny to identify modern trends, obstacles, incidence rates of complications, innovations, and future perspectives.

Modern Indications

A variety of lesions might be considered appropriate surgical candidates for the ELA. Cases involving the following pathologies have been reported to be operable via the ELA, according to our literature review [6, 8-21]:

- Large meningiomas.
- Distal VA aneurysms.
- Prepontine epidermoids.
- Superior cervical nerve sheath tumours (neurofibroma and schwannoma).
- Hypoglossal neurinomas.
- · Chordomas, chondrosarcomas.
- Paragangliomas.
- Neuroepithelial cysts.
- Congenital and acquired abnormalities of C0–C1, such as hypertrophy of the atlanto-occipital joint and a lateral mass, or osteochondroma; the ELA also allows for reduction of atlantoaxial rotatory fixation, which has been done so far in 13 paediatric patients.

New Articles



Fig. 1 Numbers of new articles on the extreme lateral approach that have been issued each year over a 9-year period

- Spinal dural fistula.
- Extracranial VA-to-intracranial VA bypass.
- Dens pathologies (e.g. rheumatoid arthritis).

However, when it comes to tumours, it is often not the histopathological diagnosis that influences the choice of ELA but, rather, the precise location of the lesion. Zozyulia et al. described detailed criteria for choosing a surgical approach for lesions in the ventral and ventrolateral regions of the craniovertebral junction [21]. It was suggested that the ELA might be taken into account in cases of a large tumour anterior to the spinal cord, extending beyond the midline, that pushes the cord posteriorly and takes over its anterior space. In other scenarios, less invasive procedures should be pondered, such as the FLA. Currently the ELA is used to treat approximately 17% of tumours of the ventral and/or ventrolateral craniovertebral junction [21].

Mastering Vertebral Artery Transposition

Since mobilization of this vessel is an inherent part of this wide approach, mastering the technique is essential for potential final success. It can be accomplished in two ways: either at the C1 foramen transversarium or at the dural entry point of the VA [22], but rarely at both. There has been much controversy around this step, with a number of neurosurgeons refuting its usefulness, having realized the potential risks it involves and that this might actually be an unnecessary step—for instance, when the tumour itself sets the neuraxis aside, automatically opening the corridor. Table 1 shows all of the current top arguments for and against this stage of the ELA [22].

 Table 1
 Arguments advocating and negating mobilization of the vertebral artery (VA) [22]

Arguments in favour of VA transposition	Arguments against VA transposition
 It facilitates condylar drilling for unimpeded access to the tumour Meningiomas of the deep foramen magnum may otherwise be difficult to handle It is helpful if the tumour diameter is <3 cm It is useful in anterior foramen magnum meningiomas and those above the VA It minimizes manipulation of the neuraxis 	 Large tumours displace the neuraxis back, creating a working space that makes VA transposition and condylar drilling unnecessary VA transposition may lead to troublesome venous plexus engorgement and bleeding It is unnecessary in neither lateral foramen magnum meningioma nor those below the VA There is a risk of formation of a pseudoaneurysm or an arteriovenous fistula

A Brand New Concept: Extreme Lateral Inferior Transcondylar–Transtubercular Exposure

In the extreme lateral inferior transcondylar-transtubercular exposure (ELITE) approach, the occipital condyle is drilled parallel to the articular surface but-notably-sparing the articular facet of the atlas [23]. This manoeuvre exposes the hypoglossal canal. The structure seen just above it, which forms its roof, is a jugular tubercle, which is then resected. The rationale behind this step is that the convex surface of the tubercle obstructs the view of the most anterior and contralateral anterolateral area of the foramen magnum. The jugular tubercle also makes up a medial wall of the jugular foramen; thus, care must be taken to not injure the neurovascular structures of it. Drilling the tubercle extradurally in such a manner produces excellent exposure [23]. To preoperatively predict whether a jugular tubercle will affect the scope of vision, computed tomography (CT) is performed and measurements of the jugular tubercle are taken: the width on the coronal section, and the thickness and length on the axial section. These measurements on CT are very close to the ones taken on dry skulls and hence may be safely used [24].

In children it is advised against drilling much of the condyle, since this structure grows as the entire skeletal system does, and the influence of such a manoeuvre upon the stability is even harder to predict in this paediatric population [25].

Current Complications of the Extreme Lateral Approach

For the time being, the situation is still not satisfactory, as the morbidity and mortality related to the ELA remain high (see Fig. 2). It is most often associated with deficits of the lower cranial nerves, of which the incidence has been



Fig. 2 Comparison of temporary morbidity, permanent morbidity and mortality rates between the extreme lateral approach (ELA) and the far lateral approach (FLA) [6]

reported to be 17.9–50% [6, 22]. The nerve that is injured most frequently, even temporarily, is the hypoglossal nerve (14.2–50%), followed by the vagus/glossopharyngeal complex (4–37.5%). The accessory nerve is at the bottom of this list (0–25%). Other sequelae of this aggressive approach include [6, 26]:

- Development or exacerbation of hydrocephalus (~13%).
- Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leaks (22%).
- Central nervous system infection (5–25%).
- Transient or permanent hemiplegia or tetraplegia (12.5%).
- Instability: this is controversial. This supposedly might occur after 50% of the condyle is drilled [27], but a number of cases have been published where the drilling exceeded 75% and still there was no sign or symptom of instability [28].

The general incidence of complications might vary depending on the nature of the lesion, as well as which variant of ELA is chosen. Thus, the incidence appears to be higher in more invasive transjugular ELA (tjELA) when the surgeon is aiming for paragangliomas and schwannomas [27, 29]. The classic tjELA is possibly the most aggressive posterolateral approach to the foramen magnum, as it also entails a total mastoidectomy with transposition of a facial nerve from the facial canal. Also, some critical venous structures are exposed: the jugular bulb and vein [30]. This, altogether, might result in a higher complication rate.

Conclusion

The extreme lateral approach (ELA) has been given little attention over the last 15 years, especially in comparison with its less invasive sister, the far lateral approach (FLA). Therefore, one might ask what future the ELA has with current tendencies to assume a minimally invasive attitude. The ELA, however, still appears to be a reasonable option for large anterior and anterolateral lesions when greater exposure is desperately required. It could also still be utilized as an approach in complex vascular lesions in this region. However, it goes along with a higher complication rate than other posterolateral approaches to the foramen magnum region. This morbidity and mortality may also be attributed to the fact that the lesions themselves that qualify for the ELA are larger and of a more complex nature.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Sen CN, Sekhar LN. An extreme lateral approach to intradural lesions of the cervical spine and foramen magnum. Neurosurgery. 1990;27(2):197–204.
- Abla A, Lawton M. Midbasilar and vertebrobasilar junction aneurysms: extended retrosigmoid approach. Atlas Neurosurg Tech. 2015;1:247–52.
- Salas E, Sekhar LN, Ziyal IM, Caputy AJ, Wright DC. Variations of the extreme-lateral craniocervical approach: anatomical study and clinical analysis of 69 patients. J Neurosurg. 1999;90(2 Suppl):206–19.
- Ziyal IM, Salas E, Sekhar LN. The surgical anatomy of six variations. Turk Neurosurg. 1999;9:105–12.
- Kawashima M, Tanriover N, Rhoton AL, et al. Comparison of the far lateral and extreme lateral variants of the atlanto-occipital transarticular approach to anterior extradural lesions of the craniovertebral junction. Neurosurgery. 2003;53(3):662–75.
- Komotar RJ, Zacharia BE, McGovern RA, Sisti MB, Bruce JN, D'Ambrosio AL. Approaches to anterior and anterolateral foramen magnum lesions: a critical review. J Craniovertebral Junction Spine. 2010;1(2):86–99.
- Suhardja A, Agur AMR, Cusimano MD. Anatomical basis of approaches to foramen magnum and lower clival meningiomas: comparison of retrosigmoid and transcondylar approaches. Neurosurg Focus. 2003;14(6):e9.
- Abhishek A, Anushree A, Patir R, Sehgal AD. Extreme lateral approach in a case of acute-onset quadriplegia due to high cervical neurenteric cyst. Pediatr Neurosurg. 2007;43(2):134–6.
- Crossman JE, David K, Hayward R, Crockard HA. Open reduction of pediatric atlantoaxial rotatory fixation: long-term outcome study with functional measurements. J Neurosurg Spine. 2004;100(3 Suppl):235–40.
- El-Sissy MH, Mahmoud M. C2 root nerve sheath tumors management. Acta Neurochir. 2013;155(5):779–84.
- 11. Jia G, Wang Z, Zhang J. Diagnosis and treatment of hypoglossal neurinoma. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2001;81(20):1264–5.
- Krishnan P, Behari S, Banerji D, Mehrotra N, Chhabra DK, Jain VK. Surgical approach to C1–C2 nerve sheath tumors. Neurol India. 2004;52(3):319–24.
- Kubota H, Tanikawa R, Katsuno M, et al. Vertebral artery-tovertebral artery bypass with interposed radial artery or occipital artery grafts: surgical technique and report of three cases. World Neurosurg. 2014;81(1):202.e1–8.
- Kumar CV, Satyanarayana S, Rao BR, Palur RS. Extreme lateral approach to ventral and ventrolaterally situated lesions of the lower brainstem and upper cervical cord. Skull Base. 2001;11(4):265–75.
- Liu JK. Extreme lateral transcondylar approach for resection of ventrally based meningioma of the craniovertebral junction and upper cervical spine. Neurosurg Focus. 2012;33(Suppl 1):1.

- López-Flores G, Cruz-García O, Fernández-Melo R, Fernández-Alban M, Alfonzo-Sabatier C, Bouza-Molina W, Fermín-Hernández E, Castillo-Hernández JE. Osteochondroma of the atlantooccipital joint. Extreme lateral transcondylar approach. A case description. Rev Neurol. 2003;36(2):133–6.
- Marhx-Bracho A, Rueda-Franco F, Ibarra-de la Torre A, García-González O, Bornstein-Quevedo L, León-Bogorge B. Chordoid meningioma of the foramen magnum in a child: a case report and review of the literature. Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24(5):623–7.
- Nath PC, Mishra SS, Deo RC, Mahanta I. Congenital malrotation of the atlas with unilateral hypertrophy of the atlanto-occipital joint—a rare anomaly of the craniovertebral junction and its management. World Neurosurg. 2016;88:689.e9–689.e12.
- Pulido Rivas P, Villoria Medina F, Fortea Gil F, Sola RG. Dural fistula in the craniocervical junction. A case report and review of the literature. Rev Neurol. 2004;38(5):438–42.
- Türe U, Pamir MN. Extreme lateral-transatlas approach for resection of the dens of the axis. J Neurosurg. 2002;96(1 Suppl):73–82.
- Zozulya YP, Slynko YI, Al-Qashqish II. Surgical treatment of ventral and ventrolateral intradural extramedullary tumors of craniovertebral and upper cervical localization. Asian J Neurosurg. 2010;6(1):18–25.
- Park HH, Lee K-S, Hong C-K. Vertebral artery transposition via an extreme-lateral approach for anterior foramen magnum meningioma or craniocervical junction tumors. World Neurosurg. 2016;88:154–65.
- Wanibuchi M, Fukushima T, Zenga F, Friedman AH. Simple identification of the third segment of the extracranial vertebral artery by extreme lateral inferior transcondylar–transtubercular exposure (ELITE). Acta Neurochir. 2009;151(11):1499–503.
- Mintelis A, Sameshima T, Bulsara KR, Gray L, Friedman AH, Fukushima T. Jugular tubercle: morphometric analysis and surgical significance. J Neurosurg. 2006;105(5):753–7.
- Calayag M, Gabel BC, Hong DS, Hatefi D, Gonda DD, Meltzer HS, Levy ML. 197 considerations in relationship to the approach for the treatment of lateralized posterior fossa tumors in children. Neurosurgery. 2016;63:177–8.
- Chandra PS, Jaiswal AK, Mehta VS. Foramen magnum tumors: a series of 30 cases. Neurol India. 2003;51(2):193–6.
- Margalit NS, Lesser JB, Singer M, Sen C. Lateral approach to anterolateral tumors at the foramen magnum: factors determining surgical procedure. Neurosurgery. 2005;56(4 Suppl):324–36.
- Shiban E, Török E, Wostrack M, Meyer B, Lehmberg J. The farlateral approach: destruction of the condyle does not necessarily result in clinically evident craniovertebral junction instability. J Neurosurg. 2016;125:196–201.
- 29. Calzada G, Isaacson B, Yoshor D, Oghalai J. Surgical approaches to the hypoglossal canal. Skull Base. 2007;17(3):187–96.
- Avci E, Acevedo C, Fossett D. Extreme lateral approach. New York: Thieme; 2002. p. 90–9.

The Extreme Lateral Approach to the Craniovertebral Junction: An Anatomical Study



Francesco Signorelli, Walter Pisciotta, Vittorio Stumpo, Pasquale Ciappetta, Alessandro Olivi, and Massimiliano Visocchi

Abstract *Background*: The extreme lateral approach is a direct lateral approach which allows a good control of the entire length of the vertebral artery (VA), the jugular foramen, the lowest cranial nerves, and the jugular–sigmoid complex. Herein we try to exploit the variants of the approach and we identify indications, advantages, and disadvantages.

Methods: All phases of the study were conducted at the Institute of Public Health Section of Legal Medicine and Insurance of the University. We performed the extreme lateral approach in four subjects, who died between 24 and 48 h before in non-traumatic circumstances (three men and one woman).

Results: The great auricular nerve, the spinal accessory, the branches of the first ventral spinal nerves, the jugular vein, and the vertebral artery were identified in all the cadavers. In all cases the right VA exited from the transverse foramen of C1. The site of SCM piercing the accessory nerve was at a distance from the tip of the mastoid between 3 and 4 cm (3.3 in one case, 3.4 in 2 cases, and 3.7 in one case). No vessels and nerves have been damaged after being identified and isolated.

Conclusions: Extradural lesions at the ventro-lateral aspect of the CVJ may require an extreme lateral approach, a procedure more aggressive comparing with far lateral approach, which represents a reasonable option for large anterior and anterolateral lesions when greater exposure is required.

Keywords Extreme lateral approach · Craniocervical junction · Craniovertebral junction

P. Ciappetta

Introduction

Lesions of the ventrolateral aspect of the craniovertebral junction (CVJ) still represent a challenge to neurosurgeons. Several lateral approaches have been adopted to manage these lesions while ensuring minimal manipulation of the spinal cord and careful control of the main vascular structures.

The indications, technical descriptions, nuances, advantages and drawbacks of these approaches have long been debated by neurosurgeons [1-14]. A plethora of terminology has been adopted since the early 1980s, broadly summarized as the posterolateral or far lateral approach and the anterolateral or extreme lateral approach (ELA).

The ELA, as originally described, is a direct lateral approach to the deep anterior portion of the sternocleidomastoid muscle (SCM), behind the internal jugular vein and anterior to the vertebral artery (VA). This approach allows a wide domain of the VA, the jugular foramen, the lowest cranial nerves and the jugular–sigmoid complex.

The main application of this approach is the treatment of extradural lesions, but in some circumstances it can also be used to remove intradural lesions. Key points of this approach are (1) spinal accessory nerve preservation during SCM overturning; (2) VA transposition by subperiosteal dissection along the sulcus arteriosus on the posterior arch of the atlas; (3) drilling of the lateral mass of the atlas; and (4) removal of the lower surface of the occipital condyle, if necessary. Different combinations of drilling of the occipital condyle, the facets and laminae of C1 and C2, and the tubercle and jugular process, along with different amounts of suboccipital craniectomy, provide the surgeon with different ways to approach the CVJ anterolaterally.

Occipitocervical fusion and stabilization are warranted after removal of more than the posterior third of the occipital condyle.

In this cadaver study we aimed to better define the potentials and limitations of the extreme lateral approach to the craniocervical junction.

F. Signorelli (\boxtimes) · W. Pisciotta · V. Stumpo · A. Olivi · M. Visocchi Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

Section of Neurological Surgery, University of Bari Medical School, Bari, Italy

Materials and Methods

Materials

The following instruments were used: binocular lenses (visual magnification 3.5×), 420 mm; high-speed drill (Storz, Tuttlingen, Germany); vacuum aspirator (Super Vega Battery); digital camera (EOS 7D telescopic lens image stabilizer ultrasonic macro 100 mm; Canon, Tokyo, Japan); operating microscope (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany); microsurgical instruments; and a stainless steel headholder.

Methods

The ELA was performed at the Section of Legal Medicine and Insurance, Institute of Public Health, at the Catholic University School of Medicine in Rome, using four cadavers of individuals (three male, one female) who died between 24 and 48 h beforehand in non-traumatic circumstances. The Institute is provided with two dissection stations, which simulate the operating room environment. In all four cases a diagnostic examination was required, and the neck was an area of interest. Special authorization had already been obtained from the ethics committee (protocol no. P663/ EC/2010 approved on 28 July 2010; subsequent amendment no. P437/CE 2012 approved on 2 May 2012).

Results

A right approach was performed on every specimen. The great auricular nerve, the spinal accessory nerve, the branches of the first ventral spinal nerves, the jugular vein and the VA were identified in all four cadavers, and in all cases the right VA passed through the transverse foramen of C1. The site where the accessory nerve pierces the SCM was found at a distance of 3–4 cm from the tip of the mastoid (3.3 cm in one case, 3.4 cm in two cases and 3.7 cm in one case).

No vascular or nervous structure was damaged after being identified and isolated.

Discussion

The ELA involves opening of the C1 transverse process and VA transposition. George [15] was the first to report medial transposition of the VA. This technique reduces the risk of VA injury during drilling of the medial atlanto-occipital joint.

The ELA provides good access to the bone and the extradural anterior and lateral space. It can be extended caudally to the subaxial cervical spine, and it offers simultaneous control of the VA, the cervical segment of the internal carotid artery (ICA), the lower cranial nerves and the sigmoid–jugular complex [15].

The main indications for this approach are lesions located in the anterolateral aspect of the CVJ or in the spinal cord, with a large extradural component, such as meningiomas and dumbbell neuromas; it is also indicated for osseous lesions such as chordomas or metastases of the lateral portion of the CVJ. Moreover, this approach can be extended anteriorly to reach the jugular foramen, allowing removal of simple glomus tumours that are not invading the carotid artery (CA) and also removal of neuromas growing in this anatomical region.

By performing an inverted L incision, we could conservatively identify the SCM through incision of its anterior margin and sectioning of its occipital and temporal insertions.

The inferolateral reflection of the SCM and cranial nerve XI allows direct lateral access to the anterior aspect of the CVJ between the internal jugular vein and the dural sac. The fundamentals of this procedure are similar to those described by Verbiest, who used this technique to remove osteophytes causing compression of the VA and the nerve roots of the lower cervical spine [16]. This technique is also similar to oblique corpectomy, which was described by George et al. [17].

During ELA, the muscles are detached from their insertion on the transverse process of the atlas. Great attention must be paid to avoiding damage of the VA, internal jugular vein and spinal nerves, which are found just underneath these muscles.

Our dissection experience further confirms that ELA is able to provide exposure of the whole odontoid process, the inferior clivus and the medial surface of the contralateral atlanto-occipital joint.

The ELA can thus provide an alternative to the transoral approach for extradural lesions of the CVJ, with the advantages of a shorter surgical route and avoidance of rhinopharynx contamination. Furthermore, we have been able to confirm that the ELA can be further extended downward to deal with lesions located at C2, C3 or lower levels.

Conclusion

The anterolateral or extreme lateral approach is very effective for treating anterolateral craniovertebral junction lesions with a relevant extradural component. This approach can easily be combined with a posterolateral procedure and can be extended to the lower cervical spine (Figs. 1 and 2).

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.



Fig. 1 Stepwise extradural dissection in the extreme lateral approach



Fig. 2 Vertebral artery transposition in the extreme lateral approach

References

- Banerji D, Behari S, Jain VK, Pandey T, Chhabra DK. Extreme lateral transcondylar approach to the skull base. Neurol India. 1999;47:22–30.
- Cornu P, Hentati K, Chabolle F, Zouaoui A, Tamisier D, Hidden G, et al. Lateral approach to the foramen magnum. Surg Radiol Anat. 1990;12:77–8.

- Crockard HA, Sen CN. The transoral approach for the management of intradural lesions at the craniovertebral junction: review of 7 cases. Neurosurgery. 1991;28:88–98.
- de Oliveira E, Rhoton AL Jr, Peace D. Microsurgical anatomy of the region of the foramen magnum. Surg Neurol. 1985;24:293–352.
- George B, Dermatons C, Cophignon J. Lateral approach to the anterior portion of the foramen magnum. Application to surgical removal of 14 benign tumors: technical note. Surg Neurol. 1988;29:484–90.
- George B, Lot G, Boissonnet H. Meningioma of the foramen magnum: a series of 40 cases. Surg Neurol. 1997;47:371–9.
- Gilsbach JM. Extreme lateral approach to intradural lesions of the cervical spine and foramen magnum. Neurosurgery. 1991;28:779.
- Goel A, Desai K, Muzumdar D. Surgery on anterior foramen magnum meningiomas using a conventional posterior suboccipital approach: a report on an experience with 17 cases. Neurosurgery. 2001;49:102–7.
- Heros RC. Lateral suboccipital approach for vertebral and vertebrobasilar artery lesions. J Neurosurg. 1986;64:559–62.
- Kratimenos GP, Crockard HA. The far lateral approach for ventrally placed foramen magnum and upper cervical spine tumours. Br J Neurosurg. 1993;7:129–40.
- Rhoton AL Jr. The foramen magnum. Neurosurgery. 2000;47(Suppl 3):S155–93.
- Schwaber MK, Netterville JL, Maciunas R. Microsurgical anatomy of the lower skullbase—a morphometric analysis. Am J Otol. 1990;11:401–5.
- Sekhar LN, Babu RP, Wright DC. Surgical resection of cranial base meningiomas. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 1994;5:299–330.
- Al-Mefty O, Borba LA, Aoki N, Angtuaco E, Pait TG. The transcondylar approach to extradural nonneoplastic lesions of the craniovertebral junction. J Neurosurg. 1996;84:1–6.
- George B, Laurian C. Surgical approach to the whole length of the vertebral artery with special reference to the third portion. Acta Neurochir. 1980;51:259–72.
- Verbiest H. A lateral approach to the cervical spine: technique and indications. J Neurosurg. 1968;28:191–203.
- George B, Gauthier N, Lot G. Multisegmental cervical spondylotic myelopathy and radiculopathy treated by multilevel oblique corpectomies without fusion. Neurosurgery. 1999;44(1):81–90.

Direct Approaches

Transoral Versus Transnasal Approach for Craniovertebral Junction Pathologies: Which Route Is Better?



Massimiliano Visocchi, Francesco Signorelli, Chenlong Liao, Mario Rigante, Pasquale Ciappetta, Giuseppe Barbagallo, and Alessandro Olivi

Abstract *Background:* Several pathologies that affect the craniovertebral junction (CVJ) can be treated by means of a microsurgical transoral approach (TOA) or, alternatively, with an endoscopic endonasal approach (EEA), which is potentially able to overcome some complications associated with the former approach. In this paper, after discussing updates in the recent literature, to which we add our own surgical experience, we critically analyse these procedures with the aim of demonstrating that the TOA still deserves to be considered a viable alternative and that, in selected cases, it can even be considered superior to the EEA.

Methods: Our experience involves 25 anterior procedures in 24 paediatric and adult patients (18 TOA and seven EEA). The TOA group (13 male and five female patients) encompassed three tumours, three rheumatoid arthritis cases, one condylus tertius, three basilar invaginations, four impressio basilaris cases, one developmental anomaly of C0–C1, one os odontoideum, one posttraumatic C1–C2 compression and

M. Visocchi · F. Signorelli (🖂) · A. Olivi Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University of Rome, Rome, Italy

C. Liao

Department of Neurosurgery, Xinhua Hospital, Affiliated to Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China

M. Rigante

Institute of Otolaryngology, Catholic University of Rome, Rome, Italy

P. Ciappetta

Section of Neurological Surgery, University of Bari Medical School, Bari, Italy

G. Barbagallo

Department of Neurological Surgery, Policlinico "G. Rodolico" University Hospital, Catania, Italy

Interdisciplinary Research Center on Brain Tumors Diagnosis and Treatment, University of Catania, Catania, Italy e-mail: gbarbagallo@unict.it. one C2 fracture. The EEA group (three male and four female patients, median age 39 years, operated on over a 7-year period) comprised four tumours, two impressio basilaris cases and one case of impressio basilaris with platybasia.

Results: In the TOA group, all but one patient were discharged after posterior procedures within 2 weeks and improved or remained unchanged after surgery and during the follow-up period. No major complications occurred in the TOA group. In the EEA group, two patients who developed a cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) infection died, one from disease progression and the other from myocardial infarction.

Conclusion: Our data, in agreement with those from previous reports on other series, suggest that no clear superiority of the EEA over the endoscopic TOA can be postulated so far; in fact, the EEA can produce complications similar to those observed with the TOA in CVJ surgery.

Introduction

According to the current literature, the congenital, developmental and acquired pathologies that affect the anterior craniovertebral junction (CVJ) can be targeted through several surgical approaches:

- 1. The transoral approach (TOA), which provides the widest and shortest [1] route
- 2. The endoscopic endonasal approach (EEA), which was recently introduced by Kassam [2–5] with the goal of overcoming some technical challenges and surgical complications secondary to soft tissue swelling
- 3. The transcervical approach

In fact, the indications for the transcervical approach are not recognized worldwide, although it may still be considered in highly selected cases; as to whether the EEA is superior to the TOA in the treatment of similar CVJ pathologies, this is still a matter of debate. In this paper we describe our surgical experience with the TOA and EEA for different CVJ pathologies and discuss the relevant literature, seeking to demonstrate that despite the wide dissemination of the EEA, the TOA deserves and should receive greater consideration in the surgical decision-making process, and that in some cases it can even be considered superior to the EEA.

Material and Methods

Among 25 anterior procedures (in 24 patients) performed from 2011 to 2017, a consecutive series of seven patients with different CVJ pathologies were treated with the EEA and 18 with the TOA by a mixed team of neurosurgeons and rhinolaryngologists, who are expert in microneurosurgery and endoscopic video-assisted microsurgery (Table 1).

An occipitocervical instrumentation and fusion procedure was completed according to our protocol for CVJ tumours and platybasia—and to prevent cranial settling of the C2 vertebral body—1 week later, using a titanium implant (DePuy Synthes Spine Mountaineer®) in accordance with our patients' wishes. All patients underwent magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), computed tomography (CT) scanning and standard/dynamic X-ray evaluation of the CVJ before surgery, immediately after surgery and every 6 months thereafter.

Results

Our recent institutional experience is summarized in Table 1. All except one patient were discharged after the posterior instrumentation and fusion procedure within 2 weeks after admission and improved or remained unchanged (with a good neurological status) after surgery and during the follow-up period. No major complications were observed in the TOA group. On the other hand, in the EEA group, two patients who developed a cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) infection died, one from disease progression and the other from myocardial infarction.

Discussion

Among the seven patients who underwent the EEA, six had an uncomplicated postoperative course, but one developed an intraoperative CSF leak and subsequent meningitis, and eventually died 5 weeks after the surgery; none of the TOA group experienced the same complication. Such an event was probably due to the limitation of the bidimensional view afforded by the oblique surgical view in the EEA, as opposed to the tridimensional transoral microsurgical view afforded by the straightforward surgical view in the TOA.

According to the current literature, a total of 120 patients (including our seven) affected by CVJ disease and treated with the EEA have been reported so far. In a previous analysis [6] published in 2017-at which stage, the literature included a total of 107 patients treated with the EEA-we noted that CSF leakage (intra- and/or postoperative) had been reported in 13 patients (12.4%); transient velopharyngeal incompetence, variably associated with nasal speech and swallowing impairment, in 6 patients (5.6%); postoperative epistaxis in 2 patients (1.86%); and respiratory dysfunction requiring a tracheostomy in 2 patients (1.86%). Moreover, a recent systematic review and meta-analysis [7] showed increased prevalence rates of several complications in the EEA group in comparison with the TOA group (30day mortality 4.4% versus 2.9%, intraoperative CSF leakage 30% versus 0.3%, postoperative CSF leakage 5.2% versus 0.8%, meningitis 4% versus 1%, need for prolonged intubation or re-intubation 6% versus 5.6%, need for reoperation 5.1% versus 2.5%, velopharyngeal insufficiency 6.4% versus 3.3% and sepsis 7.7% versus 1.9%). Conversely, the same paper also showed increased prevalence rates of other complications in the TOA group in comparison with the EEA group (arterial injury 1.9% versus 0%, wound infection 3.3% versus 1.9% and need for tracheostomy 10.8% versus 3.4%). However, none of these differences was statistically significant, except for the difference in the need for postoperative tracheostomy [7].

According to the available literature and our personal experience, the presumed improved safety of the EEA in comparison with the TOA requires reassessment [8, 9] even though it is regarded worldwide as being "minimally invasive" [10].

[
5
the (
to
approach
anterior
f an
S 0
mean
by
operated
patients
of
series
al
Person
-
ble

Table 1	Personal	series of patients operate	d by means of an anterior appro	ach to the C	ſŊĴ				
				Pre-op C1-C2			Frankel scale and Di		
D+5	Age	Deimony dioposo	Dadiology	shift	Two two ut	Post-op	Lorenzo grade	Extornal arthoria	Follow-up
LIS	(sex)	FILMARY disease	Kaulology	(A-rays)	Ireaument	SILLU	cnanges	External ormosis	(smonus)
1 SO	26 (F)	CVJ chordoma	C0-C2 anterior compression CVJ instability	Virtual	 Transoral decompression CO-C3 reduction, lateral masses screws instrumentation and heterologous bone fusion 	No	E/E, I/I	Philadelphia (1 month)	88
2 FF	33 (M)	CVJ chordoma	C0–C2 anterior compression CVJ instability	Virtual	 Transoral decompression CO-C3 reduction, C2 pedicles, and C3 lateral masses screws instrumentation and heterologous bone fusion 	No	E/E, I/I	Philadelphia (1 month)	66
3 CO	68 (F)	Rheumatoid arthritis	Anterior C1–C2 compression C1–C2 instability	>5 mm	 Transoral decompression CO-C2 pedicles and lateral masses screws instrumentation 	No	D/E, II/I	Soft collar (1 month)	82
4 CL	15 (M)	Developmental anomaly C0–C1	C0-C1 anterior compression C1-C2 instability	>5 mm	 Transoral decompression C1 laminectomy, C0 double vertical screws, C2 pedicles, and C3 lateral masses screws instrumentation 	No	D/E, II/I	Soft collar (1 month)	77
5 CA	78 (M)	Chordoma (chondroid)	CVJ instability C0–C2 Ant. compression	Virtual	Transoral C1-odontoidectomy and clivectomy, C0-double vertical screws, C2, C3, C4, and C5-lateral masses screws instrumentation	No	D/E, II/I	Soft collar (1 month)	74
6 EA	11 (M)	Impressio basilaris Os odont. (Downs.)	C1-C2 anterior compression	Virtual	Transoral C1-odontoidecotmy and clivectomy in C0-C2-C3 screwing instrumentation and heterologous bone fusion (previously implanted)	No	D/E, II/I	Soft collar (1 month)	73
7 RR	14 (M)	C2 fracture and dislocation	C2 fracture and C1–C2 dislocation with cervic. contusion	>7 mm	 Transoral C1–C2 decompression C0–C3–C5 screwing instrumentation and heterologous bone fusion 	No	D/E, II/I	Soft collar (1 month)	70
8 MP	8 (M)	Impressio basilaris	C0-C1-C2 compression	No	 Transoral CI-C2 decompression Staged C0-C2-C3 screwing instrumentation and fusion 	No	D/E, II/I	Halo + Philadelphia (2 months)	66
9 LC	15 (M)	Third condyle	C0-C1 compression	No	 Transoral CO-C1 decompression Staged C0-C2-C3 screwing instrumentation and fusion 	No	D/E, II/I	Halo + Philadelphia (3 months)	103
10 CP	67 (F)	Rheum. arthritis C2 fracture + dislocation 2 cm	C2 compression + myelopathy	Yes	 C1-C2 decompression combined C0-C2-C3 screwing instrumentation and fusion 	No	C/E, III/I	Philadelphia (2 months)	∞

(continued)

Table 1	(continue	(p;							
Pts	Age (sex)	Primary disease	Radiology	Pre-op C1–C2 shift (X-rays)	Treatment	Post-op shift	Frankel scale and Di Lorenzo grade changes	External orthosis	Follow-up (months)
11 PP	50 (M)	Basilar invagination	C2 anterior compression	Virtual	 One stage transoral decompression C0-C3 instrumentation and fusion 	No	D/E, II/I	Soft collar (1 month)	15
12 SP	7 (M)	Basilar invagination	C0-C1-C2 compression	Virtual	 Transoral C0-C1-C2 decompression C0-C2-C3 screwing instrumentation and fusion 	No	D/E, II/I	Soft collar (3 months)	68
13 SS	6 (M)	Os odontoideum	C2 compression	Virtual	 Transoral C1–C2 decompression C0–C2–C3 screwing instrumentation and fusion 	No	D/E, II/I	Halo + Philadelphia (2 months)	121
14 MM	68 (F)	Rheumatoid arthritis + ED C2–C3	C2-C3 compression	Virtual	 Transoral CO-C1-C2 decompression CO-C2-C3 screwing instrumentation and fusion 	No	D/E II/I	Halo + Philadelphia (3 months)	12
15 AE	12 (M)	Basilar invagination + ED C3–C4 myelopathy	C2 compression	Virtual	 Transoral C0-C1-C2 decompression Anterior C3-C4 discect. and titanium graft C0-C2-C3 screwing instrumentation and fusion 	No	D/E, II/I	Halo + Philadelphia (3 months)	3 (death for heart attack)
16 GC	(F)	Impressio basilaris + Chiari	C0-C1-C2 compression	Virtual	 Transoral C0-C1-C2 decompression C0-C2-C3 screwing instrumentation and fusion 	No	VII	Halo (3 months)	23
17 MS	(W)	Impressio basilaris	C0-C1-C2 compression	Virtual	 Transoral C0-C1-C2 decompression C0-C2-C3 screwing instrumentation and fusion 	No	VII	Miami (2 months)	5
18 ML	56 (M)	Posttraumatic C1–C2 compression	C1-C2 compression	Virtual	 Transoral C0-C1-C2 decompression C0-C3 screwing instrumentation and fusion 	No	D/E, II/I	Soft collar (1 month)	6
19 SO	35 (F)	Chordoma	CVJ infiltration (previous TOA and C0–C3 fusion)	NP	Transnasal decompression (0°-30°)	No	D/D, I/I	Previously performed	39

) FP	66 (F)	Impressio basilaris	CVJ anterior compression	Yes	 Transnasal decompression (0 °-30°) C0-C3 reduction, lateral masses screws instrumentation and heterologous bone fusion 	No	D/E, I/I	Halovest (1 month)	3 (meningitis and death)
ISR	47 (F)	Impressio basilaris + platybasia	CVJ anterior compression	Yes	 Transnasal C1 decompression and odontoidectomy C0-C3 reduction, C2 pedicles, and C3 lateral masses screws instrumentation and autologous bone fusion 	No	D/E, I/I	Halovest (1 month)	52
12 NLP	14 (F)	Impressio basilaris + platybasia	CVJ anterior compression	No	Transnasal C1 partial decompression and partial odontoidectomy	No	D/E, I/I	No	54
23 NR	22 (M)	Recurrence of clivus chordoma	CVJ destruction and compression	dN	 Transnasal C1 decompression and odontoidectomy C0-C3 reduction, lateral masses screws instrumentation and heterologous bone fusion 	No	D/E, I/I	Halovest (1 month) Hard Collar (2 months)	37
dG MG	58 (M)	Myeloma	Odontoid infiltration	dN	Transnasal and odontoid biopsy	No	E/E, I/I	No	30
25 RC	36 (M)	Isolated plasmacytoma	CVJ anterior compression	NP	Transnasal C1 decompression, and odontoidectomy and C0–C3 reduction, lateral masses screws instrumentation and heterologous bone fusion	No	D/D, I/I	Soft collar (1 month)	σ

PTS patients, CVJ craniovertebral junction, NP not performed
Conclusion

No clear superiority of the endoscopic endonasal approach (EEA) over the endoscopic transoral approach (TOA) is recognized by the current literature so far; in fact, the EEA has been shown to result in complication rates similar to those observed with the TOA in craniovertebral junction surgery.

In normal anatomical conditions, superior surgical freedom is provided by the TOA in comparison with the EEA. The respective roles of the two different strategies is still a matter of debate, requiring more cohort and prospective studies, along with detailed and conclusive meta-analysis.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Visocchi M, Pappalardo G, Pileggi M, Signorelli F, Paludetti G, La Rocca G. Experimental endoscopic angular domains of transnasal and transoral routes to the craniovertebral junction light and shade. Spine. 2015;41(3):669–77.
- 2. Kassam AB, Snyderman C, Gardner P, Carrau R, Spiro R. The expanded endonasal approach: a fully endoscopic transnasal approach and resection of the odontoid process: technical case report. Neurosurgery. 2005;57:E213.

- de Almeida JR, Zanation AM, Snyderman CH, Carrau RL, Prevedello DM, Gardner PA, Kassam AB. Defining the nasopalatine line: the limit for endonasal surgery of the spine. Laryngoscope. 2009;119:239–44. https://doi.org/10.1002/lary.20108.
- Messina A, Bruno MC, Decq P, Coste A, Cavallo LM, de Divitis E, Cappabianca P, Tschabitscher M. Pure endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy: anatomical study. Neurosurg Rev. 2007;30:189– 94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10143-007-0084-6.
- Aldana PR, Naseri I, La Corte E. The naso-axial line: a new method of accurately predicting the inferior limit of the endoscopic endonasal approach to the craniovertebral junction. Neurosurgery. 2012;71:ONS308–14. https://doi.org/10.1227/ NEU.0b013e318266e488.
- Visocchi M, Signorelli F, Liao C, Rigante M, Paludetti G, Barbagallo G, et al. Endoscopic endonasal approach for craniovertebral junction pathologies: myth and truth in clinical series and personal experience. World Neurosurg. 2017;101:122–9. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.01.099.
- Shriver MF, Kshettry VR, Sindwani R, Woodard T, Benzel EC, Recinos PE. Transoral and transnasal odontoidectomy complications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2016;148:121–9.
- Visocchi M, Barbagallo G, Pascali VL, Mattogno P, Signorelli F, Iacopino G, Germanò A, La Rocca G. Craniovertebral junction transanasal and transoral approaches: reconstruct the surgical pathways with soft or hard tissue endocopic lines? This is the question. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2017;124:117–21. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-39546-3_18.
- Visocchi M, Germanò A, Umana G, Richiello A, Raudino G, Eldella AM, Iacopino G, Barbagallo G. Direct and oblique approaches to the craniovertebral junction: nuances of microsurgical and endoscope-assisted techniques along with a review of the literature. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2017;124:107–16. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-39546-3_17.
- Zenga F, Pacca P, Tardivo V, Pennacchietti V, Garbossa D, Pecorari G, Ducati A. Endoscopic endonasal approach to the odontoid pathologies. World Neurosurg. 2016;89:394–403. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.wneu.2016.02.011.

The Endonasal Endoscopic Approach to Pathologies of the Anterior Craniocervical Junction: Analytical Review of Cases Treated at Four European Neurosurgical Centres



Salvatore Chibbaro, Mario Ganau, Helene Cebula, Beniamino Nannavecchia, Julien Todeschi, Antonio Romano, Christian Debry, Francois Proust, Alessandro Olivi, Stephane Gaillard, and Massimiliano Visocchi

Abstract Supported by preliminary anatomical and clinical studies exploring the feasibility and usefulness of approaching many ventral pathologies of the craniocervical junction (CCJ) using the endoscopic endonasal approach, four European centres have joined forces to accumulate and share their growing surgical experience of this advanced technique. By describing the steps that led to the development and continuous refinement of this approach to the CCJ, this article delves deeply into an analysis of the cases operated on since 2010 at these four institutions, and discusses in detail the operative nuances that so far have allowed achievement of successful outcomes with excellent perioperative patient comfort and satisfactory long-term quality of life.

Keywords Endoscopy · Endonasal · Transoral Odontoidectomy · Basilar impression/invagination Odontoid pannus

Introduction

Over the years, many ventral approaches to the craniocervical junction (CCJ) have been developed to address bulbomedullary compression [1, 2] caused by several degenerative,

A. Romano Department of Neurosurgery, Parma University Hospital, Parma, Italy

C. Debry ENT, Strasbourg University Hospital, Strasbourg, France

A. Olivi · M. Visocchi Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University of Rome, Rome, Italy

S. Gaillard

Department of Neurosurgery, Foch Hospital, Paris, France

traumatic, congenital and neoplastic spinal pathologies. These include, but are not limited to, (1) chronic inflammation of the CCJ osteoligament complex, mostly related to rheumatoid arthritis and metabolic disorders; (2) traumatic C1-C2 dislocations, resulting in basilar invagination; (3) congenital malformations, causing instability and/or stenosis at the level of the CCJ, such as those resulting from collagenopathies, osteogenesis imperfecta, Down's syndrome and achondroplasia; and (4) neoplastic lesions (i.e. primary and secondary spinal tumours) and paraneoplastic lesions (i.e. Paget's disease), usually affecting the body and dens of C2. Although the standard transoral approach provides wide access to this anatomical region, some complications have highlighted the need to redefine the surgical strategy and find alternative routes. This technique, in fact, requires splitting of the soft palate and provides a wide but deep working channel; furthermore, it is affected by the risks of teeth traumatism, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leakage, bacterial contamination, tongue swelling and nasopharyngeal incompetence, often requiring prolonged intubation and nasogastric tube feeding. In summary, the more invasive the pathology, the longer the operative time and the riskier the extended procedure [3-12].

Since 2005 a new endoscopic technique exploiting the natural nasal corridor has been described and implemented for surgical management of extradural or intradural pathologies involving the ventral CCJ. Fairly rapidly, the endoscopic endonasal approach (EEA) appeared to be potentially promising in overcoming previous technical challenges and surgical complications, gaining wide attention with overwhelmingly positive opinions. Following a detailed description of the anatomical principles behind the development of this approach to CCJ pathologies, in this article we provide a critical review of the cases operated on since 2010 at four European institutions, and we delve deeply into the operative nuances that so far have allowed achievement of successful outcomes with excellent perioperative patient comfort and satisfactory long-term quality of life.

S. Chibbaro (\boxtimes) · M. Ganau · H. Cebula · B. Nannavecchia · J. Todeschi · F. Proust

Department of Neurosurgery, Strasbourg University Hospital, Strasbourg, France

Anatomical Aspects of the Endoscopic Endonasal Approach

Following the success of endoscopic approaches to the anterior cranial fossa [13, 14], initial anatomical studies on the implementation of the endoscopic endonasal approach to the CCJ were conducted by many groups, so this surgical technique rapidly gained wide attention and enthusiastic support even before the translation of these laboratory findings into clinical practice (see Fig. 1) [5, 15–26].

Fries and Perneczky were the first to envisage the possibility of using video endoscope instrumentation at the craniocervical junction, and they reported some cases treated with this surgical strategy among 380 endoscope-assisted microneurosurgical operations performed in a 4.5-year series [21]. In 2002, Alfieri et al. performed a cadaver study of exclusively transnasal endoscopic odontoidectomy through one or two nostrils; the surgical landmarks leading to the CCJ were the inferior margin of the middle turbinate, the nasopharynx and the Eustachian tubes. The authors described a line drawn between the Eustachian tubes as the line indicating the juncture between the clivus and atlas, and they demonstrated that the EEA could provide unlimited access to the midline clivus and a potential surgical window for decompression at the CCJ without the risk of causing C1-C2 instability [15]. Three years later, Cavallo et al. confirmed such observations in a cadaver study [27], and in 2005, Kassam et al. described the first case of rheumatoid arthritis treated with EEA-based odontoidectomy [22], suggesting thatbeing above the level of the soft palate and therefore characterized by the less aggressive microbic flora of the nostrils rather than the oral microbic flora-the EEA exposed patients to a lesser degree of bacterial contamination.

Later, de Almeida et al. defined the radiological concept of the nasopalatine line (NPL), a line drawn on the midsagittal plane and connecting the inferior margin of the nasal bone, anteriorly, and the border of the hard palate, posteriorly, to calculate the inferior limit of the endoscopic approaches to the spine [5]. This concept was then reappraised and more reliable surgical concepts such as the nasoaxial line (NAxL) and the rhinopalatine line (RPL) were introduced to overcome the imprecision of the NPL, which does not take into account the dorsal nose skin between the nostrils and the nasal bones [23, 28].

More recently, some pioneering clinical series based on the EEA have pinpointed the feasibility of successfully approaching the CCJ through the natural nasal corridor. Because of its intrinsic features, this route provides a panoramic and multiangled view of the region, allowing a closeup view without the need for prolonged tongue compression or mouth retractors. Eventually, this approach became widely recommended as a valid alternative to address CCJ pathologies in both adult and paediatric populations, mostly because it is more respectful of the oropharynx and adjacent structures, and it is not associated with dysphonia and dysphagia, which are usually reported after transoral approaches.

Besides the anatomical studies, the introduction of the EEA into the surgical armamentarium was favoured also by the widespread use of technological aids such as neuronavigation systems, which are helpful in visually reconstructing magnified three-dimensional anatomy and permitting better orientation during the whole surgical procedure. Although the error associated with spinal shift is not completely eliminated, at present the calculated accuracy is less than 1 mm [19, 26].

Patients and Methods

A prospective multicentre study was conducted from June 2010 to May 2016 on a cohort of 24 consecutive patients undergoing pure endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy for primary surgical management of various CCJ diseases responsible for irreducible atlantoaxial dislocation. All patients had pre- and postoperative clinical and imaging assessments (cervical computed tomography [CT] and



Fig. 1 Time-line of clinical and anatomical landmark papers. c clinical; a anatomical

magnetic resonance imaging [MRI] scans). The initial follow-up was scheduled at 6 months and repeated once every year. The study was reviewed and approved by the institutional research boards (IRBs) of the Strasbourg, Foch (Suresnes–Paris) and Catholic University of Rome hospitals, and suitable surgical candidates were informed about the various surgical options and invited to participate in the present study; this involved provision of information about the study design, the intended benefits and the expected outcomes of the study itself. Informed consent forms, specifically prepared by the authors and approved by the aforementioned IRBs, were signed by all patients participating in this prospective trial.

Surgical Technique

Our surgical strategy for the endoscopic endonasal approach to the CCJ has been described elsewhere [29]; nonetheless, it seems appropriate to highlight some operative tips and tricks, which are useful for all those who decide to consider this technique and possibly introduce it into their surgical practice. It is important to pay attention to the position of the patient on the surgical table and to personally set up all instruments beforehand. We always prefer a recumbent and slight Trendelenburg position (20°) with the head fixed in a Mayfield three-pin headholder; the screen of the neuronavigation system, for which we always recommend use of CT and MRI image fusion, can be positioned cranially to the patient and just laterally to the endoscope monitor. Neuromonitoring with somatosensory evoked potentials, although not always mandatory, can play an important role, depending on the degree of bulbomedullary compression.

Preoperative antibiotic prophylaxis is routinely administered 20 min before the start of the operation; it may be wise to administer a second dose whenever long and complex debulking of space-occupying lesions (SOLs) at the CCJ protracts the surgery beyond 4 h. The nostrils are routinely prepared with iodine 5% and naphazoline. In our practice, we use 0° and 30° angled endoscopes with a HD camera (Storz, Tuttlingen, Germany) and dedicated endoscopic tools (Storz), with either a four-hand or two-hand technique coupled with a fixed endoscope holder; this choice relies solely on the surgeon's skills and preferences, and it can be adapted to the pathology being treated.

The surgical corridor is created through an inferior septectomy, removing no more than 2 cm of vomer bone at its junction with the hard palate; whenever additional space for surgical manoeuvres is needed, a proper sphenoidotomy can be considered.

Besides the intraoperative guidance of the neuronavigation pointer, we rely on a few fundamental anatomical landmarks: (a) the clivus-septum junction superiorly; (b) the Eustachian tubes laterally; and (c) the RPL inferiorly. To provide a mucopharyngeal flap, we create an inverted U-shaped flap, which can be done by use of a diode laser or monopolar electrocautery. This U-shaped flap goes from the level of the sphenoid floor to the level of the soft palate and can be caudally reflected into the oropharynx during the bony removal and replaced at its original site at the end of the procedure. A high-speed drill can be safely used to facilitate the surgical decompression, which requires a great deal of attention to avoid CSF leakage, vascular damage and, in cases of remarkable stenosis, anterior herniation of the medulla following odontoidectomy. The brainstem decompression can be considered adequate only when wide exposure of pulsatile dura is achieved. In this regard, Goldschlager et al. [30] have proposed recording pre- and postoperative T2-weighted MRI sequences of the CSF thickness at the dens midline level, showing that good decompression is achieved when an increased thickness of 2.34 ± 0.43 mm is obtained.

Reconstruction is always fundamental to an uneventful healing process: following odontoidectomy (with or without removal of SOLs) it is recommended to create a multilayered closure, including a Gelfoam/Surgicel pack, overlaid by a pedicled regional paraspinal muscle and the mucopharyngeal flap, sealed together by fibrin glue. This closure can be supplemented and reinforced with fascia lata and fat whenever the risk of postoperative CSF leakage is deemed high by the surgeon. Finally, a Doyle splint placed inside each nostril at the end of the procedure can be kept in place for 4–5 days and is helpful in preventing endonasal mucosal adherence.

Results

Among the 24 patients included in this study, 13 were men and 11 were women, with a mean age 51.7 years (range 14-95 years). The mean follow-up period was 30.2 months (range 3-78 months); 12 patients presented with basilar impression, seven had a degenerative pannus, four had CCJ chordomas (one was a recurrence) and one had a myeloma. The patients' demographic, clinical, radiological, complication and outcome features are summarized in Table 1). All patients had satisfactory neurological improvement, and the quality of decompression was excellent in all cases. Posterior stabilization was performed in 20 of the 24 cases during the same operation. In one patient (a 95-year-old) we opted for a rigid collar for 3 months, with an uneventful postoperative course and excellent outcome. Stability was preserved in three patients who underwent either a partial odontoidectomy (case no. 21), a simple biopsy (case no. 23) or limited debulking (case no. 24).

Table 1	Operativ	ve series of 24 pai	tients: demographic	clinical, radiological, co	mplication	1, and outcome features				
	Age	Primary		Pre-op C1–C2 shift	Pre-op Frankel		Post-op shift	Post-op Frankel	Post-op external	F-U mths pre-/ postoperative
No.	and sex	disease	Radiology	(X-rays)	scale	Management	(X-rays)	scale	orthosis	complications
-	20 M	Basilar impression	Brain stem compression	CCJ malformation	C	Endonasal endoscopic C0–C2 decompression with odontoidectomy <i>and</i> C0–C3 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion <i>at the same stage procedure</i>	No	ш	No	15
7	36 M	Basilar impression	Brain stem compression	CCJ malformation	D	Endonasal endoscopic C0–C2 decompression with odontoidectomy <i>and</i> C0–C3 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion <i>at the same stage procedure</i>	No	ш	No	12
ε	48 M	Basilar impression	Brain stem compression	CCJ malformation	U	Endonasal endoscopic C0–C2 decompression with odontoidectomy <i>and</i> C0–C3 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion <i>at the same stage procedure</i>	No	Q	No	30
4	56 M	Basilar impression	Brain stem compression	Large shift with brain stem compression and posterior deviation	U	Endonasal endoscopic C0–C2 decompression with odontoidectomy <i>and</i> C0–C3 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion <i>at the same stage procedure</i>	No	Ш	No	48 Preoperative CSF leak
Ś	58 M	Basilar impression	Brain stem compression	Large shift with brain stem compression and posterior deviation	В	Endonasal endoscopic CO–C2 decompression with odontoidectomy <i>and</i> CO–C3 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion <i>at the same stage procedure</i>	No	Q	No	30 Preoperative blood loss needing transfusion
9	67 F	Basilar impression	Brain stem compression	Large shift with brain stem compression and posterior deviation	D	Endonasal endoscopic C0–C2 decompression with odontoidectomy <i>and</i> C0–C3 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion <i>at the same stage procedure</i>	No	Щ	No	24
1	68 M	Degenerative disease	Brain stem compression	Large shift with brain stem compression and posterior deviation	U	Endonasal endoscopic C0–C2 decompression with odontoidectomy <i>and</i> C1–C3 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion <i>at the same stage procedure</i>	No	ш	No	16
∞	73 F	Degenerative disease	Brain stem compression	Large shift with brain stem compression and posterior deviation	D	Endonasal endoscopic C0–C2 decompression with odontoidectomy <i>and</i> C1–C2 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion <i>at the same stage procedure</i>	No	ш	No	78 Serous otitis needing ENT drainage—good outcome

190

No.	Age and sex	Primary disease	Radiology	Pre-op C1–C2 shift (X-rays)	Pre-op Frankel scale	Management	Post-op shift (X-rays)	Post-op Frankel scale	Post-op external orthosis	F-U mths pre-/ postoperative complications
6	84 F	Degenerative disease	Brain stem compression	Large shift with brain stem compression and posterior deviation	С	Endonasal endoscopic C0–C2 decompression with odontoidectomy <i>and</i> C1–C2 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion <i>at the same stage procedure</i>	No	ш	No	9 Pneumonia— good outcome
10	95 F	Degenerative disease	Brain stem compression	Large shift with brain stem compression and posterior deviation	U	Endonasal endoscopic C0–C2 decompression with odontoidectomy leaving anterior C1 arch intact, no posterior instrumentation/fusion	No	ш	Yes	30 Pneumonia— good outcome
11	28 F	CVJ skull base chordoma	Brain stem compression by turnor invasion of C0–C2	Brain stern compression, unstable on dynamic X-rays	U	Endonasal endoscopic C0–C2 decompression with odontoidectomy <i>and</i> C0–C3 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion <i>at the same stage procedure</i>	No	ш	No	48
12	59 F	Basilar impression	Extensive brain stem compression by C2 odontoid process	Large shift with brain stem compression and posterior deviation	Q	Endonasal endoscopic C1 decompression with odontoidectomy and C0–C3 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion at the same stage procedure	No	Щ	No	36
13	72 M	Degenerative compression	Extensive brain stem compression by hypertrophied "C2 odontoid process"	Large shift with brain stem compression and posterior deviation	D	Endonasal endoscopic C1 decompression with odontoidectomy and C1–C3 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion at the same stage procedure	No	D	No	32
14	85 M	CVJ skull base chordoma	Brain stem compression	Large shift with brain stem compression and posterior deviation and instability	U	Endonasal endoscopic C1 decompression with odontoidectomy <i>and</i> C0–C3 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion <i>at the same stage procedure</i>	No	ц	No	26 Preoperative CSF leak
15	38 M	Basilar impression	Extensive brain stem compression by C2 odontoid process	Large shift with brain stem compression and posterior deviation	C	Endonasal endoscopic C1 decompression with odontoidectomy and C0–C3 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion at the same stage procedure	No	Щ	No	24
16	77 M	Degenerative compression	Extensive brain stem compression by hypertrophied "C2 odontoid process"	Large shift with brain stem compression and posterior deviation	C	Endonasal endoscopic C1 decompression with odontoidectomy and C1–C2 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion at the same stage procedure	No	D	No	22
										(continued)

Table	1 (continu	ued)								
	Age	Primary		Pre-op C1–C2 shift	Pre-op Frankel		Post-op shift	Post-op Frankel	Post-op external	F-U mths pre-/ postoperative
No.	and sex	disease	Radiology	(X-rays)	scale	Management	(X-rays)	scale	orthosis	complications
17	51 F	Degenerative compression	Brain stem compression	Large shift with brain stem compression and posterior deviation	D	Endonasal endoscopic C1–C2 decompression with odontoidectomy <i>and</i> C1–C2 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion <i>at the same stage procedure</i>	No	ш	No	26
18	27 M	Basilar impression	Brain stem compression	Large shift with brain stem compression and posterior deviation	C	Endonasal endoscopic C0–C3 decompression with odontoidectomy <i>and</i> C0–C3 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous (iliac crest) bone fusion <i>at the same stage procedure</i>	No	ш	No	31
19	66 F	Basilar impression	CVJ anterior compression	Large shift with brain stem compression and posterior deviation and instability	D	 Transnasal decompression (0°-30°) CO-C3 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and heterologous bone fusion 	No	Щ	Yes	3 Death (meningitis)
20	47 F	Basilar impression and platybasia	CVJ anterior compression	Large shift with brain stem compression and posterior deviation and instability	D	 Transnasal C1 decompression and odontoidectomy C0-C3 reduction, C2 pedicles, and C3 lateral mass screw instrumentation and autologous bone fusion 	No	ш	Yes	46
21	14 F	Basilar impression and platybasia	CVJ anterior compression	Not performed	D	Transnasal C1 partial decompression and partial odontoidectomy	No	н	No	48
22	22 M	Recurrence of clivus chordoma	CVJ destruction and compression	Not performed	D	 Transnasal C1 decompression and odontoidectomy C0–C3 reduction, lateral mass screw instrumentation and heterologous bone fusion 	No	Щ	Yes	31
23	58 M	Myeloma	Odontoid infiltration	Not performed	Щ	Transnasal and odontoid biopsy	No	Щ	No	24
24	35 F	Chordoma	CVJ infiltration previously operated: (1) transoral and (2) C0–C3 reduction, lateral masses	Not performed	D	Transnasal decompression (0°–30°)	No	D	Previously performed	36
Pre- a	nd Post-op	pre- and postoper	ative, F-U mths follo	ow-up months						

192

One patient (case no. 19) died from meningitis 3 months after the surgery. In the remaining 23 patients, neither new neurological deficits nor postoperative CSF leakage were observed, despite two cases (case nos. 4 and 14) requiring intraoperative repair of dural tears; no patient required a tracheostomy or gastrostomy.

The postoperative Frankel grade was 'E' in 19 patients and 'D' in the remaining five. No postoperative X-ray listhesis was recorded; in four patients an external orthesis was required, while in the other 20 patients who were stabilized, no postoperative external orthesis was deemed necessary.

Discussion

The agglomerated data from our centres confirm that the endoscopic endonasal approach to the CCJ can be safe and effective in many different pathologies and surgical scenarios. In our experience it is possible to address pathologies as high as those involving the midclivus without extensive softor hard-palate manipulation. We previously confirmed that the NAxL and RPL can be reliable preoperative predictors of the maximal extent of inferior dissection for the EEA [26] and pointed out that in the case of very lateralized lesions, or whenever anatomical variations with an aberrant course of the internal carotid artery (ICA) and vertebral artery are preoperatively identified, the EEA is either contraindicated or very difficult to perform, with a high morbidity risk [22, 29, 31, 32]. We noted that in the case of quite a low junction, generally far below the level of the hard palate, it is almost impossible to remove the dens via the endonasal route; on the other hand, in the presence of a higher CCJ, the dens is more easily reachable and safely removable via the nasal route [15, 25, 27, 29, 32–38]. Furthermore, it is important to mention that more specific indications for preferring the EEA over the transoral route are the following: children (with a narrow mouth) [24]; cases of micrognathia and macroglossia (bearing in mind that the mouth opening for a transoral approach should always be at least 25 mm); and patients with osteogenesis imperfecta, as 25% of them have basilar impression [35]. In Table 2 we highlight the most important advantages, risks and limitations of the endoscopic endonasal approach to the CCJ; it seems appropriate, however, to delve deeper into the management of complications: haemostasis, CSF leakage and CCJ instability.

Achieving satisfactory haemostasis during the EEA could constitute a major concern because it is often difficult to control bleeding through the endonasal surgical corridor, especially in the case of SOLs; for this reason we believe that this procedure

Tal	ble	e 2	P A	dvanta	ges,	risks,	and	limi	tations	of	EE/	4
-----	-----	-----	------------	--------	------	--------	-----	------	---------	----	-----	---

Advantages	Ref.
Better and wider angled views, preservation of palatal function	Kassam et al. [22]
Reduced frequency of tracheostomy, decreased postoperative pain, and decreased risk of meningitis following CSF leakage	Kassam et al. [22]
Prevention of velopharyngeal incompetence, edema or tongue necrosis, dysphagia, odynophagia, teeth injuries, and pharyngeal cellulitis which can complicate transoral approaches to CCJ	Zenga et al. [39]
Risks	
ICA injury (which could result in severe stroke)	Gardner et al. [31]
Limitations	
Spheric aberrant artifacts with loss of stereoscopic perception when using 2D endoscopes	Ponce-Gomez et al. [37]
Steep learning curve with required anatomical training in wet laboratory	Alfieri [15] Kassam et al. [22] Cavallo et al. [17]

requires dedicated bipolar forceps and use of haemostatic products such as Gelfoam and activated thrombin matrix.

Intraoperative identification of CSF leakage can be easier under endoscopic guidance because it allows closer-up and multiangled vision, and the degree of dexterity to stitch up the dura can be much greater. For this purpose, we have already stressed the importance of creating a well vascularized muscle-mucosal flap overlying the ventral CCJ, and considering a lumbar drain during the initial postoperative days whenever the risk of CSF leakage is too high and can compromise the healing process of the multilayered closure flap.

Finally, it is fundamental to bear in mind that removal of the anterior arch of C1 and the dens of C2 can cause destabilization of the CCJ, obliging the surgical team to plan for an occipitocervical arthrodesis. Leaving intact the anterior arch of C1 is usually quite demanding, and some authors [34, 39, 40] have proposed technical variations to keep it intact during odontoidectomy. Although we reckon that this choice can be considered in paediatric or elderly populations, in selected rheumatoid pannus cases and in low-lying lesions involving the dens and body of C2, we believe that posterior occipitocervical instrumentation with C1-C2 or C1-C3 stabilization should be considered as the safest way to ensure postoperative fusion and preserve the range of occipitocervical rotational movements.

Conclusion

In our series, the endoscopic endonasal approach (EEA) allowed for fast recovery with excellent perioperative patient comfort and a satisfactory long-term quality of life. Our experience seems to support the leading theory that the EEA provides a direct surgical corridor to the craniocervical joint (CCJ) and allows a degree of decompression similar to that offered by the more invasive transoral route. Nonetheless, prospective randomized studies are certainly warranted to establish whether the EEA can be definitely considered superior whenever an approach to the ventral CCJ is needed.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

All procedures performed in the study were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

References

- Jho HD, Carrau RL, McLaughlin MR, Somaza SC. Endoscopic transsphenoidal resection of a large chordoma in the posterior fossa. Acta Neurochir. 1997;139:343–8.
- Jho HD, Ha HG. Endoscopic endonasal skull base surgery: part 3. The clivus and posterior fossa. Minim Invasive Neurosurg. 2004;47:16–23.
- Crockard HA, Pozo JL, Ransford AO, Stevens JM, Kendall BE, Essigman WK. Transoral decompression and posterior fusion for rheumatoid atlanto-axial subluxation. J Bone Jt Surg Br. 1986;68:350–6.
- Crockard HA, Sen CN. The transoral approach for the management of intradural lesions at the craniovertebral junction: review of 7 cases. Neurosurgery. 1991;28:88–98.
- de Almeida JR, Zanation AM, Snyderman CH, Carrau RL, Prevedello DM, Gardner PA, Kassam AB. Defining the nasopalatine line: the limit for endonasal surgery of the spine. Laryngoscope. 2009;119(2):239–44.
- Dickman CA, Spetzler RF, Sonntag VK. Surgery of the craniovertebral junction. New York: Thieme; 1998.
- Di Lorenzo N. Craniocervical junction malformation treated by transoral approach. A survey of 25 cases with emphasis on postoperative instability and outcome. Acta Neurochir. 1992;118:112–6.
- Donald PJ. Transoral approach to the clivus and upper cervical spine. In: Donald PJ, editor. Surgery of the skull base. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven; 1998. p. 507–32.
- Hayakawa T, Kamikawa K, Ohnishi T, Yoshimine T. Prevention of postoperative complications after a transoral transclival approach to basilar aneurysms. J Neurosurg. 1981;54:699–703.
- Menezes AH, Graf CJ, Hibri N. Abnormalities of the craniovertebral junction with cervico-medullary compression. A rational approach to surgical treatment in children. Childs Brain. 1980;7:15–30.

- Shaha AR, Johnson R, Miller J, Milhorat T. Transoral-transpharyngeal approach to the upper cervical vertebrae. Am J Surg. 1993;166(4):336–40.
- Yang SY, Gao YZ. Clinical results of the transoral operation for lesions of the craniovertebral junction and its abnormalities. Surg Neurol. 1999;51(1):16–20.
- Cappabianca P, Alfieri A, de Divitiis E. Endoscopic endonasal transsphenoidal approach to the sella: towards functional endoscopic pituitary surgery (FEPS). Minim Invasive Neurosurg. 1998;41:66–73.
- 14. Cappabianca P, Frank G, Pasquini E, de Divitiis O, Calbucci F. Extended endoscopic endonasal transsphenoidal approaches to the suprasellar region, planum sphenoidale and clivus. In: de Divitiis E, Cappabianca P, editors. Endoscopic endonasal transsphenoidal surgery. New York: Springer; 2003. p. 176–87.
- Alfieri A, Jho HD, Tschabitscher M. Endoscopic endonasal approach to the ventral cranio-cervical junction: anatomical study. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2002;144(3):219–25.
- Baird CJ, Conway JE, Sciubba DM, Prevedello DM, Quiñones-Hinojosa A, Kassam AB. Radiographic and anatomic basis of endoscopic anterior craniocervical decompression: a comparison of endonasal, transoral, and transcervical approaches. Neurosurgery. 2009;65(6 Suppl):158–64.
- Cavallo LM, Cappabianca P, Messina A, Esposito F, Stella L, de Divitiis E, Tschabitscher M. The extended endoscopic endonasal approach to the clivus and cranio-vertebral junction: anatomical study. Childs Nerv Syst. 2007;23(6):665–71.
- Chibbaro S, Cornelius JF, Froelich S, Tigan L, Kehrli P, Debry C, Romano A, Herman P, George B, Bresson D. Endoscopic endonasal approach in the management of skull base chordomas—clinical experience on a large series, technique, outcome, and pitfalls. Neurosurg Rev. 2013;37(2):217–24.
- Choudhri O, Mindea SA, Feroze A, Soudry E, Chang SD, Nayak JV. Experience with intraoperative navigation and imaging during endoscopic transnasal spinal approaches to the foramen magnum and odontoid. Neurosurg Focus. 2014;36(3):E4.
- Kassam A, Snyderman CH, Mintz A, Gardner P, Carrau RL. Expanded endonasal approach: the rostrocaudal axis. Part II. Posterior clinoids to the foramen magnum. Neurosurg Focus. 2005;19:E4.
- Fries G, Perneczky A. Endoscope-assisted brain surgery: part 2 analysis of 380 procedures. Neurosurgery. 1998;42(2):226–32.
- 22. Kassam AB, Snyderman C, Gardner P, Carrau R, Spiro R. The expanded endonasal approach: a fully endoscopic transnasal approach and resection of the odontoid process: technical case report. Neurosurgery. 2005;57:E213.
- La Corte E, Aldana PR, Ferroli P, Greenfield JP, Härtl R, Anand VK, Schwartz TH. The rhinopalatine line as a reliable predictor of the inferior extent of endonasal odontoidectomies. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38(4):E16.
- McGirt MJ, Attenello FJ, Sciubba DM, Gokaslan ZL, Wolinsky JP. Endoscopic transcervical odontoidectomy for pediatric basilar invagination and cranial settling. Report of 4 cases. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2008;1(4):337–42.
- Messina A, Bruno MC, Decq P, Coste A, Cavallo LM, de Divittis E, Cappabianca P, Tschabitscher M. Pure endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy: anatomical study. Neurosurg Rev. 2007;30(3):189–94.
- Visocchi M, Di Martino A, Maugeri R, González Valcárcel I, Grasso V, Paludetti G. Videoassisted anterior surgical approaches to the craniocervical junction: rationale and clinical results. Eur Spine J. 2015;24(12):2713–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00586-015-3873-6.
- 27. Cavallo LM, Messina A, Cappabianca P, Esposito F, de Divitiis E, Gardner P, Tschabitscher M. Endoscopic endonasal surgery of the midline skull base: anatomical study and clinical considerations. Neurosurg Focus. 2005;19:E2.

- Aldana PR, Naseri I, La Corte E. The naso-axial line: a new method of accurately predicting the inferior limit of the endoscopic endonasal approach to the craniovertebral junction. Neurosurgery. 2012;71(2 Suppl Operative):ONS308–14.
- Chibbaro S, Gaillard S. Endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy. In: Cappabianca P, Cavallo LM, de Divitiis O, Esposito F, editors. Midline skull base surgery. New York: Springer; 2016. p. 313–21.
- Goldschlager T, Härtl R, Greenfield JP, Anand VK, Schwartz TH. The endoscopic endonasal approach to the odontoid and its impact on early extubation and feeding. J Neurosurg. 2015;122(3):511–8. https://doi.org/10.3171/2014.9.JNS14733.
- Gardner PA, Tormenti MJ, Pant H, Fernandez-Miranda JC, Snyderman CH, Horowitz MB. Carotid artery injury during endoscopic endonasal skull base surgery: incidence and outcomes. Neurosurgery. 2013;73(2 Suppl Operative):ONS261–70.
- Nayak JV, Gardner PA, Vescan AD, Carrau RL, Kassam AB, Snyderman CH. Experience with the expanded endonasal approach for resection of the odontoid process in rheumatoid disease. Am J Rhinol. 2007;21(5):601–6.
- 33. Frank G, Pasquini E, Mazzatenta D. Extended sphenoidal approach. J Neurosurg. 2001;95:917–8.
- Iacoangeli M, Gladi M, Alvaro L, Di Rienzo A, Specchia N, Scerrati M. Endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy with anterior C1 arch preservation in elderly patients affected by rheumatoid arthritis. Spine J. 2013;13(5):542–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. spinee.2013.01.043.
- 35. Laufer I, Greenfield JP, Anand VK, Hartl R, Schwartz TH. Endonasal endoscopic resection of the odontoid process in a

non achondroplastic dwarf with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: feasibility of the approach and utility of the intraoperative Iso-C three-dimensional navigation. Case report. J Neurosurg Spine. 2008;8(4):376–80.

- Perez-Orribo L, Little AS, Lefevre RD, Reyes PR, Newcomb AG, Prevedello DM, Roldan H, Nakaji P, Dickman CA, Crawford NR. Biomechanical evaluation of the craniovertebral junction after anterior unilateral condylectomy: implications for endoscopic endonasal approaches to the cranial base. Neurosurgery. 2013;72(6):1021–30. https://doi.org/10.1227/ NEU.0b013e31828d6231.
- Ponce-Gomez JA, Ortega-Porcayo LA, Soriano-Barón HE, Sotomayor-González A, Arriada-Mendicoa N, Gómez-Amador JL, Palma-Díaz M, Barges-Coll J. Evolution from microscopic transoral to endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy. Neurosurg Focus. 2014;37(4):E15.
- Singh H, Grobelny BT, Harrop J, Rosen M, Lober RM, Evans J. Endonasal access to the upper cervical spine, part one: radiographic morphometric analysis. J Neurol Surg B Skull Base. 2013;74(3):176–84. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0033-1342923.
- Zenga F, Pacca P, Tardivo V, Pennacchietti V, Garbossa D, Pecorari G, Ducati A. Endoscopic endonasal approach to the odontoid pathologies. World Neurosurg. 2016;89:394–403. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.wneu.2016.02.011.
- Zenga F, Marengo N, Pacca P, Pecorari G, Ducati A. C1 anterior arch preservation in transnasal odontoidectomy using threedimensional endoscope: a case report. Surg Neurol Int. 2015;6:192. https://doi.org/10.4103/2152-7806.172696.

Endoscopic Endonasal Odontoidectomy and Posterior Fusion in a Single-Stage Surgery: Description of Surgical Technique and Outcome



Rosaria Viola Abbritti, Felice Esposito, Filippo Flavio Angileri, Fabio Cacciola, Daniele Marino, Giuseppe La Fata, Nicola Gorgoglione, Giovanni Raffa, Antonino Scibilia, and Antonino Germanò

Introduction

An anterior approach to the craniovertebral junction (CVJ) and, particularly, to the odontoid process of the second cervical vertebra has classically been performed, in neurosurgical settings, via a transoral route. Such a technique is still considered the gold-standard treatment for odontoid process diseases.

However, the advent of endoscopy in neurosurgery and the development and refinement of endonasal approaches to the entire midline skull base [1–5] have meant that this field, once dominated by microsurgery, has become a territory of exploration for neurosurgeons, who have dedicated clinical and scientific efforts in this direction. In fact, the endoscopic endonasal approach to the craniocervical junction, and to the odontoid process, is among the areas of most interest for which endoscopic techniques have been developed.

Several anatomical and/or clinical studies have been reported, showing the interest of approaching the craniocervical junction (CCJ) through the nasal corridor [6, 7]. The availability of new technologies—such as endoscopes, highdefinition endoscopic cameras, navigation systems, ultra-

G. Raffa

Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Università degli Studi di Messina, Messina, Italy sound micro-Doppler, dedicated endonasal instruments and bipolar forceps—has opened new horizons for management of pathologies involving this complex region, using the natural nasal corridors; this way/approach has demonstrated remarkable improvements in the quality of disease resection and in functional outcomes with lower morbidity.

The endonasal route provides direct access to the surgical field, minimizing the mucosal and neurovascular manipulation: it follows a natural path that goes from the nostrils to the mucosa covering the rhinopharynx, the rhinopharyngeal muscles, the anterior arch of C1 and, finally, the odontoid process. As a consequence, the endoscopic endonasal approach is less invasive and does not require additional surgical manoeuvres such as (1) mouth retraction; (2) tongue compression or even splitting; (3) possible injury to the teeth; (4) injury to the uvula and/or the soft palate and velum pendulum; or (5) neurovascular manipulation through the oropharynx. Theoretically, such facts imply a lower rate of postoperative complications related to invasiveness, with lower rates of postoperative dysphagia and respiratory complications, possibly due to the fact that with the endoscopic approach, extubation coincides with the end of the procedure. This allows more rapid mobilization and a reduction in the recovery time for natural feeding, which is then reflected, of course, in the hospitalization time. Seen in this light, the endoscopic endonasal approach offers a viable alternative to the more established transoral approach, especially for the clear advantages that the endoscopic technique offers in cases where there is a full indication to execute it. On the other hand, in cases of dural opening the endonasal approach is associated with difficulty of dural closure, with associated higher risks of postoperative cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leakage and meningitis. Given the intrinsic features of the endoscope, the endonasal route provides a wider, panoramic and multiangled view of the region and also allows close-up views of the relevant anatomical structures on the surgical field.

R. V. Abbritti · F. Esposito (⊠) · F. F. Angileri · F. Cacciola D. Marino · G. La Fata · N. Gorgoglione · A. Scibilia · A. Germanò Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Biomedical and Dental Sciences and Morpho-functional Imaging, Università degli Studi di Messina, Messina, Italy e-mail: fesposito@unime.it

Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Biomedical and Dental Sciences and Morpho-functional Imaging, Università degli Studi di Messina, Messina, Italy

Anterior Versus Posterior Approach

The decision making between an anterior or a posterior approach depends on different particular aspects: (1) the direction of the compression; and (2) the surgeon's confidence and experience with the approaches, and thus the possibility to perform reduction of the compression with an anterior, posterior or combined approach. In general, irreducible anterior subluxation associated with spinal cord compression requires an anterior approach, whereas reducible posterior compression requires a posterior surgical route. However, different complex diseases, acquired or congenital, can cause an alteration of atlantoaxial relationships and anterior cervicomedullary junction compression. In these cases, fixation or posterior stabilization may be not sufficient to resolve the ventral compression. In fact, in recent years, the option of a combined anterior and posterior approach has become the best choice according to many authors.

Transoral Approach and Transnasal Approach

Several surgical routes have been described for the craniovertebral junction (CVJ) region because of its complex anatomy and vital surrounding structures. During recent decades, the transoral approach with microscopic assistance has been proposed as the standard procedure for performing anterior odontoidectomy, considering the aetiology of the disease, the mechanism of compression and, finally, its reducibility [8–11]. The transoral approach has been considered the gold-standard approach for the surgical treatment of pathologies of the anterior CVJ. Specifically, in the absence of spinal cord contusion or progressive myelopathy, posterior decompression and fusion are sufficient to achieve an acceptable outcome. Odontoidectomy is necessary when there is irreducible bony compression of the spinal cord or soft tissue pannus causing severe ventral compression and resulting in progressive myelopathy.

The risk of bacterial contamination, need for prolonged postoperative intubation and nasogastric tube feeding, tongue swelling and nasopharyngeal incompetence after transoral surgery have led authors to identify alternative routes to approach this region.

The anterior aspect of the craniocervical region can be exposed also via a transnasal approach, although some anatomical limitations exist. In the transnasal route, exposure of the C2 body below the odontoid process is limited by the posterior part of the hard palate; however, angled endoscopes, drills and dedicated instruments provide access

downward to the lower edge of the C2 body [12–15]. On the other hand, the transoral approach is limited by the degree of mouth opening, the size of the patient's tongue, and the position of the uvula and the soft palate. The inferior limit of the access, usually the C3 vertebra, is determined by the degree of mouth opening, the size of the patient's oral cavity and the prominence of the incisors. However, also for the transoral approach, the use of angled endoscopes and instruments directs the approach superiorly, increasing the rostral access above the anterior arch of the atlas to the lower clivus and C2 [16, 17]. One of the main anatomical landmarks to consider, especially in the transoral route, is the course of the vertebral artery (VA). After ascending through the transverse foramen of the axis and atlas, approximately 15 mm from the midline, the VA courses medially along the upper surface of the posterior arch of the atlas to reach its dural entrance. It is mandatory to preserve the segment of the VA ascending between the C1 and C2 transverse processes.

Once the anterior arch of C1 is exposed, it must be drilled to expose the odontoid process of C2. Another difference between the transoral and transnasal approaches is the visualization of the ligamentous complex. For instance, the apical ligament is easily visualized directly ahead of the endoscope in the transnasal route, but in the transoral approach it is not seen until later, after removal of the odontoid process. The main step in anterior odontoidectomy is represented by the drilling of the dens. In the transnasal approach, the dens is seen directly ahead. The anterior cortical surface and core of the dens are drilled, and the cortical shell is removed. On the other hand, the base of the dens is more easily accessed for drilling by the transoral route. In addition, a different view is offered by these two approaches regarding the exposure of the upper, middle or lower clivus. The standard endoscopic transnasal transsphenoidal approach allows one to reach the upper clivus, which corresponds to the posterior wall of the sphenoid sinus. Thus, the middle and lower clivus are viewed directly ahead in the transnasal approach. The access to the middle and lower clivus generally does not require opening of the sphenoid sinus. On the other hand, in the transoral approach the middle and upper clivus are not usually accessible because this would require soft and hard palate opening, with splitting of the tongue or mandible, to gain upward angulation. However, manoeuvres such as using an angled endoscope, retracting the uvula sufficiently and opening the mouth widely provide safe access to the lower clivus.

Indications

Odontoidectomy is a procedure that is necessary in all cases in which there is impairment of the nervous structures of the craniocervical junction due to an irreducible alteration of the

199

relations that the odontoid process conducts with neighbouring neurovascular structures.

Various pathologies may cause atlantoaxial misalignment and bulbomedullary junction compression; among them are congenital malformations such as Arnold–Chiari malformation type II, genetic degenerative transformation such as in Down's syndrome, chronic inflammation related to rheumatoid arthritis and/or metabolic disorders, and, finally, posttraumatic alterations (Fig. 1).

The irreducibility is a crucial concept on the path that leads to the indication for surgery. In fact, several studies have confirmed that, when feasible, reduction of the compression by putting the craniocervical junction in traction and subsequent fixation—and in cases of compression due to rheumatoid pannus, posterior stabilization of the craniocervical junction—lead in some instances to improvement or even resolution of the ventral compression.

Therefore, the indications for odontoidectomy arise in all cases in which there is irreducible atlantoaxial subluxation associated with severe brainstem and/or spinal cord compression causing progressive neurological dysfunction. In most cases, the pathological process may be due to (1) irreducible basilar impression [18–23]; (2) ventral compression, as in cases of rheumatoid pannus that is not resolved after posterior stabilization [24–26]; (3) significant retroflexion of the odontoid process or basilar invagination associated with Chiari malformation [27]; (4) the presence of os odontoideum [28–30]; or (5) post-traumatic pseudoarthrosis or misalignment. Several recent experiences have enlarged the indications for endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy to treat intradural lesions [3, 5, 31–33].



Fig. 1 Preoperative neuroimaging studies. T2-weighted (a) sagittal and (b) axial magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the craniovertebral junction, showing bulbomedullary compression by an extradural mass

lesion of the odontoid process (rheumatoid pannus). (\mathbf{c} , \mathbf{d}) Threedimensional reconstruction of computed tomography angiography (CTA) of the same patient

Feasibility of the Endoscopic Endonasal Odontoidectomy

The goal of the surgical operation is to completely remove the odontoid process of C2 and achieve sufficient decompression of the ventral brainstem and CVJ. In the debate between microsurgery and the endoscopic technique, it has been remarked that in the endonasal approach, there can be difficulty in reaching the lower portion of the craniocervical junction and, namely, the base of the dens. To understanding this aspect, numerous studies have been performed on cadavers and on radiological images, with the purpose of delineating the limits and then the indications for the endoscopic approach to odontoid process pathology. Leading authors have widely reported the feasibility of the endoscopic endonasal approach (EEA) to the CVJ [3, 6].

In cases of a low junction, located far below the level of the hard palate, it could be quite difficult, if not impossible, to reach the anterior arch of C1 and the base of the odontoid process. Such cases can represent an indication for the transoral approach. On the other hand, in cases of a higher junction, the dens is more easily reachable and removable by the nasal route.

To preoperatively assess the feasibility of odontoidectomy via an endoscopic endonasal route, on a midline sagittal computed tomography (CT) slice with a bone window it is possible to draw four lines representing possible paths from the piriform aperture of the nasal bones, which target the odontoid process and allow assessment of the inferior limit for surgical exposure. Predicting the inferior limit of the CVJ is crucial to choose the appropriate approach in an area that is considered a transitional area between the endonasal and transoral routes.

Nasopalatine Line

One of the criticisms of the EEA to the upper cervical spine is the limited exposure inferiorly. Endonasal dissection of the upper cervical spine is limited superiorly by the nasal bones and the soft tissues of the nose, and inferiorly by the hard palate and soft palate [34, 35]. The line created by connecting the most inferior point of the nasal bone to the posterior edge of the hard palate in the midsagittal plane is defined as the nasopalatine line (NPL) and is considered a limitation of caudal dissection with straight endoscopic instruments. The angle created by this line and the plane of the hard palate-the nasopalatine angle (NPA)-provides the window of exposure to the skull base and upper cervical spine. The mean nasopalatine angle is $27.1 \pm 0.7^{\circ}$. The mean point of intersection between the NPL and the vertebral column is reported to be 8.9 ± 1.8 mm above the base of the C2 vertebral body. The NPL is considered by several authors to be a controversial predictor of the maximal extent of inferior dissection in endoscopic endonasal resection of the odontoid process [34], considering that the inferior limit predicted by

the NPL was found to have a mean value of 12.7 mm, below the real inferior extent of surgical dissection. Various pathological factors (basilar invagination) and physiological factors (head positioning) affect the point of intersection of the NPL with the cervical spine. To improve caudal exposure, the use of angled instruments or drills may be of value. Additionally, retraction of the soft palate and drilling of the posterior edge of the hard palate may improve the exposure but may increase the risks of palatal dehiscence and velopharyngeal insufficiency.

Nasoaxial Line

The nasoaxial line (NAxL) is defined as a line constructed on the midsagittal plane using a starting point that corresponds to the midpoint of the distance from the rhinion to the anterior nasal spine of the maxillary bone and a second point at the tip of the posterior nasal spine of the palatine bone. It extends posteriorly and inferiorly to the cervical spine. To predict (more accurately than using NPL) the lower limit of the EEA to reach the CVJ through the correspondence between CT measurements and the real surgical limit, a cadaver study was performed to evaluate the predictive value of the NAxL. The findings supported the close correspondence between the NAxL, drawn on preoperative CT images, and the anatomical surgical extent [36].

Hard Palate Line

The hard palate line (HPL) is defined as a line that passes through the anterior and posterior edges of the hard palate (the anterior nasal spine of the maxillary bone and the posterior nasal spine of the palatine bone, respectively) and intersects with the craniovertebral junction posteriorly. This line represents the long axis of the hard palate [37]. It is considered a reliable marker of the inferior extension of the CVJ especially in congenital abnormalities, such as platybasia with associated basilar invagination, where the tip of the odontoid process is often above the plane of the hard palate [38].

Rhinopalatine Line

The rhinopalatine line is defined as a line constructed on the midsagittal plane, using a starting point that corresponds to the two-thirds point of the distance from the rhinion to the anterior nasal spine of the maxillary bone and a second point at the posterior nasal spine of the palatine bone. The line is extended posteriorly and inferiorly, ending at the cervical spine. There have been great efforts made by different groups to study the inferior limit of the EEA. De Almeida et al. [34] described the nasopalatine (NPL) as a good and accurate predictor of the inferior limit of the EEA, but in their study, the NPL always gave a result below the inferior extent of surgical dissection with a mean value of 12.7 mm. Consequently, the nasoaxial line was reported to predict, more accurately and reliably, the inferior caudal exposure with the EEA. Similarly,

it was found that the NAxL also overpredicted the lower limits of the approach [37]. The rhinopalatine line (RPL) seemed to be the most accurate predictor in several studies.

This predictor accounts also for patient anatomical variability, such as the presence of nasal and palatal osseous and soft structures, together with the hard palate's direction and length, which represent the most significant factors that limit the inferior extension of the EEA. The RPL cannot be used to predict the lateral limits of the EEA in CVJ surgery.

Operative Technique

Depending on individual patients' pathologies, we perform endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy followed by posterior decompression and fusion in a single-stage surgery.

To accurately choose the correct approach, we consider, on a sagittal CT scan, the relationship between the nasopalatine and rhinopalatine lines and the upper cervical spine.

We routinely use a neuronavigation system (StealthStation S7[®]; Medtronic, Minneapolis, MN, USA) based on contrastenhanced magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) with angiographic time-of-flight (TOF) sequences merged with a 1-mm layer CT scan of the brain and cervical spine in a single volume. Generally, we use the optical tracking of the StealthStation S7[®] merged with the angiographic TOF sequences to provide feasible preoperative images regarding the relationship between the CVJ bony and vascular structures such as the vertebral and carotid arteries. Somatosensory evoked potential neuromonitoring is used routinely.

Patient Positioning and Preparation

Following general anaesthesia and orotracheal intubation, the patient is placed in a supine position with the trunk elevated by about 20°. The head is slightly turned to the right (maximum 10°), not flexed, and fixed in a radiolucent Mayfield-Kees three-pin headclamp. The head is kept parallel to the floor and maintained without flexion or extension during the posterior fusion, when the patient is turned from the supine position to the prone position. In all cases we use the O-arm[®] system (Medtronic) in the phase of posterior fusion. On this, the optical reference of the neuronavigator is mounted, in case the optical system is used. The magnetic reference is positioned on the patient's head, in case the electromagnetic system is used. We administer antibiotic prophylaxis with cefazolin 2 g 1 h before the procedure.

Nasal Phase

The nose is prepped with cottonoids soaked with diluted iodopovidone 5% solution inside the two nostrils. A 0° angled lens and an 18 cm endoscope associated with a high-definition (HD) camera (Karl Storz, Tuttlingen, Germany) is introduced into the right nostril. Identification of the usual anatomical nasal landmarks is performed (the inferior turbinate laterally and the nasal septum medially). As a standard

endoscopic endonasal procedure, above the inferior turbinate, the middle turbinate is identified and luxated laterally, with cottonoids soaked with diluted adrenaline (epinephrine) placed between the middle turbinate and the nasal septum to prevent bleeding of the nasal mucosa. The same manoeuvres are carried out in the left nostril. The endoscope advances parallel to the floor of the nasal cavity until the choana is reached. With the aid of the neuronavigation system, the anatomical landmarks are verified. The mucosa over the posterior and inferior aspect of the nasal septum is cauterized with monopolar coagulation or, better still, with bipolar forceps. We do not routinely perform removal of the anterior wall of the sphenoid sinus since a transsphenoidal corridor is rarely needed unless higher exposure is required in cases where the tip of the dens goes quite high or where more space is required for the surgical manoeuvres because of the patient's individual anatomy. Afterward, an inferior septectomy is performed with sufficient removal of the vomer bone and extending inferiorly down to the hard palate. The most superior limit reached is the clivus-nasal septum junction. At this stage a few important anatomical landmarks should be identified, which guide the surgeon to stay oriented: (1) the clivus-septum junction superiorly; (2) the Eustachian tubes laterally; and (3) the nasal floor/soft palate inferiorly as marked by the hard and soft palate. The neuronavigation will confirm the position of such surgical landmarks and give the correct direction for the subsequent surgical steps.

Nasopharynx Phase

The key points of the nasal phase allow the widest exposure of the rhinopharynx and avoidance of any conflict between instruments during the next surgical steps. The nasopharynx mucosa is incised on the midline (Fig. 2a), and the muscles are dissected bilaterally to expose the anterior arch of C1 (Fig. 2b). Several authors have described a reverse U-shaped nasopharyngeal flap prepared with monopolar electrocautery, elevated and reflected caudally to the level of the soft palate to improve the surgical field. The craniocaudal extension of the flap involves the inferior third of the clivus superiorly and the C2 vertebral body inferiorly; the lateral margins of the operative exposure includes the lateral masses of the C1 vertebra. The U-shaped nasopharynx flap extends the surgical corridor laterally, but on the other hand it increases the risk of injury to the parapharyngeal carotids, which are located laterally to the superior pharyngeal constrictor muscle. We prefer doing a straight midline opening of the nasopharynx because it guarantees sufficient exposure and a lower risk of vascular damage. Then, we proceed with skeletonizing of the anterior arch of C1 and of the odontoid process in a subperiosteal fashion.

C1 Anterior Arch Preservation in Selected Cases

Recently, several authors have reported their experience in the matter of endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy, focusing on the preservation of the C1 anterior arch during the craniovertebral junction phase, avoiding posterior fixation [32, 39]. Particularly in cases of rheumatoid arthritis or other inflammatory diseases, the anterior arch of the atlas is preserved by drilling the odontoid base, weakening its apex and leading to pulling downward of the dens in the working area. Subsequent removal of the axis with other remaining compressive inflammatory lesions is performed using a combination of a high-speed drill, ultrasonic bone curette and standard Kerrison rongeurs [32, 39]. According to such authors, working above and below the C1 anterior arch and its preservation not only represent an element of stability but also provide an important opportunity for reconstruction and to reinforce the closure. Additionally, the same groups, in cases of inveterate Anderson–D'Alonzo type II fractures or the combination of an odontoid fracture with a fracture of the anterior arch of C1, have proposed a technique of anterior fixation and anterior C1 arch reconstruction [40].

Craniovertebral Junction Phase and Closure

In our technique, the anterior arch of the atlas is exposed and removed using the high-speed drill with diamond burrs and Kerrison rongeurs. Posteriorly, the odontoid process of C2 is exposed (Fig. 2c), separated from the alar and apical ligaments, dissected from the transverse ligament, thinned using



Fig. 2 Intraoperative pictures of the endoscopic endonasal approach. (a) Incision into the rhinopharynx (rPh). (b) Drilling of the anterior arch of C_1 . (c) Drilling of the odontoid process (OP) of C_2 . (d) Freeing

of the remaining part of the dens from the ligaments. *C1 tub* anterior tubercle of C1, *ET* Eustachian tubes, *lig* ligaments

the microdrill and finally removed (Fig. 2d). At this point, a wide surgical corridor is created. The odontoidectomy is performed carefully by using the high-speed drill, Kerrison rongeurs and, in cases of lesions with a soft consistency, curettes and pouches or ultrasound aspiration. When the removal is complete, the dural plane appears to pulsate and indicates optimal decompression of the brainstem (Fig. 3a, b).

After satisfactory haemostasis is achieved, the closure is guaranteed with a layer of fibrin glue only in the absence of possible dural tearing (Fig. 3c). In the case of CSF leakage, packing with Gelfoam/Surgicel and fibrin glue is used to reinforce the closure. In these cases we consider the possibility of positioning an extended lumbar drain (ELD) at the end of the operation. We close the nasopharynx mucosa with a single stich because the median opening allows faster closure of the muscles at the end of the endoscopy time. Generally, we position a nasogastric tube under endoscopic control (Fig. 3d).



Fig. 3 Intraoperative pictures of the endoscopic endonasal approach. (a) Removal of pannus (p) causing compression. (b) Dura mater (DM) of the craniovertebral junction. (c) Closure of the muscle and mucosal incision with the aid of fibrin glue (fg). (d) Endoscopic control of the

surgical field 3 days later, showing optimal closure of the incision. The *asterisk* denotes the nasogastric tube. *C2* base of the dens (body of C_2), *ET* Eustachian tube, *rPh* rhinopharynx, *SP* soft palate

Posterior Fusion

The second step of the operation is characterized by the posterior occipitocervical fusion. The patient, already fixed to the Mayfield-Kees three-pin carbon fibre radiolucent headholder, is turned from the supine position to the prone position with the head parallel to the floor and with a slight degree of extension. This position considers the CO–C2 angle, which is formed by the posterior extension of the hard palate and the vertical line passing through the dens, and avoids breathing impairment related to the flexion. A midline incision is performed, starting from the inion, to the spinous process of C6. The fascia is exposed and incised on the midline with monopolar cautery. The muscle dissection is performed along the raphe in a subperiosteal fashion from the basiocciput to the posterior complex of C5. The bone landmarks are clearly visible: (1) the occipital bone; (2) the posterior arch and lateral masses of C1; and (3) the posterior complex from C1 to C5.

Generally, we remove the posterior arch of C1 because in most of our cases it is contributing to the bulbopontine compression. The lateral masses of C3 and C4 are identified and verified through the O-arm® system. The fixation system we use in all cases is the Vertex titanium system (Medtronic). The high-speed drill is used to prepare the position of the screws within the lateral masses of C3 and C4. The polyaxial screws are inserted according to the Magerl technique [41] to avoid vascular injuries. In the basiocciput the monoaxial screws are positioned 2 cm from the inion on both sides and 1 cm above the sinuses. The length of the screws we use is 8 mm. After the screws are positioned, the two rods are pulled to obtain the correct alignment of the cervical spine and finally fixed through the wrench of the wing nuts. The bone fusion is improved with the addition of bone substitutes. The last verification with the O-arm[®] system is done at the end of the procedure. At discharge we recommend use of a cervical collar for 2 months.

Series Presentation

In the Neurosurgical Clinic at the University of Messina, a series of four endonasal endoscopic odontoidectomies were performed. Demographic, clinical and management details are summarized in Tables 1 and 2.

All four patients were female, ranging between 62 and 82 years of age (mean age 67.75 years). Three patients were admitted with a neurological onset characterized by tetraparesis; in one patient, motor deficits were prevalent in the right arm. Urinary incontinence was present in two patients. One patient presented with severe dysphagia with both solids

	D . 11 C	. •				
lable 2	Details of	patient	management	1n	our	series
		P				

Patient no.	Procedures	Operating room set-up	Duration of postoperative hospital stay (days)
1	Endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy and occipitocervical stabilization at the same stage	StealthStation S7 [®] with optical tracking + O-arm [®]	17
2	Endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy and occipitocervical stabilization at the same stage	StealthStation S7 [®] with optical tracking + O-arm [®]	13
3	Endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy and occipitocervical stabilization at the same stage	StealthStation S7 [®] with optical tracking + O-arm [®]	19
4	Endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy	StealthStation S7 [®] with optical tracking	9

 Table 1
 Demographic, aetiological and clinical data on the patients in our series

Patient	Age				Postoperative
no.	(years)	Sex	Aetiology	Symptoms	outcome
1	62	Female	Rheumatoid pannus	Right arm weakness Tetrahyperreflexia Urinary incontinence	Improved Oral feeding
2	64	Female	Odontoid process misalignment in patient with previous Anderson–D'Alonzo type II fracture (not stabilized)	Tetraparesis Tetrahyperreflexia Urinary retention	Improved Oral feeding
3	82	Female	Rheumatoid pannus	Tetraparesis	Improved Oral feeding
4	63	Female	Craniocervical junction malformation	Tetraparesis Severe dysphagia Dysphonia	Improved Dysphagia not completely resolved

and liquids. In two patients, the symptoms were related to the presence of a rheumatoid synovial pannus, while the other two cases showed signs and symptoms due to a complex malformation of the craniocervical junction and to misalignment of the odontoid process following a previous non-fused Anderson–D'Alonzo type II fracture, respectively. Interestingly, the patient affected by the complex CCJ malformation had previously undergone occipitocervical stabilization at another institution. She then underwent an attempted transoral odontoidectomy, which failed because of the higher position of the dens. She was subsequently referred to our clinic for anterior decompression performed through an endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy. In the remaining three patients, anterior decompression and posterior stabilization were performed during the same operation.

The mean length of stay was 14.5 days (range 9–19 days). In all patients there was improvement of the neurological conditions in comparison with the preoperative status. In one patient the swallowing dysfunction resolved, allowing early oral feeding. In two cases, implementation of parenteral nutrition was necessary for a few days. In one case the naso-gastric tube was left in place to facilitate enteral feeding.

Postoperative Management

In our practice, according to the general clinical condition of the patient and the length of sedation, we prefer to keep the patient in our intensive care unit for 24 h. This occurred in two of the four cases we treated. In our department, the primary aim is early mobilization of the patient to lower the risks associated with extended bed rest. In addition, use of a nasogastric tube guarantees sufficient caloric intake, with the addition of parenteral nutrition, when required. We perform at least two endoscopic postoperative controls: one in the first 24 h and one before discharge. During such checks we verify the closure of the surgical wound and the possible presence of CSF leakage, and then we remove the nasogastric tube under endoscopic control. This manoeuvre can be performed only after testing of the function of the lower cranial nerves by an otolaryngologist. In our series, removal of the nasogastric tube occurred in three patients: on the eighth postoperative day in two patients, and on the seventh postoperative day in the other one. In our series, before discharge, a CT scan of the head and cervical spine was performed to assess the degree of the odontoidectomy and the correct positioning of the screws and rods of the posterior fusion, and MRI was performed to evaluate the decompression of the neurovascular structures. A further control was performed after 3 months. All patients started a physical rehabilitation programme, which was also continued after discharge (Fig. 4).

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.



Fig. 4 Postoperative neuroimaging studies of the same patient shown in Fig. 1. (a) T2-weighted sagittal magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the craniovertebral junction (CVJ) showing optimal decompression of the

bulbomedullary junction. (**b**, **c**) Intraoperative O-arm[®] images showing removal of the odontoid process. (**d**–**f**) Three-dimensional reconstruction of the postoperative computed tomography (CT) scan of the CVJ



Fig. 4 (continued)

References

- Cappabianca P, Cavallo LM, Esposito F, de Divitiis O, Messina A, de Divitiis E. Extended endoscopic endonasal approach to the midline skull base: the evolving role of transsphenoidal surgery. In: Pickard JD, Akalan N, Di Rocco C, Dolenc VV, Lobo Antunes J, Mooij JJA, Schramm J, Sindou M, editors. Advances and technical standards in neurosurgery. Vienna: Springer; 2008. p. 152–99.
- Cavallo LM, De Divitiis O, Aydin S, Messina A, Esposito F, Iaconetta G, Talat K, Cappabianca P, Tschabitscher M. Extended endoscopic endonasal transsphenoidal approach to the suprasellar area: anatomic considerations—part 1. Neurosurgery. 2008;61(3 Suppl):24–33.
- Cavallo LM, Messina A, Cappabianca P, Esposito F, de Divitiis E, Gardner P, Tschabitscher M. Endoscopic endonasal surgery of the midline skull base: anatomical study and clinical considerations. Neurosurg Focus. 2005;19(1):E2.
- Esposito F, Becker DP, Villablanca JP, Kelly DF. Endonasal transsphenoidal transclival removal of prepontine epidermoid tumors: technical note. Neurosurgery. 2005;56(2 Suppl):E443.
- Kassam A, Snyderman CH, Mintz A, Gardner P, Carrau RL. Expanded endonasal approach: the rostrocaudal axis. Part II. Posterior clinoids to the foramen magnum. Neurosurg Focus. 2005;19(1):E4.
- Cavallo LM, Cappabianca P, Messina A, Esposito F, Stella L, de Divitiis E, Tschabitscher M. The extended endoscopic endonasal approach to the clivus and cranio-vertebral junction: anatomical study. Childs Nerv Syst. 2007;23(6):665–71.
- Messina A, Bruno MC, Decq P, Coste A, Cavallo LM, de Divittis E, Cappabianca P, Tschabitscher M. Pure endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy: anatomical study. Neurosurg Rev. 2007;30(3):189–94.
- Crockard HA. The transoral approach to the base of the brain and upper cervical cord. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 1985;67(5):321–5.
- Crockard HA, Pozo JL, Ransford AO, Stevens JM, Kendall BE, Essigman WK. Transoral decompression and posterior fusion for rheumatoid atlanto-axial subluxation. J Bone Jt Surg Br. 1986;68(3):350–6.
- Perrini P, Benedetto N, Guidi E, Di Lorenzo N. Transoral approach and its superior extensions to the craniovertebral junction malformations: surgical strategies and results. Neurosurgery.

2009;64(5 Suppl 2):331–42. https://doi.org/10.1227/01. NEU.0000334430.25626.DC.

- Perrini P, Benedetto N, Di Lorenzo N. Transoral approach to extradural non-neoplastic lesions of the craniovertebral junction. Acta Neurochir. 2014;156(6):1231–6.
- Cappabianca P, Cavallo LM, Esposito F, de Divitiis E. Endoscopic endonasal transsphenoidal surgery: procedure, endoscopic equipment and instrumentation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2004;20(11–12):796–801.
- Cappabianca P, de Divitiis O, Esposito F, Cavallo LM, de Divitiis E. Endoscopic skull base instrumentation. In: Anand VK, Schwartz TH, editors. Practical endoscopic skull base surgery. San Diego: Plural Publishing; 2007. p. 45–56.
- Cappabianca P, Esposito F, Cavallo LM, Corriero OV. Instruments. Cranial, Craniofacial Skull Base Surg. 2010;2010:7–15.
- Esposito F, Di Rocco F, Zada G, Cinalli G, Schroeder HWS, Mallucci C, Cavallo LM, Decq P, Chiaramonte C, Cappabianca P. Intraventricular and skull base neuroendoscopy in 2012: a global survey of usage patterns and the role of intraoperative neuronavigation. World Neurosurg. 2013;80(6):709–16.
- de Divitiis O, Conti A, Angileri FF, Cardali S, La Torre D, Tschabitscher M. Endoscopic transoral-transclival approach to the brainstem and surrounding cisternal space: anatomic study. Neurosurgery. 2004;54(1):125–30.
- Visocchi M, Doglietto F, Della Pepa GM, Esposito G, La Rocca G, Di Rocco C, Maira G, Fernandez E. Endoscope-assisted microsurgical transoral approach to the anterior craniovertebral junction compressive pathologies. Eur Spine J. 2011;20(9):1518–25.
- Goel A, Bhatjiwale M, Desai K. Basilar invagination: a study based on 190 surgically treated patients. J Neurosurg. 1998;88(6):962–8.
- KaramYR, Menezes AH, Traynelis VC. Posterolateral approaches to the craniovertebral junction. Neurosurgery. 2010;66(3 Suppl):135– 40. https://doi.org/10.1227/01.NEU.0000365828.03949.D0.
- 20. Menezes AH. Craniocervical developmental anatomy and its implications. Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24(10):1109–22.
- Menezes AH, VanGilder JC. Transoral-transpharyngeal approach to the anterior craniocervical junction. Ten-year experience with 72 patients. J Neurosurg. 1988;69(6):895–903.
- 22. Smoker WR. Craniovertebral junction: normal anatomy, craniometry, and congenital anomalies. Radiographics. 1994;14(2):255–77.

- 23. Smoker WRK, Khanna G. Imaging the craniocervical junction. Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24(10):1123–45.
- 24. Joaquim AF, Appenzeller S. Cervical spine involvement in rheumatoid arthritis—a systematic review. Autoimmun Rev. 2014;13(12):1195–202.
- Pare MC, Currier BL, Ebersold MJ. Resolution of traumatic hypertrophic periodontoid cicatrix after posterior cervical fusion: case report. Neurosurgery. 1995;37(3):531–4.
- 26. Sandhu FA, Pait TG, Benzel E, Henderson FC. Occipitocervical fusion for rheumatoid arthritis using the inside–outside stabilization technique. Spine. 2003;28(4):414–9.
- 27. Klekamp J. Chiari I malformation with and without basilar invagination: a comparative study. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38(4):E12.
- Arvin B, Fournier-Gosselin MP, Fehlings MG. Os odontoideum: etiology and surgical management. Neurosurgery. 2010;66(3 Suppl):22–31. https://doi.org/10.1227/01. NEU.0000366113.15248.07.
- Matsui H, Imada K, Tsuji H. Radiographic classification of os odontoideum and its clinical significance. Spine. 1997;22(15):1706–9.
- Vargas TM, Rybicki FJ, Ledbetter SM, MacKenzie JD. Atlantoaxial instability associated with an orthotopic os odontoideum: a multimodality imaging assessment. Emerg Radiol. 2005;11(4):223–5.
- 31. Cappabianca P, Cavallo LM, Esposito F, de Divitiis O, Messina A, de Divitiis E. Extended endoscopic endonasal approach to the midline skull base: the evolving role of transphenoidal surgery. In: Pickard JD, editor. Advances and technical standards in neuro-surgery. Vienna: Springer; 2007. p. 1–48.
- 32. Iacoangeli M, Gladi M, Alvaro L, Di Rienzo A, Specchia N, Scerrati M. Endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy with anterior C1 arch preservation in elderly patients affected by rheumatoid arthritis. Spine J. 2013;13(5):542–8.
- 33. Kassam AB, Gardner PA, Snyderman CH, Carrau RL, Mintz AH, Prevedello DM. Expanded endonasal approach, a fully endoscopic transnasal approach for the resection of midline suprasellar craniopharyngiomas: a new classification based on the infundibulum. J Neurosurg. 2008;108(4):715–28.

- De Almeida JR, Zanation AM, Snyderman CH, Carrau RL, Prevedello DM, Gardner PA, Kassam AB. Defining the nasopalatine line: the limit for endonasal surgery of the spine. Laryngoscope. 2009;119(2):239–44.
- 35. Kassam AB, Snyderman C, Gardner P, Carrau R, Spiro R. The expanded endonasal approach: a fully endoscopic transnasal approach and resection of the odontoid process: technical case report. Neurosurgery. 2005;57(1 Suppl):E213.
- Aldana PR, Naseri I, La Corte E. The naso-axial line: a new method of accurately predicting the inferior limit of the endoscopic endonasal approach to the craniovertebral junction. Neurosurgery. 2012;71:ons308–14. https://doi.org/10.1227/ NEU.0b013e318266e488.
- La Corte E, Aldana PR, Ferroli P, Greenfield JP, Hartl R, Anand VK, Schwartz TH. The rhinopalatine line as a reliable predictor of the inferior extent of endonasal odontoidectomies. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38(4):E16.
- El-Sayed IH, J-C W, Ames CP, Balamurali G, Mummaneni PV. Combined transnasal and transoral endoscopic approaches to the craniovertebral junction. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2010;1(1):44–8.
- Gladi M, Iacoangeli M, Specchia N, Re M, Dobran M, Alvaro L, Moriconi E, Scerrati M. Endoscopic transnasal odontoid resection to decompress the bulbo-medullary junction: a reliable anterior minimally invasive technique without posterior fusion. Eur Spine J. 2012;21(Suppl 1):55–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00586-012-2220-4.
- 40. Re M, Iacoangeli M, Di Somma L, Alvaro L, Nasi D, Magliulo G, Gioacchini FM, Fradeani D, Scerrati M. Endoscopic endonasal approach to the craniocervical junction: the importance of anterior C1 arch preservation or its reconstruction. Acta Otorhinolaryngol Ital. 2016;36(2):107–18.
- Suchomel P, Stulik J, Klezl Z, Chrobok J, Lukas R, Krbec M, Magerl F. Transarticular fixation of C1–C2: a multicenter retrospective study. Acta Chir Orthop Traumatol Cechoslov. 2004;71(1):6–12.

Endoscopic Endonasal Approaches for Treatment of Craniovertebral Junction Tumours



Davide Locatelli, Apostolos Karligkiotis, Mario Turri-Zanoni, Frank Rikki Canevari, Fabio Pozzi, and Paolo Castelnuovo

Abstract Tumours involving the craniovertebral junction (CVJ) are challenging because of their local invasiveness and high recurrence rates, as well as their proximity to critical neurovascular structures and the difficulty of reconstructing the resulting skull base defect at this site. Several surgical techniques are currently available to access these lesions, including the far lateral, extreme lateral, direct lateral, transcervical, transoral and transnasal approaches. In this paper, application of the endoscopic endonasal approach (EEA) in the treatment of CVJ tumours is analysed. The indications, contraindications, preoperative workup, step-by-step surgical technique, skull base reconstruction options and postoperative management are described. The advantages and limitations of the EEA are also discussed. Finally, a systematic review of the literature is provided to elucidate the levels of evidence supporting the use of the EEA in this field. Employment of this approach to the CVJ has contributed to high success rates in achieving gross total resection of tumours and improvement in neurological symptoms. Intraoperative and postoperative complication rates are

Head and Neck Surgery & Forensic Dissection Research Centre, Department of Biotechnology and Life Sciences, University of Insubria–Varese, ASST Sette Laghi, Ospedale di Circolo e Fondazione Macchi, Varese, Italy

A. Karligkiotis · M. Turri-Zanoni · P. Castelnuovo Head and Neck Surgery & Forensic Dissection Research Centre, Department of Biotechnology and Life Sciences, University of Insubria–Varese, ASST Sette Laghi, Ospedale di Circolo e Fondazione Macchi, Varese, Italy

Division of Otorhinolaryngology, Department of Biotechnology and Life Sciences, University of Insubria–Varese, ASST Sette Laghi, Ospedale di Circolo e Fondazione Macchi, Varese, Italy acceptable, with cerebrospinal fluid leakage being the major concern (with a 17–25% incidence). Moreover, in comparison with traditional approaches to the CVJ, the EEA provides lower rates of postoperative dysphagia and respiratory complications. Use of the EEA for treatment of CVJ tumours appears to be a rational alternative to the conventional transoral, transcranial and transcervical approaches in selected cases. Multidisciplinary teamwork including different specialists—such as medical and radiation oncologists, radiologists, otorhinolaryngologists and neurosurgeons—is strongly recommended for the purpose of offering the best treatment strategy for the patient.

Keywords Chordomas · Meningiomas · Craniovertebral junction · Clivus · Posterior cranial fossa · Endoscopic transnasal approaches · Multiportal endoscopic approaches · Radiotherapy

Introduction

General Aspects

Different tumours can involve the anterior and anterolateral craniovertebral junction (CVJ), although the more frequently occurring ones are chordomas and meningiomas. The surgical treatment of these tumours is challenging because of their local invasiveness and high recurrence rates, as well as the proximity of the clivus and CVJ to critical neurovascular structures and the difficulty of reconstructing the resulting skull base defect at this site. Thus, the benefits of total removal must always be balanced against the risks related to an extensive and potentially invasive surgical dissection.

The leading objectives of the surgical treatment of CVJ tumours are to achieve gross total resection, decompress the neural structures, and avoid surgical morbidity and mortality [1, 2]. Several surgical approaches can be used to access CVJ

D. Locatelli (🖂) · F. Pozzi

Division of Neurological Surgery, Department of Biotechnology and Life Sciences, University of Insubria–Varese, ASST Sette Laghi, Ospedale di Circolo e Fondazione Macchi, Varese, Italy

F. R. Canevari

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Azienda Ospedaliera SS Antonio e Biagio e Cesare Arrigo, Alessandria, Italy

lesions, including the far lateral, extreme lateral, direct lateral, transcervical, transoral and transnasal approaches, which have been developed over the years to overcome the significant morbidity and mortality rates of the historical midline suboccipital approaches [1].

Traditionally, the transoral approach is the most frequently used corridor for accessing the lower clivus and the anterior CVJ, without the need to mobilize or retract the cranial nerves, the lower brainstem or the upper cervical spinal cord. However, it is associated with a high rate of complications such as velopharyngeal incompetence, hypernasal speech and nasal reflux, dental injury, oedema or tongue necrosis, upper airway obstruction from retropharyngeal oedema, posterior pharyngeal wound dehiscence, dysphagia, odynophagia, pharyngeal cellulitis, meningitis (from cerebrospinal fluid [CSF] leakage) and temporomandibular joint syndrome [3, 4]. Otherwise, the endoscopic endonasal approach (EEA) provides direct and full access to the anterior CVJ, as well as to the lower, middle and superior clivus, offering improved lateral visualization, decreased airway and swallowing morbidity, preservation of palatal function, decreased postoperative pain, and a reduced incidence of tracheostomy [3, 4].

One of the major limitations of the EEA, preventing radical resection of clival-CVJ tumours, is lateral extension of the tumour with adhesions to important neurovascular structures [5]. In these cases, different transcranial and transcervical approaches may be combined with the endoscopic transnasal one to optimize the degree of resection and reduce morbidity [3, 6]. Adjuvant radiation therapy is usually indicated for local tumour control and to prolong progressionfree survival, as well as in the case of extensive involvement of neurovascular structures [7–9].

Treatment Planning

Appropriate treatment of CVJ tumours strongly calls for multidisciplinary team management, including neurosurgeons, otorhinolaryngologists, radiologists, medical oncologists and radiation oncologists. The goals of surgical treatment may include (1) obtaining a diagnosis when preoperative imaging is not able to establish it; (2) decompressing neural structures; and (3) maximizing survival outcomes and patient quality of life while minimizing collateral damage to nasal or intracranial structures, as well as complication rates. In this regard, a multidisciplinary evaluation is devoted to defining the best treatment strategy for a given patient, taking into account the tumour biology and extension, as well as the patient's comorbidity and expectations.

When surgery is indicated as the first treatment option, a tumour board discussion is paramount in defining the appropriate surgical approach to achieve gross total resection while minimizing postoperative sequelae. The advantages

D. Locatelli et al.

and limitations of the EEA should be compared with those offered by traditional techniques such as the transoral, transcervical and far lateral approaches to identify the best surgical corridor for the lesion to be treated. In selected cases of multicompartmental lesions, a combination of different surgical approaches can be used to achieve disassembly of the different tumour components in a precise and anatomically oriented fashion.

In the presence of encasement of a major vessel (e.g. the internal carotid, basilar or vertebral arteries) and lower cranial nerve involvement, radical resection of the tumour is precluded and additional treatment strategies should be considered after surgery. In such cases, conventional radiotherapy, stereotactic radiosurgery and the recently introduced hadron therapy may be used. Particle radiation therapy using proton and heavier ion beams provide greater biological effectiveness and improve dose distributions in comparison with photon beams, and thus enable dose escalation within the tumour while sparing normal tissues [10]. When partial or subtotal resection of the tumour is planned, a preoperative multidisciplinary consultation with radiologists and radiotherapists is mandatory to delineate the tumour mass suitable for surgical removal and the tumour volumes suitable for irradiation (Fig. 1). Especially in cases where postoperative radiotherapy or heavy ion therapy is planned, the potential risk of atlantooccipital (AO) instability with the need for CVJ fixation has to be preoperatively anticipated. In selective cases, resection of CVJ tumours requires a lateral extension that can affect AO stability. In particular, it is extremely important to evaluate the extent of condyle resection to determine the immediate and long-term postoperative effects on AO stability [11]. Notably, if the extent of medial condyle resection is less than 50%, patients have a low risk of instability and, in general, only clinical observation is required, without the need for surgical fixation. On the other hand, a high risk of AO instability is observed when medial resection involves 75% of the condyle; in these instances, surgical fixation should be performed. In cases where the extent of condyle resection is between 50% and 75%, the patients are asymptomatic and no AO joint resection is performed, close monitoring should be scheduled [12].

Given these data, the goal of surgery is to maximize tumour resection while minimizing postoperative AO instability. Whereas far lateral and transcervical approaches predominantly dominate the posterolateral segment of the CVJ and often demand drilling out of the C1 lateral mass and condyle to reach the medial portion of the lesions, the EEA permits direct access to the anteromedial part of the CVJ and makes enlargement from the anteromedial to posterolateral sections feasible with removal of the condyle in a progressive fashion, in relation to the specific location of the lesion, thus minimizing the risk of AO instability. However, in some cases the tumour extension to the condyle and to the AO joint requires extensive resection with a subsequently increased risk of AO instability, no matter which surgical approach is used.



Fig. 1 Preoperative radiation planning to delineate the tumour mass suitable for surgical removal and tumour volumes suitable for adjuvant irradiation



Fig. 2 (a) Sagittal computed tomography (CT) scan of a halo vest orthosis used to ensure temporary cervical immobilization. (b) Lateral cervical x-ray showing CO-C5 fixation performed before excision of a clival chordoma involving the occipitoaxial junction

For all of these reasons it is mandatory to preoperatively plan the degree of condyle and AO joint resection in order to anticipate the need for CVJ fixation, as well as to plan appropriate cervical stabilization. Posterior arthrodesis with titanium fixation rods and plates is a safe, permanent and effective method to achieve AO stability but may preclude postoperative irradiation by interfering with the gross tumour volume (GTV) and the clinical target volume (CTV) delineation. A rigid cervical collar and a halo vest orthosis can be used to ensure cervical immobilization temporarily, representing a valid option for patients with mild AO instability and for patients in whom postoperative irradiation is planned (Fig. 2).

Preoperative Assessment

The preoperative assessment includes nasal endoscopy, imaging and biopsy. Endoscopic examination is paramount to evaluate the sinonasal anatomy and identify any anatomical variations (septal deviation, spurs or perforation) that may influence the reconstruction. Moreover, any extracranial, nasopharyngeal or intranasal extension of the tumour can be seen. The essential preoperative imaging modalities are computed tomography (CT) and contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans, which are complementary: a CT scan provides a perfect analysis of bone structures, and an MRI scan provides information on the real extension of the lesion and distinction of different kinds of tissues (tumour tissue versus brainstem). A CT scan of the paranasal sinuses, CVJ and cervical spine is imperative to show bony erosion at the level of the foramen magnum and AO joint, as well as to evaluate the opportunity for occipitocervical fixation. On the other hand, MRI permits evaluation of the tumour characteristics (vascularization), the eventual vessel encasement and the relationship with the lower cranial nerves.

These radiological investigations are essential guiding instruments during surgery. Nowadays the increasingly widespread application of neuronavigation systems with the possibility to obtain real-time tracking images, threedimensional reconstructions of the neurovascular anatomy and fusion CT/MRI images has definitely improved the accuracy of surgical procedures, and they should always be used when possible.

Moreover, angiographic studies (CT angiography, magnetic resonance angiography or conventional angiography) are necessary for evaluation of intracranial arterial displacement or encasement by the tumour, as well as for evaluation of the course of the vertebral arteries and, above all, of the parapharyngeal segment of the internal carotid artery (ICA), which, in some cases, can show medial kinking behind the posterior wall of the nasopharynx.

In the case of nasopharyngeal extension of the tumour, once the imaging evaluation has been fully completed, multiple biopsies for histopathological examination should be performed to reach a more precise preoperative diagnosis.

Technical Considerations

Endoscopic Resection

The major advantage of the EEA is the possibility of obtaining a multiangled and magnified perspective, which makes it easier to differentiate normal and diseased mucosa. The entity of dissection can be modulated in relation to the extension of the lesion. The anatomical limits of the EEA in CVJ surgery are represented by the brainstem posteriorly, the parapharyngeal ICAs laterally, and the vertebral arteries and lower cranial nerves superoinferiorly [13]. In this specific anatomical region, lesions such as chordomas commonly have an inferior extension with involvement of C1 and, less frequently, C2 [3]. Thus, most of the time a combination of endoscopic transclival and transodontoid approaches is necessary for either extradural or intradural lesions of the CVJ and the posterior cranial fossa.

Chordomas and chondrosarcomas are examples of lesions that can be purely extradural; however, these lesions often have an intradural component. Meningiomas are lesions that mainly occur intradurally in the posterior fossa. The main advantage of the EEA is that through this corridor, the vital structures are located laterally to the tumour and there is no need for neural tissue retraction or dissection in between cranial nerves. Often the tumour growth pushes away the brainstem artery and cranial nerves, allowing better vision and safer resection of the lesion itself [14].

Removal starts usually with intracapsular debulking, with the purpose being to reduce the tumour volume and make extracapsular dissection easier. The feasibility of intradural resection is strictly in rapport to the presence of a preserved subarachnoid plane; otherwise, adhesion of the tumour to neurovascular structures interferes with safe resection.

To accomplish this, the two-nostrils, four-hands technique is the best way to perform careful extracapsular dissection and removal of the lesion: it allows exposure and dissection of the tumour under direct view and employment of countertraction, avoiding blind manoeuvres (especially pulling with grasping forceps). Furthermore, the endoscopic transclival and transodontoid approaches allow devascularization of durally based lesions, such as clival meningiomas, during the tumour exposure, providing more thorough tumour resection.

In any case, it is essential to always take into account the golden rule of the Pittsburgh group: do not cross nerves. Anytime the surgeon judges that the EEA is not sufficient as a single approach (for different reasons such as extension, infiltration, etc.), lateral approaches and staged interventions should be contemplated [14, 15]

Caudal exposure remains an essential limitation of the EEA in CVJ surgery because of the presence of nasal and palatal bony and soft tissues superiorly and inferiorly, respectively. Different lines have been described as predictors of the inferior limit of the EEA in CVJ surgery. Various studies have asserted that both the nasopalatine line and the nasoaxial line overestimate the inferior limit of surgery and do not provide a reliable prediction of actual surgical results [16]. Thus, a new line—the rhinopalatine line—has been proposed recently, which appears to correspond most precisely to the intraoperative situation. The rhinopalatine

line is identified as a line drawn on the midsagittal plane of a CT or MRI scan, with a starting point that corresponds to the two-thirds point of the distance from the rhinion to the anterior nasal spine of the maxillary bone and a second point at the tip of the posterior nasal spine of the palatine bone. The line is then extended posteriorly and inferiorly to end at the cervical spine [16]. The rhinopalatine line seems to predict the caudal limit of the EEA more precisely than previously described lines, and it is essential in supporting surgeons to choose the best approach in relation to the anatomy of the patient and the location of the tumour.

Given caudal extension of the lesion at the level of the C2– C3 interspace, an endoscopic transoral approach should be combined with an endonasal one (Fig. 3) [17]. In recent years the development of multiportal endoscopic approaches combining the transnasal and transoral corridors to access the superior and inferior limits of CVJ tumours has maximized the degree of tumour resection while avoiding splitting of the soft palate and the subsequent complications it may cause [18, 19].



Fig. 3 (a) Preoperative axial T1-weighted gadolinium-enhanced and (b) preoperative sagittal T2-weighted magnetic resonance images (MRIs) of a posterior cranial fossa chordoma involving the clivus and craniovertebral junction. (c) Postoperative axial T1-weighted gadolinium-enhanced and (d) postoperative sagittal T2-weighted MRIs after a combined multi-

portal endoscopic transoral and transnasal approach, showing residual disease involving C1 and C2. (e) Postoperative axial T1-weighted gadolinium-enhanced and (f) postoperative sagittal T1-weighted MRIs showing extension of tumour resection after second-stage surgery using an exclusive endoscopic transnasal approach



Fig. 3 (continued)

Endoscopic Skull Base Reconstruction

Skull base reconstructions are employed to recreate a separation of the cranial cavity from the sinonasal tract to prevent CSF leakage, pneumocephalus and intracranial infections [20]. A reconstructive technique must be chosen according to anatomomechanical and biological factors: the former are linked to the site and size of the defect, as well as its borders; the latter are linked to the histology of the resected lesion, its diffusion behaviour and the eventual need for adjuvant radiotherapy. It is necessary to emphasize that the size of the defect, as well as the location and its borders, determine the complexity of the skull base reconstruction and can make the endoscopic endonasal procedure either easy, complex or even impossible.

Many different materials have been proposed to aid the closure of dura apertures such as autologous grafts, allogenic transplants and various synthetic biomaterials. However, the ideal material for duraplasty should be (1) autologous, in order to avoid all potential risks of heterogeneous grafts; (2) free from biological hazards to avoid human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, hepatitis and other transmissible diseases; (3) able to facilitate fibroblastic migration and connective tissue deposition; and (4) capable of guaranteeing a good cost-effectiveness ratio [21]. Skull base reconstruction is generally described according to the chosen reconstructive procedure with use of free grafts or vascularized flaps. Nowadays, the autologous tissues most frequently employed with the grafting techniques are fascia lata, fascia temporalis, cartilage, bone and fat. Vascularized flaps are divided into

local and regional ones, depending on the area from which they are obtained—whether it is adjacent to or distant from the defect. An ideal flap should be simple to design, be resistant to trauma, have low morbidity, supply an appropriate surface area and have an arc of rotation that allows its transposition without a tendency to return to its original position. The most frequently employed vascularized flaps for posterior skull base and CVJ reconstruction are the nasoseptal flap [also known as the Hadad–Bassagasteguy flap (HBF)] and the temporoparietal fascia flap (TPFF) [22, 23]. Other flaps described in the literature are the posterior pedicle inferior turbinate flap, the Oliver pedicle palatal flap, the salpingopharyngeus myomucosal flap and the microvascular free flap [24–28].

Surgical Techniques

General Principles

Surgery is performed with the patient placed under hypotensive general anaesthesia and placed in a supine anti-Trendelenburg position. The nasal cavities are packed with pledges soaked in 2% oxymetazoline, 1% oxybuprocaine and adrenaline (epinephrine) 1/100,000 solution, for 10 min. Telescopes with 0° and 45° views and 4 mm in diameter are used. To facilitate the surgical procedure, a microdebrider, diode laser, bipolar forceps, and straight, angled and doubleended instruments are recommended. An endonasal penstyle microdrill equipped with long handles and with diamond or cutting burrs—as well as ultrasonic surgical aspirators, intranasal surgical Doppler and neuronavigation systems—are fundamental for endoscopic procedures.

Neurophysiology monitoring may also prove helpful in selected cases. Somatosensory and motor evoked potentials may be used, along with monitoring of the lower cranial nerves if they are affected by the patient's condition. A neural integrity monitor electromyogram endotracheal tube (NIM 3.0; Medtronic, Minneapolis, MN, USA) allows stimulation of the vagus nerve and assessment of the motor response within the vocal cords. Use of local anaesthetic gels must be avoided with the endotracheal tube and neuromuscular blockade. In addition, it cannot be used with magnetic navigation systems or intraoperative MRI, as it is magnet incompatible. Electrodes may also be placed in the trapezius muscle and tongue to monitor the accessory and hypoglossal nerves, respectively.

Endoscopic Resection

The first step of EEA in CVJ surgery is the entire exposure of the sphenoidal sinus. The approach to the sphenoidal region can be tailored depending on the lateral extension of the tumour, varying from a more conservative parasagittal approach to a more expanded transethmoidal–pterygoidal approach. The final objective is to obtain a whole anterior opening of the sphenoidal sinus, combined with removal of the sphenoidal floor and the posterior third of the vomer, in order to identify the essential anatomical landmarks represented by (1) the paraclival ICAs, medial pterygoidal laminae and pterygoid canals superiorly and laterally; and (2) the Rosenmüller fossae, Eustachian tubes, pharyngobasilar fascia and nasopharyngeal mucosa inferiorly.

If the lesion is located in the lateral portion of the caudal third of the clivus, an endoscopic medial maxillectomy is needed: the opening can employ a combined Denker's approach to achieve better lateral access in removing the medial and lateral pterygoid plates. Another important surgical step is to drill the base of the pterygoid to expose the vidian canal (through which the vidian nerve and vidian artery run), which becomes an important landmark to reach the anterior genu of the ICA, located superiorly to the foramen lacerum, where the paraclival tracts of the ICA are the lateral limits of the superior clival fenestration. Moreover, the vidian canal is an important structure in guiding the surgeon inferolaterally to the anterior ICA, in the petrous bone region, gaining control of the parapharyngeal ICA: in this case the Eustachian tube is used as a superficial anatomical landmark. These approaches provide complete control and mobilization of the ICA (parapharyngeal, horizontal petrous, anterior genu and vertical paraclival segments) when dealing

with lesions extending to the foramen magnum, hypoglossal canal, medial occipital condyle and jugular foramen.

Exposure of the clivus, the CVJ and the anterior portion of the foramen magnum is accomplished by making an inferior hinged mucofascial flap with the nasopharyngeal mucosa and pharyngobasilar fascia. The surgical view can be increased by drawing down the soft palate with transnasal rubber catheters. The longus capitis, rectus capitis anterior and anterior AO membrane are resected to expose the anterior ring of C1 and C2, the capsule of the AO joint and the apical ligament. The use of the diode laser to create this flap is very helpful because of its consistency and adherence to the deeper planes. In the inferior clival fenestration the inferolateral limit is represented by the occipital condyles and hypoglossal nerves. When condyle resection is needed to expose a more posterolateral portion of the posterior cranial fossa (e.g. to reach the dural entry point of the vertebral artery), an important anatomical landmark is the supracondylar groove located at the external surface of the condyle: above this groove is the bone of the jugular tubercle, and below this groove is the bone of the occipital condyle. The condyle can be removed up to the level of the hypoglossal canal.

Once the lower clivus and the anterior ring of C1 are drilled, the underlying dura mater and its basilar venous plexus superiorly, as well as the odontoid process inferiorly, are exposed. The ligamentous attachments to the odontoid process (the alar and apical ligaments) are dissected, and the odontoid process is drilled using a high-speed burr. When the dens is removed, the cruciate ligament and tectorial membrane can be incised, exposing the dura. Opening of the posterior fossa dura mater requires particular care and requires identification of the vertebral artery and the vertebrobasilar junction with the aid of surgical Doppler and the neuronavigation system.

In tumour resection, the strategy of choice is identification of the margins and circumferential dissection of the lesion; when that strategy is not feasible, internal debulking come first the centripetal dissection of the tumour margins. These debulking techniques depend on the consistency of the lesions and can be performed with suction or with cutting instruments or powered aspirators (shaver, ultrasonic surgical aspirator). Finally, decompression of the medulla at the CVJ can be achieved by removing the tumour, odontoid process and occipital condyles.

Progressively, depending on the extent of the necessary surgical dissection, it is then possible to identify the following posterior fossa structures: arteries (vertebral arteries, the basilar artery and its perforating pontine branches, anteroinferior cerebellar arteries, posteroinferior cerebellar arteries, superior cerebellar arteries and posterior cerebral arteries); the brainstem with the cerebellopontine angle and upper cervical spine; and cranial nerves II to XII.

Endoscopic Skull Base Reconstruction

Concerning posterior skull base and CVJ duraplasty, the main surgical reconstructive procedure is a combination of free grafting techniques and pedicled flaps (the 'multilayer' technique). The 'triple F' technique (fat, fascia and flap) is mostly used. Free fat grafts are used to fill dead space and form a buttress for a fascia lata inlay graft [5]. The preparatory stage of the duraplasty must include appropriate exposure of the defect, undermining of the dural margins (when possible) and smoothing of the defect edges to produce a tensioactive effect on the flap. Moreover, it is recommended to make the graft/flap larger in diameter than the dural defect, to compensate for its shrinkage during healing. Meticulous management of the tissues is required for the best integration, and it is recommended that a dedicated surgical team perform the reconstruction.

The use of underlay intracranial intradural grafts in association with overlay flaps is the so-called multilayer technique. The technique may involve application of the 'gasket-seal' closure technique, which permits fixation of the graft margins extradurally without risking damage to the neurovascular structures. To accomplish this, the graft is placed on the dural defect and its central portion is pushed inside the defect with the aid of fat or a shaped fragment of cartilage or bone, which is fixed beyond the dural border to seal the closure while still keeping the margins of the fascia outside the skull base [29].

It is worth mentioning that when postoperative radiation therapy is planned, osteocartilaginous grafts should be avoided because of the high risk of necrotic tissue sequestration. In such cases, fat can be used to perform the role and function of the osteocartilaginous grafts in the duraplasty.

Regarding the overlay vascularized flaps, the HBF is the favourite one, though not the only option. The posterior pedicle inferior turbinate flap, the Oliver pedicle palatal flap and the salpingopharyngeus myomucosal flap have all been reportedly used for closure of defects of the posterior cranial fossa and CVJ [24-27]. In patients with more extensive defects, a bilateral HBF (Janus flap) can be used for the closure or, when local flaps are not available, a transposed TPFF is the most appropriate option [23, 30].

In the EEA, reconstruction of the osteodural defect in the region of the CVJ and clivus is challenging not only because of the size of the defects but also because of the high flow of CSF, the lack of supporting structures and the effects of gravity [2]. In these latter sites, the combination of free graft techniques (especially those using abdominal fat covered by fascia lata or a gasket-seal closure) with vascularized flap techniques (above all, the HBF) have decreased the rate of postoperative CSF leakage [31].

The HBF and the TPFF are the two major flaps used in the endoscopic endonasal approach to the CVJ and the clivus.

The Hadad–Bassagasteguy Flap

The Hadad-Bassagasteguy flap (HBF), or nasoseptal flap, is a vascular pedicle flap supplied by the septal branches of the sphenopalatine artery, which is one of the terminal branches of the maxillary artery [22]. The septal branches of the sphenopalatine artery (SPAsb) supply the entire length of the nasal septum and anastomose with the ethmoidal arteries, the greater palatine artery and the anterior facial artery. The flap is planed in relation to the size and shape of the skull base defect, although it is better to overestimate the size and then trim the flap if needed.

They are described in detail in the following sections.

The HBF has had a fundamental effect on the advancement and acceptance of the EEA because its use has dramatically decreased the incidence of postsurgical CSF leaks to <5% [32], thus allowing expansion of endoscopic skull base procedures [33]. Nowadays, the HBF is a cornerstone reconstructive technique in the EEA because of its versatility, wide arc of rotation, generous size and relatively ease of harvest. HBF use is less successful in patients who have undergone extensive radiation therapy in the area of the posterior choana [34].

When applied directly or placed over traditional fascia grafts, the HBF provides very strong support and rapid epithelialization, especially in critical areas. A double elevation from both sides of the septum (the so-called Janus flap) is also possible [30].

Surgical Technique

Harvesting the Flap

An HBF may be harvested if the septum and/or the artery are not involved with the tumour. The first step is identification and arrangement of the pedicle of the flap, resulting in preservation of the SPAsb: a superior mucosal incision is made above the tail of the superior turbinate, just below the natural sphenoidal ostium. This first incision is extended medially, passing through the sphenoidal rostrum, and anteriorly on the sagittal plane of the nasal septum, avoiding passing over an imaginary line joining the axillae of the turbinates, in the interests of preserving olfaction. The anterior extension of the superior incision is tailored according to the dimensions of the skull base defect: the anterior limit is constituted by the mucocutaneous junction.

Different options exist on the possibility to create a 'rescue flap' or create the HBF immediately, in relation to the different EEAs.

In the case of the *ipsilateral transpterygoid approach*, creation of the HBF has to be completed at the beginning of the surgery. The inferior incision of the pedicle is performed just above the tail of the middle turbinate, following the choana and extending through the vomer to the maxillary crest. Laterally both the superior and inferior incisions of the pedicle of the flap have to reach the sphenopalatine foramen. On the sagittal plane of the septum, the inferior incision is extended anteriorly to the same length as that of the superior incision, then an anterior vertical incision joins the superior and inferior ones. If a wider flap is needed, the inferior incision can be placed in the lateral portion of the nasal floor, in the inferior meatus. All incisions can be modified according to the reconstructive or oncological requirements. The real dimension of the skull base defect and the distance to the sphenopalatine foramen can be evaluated by using a surgical cotton patty as a template for harvesting the HBF. Subperichondrial/subperiosteal dissection of the flap allows its entire mobilization. Therefore, the transpterygoid approach can be completed with a wide antrostomy, with removal of the orbital process of the palatine bone and the posterior wall of the maxillary sinus. The pterygopalatine fossa is opened and its contents, together with the periosteum, are lateralized to free the pedicle of the flap. The vidian artery and the descending palatine and palatovaginal arteries are transected, releasing the pedicle of the flap laterally and allowing greater length and mobility, as well as safe drilling of the medial and lateral pterygoid plates. The flap is finally placed in the maxillary sinus to be protected during surgery [35, 36].

If the HBF is *contralateral* to the lesion, a nasoseptal *rescue flap* can be arranged by dissecting the mucosa immediately below the superior incision in a subperiosteal manner [37]. The rescue flap is placed at the same level or below the floor of the sphenoidal sinus, protecting the pedicle from the instruments.

When an *ipsilateral transclival approach* is planned to reach the inferior aspect of the sphenoid sinus and clivus, creation of a modified rescue flap is suggested. It consists of performing both the inferior incision of the pedicle and dissection of the inferior aspect of the flap at the beginning of the procedure. This leads to increased mobility of the pedicle, which can be placed more inferiorly [38]. At the end of the surgical procedure the full pedicled HBF can be harvested, following the same steps as those used for the ipsilateral transpterygoid approach, extending the rescue flap and modified rescue flap incisions into standard HBF incisions.

The Temporoparietal Fascia Flap

The temporoparietal fascia flap (TPFF), or the galeal flap, is one of the most versatile flaps in skull base reconstruction. The temporoparietal fascia is located immediately deep to the skin and the subcutaneous tissue of the scalp in the temporal and parietal regions. It is vascularized by the superficial temporal artery, a terminal branch of the external carotid artery. Normally this arterial vessel has a winding course and splits into anterior (frontal) and posterior (parietal) branches 2–4 cm above the zygomatic arch. The frontal branch of the facial nerve is known to course within the innominate fascia, a plane deep to the subcutaneous musculoaponeurotic system (SMAS) and superficial temporal fascia, obliquely 1.5 cm lateral to the eyebrow and not more than 2 cm above the brow, which represents the anterior limit of the dissection to prevent iatrogenic injury to the facial nerve [39, 40].

The TPFF supplies generous healthy and well-vascularized tissue to reconstruct the skull base in the posterior cranial fossa. It has several advantages in comparison with other reconstruction techniques: predictable vascular anatomy, a good arch of rotation, the length of the vascular pedicle, and rich vascularization with subsequent quick healing even in unfavourable conditions such as in previously irradiated patients [23]. The size of the TPFF can be chosen according to the intraoperative needs: surgeons have to consider whether there is a risk of transient or persistent alopecia, correlated with the flap thickness. Moreover, its remarkable tractability permits it to be employed in extensive posterior cranial fossa reconstruction presenting problematic multiplanar surfaces (Fig. 4) [41].

Surgical Technique

Harvesting the Flap

The patient is placed in a supine position with the head rotated contralaterally to the donor side. A hemicoronal incision is made among the hair follicles, from the superior aspect of the preauricular area to the vertex of the head. The incision is made just through the dermis with caution so as not to injure the superficial temporal vessels. In the scalp area, a very thin flap is elevated just under the hair follicles: the dissection is performed superiorly toward the vertex of the scalp. When elevation of the anterior scalp is concluded, the same procedure is done for the posterior edge. At this stage of the intervention, the use of electrocautery should be avoided because of the closeness to the hair follicles. The required size of the TPFF is given by evaluating the extension of the skull base defect and its gap from the infratemporal fossa. After that, the TPFF can be harvested by first incising the fascia and staying superficial to the temporalis muscle fascia. The flap is elevated in a fan-shaped manner with the narrow end located in the preauricular area. The scalp is closed in layers over a suction drain.

Creating the Infratemporal Corridor

The deep temporal fascia is then incised along the free edge of the zygomatic arch and 1 cm from the free edge of the orbital process of the zygomatic bone to preserve the frontal branch of the facial nerve. The coronoid process is identified by sliding a finger along the anterior border of the temporalis muscle. In this way an infratemporal corridor for transposition of the flap is obtained, connecting the temporal, infratemporal, pterygopalatine and nasal fossae.



Fig. 4 (a) Preoperative axial T1-weighted and (b) preoperative sagittal T1-weighted gadolinium-enhanced magnetic resonance images (MRIs) showing a chordoma involving the middle and inferior portion of the clivus, as well as the foramen magnum and the superior portion of the odontoid process. Note that the basilar artery is dislocated but not

encased by the tumour. (c) Postoperative axial and (d) postoperative sagittal computed tomography (CT) scans showing craniocaudal and lateral extension of resection after use of an exclusive endoscopic endonasal approach, with preservation of the occipitoaxial joint

Transpterygoid Transposition of the Flap

Through the transmaxillary corridor that was previously created (during the resection), the fat of the infratemporal fossa is removed. A Ciaglia percutaneous tracheostomy set (Cook percutaneous tracheostomy introducer set; Cook Critical Care, Bloomington, IN, USA) is used to create the tunnel positioning the atraumatic tube into the infratemporal fossa, which is then widened with the dilatators provided. Once a tunnel wide enough to not compress the vascular pedicle of the flap is obtained, a guide wire is fixed to the distal portion of the flap by a stitch while the proximal portion is inserted through the infratemporal corridor, and the flap is finally pulled into the nasal cavity. During this procedure, attention is paid to avoid any torsion of the vascular pedicle. The flap is positioned over the defect and fixed with Surgicel and fibrin glue.

Postoperative Care and Follow-Up

Patients receive prophylactic antibiotic therapy (to be started at the time of intubation and continued for no more than 24 h after the surgery, except in cases of documented infection) with a second-generation cephalosporin (e.g. cefuroxime 2 g) associated with metronidazole 500 mg, both in cases of exclusive intranasal surgery and in cases of intracranial surgery. Steroid therapy with deflazacort 30 mg for 5 days, reducing the dose progressively to 7.5 mg (total: 15 days) or prednisone 25 mg, reducing the dose progressively to 6.25 mg, can be added for anti-edemigenic purposes.

Nasal packing is removed on the second postoperative day and endoscopic endonasal care is performed, removing crusts, debris and clots. Irrigation with a saline solution twice daily is recommended for several weeks. Patients are discharged on approximately the fourth postoperative day and are usually advised against blowing their nose, bending their head forward or undertaking physical activity for at least 1 month.

In cases of osteodural reconstruction, a brain CT scan is performed 24 h after surgery for early detection of any signs of postoperative pneumocephalus and then repeated if considered necessary. Bed rest is maintained for 2 days and the patient is regularly monitored with complete blood tests 1, 5 and 10 days after surgery, at which time he or she is usually discharged. Lumbar drainage is generally not applied. If early CSF leakage is only suspected in the early postoperative period, a lumbar drain can be inserted to decrease intracranial pressure and facilitate healing. If it becomes evident that CSF leakage is present, surgical revision of the duraplasty should be performed immediately.

The first endoscopic evaluation is carried out 2–3 weeks after hospital discharge. Subsequently, patients are followed up by endoscopic controls at progressive intervals after 1, 3, 6, 9 and 12 months, then every 6 months for at least 4 years and once yearly thereafter. Postoperative enhanced MRI (T1, enhanced T1, T2, T2 fluid-attenuated inversion recovery [FLAIR], constructive interference in steady state [CISS]) or enhanced CT scanning is performed every 4 months for the first year and then every 6 months in the following years.

Outcomes

Surgical outcomes depend on the type of pathological condition treated and the surgical approach used. The most common condition of the clivus and CVJ treated with the EEA is a chordoma. A recent review of the literature, comprising 100 cases of endoscopic endonasal treatment of clival chordomas, found a gross total resection rate of 70.4% [42]. Chibbaro et al. reported a gross total resection rate of 65% from a series of 54 patients affected by CVJ chordomas, with a mean follow-up period of 34 months [8]. The tumour location, neurovascular structures involved and previous treatments are factors that inevitably affect the resectability of the tumour. In this regard, Koutourousiou et al. reported a discrepancy between the gross total resection rates achieved in primary tumours and those achieved when dealing with recurrent CVJ chordomas (83% versus 44%, with a mean follow-up period of 33 months) [43]. The results emerging from the major series currently available in the English-language literature describing use of the EEA for removal of clival and CVJ chordomas are detailed in Table 1.

Most of the available studies regarding the validity of the EEA in the context of CVJ tumours different from chordomas (e.g. chondrosarcomas, metastatic lesions, chondromas or meningiomas) have been small, with short follow-up periods (Fig. 5). They have also been extremely heterogeneous with respect to their patient inclusion criteria, treatment protocols, and methods of data collection and analysis. Table 1 summarizes the findings of the most relevant studies available to date. It should be noted that petroclival lesions were not considered for the present analysis, which focuses only on tumours specifically affecting the CVJ.

Complications

The main intraoperative complication is bleeding. In this regard, one potential concern with endonasal approaches is the ability to achieve haemostasis. Adapted techniques, haemostatic agents and specialized instrumentation designed for endoscopic endonasal procedures-including diamond burrs, injectable haemostatic agents, warm irrigation and bipolar forceps devices-have all made haemostasis feasible. Injury to major arteries (e.g. the carotid, vertebral and basilar arteries) is the most feared complication associated with use of the EEA in CVJ surgery. Avoidance of this complication first requires accurate preoperative imaging evaluation. Intraoperatively, accurate image guidance and use of intranasal surgical Doppler can facilitate identification of arteries. If an injury occurs, large-bore suction is used to control the surgical field and identify the source of bleeding. There are several options for haemostasis, which include bipolar cauterization to weld the defect shut, direct compression, compressive packing, suture repair, or reconstruction using clips (e.g. an aneurysm clip or Sundt clip graft). Crushed muscle, emergently obtained from the thigh, can be useful to induce thrombosis when placed over the defect under compression. Angiography should be performed in the acute and delayed phases to assess the patency of the artery and to rule out pseudoaneurysm formation. There have been anecdotal reports of carotid artery or other major vessel injuries, with a low cumulative incidence less than 0.3-0.5% at centres with extensive experience [4, 53]. Lastly, there is a risk of intraoperative damage to the lower cranial nerves and lower brainstem. Careful and gentle dissection, along with maintenance of adequate cerebral perfusion pressure, is necessary. Intraoperative neuromonitoring is useful to obtain real-time feedback on any unwanted nerve traction or manipulation. In addition, it may be prudent to leave behind a

Table 1 Results of the most relevant studies reporting the endoscopic endonasal approach to manage clival and craniovertebral junction tumours

Study authors,	Patients		Resection		Mean follow-up	Recurrence rate
year	[<i>n</i>]	Histology (n)	(% or <i>n</i>)	Complications (% or <i>n</i>)	period	(%)
Frank et al., 2006 [44]	9	9 chordoma	33% GTR	None	24 months	11%
Carrabba et al., 2008 [45]	12	12 chordoma	59% GTR	24% CSF leakage 6% neuropathy	16 months	0%
Stippler et al., 2009 [15]	20	20 chordoma	52% GTR	25% CSF leakage 5% neuropathy	13 months	10%
Saito et al., 2012 [42]	6	6 chordoma	50% GTR	17% meningitis	NA	NA
Koutourousiou et al., 2012 [43]	60	60 chordoma	67% GTR	27% CSF leakage 7% neuropathy	18 months	33%
Tan et al., 2012 [46]	14	14 chordoma	50% GTR	21% CSF leakage	42 months	15%
Chibbaro et al., 2014 [8]	54	54 chordoma	65% GTR	8% CSF leakage 14% meningitis	34 months	11%
Mangussi- Gomes et al., 2016 [2]	32	32 chordoma	47% GTR	22% CSF leakage 12% meningitis	12 months	NA
Zhang et al., 2008 [47]	8	6 chordoma 2 chondrosarcoma	7 GTR 1 STR	None	3–39 months	16%
Vellutini et al., 2014 [5]	38	26 chordoma 2 chondrosarcoma 6 metastasis 1 fibrous dysplasia 1 meningioma 2 other	48% GTR	19% CSF leakage 9.5% mortality	6 months to 11 years	NA
Messerer et al., 2016 [48]	11	3 chordoma 3 meningioma 3 metastasis 1 chondroma 1 chondrosarcoma	4 GTR 7 STR	2 neuropathy	NA	NA
Alexander et al., 2010 [49]	1	1 meningioma	1 NTR	1 CSF leakage	14 months	0%
Prosser et al., 2012 [50]	1	1 meningioma	1 NTR	1 palsy (cranial nerve VI)	NA	NA
Simal et al., 2014 [51]	1	1 meningioma	1 GTR	None	NA	NA
Iacoangeli et al., 2014 [52]	2	2 meningioma	2 GTR	None	6 months	0%
Beer-Furlan et al., 2016 [6]	3	3 meningioma	2 NTR 1 STR	1 CSF leakage 1 septic shock 1 hypopituitarism	NA	NA

CSF cerebrospinal fluid, GTR gross total resection, NA not available, NTR near-total resection, STR subtotal resection



Fig. 5 (a) Preoperative axial and (b) preoperative sagittal T1-weighted gadolinium-enhanced magnetic resonance images (MRIs) of a posterior cranial fossa meningioma at the level of the middle and inferior portion of the clivus and the superior portion of the odontoid process, with compression of the brainstem and upper cervical spine.

(c) Postoperative axial and (d) postoperative sagittal T1-weighted gadolinium-enhanced MRIs showing craniocaudal and lateral extension of resection after use of an exclusive endoscopic endonasal approach with decompression of the brainstem and upper cervical spine

tumour that is significantly adherent to critical neurovascular structures. At present, the incidence of a new permanent neurological complication is described as being between 5% and 7% in the largest published series [1, 6, 15].

In the postoperative period, CSF leakage represent the main concern and may occur despite meticulous reconstruction. We favour early surgical re-exploration in patients with postoperative CSF leakage to identify the site of the leak. An intrathecal fluorescein injection may be used to facilitate identification of the CSF fistula site in cases of low-flow leaks. CSF drainage through a lumbar subarachnoid drain is used only as an adjunctive measure after surgical repair, as CSF drainage with an open defect may lead to symptomatic pneumocephalus. The incidence of postoperative CSF leakage was 18.8% in a series of 80 cases treated for CVJ chordoma [42]. Other reports are consistent with this finding, describing postoperative CSF leakage rates ranging from 17.6% to 25% [4, 15].

In addition, meningitis and ascending infections (e.g. intracranial abscesses) are life-threatening complications, which are rarely described (with reported incidence rates from 0% to 17%) but must be recognized and treated early [1, 2]. One fatal case of meningitis complicated by sepsis was described recently, representing a procedure-related mortality of 1.4% [54].

Other minor early or late complications reported in the existing literature are facial numbness, periorbital swelling, oroantral fistula, V2 paraesthesia, anosmia, sinonasal scarring with sinusotomy closure and recurrent rhinosinusitis. Another reported complication is transient velopharyngeal insufficiency, which occurred in 4.7% of patients in a systematic review of 85 patients undergoing CVJ surgery via the EEA. However, this complication usually resolves within 6 months after surgery [4].

Conclusion

The endoscopic endonasal approach (EEA) to craniovertebral junction (CVJ) tumours appears to be a reasonable alternative to the traditional transoral approach in selected cases. Use of the EEA in CVJ surgery has a high success rate in achieving stable decompression and improvements in neurological status, with acceptable intraoperative and postoperative complication rates. Moreover, the EEA offers advantages such as lower rates of postoperative dysphagia and respiratory complications in comparison with the more traditional approaches. However, this approach should be considered complementary, rather than an alternative, to the traditional transoral, transcervical and far lateral approaches, which are still used for laterally extended CVJ tumours. **Competing Interests** The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

References

- Kshettry VR, Thorp BD, Shriver MF, Zanation AM, Woodard TD, Sindwani R, Recinos PF. Endoscopic approaches to the craniovertebral junction. Otolaryngol Clin N Am. 2016;49:213–26.
- Mangussi-Gomes J, Beer-Furlan A, Balsalobre L, Vellutini EA, Stamm AC. Endoscopic endonasal management of skull base chordomas: surgical technique, nuances, and pitfalls. Otolaryngol Clin N Am. 2016;49:167–82.
- Singh H, Harrop J, Schiffmacher P, Rosen M, Evans J. Ventral surgical approaches to craniovertebral junction chordomas. Neurosurgery. 2010;66:96–103.
- Fang CH, Friedman R, Schild SD, Goldstein IM, Baredes S, Liu JK, Eloy JA. Purely endoscopic endonasal surgery of the craniovertebral junction: a systematic review. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. 2015;5:754–60.
- Vellutini Ede A, Balsalobre L, Hermann DR, Stamm AC. The endoscopic endonasal approach for extradural and intradural clivus lesions. World Neurosurg. 2014;82:S106–15.
- Beer-Furlan A, Vellutini EA, Balsalobre L, Stamm AC. Endoscopic endonasal approach to ventral posterior fossa meningiomas: from case selection to surgical management. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2015;26:413–26.
- Lund V, Stammberger H, Nicolai P, Castelnuovo P, et al. European position paper on endoscopic management of tumours of the nose, paranasal sinuses and skull base. Rhinol Suppl. 2010;22:1–143.
- Chibbaro S, Cornelius JF, Froelich S, Tigan L, Kehrli P, Debry C, Romano A, Herman P, George B, Bresson D. Endoscopic endonasal approach in the management of skull base chordomas—clinical experience on a large series, technique, outcome, and pitfalls. Neurosurg Rev. 2014;37:217–24.
- Jahangiri A, Jian B, Miller L, El-Sayed IH, Aghi MK. Skull base chordomas: clinical features, prognostic factors, and therapeutics. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2013;24:79–88.
- Fossati P, Vavassori A, Deantonio L, Ferrara E, Krengli M, Orecchia R. Review of photon and proton radiotherapy for skull base tumours. Rep Pract Oncol Radiother. 2016;21:336–55.
- Kooshkabadi A, Choi PA, Koutourousiou M, Snyderman CH, Wang EW, Fernandez-Miranda JC, Gardner PA. Atlantooccipital instability following endoscopic endonasal approach for lower clival lesions: experience with 212 cases. Neurosurgery. 2015;77:888–97.
- Perez-Orribo L, Little AS, Lefevre RD, Reyes PR, Newcomb AG, Prevedello DM, Roldan H, Nakaji P, Dickman CA, Crawford NR. Biomechanical evaluation of the craniovertebral junction after anterior unilateral condylectomy: implications for endoscopic endonasal approaches to the cranial base. Neurosurgery. 2013;72:1021–9.
- Kasemsiri P, Carrau RL, Ditzel Filho LF, Prevedello DM, Otto BA, Old M, de Lara D, Kassam AB. Advantages and limitations of endoscopic endonasal approaches to the skull base. World Neurosurg. 2014;82:S12–21.
- Prevedello DM, Ditzel Filho LF, Solari D, Carrau RL, Kassam AB. Expanded endonasal approaches to middle cranial fossa and posterior fossa tumors. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2010;21:621–35. vi

223

- Stippler M, Gardner PA, Snyderman CH, Carrau RL, Prevedello DM, Kassam AB. Endoscopic endonasal approach for clival chordomas. Neurosurgery. 2009;64:268–77.
- La Corte E, Aldana PR, Ferroli P, Greenfield JP, Härtl R, Anand VK, Schwartz TH. The rhinopalatine line as a reliable predictor of the inferior extent of endonasal odontoidectomies. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38:E16.
- Dlouhy BJ, Dahdaleh NS, Menezes AH. Evolution of transoral approaches, endoscopic endonasal approaches, and reduction strategies for treatment of craniovertebral junction pathology: a treatment algorithm update. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38:E8.
- Seker A, Inoue K, Osawa S, Akakin A, Kilic T, Rhoton AL Jr. Comparison of endoscopic transnasal and transoral approaches to the craniovertebral junction. World Neurosurg. 2010;74:583–602.
- Turri-Zanoni M, Battaglia P, Dallan I, Locatelli D, Castelnuovo P. Multiportal combined transnasal transparyngeal endoscopic approach for selected skull base cancers. Head Neck. 2016;38:E2440–5.
- Neligan PC, Mulholland S, Irish J, Gullane PJ, Boyd JB, Gentili F, Brown D, Freeman J. Flap selection in cranial base reconstruction. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1996;98:1159–66.
- Anand VK, Murali RK, Glasgold MJ. Surgical decisions in the management of cerebrospinal fluid rhinorrhoea. Rhinology. 1995;33:212–8.
- Hadad G, Bassagasteguy L, Carrau RL, Mataza JC, Kassam A, Snyderman CH, Mintz A. A novel reconstructive technique after endoscopic expanded endonasal approaches: vascular pedicle nasoseptal flap. Laryngoscope. 2006;116:1882–6.
- Fortes FS, Carrau RL, Snyderman CH, Kassam A, Prevedello D, Vescan A, Mintz A, Gardner P. Transpterygoid transposition of a temporoparietal fascia flap: a new method for skull base reconstruction after endoscopic expanded endonasal approaches. Laryngoscope. 2007;117:970–6.
- Murakami CS, Kriet D, Ierokomos A. Nasal reconstruction using the inferior turbinate mucosal flap. Arch Facial Plast Surg. 1999;1:97–100.
- Fortes FS, Carrau RL, Snyderman CH, Prevedello D, Vescan A, Mintz A, Gardner P, Kassam AB. The posterior pedicle inferior turbinate flap: a new vascularized flap for skull base reconstruction. Laryngoscope. 2007;117:1329–32.
- Oliver CL, Hackman TG, Carrau RL, Snyderman CH, Kassam AB, Prevedello DM, Gardner P. Palatal flap modifications allow pedicled reconstruction of the skull base. Laryngoscope. 2008;118:2102–6.
- Gun R, Oyama K, Kapucu B, Wang L, Al Qahtani AA, Otto BA, Prevedello DM, Carrau RL. Salpingopharyngeus myomucosal flap. J Craniofac Surg. 2014;25:1967–70.
- Aviv JE, Sultan MR. Free flaps in skull base surgery. In: Donald PJ, editor. Surgery of the skull base. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven; 1998. p. 607–21.
- Leng LZ, Brown S, Anand VK, Schwartz TH. Gasket-seal watertight closure in minimal-access endoscopic cranial base surgery. Neurosurgery. 2008;62(5 Suppl 2):ONSE342–3.
- Nyquist GG, Anand VK, Singh A, Schwartz TH. Janus flap: bilateral nasoseptal flaps for anterior skull base reconstruction. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2010;142:327–31.
- McCoul ED, Anand VK, Singh A, Nyquist GG, Schaberg MR, Schwartz TH. Long-term effectiveness of a reconstructive protocol using the nasoseptal flap after endoscopic skull base surgery. World Neurosurg. 2014;81:136–43.
- Shah RN, Surowitz JB, Patel MR Huang BY, Snyderman CH, Carrau RL, Kassam AB, Germanwala AV, Zanation AM. Endoscopic pedicled nasoseptal flap reconstruction for pediatric skull base defects. Laryngoscope. 2009;119:1067–75.

- Harvey RJ, Nogueira JF, Schlosser RJ, Patel SJ, Vellutini E, Stamm AC. Closure of large skull base defects after endoscopic transnasal craniotomy. Clinical article. J Neurosurg. 2009;111:371–9.
- El-Sayed IH, Roediger FC, Goldberg AN, Parsa AT, McDermott MW. Endoscopic reconstruction of skull base defects with the nasal septal flap. Skull Base. 2008;18:385–94.
- Terranova P, Karligkiotis A, Gallo S, Gallo S, Meloni F, Bignami M, Castelnuovo P. A novel endoscopic technique for longterm patency of cholesterol granulomas of the petrous apex. Laryngoscope. 2013;123:2639–42.
- 36. Karligkiotis A, Bignami M, Terranova P, Ciniglio-Appiani M, Shawkat A, Verrilaud B, Meloni F, Herman P, Castelnuovo P. Use of the pedicled nasoseptal flap in the endoscopic management of cholesterol granulomas of the petrous apex. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. 2015;5:747–53.
- Rivera-Serrano CM, Snyderman CH, Gardner P, et al. Nasoseptal rescue flap: a novel modification of the nasoseptal flap technique for pituitary surgery. Laryngoscope. 2011;121:990–3.
- Otto BA, Bowe SN, Carrau RL, Prevedello DM, Ditzel Filho LF, de Lara D. Transsphenoidal approach with nasoseptal flap pedicle transposition: modified rescue flap technique. Laryngoscope. 2013;123:2976–9.
- Agarwal CA, Mendenhall SD, Foreman KB, Owsley JQ. The course of the frontal branch of the facial nerve in relation to fascial planes: an anatomic study. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2010;125:532–7.
- Zide BM, Jelks GW. Forehead, temporal region and cheek. In: Zide BM, Jelks GW, editors. Surgical anatomy of the orbit. New York: Raven; 1988. p. 13–9.
- Bolzoni Villaret A, Nicolai P, Schreiber A, Bizzoni A, Farina D, Tschabitscher M. The temporo-parietal fascial flap in extended transnasal endoscopic procedures: cadaver dissection and personal clinical experience. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2013;270:1473–9.
- Saito K, Toda M, Tomita T, Ogawa K, Yoshida K. Surgical results of an endoscopic endonasal approach for clival chordomas. Acta Neurochir. 2012;154:879–86.
- 43. Koutourousiou M, Gardner PA, Tormenti MJ, Henry SL, Stefko ST, Kassam AB, Fernandez-Miranda JC, Snyderman CH. Endoscopic endonasal approach for resection of cranial base chordomas: outcomes and learning curve. Neurosurgery. 2012;71:614–24.
- Frank G, Sciarretta V, Calbucci F, Farneti G, Mazzatenta PE. The endoscopic transnasal transsphenoidal approach for the treatment of cranial base chordomas and chondrosarcomas. Neurosurgery. 2006;59:ONS50–7.
- Carrabba G, Dehdashti AR, Gentili F. Surgery for clival lesions: open resection versus the expanded endoscopic endonasal approach. Neurosurg Focus. 2008;25:E7.
- 46. Tan NC-W, Naidoo Y, Oue S, Alexander H, Robinson S, Wickremesekera A, Floreani S, Vrodos N, Santoreneos S, Ooi E, McDonald M, Wormald PJ. Endoscopic surgery of skull base chordomas. J Neurol Surg B Skull Base. 2012;73:379–86.
- Zhang Q, Kong F, Yan B, Ni Z, Liu H. Endoscopic endonasal surgery for clival chordoma and chondrosarcoma. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec. 2008;70:124–9.
- Messerer M, Cossu G, Pasche P, Ikonomidis C, Simon C, Pralong E, George M, Levivier M, Daniel RT. Extended endoscopic endonasal approach to clival and paraclival tumors: indications and limits. Neurochirurgie. 2016;62:136–45.
- Alexander H, Robinson S, Wickremesekera A, Wormald PJ. Endoscopic transsphenoidal resection of a midclival meningioma. J Clin Neurosci. 2010;17:374–6.
- Prosser JD, Vender JR, Alleyne CH, Solares CA. Expanded endoscopic endonasal approaches to skull base meningiomas. J Neurol Surg B Skull Base. 2012;73:147–56.
- 51. Simal Julian JA, Sanromán Álvarez P, Miranda Lloret P, Plaza Ramirez E, Pérez Borreda P, Botella Asunción C. Full endoscopic endonasal transclival approach: meningioma attached to the ventral surface of the brainstem. Neurocirugia (Astur). 2014;25:140–4.
- 52. Iacoangeli M, Di Rienzo A, di Somma LG, Moriconi E, Alvaro L, Re M, Salvinelli F, Carassiti M, Scerrati M. Improving the endoscopic endonasal transclival approach: the importance of a precise layer by layer reconstruction. Br J Neurosurg. 2014;28:241–6.
- Gardner PA, Tormenti MJ, Pant H, Fernandez-Miranda JC, Snyderman CH, Horowitz MB. Carotid artery injury during endoscopic endonasal skull base surgery: incidence and outcomes. Neurosurgery. 2013;73:ONS261–70.
- Morales-Valero SF, Serchi E, Zoli M, Mazzatenta D, Van Gompel JJ. Endoscopic endonasal approach for craniovertebral junction pathology: a review of the literature. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38:E15.

The Endoscopic Endonasal Approach for Treatment of Craniovertebral Junction Pathologies: A Minimally Invasive but not Minimal-Risk Approach



Massimiliano Visocchi, Francesco Signorelli, Chenlong Liao, Mario Rigante, Gaetano Paludetti, Giuseppe Barbagallo, and Alessandro Olivi

Introduction

Several pathologies can affect the craniovertebral junction (CVJ), leading to bulbomedullary compression. The microsurgical transoral approach (TOA) has long been considered the 'gold standard' for anterior decompression [1]. However, a series of complications, particularly with extended procedures [2–4], has recently led to the introduction of the endoscopic endonasal approach (EEA), which showed initial promise for overcoming previous technical challenges and surgical complications [5]. So far, however, only limited reports on this approach are available [6–18]; therefore, clear evidence of its superiority is yet to be demonstrated. In this paper we report our surgical experience with the EEA for treatment of different CVJ pathologies. The feasibility, advantages and limitations of this approach are critically assessed.

Material and Methods

Among 21 cases operated on using anterior approaches, from 2011 to 2018, a consecutive series of six patients with varied CVJ pathologies were treated using the EEA approach

M. Visocchi · F. Signorelli (🖂) · A. Olivi

C. Liao

Department of Neurosurgery, Xinhua Hospital, Affiliated to Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China

M. Rigante · G. Paludetti

Institute of Otolaryngology, Catholic University of Rome, Rome, Italy

G. Barbagallo

Department of Neurological Surgery, Policlinico "G. Rodolico" University Hospital, Catania, Italy

Interdisciplinary Research Center on Brain Tumors Diagnosis and Treatment, University of Catania, Catania, Italy e-mail: gbarbagallo@unict.it by a mixed team of neurosurgeons and rhinolaryngologists, who are experts in microneurosurgery and endoscopic videoassisted microsurgery (Table 1). In every patient, a subsequent short occipitocervical instrumentation and fusion procedure was completed 1 week later.

Results

The length of follow-up of our patients ranges from 1 to 48 months (Table 1 [19, 20]); all of the patients improved or remained unchanged (with a good neurological status) after surgery and during follow-up. However, in one patient (patient #1), intraoperative cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leakage occurred, requiring immediate surgical repair with a mucosa pedicle flap. The patient improved after surgery within 48 h and was able to walk and feed herself without any assistance for 10 days, but she subsequently deteriorated rapidly and died 1 month after the surgery. Since the patient was immobilized with a halo vest, CSF nose leakage was not evident either spontaneously or with a jugular compression test (the Queckenstedt test). During the subsequent posterior fixation procedure performed in the prone position, CSF leakage was evident in the operating room, and an external CSF drain was set up and left in place for 5 days, achieving stable control of the leakage.

Postoperatively the patient developed meningoencephalitis, confirmed by positive CSF cultures for fungi (*Candida albicans*). Despite appropriate antimycotic therapy (micafungin and 5-fluorocytosine [flucytosine]), the meningoencephalitis progressively worsened, leading to fatal neurological complications.

All other patients were discharged after posterior instrumentation and fusion procedures within 2 weeks after admission.

Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University of Rome, Rome, Italy

External Follow-up orthosis (months)	6 (meningitis Halovest and death) (1 month)	Halovest 49 (1 month)	No 51	Halovest 34 1 month Hard collar (2 months)	No 27	Previously 39 performed	Soft collar 3 (1 month)
Frankel scale [22] and Di Lorenzo Grade [23] changes	D/E I/I	D/E I/I	D/E I/I	D/E I/I	E/E I/I	D/D I/I	D/D I/I
Post-op shift (X-rays)	No	No	No	ON		ON	ON
Treatment	 Transnasal decompression (0–30°) C0–C3 reduction, lateral masses screws instrumentation and heterologous bone fusion 	 Transnasal C1 decompression and odontoidectomy C0-C3 reduction, C2 pedicles and C3 lateral masses screws Instrumentation and autologous bone fusion 	Transnasal C1 partial decompression and partial odontoidectomy	 Transnasal C1 decompression and odontoidectomy C0-C3 reduction, lateral masses screws instrumentation and heterologous bone fusion 	Transnasal and odontoid biopsy	Transnasal decompression (0–30°)	One stage transnasal CI decompression, and odontoidectomy and CO-C3 reduction, lateral masses screws instrumentation and heterologous bone fusion
Pre-op C1–C2 shift (X-rays)	Yes	Yes	No	Not performed	Not performed	Not performed	Not performed
Radiology	CVJ anterior compression	CVJ anterior compression	CVJ anterior compression	CVJ destruction and compression	Odontoid infiltration	CVJ infiltration previously operated (1) transoral and (2) C0–C3 reduction, lateral masses	CVJ anterior compression
Primary disease	Impressio basilaris	Impressio basilaris + platybasia	Impressio basilaris + platybasia	Recurrence of clivus Chordoma	Myeloma	Chordoma	Isolated plasmocytoma
Age (sex)	66 (F)	47 (F)	14 (F)	22 (M)	58 (M)	35 (F)	36 (M)
Patient	PF #1	RS #2	LP P #3	R N #4	G M #5	0 S #6	RC #7

 Table 31.1
 Personal series of patients operated with EEA

Discussion

In this paper we present our recent institutional experience dealing with six patients affected by CVJ disease and operated on using the EEA. Of these, five had an uncomplicated postoperative course and one (patient #1) developed intraoperative CSF leakage and died 5 weeks after surgery.

A critical analysis of such a case warrants development of strategies that might decrease the risk of such complications developing in future patients. More specifically, we strongly support the following measures: (1) making every effort to avoid dural tears, as far as possible, by overcoming the learning curve; and (2) using a single-stage combined anterior and posterior approach to allow earlier identification of a possible CSF fistula—without the obstacle of a halo vest—and immediate commencement of adequate therapies.

A total of 107 patients (including our six) affected by CVJ disease and treated with the EEA have been reported in the literature so far. Among these cases, CSF leakage (intra- and/ or postoperative) was reported in 13 cases (12.4%), transient velopharyngeal incompetence variably associated with nasal speech and swallowing impairment was reported in six cases (5.6%), postoperative epistaxis was reported in two cases (1.86%) and respiratory dysfunction requiring a tracheostomy was reported in two cases (1.86%). Interestingly, in our extended institutional series of more than 20 consecutive anterior decompressions for CVJ disease (including use of the transoral and transnasal microsurgical approaches), the only fatal complication was associated with use of the EEA.

According to the literature, and our personal experience, the presumed improved safety of the EEA, in comparison with the TOA, should be reassessed. In fact, a recent systematic review and meta-analysis by Shriver et al. showed that the EEA was associated with higher rates of 30-day mortality (4.4% versus 2.9%), intraoperative CSF leakage (30% versus 0.3%), postoperative CSF leakage (5.2% versus 0.8%), meningitis (4% versus 1%), need for prolonged intubation or re-intubation (6% versus 5.6%), need for reoperation (5.1% versus 2.5%), velopharyngeal insufficiency (6.4% versus 3.3%) and sepsis (7.7% versus 1.9%), while the TOA was associated with higher rates of arterial injury (1.9% versus 0%), wound infection (3.3% versus 1.9%) and need for tracheostomy (10.8% versus 3.4%). However, none of these differences was statistically significant, except for the difference in the need for postoperative tracheostomy [21].

Conclusion

Our experience and other reported experiences with the endoscopic endonasal approach (EEA) have highlighted occurrences of complications similar to those observed with the transoral approach (TOA) in craniovertebral junction surgery, including velopharyngeal insufficiency and serious infections, leading us to reconsider the presumed superiority of the EEA over the endoscopic TOA.

The most appropriate treatment should therefore be chosen on the basis of the individual anatomy of the patient and the personal experience of the surgeon.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

- Menezes AH, Van Gilder JC. Transoral–transpharyngeal approach to the anterior craniocervical junction. Ten-year experience with 72 patients. J Neurosurg. 1988;69:895–903. https://doi.org/10.3171/ jns.1988.69.6.0895.
- Crockard HA. Transoral surgery: some lessons learned. Br J Neurosurg. 1995;9:283–93.
- Visocchi M. Advances in videoassisted anterior surgical approach to the craniovertebral junction. Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg. 2011;37:97–110. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7091-0673-0_4.
- Liu JK, Patel J, Goldstein IM, Eloy JA. Endoscopic endonasal transclival transodontoid approach for ventral decompression of the craniovertebral junction: operative technique and nuances. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38:E17. https://doi.org/10.3171/2015.1.F OCUS14813.
- Kassam AB, Snyderman C, Gardner P, Carrau R, Spiro R. The expanded endonasal approach: a fully endoscopic transnasal approach and resection of the odontoid process: technical case report. Neurosurgery. 2005;57:E213.
- Yu Y, Wang X, Zhang X, Hu F, Gu Y, Xie T, Jiang X, Jiang C. Endoscopic transnasal odontoidectomy to treat basilar invagination with congenital osseous malformations. Eur Spine J. 2013;22(5):1127–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00586-012-2605-4.
- Yen YS, Chang PY, Huang WC, Wu JC, Liang ML, Tu TH, Cheng H. Endoscopic transnasal odontoidectomy without resection of nasal turbinates: clinical outcomes of 13 patients. J Neurosurg Spine. 2014;21:929–37. https://doi.org/10.3171/2014.8.SP INE13504.
- Wu JC, Huang WC, Cheng H, Liang ML, Ho CY, Wong TT, Shih YH, Yen YS. Endoscopic transnasal transclival odontoidectomy: a new approach to decompression: technical case report. Neurosurgery. 2008;63:ONSE92–4. https://doi.org/10.1227/01. neu.0000335020.06488.c8.
- Ponce-Gomez JA, Ortega-Porcayo LA, Soriano-Baron HE, Sotomayor-Gonzalez A, Arriada-Mendicoa N, Gomez-Amador JL, Palma-Diaz M, Barges-Coll J. Evolution from microscopic transoral to endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy. Neurosurg Focus. 2014;37:E15. https://doi.org/10.3171/2014.7.FOCUS14301.
- Nayak JV, Gardner PA, Vescan AD, Carrau RL, Kassam AB, Snyderman CH. Experience with the expanded endonasal approach for resection of the odontoid process in rheumatoid disease. Am J Rhinol. 2007;21:601–6. https://doi.org/10.2500/ajr.2007.21.3089.
- Mazzatenta D, Zoli M, Mascari C, Pasquini E, Frank G. Endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy: clinical series. Spine. 2014;39:846–53. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.00000000000271.

- Lee A, Sommer D, Reddy K, Murty N, Gunnarsson T. Endoscopic transnasal approach to the craniocervical junction. Skull Base. 2010;20:199–205. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0029-1246220.
- La Corte E, Aldana PR, Ferroli P, Greenfield JP, Hartl R, Anand VK, Schwartz TH. The rhinopalatine line as a reliable predictor of the inferior extent of endonasal odontoidectomies. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38:E16. https://doi.org/10.3171/2015.1.FOCUS14777.
- Goldschlager T, Hartl R, Greenfield JP, Anand VK, Schwartz TH. The endoscopic endonasal approach to the odontoid and its impact on early extubation and feeding. J Neurosurg. 2015;122:511–8. https://doi.org/10.3171/2014.9.JNS1473.
- Gladi M, Iacoangeli M, Specchia N, Re M, Dobran M, Alvaro L, Moriconi E, Scerrati M. Endoscopic transnasal odontoid resection to decompress the bulbo-medullary junction: a reliable anterior minimally invasive technique without posterior fusion. Eur Spine J. 2012;21((Suppl 1)):S55–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00586-012-2220-4.
- Gempt J, Lehmberg J, Grams AE, Berends L, Meyer B, Stoffel M. Endoscopic transnasal resection of the odontoid: case series and clinical course. Eur Spine J. 2011;20:661–6. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00586-010-1629-x.

- Duntze J, Eap C, Kleiber JC, Theret E, Dufour H, Fuentes S, Litre CF. Advantages and limitations of endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy. A series of nine cases. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2014;100:775–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.otsr.2014.07.017.
- Choudhri O, Mindea SA, Feroze A, Soudry E, Chang SD, Nayak JV. Experience with intraoperative navigation and imaging during endoscopic transnasal spinal approaches to the foramen magnum and odontoid. Neurosurg Focus. 2014;36:E4. https://doi.org/10.31 71/2014.1.FOCUS13533.
- Frankel HL, Hancock DO, Hyslop G, Melzak J, Michaelis LS, Ungar GH, Vernon JD, Walsh JJ. The value of postural reduction in the initial management of closed injuries of the spine with paraplegia and tetraplegia. Paraplegia. 1969;7(3):179–92.
- Di Lorenzo N. Craniocervical junction malformation treated by transoral approach. A survey of 25 cases with emphasis on postoperative instability and outcome. Acta Neurochir. 1992;118(11):112–6.
- 21. Shriver MF, Kshettry VR, Sindwani R, Woodard T, Benzel EC, Recinos PE. Transoral and transnasal odontoidectomy complications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2016;148:121–9.

Stability-Sparing Endoscopic Endonasal Odontoidectomy in a Malformative Craniovertebral Junction: Case Report and Biomechanical Considerations



Matteo Vitali, Frank Rikki Canevari, Andrea Cattalani, Teresa Somma, Vincenzo Maria Grasso, and Andrea Barbanera

Abstract *Background:* The craniovertebral junction (CVJ) is often involved in a wide range of congenital, developmental and acquired pathologies that can create bony and ligamentous instability or cause direct compression on the medulla and cervical spine cord, resulting in significant impairment. Atlas assimilation is the most common malformation in the CVJ and can be frequently associated with basilar invagination (BI) and Chiari malformation (CM) type I. Posterior atlas assimilation more frequently leads to BI type II with a mass effect on neural structures but usually no signs of biomechanical instability. Operative approaches to the CVJ have undergone a remarkable evolution and can be divided into ventral, lateral and dorsal ones. In this kind of surgery, it is vital to detect and eventually treat any CVJ instability.

Case Description: We present a case of CVJ malformation comprising assimilation of the posterior arch of the atlas, BI type II and CM, treated by endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy and partial clivus removal to spare CVJ stability.

Conclusion: Neurological and biomechanical analysis of all CVJ malformations permits stratification and selection of those cases that can be managed by simple, direct, minimally invasive decompression with no need for surgical fusion.

M. Vitali (🖂) · V. M. Grasso · A. Barbanera

Neurosurgical Unit, Surgical Department, Azienda Ospedaliera SS Antonio e Biagio e Cesare Arrigo, Alessandria, Italy

F. R. Canevari

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Azienda Ospedaliera SS Antonio e Biagio e Cesare Arrigo, Alessandria, Italy

A. Cattalani

Neurosurgery, Department of Clinical Surgical, Diagnostic and Paediatric Sciences, Università degli Studi di Pavia, Pavia, Italy

T. Somma

Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Neurosciences, Reproductive and Odontostomatological Sciences, Università degli Studi di Napoli Federico II, Naples, Italy **Keywords** Cranio-vertebral junction · Cranio-cervical malformation · Atlas assimilation · Basilar invagination · Chiari I malformation · Endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy

Abbreviations

- 3D Three-dimensional
- BI Basilar invagination
- CM Chiari malformation
- CSF Cerebro-spinal fluid
- CT Computed tomography
- CTA Computed tomography angiography
- CVJ Craniovertebral junction
- EEG Electroencephalography
- MRI Magnetic resonance imaging
- NPL Nasopalatine line
- PL Palatine line
- RX Radiography

Introduction

The craniovertebral junction (CVJ) represents the top of the spinal axis, and it has a complex musculoskeletal organization: its bony anatomy and its joint configuration, shape and orientation are unique in comparison with the rest of the cervical spine [1]. This arrangement of structures is the basis of complex movements such as flexion–extension and turning of the head, and it also protects the bulbocervical junction, which contains areas critical for life. The CVJ is often involved in a multitude of congenital, developmental and acquired pathologies [2] that can create bony or ligamentous instability, direct compression and a mass effect on the medulla and cervical spine cord, resulting in significant impairment.

Neurosurgical Unit, Surgical Department, Azienda Ospedaliera SS Antonio e Biagio e Cesare Arrigo, Alessandria, Italy

Among the wide range of isolated malformations affecting the CVJ [3, 4], atlas assimilation is the most common one [5, 6]. This condition has been associated with craniocervical instability and basilar invagination (BI) in isolated cases. Goel distinguished two forms of BI, named types I and II [7]. Type I manifests itself with instability and ventral neural compression caused by the dens of the axis, while the key point for definition of BI type II is the contextual presence of a Chiari malformation (CM) with posterior cord compression, but usually without instability. In cases of BI secondary to atlas assimilation, the anterior form of assimilation leads to BI type I and atlantoaxial instability; otherwise, posterior

ally no biomechanical stability deficits. Operative approaches to the CVJ have undergone a remarkable evolution and advancements over the last 100 years, so that nowadays it is possible to divide them into ventral, lateral and dorsal ones [8]. Traditionally, the transoral approach has been considered the gold standard for addressing high cervical spine pathologies [9]; however, the risk of bacterial contamination, need for prolonged postoperative intubation and nasogastric tube feeding, tongue swelling and nasopharyngeal incompetence after this surgery [10] have encouraged use of the endoscopic transnasal approach to the CVJ. This latter approach was first described in 2002 [11] and in the last 10 years it has provided more options for decompression of irreducible ventral CVJ pathology [12]. Nowadays, the extended endoscopic endonasal approaches enjoy wider acceptance for improved visualization of the anatomically distant surgical field and early recognition of vital neurovascular structures, surgical borders and lesion margins [13, 14]. Furthermore, intraoperative navigation and use of modern devices (lasers and differently angled three-dimensional endoscopes) allows more accurate localization of anatomical structures and fewer complications during endoscopic CVJ surgery.

atlas assimilation more frequently causes BI type II and usu-

Endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy is recommended in cases of soft tissue pannus or irreducible bony compression of the brainstem spinal cord, causing progressive myelopathy or neurological symptoms [9, 15]; after this kind of surgery, it is vital to be sure that the CVJ is stable.

Here we present a case of CVJ malformation comprising assimilation of the posterior arch of the atlas, BI and CM, which was treated by endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy with no need for surgical posterior fusion. We aim to emphasize how correct analysis of each single malformative CVJ is mandatory to understand its unique biomechanics and stability, and to propose the best and least invasive treatment possible for the patient.

Case Description

The patient, a 63-year-old man with a history of hypertension and chronic bronchopneumopathy, was admitted to the neurological department of our hospital, complaining of general malaise, bilateral leg pain and a recent episode of epileptic crisis. Neurological examination showed gait abnormality with hypotonia and a reduction in motor power in the lower extremities.

He underwent brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), which demonstrated the presence of platybasia associated with BI and CM type I (Fig. 1a). Moreover, preoperative computed tomography angiography (CTA) showed assimilation of C1 with exclusion of vascular alterations (Fig. 1b). Cerebrospinal fluid analysis was normal. Electroencephalography showed irritative activity in the left brain, and electroneuromyography and somatosensory motor evoked potentials demonstrated alterations of neuronal conduction in the left leg.

After careful consideration of the patient's clinical and radiological status, the height of the odontoid, the anterior ring of C1, and the inferior edge of the clivus above the palatine line (PL) and nasopalatine line (NPL) [16], the presence of atlanto-occipital fusion and the possibility of preserving the anterior ring of C1 and the transverse ligament, we decided to perform endoscopic transnasal decompression of the CVJ with no need for secondary posterior screw fixation.

The patient was placed in a supine position with his head in a Mayfield headholder. The somatosensory evoked potentials were monitored throughout the surgical procedure, and intraoperative navigation was used. The procedure was performed by an otolaryngologist and a neurosurgeon working in tandem. An inferior septectomy was performed, removing 2 cm of the vomer bone at its junction with the hard palate. After the inferior sphenoidotomy, a nasopharyngeal flap was made; this allows better closure, facilitating the woundhealing process. The clivus with the body and arch of C1 and C2 were exposed and the caudal part of the clivus was removed using a combination of a high-speed drill, an ultrasonic aspirator with a bone tip, and standard curettes. The surgical cavity was subsequently inspected by 30° and 45° angled lens endoscopy, which confirmed the integrity of the transverse ligament. Finally, reconstruction was done with an autologous fascia lata patch [17] and reapproximation of the nasopharyngeal defect. The patient was kept intubated postoperatively and taken to the intensive care unit, where he was extubated uneventfully the next day. No major postoperative complications occurred, and oral feeding was imme-



Fig. 1 (a) Preoperative magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) brain and cervical scan: sagittal T2-weighted sequence showing a craniovertebral junction (CVJ) malformation comprising basilar invagination (BI) and Chiari malformation (CM) type I. (b) Preoperative computed tomography angiography (CTA) brain and cervical scan: sagittal sequence showing assimilation of the posterior arch of the atlas and excluding

diately restarted. The neurological examination showed complete resolution of the patient's preoperative symptoms without rhinorrhoea, velopharyngeal insufficiency or Eustachian tube dysfunction. Postoperative CT scanning (Fig. 1c, d) confirmed resolution of the cervicomedullary compression without any complications, and the patient was discharged home after 10 days. A follow-up neurological examination 3 months after the surgery revealed 5/5 strength in the upper and lower extremities without signs of spinal instability, and no meningeal signs or rhinorrhoea were present. Endoscopic visualization of the surgical site showed a completely remucosalized nasopharynx without gross evi-

intracranial vascular anomalies. (c) Postoperative computed tomography (CT) brain and cervical scan: sagittal bone-setting sequence showing odontoidectomy with sparing of the inferior half of the anterior arch of the atlas. (d) Postoperative CT brain and cervical scan: coronal bonesetting sequence showing odontoidectomy and removal of the caudal portion of the clivus

dence of surgical manipulation. By this time the patient had returned to work.

The patient supplied his informed consent for publication of a case report about his clinical history.

Discussion

The surgical treatment of bulbomedullary junction compressive lesions can vary. The nature and extension of the pathology—and, above all, the reducibility or irreducibility of the abnormality—usually dictate the type of surgical procedure to perform [16].

If the bulbomedullary junction compression is reducible, stand-alone surgical reduction simply permits indirect decompression of neural structures and posterior occipitocervical or C1–C2 fusion is required only to maintain longterm reduction [16, 18, 19]. In cases of irreducible spinal cord lesions with progressive neurological deterioration, direct decompression is mandatory and should be achieved via a ventral or posterior approach, tailored according to the site of maximum compression, with associated posterior arthrodesis when preoperative or postoperative iatrogenic instability can be demonstrated [20]. These considerations have been extensively described by Menezes et al. [21], whose treatment algorithm has confirmed its validity over the years and has subsequently been modified by Dlhouy et al. [22].

The need for posterior surgical fusion is often considered inevitable and in the decisional surgical process it is not considered as an avoidable surgery in selected cases. Actually, posterior malformative CVJ fixation often represents a surgical challenge and is threatened by frequent complications, especially in patients with many comorbidities and those already treated by a ventral approach (transoral or transnasal). If posterior fusion is performed in the context of direct decompression, it increases the surgical time and the risk of complications. Conversely, a delayed secondary posterior approach exposes patients to a period of CVJ instability until fusion is performed.

Biomechanics in a malformative CVJ do not follow the same rules as those in a normal CVJ, precisely because of anatomical abnormalities such as atlas assimilation, BI and CM [5]. In some of these cases, during preoperative treatment planning it is possible to predict potential stability of the CVJ after decompression, make a decision about the extension of decompression and possibly exclude the need for fusion [5, 22].

Preoperative analysis of the present case confirmed that the endoscopic endonasal approach was the surgical first choice, with a favourable trajectory through the nasal bone and hard palate (NPL) [16]. The malformative CVJ of our patient showed integrity of the transverse ligament, integrity of both the joints between the occipital condyles and the lateral masses of the atlas, and assimilation of the posterior arch of the atlas. In particular, the present case seemed to be a type II atlas assimilation [7] with occipitalization of the posterior arch associated with BI and CM type I. Therefore, we decided to perform anterior decompression via an endoscopic endonasal approach, performing complete odontoidectomy and removal of the superior half of the anterior arch of the atlas, with no alteration in the transverse ligament and C1 ring integrity. The bone decompression was also extended through removal of the most caudal and posterior part of the clivus. Use of a neuronavigation system, angled endoscopy and an ultrasound aspirator with a bone-specific tip permitted us to achieve adequate and precise decompression.

The patient experienced early neurological benefit, which was also highlighted by intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring, and he was stable at long-term followup. Postoperative CT scanning and radiography confirmed the predicted stability of the CVJ, and the patient did not complain of any symptoms of instability or pseudoarthrosis.

Conclusion

Correct neurological and biomechanical analysis of all craniovertebral junction malformations permits stratification and selection of those cases that can be managed by simple, direct, minimally invasive decompression with no need for surgical fusion. In patients with many comorbidities and advanced age, minimally invasive surgery and avoidance of secondary posterior fusion are fundamental to reduce the period of hospitalization and recovery.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

- Menezes AH, Traynelis VC. Anatomy and biomechanics of normal craniovertebral junction (a) and biomechanics of stabilization (b). Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24(10):1091–100.
- Menezes AH, Vogel TW. Specific entities affecting the craniocervical region: syndromes affecting the craniocervical junction. Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24(10):1155–63.
- Nishikawa M, Sakamoto H, Hakuba A, et al. Pathogenesis of Chiari malformation: a morphometric study of the posterior cranial fossa. J Neurosurg. 1997;86:40–7.
- Botelho RV, Ferreira ED. Angular craniometry in craniocervical junction malformation. Neurosurg Rev. 2013;36:604–10.
- Ferreira ED, Botelho RV. Atlas assimilation patterns in different types of adult craniocervical junction malformations. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2015;40(22):1763–8. https://doi.org/10.1097/ BRS.0000000000001045.
- Ravikumar VR. Asymmetrical assimilation of atlas vertebra. J Evol Med Dent Sci. 2013;2:4102–10.
- Goel A, Bhatjiwale M, Desai K. Basilar invagination: a study based on 190 surgically treated patients. J Neurosurg. 1998;88: 962–8.
- Menezes AH, Traynelis VC, Gantz BJ. Surgical approaches to the craniovertebral junction. Clin Neurosurg. 1994;41: 187–203.
- Menezes AH. Surgical approaches: postoperative care and complications "transoral-transpalatopharyngeal approach to the craniocervical junction". Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24(10):1187–93.

- Crockard HA. Transoral surgery: some lessons learned. Br J Neurosurg. 1995;9(3):283–93.
- 11. Alfieri A, Jho HD, Tschabitscher M. Endoscopic endonasal approach to the ventral cranio-cervical junction: anatomical study. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2002;144(3):219–25. discussion 25
- Kassam AB, Snyderman C, Gardner P, Carrau R, Spiro R. The expanded endonasal approach: a fully endoscopic transnasal approach and resection of the odontoid process: technical case report. Neurosurgery. 2005;57(1 Suppl):E213.
- Nayak JV, Gardner PA, Vescan AD, Carrau RL, Kassam AB, Snyderman CH. Experience with the expanded endonasal approach for resection of the odontoid process in rheumatoid disease. Am J Rhinol. 2007;21(5):601–6.
- Wolinsky JP, Sciubba DM, Suk I, Gokaslan ZL. Endoscopic image-guided odontoidectomy for decompression of basilar invagination via a standard anterior cervical approach. Technical note. J Neurosurg Spine. 2007;6(2):184–91.
- Crockard HA, Pozo JL, Ransford AO, Stevens JM, Kendall BE, Essigman WK. Transoral decompression and posterior fusion for rheumatoid atlanto-axial subluxation. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1986;68(3):350–6.
- Gladi M, Iacoangeli M, Specchia N, Re M, Dobran M, Alvaro L, et al. Endoscopic transnasal odontoid resection to decompress the bulbomedullary junction: a reliable anterior minimally invasive technique without posterior fusion. Eur Spine J. 2012;21(Suppl 1):S55–60.

- Vitali M, Canevari FR, Cattalani A, Grasso V, Somma T, Barbanera A. Direct fascia lata reconstruction to reduce donor site morbidity in endoscopic endonasal extended surgery: a pilot study. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2016;144:59–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clineuro.2016.03.003.
- Zygmunt S, Saveland H, Brattstrom H, Ljunggren B, Larsson EM, Wollheim F. Reduction of rheumatoid periodontoid pannus following posterior occipito-cervical fusion visualised by magnetic resonance imaging. Br J Neurosurg. 1988;2(3):315–20.
- de Almeida JR, Zanation AM, Snyderman CH, Carrau RL, Prevedello DM, Gardner PA, et al. Defining the nasopalatine line: the limit for endonasal surgery of the spine. Laryngoscope. 2009;119(2):239–44.
- 20. Crockard HA. The transoral approach to the base of the brain and upper cervical cord. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 1985;67(5):321–5.
- Menezes AH, Van Gilder JC, Graf CJ, McDonnell DE. Craniocervical abnormalities. A comprehensive surgical approach. J Neurosurg. 1980;53:444–55.
- Dlouhy BJ, Dahdaleh NS, Menezes AH. Evolution of transoral approaches, endoscopic endonasal approaches, and reduction strategies for treatment of craniovertebral junction pathology: a treatment algorithm update. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38(4):E8. https://doi.org/10.3171/2015.1.FOCUS14837.

Refinement of the Transoral Approach to Craniovertebral Junction Malformations



Paolo Perrini, Nicola Benedetto, Francesco Cacciola, Pasquale Gallina, and Nicola Di Lorenzo

Abstract *Background:* The transoral approach provides the most direct surgical corridor for treatment of congenital bony abnormalities that exert irreducible ventral compression of the cervicomedullary junction. In this paper, based on our experience with the transoral approach over the past three decades, we briefly describe the surgical strategies and the operative nuances that allow effective decompression of the craniovertebral junction (CVJ) while minimizing postoperative morbidity.

Methods: The surgical strategy is dictated by the type and severity of the malformation. Fibre-optic nasotracheal intubation obviates the necessity of preoperative tracheostomy, and avoidance of a soft-palate incision significantly reduces oropharyngeal morbidity. When feasible, the atlas-sparing technique minimizes postoperative instability. The transoral transatlas approach is generally required in patients with severe basilar invagination and allows wider exposure of the anterior CVJ at the price of a higher incidence of postoperative instability.

Conclusion: The transoral approach is extremely effective in providing excellent decompression of the anterior cervicomedullary junction in patients with fixed malformations. Tailoring the approach to the peculiar anatomy of each malformation reduces iatrogenic instability and minimizes postoperative complications.

Keywords Transoral approach \cdot Craniovertebral junction \cdot Odontoidectomy \cdot Basilar invagination

P. Gallina · N. Di Lorenzo

Department of Neurosurgery, Tuscany School of Neurosurgery, University of Florence, Florence, Italy The transoral approach, originally described by Kanavel in 1917 [1] and subsequently refined by many contributions from different pioneers [2–7], can be regarded today as the standard approach for treatment of selected irreducible anterior malformations that compress the cervicomedullary junction.

The aim of this report is to describe the surgical nuances of the transoral approach that allow the surgeon to achieve effective decompression of the cervicomedullary junction while minimizing postoperative complications in patients with craniovertebral junction (CVJ) malformations.

Surgical Strategy

The factors dictating the surgical strategy in patients with CVJ malformations should be carefully evaluated preoperatively [5-9]. The transoral approach is indicated in selected malformations exerting irreducible ventral compression of the cervicomedullary junction. Accordingly, the reducibility of the malformation should be investigated with spinal radiography and computed tomography (CT) scanning, including dynamic flexion and extension views. The primary treatment of reducible CVJ malformations is posterior fixation and fusion [5]. In addition, the site of encroachment (anterior or posterior) should be clearly evaluated. Patients with limited mandibular excursion (i.e. an interdental space \leq 30 mm) or severe basilar invagination (projection of the odontoid tip >20 mm above the Chamberlain line) associated with platybasia require adjuncts to the transoral approach (i.e. transmaxillary approaches) or an endoscopic endonasal approach [8, 10-12]. The surgical treatment of tonsillar herniation in the presence of irreducible ventral compression is still a matter of controversy [8, 13, 14]. According to our surgical experience [8], anterior decompression is effective in relieving obstruction of the subarachnoid space at the foramen magnum level in most patients

P. Perrini $(\boxtimes) \cdot N$. Benedetto

Department of Neurosurgery, Azienda Ospedaliero Universitaria Pisana (AOUP), Pisa, Italy e-mail: paolo.perrini@unipi.it

F. Cacciola

Neurosurgical Department, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria "Santa Maria alle Scotte", Siena, Italy

with tonsillar herniation associated with fixed CVJ malformation. After generous anterior decompression, ascent of the cerebellar tonsils into the posterior fossa, with acquisition of a more rounded shape, can generally be observed in most patients. Transoral decompression is associated invariably with the risk of creating acute or delayed spinal instability [15, 16]. In our experience, single-stage transoral decompression with posterior fixation and fusion eliminates the risk of postoperative instability and allows early mobilization of patients [8, 9, 16].

Operative Technique

Anaesthetic Considerations and Positioning

Early in our experience, tracheostomy was routinely used in all transoral cases. More recently we moved to fibre-optic nasotracheal intubation, and we consider prophylactic tracheostomy in patients with vagal, hypoglossal and glossopharyngeal nerve dysfunction or in patients requiring an extended maxillotomy approach.

The patient is positioned supine with the head held in a Mayfield headholder and slightly extended. The slight head extension improves the exposure of the rostral aspect of the CVJ and is required in patients with basilar invagination. A moderate Trendelenburg position is used intraoperatively when added cranial exposure is required.

Dedicated self-retaining retractors (Crockard transoral instruments; Codman Raynham, MA, USA) are required to keep the mouth open with the tongue depressed.

To reduce postoperative morbidity we avoid soft-palate splitting and we retract the soft palate with two rubber catheters passing through the nares and stitched to the uvula. Palatal retraction substantially reduces postoperative phonation and swallowing disturbances, which may occur after palatal splitting.

In our experience, lateral fluoroscopy is effective in guiding the extent of surgical exposure in the sagittal plane and in maintaining anatomical orientation. Frameless navigation systems can improve the evaluation of the medial–lateral orientation.

Neurophysiological monitoring is utilized during positioning and throughout surgery, and permits intraoperative assessment of spinal cord function, increasing the safety of the procedure.

Incision and Soft Tissue Dissection

The tubercle on the anterior arch of C1, which is the surgical landmark for the transoral approach, is palpated and identified with lateral fluoroscopy. The posterior pharynx is infiltrated with 1% lidocaine and 1/100,000 epinephrine, and a midline incision is made, centring on the tubercle of C1. The pharyngeal mucosa and the underlying pharyngeal muscles (pharyngeal constrictor, longus colli and longus capitis muscles) are elevated in a single layer and retracted with the two blades of a pharyngeal retractor. The anterior longitudinal ligament is dissected with monopolar cautery, exposing the anterior arch of C1 and the ventral surface of the body of C2. After exposure of the ventral bony structures of the CVJ, different surgical strategies can be utilized depending on the anatomical conformation and the pathology of the patient.

Transoral Atlas-Sparing Technique

In our experience the anterior arch of C1 can be preserved in patients with fixed atlantoaxial dislocations and in selected cases of mild basilar invagination. Biomechanical investigations and clinical reports have documented that even a single break in the continuity of the C1 ring can promote lateral spreading of the lateral masses and caudal migration of the occiput toward C2 [17, 18]. Spreading of C1 and subsequent cranial settling are associated with kinking of the bulbomed-ullary junction and progressive neurological deterioration [8]. In addition, when the C1 ring is preserved, stability of the CVJ can be achieved with C1–C2 posterior fixation instead of occipitocervical fusion [9, 19].

Using a 3- to 4-mm diamond burr, the base of the dens and approximately 5 mm of the inferior half of the anterior arch of C1 are removed. After transection of the base of the dens, the remaining odontoid fragment is pulled down and anteriorly away from the dura with a toothed odontoid rongeur, and the alar and apical ligaments are divided with curved curettes. At this point the odontoid fragment is removed en bloc, allowing access to the retro-odontoid ligaments (Fig. 1). When the ligamentous structures are difficult to dissect, the dens can be removed piecemeal. However, in these cases, access to the apex of the dens is safer after transection of the atlas.

Transoral Transatlas Technique

In cases of severe basilar invagination, the exposure of the significantly translocated odontoid peg requires transection of the anterior ring of the atlas. The atlas is progressively removed with a high-speed drill and a Kerrison rongeur (Fig. 2). Transection of the atlas allows exposure of the odontoid peg, which is removed piecemeal. In CVJ malformations, ligaments can adhere to the attenuated dura. Accordingly, a meticulous microsurgical technique and judicious dissection are necessary to accomplish effective decompression of the cervicomedullary junction while avoiding unintentional dural tearing. Once the decompression is completed, the wound is



Fig. 1 Craniovertebral junction malformation suitable for an transoral atlas-sparing approach. (a) Preoperative sagittal and (b) preoperative axial T1-weighted scans demonstrating basilar invagination with severe compression of the ventral cervicomedullary junction. (c) After transection of the base of the dens with a high-speed drill, the odontoid process is grasped with a rongeur, and the apical and alar ligaments are

closed in a single layer with interrupted 2-0 Vicryl sutures [8, 9]. To eliminate the risk of acute postoperative instability and to mobilize patients early after decompression, we simultaneously (i.e. during the same anaesthesia session) perform posterior occipitocervical fixation and fusion.

Complications and Their Avoidance

Careful patient selection and refinement of surgical strategies, together with improvements in intraoperative monitoring techniques, have reduced postoperative complications and

sectioned. (d) Postoperative sagittal T2-weighted scan showing that brainstem compression is relieved after transoral surgery. (e) Postoperative sagittally reformatted computed tomography (CT) scan disclosing removal of the odontoid process with sparing of the atlas. (f) Postoperative lateral cervical X-ray demonstrating solid occipitocervical fixation

improved the outcomes after transoral decompression [7, 8, 19–21]. Contemporary surgical series have reported a perioperative mortality rate of 3-6% and a surgical complication rate of 7-10% following the transoral approach [8, 19]. Surgical complications include velopharyngeal dysfunction, soft tissue swelling, neurological deterioration, dural laceration, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leakage and meningitis, vascular injury and wound dehiscence (Table 1).

Velopharyngeal dysfunction is the result of scarring of the pharynx and the soft palate, and it causes hypernasality of the voice, nasal regurgitation and dysphagia [22]. It can be exacerbated in cases of concurrent lower cranial nerve deficits. In our experience the occurrence of velopharyngeal



Fig. 2 Craniovertebral junction malformation suitable for a transoral transatlas approach. (a) Preoperative sagittally reformatted computed tomography (CT) scan revealing basilar invagination, atlas assimilation and fixed atlantoaxial dislocation. (b, c) After transection of the anterior ring of the atlas (*arrow*), the invaginated odontoid process (*asterisk*) is

removed piecemeal with a Kerrison rongeur. (\mathbf{d} , \mathbf{e}) The retrodental ligaments (*arrow*) are incised and the dura of the craniovertebral junction is exposed (*arrowhead*). (\mathbf{f}) Postoperative sagittally reformatted CT scan demonstrating the extent of C1–odontoid resection. (Acta Neurochir (Wien) 2014;156(6):1231–1236. Reprinted with permission)

Complications	Causes	Avoidance
Velopharyngeal dysfunction	Scarring of the pharynx and soft palate	Soft palate retraction instead of soft palate division
Neurological deterioration	Direct trauma during decompression Uncontrolled movement of the neck during repositioning for posterior fixation	Dissection of the odontoid under high magnification Careful patient repositioning for posterior fixation Inside-out dissection during odontoid removal Intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring
CSF leak and meningitis	Inadvertent dural laceration Aggressive sharp dissection	No blind dissection Avoid aggressive dissection of retro-dental tissues When cerebrospinal fluid is detected, immediately perform direct repair and insert an external lumbar drain
Injury of the vertebral artery	Direct trauma to V3 segment	Study CT and MRI for rotatory subluxation of C1 and anomalous position of vertebral artery
Pharyngeal wound breakdown	Excessive coagulation of pharyngeal mucosa	Minimize coagulation of pharyngeal mucosa Single layer closure of pharyngeal wall
Postoperative soft tissue swelling	Excessive retraction of soft tissues	Careful tongue retraction Minimize posterior pharyngeal wall retraction

Table 1 Summary of surgical complications and their avoidance

dysfunction is extremely low when soft-palate incision is avoided.

Some degree of soft tissue swelling is common and generally subsides within the first 24–48 h. Careful handling of soft tissues and delicate tongue retraction during surgery minimize postoperative swelling. We maintain the endotracheal tube during the first night after surgery because early extubation can lead to respiratory distress.

Postoperative neurological deterioration is extremely unusual and is directly related to the severity of the preoperative neurological status [8, 19]. Injury of the bulbomedullary junction may be a result of technical errors during odontoid resection, loss of spinal alignment during patient repositioning between anterior decompression and posterior fusion, and a postoperative haematoma. Avoidance of aggressive retro-odontoid soft tissue dissection, along with use of intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring and careful patient repositioning, minimize the risk of postoperative neurological decline.

CSF leakage is a serious complication and originates from dural laceration during dissection of retro-odontoid ligaments. A dural breach should be treated with direct repair. When the dural breach is large and direct watertight repair is not feasible, the dura should be sealed with fat and fibrin glue, with placement of a lumbar drain for up to five postoperative days. If CSF leakage recurs after discontinuation of lumbar drainage, a CSF diversion procedure should be performed.

Injury of the vertebral artery can occur in cases of aberrant arterial anatomy or rotatory subluxation of C1. Careful preoperative evaluation of CT scans and understanding of the three-dimensional vascular anatomy of the CVJ are required to resect the odontoid process while avoiding injury of the vertebral artery.

Pharyngeal wound dehiscence is rare, occurring in 3% of patients after transoral decompression [8]. Single-layer closure and careful handling of soft tissues reduce the occurrence of wound breakdown [8, 21]. A pharyngeal wound should be periodically inspected for the first week after surgery and when dehiscence is detected, wound debridement and closure are required.

Medical complications—including urinary tract infection, pneumonia, deep venous thrombosis, myocardial infarction and pulmonary embolism—are common after the transoral approach, particularly in patients with a poor neurological status [8, 19].

Postoperative Management

After surgery, patients spend the first 24 h in the intensive care unit and are ventilated for the first 12 h. All patients receive low molecular weight heparin as prophylaxis against postoperative venous thromboembolism until they are fully ambulatory. No food is taken by mouth for 3 days, and nutrition is administered intravenously for 3–5 days. Patients initially start to sip cold fluid and usually progress to regular foods in 10 days. They are mobilized, wearing a Philadelphia collar, early in the postoperative period, with the assistance of a physiotherapist. A CT scan is obtained to assess the extent of CVJ decompression and screw placement.

Conclusion

The transoral approach allows successful decompression of the craniovertebral junction in most patients with bony malformations exerting irreducible ventral compression. Tailoring the approach to the peculiar anatomy of each malformation and meticulous exercise of the basic tenets of skull base surgery (the drilling technique and the combination of sharp and blunt dissection) minimize postoperative complications and reduce iatrogenic instability.

- Kanavel AB. Bullet located between the atlas and the base of the skull: technique of removal through the mouth. Surg Clin Chicago. 1917;1:361–6.
- Balasingam V, Anderson GJ, Gross ND, Cheng CM, Noguchi A, Dogan A, McMenomey SO, Delashaw JB Jr, Andersen PE. Anatomical analysis of transoral surgical approaches to the clivus. J Neurosurg. 2006;105:301–8.
- Crockard HA, Johnston F. Develpment of transoral approaches to lesions of the skull base and craniocervical junction. Neurosurg Q. 1993;3(2):61–82.
- Di Lorenzo N, Fortuna A, Guidetti B. Craniovertebral junction malformations. Clinicoradiological findings, long-term results and surgical indications in 63 cases. J Neurosurg. 1982;57:603–8.
- Menezes AH, Van Gilder JC, Graf CJ, McDonnell DE. Craniocervical abnormalities. A comprehensive surgical approach. J Neurosurg. 1980;53:444–55.
- Menezes AH, Van Gilder JC. Transoral-transpharyngeal approach to the anterior craniocervical junction. Ten-year experience with 72 patients. J Neurosurg. 1988;69:895–903.
- Menezes AH, Traynelis VC, Gantz BJ. Surgical approaches to the craniovertebral junction. Clin Neurosurg. 1994;41:187–203.
- Perrini P, Benedetto N, Guidi E, Di Lorenzo N. Transoral approach and its superior extensions to the craniovertebral junction malformations: surgical strategies and results. Neurosurgery. 2009;64(5 Suppl 2):331–42.
- Perrini P, Benedetto N, Di Lorenzo N. Transoral approach to extradural non-neoplastic lesions of the craniovertebral junction. Acta Neurochir. 2014;156:1231–6.
- Husain M, Rastogi M, Ojha BK, Chandra A, Jha DK. Endoscopic transoral surgery for craniovertebral junction anomalies. Technical note. J Neurosurg Spine. 2006;5:367–73.

- James D, Crockard HA. Surgical access to the base of skull and upper cervical spine by extended maxillotomy. Neurosurgery. 1991;29:411–6.
- Visocchi M, Pappalardo G, Pileggi M, Signorelli F, Paludetti G, La Rocca G. Experimental endoscopic angular domains of transnasal and transoral routes to the craniovertebral junction light and shade. Spine. 2016;41:669–73.
- Goel A, Bhatjiwale M, Desai K. Basilar invagination: a study based on 190 surgically treated patients. J Neurosurg. 1998;88: 962–8.
- Goel A, Desai K. Surgery for syringomyelia: an analysis based on 163 surgical cases. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2000;142:293–302.
- Dickman CA, Locantro J, Fessler RG. The influence of odontoid resection on stability of the craniovertebral junction. J Neurosurg. 1992;77:525–30.
- Di Lorenzo N. Craniocervical junction malformation treated by transoral approach. A survey of 25 cases with emphasis on postoperative instability and outcome. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1992;118:112–6.

- Naderi S, Crawford NR, Melton MS, Sonntag VK, Dickman CA. Biomechanical analysis of cranial settling after transoral odontoidectomy. Neurosurg Focus. 1999;6(6):e7.
- Naderi S, Pamir MN. Further cranial settling of the upper cervical spine following odontoidectomy. Report of two cases. J Neurosurg. 2001;95(2 Suppl):246–9.
- Choi D, Crockard HA. Evolution of transoral surgery: three decades of change in patients, pathologies, and indications. Neurosurgery. 2013;73:296–304.
- Di Lorenzo N. Transoral approach to extradural lesions of the lower clivus and upper cervical spine: an experience of 19 cases. Neurosurgery. 1989;24:37–42.
- Hadley MN, Spetzler RF, Sonntag VKH. The transoral approach to the superior cervical spine. A review of 53 cases of extradural cervicomedullary compression. J Neurosurg. 1989;71:16–23.
- Jones DC, Hayter JP, Vaughan ED, Findlay GF. Oropharyngeal morbidity following transoral approaches to the upper cervical spine. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1998;27:295–8.

CVJ Instrumentation and Fusion

Occipitocervical Fusion

Angelo Lavano, Giusy Guzzi, Carmelino Angelo Stroscio, Attilio Della Torre, Donatella Gabriele, Domenico Chirchiglia, and Giorgio Volpentesta



Abstract Occipitocervical fusion is a surgical technique in continuous evolution due to the innovation of devices, operative and instrumentation techniques. The aetiologies responsible for occipitocervical instability are trauma, neoplastic disease, metabolic disease or congenital disease. A variety of stabilization techniques are currently available depending on the type of patient and surgeon's experience. Each of these techniques requires thorough knowledge of the anatomy of the craniovertebral junction.

Introduction

The craniovertebral junction (CVJ) consists of a highly specialized anatomical complex, which ensures a wide range of motion. This biomechanical complex is provided with a relatively vulnerable junction synovial system, which should be preserved during surgical interventions. Fusion procedures of the craniovertebral region must be able to withstand compressive force, axial loading, flexion, extension, lateral rotation and lateral bending. Despite the possible alternative of a surgical procedure on the craniovertebral junction, that can promote the occipital bone fusion (as in the Brooks, Gallie and Sonntag techniques), the occipitocervical block remains the most appropriate treatment when the CVJ is unstable or if there are diffuse bone destruction, fracture, or progressive inflammatory or metabolic disease that could lead to postoperative cranial settling after atlantoaxial fixation with wires. According to the criteria of White and Panjabi, the diagnosis of craniocervical junction instability is confirmed if, on dynamic radiography, C2 is moved by ≥ 3 mm in adults or by ≥ 5 mm in children, and if there are any neurological symptoms [1].

D. Gabriele \cdot D. Chirchiglia \cdot G. Volpentesta

Overview of Techniques for Occipitocervical Fixation

Many techniques for occipitocervical fixation have been reported in the literature, using various internal fixation instruments. The technique of occipitocervical fixation was first described by Foerster in 1927, who used a simple onlay bone graft for occipitocervical fusion with fibular grafts [2– 4]. It was only in 1967 that Hamblen described his experience of onlay bone grafting with or without wiring [5]. Atlantoaxial arthrodesis involves placement of a bone graft between the dorsal portion of the posterior arch of C1, the spinous process and the C2 laminae. There are two variants of the Gallie technique: the first variant involves a single loop around the arch of C1, ensuring that the bone grafts to the arc of C1 and to the upper laminar surface of C2; and the latter variant involves a double-loop technique [6]. Brooks fusion involves passing a double row of sublaminar wires above the posterior arch of C1 and the C2 lamina, ensuring in this way that the two autologous bone grafts from the iliac crest are embedded on each side between the posterior arch of C1 and the C2 laminae with four sublaminar wires [7]. Methyl methacrylate and pin fixation involves use of acrylic resins, which are polymerized in situ to provide immediate (but not as effective) stability. To adequately stabilize the craniovertebral junction, these resins should be used with pins and wires; they are indicated in patients with a short life expectancy [8]. Halifax interlaminar clamps are positioned on each side above the pedicles and make stabilization via the installation of screws. A bone graft is then placed between the spinous processes to speed up the fusion. This type of clamp provides an intermediate level of stiffness fixation in C1-C2. The mechanical effectiveness of this technique is comparable to those of fixation techniques using modified Brooks wires; they are not as stiff as transarticular screws but are more rigid than the fixation wires used by Gallie [9]. Transarticular screw fixation involves transarticular screw insertion between C2 and C1. A bicortical bone graft is fixed

A. Lavano $(\boxtimes) \cdot G.$ Guzzi \cdot C. A. Stroscio \cdot A. Della Torre

Department of Neurosurgery, Magna Graecia University of Catanzaro, Catanzaro, Italy e-mail: lavano@unicz.it

by means of wires so as to be embedded between the posterior arc of C1 and the C2 laminae. The wires on the graft facilitate melding and also provide additional stabilization. Use of transarticular screws with claw fixation consists of passing the screws through an adapted plate with an arm containing a pincer, which is fixed to the posterior arc of C1 [10]. The fixation of C1–C2 with polyaxial screws and rods is specially chosen to stabilize C1-C2 in all patients presenting with position abnormalities of the vertebral artery that would preclude passage and use of screws. They are inserted inside the lateral masses of C1-C2 and are then fastened bilaterally by bars [11]. In 2002, Matsumoto described a fixation technique of the craniovertebral junction that used mesh cages positioned between the posterior arc of C1 and the upper laminar surface of C2 bilaterally, in addition to C1–C2 transarticular screws [12].

Discussion

Occipitocervical instability may be caused by trauma, degeneration, neoplastic disease, inflammatory disease or congenital anomalies. The solution to this problem is occipitocervical fixation with bone fusion [2, 3]. Whichever technique is used, the objectives of CVJ fixation are to restore and preserve the anatomical alignment of the spine, to decompress nervous elements, to resist forces along all axes of motion (rotation, translation, lateral bending, flexion, extension and axial loading) and to try to provide the best biological environment to ensure good bone fusion, because failure to meet any one of these objectives makes all techniques ineffective in the long term, compromising the stability of the CVJ. According to recent biochemical studies, the screwbased construct is more rigid than the wire-rod construct [13]. The best location for occipital fixation is the suboccipital midline ridge, just below the external occipital protuberance (EOP), which has a thickness of 11.5-15.1 mm in males and 9-12 mm in females [14]. Mullett observed that the ridge was located on the anatomical midline in just 52% of patients and was deviated to the right or left by 2-5 mm in 28% of patients and by 5-10 mm in 20% of patients [15]. The complications that may arise with skull penetration if the midline suboccipital bone is not thick enough are injuries of the dural sinus and epidural haemorrhage of the posterior fossa [16]. There is the potential for vertebral artery or cervical root injury to occur with a screw-based approach because of the cervical screw purchase [17].

Conclusion

Instrumentation and fusion procedures are particularly effective in metabolic conditions, inflammatory diseases or neoplastic diseases of the spinal cord with involvement of the craniovertebral junction. The benefits of an approach using wires include simplicity, safety and efficacy. The use of titanium bars and/or more compact and resistant occipital wires is not recommended when metal screws are used, to better ensure stability of the scaffold. Preoperative radiological reducibility or irreducibility in an awake patient is not predictive of the operating reducibility under general anaesthesia. There is no 'gold standard' surgical technique for occipitocervical fixation. The choice of technique, with its advantages and disadvantages, is based on the type of instability, the integrity of the posterior cervical elements, the extension of decompression, comorbidities, individual anatomical variations and the surgeon's practical experience.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

- Kasimatis GB, Panagiotopoulos E, Gliatis J, Tyllianakis M, Zouboulis P, Lambiris E. Complications of anterior surgery in cervical spine trauma: an overview. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2009;111(1):18–27.
- Baskin JJ, Dickman CA, Sonntag VKH. Occipitocervical fusion. In: Winn HR, Dacey RG, editors. Youmans neurological surgery. Philadelphia: Saunders; 2004. p. 4655–70.
- Sonntag VK, Dickman CA. Craniocervical stabilization. Clin Neurosurg. 1993;40:243–72.
- Vender JR, Rekito AJ, Harrison SJ, McDonnell DE. The evolution of posterior cervical and occipitocervical fusion and instrumentation. Neurosurg Focus. 2004;16:E9.
- Hamblen DC. Occipitocervical fusion. Indications, technique and results. J Bone Joint Surg. 1967;49:33–45.
- Gallie WE. Fractures and dislocations of the cervical spine. Am J Surg. 1939;46:495–9.
- Brooks AL, Jenkins EB. Atlantoaxial arthrodesis by the wedge compression method. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1978;60:279–89.
- Duff TA, Kahn A, Corbett JE. Surgical stabilization of cervical spinal fractures using methylmethacrylate. Technical consderations and long-term results in 52 patients. J Neurosurg. 1992;76:440–3.
- Omeis I, DeMattia JA, Hillard VH, Murali R, Das K. History of instrumentation for stabilization of subaxial cervical spine. Neurosurg Focus. 2004;16(I):E10.

- Marcotte P, Dickman CA, Sonntag VHK. Posterior atlantoaxial facet screw fixation. J Neurosurg. 1993;79:234–7.
- 11. Harms J, Melcher RP. Posterior C1–C2 fusion with polyaxial screw and rod fixation. Spine. 2001;26:2467–71.
- Matsumoto M, Chiba K, Tsuji T. Use of a titanium mesh cage for posterior atlantoaxial arthrodesis. Technical note. J Neurosurg Spine. 2002;96:127–30.
- Puttlitz CM, Melcher RP, Kleinstueck FS, Harms J, Braford DS, Lotz JC. Stability analysis of craniovertebral junction fixation techniques. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2004;86A:561–8.
- Hsu YH, Liang ML, Yen YS, Cheng H, Huang CI, Huang WC. Use of screw-rod system in occipitocervical fixation. J Chin Med Assoc. 2009;72(1):20–8.
- Mullett JH, McCarthy P, O'Keefe D, McCabe JP. Occipital fixation: effect of inner occpital protuberance alignment on screw position. J Spinal Disord. 2001;14:504–6.
- Lee SC, Chen JF, Lee ST. Complications of fixation to the occiput—anatomical and design implications. Br J Neurosurg. 2004;18:590–7.
- Shad A, Shariff SS, Teddy PJ, Cadoux-Hudson TAD. Craniocervical fusion for rheumatoid arthritis: comparison of sublaminar wires and the lateral mass screw craniocervical fusion. Br J Neurosurg. 2002;16:483–6.

Occipitocervical Fusion: An Updated Review

Nabeel S. Ashafai, Massimiliano Visocchi, and Norbert Wąsik

Check for updates

Abstract Occipitocervical fusion (OCF) is indicated for instability at the craniocervical junction (CCJ). Numerous surgical techniques, which evolved over 90 years, as well as unique anatomic and kinematic relationships of this region present a challenge to the neurosurgeon. The current standard involves internal rigid fixation by polyaxial screws in cervical spine, contoured rods and occipital plate. Such approach precludes the need of postoperative external stabilization, lesser number of involved spinal segments, and provides 95-100% fusion rates. New surgical techniques such as occipital condyle screw or transarticular occipito-condylar screws address limitations of occipital fixation such as variable lateral occipital bone thickness and dural sinus anatomy. As the C0–C1–C2 complex is the most mobile portion of the cervical spine (40% of flexion-extension, 60% of rotation and 10% of lateral bending) stabilization leads to substantial reduction of neck movements. Preoperative assessment of vertebral artery anatomical variations and feasibility of screw insertion as well as visualization with intraoperative fluoroscopy are necessary. Placement of structural and supplemental bone graft around the decorticated bony elements is an essential step of every OCF procedure as the ultimate goal of stabilization with implants is to provide immobilization until bony fusion can develop.

Keywords Occipitocervical fusion · Occipitocervical fixation · Surgical techniques

Alshafai Neurosurgical Academy (ANA), Toronto, ON, Canada

M. Visocchi Institute of Neurosurgery Catholic University of Rome, Rome, Italy

N. Wasik

Alshafai Neurosurgical Academy (ANA), Toronto, ON, Canada

Department of Neurosurgery, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland

Anatomy and Biomechanics

The occiput-C1-C2 complex is the most mobile portion of the cervical spine. The occiput-C1 motion segment makes the largest contribution to flexion (21°) and extension (3.5°) , while the primary movement of the C1-C2 motion segment is axial rotation (23.3-38.8° per side). Patients need to be informed before occipitocervical fusion (OCF) about the substantial restrictions it will cause in the neck's range of motion (40% of total cervical flexion-extension, 60% of total cervical rotation and 10% of total cervical lateral bending if the occiput-C1 and C2 are involved) [1]. The occipital bone and the vertebral artery are key structures, which demand meticulous preoperative assessment. The variable thickness of the squamous part of the occipital bone determines the lengths of the screws. The external occipital protuberance is the thickest part of the occiput (9.7-15.8 mm), and the thickness decreases in a radial fashion laterally and inferiorly (Fig. 1) [2]. The occipital bone is built up of two layers of cortical compact bone, and located in between them is spongy diploe. Because of the marginal contribution of the inner cortical layer to the overall occipital thickness, unicortical screws provide fixation strength comparable to that of bicortical screws of the same length, but only in the area near the external occipital protuberance [3]. Aberrant vertebral artery loop recognition on preoperative imaging studies is also critical. Use of some types of cervical screw might not be feasible, because of a high-riding vertebral artery or narrow C2 pedicles [4].

Indications

The main indication for OCF is instability of the craniocervical junction (CCJ). The most common causes are listed in Table 1. Posterior internal stabilization prevents compres-

N. S. Ashafai (🖂)



Fig. 1 Occipital bone thickness. The maximum thickness of the occipital bone on sagittal sections A and B is 8.3 mm and 13.8 mm respectively (blank triangles). The minimum thickness of the occipital bone on sagittal sections A and B is 2.1 mm and 5.7 mm respectively (filled triangles). The left side is usually 1 mm thinner than the right side

sion of the neural structures, enables correction of cervical deformity and reduces pain (Fig. 2).

Surgical Technique

Patients who qualify for OCF have their head and cervical spine stabilized by an external fixation device (a halo device, Gardner-Wells tongs or a hard collar), which must be maintained until rigid head fixation to the surgical bed is used—for example, a Mayfield skull clamp.

Remember that cervical traction is contraindicated in the case of an CCJ dislocation or a significant ligamentous injury on magnetic resonance imaging [5]. In the initial supine position, fibre-optic intubation is performed, an arterial line is placed and baseline somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs) and motor evoked potentials (MEPs) are obtained if available. Anaesthetic agents interfering with SSEPs (nitrous oxide) and MEPs (long-acting paralytic agents) must be avoided [6]. The patient is rotated to the final prone position on chest rolls or a

Table 1 Causes of craniocervical junction instability requiring occipitocervical fusion

Cause of	
instability	Example
Trauma	Atlanto-occipital dislocation, occipital condyle fracture, atlas and axis fractures
Inflammation/ autoimmune disease	Rheumatoid arthritis, psoriatic arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis, inflammatory bowel disease– associated arthropathy, tuberculosis, osteomyelitis
Neoplasm	Metastasis, chordoma, Ewing tumour, osteoblastoma, osteochondroma, haemangioma, aneurysmal bone cyst
Congenital	Chiari malformation with basilar invagination, Down's syndrome, Klippel–Feil syndrome, Morquio's syndrome, os odontoideum
Iatrogenic	After odontoidectomy, failed previous attempts at C1–C2 fusion, after the far lateral approach with occipital condyle resection

Jackson frame, and the SSEPs and MEPs are checked immediately. Persistent changes in SSEPs or MEPs mandate returning the patient to the supine position and undertaking an awake



Fig. 2 Basilar invagination before (*left*) and after (*right*) occipitocervical fusion in light extension with 'functional decompression' of the cranio-cervical junction

neurological examination. The proper alignment of the head in a neutral position or slight flexion is confirmed by fluoroscopy. The bed is placed in a reverse Trendelenburg position to decrease venous bleeding. The midline skin incision should extend from the inion to the spinal segment below the last segment that will be incorporated into the construct. Sharp dissection is used to split the paraspinal muscles via the midline avascular plane, then subperiosteal dissection of the occiput and the posterior spine elements is performed.

If necessary, decompression of the neural elements is performed. The surgeon retains discretion as to whether the occipital or cervical part of the construct should be placed first. The occipital plate is placed in position and its apertures are marked. As bicortical purchase is desirable (but not essential) and plunging through the bone is possible, a manual drill with a drill guide is used. The depth is set on the basis of the neuronavigation indications. The holes are tapped and the blunt occipital screw is placed to secure the plate to the occiput. In the event of cerebrospinal fluid leakage or dural sinus violation, a screw should be inserted immediately. Our preferences for cervical fixation are C1 lateral mass screws and C2 pars or pedicle screws [7]. Care is taken not to injure the vertebral artery while exposing the posterior ring and lateral masses of C1. The lateral dissection should not exceed 1.5 cm from the midline. The screw heads and occipital plate are connected by a 3.5 mm or 4 mm rod. Contouring and notching of the rod (involuntary cutting of an indentation on the surface, i.e. during nut locking) decreases the fatigue life of the construct [8]. To minimize the risk of rod weakening, pre-bent or hinged rods have been introduced. A flexible endotracheal tube stylet may be used as a template before the rod is bent. Lateral offset connectors are useful in the event of difficulties in connecting the laterally directed lateral mass screws and the medially directed pedicle screws with the rod [9]. Extension of the construct caudally beyond the C2 level is indicated when an irreducible lesion is treated, posterior C1/C2 elements are damaged or basilar invagination is present [10]. Visocchi et al. first described the possibility of achieving 'functional decompression' of basilar invagination by performing OCF in light extension, thereby avoiding the more challenging transmucosal anterior transnasal and/or transoral decompression (Visocchi M, Di Rocco F, Meglio M: Craniocervical junction instability: instrumentation and fusion with titanium rods and sublaminar wires. Effectiveness and failures in personal experience. Acta Neurochir (Wien Austria) (2003) 145:265–272).

Types of Occipitocervical Fusion

Occipitocervical fusion has advanced significantly since 1927, when Foerster was the first surgeon to reported successful stabilization of the CCJ by in situ onlay application of a fibular strut graft [11]. Currently, screw-based constructs are the most popular option (Fig. 3). The advantages are superior rigidity of fixation, resistance to fatigue and nearly a 100% rate of fusion, while incorporating in the construct fewer motion segments than any wire/cable fixation [12, 13]. The first constructs of this generation (lateral mass plates, Y-shaped plates, Ohio Medical Instruments loops) have predesigned slots, which limit screw entry points and provide non-rigid screw fixation. Those issues have been addressed by the later screw-based constructs, which are currently most popular with neurosurgeons. Occipital plate/eyelet connectors and cervical screws (C1 lateral mass, C2 pedicle/pars/ laminar, C1-C2 transarticular, C3-C6 lateral mass) are placed independently and linked by the two 3.5- to 4.0-mm rods (bent during surgery, pre-bent or hinged). Cervical rods with an integrated occipital plate end provide more lateral fixation (shorter screws) but allow placement of more screws than a midline plate. In addition to the consequence of significantly less motion in lateral bending with lateral fixation, the surgeon's personal preference may determine the choice



Fig. 3 The most common screw-based constructs. (a) Occipital plate. (b) Hinged rods with an integrated occipital plate end. (c) Eyelet connectors directed medially

between lateral or midline occipital fixation [14]. Occipital fixation may be also achieved by inside–outside screws. The occipital bone is secured between an inside button (inserted through an adjacent burr hole) and an outside nut. The large surface of both buttons provides a satisfactory area of occipital bone fixation in cases of osteoporosis or a thin occipital bone [15, 16]. The most recently introduced surgical techniques are occipital condylar screws and transarticular occipitocondylar screws [17, 18]. They enable avoidance of occipital screw complications (e.g. dural sinus perforation). These new techniques may be used in patients after large suboccipital studies, have proved that OCF using occipital condylar screws is a feasible alternative to the current occipital plate fixation [19, 20].

Arthrodesis

Iliac crest and rib autografts remain the gold standard for use in posterior cervical procedures. Although both sites are considered safe for graft harvest, the use of rib grafts provides higher fusion rates and less morbidity for patients [21]. Long bone grafts are secured with cables fastened to the rod construct. If decompression has been performed, acquired bone should be marsupialized and used as an autograft. At the same time, care must be taken to avoid graft placement into the defect and on the dura [7]. Bone allografts are frequently used in combination with autografts (e.g. in 69% of patients in a case series reported by Nockels et al. [13]). Use of bone morphogenetic protein (BMP)-2 is controversial, as the reported complication rate is high (10.3% in a paediatric population; no study in adults has been published) [22]. Nevertheless, some authors advocate it in cases of severe osteoporosis or reoperation in chronic smokers [23]. The bony surface of the occiput, and the posterior elements of the cervical spine (including the facet joints) should be decorticated to bleeding cancellous bone with a high-speed drill prior to graft placement.

Postoperative Immobilization

The use and duration of external immobilization depends strongly on the OCF technique used and the neurosurgeon's personal experience. No external stabilization is used in cases of a technically satisfactory screw and rod OCF procedure in patients with good bone quality [24]. Alternatively, a soft cervical collar, a Philadelphia collar or a Miami J collar may be maintained for 6–12 weeks after OCF with the same technique [25]. If the patient's bone quality is poor, immobilization in a halo ring is required. If a non-rigid OCF method has been used, halo immobilization or use of a Minerva vest for at least 12 weeks is mandatory [26].

Complications

The general complication rate varies from 10% to 33% [25, 27]. Minor complications that are encountered are wound infection or dehiscence, dural tearing and cerebrospinal fluid leakage. OCF-specific complications concern proper head alignment. Excessive flexion results in the patient having an impaired line of sight and swallowing difficulties. Fixation in exaggerated extension results in poor visualization of the ground. Potential complications of major significance include meningitis, posterior fossa haematoma, and direct injury to neural structures and the vertebral artery by misplaced screws. Concerning hardware failure, although wiring

techniques are old fashioned, they still deserve consideration, mainly in redo craniovertebral junction surgery after screwing technique failure. Nevertheless, also in the wiring technique, which is a safe and effective procedure, care must be exercised in the preparation of the cranial holes to avoid sliding complications with the U-shaped rods, as has occurred in our experience. To understand and analyse this event, it is important to underline that the distance between the two burr holes in the occipital bone needs to be shorter than the distance between the ends of the U-shaped rod to secure and preventing caudocranial sliding of the hardware and pulling out of the construct (Fig. 4) [28].



Fig. 4 Early postoperative lateral X-rays demonstrating sliding of the titanium construct associated with pulling out of the hardware. (a). Postoperative X-rays (CT scout view). (b–d) Control X-rays after reoperation

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

- 1. Benzel EC. The cervical spine. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2012.
- Ebraheim NA, Lu J, Biyani A, Brown JA, Yeasting RA. An anatomic study of the thickness of the occipital bone. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1996;21(15):1725–9. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007632-199608010-00002.
- Roberts DA, Doherty BJ, Heggeness MH. Quantitative anatomy of the occiput and the biomechanics of occipital screw fixation. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1998;23(10):1100–7. https://doi. org/10.1097/00007632-199805150-00005.
- Yeom JS, Buchowski JM, Kim HJ, Chang BS, Lee CK, Riew KD. Risk of vertebral artery injury: comparison between C1–C2 transarticular and C2 pedicle screws. Spine J. 2013;13(7):775–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spinee.2013.04.005.
- Baaj AA, Mummaneni PV, Uribe JS, Vaccaro AR, Greenberg MS. Handbook of spine surgery. New York: Thieme Medical Publishers; 2012.
- Lu DC, Roeser AC, Mummaneni VP, Mummaneni PV. Nuances of occipitocervical fixation. Neurosurgery. 2010;66(Suppl 3):141–6. https://doi.org/10.1227/01.NEU.0000365744.54102.B9.
- Garrido BJ, Sasso RC. Occipitocervical fusion. Orthop Clin North Am. 2012;43(1):1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocl.2011.08.009.
- Dick JC, Bourgeault CA. Notch sensitivity of titanium alloy, commercially pure titanium, and stainless steel spinal implants. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2001;26(15):1668–72. https://doi. org/10.1097/00007632-200108010-00008.
- Kim S, Chang U, Chang J, Kim DH. Posterior stabilization of craniovertebral junction; 2016. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-1-4160-3367-7.10033-1.
- Song GC, Cho KS, Yoo DS, Huh PW, Lee SB. Surgical treatment of craniovertebral junction instability: clinical outcomes and effectiveness in personal experience. J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2010;48(1):37–45. https://doi.org/10.3340/jkns.2010.48.1.37.
- Foerster O. Die Leitungsbahnen Des Schmerzgefuhls Und Die Chirurgischee Behand- Lung Der Schmerzzustande. Berlin: Urbin and Schwarzenberg; 1927.
- Hurlbert RJ, Crawford NR, Choi WG, Dickman CA. A biomechanical evaluation of occipitocervical instrumentation: screw compared with wire fixation. J Neurosurg. 1999;90(1 Suppl):84– 90. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10413131
- Nockels RP, Shaffrey CI, Kanter AS, Azeem S, York JE. Occipitocervical fusion with rigid internal fixation: long-term follow-up data in 69 patients. J Neurosurg Spine. 2007;7(2):117– 23. https://doi.org/10.3171/SPI-07/08/117.

- Wolfla CE. Anatomical, biomechanical, and practical considerations in posterior occipitocervical instrumentation. Spine J. 2006;6(6 Suppl):225S–32S. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spinee.2006.09.001.
- Pait TG, Al-Mefty O, Boop FA, Arnautovic KI, Rahman S, Ceola W. Inside–outside technique for posterior occipitocervical spine instrumentation and stabilization: preliminary results. J Neurosurg. 1999;90(1 Suppl):1–7. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/10413118
- Sandhu FA, Pait TG, Benzel E, Henderson FC. Occipitocervical fusion for rheumatoid arthritis using the inside–outside stabilization technique. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2003;28(4):414–9. https:// doi.org/10.1097/01.BRS.0000048460.58471.DB.
- Grob D. Transarticular screw fixation for atlanto-occipital dislocation. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2001;26(6):703–7. https://doi. org/10.1097/00007632-200103150-00030.
- Uribe JS, Ramos E, Vale F. Feasibility of occipital condyle screw placement for occipitocervical fixation: a cadaveric study and description of a novel technique. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2008;21(8): 540–6. https://doi.org/10.1097/BSD.0b013e31816d655e.
- Uribe JS, Ramos E, Youssef AS, et al. Craniocervical fixation with occipital condyle screws: biomechanical analysis of a novel technique. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2010;35(9):931–8. https://doi. org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e3181c16f9a.
- Ahmadian A, Dakwar E, Vale FL, Uribe JS. Occipitocervical fusion via occipital condylar fixation: a clinical case series. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2014;27(4):232–6. https://doi.org/10.1097/ BSD.0b013e31825bfeea.
- Sawin PD, Traynelis VC, Menezes AH. A comparative analysis of fusion rates and donor-site morbidity for autogeneic rib and iliac crest bone grafts in posterior cervical fusions. J Neurosurg. 1998;88(2):255–65. https://doi.org/10.3171/jns.1998.88.2.0255.
- Lindley TE, Dahdaleh NS, Menezes AH, Abode-Iyamah KO. Complications associated with recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein use in pediatric craniocervical arthrodesis. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2011;7(5):468–74. https://doi.org/10.3171/20 11.2.PEDS10487.
- Kukreja S, Ambekar S, Sin AH, Nanda A. Occipitocervical fusion surgery: review of operative techniques and results. J Neurol Surg B Skull Base. 2015;76(5):331–9. https://doi.org/10.105 5/s-0034-1543967.
- Finn MA, Bishop FS, Dailey AT. Surgical treatment of occipitocervical instability. Neurosurgery. 2008;63(5):961–8. https://doi. org/10.1227/01.NEU.0000312706.47944.35.
- Martinez-del-Campo E, Turner JD, Kalb S, et al. Occipitocervical fixation. Neurosurgery. 2016;79(4):549–60. https://doi. org/10.1227/NEU.00000000001340.
- Elia M, Mazzara JT, Fielding JW. Onlay technique for occipitocervical fusion. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1992;280:170–4. http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1611738
- Winegar CD, Lawrence JP, Friel BC, et al. A systematic review of occipital cervical fusion: techniques and outcomes. J Neurosurg Spine. 2010;13(1):5–16. https://doi.org/10.3171/2010.3.SPINE08143.
- Visocchi M, Mattogno PP, Signorelli F, Zhong J, Iacopino G, Barbagallo G. Complications in craniovertebral junction instrumentation: hardware removal can be associated with long-lasting stability. Personal experience. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2017;124:187–94.

Wiring or Screwing at the Craniovertebral Junction in Childhood: Past and Present Personal Experience



Massimiliano Visocchi, Francesco Signorelli, Alessandro Olivi, and Massimo Caldarelli

Abstract *Background:* Craniovertebral junction (CVJ) instrumentation and fusion in childhood are frequently performed with either sublaminar wires or screws in lateral masses, and both are considered quite safe procedures.

Methods: Our experience deals with 12 children: six (mean age 9.5 years) harbouring a congenital instability associated with Down's or Morquio's syndromes and primary os odontoideum; and six (mean age 11.5 years) with acquired iatrogenic instability due to transoral anterior decompression for different reasons (inferior clivectomy, anterior arch removal and odontoidectomy). All patients in the 'congenital group', except for one, had preoperative dynamic x-rays and underwent surgical correction by means of posterior wiring, fusion and an external orthosis. All patients in the 'iatrogenic group' had no preoperative dynamic x-rays and underwent a screwing technique with fusion and an external orthosis.

Results: The postoperative clinical picture had improved in all patients at the latest follow-up (observation range 63–202 months [mean 118.5 months]), with neuroradiological confirmation of satisfactory bony fusion and with neural decompression in all patients.

Conclusion: Although it requires a more accurate preoperative neuroradiological setting, the screwing technique takes less time and is characterized by less blood loss and less postoperative discomfort than the wiring technique. The latter features confirm the simplicity, safety (continuous fluoroscopic assistance is not necessary, and there is no risk of neurovascular injuries) and lower expense (neither complex hardware devices nor neuronavigation systems are required) of the screwing technique.

Keywords Craniocervical junction instability · Sublaminar wiring · Screwing technique · Mucopolysaccaridosis · Down's syndrome · Os odontoideum · Transoral approach

M. Visocchi · F. Signorelli (🖂) · A. Olivi · M. Caldarelli

Introduction

Anterior transnasal or transoral decompression—which is used in treatment of irreducible neoplastic, dysembryogenetic, inflammatory and chronic traumatic diseases of the anterior craniovertebral junction (CVJ)—has been reported in the literature for many years [1–4].

Surgical treatment of CVJ compression by the transoral or transnasal route is still strongly suggested in cases of irreducible dislocation. Surgical management of CVJ compression aims to achieve neural decompression and to stabilize the CVJ in order to relieve neurological manifestations arising from bulbospinal compression both at rest and during motion, secondary to CVJ instability [5]. Functional decompression is a concept in our therapeutic strategy, aiming to achieve neural decompression by performing simple reduction, instrumentation and fusion of the CVJ dislocation when it is reducible [6]. In cases in which accurate preoperative x-ray examinations demonstrate CVJ irreducibility and associated neural compression, the goal of surgery is to maintain anatomical alignment while preserving the motion of normal adjacent elements, with the aim of protecting the neural elements [7, 8]. In this paper we present an update of our personal experience of instrumentation and fusion in children, using titanium rods, sublaminar wires and screws [6].

Materials and Methods

From 1998 to 2018, 12 children were operated on in the Section of Paediatric Neurosurgery at Policlinic Gemelli, Catholic University School of Medicine, in Rome. Six female patients aged 6–14 years (mean age 9.5 years) were treated for os odontoideum (group 1). Five of these patients

Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

were affected by Down's syndrome, one had a metabolic disease (mucopolysaccharidosis type IV, i.e. Morquio's syndrome) and one had an isolated os odontoideum. A second group (group 2), consisting of six male patients aged 8-15 years (mean age 11.5 years), underwent transoral anterior decompression and staged posterior instrumentation and fusion with screws for different diseases. One of these patients had impressio basilaris, one had basilar invagination, two had os odontoideum, one had a CO-C1 developmental anomaly and one had a C2 fracture and dislocation. All patients underwent computed tomography (CT) scans and static and dynamic magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain and CVJ. Further preoperative static and dynamic x-rays were performed in patients in group 1, and CVJ instability was shown by atlantoaxial displacement greater than 4.5 mm in all but one patient (Table 1) [9]. One group 1 patient (patient #3) with a hyperintense signal at the medulla and at the bulbospinal junction had gait disturbances and dyspnoea, which led to an emergency tracheostomy [10]. In group 1, the CVJ shift was reducible in five patients and irreducible in one patient (patient #4). Preoperative fixation was accomplished by use of a hard collar.

Surgical Techniques: Posterior Instrumentation and Fusion

Group 1

Patients were placed in a prone position. Intraoperative traction and reduction of the C2 shift were obtained using a Mayfield headholder under fluoroscopic control. After preparation of the occiput and the cervical spine, occipitocervical instrumentation was carried out. Two burr holes into the occiput, 3 cm cranially to the rim of the foramen magnum, represented the proximal point for passing titanium wires. To facilitate the passage of the wires, notching (with Kerrison rongeurs) of the rim of the foramen magnum and of the cervical laminae to be fused, and removal of the atlanto-occipital membrane and ligamentum flavum, were carried out. In patients with C0-C1 assimilation (patients #1, #2 and #3), C1 laminectomy was performed. A wide-diameter (5 mm) nonthreaded titanium rod was bent into a U shape, cut in a way that the ends extended a few millimetres beyond the fused segments to prevent them from slipping out during flexion and extension movements of the neck, and to adapt them to the bony contours of the CVJ. The assimilated and bifid posterior arch of the atlas was excised during posterior decompression of the posterior foramen magnum margin prior to passage of sublaminar wires. With use of the Sonntag method, Songer titanium wires were passed under the involved bone segments and over the titanium rod and bone graft, being stretched up to approximately 10 pounds (Table 1).

Group 2

After transoral decompression a second staged procedure was performed. Under fluoroscopy, C0–C2–C3 screws 3.5 mm in diameter and 12 mm in length (Vertex System [Medtronic, Minneapolis, MN, USA]; Summit SI OCT Spinal Fixation System and Mountaineer OCT Spinal System [DePuy Synthes Spine, Warsaw, IN, USA]; and VuePoint OCT [NuVasive, San Diego, CA, USA]) were inserted in the C2 isthmus bilaterally in the centre of the lateral masses (taking care to spare the vertebral notch) and in the C3 lateral masses from medial to lateral and from caudal to cranial.

Both Groups

Bone fusion was performed by decortication of the occiput and the posterior arches of the cervical facet joints by a highspeed drill and curettes to facilitate bone fusion.

Autologous bone was harvested from the right posterior iliac crest, cut in a double-wing shape and fixed over the construct, using a silk suture along with antigen-free synthetic bone graft substitute fusion (beta-tricalcium phosphate [Vitoss Synthetic Cancellous Bone Void Filler; Stryker, Kalamazoo, MI, USA]). Moreover, cancellous bone was placed upon the levels to be fused when available after further posterior CVJ decompression.

Postoperative Care (Table 1)

Group 1

After completion of the surgical treatment, a halo or SOMI vest was utilized for 4 months in all patients except for patient #3, for whom it was necessary to prolong the application of the external orthosis.

Group 2

After completion of the surgical treatment, a halo or SOMI vest was utilized for no more than 3 months in all patients.

Bone fusion was evaluated on CVJ radiological studies and bone window CT scan examinations. Radiological and CT scans plus MRI and neurological examinations were performed 1 week after surgery, then every 4 months up to 1 year and finally at the last follow-up [11]. The Frankel scale and the Di Lorenzo disability grade were used to evaluate the neurological condition.

							Frankel scale and Di		
Pt initials	Age			Pre-op C1C2 shift		Post-op shift	Lorenzo Grade	External orthosis	Follow-up
Case N°.	(sex)	Primary disease	Radiology	(X-rays)	Treatment	(X-rays)	changes	(months)	(months)
CV 1	8 (F)	MPS (Morquio)	 C0-C1 assimilation C1-C2 instability C2-C3 partial fusion Os odontoideum reducible 	>4.5 mm	 Suboccipital craniectomy and C1 laminectomy C0–C3 reduction, instrumentation and fusion 	No	E/E I/I	SOMI (4 months)	202
BS 2	6 (F)	Down syndrome	– C0-C1 assimilation – C1-C2 instability – Os odontoideum, reducible	5 mm	 Suboccipital craniectomy and C1 laminectomy C0-C3 reduction, instrumentation and fusion 	No	E/E I/I	Halovest (1 month) SOMI (3 months)	175
TP 3	8 (F)	Down syndrome	 C0-C1 assimilation C1-C2 instability Os odontoideum, reducible 	10 mm	 Suboccipital craniectomy and C1 laminectomy C0-C3 reduction, instrumentation and fusion 	No	D/E III/I	SOMI (4 months) Halovest (4 months)	172
EAK 4	(7) (F)	Down syndrome	– C1 bifid – C1–C2 instability, – Os odontoideum irreducible		 C0–C3 reduction, instrumentation and fusion; 	No	E/E I/I	SOMI (4 months)	143
FI 5	14 (F)	Down syndrome	 C1–C2 instability Os odontoideum reducible 	>4.5 mm	 C0–C3 reduction, instrumentation and fusion 	No	E/E I/I	Halovest (4 months)	130
RRS 6	14 (F)	Down syndrome	 C1–C2 instability, Os odontoideum reducible 	>4.5 mm	 C0–C3 reduction, instrumentation and fusion 	No	E/E I/I	Halovest (4 months)	124
CL 7	15 (M)	Developmental anomaly C0–Cl	– C0–C1 anterior compression – C1–C2 instability	≫5 mm	 Transoral decompression CI laminectomy, C0 double vertical screws, C2 pedicles and C3 lateral masses screws instrument. 	No	D/E II/I	Soft collar (1 month)	74
EA 8	11 (M)	Impressio basilaris Os odontoideum (Down s.)	C1-C2 anterior compression	Virtual, previously documented	Transoral C1 odontoidectomy and clivectomy in C0–C2–C3 screwing instrumentation and heterologous bone fusion (previously implanted)	No	D/E II/I	Soft collar (1 month)	70
RR 9	14 (M)	C2 fracture and dislocation	C2 fracture and C1–C2 dislocation with cervico medullary contusion	>7 mm	 Transoral C1–C2 decompression C0–C3 C5 screwing instrumentation and heterologous bone fusion 	No	D/E II/I	Soft collar (1 month)	67
MP 10	8 (M)	Impressio basilaris	C0-C1-C2 compression	No	 Transoral C1–C2 decompression Staged C0–C2–C3 screwing instrumentation and fusion 	No	D/E II/I	Halo + Philadelphia (2 months)	63
SS 11	6 (M)	Os odontoideum	C2 compression	Virtual	 Transoral C1–C2 decompression C0–C2–C3 screwing instrumentation and fusion 	No	D/E II/I	Halo + Philadelphia (2 months)	118
AE 12	12 (M)	Basilar invagination	C2 compression	Virtual	 Transoral CO-C1-C2 decompression CO-C2-C3 screwing instrumentation and fusion 	No	D/E II/I	Halo + Philadelphia (3 monthe)	84

Results

The follow-up period ranged from 63 to 202 months (mean 118.5 months). All patients improved soon after surgery independently of the type of surgery they underwent, but an immediate clinical improvement in gait disturbance occurred in patient #3 in group 1, who had Down's syndrome; her Frankel grade changed from D to E and her Di Lorenzo grade changed from III to I. In this patient the improvement in respiratory dysfunction allowed closure of the tracheostomy 24 months after surgery. Nuchal pain disappeared in all of the children postoperatively.

No arterial injuries, bleeding, haematomas or systemic complications occurred. At the site of bone harvesting, no infections, cosmetic problems, pain or complaints were reported.

Blood loss ranged from 17 to 23 mL (mean 20 mL) in group 1 and from 11 to 19 mL (mean 15 mL) in group 2.

Concerning the duration of the posterior approach procedures, it ranged from 3.2 to 4.0 h for wiring and from 2.3 to 3 h for screwing.

Diagnostic imaging, immediately after surgery, showed restoration of bone alignment with decompression of the brainstem in all patients. Neuroradiological signs of bone fusion were already evident 4 months after surgery in all but two patients.

Bone Fusion

Group 1

In patient #3, failure of bone fusion occurred 9 months after surgery, as a consequence of a cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) fistula and wound infection; further bone grafting from the iliac crest was successful after resolution of the CSF leakage. A significant reduction in the cervicomedullary junction contusion was evident at late follow-up.

Group 2

In patient #10, the hardware was revised and the synthetic bone graft substitute was removed 2 weeks after the staged instrumentation and fusion procedure, because of infective dehiscence of the surgical wound. After 2 months of polyan-tibiotic therapy (intravenous daptomycin 350 mg/day and oral rifampicin 600 mg/day), and 1 month after collar removal, a dynamic cervical MRI examination confirmed CVJ stability.

In both groups, despite the cranial fixation, no limitations in social life due to impaired head motion were observed in any patient.

Discussion

Sublaminar Instrumented Wiring Versus Lateral Mass Screw Implants

Wiring Technique

Sublaminar instrumented wiring remains an excellent and simple procedure for stabilizing the CVJ and upper cervical spine, resulting in a reasonably good mechanical outcome with a low incidence of complications [22]. The stiffness provided by the wiring, determined by the number of vertebrae enclosed by the instrumentation and augmented with external immobilization, is associated with bone fusion in 100% of cases [6, 22, 23]. This observation may help to overcome the early biomechanical drawbacks of sublaminar instrumented wiring with respect to lateral mass screw implants.

Screwing Technique

After early reports on small series of patients treated with this approach, several clinical studies reported that the results obtained with use of lateral mass screw implants were better than those obtained with sublaminar instrumented wiring [12–18]. However, complications reported at the very beginning of the experience (such as 30% of screws pulling out in the suboccipital area and a mortality rate of up to 9% after complex spine decompression and fixation) discouraged some paediatric spine surgeons from using lateral mass screw implants [14, 19]. Lateral mass screw implants in a paediatric population achieved bone fusion in 100% of cases, with a 10.4% complication rate, including vertebral artery injuries [7, 9, 20, 21].

Wiring Versus Screwing

More recently published experiences have seemed to report the same 100% incidence of fusion with both lateral mass screw implants and sublaminar instrumented wiring [6, 8, 14, 22, 23]. Despite a clear advantage of the screwing technique in terms of blood loss, surgery duration and postoperative immobilization, the infectious complication rate appears comparable.

Complications in Our Series

Wiring Technique

The difficulties encountered in patient #3, who had Down's syndrome, were ascribed to the patient's immunocompromised state (impaired monocyte and neutrophil chemotaxis, decreased phagocytosis and qualitative T-lymphocyte deficiency), which may have predisposed her to respiratory infections and postoperative complications. In similar cases, the rate of bone fusion may also be lower than that in other patients, probably as a result of deficient collagen synthesis, which contributes to bone graft pseudoarthrosis [24]. In accordance with the literature, to prevent frequent neck movements in the postoperative period—especially in children with delayed mental milestones and those with spastic-ity—halo immobilization was instituted early and until there was objective evidence of bony fusion, which could take as long as 6 months [5, 25].

Screwing Technique

We can hypothesize that a long-lasting infection, which occurred in one of our patients, played a role in the ossification process implied in CVJ fusion, since the ossification occurred 33 months after the onset of the infection. Finally (and very surprisingly), in our case the postinfective bone fusion not only produced good fixation but also resulted in a kind of odontoid regeneration that has not been reported so far. In fact, although our group has recently published a description of 'true' odontoid process regeneration (along with clival regeneration and recurrence of Chiari malformation) after transoral decompression, in the present case we observed union of the remaining C2 and C3 bodies, strongly mimicking concomitant, rather complete axis and clival regeneration [26, 27].

Conclusion

The wiring technique is simple, safe (continuous fluoroscopic assistance is not necessary and there is no risk of neurovascular injuries) and less expensive than the screwing technique, as no complex hardware devices and no neuronavigation systems are required.

The screwing technique requires a more accurate preoperative neuroradiological setting than the wiring technique but seems faster and is characterized by less blood loss and less postoperative discomfort.

Caution is needed to avoid postoperative complications (namely, a cerebrospinal fluid fistula) that might lead to secondary infections, bone graft pseudoarthrosis or external contamination.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

- Visocchi M, Doglietto F, Della Pepa GM, Esposito G, La Rocca G, Di Rocco C, Maira G, Fernandez E. Endoscope-assisted microsurgical transoral approach to the anterior craniovertebral junction compressive pathologies. Eur Spine J. 2011;20:1518–25.
- Visocchi M, Della Pepa GM, Doglietto F, Esposito G, La Rocca G, Massimi L. Video-assisted microsurgical transoral approach to the craniovertebral junction: personal experience in childhood. Childs Nerv Syst. 2011;27(5):825–31.
- Visocchi M. Advances in videoassisted anterior surgical approach to the craniovertebral junction. Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg. 2011;37:97–110.
- Visocchi M. Videoassisted anterior surgical approaches to the craniocervical junction: rationale and clinical results. Eur Spine J. 2014;24:2713–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-015-3873-6.
- Visocchi M, Fernandez EM, Ciampini A, Di Rocco C. Reducible and irreducible os odontoideum treated with posterior wiring, instrumentation and fusion. Past or present? Acta Neuroch (Wien). 2009;151(10):1265–74.
- Visocchi M, Di Rocco F, Meglio M. Craniocervical junction instability: instrumentation and fusion with titanium rods and sublaminar wires. Effectiveness and failures in personal experience. Acta Neurochir. 2003;145:265–72.
- Frankel HC, Hancock DO, Hyslop G. The value of postural reduction in the initial management of closed injures of the spine with paraplegia and tetraplegia. Paraplegia. 1969;7:179–1932.
- Gluf WM, Brockmeyer DL. Atlantoaxial transarticular screw fixation: a review of surgical indications, fusion rate, complications and lessons learned in 67 paediatric patients. J Neurosurg Spine. 2005;2:164–9.
- Magerl F, Seman PS. Stable posterior fusion of the atlas and axis by transarticular screw fixation. In: Kehr P, editor. Cervical spine. New York: Springer; 1987. p. 322–7.
- 10. Diaz JH, Belani KG. Perioperative management of children with mucopolysaccharidoses. Anesth Analg. 1993;77:1261–70.
- Lorenzo D. Craniocervical junction malformation treated by transoral approach. A survey of 25 cases with emphasis on postoperative instability and outcome. Acta Neuroch. 1992;118:112–6.
- Grob D. Occipitocervical fusion in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Orthop. 1999;366:46–53.
- Grob D, Dvorak J, Panjabi M. Posterior occipitocervical fusion. A preliminary report of a new technique. Spine. 1991;16(3 Suppl):17–24.
- Grob D, Dvorak J, Panjabi MM, Antinnes JA. The role of plate and screw fixation in occipitocervical fusion in rheumatoid arthritis. Spine. 1994;15:2545–51.
- Hensinger RN. Congenital anomalies of the cervical spine. Clin Orthop. 1991;64:16–38.
- Oda I, Abumi K, Sell LC, Haggerty CJ, Cunningham BW, McAfee PC. Biomechanical evaluation of five different occipito-atlantoaxial fixation technique. Spine. 1999;24:2377–82.
- Smith MD, Anderson P, Grady MS. Occipitocervical arthrodesis using contoured plate fixation, an early report on a versatile fixation technique. Spine. 1993;18(14):1984–90.
- Vale E. Rigid occipitocervical fusion. J Neursurg. 1999;91(2 Suppl): 144–50.
- Cahill D. Posterior occipital reconstruction using cervical pedicle screw and plate-rod system. Spine 15. 2000;24(14):1425–34.
- Grob D, Janneret B, Aebi M. Atlantoaxial fusion with transarticular screw fixation. J Bone Joint Surg. 1991;73B:972–6.
- Marcotte P, Dickman CA, Sonntag VHK. Posterior atlantoaxial facet screw fixation. J Neurosurg. 1993;79:234–7.
- Dickman CA. Occipitocervical wiring techniques. In: Surgery of the craniovertebral junction. New York: Thieme; 1998. p. 795–808.

- Menezes AH. Occipito-cervical fusion: indications, technique and avoidance of complications. In: Hitchon PW, editor. Techniques of spinal fusion and stabilisation. New York: Thieme; 1994. p. 82–91.
- 24. Segal LE, Drummond DS, Zanotti RM. Complications of posterior arthrodesis of the cervical spine in patients who have Down syndrome. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1991;73:1547–54.
- Ryken TC, Menezes AH. Abnormailities of the craniovertebral junction in Down's syndrome. In: Principles of spinal surgery. New York: McGraw Hill; 1995. p. 395–409.
- 26. Visocchi M, Trevisi G, Iacopino DG, Tamburrini G, Caldarelli M, Barbagallo GM. Odontoid process and clival regeneration with Chiari malformation worsening after transoral decompression: an unexpected and previously unreported cause of "accordion phenomenon". Eur Spine J. 2015;24(Suppl 4):S564–8.
- Visocchi M, Mattogno PP, Signorelli F, Zhong J, Iacopino G, Barbagallo G. Complications in craniovertebral junction instrumentation: hardware removal can be associated with long-lasting stability. Personal experience. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2017;124:187–94.

Retro-odontoid Degenerative Pseudotumour Causing Spinal Cord Compression and Myelopathy: Current Evidence on the Role of Posterior C1–C2 Fixation in Treatment



Francesco Certo, Massimiliano Maione, Massimiliano Visocchi, and Giuseppe M. V. Barbagallo

Abstract *Background:* A retro-odontoid pseudotumour compressing the spinal cord and causing myelopathy is often associated with an inflammatory condition such as rheumatoid arthritis. A degenerative non-inflammatory retro-odontoid pseudotumour responsible for clinically relevant spinal cord compression is a rare condition described in small clinical series and is likely associated with craniovertebral junction hypermobility or instability–like conditions. For several years, direct removal of the lesion through an anterior or lateral approach has been advocated as the best surgical option. However, in the last decade the posterior approach to the craniovertebral junction, to perform C1–C2 fixation and C1 laminectomy without removal of the retro-odontoid tissue, has demonstrated its efficacy in reducing retro-odontoid pannus as well as in obtaining improvement of myelopathy.

Methods: In this paper we analyse the clinical and radiological outcomes of seven patients (five males and two females) treated with posterior C1–C2 fixation and C1 laminectomy for a degenerative non-inflammatory retro-odontoid pseudotumour responsible for spinal cord compression. C1 laminectomy provided immediate spinal cord decompression. We also review the relevant literature focusing on associated cervical degenerative conditions that may contribute to triggering or acceleration of atlantoaxial hypermobility or 'instability', causing formation of the retro-odontoid tissue.

Results: The mean follow-up period (of six followed-up patients) was 55.8 months (range 10–96 months). In all cases the Nurick score at the latest follow-up visit demonstrated clinical improvement; magnetic resonance imaging during follow-up demonstrated progressive reduction of the retroodontoid pseudotumour in all but one patient, who died of surgery-unrelated disease in the early postoperative period.

F. Certo · M. Maione · G. M. V. Barbagallo (🖂)

M. Visocchi Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University of Rome, Rome, Italy No vascular or neural damage secondary to C1–C2 fixation was observed.

Conclusion: C1–C2 fixation associated with C1 laminectomy is an effective surgical option to treat myelopathy secondary to a degenerative retro-odontoid pseudotumour. In these cases, direct removal of intracanalar tissue compressing the spinal cord is not required, as C1–C2 fixation is sufficient to cause its disappearance.

Keywords Atlantoaxial fixation · Craniovertebral junction · Cervical myelopathy · Odontoid process · Retro-odontoid pseudotumour

Introduction

A retro-odontoid pseudotumour [1], also known as pannus or a phantom tumour [2], is non-neoplastic, fibroreactive tissue involving the odontoid process and the surrounding structures of the craniovertebral junction [3, 4], causing different degrees of spinal cord compression.

Although the aetiology and pathophysiology of retroodontoid pseudotumour formation and growth are unclear, various predisposing factors associated with its development have been identified, including inflammatory diseases (rheumatoid arthritis [5] and psoriatic arthritis [6]) and, less frequently, non-inflammatory pathologies (including posttraumatic pseudoarthrosis of the odontoid process, unstable odontoid fractures [7], os odontoideum [3, 8-10], postlaminoplasty kyphotic cervical instability [11], long-term haemodialysis [12], craniocervical junction malformations [10] and chronic atlantoaxial subluxation/instability [1, 13]). In cases related to inflammatory conditions, chronic damage of the C1-C2 ligamentous complex has been postulated as a likely factor inducing the development of retro-odontoid pannus [14]. Conversely, the pathogenesis is not clear in non-inflammatory cases, although atlantoaxial instability is

Department of Neurological Surgery, Policlinico "Gaspare Rodolico" University Hospital, Catania, Italy

often identified [13, 15]. Barbagallo et al. hypothesized that extensive subaxial cervical spine spondylotic changes, with reduced segmental hypomobility, might be coupled with compensatory hypermobility in the C1–C2 area and that such a phenomenon would eventually induce formation of retro-odontoid pannus [16].

Surgical treatment of a retro-odontoid pseudotumour can be performed by direct removal of the mass through a transsphenoidal/transoral/transpharyngeal approach [5, 17], a high cervical lateral approach [18] or a posterior extradural approach via laminectomy. Recently, posterior approaches to the craniovertebral junction, such as occipitocervical [10, 11, 19–22] or atlantoaxial [7, 9, 19, 23–28] fixation or C1 laminoplasty [2], have been reported by several authors, as they can induce a progressive, spontaneous reduction in the volume of the pseudotumour, avoiding the need for its direct resection.

We report our institutional experience with a cohort of patients presenting with compressive myelopathy related to a degenerative, non-inflammatory retro-odontoid pseudotumour, surgically managed with C1–C2 fixation combined with laminectomy of the C1 posterior arch. The timing of the pseudotumour reduction over medium-term follow-up and its relation to each patient's clinical and radiological features are analysed.

Materials and Methods

Patients

Between July 2009 and August 2016, seven patients (five male and two female), with a mean age of 63.7 years (range 55–76 years), were treated. Clinical and radiological data were retrieved from the patients' charts and/or the institutional electronic database. Clinical and radiological follow-up evaluations were performed at 3, 6 and 12 months after surgical treatment, and then every year.

Clinical and Radiological Assessments

All patients underwent neurological evaluation before surgery, postoperatively and at each follow-up visit. The Nurick score was used to assess the severity of myelopathy. The preoperative imaging protocol was the following: cervical x-rays with flexion–extension views, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and computed tomography (CT) angiography of the craniovertebral junction with multiplanar reconstruction. Retro-odontoid pannus features were classified according to MRI findings, as proposed by Yonezawa in 2013 [29]: type 1 pannus (hyperintense on T2 and hypointense on T1) was observed in two cases; type 2 pannus (hypointense on T2 and iso- or hyperintense on T1) was identified in one case; and type 3 pannus (a combination of hypo- and hyperintense on T2 and T1) was depicted in four cases. Interestingly, a patient with type 2 pannus had eggshell calcification surrounding the retro-odontoid pannus, clearly visible on the CT scan. Preoperative radiological evaluation also documented the presence of atlas assimilation in two patients, platybasia associated with C1 assimilation and consequent Chiari malformation type I in one patient, and diffuse idiopathic skeletal hyperostosis (DISH) in two other patients (Fig. 1). Both MRI and CT scanning clearly documented signs of subaxial spondylosis in all patients. Two patients had already undergone surgery for cervical spondylotic myelopathy at the C5-C6/C6-C7 and C5-C6 levels, respectively (Table 1). The preoperative radiological evaluation documented signs of advanced subaxial cervical spondylosis in all patients.

Cervical x-rays, CT scanning and MRI were also performed immediately after surgery. Moreover, the patients underwent MRI over the follow-up period to document the progressive reabsorption of retro-odontoid tissue.

Surgical Treatment

Depending on the patients' individual associated conditions (i.e. the presence of atlantoaxial assimilation), different surgical approaches were performed. Three patients underwent C1–C2 fixation according to the Goel–Harms technique. Occipitocervical fixation was performed in three patients: two with atlantoaxial assimilation and one with radiological signs of pre-existing C0–C1 fusion (in one patient, screws were inserted into the occipital condyles; in the remaining two cases, an occipital plate was implanted). In two other patients, C1–C2 fixation with C2 translaminar screws was performed (Fig. 1). Resection of the C1 posterior arch was performed in four of the seven patients, and C1–C3 laminectomy and posterior decompression of the foramen magnum were performed in two other cases (Table 1). All surgical procedures were performed by the senior author (GMVB).

Results

The mean follow-up period (in the six followed-up patients) was 55.8 months (range 10–96 months).

All surgical procedures were performed without perioperative complications. Postoperative x-rays and CT scans demonstrated correct device positioning in all cases. One patient died 10 days after the surgery because of acute kidney disease and multiorgan failure. The mean Nurick score of the other six patients decreased from 4 (range 3–5) to 2.3 (range 1–3) by the time of the latest follow-up. The neurological status



Fig. 1 Images of patient #7. (a) Preoperative sagittal T2-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showing the presence of retroodontoid pannus compressing and dislocating the spinal cord. (b) Sagittal reconstructed computed tomography (CT) scan showing multiple anterior osteophytes limiting the physiological motion of the cervical spine. (c) Postoperative anteroposterior x-rays and (d) postop-

erative lateral X-rays demonstrating C1–C2 fixation; because the right C2 pedicle was too narrow, a translaminar screw was used (a hybrid construct). Postoperative 1-month and 6-month spine MRI documented (e) the progressive reduction and (f) the disappearance of the retro-odontoid pseudotumour

Patient (age/sex)	AAI or AAS (Y/N)	Subaxial spondylosis (level/s)	Associated conditions	Surgical procedure	Time to pannus reduction/ disappearance	Follow-up
55/M	N	C2–C3	-	C1–C2 fixation with C1 laminectomy (C1 lateral mass and C2 pedicle screws)	8 months	96
63/M	Ν	C5–C6 (fusion)	DISH	C1–C2 fixation with C1 laminectomy (C1 lateral mass and C2 pedicle screws)	12 months	83
76/F	Ν	C4-C5/C5-C6	Atlas assimilation	C0–C3 (C2 translaminar screws and C3 lateral mass)	NA	NA
58/F	Ν	C4–C5	Atlas assimilation	Occipito-C5 fixation (C2 translaminar screws and C3 lateral mass, C4 and C5 pedicle screws on one side and lateral mass screw on the other side)	6 months	78
64M	Ν	C4-C5/C5-C6	Atlas assimilation, platybasia and Chiari malformation	Occipito-C3 fixation in 1 pt with C1 assimilation (C2 translaminar screws and C3 lateral mass)	14 months reduction (pannus still present at 24 months FU)	46
59/M	Ν	C5-C6	Previous ACDF	C1–C2 fixation with C1 laminectomy (C1 lateral mass and C2 pedicle screws)	12 months	22
71/F	Ν	C3–C4/C4–C5/ C5–C6	DISH	C1–C2 fixation with C1 laminectomy (C1 lateral mass and C2 one translaminar screw and one pedicle screw)	6 months	10

Table 1 Review of institutional series of degenerative retro-odontoid pannus treated by posterior fixation

AAI atlanto-axial instability, AAS atlanto-axial subluxation, DISH diffuse idiopathic skeletal hyperostosis, ACDF anterior cervical discectomy and fusion

remained unchanged immediately after surgery in all but one patient (the one showing calcified pannus). This patient reported transient worsening of pre-existing right upper limb weakness, which progressively recovered within 6 months after the surgery. A clinical improvement over the follow-up period was documented in all patients.

Radiological follow-up was performed in six of the seven patients. A significant and progressive decrease in retroodontoid tissue was documented in all cases during the follow-up period. In the patient with calcified retro-odontoid tissue, incomplete reabsorption of the pseudotumour was documented 2 years after the surgery, albeit that the patient had experienced a slight clinical improvement (the Nurick score varied from 4 to 3). A direct anterior transoral approach to remove the pseudotumour was advised, but the patient did not consent to further surgery.

Discussion

Compressive myelopathy due to a retro-odontoid pseudotumour has been described as being related to chronic inflammatory conditions involving the skeletal system and joints, such as rheumatoid or psoriatic arthritis [5, 6, 24, 30]. Rare cases of retro-odontoid pannus associated not with an inflammatory condition but, rather, with a purely degenerative aetiology have been described [3, 7–12, 25]. The formation and growth of degenerative retro-odontoid pannus has been correlated with underlying instability of the atlantoaxial joint, which is responsible for continuous mechanical stress on the ligamentous and cartilaginous complex of the C1–C2 joint. This condition may lead to altered tissue turnover, causing formation of retro-odontoid pannus. However, even more rare cases of retro-odontoid pannus without overt C1–C2 instability have been also described [26, 31].

Symptomatic patients usually present with symptoms and signs of pyramidal tract involvement as a result of direct compression of the anterior columns of the spinal cord. Direct decompression can be achieved by resection of the abnormal retro-odontoid tissue through an anterior (transoral, transsphenoidal or transpharyngeal) [5, 17] or anterolateral route [18]. Posterior approaches to the craniovertebral junction have been more recently proposed as an alternative to anterior or anterolateral approaches, with the rationale of managing the retro-odontoid pseudotumour and treating the C1-C2 instability, which may have caused its formation. Different surgical techniques have been proposed to stabilize the craniovertebral junction, according to the different anatomical features of patients [32–34]. In general, when the anatomy of the CO-C1-C2 joints is normal and there are no signs of instability at the C2-C3 level, C1-C2 posterior fixation using a Magerl or Goel-Harms technique is sufficient to ensure solid fixation of the craniovertebral junction [32, 33, 35-40]. Conversely, in cases of atlas assimilation, platybasia, etc., occipitocervical fixation appears to be the most effective and safe surgical option [41]. Controversies exist regarding the best surgical strategy for patients without overt C1-C2 instability [26, 31]. In such cases a different pathogenesis, not related to the presence of C1-C2 instability, has
been postulated. Indeed, some authors have suggested that simple posterior neural decompression may be effective [2, 31]. Conversely, a case of a patient affected by a retroodontoid pseudotumour not associated with C1–C2 subluxation, which was successfully managed by C1–C2 fixation, was reported in 2009 by Tanaka et al. [26], who observed a clinically and radiological significant reduction of the retroodontoid pseudotumour 6 months after the surgery.

Atlantoaxial instability was not present in any patient included in the present series. In all cases we observed 'delayed' indirect neural decompression after C1-C2 fixation, related to the progressive reduction and disappearance of the retro-odontoid pannus. Moreover, we found a constant presence of subaxial spondylosis in all cases. This findings has not been well investigated in the literature. Chikuda et al. published findings from a series of ten patients who had retroodontoid pannus without associated inflammatory diseases [4]. Eight patients in that series had no signs of C1–C2 instability, and four of those eight also had subaxial spondylosis. We have already hypothesized in a previous paper that the genesis of degenerative retro-odontoid pannus in cases not associated with an inflammatory condition or C1-C2 instability may be explained by abnormal mechanical stress on the craniovertebral junction, caused by reduced motion at subaxial levels [16]. In our series, the hypothesis of subaxial reduced motion as a cause of retro-odontoid pannus development is supported by the fact that two of our patients had previously undergone anterior cervical discectomy and fusion at subaxial levels and two other patients suffered from DISH.

In our previous publication on this topic, we also performed a systematic literature review of studies reporting retro-odontoid pannus treated by a posterior approach [16]. We found only a few reports on retro-odontoid pannus that was not associated with inflammatory disease or with atlantoaxial subluxation or instability.

The timing of the reduction/disappearance of the retroodontoid tissue was variable in our series, as in the other published series [7, 10, 11, 13]. However, a retrospective classification of preoperative MRI scans according to the classification proposed by Yonezawa et al. [29] for rheumatoid retro-odontoid pannus showed that the timing of its disappearance in two patients with type 1 pannus and in three of four patients (one patient died 10 days after surgery) with type 2 pannus ranged from 6 to 12 months. One patient with type 2 pannus had a reduction but not disappearance of the pannus at follow-up. In this patient the presence of eggshell calcification of the retro-odontoid tissue probably limited the reabsorption process. The timing of pannus reduction/disappearance reported in our series is similar to those described in other recent series. We did not observe immediate or early postoperative disappearance of the pseudotumour, as reported by Shah et al. [42] and Ito et al. [43].

Posterior decompression including the C1 posterior arch was performed in four of the seven cases in the present series. We believe that this further surgical adjunct may ensure early neural decompression in patients with a more severe clinical status [44].

A further interesting finding in the present series is related to the medium-term follow-up results. Indeed, we observed that the progressive reduction of the retro-odontoid pseudotumour demonstrated by sequential follow-up MRI was accompanied by consequent improvement in the clinical status, documented by the reduction in the Nurick score. In a subsequent phase, both the clinical status and MRI findings remained stable. In two patients, worsening of subaxial spondylosis required further surgery 13 months and 38 months after the previous surgery, respectively. The clinical history of such cases supports the hypothesis that a retro-odontoid pseudotumour represents a clinical and anatomopathological manifestation of a larger and dynamic degenerative phenomenon, involving—at an earlier stage—the subaxial spine and then extending also to the craniovertebral junction.

Conclusion

A degenerative retro-odontoid pseudotumour not associated with inflammatory disease is a rare condition requiring proper management. Posterior craniovertebral junction fixation is a reliable and effective option leading to 'delayed' neural decompression related to progressive pannus reabsorption. This condition remains stable at medium-term follow-up, albeit that associated subaxial spondylosis, which is often observed in cases without atlantoaxial instability, may require further surgical procedures. Multicentre studies and larger clinical series are encouraged in order to clarify the optimal management of these complex conditions.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

References

- Sze G, Brant-Zawadzki MN, Wilson CR, Norman D, Newton TH. Pseudotumor of the craniovertebral junction associated with chronic subluxation: MR imaging studies. Radiology. 1986;161:391–4.
- Suetsuna F, Narita H, Ono A, Ohishi H. Regression of retroodontoid pseudotumors following C1 laminoplasty. J Neurosurg Spine. 2006;5:455–60.
- Chang H, Park JB, Kim KW, Choi WS. Retro-dental reactive lesions related to development of myelopathy in patients with atlantoaxial instability secondary to os odontoideum. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2000;25:2777–83.
- Chikuda H, Seichi A, Takeshita K, Shoda N, Ono T, Matsudaira K, Kawaguchi H, Nakamura K. Radiographic analysis of the cervical spine in patients with retro-odontoid pseudotumors. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2009;34(3):E110–4.

- Crockard HA, Pozo JL, Ransford AO, Stevens JM, Kendall BE, Essigman WK. Transoral decompression and posterior fusion for rheumatoid atlanto-axial subluxation. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1986;68:350–6.
- Lu K, Lee TC. Spontaneous regression of periodontoid pannus mass in psoriatic atlantoaxial subluxation. Case report. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1999;24:578–81.
- Young WF, Boyko O. Magnetic resonance imaging confirmation of resolution of periodontoid pannus formation following C1/C2 posterior transarticular screw fixation. J Clin Neurosci. 2002;9:434–6.
- Chang H, Park JB, Kim KW. Synovial cyst of the transverse ligament of the atlas in a patient with os odontoideum and atlantoaxial instability. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2000;25(6):741–4.
- Jun BY. Complete reduction of retro-odontoid soft tissue mass in os odontoideum following the posterior C1–C2 transarticular screw fixation. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1999;24:1961–4.
- Lagares A, Arrese I, Pascual B, Gomez PA, Ramos A, Lobato RD. Pannus resolution after occipitocervical fusion in a nonrheumatoid atlanto-axial instability. Eur Spine J. 2006;15:366–9.
- Matsumoto T, Takada S, Tsujimoto K, Ozaki T, Ishimoto K, Tsumura N, Shiba R, Kurosada M. Enlarging retro-odontoid pseudotumor after expanding cervical laminoplasty in the presence of kyphosis. Spine J. 2006;6(3):228–32.
- Rousselin B, Helenon O, Zingraff J, Delons S, Drueke T, Bardin T, Moreau JF. Pseudotumor of the craniocervical junction during long-term hemodialysis. Arthritis Rheum. 1990;33:1567–73.
- Isono M, Ishii K, Kamida T, Fujiki M, Goda M, Kobayashi H. Retroodontoid soft tissue mass associated with atlantoaxial subluxation in an elderly patient: a case report. Surg Neurol. 2001;55:223–7.
- Tojo S, Kawakami R, Yonenaga T, Hayashi D, Fukuda K. Factors influencing on retro-odontoid soft-tissue thickness: analysis by magnetic resonance imaging. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2013;38(5):401–6.
- Takami T, Goto T, Tsuyuguchi N, Nishikawa M, Ohata K. Posterior C1-2 fixation with cancellous screw and rod system for retro-odontoid pseudotumor associated with chronic atlantoaxial subluxation. Technical note. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 2007;47(4):189–94.
- Barbagallo GMV, Certo F, Visocchi M, Palmucci S, Sciacca G, Albanese V. Disappearance of degenerative, non-inflammatory, retro-odontoid pseudotumor following posterior C1–C2 fixation: case series and review of the literature. Eur Spine J. 2013;22(Suppl 6):S879–88. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-013-3004-1.
- Moskovich R, Crockard H. Posttraumatic atlanto-axial subluxation and myelopathy. Efficacy of anterior decompression. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1990;15:442–7.
- Oohori Y, Seichi A, Kawaguchi H, Tajiri Y, Oda H, Nakamura K. Retroodontoid pseudotumor resected by a high cervical lateral approach in a rheumatoid arthritis patient: a case report. J Orthop Sci. 2004;9:90–3.
- Finn MA, Bishop FS, Dailey AT. Surgical treatment of occipitocervical instability. Neurosurgery. 2008;63(5):961–9.
- Lansen TA, Kasoff SS, Tenner MS. Occipitocervical fusion for reduction of traumatic periodontoid hypertrophic cicatrix. Case report. J Neurosurg. 1990;73(3):466–7.
- Oda I, Abumi K, Sell LC, Haggerty CJ, Cunningham BW, McAfee PC. Biomechanical evaluation of five different occipito-atlantoaxial fixation techniques. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1999;24:2377–82.
- Zygmunt S, Saveland H, Brattstrom H, Ljunggren B, Larsson EM, Wollheim F. Reduction of rheumatoid periodontoid pannus following posterior occipito-cervical fusion visualised by magnetic resonance imaging. Br J Neurosurg. 1988;2:315–20.
- Cihanek M, Fuentes S, Metellus P, Pech-Gourg G, Dufour H, Grisoli F. Disappearance of retro-odontoid pseudotumor after C1– C2 transarticular fixation screw. Neurochirurgie. 2008;54(1):32–6.

- Grob D, Wursch R, Grauer W, Sturzenegger J, Dvorak J. Atlantoaxial fusion and retrodental pannus in rheumatoid arthritis. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1997;22:1580–4.
- Ogata T, Kawatani Y, Morino T, Yamamoto H. Resolution of intraspinal retro-odontoid cyst associated with os odontoideum after posterior fixation. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2009;22(1):58–61.
- Tanaka S, Nakada M, Hayashi Y, Mohri M, Hayashi Y, Uchiyama N, Hamada J. Retro-odontid pseudotumor without atlantoaxial subluxation. Case report. J Clin Neurosci. 2009;17:649–52.
- Tessitore E, Bartoli A, Schaller K, Payer M. Accuracy of freehand fluoroscopy-guided placement of C1 lateral mass and C2 isthmic screws in atlanto-axial instability. Acta Neurochir. 2011;153:1417–25.
- Yamaguchi I, Shibuia S, Arima N, Oka S, Kanda Y, Yamamoto T. Remarkable reduction or disappearance of retroodontoid pseudotumors after occipitocervical fusion. J Neurosurg Spine. 2006;5:156–60.
- Yonezawa I, Okuda T, Won J, Sakoda J, Nakahara D, Nojiri H, Muto O, Momomura R, Kaneko K. Retrodental mass in rheumatoid arthritis. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2013;26(2):E65–9.
- Larsson EM, Holtas S, Zygmunt S. Pre- and postoperative MR imaging of the craniocervical junction in rheumatoid arthritis. Am J Roentgenol. 1989;152(3):561–6.
- Kakutani K, Doita M, Yoshikawa M, Okamoto K, Maeno K, Yurube T, Sha N, Kurosaka M, Nishida K. C1 laminectomy for retroodontoid pseudotumor without atlantoaxial subluxation: review of seven consecutive cases. Eur Spine J. 2013;22(5):1119–26.
- Goel A, Laheri V. Plate and screw fixation for atlanto-axial subluxation. Acta Neurochir. 1994;129(1–2):47–53.
- Goel A. Treatment of basilar invagination by atlantoaxial joint distraction and direct lateral mass fixation. J Neurosurg Spine. 2004;1:281–6.
- Harms J, Melcher RP. Posterior C1–C2 fusion with polyaxial screw and rod fixation. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2001;26(22):2467–71.
- Jacobson ME, Khan SN, An HS. C1–C2 posterior fixation: indications, technique, and results. Orthop Clin North Am. 2012;43(1):11–8.
- Lee S-H, Kim SE, Sung J, Park Y, Eoh W. Clinical and radiological comparison of treatment of atlantoaxial instability by posterior C1–C2 transarticular screw fixation or C1 lateral mass–C2 pedicle screw fixation. J Clin Neurosci. 2010;17:886–92.
- Magerl F, Seeman PS. Stable posterior fusion of the atlas and axis by transarticular screw fixation. In: Kehr P, Weidner A, editors. Cervical spine. Vienna: Springer; 1987. p. 322–7.
- Thompson RC Jr, Meyer TJ. Posterior surgical stabilization for atlanto-axial subluxation in rheumatoid arthritis. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1985;10:597–601.
- Vergara P, Bal JS, Hickman Casey AT, Crockard HA, Choi D. C1–C2 posterior fixation: are four screws better than two? Neurosurgery. 2011;71(1 Suppl Operative):86–95.
- Wright NM. Posterior C2 fixation using bilateral, crossing C2 laminar screws: case series and technical note. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2004;17(2):158–62.
- Nishizawa S, Ryu H, Yokoyama T, Uemura K. Myelopathy caused by retro-odontoid disc hernia: case report. Neurosurgery. 1996;39(6):1256–9.
- Shah A, Jain S, Kaswa A, Goel A. Immediate postoperative disappearance of retro-odontoid "pseudotumor". World Neurosurg. 2016;91:419–23.
- Ito T, Hayashi M, Ogino T. Retrodental synovial cyst which disappeared after posterior C1–C2 fusion: a case report. J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong). 2000;8:83–7.
- 44. Yamazaki M, Okawa A, Mannoji C, Katoda R, Miyashita T, Koda M. C1 dome-like laminotomy and posterior C1–C2 polyaxial screw–rod fixation for a patient with cervical myelopathy due to a retro-odontoid pseudotumor. J Clin Neurosci. 2009;16:99–103.

Insights into the Past and Future of Atlantoaxial Stabilization Techniques



Nabeel S. Alshafai, Agnieszka Kramarz, and Minou Behboudi

Abstract Over the past century, atlantoaxial stabilization techniques have improved considerably. To our knowledge there has been a scarcity of articles published that focus specifically on the history of atlantoaxial stabilization. Examining the history of instrumentation allows us to evaluate the impact of early influences on current modern stabilization techniques. It also provides inspiration to further develop the techniques and prevents repetition of mistakes. This paper reviews the evolution of C1–C2 instrumentation techniques over time and provides insights into the future of these practices.

We did an extensive literature search in PubMed, Embase and Google Scholar, using the following search terms: 'medical history', 'atlantoaxial', 'C1/C2', 'stabilization', 'instrumentation', 'fusion', 'arthrodesis', 'grafting', 'neuroimaging', 'biomechanical testing', 'anatomical considerations' and 'future'.

Many different entry zones have been tested, as well as different constructs, from initial attempts with use of silk threads to use of hooks and rod–wire techniques, and handling of bone grafts, which eventually led to the development of the advanced screw–rod constructs that are currently in use. Much of this evolution is attributable to advancements in neuroimaging, a wide range of new materials available and an improvement in biomechanical understanding in relation to anatomical structures.

Keywords Medical history \cdot Atlantoaxial \cdot Stabilization Fixation \cdot History \cdot C1/C2 \cdot Instrumentation \cdot History of surgery

Introduction

Stabilization of the spine started at the turn of the twentieth century, primarily for treating Pott's disease. The atlantoaxial joint is a treacherous surgical zone because of the proximity of vital neurovascular structures, such as the vertebral artery with all of its associated anatomical variations [1]. Added to that, it is a highly mobile joint and has a relatively frail osseous structure. Consequently, surgical approaches to stabilize the atlantoaxial joint are usually attempted later than approaches to stabilize the subaxial spine.

This historical review aims to identify the successes and failures of C1–C2 fusion—knowledge of which, we believe, provides a basis for continued innovation. Advances in neuroimaging, smart material availability and minimally invasive technologies have brought us to the dawn of a new way of stabilizing the atlantoaxial joint. Consequently, this evolution is expected to continue, and this paper touches on the ongoing improvements and what is on the horizon.

Methods

A retrospective literature review was conducted to identify historical landmarks in the evolution of atlantoaxial stabilization. Numerous surgeons have attempted to improve this operation, and this review does not provide a comprehensive list of all of them. It is merely an attempt to highlight the milestones that have led this operation to become what it is now.

Search Strategy and Study Selection

A non-systematic review with no year-of-publication limit was performed using the following databases: PubMed, Embase and Google Scholar. Moreover, a traditional Google

N. S. Alshafai (🖂) · M. Behboudi

Alshafai Neurosurgical Academy (ANA), Toronto, ON, Canada A. Kramarz

Alshafai Neurosurgical Academy (ANA), Toronto, ON, Canada

Department of Neurosurgery, Medical University of Gdańsk, Gdańsk, Poland

search was performed and major book chapters were used. The keywords used were 'medical history', 'atlantoaxial', 'C1/C2', 'stabilization', 'instrumentation', 'fusion', 'arthrodesis', 'grafting', 'neuroimaging', 'biomechanical testing', 'anatomical considerations', 'innovations' and 'future'.

In addition, screening of the reference lists and bibliographies of the chosen publications extended the full list. Because of our linguistic capabilities, we were able to include papers written in English, Polish, French and Turkish. These searches yielded a total of 53 relevant articles.

Results

The Beginning of C1–C2 Stabilization: Wiring and Bone Grafting

The cause of cervical instability at the level of C1–C2 can be attributed to congenital deformity or acquired abnormalities such as those secondary to infection, trauma or a tumour [2]. The first attempt at stabilizing the atlantoaxial complex dates back to 1910, when Mixter and Osgood used heavy silk thread and laid the ground for more sophisticated wiring techniques (Fig. 1). This is consistent with the fact that this region is so complex that the techniques need to prove viable for less technically demanding regions [3]. By the early 1900s, it was known that spinal instability could be corrected using instrumentation but that fusion needed to be achieved, as instrumentation alone resulted in breakage.

In 1939, Gallie reported his method of laminar wiring (Fig. 2). Bone grafts from the patient's iliac crest were placed over the C2 spinous process and leaned against the C1 posterior arch. Then a steel wire was wrapped around the arch of the C1 and C2 processes, which gave good stability on flexion and extension movements, but not rotation. In 1978, to address this rotational instability problem, Brooks and Jenkins offered an alternative in which two iliac crest grafts were placed between the C1 and C2 arches and stabilized with two wires: one on each side [4]. However, the increased number of wires and the process of passing them under the C2 lamina posed a risk of greater neural injury.

Dickman and Sonntag published a modification of the wiring techniques in 1991 as an attempt to solve the two disadvantages of the two previously described techniques [5]. They passed a sublaminar wire from inferior to superior around the C1 posterior arch, then an iliac crest graft was placed as in the Gallie technique, with the difference that it was not just laid against the C1 arch but wedged underneath it and the surfaces underneath the bone graft were decorticated [6]. Next, a notch was made in the C2 spinous process; the cable was wrapped around the bone graft and secured in the C2 notch. Along with wiring techniques, a halo vest was required for good stabilization.







Fig. 2 (a) A Gallie type of fusion with two variations: (*upper*) (a) single loop of wire around the posterior arch, securing the only bone graft; and (*lower*) a double-loop technique with a wire around the arch of C1 [24]. (b) Demonstration of the use of interlaminar clamps. The clamps are placed on each side over the lamina and are secured by tightening of the screws. A bone graft is placed between the spinous processes to enhance fusion [17]. (c) Magerl first described the use of transarticular

screws. This is a relatively simple and inexpensive way to fixate the C1–C2 joint [25]. (d) Placement of a C1 lateral mass screw [10]. (e) A completed C1 lateral mass screw–C2 pedicle screw construct (Goel's technique) [10]. (f) Anterior view of the atlas, depicting the fixation and the final position of the screw, and lateral view showing bone graft insertion in the facet joint [9]



Fig. 2 (continued)

Wiring techniques are still used, with the improvement of using more modern materials, such as titanium, which are more flexible and do not pose as great a risk of neural damage.

Interlaminar Clamps, Hooks and Magnetic Resonance Imaging

Interlaminar clamps, just like wiring techniques, require an intact lamina and are not solutions for fractures or when decompression is needed [7]. They also require use of a halo vest for satisfactory stabilization. They were introduced to avoid the need for passing sublaminar wires and to reduce

the risk of neural injury. They were successful in the subaxial spine [8]. Therefore, as an expected progression, surgeons tried to apply them to C1–C2 [8].

Tucker introduced the concept in 1975, and Holness described the first case of application of interlaminar clamps to the atlantoaxial joint in 1988. In the meantime, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) started becoming a primary diagnostic modality. To avoid ferromagnetic artefacts, surgeons started using alternatives to stainless steel, such as titanium alloy clamps, which had an impact on all stabilization techniques. In contrast to the wiring techniques that are still being used, interlaminar clamps have fallen out of favour for use in C1–C2, mostly because of failure of the hardware, which tends to slip before fusion is achieved [8–10].

The Transarticular Screw

In 1979, Magerl introduced a technique that, for the first time, caused complete obliteration of rotational movement and could be used when the posterior axis was damaged: the transarticular screw (TAS) technique. However, this technique has a steep learning curve and poses a great risk to the vertebral artery. This risk was decreased by applying the concept of stereotaxis, which was developed as early as 1906 and used for the brain for the first time in 1947 [7]. Nevertheless, this technique is still not applicable to cases with a high-riding vertebral artery. Other drawbacks of the TAS technique are the need to align the vertebrae before screwing and the fact that the screws cannot be adjusted afterward.

Screw–Rod Constructs and Biomechanical Testing

To eliminate the drawbacks of the TAS, use of C1 lateral mass screws and C2 pedicle screws (C1LMS–C2PS) was introduced. This technique is just as stable as the TAS technique, but it is easier to perform and poses a smaller risk to the vertebral artery [11]. In 2001, Harms and Melcher substituted the plates used by Goel with rods and contributed to popularization of the method.

In 2002, Benzel et al. reported a different entry point: through the posterior arch. In 2003, Tan et al. described a notching technique in which they made a different entry point by notching the posterior arch. In 2002, Wright developed the translaminar screw (TLS) for C2, which is less biomechanically stable but poses only a very small risk to the vertebral artery.

To sum up the surgeon's armamentarium, the C1LMS technique done by any of the above three variants—Harms, Benzel or Tan—can be combined with one of the following C2 screws: the pedicle, the pars (the same as the pedicle but shorter) and the translaminar screw. The screws are connected with rods to create stabilization. This allows a wider range of possible angles for adjustment to individual anatomy (including a high-riding vertebral artery) and for reduction and adjustment of the final fixation position after the screws are put in.

This presents a wide range of options available for the modern neurosurgeon to choose from, using different innovative techniques with their practical advantages. The choice of technique needs to be carefully balanced between the individual anatomy of the patient and the stability that each technique provides, as well as the surgeon's capabilities.

Biomechanical testing has its origin in antiquity and was attempted a long time ago by Hippocrates, Leonardo da Vinci and, more comprehensively, by Borelli, who is considered the father of spinal biomechanics. The introduction of biomechanical testing laboratories resulted in deeper understanding of the load-bearing structures, described by the Denis thoracolumbar three-column model, which laid the grounds for modern spinal instrumentation [12]. After screw–rod systems were introduced, Richter et al. released a paper comparing six C1–C2 stabilization techniques, with use of biomechanical studies [11].

Minimally Invasive Techniques and Computed Tomography–Guided Neuronavigation

The continuous improvement in the quality of neuroimaging, and surgeons' increasing familiarity with it, are causing its benefits (such as lowering morbidity) to outweigh those of using fluoroscopy [13–15]. Given that we are entering an era of simulation, this also allows more effective preoperative planning, which is key for the atlantoaxial region, given its high rate of anatomical variability. The introduction of this technique has opened new doors for previously implausible surgical techniques because unlike fluoroscopy, it offers three-dimensional (3D) images. However, the drawback of increased patient and doctor exposure to radiation (up to 40 mGy with CT-guided neuronavigation versus up to 6 mGy with fluoroscopy) still needs to be addressed [16].

Minimally invasive spine surgery (MISS) is gaining more recognition for use in the subaxial spine, because of its main advantages in decreasing tissue dissection, postoperative pain, intraoperative blood loss, infection rates and hospitalization time. Nevertheless, these improvements still need to be proved to be safer than open techniques specifically for the atlantoaxial region. In April 2006, Joseffer published the first application of MISS in atlantoaxial instability. Since then, there have been reports on more than 14 patients and 17 cadavers (by Holly, Joseffer [March 2010], Srikhanta, Taghva and Bodon). In December 2013, Sonntag expressed an opinion in a commentary that, theoretically, MISS stabilization of C1–C2 has advantages that need to be investigated further.

Anterior Approaches

The anterior approach has been neglected in the literature, as it is a challenging procedure and carries a risk of retropharyngeal wound breakdown [7]. It has been speculated that the anterior approach is possible but has limited application. Earlier techniques using wiring have been replaced by more advanced techniques and instruments because of drawbacks and high rates of failure [17]. In 1994, Goel et al. described a technique for treatment of an unstable craniovertebral junction, called transoral instrumentation. Harms and colleagues have been using this technique for anterior cervical spine fusion [7]. An advantage of this technique is that it avoids future posterior neck incision for C1–C2 fixation after anterior decompression.

Barbour first introduced anterior TAS fixation of C1–C2 in 1971, and it was used to stabilize the lateral atlantoaxial joints in odontoid fractures [18]. In 1987, Leson et al. introduced a modified technique of Barbour's in which the screws were entered laterally on the midsagittal line at the small of the groove in the lateral mass [18]. This technique was introduced again in 2007 by Schaeren et al. [19]. The stability of this technique has been proved in human cervical spines on biomechanical testing and in an anatomical review [17, 20].

Minimally Invasive Anterior Transarticular Screw Fixation

Wang et al., using intraoperative fluoroscopic guidance and micro-endoscopy, introduced a new minimally invasive technique for anterior atlantoaxial fixation and fusion. Some scholars believe that this approach could replace transoral surgery, allowing a direct anterior approach to C1–C2 [19]. This technique is functional for achieving C1–C2 stabilization with less blood loss. However, if decompression is needed, it is not possible through this approach to the cervical spine. Despite being a useful approach, it has its limitations. It is a challenging technique for less experienced surgeons [19].

Minimally Invasive Techniques and CT-Guided Neuro-Navigation

The continuous improvement in quality of neuroimaging has contributed to less need to use fluoroscopy leading to lower surgical morbidity [13–15]. This is key, allowing more effective pre-operative planning for the atlantoaxial region which is associated with a high rate of anatomical variability.

Controversies still exist regarding the increased patient and doctor radiation exposure (CT-guided Neuro-navigation provides up to 40 mGy compared with fluoroscopy up to 6 mGy radiation). [16] This technique opened new doors for previously implausible surgical techniques, because as opposed to fluoroscopy it offers 3D images.

Minimally invasive spine surgery (MISS) is gaining more recognition for the sub-axial spine due to their main advantages in decreasing tissue dissection, postoperative pain, intraoperative blood loss, decreased infection rate and shorter hospitalization time. Nevertheless, these improvements still need to be proved scientifically to be safer than open technique specifically for the atlantoaxial region. In April 2006, Joseffer published the first application of MISS in atlantoaxial instability. Since then, there has been literature on more than 14 patients and 17 cadavers (Holly, Joseffer (March 2010), Srikhanta, Taghva and Bodon). In December 2013, V. Sonntag expressed that theoretically MISS stabilization of C1/C2 has advantages that need to be investigated further.

Discussion

Posterior approaches to the spine were the first to be described, since the posterior aspects of the spine are more superficial and the spinous processes are easy to palpate [21]. Anterior approaches were developed independently of spinal surgery. Smith and Robinson described anterolateral approaches in 1958. In general, a trend away from posterior toward anterior techniques was observed in spinal surgery in the 1950s, mainly because it allowed surgeons the ability to directly address pathologies that occurred in the anterior spine [21]. Nowadays, however, posterior TAS and C1LMS-C2PS fixation are the most widely used and acceptable techniques [17]. Over the years, the evolution of instrumentation techniques for C1-C2 fusion, from the use of posterior wiring methods to the use of TAS and C1LMS-C2PS, have advanced the efficiency and effectiveness of fusion to almost 100% [2]. Nevertheless, although the modern surgeon is better equipped, old concerns such as blood loss, pseudoarthrosis and neurological injury are still a concern. We argue that surgeons have laid stable groundwork for this to become a mainstream neurosurgical operation with specific guidelines that still need to be developed. One can notice that as new techniques are developed, they build on previous developments-for instance, MISS, which uses the standard C1LMS-C2PS or TAS but just in an innovative way. Also, techniques that were being abandoned are now being rediscovered as innovative technology becomes available, such as the revival of the TAS in stereotactic surgery. In the words of Shakespeare, 'What's past is prologue.'

The Future

In 2015, Zhongjun published a paper on the first successful reconstruction of the upper cervical spine (UCS) with a personalized 3D-printed vertebral body in an adolescent with Ewing sarcoma. These kinds of implants give hope for patients with severe deformities, resulting in better biomechanical stability and enhanced bone healing. In April 2016 the first robotassisted posterior C1–C2 TAS fixation was reported by Wei [22]. Improvement of existing screw placement techniques with application of innovative technology is the expected trend in this century [23]. The future of atlantoaxial stabilization surgery may include a few or all of the following entering mainstream neurosurgery: frameless stereotactic surgery, micro-robotic dexterity enhancement, personalized 3D-printed substitutes for natural bones and robotic surgery.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

References

- Aldrich EF, Weber PB, Crow WN. Halifax interlaminar clamp for posterior cervical fusion: a long-term follow-up review. J Neurosurg. 1993;78:702–8.
- Sanan A, Rengachary SS. The history of spinal biomechanics. Neurosurgery. 1996;39(4):657–68.
- Bandela JR, Jacob RP, Arreola M, Griglock TM, Bova F, Yang M. Use of CT-based intraoperative spinal navigation: management of radiation exposure to operator, staff, and patients. World Neurosurg. 2013;79(2):390–4.
- Brooks AL, Jenkins EB. Atlantoaxial arthrodesis by the wedge compression method. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1978;60A:27984.
- Denaro V, Di Martino A. Cervical spine surgery: a historical perspective. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2011;469(3):639–48.
- Dickman CA, Sonntag VK, Papadopoulos SM, Hadley MN. The interior spinous method of posterior atlantoaxial arthrodesis. J Neurosurg. 1991;74:190–8.
- Holness RO, Huestis WS, Howes WJ, Langille RA. Posterior stabilization with an interlaminar clamp in cervical injuries: technical note and review of the long term experience with the method. Neurosurgery. 1984;14(3):318–22.
- Kwan MK, Chan CYW, Kwan TCC, Gashi YN, Saw LB. Safety issues and neurological improvement following C1–C2 fusion using C1 lateral mass and C2 pedicle screw in atlantoaxial instability. Malaysian Orthopedics Journal. 2010;4(2):17–22.

- Kansal R, Sharma A, Kukreja S. An anterior high cervical retropharyngal approach for C1–C2 intrafacetal fusion and transarticular screw insertion. J Clin Neurosci. 2011;18:1705–8.
- Mixter SJ, Osgood RB. Traumatic lesions of the atlas and axis. Ann Surg. 1910;51:193–207.
- Wang J, Zhou Y, Zhang Z, Li C, Zheng W, Zhang Y. Minimally invasive anterior transarticular screw fixation and microendoscopic bone graft for atlantoaxial instability. Eur Spine J. 2012;21(8):1568–74.
- Tjardes T, Shafizadeh S, Rixen D, Paffrath T, Bouillon B, Steinhausen ES, Baethis H. Image-guided spine surgery: state of the art and future directions. Eur Spine J. 2010;19(1):25–45.
- Gallie WE. Fractures and dislocations of cervical spine. Am J Surg. 1939;46:495–9.
- Goel A, Laheri V. Plate and screw fixation for atlanto-axial subluxation. Acta Neurochir. 1994;129(1–2):47–53.
- Hadra BE. Wiring the spinous processes in fracture and Pott's disease. Trans Am Orthop Assoc. 1891;4:206–10.
- 16. Harms J, Melcher P. Posterior C1–C2 fusion with polyaxial screw and rod fixation. Spine. 2001;26:2467–71.
- Omeis I, Demattia JA, Hillard VH, Murali R, Das K. History of instrumentation for stabilization of the subaxial cervical spine. Neurosurg Focus. 2004;16(1):E10.
- Tan M, Wang H, Wang Y, Zhang G, Yi P, Li Z, Wei H, Yang F. Morphometric evaluation of screw fixation in atlas via posterior arch and lateral mass. Spine. 2003;28:888–95.
- Reindl R, Sen M, Aebi M. Anterior instrumentation for traumatic C1–C2 instability. Spine. 2003;28(17):E329–33.
- Rihn JA, Winegar CD, Donaldson WF 3rd, Lee JY, Kang JD. Recurrent atlantoaxial instability due to fracture of the posterior C1 ring: a late finding following posterior C1–C2 fusion using the Halifax clamp. J Surg Orthop Adv. 2009;18(1):45–50.
- Shin MH, Hur JW, Ryu KS, Park CK. Prospective comparison study between the fluoroscopy-guided and navigation coupled with O-arm-guided pedicle screw placement in the thoracic and lumbosacral spines. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2015;28(6): E347–51.
- 22. Tian W. Robot-assisted posterior C1–2 transarticular screw fixation for atlantoaxial instability: a case report. Spine. 2016;41(Suppl 19):B2–5.
- 23. Tian W, Wang H, Liu YJ. Robot-assisted anterior odontoid screw fixation: a case report. Orthop Surg. 2016;8(3):400–4.
- Vender JR, Rekito AJ, Harrison SJ, Mcdonnell DE. The evolution of posterior cervical and occipitocervical fusion and instrumentation. Neurosurg Focus. 2004;16(1):E9.
- Lehman R, Riew D, Schnake K. Occipitocervical trauma—C11– C2, rotatory subluxation posterior C1–C2 fusion. Biel/Bienne: AO Foundation; 2016.

Realignment of Basilar Invagination by C1–C2 Joint Distraction: A Modified Approach to a Paradigm Shift



Francesco Cacciola, Bronek Boszczyk, Paolo Perrini, Pasquale Gallina, and Nicola Di Lorenzo

Abstract *Background:* Distraction of the C1–C2 joint and maintenance thereof by introduction of spacers into the articular cavity can successfully and durably reduce basilar invagination (BI). Thus, with the adjunct of instrumented fusion and decompression, BI-induced myelopathy can be efficiently treated with a one-stage posterior approach. This intervention is technically challenging, and in this paper we describe a procedural variation to facilitate the approach.

Methods and Results: Through a description of a case of BI, the main anatomopathological alteration underlying and perpetrating the condition of BI is elucidated. A technique of realignment of BI is then described in which this alteration is specifically targeted and neutralized. The result is a single-stage posterior-only approach with decompression, C1–C2 distraction and introduction of poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) into the joint cavity. Instrumented occipitocervical fusion completes the procedure.

Conclusion: C1–C2 joint distraction is a technically demanding procedure. By providing a modification of the original technique and a detailed description of the crucial steps necessary to successfully and safely carry it out, we hope to make this excellent procedure more approachable.

Keywords Basilar invagination · Surgical treatment · Joint distraction · Posterior fusion

B. Boszczyk

Centre of Spinal Surgery and Studies, Queens Medical Centre, Nottingham, UK

P. Gallina · N. Di Lorenzo Department of Neurosurgery, Azienda Ospedaliero Universitaria Pisana (AOUP), Pisa, Italy

Department of Neurosurgery, University of Florence, Florence, Italy

Introduction

Atlantoaxial joint distraction and direct lateral mass fixation to treat basilar invagination (BI), as described by Goel in 2004 [1], has represented a true paradigm shift in the approach to a complex structural problem. In symptomatic BI, a condition in which myelopathy is essentially caused by an odontoid process that encroaches upward and posteriorly on the spinal cord, that same odontoid process has classically—and quite rightly—been seen as the main culprit [2, 3]. If the odontoid process was extending too far into the foramen magnum and impinging on the spinal cord, it was in a place where it was not supposed to be, and it was therefore 'at fault', so to speak.

As a consequence the transoral approach was adopted and subsequently refined to efficiently eliminate the culprit by excising the odontoid process and thus relieving pressure on the cord [4-10].

While this technique definitely remains valid and is still the procedure most widely used for symptomatic BI today, Goel's discovery was truly revolutionary, as it 'saved the messenger'. According to this vision of things, the odontoid process was no longer the culprit, even though it effectively impinged on the cord; rather, it was 'the messenger carrying the bad news' of an aberrant process that resided somewhere else. As a matter of fact, in BI it is not the dens that is malformed; rather, it is its adjoining structures that put it in the wrong place.

BI generally entails a varying combination of platybasia, assimilation of the atlas, atlantoaxial dislocation (AAD) and/ or anterocaudal inclination of the C1–C2 articular surfaces, leading to the atlanto-occipital complex 'sliding' anteroinferiorly with respect to the axis and thus, in turn, causing the axis and dens to migrate upward and backward.

It is the identification and definition of these corollary or, rather, causative—features that has led over the last two decades to a refined classification of BI that draws attention away from the odontoid impinging on the cord as the end

F. Cacciola $(\boxtimes) \cdot P$. Perrini

Department of Neurosurgery, Azienda Ospedaliero Universitaria Senese (AOUS), Siena, Italy

product of the pathological process and, instead, elucidates the fundamental role of C1–C2 facet conformation and disposition as the root cause of the problem and therefore also the essential aim of reparative intervention [11].

While a detailed explanation of the classification of C1–C2 facetal anomalies clearly transcends the purpose of this paper, we attempt to outline the basic principles of the anomaly and its direct repair with the help of the following case description.

Case Report and Technical Note

A 56-year-old woman with an uneventful past medical history was referred to our department for worsening myelopathy and pain in the nape of the neck. On neurological examination she scored IIIA on the Ranawat scale for myelopathy [5]. She underwent cervical magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), which showed that the spinal cord was severely compressed at the level of the craniovertebral junction. Furthermore, the cord showed signs of hyperintensity on T2-weighted images and initial cavitation (Fig. 1). To better identify the nature of the compression, a computed tomography (CT) scan was done, which showed assimilation of the atlas (AA) with BI and AAD. As a result, the odontoid peg was protruding into the foramen magnum (Fig. 2a, c).

The patient was thus scheduled for posterior-only surgery in the prone position. Transcranial traction of 16 pounds was applied with the head supported by a horseshoe headrest and the table inclined to roughly 30° anti-Trendelenburg (Fig. 3a).

After a vertical incision was made, centring on C1–C2, the posterior arch of the atlas and the laminae and spinous process of C2 were exposed. Subsequent dissection was carried out laterally to identify and section both C2 ganglions to



Fig. 1 (a) Sagittal T2 magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan showing the craniocervical region with basilar invagination (BI), severe compression of the spinal cord, intramedullary changes of oedema and initial syrinx formation. (b) Sagittal computed tomography (CT) scan

showing BI with atlantoaxial dislocation (AAD) and clear upward migration of the odontoid process. Note the position of the dens traversing Chamberlain's line (*white*). (Reprinted from Cacciola et al. [12], with permission)



Fig. 2 (a) Prone position of the patient with the head in traction and resting on a horseshoe headholder. (Reprinted from Goel and Laheri, with permission.) (b) Positioning of a laminar spreader between the occiput and the C2 lamina with ensuing opening of the C1–C2 joint

space. (c) Introduction of small poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) spheres into the opened joint space with a dissector. (Reprinted from Cacciola et al. [12], with permission)



Fig. 3 (a) Sagittal computed tomography (CT) scan centred on the C1–C2 joint postoperatively. Note the oblique inclination of the joint and the filling of the distracted joint with hyperdense material [poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA)] to an opening of 5 mm.

(**b**) Coronal CT scan through the C1–C2 joints bilaterally. Note the distracted joints and PMMA in the cavities. (**c**) Lateral cervical radiograph showing the instrumented fusion. (Reprinted from Cacciola et al. [12], with permission)

provide good exposure of both C1–C2 joints. During this stage the perivertebral venous plexus can often bleed significantly, and this can be made even worse by small emissaries of the vertebral artery. The surgeon should be prepared for this and, through sound knowledge of the anatomy, not be withheld by such bleeding, as this can sometimes be so copious as to lead to the misbelief that the vertebral artery itself may have been injured.

Once the joints were exposed, a small osteotome was introduced into the joint spaces and rotated to achieve some distraction and mobilization of the joint complex. Subsequently, a cervical laminar spreader was inserted between the occiput and the superior rim of the C2 laminae to distract the joint space in a controlled fashion and keep it distracted at first on the right side (Fig. 3b).

Once the joint was distracted, poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) was made in a standard fashion and stirred until it reached a semi-solid state, just enough to allow for the making of small pea-sized spheres. These were then introduced into the joint with a dissector until the cavity was felt to be sufficiently filled with cement (Fig. 3c). Once the cement had turned solid, the laminar spreader was taken off and put into place on the contralateral joint, and the operation was performed in the same fashion on the left side. Following that, the foramen magnum was decompressed in a standard fashion, and instrumented C0–C3 fusion was performed with integration of an autologous tricortical bone graft harvested from the posterior iliac crest, which was placed under compression between the occiput and the superior border of the C2 spinolaminar complex.

The patient was discharged with a hard collar and, at 1-month follow-up, showed a neurological improvement of one grade (to II) on the Ranawat scale.

At that stage a CT scan was done, which showed a clear realignment of the odontoid process moving below Wackenheim's line, thus normalizing and essentially reversing the condition of BI (Fig. 2b). The AAD showed marked reduction as well.

Follow-up at 6 months confirmed maintenance of the clinical improvement, and imaging studies showed persistence of the realignment.

Discussion

Goel's posterior-only C1–C2 distraction and fusion technique has revolutionized the treatment of BI, with the potential to relegate the need for a transoral approach to a more restricted selection of cases. The rationale for this technique lies in the fact that the origin of the problem, or the 'culprit', is the conformation of the atlantoaxial joints. Being generally inclined in an oblique direction, mostly in the anteroinferior direction (Fig. 3b), the occipitoatlantal complex slides forward, thus causing AAD and BI. Therefore, careful attention should always be given to the joint complex when facing a case of BI as, if these findings are present, the whole pathology can be corrected with a posterior-only distraction operation, as depicted in our case.

In the original technical description, intraoperative distraction of the joint (besides the head traction) is achieved by insertion of small osteotomes inside the joint and rotation of the same so as to open the joint. Titanium spacers are then impacted into the joint. The spacers have a bullet-shaped nose, and that edge is abutted at the entrance of the joint cavity. Then, with the help of a mallet and an impactor, they are made to advance into the joint cavity, similarly to the insertion of a cage into the lumbar disc space during posterior lateral interbody fusion (PLIF). As these manoeuvres might appear challenging to the first-time user of this technique, given both unfamiliarity with the anatomical region and the proximity of the vertebral artery on one side and the spinal cord on the other, we have introduced a variation into these two steps. With the use of a laminar spreader, the joint spaces are distracted gradually and in a controlled fashion. Then, once the joint cavity is open, the small spheres of semi-cured PMMA can be inserted into the cavity with the help of a dissector, without the need to exert any force on the structures. Once the PMMA has reached the solid state inside the joint cavity, the spreaders are taken off and the distraction is thus maintained.

Conclusion

C1–C2 distraction has proven to be a reliable technique in the treatment of basilar invagination. Considering the relatively low overall incidence of this pathology, many surgeons lack sufficient exposure to gain experience in the transoral approach, which is classically the mainstay of treatment for this condition. Even though it is still technically demanding, the joint distraction technique could prove to be more approachable by a spinal surgeon who is mainly confident with posterior approaches, and our technical modification might further facilitate the endeavour.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

References

- Goel A. Treatment of basilar invagination by atlantoaxial joint distraction and direct lateral mass fixation. J Neurosurg Spine. 2004;1(3):281–6.
- Chamberlain WE. Basilar impression (platybasia): a bizarre developmental anomaly of the occipital bone and upper cervical spine with striking and misleading neurologic manifestations. Yale J Biol Med. 1939;11:487–96.
- von Torklus D, Gehle W. The upper cervical spine: regional anatomy, pathology and traumatology. In: A systematic radiological atlas and textbook. New York: Grune & Stratton; 1972. p. 1–98.
- Balasingam V, Anderson GJ, Gross ND, Cheng CM, Noguchi A, Dogan A, McMenomey SO, Delashaw JB Jr, Andersen PE. Anatomical analysis of transoral surgical approaches to the clivus. J Neurosurg. 2006;105:301–8.
- Choi D, Crockard HA. Evolution of transoral surgery: three decades of change in patients, pathologies, and indications. Neurosurgery. 2013;73:296–304.

- Crockard HA, Johnston F. Development of transoral approaches to lesions of the skull base and craniocervical junction. Neurosurg Q. 1993;3(2):61–82.
- Dickman CA, Locantro J, Fessler RG. The influence of odontoid resection on stability of the craniovertebral junction. J Neurosurg. 1992;77:525–30.
- Di Lorenzo N, Fortuna A, Guidetti B. Craniovertebral junction malformations. Clinicoradiological findings, long-term results and surgical indications in 63 cases. J Neurosurg. 1982;57:603–8.
- Di Lorenzo N. Transoral approach to extradural lesions of the lower clivus and upper cervical spine: an experience of 19 cases. Neurosurgery. 1989;24:37–42.
- Di Lorenzo N. Craniocervical junction malformation treated by transoral approach. A survey of 25 cases with emphasis on postoperative instability and outcome. Acta Neurochir. 1992;118:112–6.
- 11. Goel A. Craniovertebral junction instability: a review of facts about facets. Asian Spine J. 2015;9:636–44.
- Cacciola F, Patel V, Boszczyk BM. Novel use of bone cement to aid atlanto-axial distraction in the treatment of basilar invagination: a case report and technical note. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2013;115:787–9.

Grisel's Syndrome: Non-traumatic Atlantoaxial Rotatory Subluxation—Report of Five Cases and Review of the Literature



Corrado Iaccarino, Ormitti Francesca, Spennato Piero, Rubini Monica, Rapanà Armando, Pasquale de Bonis, Aliberti Ferdinando, Giorgio Trapella, Lorenzo Mongardi, Michele Cavallo, Cinalli Giuseppe, and Servadei Franco

Abstract *Background:* In children, when unresponsive neck rigidity and distress are observed after ear, nose and throat (ENT) surgical treatment or nasopharyngeal inflammation, Grisel's syndrome should be suspected. This is a rare syndrome involving non-traumatic rotatory subluxation of the atlantoaxial joint. Conservative management with external cervical orthoses and empirical antibiotic, muscle relaxant and analgesic therapy should be the first choice of treatment. Surgical stabilization is indicated when high-grade instability or failure of stable reduction are observed. The instability is graded according to the classification system devised by Fielding and Hawkins. Several recommendations for treatment are available in the literature, but there are no common guidelines. In this paper, the authors discuss the need for prompt diagnosis and treatment considerations.

Case Description: Five children with Fielding type I–III rotatory subluxation are reported. Three patients were treated with a cervical collar, and one patient was treated with skull traction and sternal–occipital–mandibular immobilizer (SOMI) brace application. Surgical treatment was necessary for one patient after failure of initial conservative management. The intervals between the onset of torticollis and radiological diagnosis ranged from 12 to 90 days. A relationship between an increased grade of instability and delayed diagnosis was observed.

Conclusion: In children with painful torticollis following ENT procedures or nasopharyngeal inflammation, Grisel's syndrome should always be suspected. Cervical magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) allows prompt and safe diagnosis, and a three-dimensional computed tomography (CT) scan provides better classification of the instability. Surgery, which is indicated in cases of high-grade instability or failure of conservative treatment, may be avoided with prompt diagnosis.

Keywords Grisel's syndrome · Fielding classification · Atlantoaxial instability · Atlantoaxial rotatory subluxation

immobilizer

Abbreviations

3D	Three-dimensional
ADI	Atlantodental interval
СТ	Computed tomography
ENT	Ear, nose and throat
MIP	Maximum-intensity projection
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
SOMI	Sternal-occipital-mandibular i

C. Iaccarino (⊠) Neurosurgery–Neurotraumatology Unit,

University Hospital of Parma, Parma, Italy

Azienda USL-IRCCS di Reggio Emilia, Reggio Emilia, Italy e-mail: ciaccarino@ao.pr.it

O. Francesca Department of Neuroradiology, University Hospital of Parma, Parma, Italy

S. Piero · A. Ferdinando · C. Giuseppe Neurosurgery Department, Azienda Ospedaliera di Rilievo Nazionale "Santobono-Pausilipon-Annunziata" Children's Hospital, Naples, Italy R. Monica Division of Paediatric General and Emergency Care Unit, Children's Hospital of Parma, Parma, Italy

R. Armando Neurosurgery Unit, Lorenzo Bonomo Hospital, Andria, Italy

P. de Bonis · G. Trapella · L. Mongardi · M. Cavallo Neurosurgery Department, University Hospital of Ferrara, Ferrara, Italy

S. Franco New York, USA

Highlights

- Grisel's syndrome is a non-traumatic rotatory subluxation of the atlantoaxial joint, following nasopharyngeal inflammation or ear, nose and throat (ENT) procedures.
- The primary treatment of Grisel's syndrome is conservative.
- In cases of failure of conservative treatment, surgery is indicated.
- Delayed diagnosis can result in a need for surgery.
- Rigid C1–C2 or C1–C2–C3 fixation is the best surgical option because it provides immediate spinal stability in all planes of the atlantoaxial complex.

Introduction

In 1930 Grisel reported a spontaneous rotatory subluxation of the atlantoaxial joint after pharyngitis not associated with trauma or bone disease [1]. The first description of an association between inflammation of vertebrae caused by a retropharyngeal abscess and vertebral luxation was reported by Aëtius of Amida, who lived in the fifth to sixth centuries CE. Later the syndrome was described by Rhazes (865– 925 CE), quoting from Hippocrates in the *Epidemics* [2, 3]. This is a rare syndrome with a predominant occurrence in young patients, mainly younger than 12 years [4–12]; only 14 cases in patients aged 18 years and older have been reported since 1830 [13]. Grisel's syndrome may occur after nasopharyngeal inflammation [14–17] or after ear, nose and throat (ENT) procedures such as tonsillectomy, adenoidectomy, mastoidectomy, cochlear implantation, uvulectomy or tympanoplasty [4, 18–25].

A neuroradiological workup, with x-rays and computed tomography (CT) scans of the cervical spine, discloses the diagnosis. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) provides information about the grade of lymphadenopathy and additional data about the ligament status of the C1-C2 joints. Early detection is the key to prompt treatment because the degree of instability of the rotatory subluxation can vary significantly. Depending on the Fielding and Hawkins classification [26] (Fig. 1), the choice of treatment will involve initial conservative management, with the patient wearing an external orthoses such as a cervical collar, halo vest or sternal-occipital-mandibular immobilizer (SOMI) brace. depending on the grade of instability. Empirical or targeted antibiotic, muscle relaxant and analgesic medications constitute the pharmacological treatments for this condition, depending on the clinical status. Surgical upper cervical internal fixation and fusion are options for a greater degree of

Schematic illustration of Fielding and Hawkins classification of the Grisel's syndrome						
Type I		No subluxation Pure rotation of the Atlas in relation to the Axis with no or less than 3 mm of anterior displacement of the atlas				
Type II		Unilateral subluxation of one atlanto-axial joint. Atlas anterior displacement of 3–5 mm, associated with deficiency of the transverse ligament.				
Type III	A CON	Ventral subluxation of Atlas in both Joints. Atlas rotated with anterior displacement > 5 mm, associated with deficiency of the transverse and alar ligaments				
Type IV		Dorsal subluxation of Atlas. The posterior displacement of the atlas is associated with deficient odontoid process with possible fractured Dens axis or congenital Dens-aplasia				

Fig. 1 Fielding and Hawkins classification, reported in 1977

 Table 1
 Patient demographic and diagnostic details

Case	Age (years)	Sex	Initial diagnosis	Time between torticollis and radiological diagnosis (days)	Fielding and Hawkins classification, and ADI	Treatment
#1	5	Male	Pharyngotonsillitis	12	Type I ADI <3 mm	Antibiotic therapy (oral and intravenous) and analgesic therapy (oral) Cervical collar for 4 weeks
#2	7	Male	Adenotonsillectomy	7	Type I ADI <3 mm	Antibiotic, anti-inflammatory and steroid therapy (oral) Cervical collar for 4 weeks
#3	4	Male	Tonsillitis	60	Type II ADI 4 mm	Antibiotic therapy (intravenous) Cervical collar for 8 weeks
#4	12	Female	Tonsillitis	90	Type II ADI 4 mm	Skull traction for 4 days SOMI brace for 12 weeks
#5	9	Male	Adenoidectomy	56	Type III ADI 6.7 mm	Collar for the first 6 weeks after C1–C2–C3 internal fixation

ADI atlantodental interval, SOMI sternal-occipital-mandibular immobilizer

instability or after conservative treatment failure [24, 25, 27–32]. In this paper, the authors present five cases of this condition (summarized in Table 1), which demonstrate the importance of prompt diagnosis in relation to the choice of treatment.

Case Series

Case #1

A 5-year-old boy developed painful torticollis after 2 days of fever due to pharyngotonsillitis. Laboratory examinations showed leucocytosis and an increased C-reactive protein (CRP) level (51.15 mg/L). He was treated with 7 days of oral antibiotic therapy (amoxicillin clavulanate), and prolonged oral analgesic therapy (ibuprofen). Twelve days later his CRP level had decreased to 7.98 mg/L, but the torticollis was unchanged on clinical examination. A cervical ultrasound evaluation showed bilateral submandibular lymphadenopathy extending along the jugular chain and in the posterior triangle. After hospital admission to check the lymphadenopathy status, MRI was performed. A lymph node consolidated and packed in the right parapharyngeal space (Fig. 2a), rotatory subluxation at C1-C2 with intact ligaments compatible with Fielding type I atlantoaxial subluxation (Fig. 2b) and no critical involvement of the spinal cord were detected.

A cervical collar was applied, intravenous antibiotic therapy was administered (ceftriaxone plus metronidazole plus vancomycin) for 7 days and the patient was discharged home. Follow-up with MRI after the patient had worn the cervical collar for 4 weeks revealed almost complete resolution of the inflammation and resolution of the subluxation (Fig. 2c).

Case #2

A 7-year-old boy, receiving treatment with ceftibuten and tranexamic acid, presented with a 3-day history of painful torticollis and a headache following adenotonsillectomy. Bilateral laterocervical lymphadenopathy with tympanic membrane and external auditory canal hyperaemia were revealed on an ENT examination and otoscopy. The cervical x-ray findings were a right lateral flexion of the neck and loss of cervical lordosis. Neck ultrasound scans showed reactive lymph nodes along the jugular chain. No improvement was obtained with ibuprofen add-on therapy and rest.

At 7 days postoperatively a CT scan (Fig. 2d) and MRI (Fig. 2e) showed Fielding type I rotatory atlantoaxial subluxation. The patient continued to receive antibiotic therapy with ceftibuten, paracetamol with codeine, prednisone, pridinol mesylate, and chlorhexidine, and wore a cervical collar. At discharge the patient's symptoms had resolved and at 1-month follow-up, MRI confirmed his recovery from the instability (Fig. 2f).

Case #3

A 4-year-old boy presented to the emergency department with torticollis and his head tilted to the left. Three months prior to presentation he had suffered from tonsillitis. His initial complaints included non-specific sensory symptoms involving the upper limbs and pain in the neck with stiffness. The tonsillitis had settled uneventfully with antibiotics.

On examination there was fixed rotation of the neck to the left, with a normal neurological assessment. Active manipulation of the head and neck was painful; therefore, reduction was impossible. A CT scan with maximum-intensity projec-



Fig. 2 Cases #1 and #2, with Fielding type I rotatory atlantoaxial subluxation. Case #1: Axial contrast-enhanced T1-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) reveals a right lymph node consolidated and packed in the parapharyngeal space with peripheral rim enhancement like a 'developing abscess' (**a**, *white arrow*). (**b**) Initial axial T2-weighted MRI shows enhancement of the alantodental interval on the left and superior articular facet of the axis. Repeated MRI, 30 days later, shows disappearance of the signal change in the atlantodental

tion (MIP) demonstrated Fielding type II rotatory subluxation (Fig. 3a); a three-dimensional (3D) CT reconstruction ventral view showed anterior subluxation of the right C1 facet (Fig. 3b). MRI confirmed cervical lymphadenopathy and rotatory subluxation (Fig. 3c).

The initial treatment consisted of cervical orthoses and intravenous antibiotic therapy (ceftriaxone plus metronidazole) for 7 days. After 2 months, resolution of the torticollis was observed, with disappearance of subluxation detected on a follow-up MIP 3D CT scan at 1 month (Fig. 3d, e), and the patient had complete restoration of the cervical range of motion. Follow-up MRI 10 days after collar removal revealed substantial resolution of the rotatory subluxation (Fig. 3f).

joint (e) and superior facet articulation of the axis (c). Case #2: Initial computed tomography (CT) scan with maximum-intensity projection (MIP) reconstruction shows anterior subluxation of the right C1 facet (d); on the same day, axial T2-weighted MRI demonstrates hyperintensity involving the C1–C2 articular capsules with intact ligaments (e). At 1-month follow-up, axial T2-weighted MRI shows a normal signal in the articular space and normal alignment (f)

Case #4

A 12-year-old girl presented with painful torticollis, in a posture of complete cervical rotation to the left, accompanied by subtle flexion without neurological signs, 4 days after scarlet fever and tonsillitis. After 3 months her neck posture was unchanged despite initial analgesic, muscle relaxant and empirical antibiotic treatment.

Finally, the patient was admitted to hospital and MRI disclosed the presence of Fielding type II rotatory subluxation (Fig. 4a, b). An attempt at manual reduction under sedation was unsuccessful, so Gardner–Wells tongs with a gradual increase in traction weight from 4 to 6 kg were applied with



Fig. 3 Case #3, with Fielding type II rotatory atlantoaxial subluxation treated with a cervical collar. Computed tomography (CT) scan with maximum-intensity projection (MIP) (**a**) and three-dimensional reconstruction ventral view (**b**) and coronal T1-weighted magnetic resonance

regular oral diazepam during the intensive care unit (ICU) stay. After 4 days a CT scan disclosed a reduction of the subluxation (Fig. 4c, d). The Gardner–Wells tongs were removed and a SOMI brace was applied for 3 months. The patient remained neurologically intact, and a CT scan of her neck performed 1 month later confirmed near-normal alignment (Fig. 4e).

Case #5

A 9-year-old boy was discharged home 1 day after uneventful adenoidectomy and bilateral tonsillar reduction. Three days after discharge, painful torticollis was observed. The patient was treated with medical therapy and a cervical collar was applied; unfortunately, no imaging was performed. Two months postoperatively, because of persistent

imaging (MRI) (c) demonstrate rotatory subluxation at C1–C2 with intact ligaments. Ten days after collar removal, follow-up imaging performed with identical scans and reconstruction reveals substantial resolution of the rotatory subluxation (d-f)

symptomatology, a CT scan disclosed atlantoaxial rotatory subluxation (Fig. 5a).

At hospital admission the patient's neurological status was intact, with painful torticollis. Paediatric and ENT consultations showed no signs of inflammation/infection of the upper airways. Haematological and biochemical test findings were within the normal range. X-rays revealed the typical head tilt of atlantoaxial subluxation, a reduced range of motion for flexion and no mobility during extension. On CT scanning, 3D reconstructions confirmed atlantoaxial rotatory subluxation with anterolateral dislocation of C1 and a widened (6.7 mm) distance between the atlas and dens. The atlas was right rotated by 45° with respect to the axis. CT angiography identified the relationship of the vertebral artery to the posterior elements of the upper cervical vertebrae, with no anatomical anomalies (Fig. 5b).

The initial management consisted of a cervical collar and anti-inflammatory and muscle relaxant medication for



Fig. 4 Case #4, with Fielding type II rotatory atlantoaxial subluxation treated with skull traction and a sternal–occipital–mandibular immobilizer (SOMI) brace. Coronal (**a**) and axial (**b**) T2-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) shows enhancement of the alantodental interval on the right and superior articular facet of the axis. After 4 days of

2 weeks, with unchanged clinical and radiological features. Therefore, under general anaesthesia, reduction of the rotatory subluxation was accomplished using fluoroscopy. The patient subsequently underwent surgery with C1 lateral mass screws (Fig. 5c) and C3 pars interarticularis screws (Fig. 5e); one intralaminar screw was also placed in the left lamina of C2 (Fig. 5d). The system was assembled with lordoticshaped titanium bars. Throughout the positioning of the patient and the surgical procedure, somatosensory evoked potential and motor evoked potential neuromonitoring was used. The postoperative period was uneventful. All preoperative symptoms resolved. The patient was mobilized after 3 days with a rigid collar. The collar was maintained for 6 weeks, during which the patient received physiotherapy. Postoperative CT scanning disclosed proper positioning of the instrumentation. At 6-month follow-up the patient had returned to his normal daily activities, except that he had a 30° limitation in neck rotation.

skull traction, a computed tomography (CT) scan with maximumintensity projection (MIP) (\mathbf{c} , \mathbf{d}) shows reduction of the subluxation. At 1-month follow-up a three-dimensional reconstruction ventral view (\mathbf{e}) confirms stable reduction of the rotatory subluxation at C1–C2 during SOMI brace treatment

Discussion

Grisel's syndrome is a rare and not completely clarified pathological non-traumatic subluxation of the atlantoaxial joint, which may occur in children after nasopharyngeal inflammation or otolaryngological procedures. This syndrome is more common during childhood, usually not seen in patients aged >12 years and only rarely observed in adults.

The most accepted pathogenetic hypotheses involve spreading of inflammation to the atlantoaxial ligaments through anastomoses between lymphatic vessels and pharyngovertebral veins. A haematogenous pathway seems to conduct peripharyngeal infection to the atlantoaxial ligaments through the connections between the pharyngobasilar fascia and the pharyngovertebral veins and between the atlantooccipital membrane and the periodontoid venous plexuses. The rotatory atlantoaxial hypermobility could be caused by laxity of transverse and alar ligaments and articular capsules



Fig. 5 Case #5, with Fielding type III rotatory atlantoaxial subluxation treated with surgical C1–C2–C3 internal fixation. An axial computed tomography (CT) scan shows atlantoaxial rotatory subluxation with anterolateral dislocation of C1 (a). A contrast-enhanced three-dimensional reconstruction posterior view confirms a widened atlantodental space and excludes associated vessel anomalies (b). A

postoperative CT scan confirms the internal rigid fixation achieved with C1 lateral mass screws (c); one intralaminar screw has been placed in the left lamina of C2 (d), starting from the right, in order to push the spinous process of C2 to the left to counteract the rotation of the axis and C3 pars interarticularis screws (e)

due to inflammatory oedema [9, 31, 33–35]. Further weakening of the insertions of the transverse ligament could be caused by decalcification of C1 and C2 due to inflammation [25]. After ENT procedures an increased incidence of Grisel's syndrome has been reported. The introduction of monopolar suction electrocautery in adenoidectomy, as opposed to the use of bipolar coagulation, has been reported as an hypothetical explanation [4, 5, 36, 37].

Grisel's syndrome usually manifests with torticollis, cervical pain, head tilting, and restricted and painful neck movements. A strong suspicion of this condition could be raised by an evident dislocation of the spinous process of the axis following the side of neck rotation on manual examination. A spasm of the sternocleidomastoid muscle ipsilateral to the rotation and inability to turn the head beyond the midline in the direction of the side opposite the lesion are observed [4, 38].

Suspected C1–C2 subluxation can be detected simply by standard x-rays of the cervical spine [36]. Diagnosis of atlantoaxial subluxation requires a thorough neuroradiological examination including plain x-rays, CT scanning and MRI. Plain lateral x-rays of the upper cervical spine may show an increase in the atlanto-odontoid distance. The normal atlanto-odontoid distance is \leq 3 mm in adults and \leq 5 mm in children, while the findings at an antero-posterior trans-oral X-Ray examination include asymmetry and deletion of the C1–C2 articular surfaces, an increase in one lateral C1 mass (the one anteriorly dislocated) and a reduction in the contralateral one (the one posteriorly dislocated ipsilateral to the cervical rotation). In the event, clear x-rays may be difficult to obtain, because of the rotation in the cervical spine and head [4].

A 3D CT scan of the craniocervical transition is the gold standard in establishing the diagnosis of atlantoaxial subluxation. The patient must keep the head in a neutral position to avoid misdiagnosis. On the axial images a measurement of the atlantodental interval (ADI) is made, with the normal measurement being 2–3 mm in adults and up to 5 mm in children. An injury of the transverse ligament results in an increase in this distance.

Usually MRI is useful to disclose abnormalities of soft tissues, lymph nodes and neural structures, such as laxity of the transverse and alar ligaments [6]. Nevertheless, in the presented series, MRI was the first radiological examination performed in cases #1 and #3. Therefore, in cases of painful torticollis, a previous ENT procedure or an ultrasounddisclosed lymphadenopathy could be a reasonable indication to perform MRI, to reduce the risk of radiation exposure in a paediatric patient. 3D CT scanning remains necessary in cases where there is doubt about the Fielding and Hawkins classification grade after atlantoaxial findings on MRI.

Several recommendations for diagnosis and treatment have been reported in the literature, but no clear guidelines are available although about 90 scientific articles have been published on this topic since 1950. Usually the Fielding and Hawkins classification of non-traumatic subluxation of the atlantoaxial joint drives the choice between conservative and surgical treatment, assuming that the degree of subluxation and instability increase from types I to IV, according to the displacement of the dens and the asymmetry of the atlantoaxial joint [9, 26].

Types I and II are the most common subluxations, usually with intact neurological status; rotatory dislocation in the absence of anterior displacement of the atlas (type I) or minimal (<5 mm) anterior displacement of the atlas (type II) are observed. The first choice of treatment may include antibiotic, muscle relaxant and anti-inflammatory medications for 1 week and application of a cervical collar for 4 weeks [6, 31, 39]. In some patients, a first manual reduction manoeuvre under deep sedation has been reported. The patient rests in a supine position, the operator's left hand fixes the occiput-occipital protuberance while the right hand fixes the patient's chin, and gentle stretching of the patient's neck along with a gentle rotary manoeuvre is applied to the side opposite the rotatory deformity. During this manoeuvre, an assistant should fix the patient's shoulders to prevent dangerous movements [36, 40]. After reduction these cases are usually treated with oral administration of antibiotic, muscle relaxant and anti-inflammatory medications for 1 week, in combination with immobilization of the cervical spine with a SOMI brace for 4-6 weeks. Cases #1 and #2 in the current series were treated with 4 weeks of neck immobilization with a cervical collar because prompt diagnosis allowed detection of Fielding type I rotatory subluxation <15 days

after the onset of painful torticollis. In case #3 the delayed diagnosis (after 60 days) could have been the cause of the Fielding type II rotatory subluxation found on MRI, with a need for more prolonged application of a cervical collar for 8 weeks. In case #4, manual reduction of the subluxation under sedation was unsuccessful; therefore, treatment with skull traction for 4 days and a SOMI brace were applied. In this case, too, there was a delay in radiological diagnosis of Grisel's syndrome, which was not confirmed until 3 months after the onset of torticollis.

Type III presents with a rotatory dislocation with >5 mm anterior displacement of the atlas, while type IV is associated with posterior displacement of the atlas. Patients with Fielding type III and IV subluxations generally need bed rest with cervical traction, followed by a period of neck immobilization in a halo brace for up to 12 weeks. Types III and IV, although rare, are often associated with spinal cord compression, are usually associated with neurological deficits-which also occur in up to 15% of cases treated with surgical fusion [41]—and can have fatal consequences. Because of the rotatory dislocation with posterior displacement of the atlas, type IV is primarily treated with surgical C1–C2 fusion [7, 9], 18, 26, 42, 43]. Case #5 in this series, which was classified as type III, had a 56-day delay in diagnosis despite persistent painful torticollis. The ADI was 6.7 mm, so to avoid the need for prolonged use of a postoperative halo vest or SOMI brace, C1-C2 or C1-C2-C3 fixation using lateral masses and pars interarticularis screws was recommended [27]. As Spennato et al. reported in their previous publication on this case, this technique is associated with high fusion rates and immediate spinal stability in all planes of the atlantoaxial complex; therefore, it is preferred to semi-rigid constructs using interlaminar or interspinous wires and cables [25]. In this case, the authors adopted C3 inclusion in the construct as there was no safe and effective option for placing bilateral translaminar screws, because of the C2 anatomical features. Pedicular or pars interarticularis screws were considered more risky and technically more demanding than the translaminar screw technique, as suggested by Wright [44].

In cases in the literature where there was a delay in diagnosis of >3 weeks after the onset of symptoms, failure of conservative treatment and a high risk of recurrence have been reported [4, 33, 38, 45, 46]. Prompt diagnosis is essential for safe and effective treatment. More recently a concept of management has been proposed where surgical intervention could be avoided in cases of Fielding type III subluxation, by use of manual repositioning and application of a Minerva cast under general anaesthesia. This approach was used in two cases reported by Pilge et al. and in one case reported by Viscone et al. [9, 39]. Those authors suggest that data from a more extensive patient collection are needed to confirm the safety and efficacy of this treatment, and that the technique needs to be performed by an experienced specialist at a specialized centre.

Conclusion

In paediatric patients with painful torticollis following ear, nose and throat procedures or nasopharyngeal inflammation, Grisel's syndrome should always be suspected. A prompt diagnosis can be confirmed simply with an initial standard cervical x-ray. Magnetic resonance imaging is indicated to detect the deep and superficial lymph node status and to define the atlantoaxial rotatory subluxation. In cases with higher-grade instability, a three-dimensional computed tomography scan of the craniocervical transition will establish the patient's Fielding and Hawkins classification and appropriate management. Early treatment of Grisel's syndrome can avoid neurological complications and surgical intervention.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

References

- Grisel P. Enucleation de l'atlas et torticollis nasopharyngien. Presse Med. 1930;38:50–3.
- Golzari SEJ, Ghabili K, Sajadi MM, Aslanabadi S. Early description of Grisel's syndrome. Childs Nerv Syst. 2013;29:359–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00381-013-2026-7.
- Ortiz GL, Pratts I, Ramos E. Grisel's syndrome: an unusual cause of torticollis. J Pediatr Rehabil Med. 2013;6(3):175–80. https:// doi.org/10.3233/PRM-130253.
- Barcelos AC, Patriota GC, Netto AU. Nontraumatic atlantoaxial rotatory subluxation: Grisel syndrome. Case report and literature review. Global Spine J. 2014;4(3):179–86. https://doi.org/10.105 5/s-0033-1363936.
- Bocciolini C, Dall'Olio D, Cunsolo E, Cavazzuti PP, Laudadio P. Grisel's syndrome: a rare complication following adenoidectomy. Acta Otorhinolaryngol Ital. 2005;25(4):245–9.
- Fernández Cornejo VJ, Martínez-Lage JF, Piqueras C, Gelabert A, Poza M. Inflammatory atlanto-axial subluxation (Grisel's syndrome) in children: clinical diagnosis and management. Childs Nerv Syst. 2003;19(5–6):342–7.
- Gourin CG, Kaper B, Abdu WA, Donegan JO. Non traumatic atlantoaxial subluxation after retropharyngeal cellulitis: Grisel's syndrome. Am J Otolaryngol. 2002;23(1):60–5.
- Grobman LR, Stricker S. Grisel's syndrome. Ear Nose Throat J. 1990;69(12):799–801.
- Pilge H, Holzapfel BM, Lampe R, Pilge S, Prodinger PM. A novel technique to treat Grisel's syndrome: results of a simplified, therapeutical algorithm. Int Orthop. 2013;37(7):1307–13. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00264-013-1895-4.
- Wetzel FT, LaRocca H. Grisel's syndrome. Clin Orthop. 1989;240:141–52.
- Wilson BC, Jarvis BL, Haydon RC. Nontraumatic subluxation of the atlantoaxial joint: Grisel's syndrome. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol. 1987;96(6):705–8.

- Wilson MJ, Michele AA, Jacobson EW. Spontaneous dislocation of the atlanto-axial articulation, including a report of a case with quadriplagie. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1940;22:698–707.
- Kerolus M, Jeans EB, Fontes RB, Deutsch H, Traynelis VC. Atlantoaxial instability of inflammatory origin in adults: case reports, literature review, and rationale for early surgical intervention. Neurosurgery. 2015;76(2):E226–32. https://doi.org/10.1227/ NEU.000000000000578.
- Allegrini D, Autelitano A, Nocerino E, Fogagnolo P, De Cillà S, Rossetti L. Grisel's syndrome, a rare cause of anomalous head posture in children: a case report. BMC Ophthalmol. 2016;16:21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12886-016-0197-1.
- Ismi O, Ozalp H, Hamzaoglu V, Bucioglu H, Vayısoglu Y, Gorur K (2016) Grisel's syndrome accompanying a submandibular abscess. Braz J Otorhinolaryngol. https://doi.org/10.1016/jdiom. bjorl.2016.07.004.
- Lee JK, Oh CH, Park HC, Yoon SH. Grisel's syndrome induced by Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Korean J Spine. 2015;12(2):84–7. https://doi.org/10.14245/kjs.2015.12.2.84.
- Shunmugam M, Poonnoose S. Spontaneous atlantoaxial subluxation associated with tonsillitis. Asian J Neurosurg. 2015;10(2):139–41. https://doi.org/10.4103/1793-5482.152112.
- Baker LL, Bower CM, Glasier CM. Atlanto-axial subluxation and cervical osteomyelitis: two unusual complications of adenoidectomy. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol. 1996;105(4):295–9.
- Bucak A, Ulu S, Aycicek A, Kacar E, Miman MC. Grisel's syndrome: a rare complication following adenotonsillectomy. Case Rep Otolaryngol. 2014;2014:703021. https://doi. org/10.1155/2014/703021.
- Elyajouri A, Assermouh A, Abilkacem R, Agadr A, Mahraoui C. Grisel's syndrome: a rare complication following traditional uvulectomy. Pan Afr Med J. 2015;20:62. https://doi.org/10.11604/ pamj.2015.20.62.5930.
- Feldmann H, Meister EF, Küttner K. From the expert's office. Atlantoaxial subluxation with spastic torticollis after adenoidectomy resp. tonsillectomy in rose position—malpractice of the surgeon or the anaesthesiologist? Laryngorhinootologie. 2003;82(11):799–804.
- Kourelis K, Haronis V, Konandreas I, Kontrafouri A, Asimakopoulos A. Atypical post-adenoidectomy Grisel's syndrome in Crouzon child with kyphotic skull base. Auris Nasus Larynx. 2015;42(5):416–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. anl.2015.02.017.
- Nakashima T, Matsuda K, Okuda T, Tono T, Takaki M, Hayashi T. Hanamure case report of atlantoaxial rotatory fixation after cochlear implantation. Case Rep Otolaryngol. 2016;2016:6486271. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/6486271.
- Ramdoo K, Hall A, Dimitriadis PA, Singh A. Torticollis following tympanoplasty: an index case with lessons in encountering the unexpected. BMJ Case Rep. 2014;2014:bcr2013201539. https:// doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2013-201539.
- Spennato P, Nicosia G, Rapanà A, Cicala D, Donnianni T, Scala S, Aliberti F, Cinalli G. Grisel syndrome following adenoidectomy: surgical management in a case with delayed diagnosis. World Neurosurg. 2015;84(5):1494.e7–1494.e12. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.wneu.2015.04.060.
- Fielding JW, Hawkins RJ. Atlanto-axial rotatory fixation. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1977;59:37–44.
- Ahmed R, Traynelis VC, Menezes AH. Fusions at the craniovertebral junction. Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24(10):1209–24. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00381-008-0607-7.
- Cekinmez M, Tufan K, Sen O, Caner H. Non-traumatic atlantoaxial subluxation: Grisel's syndrome. Two case reports. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 2009;49(4):172–4.
- de Carvalho M, Swash M. Neurologic complications of craniovertebral dislocation. Handb Clin Neurol. 2014;119:435–48. https:// doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-7020-4086-3.00028-X.

- Morales LC, Alvarado F, Corredor JA, Rodríguez A. Bilateral C1 laminar hooks combined with C2 pedicle screw fixation in the treatment of atlantoaxial subluxation after Grisel syndrome. Spine J. 2016;16(12):e755–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. spinee.2016.08.016.
- Osiro S, Tiwari KJ, Matusz P, Gielecki J, Tubbs RS, Loukas M. Grisel's syndrome: a comprehensive review with focus on pathogenesis, natural history, and current treatment options. Childs Nerv Syst. 2012;28:821–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00381-012-1706-z.
- Wang JC, Malic C, Reilly C, Verchere C. Microtia reconstruction and postsurgical Grisel's syndrome: a rare cause of torticollis in a child. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open. 2014;2(6):e176. https://doi. org/10.1097/GOX.00000000000117.
- Parke WW, Rothman RH, Brown MD. The pharyngovertebral veins: an anatomical rationale for Grisel's syndrome. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1984;66(4):568–74.
- Tedesco B, Grisel P, Desfosses P, Tassin M. Deux nouveaux cas d'énucléation de l'atlas par torticolis nasopharyngien. Bull Soc Pediat. 1930;28:252–62.
- Battiata A, Pazos G. Grisel's syndrome: the two-hit hypothesis—a case report and literature review. Ear Nose Throat J. 2004;83:553–5.
- Deichmueller CM, Welkoborsky HJ. Grisel's syndrome—a rare complication following "small" operations and infections in the ENT region. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2010;267(9):1467–73. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00405-010-1241-z.
- Tschopp K. Monopolar electrocautery in adenoidectomy as a possible risk factor for Grisel's syndrome. Laryngoscope. 2002;112(8 Pt 1):1445–9.

- Subach BR, McLaughlin MR, Albright AL, Pollack IF. Current management of pediatric atlantoaxial rotatory subluxation. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1998;23(20):2174–9.
- Viscone A, Brembilla C, Gotti G. The importance and effectiveness of conservative treatment in Grisel's syndrome. J Pediatr Neurosci. 2014;9(2):200–1. https://doi.org/10.4103/1817-1745.139371.
- Akbay A, Bilginer B, Akalan N. Closed manual reduction maneuver of atlanto-axial rotatory dislocation in pediatric age. Childs Nerv Syst. 2014;30:1083–9.
- Rinaldo A, Mondin V, Suarez C, Genden EM, Ferlito A. Grisel's syndrome in head and neck practice. Oral Oncol. 2005; 41(10):966–70.
- Hirth K, Welkoborsky HJ. Grisel's syndrome following ENT-surgery: report of two cases. Laryngorhinootologie. 2003;82(11):794–8. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2003-44547.
- 43. Kasten P, Zeichen J, Gosling T, Krettek C. Grisel syndrome—a trauma surgery rarity. Unfallchirurg. 2002;105(6):565–8.
- Wright NM. Posterior C2 fixation using bilateral, crossing C2 laminar screws: case series and technical note. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2004;17:158–62.
- Martinez-Lage JF, Martinez Perez M, Fernandez Cornejo V, Poza M. Atlanto-axial rotatory subluxation in children: early management. Acta Neurochir. 2001;143(12):1223–8.
- 46. Yu KK, White DR, Weissler MC, Pillsbury HC. Nontraumatic atlantoaxial subluxation (Grisel syndrome): a rare complication of otolaryngological procedures. Laryngoscope. 2003;113(6): 1047–9.

Odontoid Fusion

Corey T. Walker and Volker K. H. Sonntag

Abstract Anterior odontoid screw fixation allows for the internal fixation of unstable odontoid fractures with low morbidity, good fusion rates, and preservation of the atlanto-axial range of motion when applied in appropriate clinical cases. Advances in surgical techniques have allowed for safer, more minimally invasive approaches that reduce the risk of injury to vital prevertebral structures and minimize soft tissue retraction. Moreover, improvements in surgical image guidance technology for spinal surgery that have been applied to odontoid screw placement have helped improve surgeon confidence about exact screw trajectories. In this chapter, we review traditional screw placement techniques and highlight the trends in technical improvements that improve the safety and efficacy of these procedures.

Keywords Anterior screw fixation \cdot Fusion \cdot Odontoid fracture \cdot Odontoid fusion \cdot Rostral fractures

Introduction

Anterior odontoid screw fixation represents a method for the surgical fusion of specific odontoid fractures. Although many stable type fractures can be treated with cervical orthosis, anterior screw fixation promotes improved fusion and outcomes in acute, unstable Type II and rostral Type III fractures, as classified originally in 1974 by Anderson and D'Alonzo [1]. In comparison to posterior fusion techniques, anterior fixation allows for the preservation of the large range of motion that occurs at C1–C2. It also decreases patient morbidity because it requires less muscular dissection than required by posterior approaches. Over the past few decades, numerous reports in the neurosurgical literature have helped

C. T. Walker · V. K. H. Sonntag (🖂)

Department of Neurosurgery, Barrow Neurological Institute, St. Joseph's Hospital and Medical Center, Phoenix, AZ, USA e-mail: Neuropub@dignityhealth.org



to establish the indications and contraindications for this procedure, resulting in improved selection of patients. Thus, anterior odontoid fusion has become a safe and well-accepted treatment when it is applied appropriately and with expert surgical skill. The latest techniques build upon the traditional techniques, which will be discussed in what follows, and they also improve the safety of the procedure and reduce morbidity in patients undergoing it.

Materials and Methods

Traditional Surgical Technique

The traditional surgical technique for anterior odontoid fusion requires the use of simultaneous intraoperative anterior-posterior (AP) open-mouth and lateral fluoroscopy to appropriately guide the screw trajectory. The patient is placed in the supine position with the neck extended. Appropriate extension performed under fluoroscopy allows the trajectory of the screw to be toward the tip of the dens (Fig. 1a). The use of radiolucent materials in the mouth and around the head prevents obscuration of the working field.

Surgical exposure is completed by making a transverse incision at the level of C4–5 to allow for a cranially directed screw trajectory (Fig. 1b). After subplatysmal dissection down to the prevertebral fascial plane is complete, cephalad dissection is performed along the anterior longitudinal ligament up to the level of C2. Retractors are placed within the path, and the longus colli muscles are coagulated at their medial insertions and elevated laterally to expose the underlying C2–3 vertebral space (Fig. 1c). In some cases, a curette can be used to rasp the bony surfaces at the fracture site to help remove soft tissue and instigate bony fusion.

Although some groups have suggested that two screws may be placed, biomechanical research has shown that one screw is sufficient to provide the necessary fixation [2].



Fig. 1 Traditional surgical technique for odontoid fusion. (a) The anterior-posterior (A-P) orientation of the C-arm creates an openmouth view of the odontoid process. (b) Incision over the C5 level with dissection angled toward the C2–3 disc space entry point, with

(c) the horizontal trajectory aimed at the tip of the dens. In this image, a traditional Apfelbaum retractor is used to hold back the soft tissue. Used with permission from Barrow Neurological Institute, Phoenix, Arizona

In the single-screw technique, a midline entry point is designated. A trough is created in the superior ventral body of C3, and the nearby annulus of the C2-3 disc space is partially removed to allow screw entry into the inferior end plate of the C2 body. A trajectory nearly parallel to the cranial-caudal plane is optimal to ensure that the screw enters the tip, which also reduces the risk for spinal cord injury. The trajectory should be confirmed with intraoperative fluoroscopy. With cannulated screw systems, a Kirschner wire (K-wire) is drilled into the trajectory to guide the placement of hollow screws and tools. It is drilled into C2 until its tip engages the tip of the fractured dens. The K-wire can then be removed and measured to determine the length of the screw. A second K-wire can also be used to measure screw length, if desired. A selftapping 3.5- or 4.0-mm screw can then be inserted directly over the K-wire. If there is a gap between the fractured fragments, the screw measurement can be adjusted to compensate for the estimated reduction that will occur once the cannulated lag screw is in place. The screw is inserted carefully, with the screw head flush against the C2 body. Screw ends that protrude into the interspace are at risk of becoming loosened or causing fracture. After the screw is in place, the K-wire can be removed.

Minimally Invasive Techniques

Tubular Retractor Systems

During the development of traditional techniques for anterior odontoid fusion, multiple adaptations have been made to retractor systems to prevent soft tissue injury during drilling maneuvers. Apfelbaum and colleagues helped design an anterior cervical retractor with a detachable third blade capable of supporting the posterior wall of the pharynx (Fig. 1c). Tubular drill-protecting guides have also been devised with teeth that can be secured to the targeted entry point. This provides protection of soft tissue by preventing the drill bit teeth from catching encroaching soft tissue around the retractor blades.

With the advent of tubular retractor systems for use in minimally invasive lumbar surgery, our group proposed the application of the same tubular systems for odontoid fusion [3]. An 18-mm tubular retractor (METRx System; Medtronic Sofamor Danek USA, Inc., Memphis, TN) was developed using the same basic principles as those described earlier. A flexible arm-mounting system is attached to the bed rail contralaterally to the surgeon (Fig. 2a). Dissection is performed at the level of the C5 vertebral body, with handheld retractors being used to expose upward to the C2-3 disc space. Then a 16.8-mm dilator tip is placed at the entry point with the desired trajectory as determined using standard biplanar fluoroscopy. After this step is completed, the tubular retractor is placed over the dilator and secured to the flexible arm before removal of the dilator. Final positioning of the tube is confirmed using fluoroscopy, which allows small adjustments of the retractor arm to be made without having to reinsert the dilator. Upon the exposure of this surgical corridor, the surgeon can begin the K-wire insertion and screw placement as described earlier. Subsequent modifications to the tubular retractor include beveling of the distal end of the tube to allow for a flush interface between the retractor and the ventral surface of the vertebral bodies to which it is docked [4] (Fig. 2b, c). A tubular light source has also been added to the tubular retractor to allow better visualization of the working surface.

Percutaneous Screw Placement

In 1999, Kazan et al. [5] described the first percutaneous approach for the placement of anterior odontoid screws, which they tested in cadaveric experiments. This technique was subsequently implemented in human patients with good safety and efficacy [6, 7]. As with the traditional techniques, percutaneous placement relies heavily on biplanar fluoroscopy. With this technique, the entry point is also made at the level of the C5 vertebral body. Most authors suggest injection of 25-30 cm³ of saline solution into the fascial plane medial to the neurovascular bundle to help separate tissue during placement of the tubular retractor. A small (<1 cm) incision is then made, with the platysmal opening and dissection medial to the sternocleidomastoid muscle. Although the exact techniques may differ by surgeon preference, dissection with a blunt K-wire or Jamshidi needle is used to gain access to the prevertebral space, and the dissection is then directed upward to the C2-3 disc space under fluoroscopic guidance. A telescopic dilating tube system is placed, and the K-wire is positioned along the desired trajectory under fluoroscopic guidance (Fig. 3ad). A cannulated lag screw is then driven over the K-wire across the fracture. Careful attention to the K-wire is required at all times, particularly during screw drilling, to prevent unwanted advancement toward the brainstem. After placement of the cannulated lag screw, the guidewire is removed.

A limitation of this technique is that the positioning of the K-wire in the appropriate trajectory can be difficult using fluoroscopy alone without direct visualization of the entry



Fig. 2 Tubular retractor system for odontoid fusion. (**a**) Proper orientation of METRx tubular retractor (Medtronic Sofamor Danek USA, Inc., Memphis, TN, USA) for screw placement, with arm rigidly fixed to table. Reprinted with permission from Hott et al.: A new table-fixed retractor for anterior odontoid screw fixation: technical note (3), 98:118–120, 2003. Permission granted by J Neurosurg Spine [3]. (**b**)

point. Repositioning an undesirable K-wire hole can be particularly difficult, because doing so may compromise screw placement. Some authors have proposed using a two-hole guide tube, so that a second parallel K-wire can be placed at a better trajectory if an inappropriate trajectory is obtained initially [8]. However, to obtain acceptable minimally invasive screw placement, the surgeon must be thoroughly familiar with this surgical methodology.

Intraoperative Navigation

As in many areas of spinal surgery, intraoperative navigation for screw placement is increasingly being used Modified tubular retractor designed specifically for odontoid screw placement. (c) Surgeon's view demonstrating incorporated light source, which improves visualization of entry point. Reprinted with permission from Shalayev et al.: Retrospective analysis and modifications of retractor systems for anterior odontoid screw fixation. 16 (1):Article 14, 2004. Permission granted by Neurosurg Focus [4]

during anterior odontoid fusion. Computed tomography (CT)-based guidance allows for three-dimensional visualization of the proposed entry points and trajectories based on reference points affixed to a radiolucent Mayfield frame (Fig. 3e, f). As a result, many proponents believe that the use of intraoperative CT enhances safety and improves outcomes. Compared to the use of biplanar fluoroscopy, the use of CT for intraoperative navigation decreases radiation exposure to the surgeon and operating room staff at the cost of increased exposure to the patient. In the largest comparison of the two techniques, our group found that navigation cases required more operating room preparatory time but actually led to decreased operation duration and higher rates of good screw positioning with fusion across the fracture



Fig. 3 Image-guided percutaneous odontoid screw placement. Fluoroscopic images show (**a**) a Jamshidi needle placed in the inferior C2 body, (**b**) the K-wire driven into the odontoid, (**c**) progressive dilator tubes placed over the K-wire, and (**d**) screw placement across the fracture from within the largest tube. Intraoperative sagittal (**e**) and coronal

(f) computed tomography reconstructions also provide surgical image guidance. Parts **a**–**d** reprinted with permission from Sucu et al.: Percutaneous anterior odontoid screw fixation. 51:106–108, 2008. Permission granted by Minim Invasive Neurosurg [7]. Parts **e**–**f** used with permission from Barrow Neurological Institute, Phoenix, Arizona

site [9]. Still, many surgeons will use adjunctive lateral fluoroscopy during drilling of the screw to confirm trajectory and depth.

Results and Discussion

Odontoid fixation is a safe and efficacious method for the fusion of specific types of odontoid fractures in select patients when it is performed by surgeons who are comfortable with the procedure. Recent trends in fine-tuning and optimizing this procedure have been aimed at increasing safety and minimizing morbidity. The evolution of tubular retractor systems and percutaneous methods with dilating tubes allows for smaller incisions, less muscle dissection, and avoidance of damage to surrounding tissue. For surgeons less familiar with the procedure, the addition of CT-based navigation likely improves operative planning, increases the accuracy of screw placement, and facilitates determination of trajectory. Armed with these tools, surgeons should find that anterior screw fixation of odontoid fractures yields excellent fusion results with relatively low risk to the patient.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

References

- 1. Anderson LD, D'Alonzo RT. Fractures of the odontoid process of the axis. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1974;56(8):1663–74.
- Sasso R, Doherty BJ, Crawford MJ, Heggeness MH. Biomechanics of odontoid fracture fixation. Comparison of the one- and two-screw technique. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1993;18(14):1950–3.
- Hott JS, Henn JS, Sonntag VK. A new table-fixed retractor for anterior odontoid screw fixation: technical note. J Neurosurg. 2003;98(3 Suppl):294–6.
- Shalayev SG, Mun IK, Mallek GS, Palmer S, Levi AD, Lasner TM, et al. Retrospective analysis and modifications of retractor systems for anterior odontoid screw fixation. Neurosurg Focus. 2004;16(1):E14.
- Kazan S, Tuncer R, Sindel M. Percutaneous anterior odontoid screw fixation technique. A new instrument and a cadaveric study. Acta Neurochir. 1999;141(5):521–4.
- 6. Chi YL, Wang XY, Xu HZ, Lin Y, Huang QS, Mao FM, et al. Management of odontoid fractures with percutaneous anterior odontoid screw fixation. Eur Spine J. 2007;16(8):1157–64. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00586-007-0331-0
- Sucu HK, Akkol I, Minoglu M, Gelal F. Percutaneous anterior odontoid screw fixation. Minim Invasive Neurosurg. 2008;51(2):106–8. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-1022543
- Wu AM, Wang XY, Xia DD, Luo P, Xu HZ, Chi YL. A novel technique of two-hole guide tube for percutaneous anterior odontoid screw fixation. Spine J. 2015;15(5):1141–5. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.spinee.2015.02.013
- Martirosyan NL, Kalb S, Cavalcanti DD, Lochhead RA, Uschold TD, Loh A, et al. Comparative analysis of isocentric 3-dimensional C-arm fluoroscopy and biplanar fluoroscopy for anterior screw fixation in odontoid fractures. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2013;26(4):189– 93. https://doi.org/10.1097/BSD.0b013e31823f62c7

CVJ Trauma

Posttraumatic Anatomical Injuries of the Craniovertebral Junction and Treatment Implications: Part I



Pasquale Ciappetta, M. Alsagheir, Francesco Signorelli, and Massimiliano Visocchi

Keywords Craniovertebral junction \cdot Anatomy \cdot Trauma Treatment

Introduction

Traumas involving the craniovertebral junction (CVJ) often cause structural modifications in the normal anatomy of the involved areas. Their correct identification is pivotal in clinical practice, since it significantly influences choices between conservative treatment and surgery in the therapeutic decision-making process.

The upper cervical spine is defined by the two most cephalad cervical vertebrae: C1 (the atlas) and C2 (the axis). Both the anatomical conformation and the range of motion (ROM) of this segment are considerably different from those of the subaxial counterpart of the cervical spine. The occipital condyles articulate with the superior surface of the lateral masses of C1. The atlanto-occipital articular unit ensures the greatest proportion of flexion and extension movements of the head.

The main feature of C1 is the absence of an identifiable vertebral body, which is substituted by the odontoid process of the axis. Most of the lateral rotation of the neck actually occurs at the C1–C2 junction; the remaining motion of the

P. Ciappetta (🖂)

Section of Neurological Surgery, University of Bari Medical School, Bari, Italy

M. Alsagheir

Institute of Bio-imaging, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

F. Signorelli · M. Visocchi

Institute of Bio-imaging, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

cervical spine is distributed among the subaxial spine vertebral motion segments as a fractional amount (~7%) per level and is less in total than the C1–C2 lateral rotation.

This area of the upper cervical spine is extremely mobile, and its stability depends on ligamentous structures. This means that even in cases in which there is no evidence of a fracture of vertebral bony structures, disruption of the ligamentous components may cause vertebral instability and may be sufficient to sustain pathological conditions such as atlanto-occipital dislocation and atlantoaxial subluxation. In fact, radiological investigations should always be performed, especially in comatose patients, to exclude the presence of ligamentous vertebral instability.

Ligaments provide the bulk of stabilization. The anterior longitudinal ligament extends cranially as the anterior atlantoaxial and atlanto-occipital ligaments. The posterior longitudinal ligament continues cranially as the tectorial membrane. The posterior ligamentous complex is composed of the ligamentum flavum and interspinous ligaments. The cephalic extension of the ligamentum flavum is the posterior atlanto-occipital ligament, whereas the cephalic extension of the interspinous ligament is the ligamentum nuchae. The transverse ligament of the atlas holds the dens against the anterior arch of C1; vertically oriented bands of this ligament extend to the anterior foramen magnum and to the posterior body of the axis to form the cruciform ligaments. The alar ligaments extend from the odontoid process to the lateral margins of the foramen magnum, limiting lateral rotation of the skull. The apical ligament, which extends from the tip of the odontoid process to the inner surface of the clivus, adds little structural support (Fig. 1).

Before analysing the posttraumatic anatomical modifications of bony and ligamentous elements of the CVJ, one should remember that some pathological conditions involve the paediatric age group exclusively. This is a consequence of some peculiar anatomical characteristics of the paediatric population that are not identifiable in adults.

Section of Orthopaedic Surgery, University of Misurata Medical School, Misurata, Libya



Fig. 1 Relevant ligaments of the craniovertebral junction described in the text

The laxity of the paediatric CVJ ligamentous complex explains why upper cervical spine injuries are so common in the paediatric age group. For the same reason, children are more likely to be subject to spinal cord injuries without radiological abnormalities (SCIWORA).

Computed tomography (CT) has been proved to be most accurate and cost effective than conventional radiography in diagnosis of CVJ injury in moderate-risk to high-risk adults [1–3], although this comes at a cost of increased radiation exposure and an increased risk of thyroid cancer in children. CT scans were thought to be able to improve the efficiency of emergency departments, reducing the time spent in establishing the diagnosis; however, Adelgais et al. [4] showed increased radiation exposure and no increase in the efficiency of management with use of CT scanning rather than conventional radiography in children.

Plain radiography is commonly used in diagnosis of CVJ injuries in both adult and paediatric populations because it is portable, is readily available and carries a relatively low radiation dose. However, open-mouth odontoid images are difficult to acquire in young children, who have a short neck, often wear a collar and are not always able to open their mouth on command.

Lateral projections are more useful than anteroposterior projections for diagnosis of CVJ injuries. Silva et al. [5] compared the sensitivity of the lateral image alone with that of additional images, using multiple-detector CT (MDCT) scanning as a reference standard, and found that the additional images did not increase the sensitivity (which was 73% [95% confidence interval 50–89%] with the lateral view alone) and marginally decreased the specificity (from 92% to 91%). The sensitivity of 73% was considered barely acceptable for a screening study. Other studies have concluded that complementary radiographic projections, such as the transoral projection for odontoid fractures and oblique projections, do not improve the sensitivity of conventional ones. Lateral projections along with anteroposterior projections have been demonstrated to identify approximately 87% of CVJ fractures in the paediatric population [6].

Several measurements—including the Powers ratio, atlantodental interval, atlanto-occipital interval, basion—axial interval and basion—dental interval—have been used in an adult population with good results in terms of sensitivity and specificity. However, these parameters seem to be inapplicable in children because of age-dependent anatomical peculiarities and variations in the ossification process that make these measurements inaccurate [7, 8].

Moreover, values considered physiological in radiographic measurements of the anatomical relationship of the CVJ cannot be applied to MDCT scans. In fact, normal radiographic parameter values have been found to be greater than those measured on CT scans. As a consequence, application of radiographic parameters to CT scans would result in missed diagnosis of a variable percentage of CVJ injuries [8]. However, the capacity to detect cervical fractures is significantly greater with CT scanning than with radiography [7, 9, 10]. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) should be used to detect soft tissue injuries (intervertebral disc, ligamentous complex, muscle and joint capsule injuries) and involvement of the spinal cord. MRI plays a pivotal role in implementation of MDCT scan information in surgical planning, as well as in clinical prognostication [11].

This paper is Part I of a two-part report. In the following sections and in Part II of the report, bony and ligamentous alterations of the CVJ are individually described for each component of the region: the occipital bone, atlas and axis.

The Condylar Portion of the Occipital Bone, Atlanto-occipital Dissociation and the Atlanto-occipital Joint Space (Condyle–C1 Interval)

Non-osseous injuries of the craniocervical junction are considerably more common in children than in adults. MRI is crucial in the evaluation process; many cases of juvenile CVJ injuries that are negative on CT scanning are identified with MRI [12, 13]. The injuries range from minor soft tissue injury to cervicomedullary contusion. The disproportionate head size, poor muscle tone, lax ligaments and incompletely developed articulations make the craniocervical junction especially vulnerable in infants and young children (Figs. 2 and 3).

In the guidelines for the management of acute cervical spine and spinal cord injuries, published in *Neurosurgery* in 2013, condyle–C1 interval (CCI) measurements were given a level I recommendation for diagnosis of atlanto-occipital dissociation (AOD) in the paediatric population (level III in adults), with sensitivity and specificity of 100% [14].

The spectrum of CVJ abnormalities detected with MRI was described by Sun et al. in 2000 [15] and includes ligamentous injuries followed by muscular trauma, extra-axial haemorrhage, fractures and spinal cord lesions.

AOD injuries include both atlanto-occipital dislocation and atlanto-occipital subluxation. The mortality rate reported for dislocation injuries is significantly higher than that reported for subluxation [8]. For this reason, much attention has been paid to this region to identify patients who have had subluxation injuries so they can be appropriately managed.

On MDCT multiplanar reconstruction (MPR) images, magnification is negligible and direct visualization of the joint spaces is possible. Specifically, on MPR images, evaluation of the atlanto-occipital joint can be performed accurately. Therefore, assessment of the relationship between the occipital condyle and the lateral mass of the atlas represents the most important method in the detection of AOD.



Fig. 2 (a) Three-dimensional computed tomography (CT) scan of a young child presenting with a disconnection in C0–C1. (b) The same patient, showing swelling of retropharyngeal tissue (*white arrow*), common in this type of traumatic injury



Fig. 3 Sagittal T2-weighted craniocervical magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). (**a**) Enlarged C0–C1 facet (*white arrow*). (**b**) Effusion in the facet, indicating instability of the atlanto-occipital junction (*white arrow*)

In one study of retroclival collections following child abuse [16], the most common type of retroclival collection was located in the subdural compartment (48%). Less common types were retroclival epidural collections (14%) or combined retroclival epidural and subdural collections (10%). More than one quarter (28%) of collections were categorized as indeterminate for the following reasons: the retroclival collection was identified on CT scanning only and no brain MRI was performed; CT scanning showed that the retroclival collection had resolved prior to MRI being performed; and the MRI detail/available sequences did not permit reliable identification of the tectorial membrane and therefore limited the categorization of the retroclival collection.

Tectorial membrane disruption has been reported to be one of the most important factors resulting in formation of a retroclival haematoma (REH). REHs are rare, and their description in the literature is uncommon. They are more commonly diagnosed in the paediatric population; their occurrence in adults is an exceptional event [17]. Most paediatric traumatic REHs have been observed in children harbouring arteriovenous malformations.

The tectorial membrane, transverse ligament and alar ligaments play an important role in stabilizing the craniocervical junction. The tectorial membrane—a superior extension of the posterior longitudinal ligament—extends to the anterior margin of the foramen magnum and covers the caudal portion of the clivus. The tectorial membrane is the major craniocervical stabilizer and plays a significant role in the pathogenesis of REHs.

Several mechanisms have been proposed in order to explain the pathogenesis of clival epidural haematomas. They include stripping of the tectorial membrane from the surface of the clivus, caused by a hyperextension injury, resulting in damage of the membrane itself and bleeding from the injured dura; traumatic disruption of the local vasculature such as the meningohypophyseal trunk or the basilar plexus; and clival fracture or diastasis of the spheno-occipital synchondrosis with dural bleeding [18–20]. Clival subdural haematomas have been rarely reported, and the source of bleeding has not been clearly understood because of the paucity of vessels identifiable in the clival subdural space [21, 22]. Three different mechanisms have been proposed regarding the unusual occurrence of a subdural haematoma in the clival region:

- 1. Collection of fluid in the subdural space secondary to dural injury and consequent bleeding.
- 2. Traumatic arachnoid tear allowing cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leakage in the subdural space. This would explain the three cases of CSF-intensity subdural collections reported in the aforementioned study [16].
- Redistribution of subdural fluid/blood from subdural haematomas located along the occipital squama or middle cranial fossa.

The postulated mechanism for tectorial membrane injury is sagittal dislocation of the odontoid process associated with disruption of the transverse ligament, causing detachment of the tectorial membrane from the clivus. In children, the dura mater and tectorial membrane are not firmly attached to the skull; injuries causing stripping of the tectorial membrane could result in traction of the adjacent vascular structures such as the basilar venous plexus and the dorsal meningeal branch of the meningohypophyseal trunk. This may result in collection of blood in the retroclival epidural space. Indirect features of tectorial membrane injuries are stretching, detachment and elevation of the membrane from the clivus, with simultaneous epidural fluid collection extending to the apex of the dens or subdural collection in the form of blood or hygromatous collection [16].

Since a CT scan is not able to clearly identify soft tissues, diagnosis of tectorial membrane injuries with elevation of the membrane itself by the collection of an REH must be performed using MRI, which has higher sensitivity for diagnosis of tectorial membrane injury and is also able to differentiate stretching from disruption of the membrane itself. The paucity of studies regarding traumatic REH and tectorial membrane injury suggests, however, that these lesions have been underdiagnosed to date.

As mentioned above, REHs are rare in the adult population. However some known conditions facilitate the occurrence of this pathological condition; they include: haemophilia, explosive pituitary apoplexy, posterior cranial fossa decompressive craniectomy for cerebellar infarction, and treatment with anticoagulants [17].

Evidence of an intact tectorial ligament, absence of facet fluid and a CCI <2.5 mm on MDCT scanning are signs of stability and suggest that a more conservative therapeutic strategy should be pursued.

In the guidelines for the management of acute cervical spine and spinal cord injuries [14], surgical treatment of AOD with internal fixation and fusion was given a level III recommendation. The most common surgical procedures performed are occipitocervical fixation and, more recently, condylar cervical fixation.

Traction is not recommended in the management of patients with AOD, since it is associated with a 10% risk of neurological deterioration.

Osseous Condylar Lesions

Hanson [23] estimated that the frequency of occipital condyle fracture in seriously injured patients is as high as one or two fractures per 1000 patients.

The classification system used for condylar fracture is that described by Anderson and Montesano [24]. This classification recognizes three different types of fractures: type I comminuted, type II extended to the skull base and type III avulsed. Type III injuries may be associated with disruption of the alar ligaments and tectorial membrane, and may result in craniocervical dissociation. In an extensive retrospective series of 107 fractures in 95 patients, published by Hanson et al. [23], inferomedial avulsions (Anderson and Montesano type III) were the most common type of occipital condyle fracture observed, constituting 80 (75%) of the 107 fractures. Unilateral occipital condyle fractures were found in 73 (77%) of the 95 patients. Bilateral occipital condyle fractures or joint injuries were seen in 22 (23%) of the patients.

Radiographic signs of instability are (1) fragments involving at least 25% of the condylar articulating surface; (2) fragment displacement of 4 mm or more; (3) atlanto-occipital dislocation; (4) subluxation of C0–C1 or C1–C2; (5) C0–C1 or C1–C2 joint widening; and (6) complete transverse fracture through congenitally fused C0–C1 articulation. The consequential treatment (given a level III recommendation) can be synthesized in three options: external cervical immobilization is usually recommended; halo vest immobilization should be considered for bilateral occipitocervical–condylar fractures; and occipitocervical stabilization and fusion are recommended in cases of associated atlanto-occipital ligamentous injury and in those with evidence of instability.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

References

- Booth TN. Cervical spine evaluation in pediatric trauma. Am J Roentgenol. 2012;198:417–25.
- Blackmore CC, Ramsey SD, Mann FA, Deyo RA. Cervical spine screening with CT in trauma patients: a cost-effectiveness analysis. Radiology. 1999;212:117–25.
- Hanson JA, Blackmore CC, Mann FA, Wilson AJ. Cervical spine injury: a clinical decision rule to identify high-risk patients for helical CT screening. Am J Roentgenol. 2000;174:713–7.
- Adelgais KM, Grossman DC, Langer SG, Mann FA. Use of helical computed tomography for imaging the pediatric cervical spine. Acad Emerg Med. 2004;11:228–36.
- Silva CT, Doria AS, Traubici J, et al. Do additional views improve the diagnostic performance of cervical spine radiography in pediatric trauma? Am J Roentgenol. 2010;194:500–8.
- Ralston ME, Ecklund K, Emans JB, Torrey SB, Bailey C, Schutzman SA. Role of oblique radiographs in blunt pediatric cervical spine injury. Pediatr Emerg Care. 2003;19:68–72.
- 7. Junewick JJ. Pediatric craniocervical junction injuries. AJR. 2011;196:1003–10.
- Bertozzi JC, Rojas CA, Martinez CR. Evaluation of the pediatric craniocervical junction on MDCT. Am J Roentgenol. 2009;192:26–31.
- 9. Keenan HT, Hollingshead MC, Chung CJ, et al. Using CT of the cervical spine for early evaluation of pediatric patients with head trauma. Am J Roentgenol. 2001;177:1405–9.
- Mace SE. Emergency evaluation of cervical spine injuries: CT versus plain radiographs. Ann Emerg Med. 1985;14:973–5.
- Goradia D, Linnau KF, Cohen WA, et al. Correlation of MR imaging findings with intraoperative findings after cervical spine trauma. Am J Neuroradiol. 2007;28:209–15.
- Junewick JJ, Meesa IR, Luttenton CR, Hinman JM. Occult injury of the pediatric craniocervical junction. Emerg Radiol. 2009;16:483–8.
- Chang W, Alexander MT, Mirvis SE. Diagnostic determinants of craniocervical distraction injuries in adults. Am J Roentgenol. 2009;192:52–8.
- Theodore N, Aarabi B, Dhall SS, Gelb DE, Hurlbert RJ, Rozzelle CJ, Ryken TC, Walters BC, Hadley MN. The diagnosis and management of traumatic atlanto-occipital dislocation injuries. Neurosurgery. 2013;72((Suppl 2)):114–26.

- Sun PP, Poffenbarger GJ, Durham S, Zimmerman R. Spectrum of occipitoatlantoaxial injury in young children. J Neurosurg Spine. 2000;93(1):28–39.
- Silvera VM, Danehy AR, Newton AW, Stamoulis C, Carducci C, Grant PE, Wilson CR, Kleinman PK. Retroclival collections associated with abusive head trauma in children. Pediatr Radiol. 2014;44(Suppl 4):S621–31.
- 17. Prieto Santa Cruz C, Carvajal A, Zauner M, Prenafeta Moreno M, Perez Aguilera S, Cabero Moyano J, Lugo N, Rovira A, Sabadell ES, Arenys de Munt-Barcelona ES, Reus ES. Imaging findings in posttraumatic retroclival hematomas [poster no. C-1439]. European Congress of Radiology, Vienna, March 2014.
- Khan N, Zumstein B. Transverse clivus fracture: case presentation and significance of clinico-anatomic correlations. Surg Neurol. 2000;54:171–7.
- Ahn ES, Smith ER. Acute clival and spinal subdural hematoma with spontaneous resolution: clinical and radiographic correlation in support of a proposed pathophysiological mechanism. Case report. J Neurosurg. 2005;103:175–9.
- Tubbs RS, Griessenauer CJ, Hankinson T, et al. Retroclival epidural hematomas: a clinical series. Neurosurgery. 2010;67:404–6.
- 21. Casey D, Chaudhary BR, Leach PA, et al. Traumatic clival subdural hematoma in an adult. J Neurosurg. 2009;110:1238–41.
- Ayberk G, Ozveren MF, Aslan S, et al. Subarachnoid, subdural and interdural spaces at the clival region: an anatomical study. Turk Neurosurg. 2011;21:372–7.
- 23. Hanson JA, Deliganis AV, Baxter AB, Cohen WA, Linnau KF, Wilson AJ, Mann FA. Radiologic and clinical spectrum of occipital condyle fractures: retrospective review of 107 consecutive fractures in 95 patients. Am J Roentgenol. 2002;178:1261–8.
- Anderson PA, Montesano PX. Morphology and treatment of occipital condyle fractures. Spine. 1988;13:731–6.

Posttraumatic Anatomical Injuries of the Craniovertebral Junction and Treatment Implications: Part II



Pasquale Ciappetta, M. Alsagheir, Francesco Signorelli, and Massimiliano Visocchi

Keywords Craniovertebral junction \cdot Anatomy \cdot Trauma Treatment

Introduction

This paper is Part II of a two-part report. In Part I of the report, injuries of the occipital bone, atlanto-occipital dissociation and the atlanto-occipital joint space were discussed. This part of the report discusses atlantoaxial dislocation and fractures of the atlas and axis.

Atlantoaxial Dislocation

Atlantoaxial dislocation is a pathological condition characterized by loss of stability between the atlas and the axis (C1–C2), resulting in loss of normal articulation. The transverse ligament, which runs across the posterior dens and attaches on either side of the lateral mass of C1, maintains the dens in its physiological position, stabilizing C1–C2 articulation and preventing anterior dislocation of the atlas. Additional stabilization of the dens comes from the alar ligaments, which extend from the odontoid process in a lateral and cephalad direction to the basilar portion of the occiput. The transverse ligament is larger and stronger than

P. Ciappetta (🖂)

Section of Neurological Surgery, University of Bari Medical School, Bari, Italy

M. Alsagheir Section of Orthopaedic Surgery, University of Misurata Medical School, Misurata, Libya

F. Signorelli · M. Visocchi Institute of Bio-imaging, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

the alar ligaments and ensures the greater proportion of the stability, with the alar ligaments providing secondary support [1, 2].

A purely traumatic atlantoaxial dislocation in the absence of other predisposing risk factors is an extremely rare event (Fig. 1a–d). A literature review by Venkatesan et al. in 2012 found only 12 adult case reports published in the literature [3]. The mechanism underlying atlantoaxial dislocation is an abnormal movement of the neck, resulting in disruption of the transverse ligament. Rarely, disruption of the transverse ligament may be accompanied by simultaneous damage of the alar and apical ligaments.

Among odontoid fractures, type II fractures are the most common and are uniquely associated with atlantoaxial dislocation [4] (Fig. 1). Traditionally considered as a congenital anomaly, os odontoideum may in fact be caused by an early traumatic injury in which the odontoid process is completely separated from the axis and then heals, appearing as a separate ossicle. The resulting condition predisposes the patient to dislocation.

Only ten cases of patients who survived a posterior atlantoaxial dislocation without an associated odontoid fracture have been reported to date [5]. However, the incidence of this pathological condition is probably underestimated. In fact, traumatic forces causing the dislocation are likely strong enough to cause a spinal cord injury and the immediate death of the patient. In such cases, an autopsy is not capable of identifying this kind of lesion. This means that the number of posterior atlantoaxial dislocations could be considerably higher than has been reported in the literature. The mechanism underlying posterior atlantoaxial dislocation without involvement of the odontoid process may be correlation of hyperextension and distraction movements. This theory was proposed by Haralson and Boyd [6] and is supported by the finding that these patients have both head and neck lacerations, which are typically found in hyperextension cervical injuries.



Fig. 1 (a) Computed tomography (CT) scan showing posterior atlantoaxial dislocation associated with an Anderson type II fracture. (b) Sagittal T2-weighted image of the same patient, showing the odontoid process fractured and migrated into the spinal canal, compressing the high cervical

cord region. The patient is affected by severe tetraparesis. (c, d) The same patient, operated on after 2 days of halo traction (to achieve alignment of C1–C2 and odontoid repositioning), with transarticular C1–C2 screw fixation and posterior C1–C2 fusion with the iliac crest and bony chips

The most common classification, published by Fielding and Hawkins [7] and known as the Fielding classification system, has been widely accepted for clinical application. Unfortunately, it has been found not to have clinical significance in treatment or in grading of the severity of injuries, as the majority of clinical dislocations that are encountered are anterior [8]. The choice of the most appropriate treatment strategy in cases of atlantoaxial dissociation is still a matter of debate concerning conservative versus surgical treatment and, when a surgical option is chosen, which kind of surgical strategy is most suitable.

Most authors advise reserving surgical treatment for symptomatic patients, in whom it is indicated to prevent neurological deterioration and death [9]. In asymptomatic patients the choice of treatment still represents a matter of discussion [9]. Surgical treatment has been proposed for asymptomatic adult patients with a dislocation greater than 5 mm. Surgical fusion is indicated in children when one or more of the following are present: neurological involvement, persistent anterior displacement greater than 4 mm, deformity present for more than 3 months, or recurrence of deformity following 6 weeks of immobilization. In young adults, fusion is recommended when moderate displacement is seen in flexion and extension cervical radiographs, or when instability (with or without pain) is present.

Because there is a paucity of universally accepted guidelines and a lack of patient-derived outcome data [10], more research on the relative risks of surgery versus neurological deterioration due to asymptomatic atlantoaxial dislocation is needed.

Isolated Fractures of the Atlas

Fractures of the atlas overall account for 25% of atlantoaxial complex bony injuries, 10% of cervical spine injuries and 2% of all spinal injuries. Injury of the cervical spine occurs infrequently in paediatric populations, and although C1 injuries represent only 1-2% of paediatric traumas and 2-10% of all cervical injuries in this population, the associated mortality is 16%. In one epidemiological study the authors documented 1537 cases over a 15-year period and maintained that these types of fracture are increasing among the elderly in Sweden. The annual incidence nearly doubled over the course of the study period and in 2011 was nearly 17 per million people [11].

Fractures are currently divided and classified in relation to whether there is exclusive involvement of the bone or simultaneous involvement of bone and ligaments [12], and obviously they are treated according to the risk of instability.

The atlas fracture types are subdivided into stable fractures and unstable fractures. The site can be the anterior and posterior arch for stable fractures or unstable fractures. The instability is represented by transverse ligament rupture. A third type of fracture comprises fractures of the lateral mass atlas.

In these fractures the lateral displacement of the transverse process can compress the neurovascular structures exiting from the jugular foramen against the styloid apophysis, causing Collet–Sicard syndrome (unilateral paralysis of the cranial nerves from IX to XII) [13]. A remarkable radiological sign is reduced space between the styloid process and the transverse process of the atlas ipsilateral to the cranial nerve deficit demonstrated on multiplanar computed tomography (CT).

The treatment option are listed in Table 1.

 Table 1
 Treatment of atlas fractures

Atlas fracture type	Treatment option
Anterior or posterior arch fractures (Type I) Anterior and posterior arch (Type II, burst)	Collar
Stable (transverse atlantal ligament intact)	Collar, Halo
Unstable (transverse atlantal ligament	Halo, C1-C2
disrupted)	stabilization and
	fusion
Lateral mass fractures (Type III)	
Comminuted fracture	Collar, Halo
Transverse process fractures	Collar
LMD lateral mass displacement	

Axis Fractures

The most widely used classification is as follows: fractures of the odontoid process, hangman's fractures, and miscellaneous non-odontoid and non-hangman's fractures.

Odontoid Fractures

Historically, odontoid fractures have been divided into three types.

Classification systems are useful for defining treatment algorithms. One of the most widely used ones is that suggested by the Anderson and D'Alonzo classification. On the basis of their relative stability, type I and III fractures can often be immobilized by a collar. However, there is no consensus on the treatment of type II fractures. Immobilization options may include a collar, halo device, or anterior or posterior internal fixation. Greater patient age, the extent and direction of fracture displacement, delay in diagnosis, and comminution of the fracture all negatively influence union rates.

This crucial treatment decision is further complicated by the difficulty of exact distinction between type II and type III fractures.

Some authors have described an intermediate typology of odontoid fracture called a 'shallow' or 'high' type III fracture. Thus, the distinction between types II and III is not always so obvious, and some authors advocate surgical fusion for both type II and type III fractures [14, 15]. To address this limitation, more precise parameters have been established to better distinguish type II from type III fractures [4]. Thus, oblique fractures in the anterior–posterior plane with mild C2 vertebral body extension and no C2 facet involvement are still classified as type II fractures. However, if the fracture extends into at least one of the superior articular facets of C2, the fracture is classified as a type III fracture. A second limitation of the Anderson and D'Alonzo description of type II fractures is the lack of distinction between fractures that have a broad range of different morphologies and associated treatment



Fig. 2 The Grauer modification of the odontoid fracture classification delineates the difference between (a) type II fractures (with involvement of the C2 superior articular facet) and (b) type III fractures (without such involvement)

considerations. For example, fracture line obliquity, displacement and comminution clearly affect treatment recommendations. The different types of fracture stabilization that are now advocated for different subgroups of odontoid fractures highlight this result. To address this limitation, Hadley et al. [8] introduced a new fracture subclass, defined as a type II fracture complicated by an additional chip fracture fragment at the anterior or posterior aspect of the base of the odontoid process. This subclass, which represents 5% of type II odontoid fractures, has been observed to progress into non-union, regardless of initial fracture displacement, patient age or neurological status.

Nonetheless, there is still a wide array of fracture patterns that are classified as type II fractures. For this reason, Grauer et al. [4] proposed a treatment-oriented type II subtype classification system, consisting of type IIA, IIB, and IIC fractures (Fig. 2). The first type is defined as a minimally displaced or nondisplaced type II fracture with no comminution. These fractures are generally treated with external immobilization. The second type is a displaced fracture extending from anterior–superior to posterior–inferior or a transverse fracture. These fractures are amenable to anterior screw fixation following fracture reduction, assuming adequate bone density. The third type is a fracture line extending from anterior–inferior to posterior–superior or a fracture with significant comminution. These fractures are generally treated with posterior atlantoaxial stabilization.

Traumatic Spondylolisthesis of the Axis (Hangman's Fracture)

Bilateral fracture of the axis pars interarticularis was first described in 1866 by Haughton [16].

Garber [17] coined the term 'traumatic spondylolisthesis of C2' to describe this modern-day fracture.

In 1965, Schneider et al. [18], in a well-known paper, popularized fractures of the lamina, articular facets, pedicles or pars of the axis vertebra as hangman's fractures. They showed how old nomenclature could adapt to changes in types of trauma such as those caused by falling, diving or motor vehicle accidents. Today, the management strategies and surgical indications for hangman's fractures are still controversial, particularly for type II and type III fractures. The classification system proposed by Levine and Edwards [19] added flexion–distraction as a mechanism of injury (type IIA), four injury. The criteria used to determine the lesion's instability are either clinical or anatomical, as described by Li et al. [20].

The treatment criteria related to the type of lesions are clearly evidenced in the guidelines for the management of acute cervical spine and spinal cord injuries [21].

Combination Fractures of the Atlas and Axis

In their paper, Gleizes et al. reported that this combination of fractures was relatively common and required a high level of surveillance to be detected.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

References

- Tubbs RS, Hallock JD, Radcliff V, et al. Ligaments of the craniocervical junction. J Neurosurg Spine. 2011;14(6):697–709.
- Dvorak J, Schneider E, Saldinger P, Rahn B. Biomechanics of the craniocervical region: the alar and transverse ligaments. J Orthop Res. 1988;6(3):452–61.

- Venkatesan M, Bhatt R, Newey ML. Traumatic atlantoaxial rotatory subluxation (TAARS) in adults: a report of two cases and literature review. Injury. 2012;43(7):1212–5.
- Grauer JN, Shafi B, Hilibrand AS, et al. Proposal of a modified, treatment-oriented classification of odontoid fractures. Spine J. 2005;5(2):123–9.
- Yang SY, Boniello AJ, Poorman CE, Chang AL, Wang S, Passias PG. A review of the diagnosis and treatment of atlantoaxial dislocations. Global Spine J. 2014;4:197–210.
- Haralson SH, Boyd HB. Posterior dislocation of the atlas on the axis without fracture. Case report with successful conservative treatment. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1969;51:561–6.
- Fielding JW, Hawkins RJ. Atlanto-axial rotatory fixation (fixed rotator subluxation of the atlanto-axial joint). J Bone Joint Surg. 1977;59(1):37–44.
- Hadley MN, Browner CM, Liu SS, Sonntag VK. New subtype of acute odontoid fractures (type IIA). Neurosurgery. 1988;22(1 Pt 1):67–71.
- Finn MA, Fassett DR, Mccall TD, Clark R, Dailey AT, Brodke DS. The cervical end of an occipitocervical fusion: a biomechanical evaluation of 3 constructs. Laboratory investigation. J Neurosurg Spine. 2008;9(3):296–300.
- Behari S, Bhargava V, Nayak S, et al. Congenital reducible atlantoaxial dislocation: classification and surgical considerations. Acta Neurochir. 2002;144(11):1165–77.
- Matthiessen C, Robinson Y. Epidemiology of atlas fractures a national registry–based cohort study of 1,537 cases. Spine J. 2015;15:2332–7.

- Landells CD, Van Peteghem PK. Fractures of the atlas: classification, treatment and morbidity. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1988;13:450–2.
- Domenicucci M, Mancarella C, Dugoni ED, Ciappetta P, Paolo M. Post-traumatic Collet–Sicard syndrome: personal observation and review of the pertinent literature with clinical, radiologic and anatomic considerations. Eur Spine J. 2015;24(4):663–70.
- Subach BR, Morone MA, Haid RW Jr, et al. Management of acute odontoid fractures with single-screw anterior fixation. Neurosurgery. 1999;45:812–9.
- Brooks AL, Jenkins EB. Atlanto-axial arthrodesis by the wedge compression method. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1978;60:279–84.
- Haughton S. On hanging, considered from a mechanical and physiological point of view. London, Edinburgh and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science 1866;32(4):23–34.
- 17. Garber J. Abnormalities of the atlas and axis vertebrae—congenital and traumatic. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1964;46:1782–91.
- Schneider RC, Livingston KE, Cave AJ, Hamilton G. "Hangman's fracture" of the cervical spine. J Neurosurg. 1965;22:141–54.
- Levine AM, Edwards CC. The management of traumatic spondylolisthesis of the axis. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1985;67(2):217–26.
- Li XF, Dai LY, Lu H, Chen XD. A systematic review of the management of hangman's fractures. Eur Spine J. 2006;15(3):257–69.
- Theodore N, Aarabi B, Dhall SS, Gelb DE, Hurlbert RJ, Rozzelle CJ, Ryken TC, Walters BC, Hadley MN. The diagnosis and management of traumatic atlanto-occipital dislocation injuries. Neurosurgery. 2013;72(Suppl 2):114–26.

The Decision-Making Process in Traumatic Lesions of the Craniovertebral Junction: An Evidence-Based Approach? Part I



Pasquale Ciappetta, M. Alsagheir, Francesco Signorelli, and Massimiliano Visocchi

Keywords Craniovertebral junction · Injuries · Evidence

Evidence-based medicine is a rather young concept, which entered the scientific literature in the early 1990s.

This approach is intended to counteract the empirical approach to research and strengthen epistemology on the basis of the strongest scientific papers (meta-analyses, systematic reviews and randomized controlled trials) [1].

Elements of the Decision-Making Process

In this paper we summarize the essential elements of the decision-making process. Each anatomical region is then discussed separately. This part of the paper (Part I) covers atlanto-occipital dislocation or dissociation, and isolated condylar fractures. Part II of the paper covers isolated and combination fractures of the atlas and axis.

The first topic is the processing of radiographic instability criteria based on x-rays, computed tomography (CT) scanning and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). These depend substantially on identification of types of lesions, taking into consideration the following:

Lesion type and epidemiology: Bone injury, ligamentous injury or a combination of the two.

Section of Neurological Surgery, University of Bari Medical School, Bari, Italy

M. Alsagheir Section of Orthopaedic Surgery, University of Misurata Medical School, Misurata, Libya

Institute of Bio-imaging, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

F. Signorelli · M. Visocchi Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy *Bone displacement:* Listhesis, angulation and/or subluxation.

Ligament ruptures: Avulsion, stretching, retroclival collection.

Measurements: Distances and intervals between bony structures of the craniovertebral junction (CVJ) or bony fragments of the involved vertebrae.

Patient age: In paediatric patients (mostly children aged <10 years), injuries of the C0–C2 region are the predominant form of cervical injury. In elderly patients, treatments options can be different from those in younger adults. In recent years, the incidence of cord injury caused by child abuse has increased [2, 3].

The paediatric population (the younger patients are affected more than older with differences in physiological development and evolving anatomy) is particularly susceptible to craniocervical trauma [4, 5].

Degree of neurological involvement: Complete, incomplete or focal neurological deficits (Fig. 1).

Atlanto-occipital Dislocation or Dissociation

Atlanto-occipital (AO) dislocation or dissociation (AOD), once considered generally rare, is fatal in its most severe forms, showing disruption of craniocervical ligaments [2, 4]. In autopsy studies it represent 12% of identified cervical injuries; the most common mechanism is a pedestrian being struck by a motor vehicle.

Bellabarba et al. classified lesions on the basis of their stability, as follows: (1) stable lesion (immobilization treatment); (2) stable, but the stability must be demonstrated with a traction test (obviously, every effort must be made to identify hidden instability); and (3) high unstable and potentially fatal lesion.

These patients frequently present with vascular injuries and must be screened for blunt cerebrovascular injury.

P. Ciappetta (🖂)



Fig. 1 Six-year-old child involved in a road traffic accident. No bony injury is identified by computed tomography (CT) scanning, but a clear-cut abnormal high-intensity signal in the cervicomedullary region is identified by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)

Sun et al. stated in 2000 [6] that involvement of the tectorial membrane (TM) (Fig. 2) was a critical threshold for unstable ligamentous injury of the CO–C2 region because (1) all spinal cord injury (SCI) occurred with TM injury; (2) all TM injuries also involved AO joint disruptions; (3) cases treated without fusion had progressive MRI changes; and (4) abnormal CO–C2 measurements were found only with TM injury. Other entities that have received increasing consideration in recent years are retroclival subdural collection (the vast majority) and epidural collection, described after trauma in general and particularly in child abuse cases. In the literature, TM rupture seems to play a major role in the formation mechanism.

With regard to this injury, the guidelines for the management of acute cervical spine and spinal cord injuries, published in 2013, give a level I recommendation for CT scanning to determine the condyle–C1 interval (CCI) in paediatric patients and a level III recommendation for CT scanning in adults.



Fig. 2 Young child involved in a road traffic accident. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) shows apical ligament rupture and stretching of the tectorial membrane

Isolated Condylar Fractures

Occipital condyle fractures (OCFs) are considered common nowadays, since the introduction of CT into clinical practice. In these lesions, however, it is advisable to evaluate abnormalities of the lower cranial nerves on admission, which are frequently described, and calculate the patient's Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score (high frequency of loss of consciousness).

The following recommendations given in the 2013 guidelines are only rated as level III: (1) treatment with external cervical immobilization; (2) consideration of more rigid external immobilization in a halo vest for bilateral OCFs; and (3) halo vest immobilization or occipitocervical immobilization and fusion in patients with associated AO ligamentous injury or evidence of instability (Fig. 3).

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.



Fig. 3 Fifty-five-year-old man involved in a road traffic accident. (a) Computed tomography (CT) scanning shows a left condylar fracture associated with a left lateral articular mass of the atlas fracture. (b) The Spence distance is increased slightly. (c-e) Control CT scans and

X-rays show optimal fusion and stability (dynamic x-rays normal) after 1 year, achieved by conservative treatment (wearing of a Philadelphia collar only)

References

- Evidence-Based Medicine Working Group. Evidence-based medicine. A new approach to teaching the practice of medicine. JAMA. 1992;268(17):2420–5.
- 2. Davis D, Bohlman H, Walker AE, et al. The pathological findings in fatal craniospinal injuries. J Neurosurg. 1971;34(5):603–13.
- Gabrielsen TO, Maxwell JA. Traumatic atlanto-occipital dislocation with case report of a patient who survived. Am J Roentgenol Radium Therapy, Nucl Med. 1966;97(3):624–9.
- Bucholz RW, Burkhead WZ. The pathological anatomy of fatal atlanto-occipital dislocations. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1979;61(2):248–50.
- Bellabarba C, Mirza SK, West GA, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of craniocervical dislocation in a series of 17 consecutive survivors during an 8-year period. J Neurosurg Spine. 2006;4(6):429–40.
- Sun PP, Poffenbarger GJ, Durham S, Zimmerman RA. Spectrum of occipitoatlantoaxial injury in young children. J Neurosurg. 2000;93(1 Suppl):28–39.

The Decision-Making Process in Traumatic Lesions of the Craniovertebral Junction: An Evidence-Based Approach? Part II



Pasquale Ciappetta, M. Alsagheir, Francesco Signorelli, Lorenzo Pescatori, and Massimiliano Visocchi

Keywords Craniovertebral junction · Injuries · Evidence

Introduction

This paper is Part II of a two-part report. Part I of the report covered atlanto-occipital dislocation or dissociation, and isolated condylar fractures. This part of the report covers isolated and combination fractures of the atlas and axis.

Isolated Fractures of the Atlas

Historically, Jefferson has been considered the first author to classify these fractures, although a recently published paper described an Italian surgeon named Quercioli as the first author to identify a quadripartite fracture of the atlas [1].

The classification is extremely variable, but basically these fractures are divided into three main types:

Type 1: Only one arch involved (anterior or posterior)

Type 2: Both arches (anterior and posterior) involved

Type 3: Lateral mass involved with or without the arches

P. Ciappetta (🖂)

M. Alsagheir

F. Signorelli · M. Visocchi Institute of Bio-imaging, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy

L. Pescatori Institute of Neurosurgery, "La Sapienza" University School of Medicine, Rome, Italy In fracture type 3, the involvement of cranial nerves from IX to XII (Collet–Sicard syndrome) has been reported [1].

The instability is due to injury of the transverse ligament, which is shown by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in 60% of patients [2]. Dynamic x-rays, performed cautiously, may be required to confirm this instability.

Isolated Fractures of the Axis

These fractures are divided into three types [1–11]:

Type 1: Odontoid fractures

Type 2: Traumatic spondylolisthesis of the axis

Type 3: Combination fractures of the atlas and axis

Odontoid Fractures

The old subdivision described by Anderson and D'Alonzo is still usually valid and is reported in the first part of this paper. The most critical issue is the type II fracture because some authors have recognized subtypes such as Hadley type IIA (with fragments of bone comminution at the base of the odontoid process). Similarly, Grauer et al. described three subtypes:

Subtype A: Similar to Anderson type II

Subtype B: Oblique fracture line displacement from superior to posterior inferior

Subtype C: Transverse fracture line and inferior to posterior superior comminution

Surgery is generally indicated in comminuted fractures and/or when radiographic instability signs are present. In the field of type II odontoid fractures, level II evidence has been reported for surgical stabilization in patients over 50 years

Section of Neurological Surgery, University of Bari Medical School, Bari, Italy

Section of Orthopaedic Surgery, University of Misurata Medical School, Misurata, Libya

old. Immobilization is recommended in all fracture types [8, 12, 13] with acceptable alignment, while anterior or posterior surgery [14–16] is required when the atlas to dens interval is >5 mm.

Traumatic Spondylolisthesis of the Axis

This term was coined by Garber in 1964 [17] to describe this modern-day fracture, which is similar to that sustained by judicial hanging (*hangman's fracture*), but Schneider, in a well-known 1965 paper, popularized the old term [18]. The incidence of this particular type of fracture in the context of cervical spine injuries was studied and reported by Greene et al. in 1976 [8]. They reported a 4% incidence of hangman's fractures out of a total of 1820 cervical fractures. Concomitant cervical fractures, atlas fractures and hangman's fractures have been reported in the literature, with a variable incidence. Cord injury is rare, and spinal instability is not frequently reported. There are at least eight classifications to define the fracture subtypes. Only level III evidence is reported for surgery; cervical immobilization in a halo device is the most common type of treatment, and surgery is reserved for cases of relevant angulation and/or disruption of C2–C3, or cases of failure of alignment following external immobilization (Figs. 1–3).



Fig. 1 (a) Axial and (b) coronal computed tomography (CT) scans showing an atlas fracture involving the anterior and posterior rings of the atlas. The transverse ligament is intact, as demonstrated by the normal atlantodental interval. In this fracture type the lateral mass of the atlas can be displaced laterally, compressing vascular

and nerve structures against the styloid process and causing Collet– Sicard syndrome. (c) Bone window CT scan showing an approximation of the distance from the lateral mass of the atlas to the styloid process due to displacement of the lateral mass of the atlas. **d** Bone fusion after some months



Fig. 2 The Grauer modification of the odontoid fracture classification delineates the difference between (a) type II (with involvement of the C2 superior articular facet) and (b) type III (without such involvement)



Fig. 3 (a) Schematic illustration and distinction between (b) typical and (c, d) atypical hangman's fractures (not involving the isthmus of the axis)

Combination Fractures of the Atlas and Axis

The most frequent combinations are:

- 1. Hangman's fracture associated with odontoid fracture
- 2. Odontoid fracture associated with C2 lateral mass fracture
- 3. Jefferson fracture associated with odontoid fracture

Neurological deficits are more prevalent in combination fractures than in C1–C2 fractures alone. The recommendations are, however, level III. It should be noted that in surgical practice, it is difficult to conduct randomized controlled trials, as they can present ethical conflicts that make it very difficult to draw useful conclusions.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

References

- Domenicucci M, Mancarella C, Dugoni ED, Ciappetta P, Missori P. Post-traumatic Collet–Sicard syndrome: personal observation and review of the pertinent literature with clinical, radiologic and anatomic considerations. Eur Spine J. 2015;24(4):663–70.
- Dickman CA, Greene KA, Sonntag VK. Injuries involving the transverse atlantal ligament: classification and treatment guidelines based upon experience with 39 injuries. Neurosurgery. 1996;38(1):44–50.
- Landells CD, Van Peteghem PK. Fractures of the atlas: classification, treatment and morbidity. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1988;13(5):450–2.
- McGrory BJ, Klassen RA, Chao EY, Staeheli JW, Weaver AL. Acute fractures and dislocations of the cervical spine in children and adolescents. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1993;75(7):988–95.
- Hadley MN. Management of combination fractures of the atlas and axis in adults. Neurosurgery. 2002;50:S140–7.
- Ryken TC, Aarabi B, Dhall SS, Hurlbert RJ, Rozzelle CJ, Theodore N, Walters BC, Hadley MN. Management of isolated fractures of the atlas in adults. Neurosurgery. 2013;72(Suppl 2):127–31.
- Pryputniewicz DM, Hadley MN. Axis fractures. Neurosurgery. 2010;66(3 Suppl):68–82.
- Greene KA, Dickman CA, Marciano FF, Drabier JB, Hadley MN, Sonntag VK. Acute axis fractures: analysis of management and outcome in 340 consecutive cases. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1997;22(16):1843–52.
- Alker GJ Jr, Oh YS, Leslie EV. High cervical spine and craniocervical junction injuries in fatal traffic accidents: a radiological study. Orthop Clin North Am. 1978;9(4):1003–10.
- Huelke DF, O'Day J, Mendelsohn RA. Cervical injuries suffered in automobile crashes. J Neurosurg. 1981;54(3):316–22.
- Hadley MN, Browner C, Sonntag VK. Axis fractures: a comprehensive review of management and treatment in 107 cases. Neurosurgery. 1985;17(2):281–90.

- Wang GJ, Mabie KN, Whitehill R, Stamp WG. The nonsurgical management of odontoid fractures in adults. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1984;9(3):229–30.
- Polin RS, Szabo T, Bogaev CA, Replogle RE, Jane JA. Nonoperative management of types II and III odontoid fractures: the Philadelphia collar versus the halo vest. Neurosurgery. 1996;38(3):450–7.
- Andersson S, Rodrigues M, Olerud C. Odontoid fractures: high complication rate associated with anterior screw fixation in the elderly. Eur Spine J. 2000;9(1):56–9.
- 15. Morandi X, Hanna A, Hamlat A, Brassier G. Anterior screw fixation of odontoid fractures. Surg Neurol. 1999;51(3):236–40.
- Ryken TC, Hadlay MN, Aarabi B, Dhall SS, Gelb DE, Hurlbert RJ, Rozzelle CJ, Theodore N, Walters BC. Management of isolated fractures of the axis in adults. Neurosurgery. 2013;72(Suppl 2): 132–50.
- 17. Garber J. Abnormalities of the atlas and axis vertebrae—congenital and traumatic. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1964;46:1782–91.
- Schneider RC, Livingston KE, Cave AJ, Hamilton G. "Hangman's fracture" of the cervical spine. J Neurosurg. 1965; 22:141–54.

Suggesting Reading

- Pueschel SM, Scola FH. Atlantoaxial instability in individuals with Down syndrome: epidemiologic, radiographic, and clinical studies. Pediatrics. 1987;80(4):555–60.
- Martel W, Tishler JM. Observations on the spine in mongoloidism. Am J Roentgenol Radium Therapy, Nucl Med. 1966;97(3): 630–8.
- Rozzelle CJ, Aarabi B, Dhall SS, Gelb DE, Hurlbert RJ, Ryken TC, Theodore N, Walters BC, Hadley MN. Management of pediatric cervical spine and spinal cord injuries. Neurosurgery. 2013;72(Suppl 2):205–26.
- Hadley MN, Dickman CA, Browner CM, Sonntag VK. Acute traumatic atlas fractures: management and long term outcome. Neurosurgery. 1988;23(1):31–5.
- Levine AM, Edwards CC. Fractures of the atlas. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1991;73(5):680–91.
- Segal LS, Grimm JO, Stauffer ES. Non-union of fractures of the atlas. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1987;69(9):1423–34.
- Hadley MN, Browner CM, Liu SS, et al. New subtype of acute odontoid fractures (type IIA). Neurosurgery. 1988;22:67–71.
- Grauer JN, Shafi B, Hilibrand AS, et al. Proposal of a modified, treatment oriented classification of odontoid fractures. Spine J. 2005;5:123–9.
- Hanigan WC, Powell FC, Elwood PW, et al. Odontoid fractures in elderly patients. J Neurosurg. 1993;78:32–5.
- Pepin JW, Bourne RB, Hawkins RJ. Odontoid fractures, with special reference to the elderly patient. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1985;193:178–83.
- Ryan MD, Henderson JJ. The epidemiology of fractures and fracture dislocations of the cervical spine. Injury. 1992;23:38–40.
- Gleizes V, Jacquot FP, Signoret F, Feron JM. Combined injuries in the upper cervical spine: clinical and epidemiological data over a 14-year period. Eur Spine J. 2000;9(5):386–92.
- Ryken TC, Hadlay MN, Aarabi B, Dhall SS, Gelb DE, Hurlbert RJ, Rozzelle CJ, Theodore N, Walters BC. Management of acute combination fractures of the atlas and axis in adults. Neurosurgery. 2013;72(Suppl 2):151–8.

Type II Odontoid Fracture: a case series highlighting the treatment strategies



Ettore Fiumara, Silvana Tumbiolo, Maria Cristina Lombardo, Rosario Maugeri, Simona Porcaro, Francesco Gioia, Massimiliano Visocchi, and Domenico Gerardo Iacopino

Abstract *Background:* A type II odontoid fracture, if unstable, can cause spinal cord damage. In this case, it is essential to choose the correct treatment—but the issues of what the correct treatment is and which of the different surgical options is best are quite controversial. In this paper we present strategies for treatment of type II odontoid fracture.

Materials and Methods: Thirty consecutive cases of type II odontoid fracture were treated at the Division of Neurosurgery at Villa Sofia Hospital in Palermo (23 cases) and at the Neurosurgical Clinic, University Hospital of Palermo (seven cases), from January 2011 to August 2016. Four patients were treated with external immobilization. Twenty-six patients underwent a surgical procedure.

Results: There was no mortality related to the surgical procedure. One patient had a pre- and postoperative neurological deficit, and remained tetraparetic. Follow-up radiological studies in the surgically treated group showed bone union in 21 patients and stable fibrous union in one.

Conclusion: In our and other authors' experience, when the direction of the fracture line is down and forward, external immobilization can be sufficient for healing. Anterior odontoid screw fixation can be considered the treatment of choice for unstable odontoid fractures (with a horizontal,

F. Gioia

M. Visocchi Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University of Rome, Rome, Italy down and back, or comminuted fracture line) without dislocation or with dislocation less than 7 mm.

When the odontoid fracture is associated with a Jefferson fracture or dislocation greater than 7 mm, stabilization of C1–C2 may be necessary. In this case, placement of screws in the dens and in the joints through a single approach represents the most valid technique.

In the case of an inveterate fracture of the dens with severe C1–C2 dislocation, the surgical operation that offers the best prospects is posterior stabilization, utilizing the Guo technique.

Keywords Type II odontoid fracture \cdot C1–C2 instability \cdot Odontoid screw \cdot C1–C2 articular screw

Introduction

Odontoid fractures represents about 20% of all cervical fractures. Of these, the Anderson and d'Alonzo type II fracture (on the base of the dens) is the most common, occurring in more than 60% of cases; when it is unstable, it can cause spinal cord damage. In this case, it is essential to choose the correct treatment [1-3]—but the issues of what the correct treatment is and which of the surgical options is best are quite controversial [4–7]. We present a strategy for treatment of type II odontoid fractures.

Materials and Methods

Thirty consecutive cases of type II odontoid fracture were treated at the Neurosurgery Division of Villa Sofia Hospital in Palermo (23 cases) and at the Neurosurgical Clinic, University Hospital of Palermo (seven cases), from January 2011 to August 2016. There were 19 males and 11 females.

E. Fiumara (🖂) · S. Tumbiolo · M. C. Lombardo · S. Porcaro Division of Neurosurgery, Villa Sofia Hospital, Palermo, Italy

R. Maugeri · D. G. Iacopino

Neurosurgical Clinic, AOUP "Paolo Giaccone", PostGraduate Residency Program in Neurologic Surgery, Department of Experimental Biomedicine and Clinical Neurosciences, School of Medicine, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy

Division of Radiology, Villa Sofia Hospital, Palermo, Italy

The median age was 58.3 years (range 12-89 years). The direction of the fracture line was oblique, down and forward without dislocation in four patients, and they were treated with external immobilization (a sternal-occipital-mandibular immobilizer [SOMI] brace). In 18 cases the fractured dens had no dislocation or had a dislocation less than 7 mm (the direction of the fracture line was horizontal in six cases and oblique, down and back in 12 cases), and they were treated with odontoid screw fixation. The fractured dens was associated with a Jefferson fracture in two cases and with a dislocation greater than 7 mm in five patients. These seven patients were treated with anterior screw fixation of the dens and bilateral C1-C2 anterior transarticular screw fixation. Finally, one patient had an inveterate odontoid fracture with severe lateral C1-C2 luxation and was treated with manual reduction followed by posterior stabilization utilizing the Guo technique (bilateral C1-C2 transarticular screws, C1 laminar hook fixation and bone graft fusion). Clinical and radiological follow-up was performed in all but three of the patients.

Results

The follow-up of the patients ranged from 4 months to 5 years. In the conservatively treated group, bone fusion was observed in three patients and fibrous union in one. In the surgically treated group there were no deaths except for one woman in a coma due to a severe head injury, who died from pneumonia after 40 days. One patient, who had an inveterate fracture, had a pre- and postoperative neurological deficit and remained tetraparetic. In the early postoperative period, 11 patients experienced mild dysphagia, which required no treatment beyond dietary modification. In the patients undergoing surgery, radiological studies showed bone union in 21 patients and stable fibrous union in one.

Case Illustration

Case 1

This 17-year-old boy sustained a head and neck injury in a diving accident. No neurological deficit was noted. A computed tomography (CT) scan showed a type II odontoid fracture. The direction of the fracture line was oblique, down and back without dislocation. He was treated with odontoid screw fixation. A postoperative CT scan demonstrated correct placement of the screw (Fig. 1). One year later, dynamic radiography showed no dislocation, and bone fusion was evident.

Case 2

This 75-year-old man sustained a head and neck injury in an accidental fall from body height. The neurological examination was normal. A CT scan disclosed a type II odontoid fracture, with the direction of the fracture line being oblique down and back, with 10-mm posterior dislocation of the fractured dens and of the C1 joint facets with respect to C2. The patient underwent manual reduction under the guidance of image intensification. A subsequent CT scan showed good alignment of the fracture and of the joint facets; therefore, anterior screw fixation of the odontoid fracture and of the bilateral C1–C2 joints was performed. A postoperative CT scan showed correct placement of the screws (Fig. 2). In the first 10 days the patient had slight dysphagia. At follow-up after 9 months a CT scan documented bone fusion of the fracture.

Case 3

This 68-year-old man presented with immediate tetraparesis after mild cervical trauma. He stated that he had experienced neck pain after a head injury 5 months earlier. A neuroradio-logical study showed an inveterate odontoid fracture with severe lateral C1–C2 dislocation. The patient underwent manual reduction under the guidance of image intensification. A CT scan showed good alignment of the fractured dens and of the C1–C2 articular facets. Posterior stabilization with the Guo technique (bilateral C1–C2 transarticular screws, C1 laminar hook fixation and bone graft fusion) was performed. A postoperative x-ray and CT scan showed the alignment of C1–C2 and correct placement of the implant system (Fig. 3). At follow-up after 6 months, the patient's neurological deficits were unchanged and a CT scan documented bone union in relation to the bone graft.

Discussion

Type II odontoid fractures in young people tend to be due to high-energy trauma, but in the elderly population they can occur through low-impact mechanisms because the dens becomes significantly less robust with age. Some of these fractures can be considered unstable, with a risk of spinal cord damage. But when exactly can this fracture be considered unstable? On the basis of studies by Roy-Camille et al. [8] and clinical experiences at the Hôpital Pitié-Salpêtrière in Paris [9], we agree that type II odontoid fractures are unstable and need surgical treatment when they are (1) horizontal, (2) oblique down and back, or (3) comminuted. Therefore, in these cases—and if the fractured dens is not dislocated or is dislocated by less than 5 mm—it is essential to choose the correct treatment, and this issue is quite controversial [4–6].



Fig. 1 Sagittal and coronal computed tomography (CT) reconstruction showing an oblique down and back odontoid fracture (a, b). Postoperative CT reconstruction revealing correct screw placement (c, d)

Conservative treatment with use of external immobilization (a halo vest, SOMI brace or cervical collar) guarantees fusion of the fracture in only a small proportion of patients—particularly in elderly patients—with a risk of dislocation and spinal cord compression [1]. Some authors have reported deaths due to cardiopulmonary compromise in elderly patients with odontoid fractures treated with halo vest immobilization. For these reasons there is a trend for many of these cases to be treated surgically [1, 10]. Posterior cervical fusion has historically been the first option for patients with odontoid fractures and for patients with C1–C2 instability. One of the earliest types of fixation for C1–C2 fusion was described by Gallie. It involved fixation of the posterior arch of C1 and of the lamina or spinous process of C2, using a cerclage wire technique with an onlay bone graft, but the failure rate was high. A modification of this technique by Brooks [11] also had limited success, with a 30% failure rate. Also, use of Halifax clamps with C1 and C2 laminar



Fig. 2 Computed tomography (CT) scan on admission, showing an odontoid fracture with 10-mm posterior dislocation of the fractured dens and of the C1 articular facet with respect to C2 (\mathbf{a} , \mathbf{b}). CT reconstruction after manual reduction, demonstrating good alignment (\mathbf{c} , \mathbf{d}). Postoperative three-dimensional CT scan (\mathbf{e})

hooks, united by screws, had a 30% failure rate [12]. These discouraging results prompted research into new approaches; therefore, since the early 1980s, other techniques have been devised for treatment of odontoid fracture and C1–C2 instability.

In 1982, Bohler [13] presented the surgical technique of anterior screw fixation of odontoid fractures. This is an osteosynthetic technique that provides immediate stability, promotes healing and may preserve C1-C2 rotational motion. It also offers several advantages, including reduction of soft tissue trauma, a decreased risk of vertebral artery injury, lack of requirement for bone grafting, a shorter operating time and a shorter hospital stay. The most significant complication is represented by dysphagia. Use of this technique may not be possible in patients with a barrel-shaped chest, a short neck and impossibility of extending the neck. The fusion rate, using this technique, is 81–90%. In 1986, Magerl [14] proposed a new technique for C1–C2 fusion, using posterior transarticular screws associated with cerclage wiring and bone graft. With this technique a 90–100% fusion rate was achieved. Later, similar results were reported with use of posterior transarticular screws without cerclage wiring and bone grafting, avoiding the risks of passage of sublaminar wire and of graft migration [15]. However, insertion of posterior screws can be difficult or impossible in anatomical conditions such as a narrow pars interarticularis or a high-riding foramen transversarium, which places the vertebral artery at high risk of injury. This technique also carries risks of spinal cord and vertebral artery injury, screw breakage and infection. In 2001, Harms [16] presented a technique of C1-C2 fixation with bilateral insertion of polyaxial-head screws into the lateral mass of C1 and into the pedicle of C2, with rod fixation; with this technique it is also possible to treat irreducible fractures with a 100% fusion rate. But, of course, this is also a technically demanding operation. The most recently presented technique for posterior stabilization of C1-C2 was published in 2014 by Guo et al. [17]: use of bilateral C1-C2 transarticular screws with C1 laminar hook fixation and bone graft fusion. This operation is more advantageous than the Magerl technique because it avoids sublaminar passage of wiring, and it is more advantageous than the Harms technique because it provides three-point fixation instead of two-point fixation. The risks and technical difficulty of C1-C2 posterior stabilization had stimulated surgeons to research an easier and less dangerous approach to treat C1-C2 instability, so the surgical technique of C1-C2 anterior transarticular screw fixation has been disseminated [18-20]. This technique offers several advantages: the positioning of the patient is much simpler; the surgical approach is less traumatic with a lower infection rate; and the risks of spinal cord and vertebral artery injury are lower. The good clinical results



Fig. 3 Computed tomography (CT) scan on admission, revealing an inveterate odontoid fracture with lateral dislocation of C1 on C2 (\mathbf{a} , \mathbf{b}). CT scan after manual reduction, showing good alignment (\mathbf{c} , \mathbf{d}). Postoperative lateral x-ray (\mathbf{e})

achieved with this technique have been confirmed by a biomechanical study published by Sen et al. [21], who demonstrated that there was not a large difference in the strength of C1–C2 fixation between use of anterior transarticular screws and use of posterior transarticular screws alone. Furthermore, when C1–C2 instability is combined with odontoid fractures, treatment of both can be done through a single anterior approach. But what causes C1–C2 instability? Current opinions cite transverse ligament injury, odontoid fracture dislocation greater than 5 mm and associated fractures of C1 and C2, while less importance or attention is given to C1– C2 joint injury. The physiological C1–C2 range of motion in flexion and extension is minimal—only 13 grades—and occurs on the sagittal plane without loss of alignment of the articular facets. So is C1–C2 joint integrity conceivable if the dislocation of the fractured odontoid process is greater than 7 mm? Moreover, can it be speculated that dislocation of the fractured odontoid process, which sometimes exceeds 1 cm, happens without slippage of both C1 lateral masses forward or backward with respect to the C2 facets and without capsular ligament injury? As shown in Fig. 4, T2-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) performed



Fig. 4 Sagittal T2-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of case 2: the high intensity of the tissues back to the C1–C2 joints is an expression of distension and rupture of the capsular ligaments

in case 2 showed high signal intensity of the tissues posterior to the C1–C2 joints, expression of distension and rupture of the capsular ligaments. Therefore, C1–C2 joint instability in odontoid fractures is an underestimated event, in our opinion. Unrecognized C1–C2 joint instability could be the cause of some failures of odontoid screw fixation: non-union, breakage of the anterior portion of the C2 vertebral body, and screw breakage.

Therefore, if the dislocation of the fractured dens is greater than 7 mm, an accurate CT reconstruction of the joints can reveal C1-C2 subluxation, and MRI can reveal distension and rupture of the capsular ligaments of the C1-C2 joints. In this case, odontoid screw fixation alone may be insufficient and stabilization C1-C2 may be necessary. Moreover, in cases of inveterate fracture of the dens with severe C1-C2 dislocation, as in our patient, the surgical operation that offers the best prospects is posterior stabilization according to the Guo technique [17]. In fact, in such cases, screw placement in the dens cannot cause bone fusion and healing for the interposition of fibrous tissue in the rims of an ancient fracture, and anterior or posterior transarticular screws may be insufficient for healing, whereas the Guo technique, involving three-point fixation, may be an appropriate treatment.

The numbers in the present case series are too small to permit us to affirm that our treatment strategy is definitely effective. However, the results we achieved appear to indicate that this is a promising direction. Moreover, the 7-mm cut-off point for dislocation of the fracture and of the C1–C2 articular facets that we have considered as a boundary for deciding between more simple odontoid screw fixation and anterior placement of screws in the dens and the C1–C2 articular facets could be too low. But to solve this question, more studies will be necessary.

Conclusion

Despite the frequency of type II odontoid fracture, the most appropriate treatment is still a matter of discussion. In our and other authors' experiences, when the direction of the fracture line is down and forward, external immobilization can be sufficient for healing. For us, anterior odontoid screw fixation can be considered the treatment of choice for unstable odontoid fractures (with a horizontal, down and back, or comminuted fracture line) without dislocation or with dislocation less than 7 mm.

In our opinion, the presence of C1–C2 joint injury in odontoid fractures is underestimated, and this could be the cause of some failures of anterior odontoid screw fixation. Therefore, when an odontoid fracture is associated with

C1–C2 dislocation greater than 7 mm, stabilization of C1– C2 could be necessary. C1–C2 instability is now commonly treated with posterior screw fixation, but these technically demanding operations can be limited by anatomical conditions and carry severe risks. Therefore, we—like many authors—think that C1–C2 anterior transarticular screws can be considered an effective alternative procedure. However, if C1–C2 instability is associated with a type II odontoid fracture, screw placement in the dens and in the joints through a single approach represents the most valid technique.

Finally, in cases of inveterate fracture of the dens with severe C1–C2 dislocation, the surgical operation that offers the best prospects is posterior stabilization utilizing the Guo technique. To date there is insufficient evidence to establish a standard or guideline for odontoid fracture management [6]. A randomized trial or serial case–control studies will be necessary. Our work must be considered preliminary, and other studies are necessary to confirm this treatment strategy.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

References

- Dailey AT, Hart D, Finn MA, Schmidt MH, Apfelbaum RI. Anterior fixation of odontoid fractures in an elderly population. J Neurosurg Spine. 2010;12(1):1–8. https://doi.org/10.3171/2 009.7.SPINE08589.
- Di Paolo A, Piccirilli M, Pescatori L, Santoro A, D'Elia A. Single institute experience on 108 consecutive cases of type II odontoid fractures: surgery versus conservative treatment. Turk Neurosurg. 2014;24(6):891–6. https://doi.org/10.5137/1019-5149. JTN.9731-13.0.
- Joaquim AF, Ghizoni E, Tedeschi H, Yacoub AR, Brodke DS, Vaccaro AR, Patel AA. Upper cervical injuries: clinical results using a new treatment algorithm. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2015;6(1):16–20. https://doi.org/10.4103/0974-8237.151585.
- Denaro V, Papalia R, Di Martino A, Denaro L, Maffulli N. The best surgical treatment for type II fractures of the dens is still controversial. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2011;469(3):742–50. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11999-010-1677-x.
- Joaquim AF, Patel AA. Surgical treatment of type II odontoid fractures: anterior odontoid screw fixation or posterior cervical instrumented fusion? Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38(4):E11. https:// doi.org/10.3171/2015.1.FOCUS14781.
- Julien TD, Frankel B, Traynelis VC, Ryken TC. Evidence-based analysis of odontoid fracture management. Neurosurg Focus. 2000;8(6):e1.
- Tian NF, Hu XQ, Wu LJ, Wu XL, Wu YS, Zhang XL, Wang XY, Chi YL, Mao FM. Pooled analysis of non-union, re-operation, infection, and approach related complications after anterior odontoid screw fixation. PLoS One. 2014;9(7):e103065. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0103065.

- Roy-Camille R, Saillant G, Judet T, de Botton G, Michel G. Factors of severity in the fractures of the odontoid process (author's transl). Rev Chir Orthop Reparatrice Appar Mot. 1980;66(3):183–6.
- Steltzlen C, Lazennec JY, Catonné Y, Rousseau MA. Unstable odontoid fracture: surgical strategy in a 22-case series, and literature review. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2013;99(5):615–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.otsr.2013.02.007.
- Fountas KN, Kapsalaki EZ, Karampelas I, Feltes CH, Dimopoulos VG, Machinis TG, Nikolakakos LG, Boev AN, Choudhri H, Smisson HF, Robinson JS. Results of long-term followup in patients undergoing anterior screw fixation for type II and rostral type III odontoid fractures. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2005;30(6):661–9.
- Brooks AL, Jenkins EB. Atlanto-axial arthrodesis by the wedge compression method. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1978;60(3):279–84.
- Statham P, O'Sullivan M, Russell T. The Halifax interlaminar clamp for posterior cervical fusion: initial experience in the United Kingdom. Neurosurgery. 1993;32(3):396–9.
- Böhler J. Anterior stabilization for acute fractures and non-unions of the dens. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1982;64(1):18–27.
- Magerl F, Seeman PS. Stable posterior fusion of the atlas and axis by transarticular screw fixation. In: Cervical spine. Vienna: Springer; 1986. p. 312–27.

- Gleizes V, Jacquot FP, Signoret F, Feron JM. Combined injuries in the upper cervical spine: clinical and epidemiological data over a 14-year period. Eur Spine J. 2000;9(5):386–92.
- Harms J, Melcher RP. Posterior C1–C2 fusion with polyaxial screw and rod fixation. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2001;26(22):2467–71.
- Guo X, Ni B, Xie N, Lu X, Guo Q, Lu M. Bilateral C1–C2 transarticular screw and C1 laminar hook fixation and bone graft fusion for reducible atlantoaxial dislocation: a seven-year analysis of outcome. PLoS One. 2014;9(1):e87676. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0087676.
- Apostolides PJ, Theodore N, Karahalios DG, Sonntag VK. Triple anterior screw fixation of an acute combination atlas–axis fracture. Case report. J Neurosurg. 1997;87(1):96–9.
- Etter C. Combined anterior screw fixation of an odontoid fracture and the atlanto-axial joints (C1/C2) in a geriatric patient. Eur Spine J. 2016;25(Suppl 2):280–4. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00586-016-4625-y.
- Reindl R, Sen M, Aebi M. Anterior instrumentation for traumatic C1–C2 instability. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2003;28(17):E329–33.
- Sen MK, Steffen T, Beckman L, Tsantrizos A, Reindl R, Aebi M. Atlantoaxial fusion using anterior transarticular screw fixation of C1–C2: technical innovation and biomechanical study. Eur Spine J. 2005;14(5):512–8.

Learning Curve in Surgical Treatment of Odontoid Fixation for a Series of Type II C2 Fractures



Rosario Maugeri, Domenico Gerardo Iacopino, Giuseppe Roberto Giammalva, Francesca Graziano, and Carlo Gulì

Keywords Type II odontoid fracture \cdot C1–C2 instability \cdot Odontoid screw \cdot C1–C2 articular screw \cdot Learning curve

Introduction

The craniovertebral junction (CVJ) is a complex anatomical area upon which most of the motion of the upper cervical spine depends [1]. Because of its unique range of motion, the CVJ is subject to several types of traumatic injury; it has been shown that odontoid fractures are the most common ones in the general population and are the most common isolated spinal fractures [2]. Accounting for up to 18% of all cervical fractures, odontoid fractures are the most common ones in elderly patients [3], in whom they account for up to 60% of spinal cord injuries [4].

Three different types of odontoid fracture were standardized and classified by Anderson and D'Alonzo [5]. Type I is an avulsion fracture at the tip of the odontoid process, above the transverse ligament; type II is a fracture of the body of the odontoid process, between the transverse ligament and the base of the odontoid process; and type III is a basilar

R. Maugeri (⊠) · D. G. Iacopino Neurosurgical Clinic, AOUP "Paolo Giaccone", PostGraduate

Residency Program in Neurologic Surgery, Department of Experimental Biomedicine and Clinical Neurosciences, School of Medicine, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy fracture extending to the axis vertebral body. Conservative treatment is widely supported for type I and III odontoid fractures, but there is no clear consensus on the optimal treatment of type II fractures [4, 6]. Because of the high risk of cord damage and the lower fusion rates, type II odontoid fractures are often treated surgically by challenging yet life-saving surgery. To reduce the high mortality rate seen with conservative external immobilization, several surgical techniques have been proposed to stabilize and fix odontoid fractures [6, 7]. Although the choice of surgical treatment is still a matter of debate, it has been shown that use of anterior odontoid screws guarantees immediate stabilization of the fracture, produces osseous fusion rates of 88–100% over the course of a year and preserves the neck's range of motion, sparing the patient from the need for C1–C2 fusion [6].

Although anterior screw fixation of odontoid fractures may be the treatment of choice in younger patients with favourable fracture geometry to preserve neck motion [4], the complex and potentially dangerous anatomy of the CVJ exposes the spinal surgeon to a higher risk of complications. In this regard, it is vital that the proficiency goals and the point at which a surgeon is expected to become proficient are well defined, as in other spinal surgical procedures [8]. To assess this, we have to look at the concept of the learning curve to define when a surgeon may be considered proficient in autonomously fixing odontoid fractures through an anterior cervical approach. The learning curve is defined as the time after which a surgical procedure can be performed with safety and efficiency, and it is often related to the operating time [9]. To define a learning curve for anterior fixation of odontoid fractures, we retrospectively evaluated 25 consecutive cases of type II odontoid fracture treated through anterior placement of transodontoid screws, and we analysed the operating time and the patient's radiological exposure as markers of surgical skill improvement.

G. R. Giammalva

F. Graziano

C. Gulì

Materials and Methods

Between January 2011 and August 2016, 25 consecutive type II odontoid fractures were jointly treated at the Neurosurgical Unit of Villa Sofia Hospital (20 cases) and the University Hospital of Palermo (five cases) by two surgeons (EF and RM). Of the 25 patients, 16 were male and nine were female; the median age was 58.3 years (range 12–89 years). Eighteen fractures were treated by surgical fixation with anterior transodontoid screws, since they either were not dislocated or were backward dislocated by less than 7 mm. Seven fractures were treated by anterior surgical fixation with both transodontoid screws and C1–C2 transarticular screws, since five of them were dislocated by more than 7 mm and two of them were associated with Jefferson fractures.

Surgical Procedure

Each patient was placed in a supine position and the cervical spine was hyperextended to reduce odontoid dislocation and facilitate the anterior cervical oblique screw trajectory. More accurate screw placement can be obtained by use of biplanar fluoroscopic guidance. A transverse skin incision was performed between C5 and C6, then the C2-C3 intervertebral disc was exposed. To facilitate the insertion of a K-wire with a guide through the oblique trajectory, the superior central portion of the C3 body was drilled. Then the superior central portion of the C2-C3 annulus was removed to expose the inferior lip of the C2 body. With use of fluoroscopic guidance, a K-wire was placed with a guide through the inferior edge of the C2 body, facing the disc space and through the fracture line and the apical cortex of the odontoid fracture fragment. Then the drill bit was inserted through the C2 body and a cannulated titanium screw was placed into the tip of the odontoid process, through the apical cortex. To ensure solid fixation, bicortical purchase is suggested. Autologous fibrin glue was used to enhance haemostasis and fusion [7, 10-12]. When instability of the C1-C2 joint was suspected, a screw might be inserted, with an oblique and middle lateral trajectory, blocking both of the C1-C2 joints. All procedures were performed by the spinal surgeons using the same technique. For each procedure, different indexes were retrospectively evaluated: the measured outcomes included the operating time, the length of hospital stay and the patient's radiological exposure.

Results

The follow-up duration ranged from 4 months to 5 years. Among the patients who were treated surgically, there was only one death, which was due to a complicated odontoid fracture with concomitant traumatic brain injury. No neurological deficits attributable to the surgical procedure were noted. In the early postoperative course, mild dysphagia was noted in 11 patients as the only adverse event, and it required no treatment other than dietary modification. Stable osseous fusion was achieved in 21 patients and fibrous union in one.

The mean surgical time was 98 min (range 64–144 min), and the mean fluoroscopy time was 36.6 s (range 29.8–58.8 s). A linear regression analysis showed an association between the case number and the operating time: the higher the case number, the shorter the operating time.

Among the 25 cases of type II odontoid fracture treated by anterior transodontoid screw fixation, the first ten cases had a mean operating time of 114 min (range 96–144 min). In contrast, the latter 15 cases had a shorter mean operating time of 86 min (range 64–104 min). It can be shown that the first ten cases corresponded to the learning phase of the surgeon's learning curve, when his skills were improving swiftly and the operative time shortened proportionately. During the latter 15 cases, no shortening of the operating time was observed. In regard to the radiological exposure, in the first ten cases the mean exposure time was 46.1 s (range 42.6–58.8 s), whereas in the latter 15 cases it was only 31.2 s (range 29.8–37.2 s).

Discussion

Although surgical treatment of type II odontoid fractures is still a matter of debate, anterior transodontoid screw placement is the treatment of choice to ensure direct osteosynthesis and potentially reduce loss of C1-C2 motion [13]. Several surgical techniques have been investigated over the years to assess their learning curves. In particular, different spinal surgery techniques have been developed in recent decades and have been validated in the light of their learning curves [8, 14-16]. The term "learning curve" began to be used during the 1970s and defines the acquisition process of a new surgical technique [15]. On average, the acquisition of a new technique progresses swiftly at the early stage of the learning curve and gradually and asymptotically slows down at the steady state of the proficient stage. At this stage of the learning curve, the operating time, which has understandably shortened during the early stage, according to the surgeon's experience, tends to decrease its trend, reaching an asymptote [15]. The operating time is generally advocated as a reference in assessment of a learning curve, since it depends mostly on the surgeon's skills, although additional factors (such as anaesthetic complications and the input of the surgical team. theatre nurses and fluoroscopy technicians) can influence it.

In our retrospective study of 25 consecutive anterior odontoid fixation procedures, a sharp decrease in the operating time was evidenced during the first ten cases. After that, the pace decreased its trend, reaching an asymptotic steady state during the latter 15 cases. According to the results of our linear regression analysis, there was a clear end point at the tenth case, at which stage a surgeon could be deemed proficient. We consider that the operating time at the first stage of the learning curve was longer because of the surgeon's carefulness in preventing complications. When the surgeon became confident with the procedure, the operating time progressively shortened until differences in the operating time depended no longer on the surgeon's skills but only on external factors. According to our results, this happened after the tenth anterior transodontoid screw fixation procedure.

As a further predictor of surgical skill acquisition and progression of the learning curve, we also retrospectively evaluated the radiological exposure time for each of the 25 treated patients. Since the operating time can be influenced by several external factors, we assumed that the radiological exposure time would be most precisely related to the proficiency of the surgeon and would indirectly reflect the patient's safety and the invasiveness of the surgical procedure. Similarly, after the first stage, during which the radiological exposure time shortened sharply, our retrospective analysis evidenced a clear turning point at the tenth odontoid fixation in the linear regression analysis, since a progressive decrease in the shortening trend was noted. This evidence suggests that the operative learning curve for a spinal surgeon performing anterior transodontoid screw fixation can be assumed to be complete after ten type II odontoid fracture fixation procedures. During this learning period the presence of a senior surgeon can ensure rapid and effective development of the young surgeon's skills with ample safety for the patient, until the young surgeon becomes self-confident and proficient with the procedure [14]. However, complications can occur even when a surgeon has mastered the techniques [15]. In order to overcome these, efforts to refine the technique should be continued even during the last stage of the learning curve of the surgeon, who-like a ship's captainsails alone in the sea of spinal surgery.

Conclusion

Anterior transodontoid screw fixation is a life-saving surgical procedure for treatment of unstable type II odontoid fractures. Like other new procedures, it is characterized by a two-stage learning curve. At the first swift stage, the operative time understandably shortens on every surgical occasion, and it can be described as the "learning stage"; the second stage is characterized by a levelling-off of the decrease in the operative time, due to the surgeon's skill acquisition, and it can be described as the "proficient stage". In our retrospective analysis, the turning point appeared to be the learner surgeon's tenth anterior screw fixation procedure for odontoid fracture. To make the first learning stage proceed swiftly and safely, we advise young surgeons to be accompanied by an elder proficient surgeon during the procedure. **Competing Interests** The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

References

- Lopez AJ, Scheer JK, Leibl KE, Smith ZA, Dlouhy BJ, Dahdaleh NS. Anatomy and biomechanics of the craniovertebral junction. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38(4):E2.
- Etter C. Combined anterior screw fixation of an odontoid fracture and the atlanto-axial joints (C1/C2) in a geriatric patient. Eur Spine J. 2016;25:280–4.
- Salem KMI, Collins I, Boszczyk BM. Salvage of failed odontoid fixation through anterior C1/C2 transarticular screws. Eur Spine J. 2015;24(3):609–14.
- Graffeo CS, Perry A, Puffer RC, Carlstrom LP, Chang W, Mallory GW, Clarke MJ. Deadly falls: operative versus nonoperative management of type II odontoid process fracture in octogenarians. J Neurosurg Spine. 2016;26(January):1–6.
- Anderson LD, Alonzo RTD. Fractures of the odontoid process of the axis JBJS Classics Fractures of the Odontoid Process of the axis. J Bone Jt Surg Am. 1974;56(8)):1663–74.
- Pal D, Sell P, Grevitt M. Type II odontoid fractures in the elderly: an evidence-based narrative review of management. Eur Spine J. 2011;20(2):195–204.
- Visocchi M, Iacopino D, Signorelli F, Olivi A, Maugeri R. Walk the line. The surgical highways to the craniovertebral junction in endoscopic approaches: a historical perspective. World Neurosurg. 2018;110:544–57.
- Simmonst EH, Bhalla SK, Butt WP. Anterior cervical discectomy and fusion. J Bone Jt Surg. 1969;51(B2):225–37.
- Harel R, Pfeffer R, Levin D, Shekel E, Epstein D, Tsvang L, Ben Ayun M, Alezra D, Zach L. Spine radiosurgery: lessons learned from the first 100 treatment sessions. Neurosurg Focus. 2017;42(1):1–6.
- Graziano F, Maugeri R, Basile L, Meccio F, Iacopino D. Aulogous fibrin sealant (Vivostat®) in the neurosurgical practice: part II: vertebro-spinal procedures. Surg Neurol Int. 2016;7(4):77.
- Iacopino D, Certo F, Basile L, Graziano F, Maugeri R, Grasso G, Meccio F, Ganau M. Autologous fibrin sealant (Vivostat®) in the neurosurgical practice: part I: intracranial surgical procedure. Surg Neurol Int. 2015;6(1):77.
- Maugeri R, Giammalva G, Graziano F, Iacopino DG. May autologue fibrin glue alone enhance ossification? An unexpected spinal fusion. World Neurosurg. 2016;95:611–2.
- Shen Y, Miao J, Li C, Fang L, Cao S. A meta-analysis of the fusion rate from surgical treatment for odontoid factures: anterior odontoid screw versus posterior C1–C2 arthrodesis. Eur Spine J. 2015;24(8):1649–57.
- Gonzalvo A, Fitt G, Liew S, de la Harpe D, Turner P, Ton L, Rogers MA, Wilde PH. The learning curve of pedicle screw placement: how many screws are enough? Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2009;34(21):E761–5.
- Lee J, Jang H, Shin B. Learning curve and clinical outcomes of minimally invasive transforaminal lumbar interbody fusion: our experience in 86 consecutive cases. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2012;37(18):1548–57.
- 16. Shou X, Shen M, Zhang Q, Zhang Y, He W, Ma Z, Zhao Y, Li S, Wang Y. Endoscopic endonasal pituitary adenomas surgery: the surgical experience of 178 consecutive patients and learning curve of two neurosurgeons. BMC Neurol. 2016;16(1):247.

Functional Outcome After Odontoid Fractures in the Elderly



Pasquale De Bonis, Giorgio Trapella, Lorenzo Mongardi, Simone Olei, Antonio Musio, Corrado Iaccarino, Giorgio Lofrese, Filippo Molinari, Demo Dugoni, Reza Ghadirpour, Franco Servadei, and Michele Alessandro Cavallo

Abstract While several papers on mortality and the fusion rate in elderly patients treated surgically or non-surgically for odontoid fractures exist, little information is available on quality of life after treatment. The aim of treatment in these patients should not be fracture healing alone but also quality of life improvement.

A literature search using PubMed identified seven papers including information on functional evaluation of 402 patients.

Patients treated with anterior screw fixation had a good functional outcome in 92.6% of cases. This percentage seemed to decrease in octogenarians. Less information was available for patients treated with posterior approaches; it would seem that up to a half of such patients experienced pain and limitations in activities of daily living after surgery. Patients treated with a halo device had a functional outcome that was worse (or at least no better) than that of patients treated with surgery, with absence of limitations in activities of daily living in 77.3% of patients. Patients treated with a collar had a good functional outcome in the majority of cases, with absence of limitations in activities of daily living in 89% of patients.

P. De Bonis (⊠) · G. Trapella · M. A. Cavallo Neurosurgery, Sant'Anna University Hospital, Ferrara, Italy

Department of Morphology, Surgery and Experimental Medicine, Ferrara University, Ferrara, Italy e-mail: pasquale.debonis@unife.it

L. Mongardi · S. Olei · A. Musio Neurosurgery, Sant'Anna University Hospital, Ferrara, Italy

C. Iaccarino $\cdot \,$ F. Molinari \cdot D. Dugoni \cdot R. Ghadirpour

F. Servadei

Neurosurgery–Neurotraumatology Unit, University Hospital of Parma—Emergency Neurosurgery,

Institute of Scientific Research and Care,

Arcispedale Santa Maria Nuova of Reggio Emilia, Reggio Emilia, Italy

G. Lofrese Neurosurgery, Cesena Hospital, Cesena, Italy More studies are needed for evaluation of functional outcome, especially in patients treated with a collar, a halo device or a posterior approach.

Keywords Odontoid fracture \cdot Elderly patients \cdot Outcome evaluation \cdot Functional outcome \cdot Treatment \cdot Surgery \cdot Collar \cdot Halo

Introduction

The *Global Health and Aging* report presented by the World Health Organization states that the number of people aged ≥ 65 years is growing from about 524 million in 2010 to about 1.5 billion in 2050, especially in developing countries [1].

Patients in this age group are at high risk of cervical spine injuries, especially at the C0–C2 level (50% of cases with cervical spine injury) [1]. While Anderson type I and III odontoid fractures are mainly treated conservatively, the treatment strategy for type II odontoid fractures represents a much discussed topic among experts in the field.

In fact, because of the presence of osteoporotic bone, comorbidities and a watershed area for blood supply, solid fusion of type II fractures in these patients is not the rule.

The reported fusion rate in surgically treated patients is 85–100% [2–9]. Some authors have reported a pseudarthrosis rate of 85% in patients treated conservatively [10].

A recent review comparing elderly patients treated for odontoid fractures found that when posterior surgery and anterior surgery were compared, the short-term mortality, long-term mortality and complication rates did not differ significantly [8].

Indeed, when patients treated with a halo device were compared with those treated with a hard collar, no significant differences in short-term mortality or complication rates were identified [8]. Moreover, fracture fusion itself does not necessarily mean a good patient outcome in terms of quality of life.

While several papers on morbidity, mortality and fusion rates in elderly patients treated surgically or non-surgically for odontoid fractures have been published in recent years, little information is available on quality of life after fracture treatment.

The aim of this review was to obtain information on functional outcome after treatment of odontoid fractures in the elderly by comparing the available studies on this topic.

Materials and Methods

A systematic literature search using PubMed (www.pubmed. gov) was performed on 5 January 2017. The search terms included the pathology ('odontoid fracture', 'upper cervical fracture', 'axis fracture'), the patients ('elderly', 'geriatric population', 'octogenarians') and the outcome evaluation ('quality of life', 'Neck Disability Index', 'outcome', 'Barthel Index', 'SF-36', 'Smiley–Webster scale'). The Boolean operators 'OR' and 'AND' were used. No language or publication year restrictions were used.

Nine-hundred and one papers were initially identified (see Table 1 for details). The exclusion criteria included abstracts, editorials, letters, case reports, case series of fewer than five patients, review articles, meta-analysis articles, studies focused on non-human subjects, non-clinical studies, unrelated studies and studies that did not contain treatment information. After an initial review of the 901 articles, 894 papers were excluded. The reference lists of the included

 Table 1
 Search strategy

Search n	Queries	Items found
#1	odontoid fracture OR dens fracture OR dens rupture OR odontoid rupture OR C2 rupture OR C2 fracture OR axis fracture OR axis rupture OR upper cervical spine fracture	5473
#2	elderly OR elderly patients OR elderly people OR elderly 65 OR elderly 70 OR elderly 75 OR elderly 80 OR elderly 85 OR elderly 90 OR elderly 95 OR elderly 100 OR octogenarians OR geriatric population	4555233
#3	neck disability index OR mortality OR outcome OR barthel index OR functional evaluation barthel OR Quality of life OR Robinson criteria OR Smiley-Webster scale OR Cervical spine outcomes questionnaire OR SF-36 OR activities of daily living	2436839
#4	#1 AND #2 AND #3	901

articles were reviewed, and no further papers were identified from them. Therefore, our review finally yielded seven articles (Table 2).

Results

The seven papers we identified included information on 402 patients. The characteristics of these studies are summarized in Table 2. All of these papers were published after 2007 and included elderly patients treated for type II dens fracture. Most patients were treated with anterior screw fixation (in six of the seven papers; 163 cases) [2-4, 6, 9, 11]. Onehundred and five patients were treated with a posterior approach: 80 patients with the Harms technique, seven patients with the Magerl technique, two patients with another posterior technique and 16 patients with C1-C2 wires and bone fixation) [5, 9]. Fifty-four patients were treated with halo immobilization [4, 9] (in one series an additional 16 patients received a halo device after posterior C1-C2 wire and bone fixation) [5], and 80 patients were treated with a collar [5, 9]. The mortality rate was quite high, ranging from 4.2% to 25.8%. The mortality rates ranged from 9.7% to 33.3% in surgically treated patients and from 6.3% to 25.8% in patients treated with a collar or a halo device.

The complication rates ranged from 12.5% to 31% with surgery and from 18% to 36% in patients treated with a collar or a halo device. The fusion rate was higher in patients treated with surgery.

Regarding functional evaluation, several evaluation tools were used: the Smiley–Webster scale/Robinson criteria in three papers [2, 3, 7], the Cervical Spine Outcome Questionnaire (CSOQ) in two papers by the same authors [4, 5], the Neck Disability Index (NDI) and the 36-Item Short Form Survey (SF-36) [9] activities of daily living and pain evaluations.

Three of the seven papers dealing with anterior screw fixation used the Smiley-Webster scale/Robinson criteria for functional evaluation: taken together, these studies analysed the outcome of 95 patients [2, 3, 7]. Most patients (89 of 95 cases, 93.7%) had an excellent/good outcome. Only six patients had a fair or poor outcome (6.3%); four of these patients were in the series reported by Henaux et al., which included only patients over 80 years of age [2].

The series reported by Kohlhof et al. also included patients treated with anterior screw fixation [6]. These authors used a subjective evaluation tool; they concluded that all 24 patients in their series had no pain at 6-month follow-up and that all patients returned to their previous daily activities. In the paper by Joestl et al., 29 of 32 patients treated with anterior screw fixation survived for at least

Table 2 Pu	blished sen	ies on fun	ctional evaluat	tion after treatment of ϵ	slderly patien	ts with odontoid	l fracture			
Author	No of		Fracture		Outcome: short-term	Outcome: long-term	Complication		Functional	
(year)	patients	Age	type	Treatment	mortality	mortality	rate	Fusion rate	evaluation	Functional outcome
Platzer (2007) [7]	41	≥65	П	Ant screw	9.7%	NR	22%	88%	Smiley-Webster, pain evaluation, ADL	mean Smiley-Webster score: 1.50; Pain frequency: 5/41–12.2%; Severe pain: 3/41–7.3%; Iimitations in ADL: 5/41–12.2%; Movement restrictions 4/41–9.7%
Hou (2011) [3]	43	≥65	П	Ant screw	NR	18.6%	NR	85.7%	Robinson criteria (same as Smiley- Webster), ROM	Robinson: Excellent 17 (39.5%), good 24 (55.8%), fair 2 (4.7%). ROM: 5 pts-11.6%-less than 25% ROM limitations; 3 pts-6.9%-more than 25% ROM limitations
Henaux (2012) [<mark>2</mark>]	11	≥80	П	Ant screw	0	18%	0	44.4% (fibrosis in other cases)	Smiley-Webster	Smiley-Webster: Excellent 5 (45.5%), good 2 (18.2%), fair 1 (9%), poor 3 (27.3%)
Kohlhof (2013) [6]	24	62–98	П	Ant screw and cement	2/24 (8.3%)	8/24 (33.3%)	12.5%	84.2%	Subjective evaluation	6 month: none complained pain. All pts returned to normal activities
Vaccaro (2013) [9]	159	265	п	101 surgery (12 ant screw, 80 C1C2 Harms 7 C1C2 Magerl 2 Other) 58 conservative (6 Halo, 52 collar)	NR	20 Month: 13.9% surgical group, 25.8% conservative group	30% surgical group 36% nonsurgical group	95% surgical 79% conservative	NDI, SF36	NDI: better in surgical group (28vs 31.6 at 12 month f-up); NDI worsened in both groups: 14.7 points in conservative group and 5.7 points in surgical group. SF-36 better in surgical group
Joestl (2016) [4]	80	≥65	П	32 Ant screw vs 48 Halo	12.5% ant screw, 6.2% halo	12.5% ant screw, 6.2% halo	28% ant screw vs 25% Halo	90% ant screw, 77% Halo	Cervical Spine Outcome Questionnaire	81% returned to previous activities. Ant screw group: better pain severity, disability and phychological distress; no difference in physical symptoms
Joestl (2016) [5]	44	≥65	II Non-unions after previous treatment	16pts: posterior C1C2wires and bone and Halo; 28 pts collar			23% (31% surgical group, 18% collar group)	100% fusion in surgical group, 92.8% preudoarthrosis in conservative group	Cervical Spine Outcome Questionnaire, Pain frequency, Pain severity, ADL	ROM impairment: 5 patients (31.5%) surgery vs 2 pts (7%) conservative; Occasional pain: 5 pts (31%) surgery, 5 pts (18%) conservative; Regular Pain: 2 pts (12.5%) surgery, 0 conservative; Severe pain: 2 pts (12.5%) surgery, 0 conservative; ADL limitations: 8 pts (50%) surgery, 3 pts (11%) conservative; functional disability and psychological distress: worse for conservative

1 month after surgery and were therefore available for follow-up functional evaluation [5]. Of these 29 patients, four (13.8%) had some limitations in certain sport/profession activities and five (17.2%) experienced either occasional pain (four patients) or regular pain (one patient). Patients who were treated with anterior screw fixation (12 cases) in the series reported by Vaccaro et al. could not be included in this outcome evaluation, since those authors considered patients treated with anterior screw fixation together with patients treated with posterior approaches [9]. In general, 137 of 148 patients (92.6%) treated with anterior screw fixation from the series reported by Platzer et al., Hou et al., Henaux et al., Kohlhof et al. and Joestl et al. had a good outcome (as measured by 'excellent' and 'good' scores on the Smiley-Webster/Robinson scales, 'absent' or 'rare' pain evaluations and a return to previous activities) [2-4, 6, 7].

Regarding patients treated with posterior approaches, information on functional outcome was available on 89 patients reported by Vaccaro et al. and 16 patients reported by Joestl et al. [5, 9]. Nonetheless, these two series could not be compared with each other, since the evaluation tools they used were markedly different. Moreover, Vaccaro et al. evaluated the outcome of patients treated with posterior approaches (89 patients) and with anterior screw fixation (12 cases). They observed that both the NDI and the SF-36v2 Bodily Pain outcomes remained significantly better in the surgical group compared with those in the nonsurgical group [9]. Of the patients treated with a posterior approach in the series reported by Joestl et al., 5/16 patients (31.5%) had range-of-movement (ROM) impairment, 5/16 patients had occasional pain and 2/16 patients (12.5%) had regular severe pain. Moreover, 8/16 patients (50%) had limitations in activities of daily living [5].

The remaining patients in these series reported by Vaccaro et al. [9] and Joestl et al. [4, 5] were treated conservatively with a halo device or a collar. In the series reported by Joestl et al., 10/44 patients (22.7%) treated with a halo device had limitations in daily activities. Of these patients, three (6.8%) had limitations in all daily activities. Occasional pain was experienced by 7/44 patients (15.9%) and regular pain by 2/44 patients (4.5%) [4].

In another series reported by the same authors [5], 3/28 patients (11%) treated with a collar had no severe pain but experienced limitations in some daily activities.

Another series we did not include in this analysis was reported by Butler et al. [12]. Using the CSOQ, these authors compared patients younger and older than 65 years who were treated with a halo device or a collar; the series included 14 patients over 65 years of age. The authors observed that older patients had worse physical symptoms, functional disabilities and psychological distress. Unfortunately, the authors did not specify how many patients were treated with a halo device or a collar.

Discussion and Conclusion

While several papers discussing morbidity, mortality and fusion rates in elderly patients treated for dens fracture have been published, little information is available on the functional outcome of these patients. Elderly patients often have pre-existing comorbidities and several limitations in activities of daily living; therefore, both the trauma causing an odontoid fracture and the fracture treatment itself may result in further impairment of quality of life. Healing of a bony fracture alone cannot be considered a success if the treatment causes a deterioration in the quality of life. Our literature search revealed that only seven papers analysed the functional outcome of elderly patients treated for fractures of the odontoid process.

The outcome tools that were used in these studies were the SF-36, NDI, CSOQ and Smiley–Webster scale/Robinson criteria activities of daily living.

The NDI is similar to the Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index. The NDI is a questionnaire with ten items: personal care, pain, headaches, reading, concentration, lifting, work, recreation, sleeping and driving. The scores range from 100 (the worst score) to zero (the best score) [13].

The SF-36 is widely used in geriatric populations, since it is a tool measuring the patient-reported multidimensional health status. It describes the health status in terms of eight items: physical functioning, physical limitation, general health, pain, emotional status (well-being), role limitation– emotional, social activities and energy/fatigue. The final scores range from 100 ('no disability') to zero ('maximum disability') [14].

The CSOQ is a tool designed and used for assessing the outcome of patients with neck pain. It includes information on pain severity, physical symptoms, demographics, functional and psychological disability, healthcare utilization and general satisfaction [15]. Like the SF-36, this tool is not simple to administer and requires input from trained doctors.

The Smiley–Webster scale (referred to as the modified Robinson criteria in the paper by Hou et al. [3]) is a very easy scoring system to use. It assesses patient outcome by combining pain and return to former activity levels. The outcome is expressed as 'excellent', 'good', 'fair' or 'poor'.

The objective of our study was not to compare the ease of use and appropriateness of the different evaluation scales. Nonetheless, it is our opinion that evaluation tools should have a clinical impact on treatment decision-making and should be easily explainable to patients before treatment. A question frequently asked by patients before surgery is 'What is the percentage of success?' not 'How much will the mean score of this tool increase after treatment?' Some of the aforementioned scales have been created and validated for other purposes where a multidimensional evaluation of elderly patients was needed.

Our literature review revealed that patients treated with anterior screw fixation had a good functional outcome in the great majority of cases (92.6%). This percentage seemed to decrease in octogenarians.

Less information was available regarding patients treated with posterior approaches, but it would seem that up to half of these patients experienced limitations in activities of daily living after surgery.

In this analysis the total number of patients treated nonsurgically was 134 (80 patients treated with a collar and 54 patients treated with a halo device). Moreover, it was not always possible to compare patients treated with a halo device and those treated with a collar, as some authors analysed the outcome of these two groups together. Nonetheless, it would seem that patients treated with a halo device had a functional outcome that was worse (or at least no better) than that of patients treated with surgery [9], with no limitations in activities of daily living being reported in 77.3% of patients in the series reported by Joestl et al. [4].

The only available series analysing patients treated with a collar, which included just 28 patients, revealed that the functional outcome was good in the majority of cases, with no limitations in activities of daily living in 89% of patients— comparable to the outcome of patients treated with anterior screw fixation [5].

Our review revealed that the available studies on elderly patients with type II odontoid fractures did not compare the functional outcome of different approaches (surgical and non-surgical), since different and non-comparable outcome evaluation tools were used and different treatment modalities were analysed together [9].

Another limitation of this review was that the follow-up varied widely in these series. We have therefore referred to outcomes as described by the authors of the papers.

In conclusion, it seems that patients treated with anterior screw fixation had the best functional outcome, as did patients treated with a collar. Patients treated with a halo device seemed to have the worst functional outcome.

Further studies are needed to confirm these findings. Such studies should evaluate patients separately, using easily comparable scales (such as the Smiley–Webster scale). The most complicated scales (the NDI, CSOQ and SF-36) should be categorized in order to define groups of patients with excellent, good, fair or poor outcomes. Moreover, more studies are needed to evaluate the outcome of elderly patients treated with a collar, a halo device or a posterior approach. **Competing Interests** The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards Yes financial support was received for this work.

References

- 1. Pal D, Sell P, Grevitt M. Type II odontoid fractures in the elderly: an evidence-based narrative review of management. Eur Spine J. 2011;20:195–204.
- Henaux PL, Cueff F, Diabira S, Riffaud L, Hamlat A, Brassier G, Morandi X. Anterior screw fixation of type IIB odontoid fractures in octogenarians. Eur Spine J. 2012;21:335–9.
- Hou Y, Yuan W, Wang X. Clinical evaluation of anterior screw fixation for elderly patients with type II odontoid fractures. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2011;24:E75–81.
- Joestl J, Lang N, Bukaty A, Platzer P. A comparison of anterior screw fixation and halo immobilisation of type II odontoid fractures in elderly patients at increased risk from anaesthesia. Bone Joint J. 2016;98-B:1222–6.
- Joestl J, Lang NW, Tiefenboeck TM, Hajdu S, Platzer P. Management and outcome of dens fracture nonunions in geriatric patients. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2016;98:193–8.
- Kohlhof H, Seidel U, Hoppe S, Keel MJ, Benneker LM. Cementaugmented anterior screw fixation of type II odontoid fractures in elderly patients with osteoporosis. Spine J. 2013;13:1858–63.
- Platzer P, Thalhammer G, Ostermann R, Wieland T, Vecsei V, Gaebler C. Anterior screw fixation of odontoid fractures comparing younger and elderly patients. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2007;32:1714–20.
- Schroeder GD, Kepler CK, Kurd MF, Paul JT, Rubenstein RN, Harrop JS, Brodke DS, Chapman JR, Vaccaro AR. A systematic review of the treatment of geriatric type II odontoid fractures. Neurosurgery. 2015;77(Suppl 4):S6–S14.
- Vaccaro AR, Kepler CK, Kopjar B, Chapman J, Shaffrey C, Arnold P, Gokaslan Z, Brodke D, France J, Dekutoski M, Sasso R, Yoon ST, Bono C, Harrop J, Fehlings MG. Functional and quality-of-life outcomes in geriatric patients with type-II dens fracture. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2013;95:729–35.
- Sasso RC. C2 dens fractures: treatment options. J Spinal Disord. 2001;14:455–63.
- Platzer P, Thalhammer G, Oberleitner G, Schuster R, Vecsei V, Gaebler C. Surgical treatment of dens fractures in elderly patients. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2007;89:1716–22.
- Butler JS, Dolan RT, Burbridge M, Hurson CJ, O'Byrne JM, McCormack D, Synnott K, Poynton AR. The long-term functional outcome of type II odontoid fractures managed non-operatively. Eur Spine J. 2010;19:1635–42.
- Vernon H, Mior S. The Neck Disability Index: a study of reliability and validity. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 1991;14:409–15.
- Guilfoyle MR, Seeley H, Laing RJ. The Short Form 36 Health Survey in spine disease—validation against condition-specific measures. Br J Neurosurg. 2009;23:401–5.
- BenDebba M, Heller J, Ducker TB, Eisinger JM. Cervical Spine Outcomes Questionnaire: its development and psychometric properties. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2002;27:2116–24.

CVJ Infections

Management of Craniovertebral Junction Tuberculosis Presenting with Atlantoaxial Dislocation



Granit Molliqaj, Philipp Dammann, Karl Schaller, Ulrich Sure, and Enrico Tessitore

Abstract Tuberculosis (TB) rarely involves the craniovertebral junction (CVJ). Atlantoaxial dislocation (AAD) is one of the most commonly encountered lesions in craniocervical TB. The incidence of TB and its craniovertebral manifestation is increasing even in developed countries because of intercontinental migration and increased prevalence rates of immunosuppression conditions. While the treatment of craniovertebral TB is well standardized and relies on conservative measures, the treatment of TB with AAD is disputable. In this paper we present a review of the literature and elucidate our approach to craniovertebral TB with AAD through a case illustration.

Keywords Tuberculosis · Craniovertebral junction · Atlantoaxial dislocation · Craniocervical fixation

Introduction

Tuberculosis (TB) rarely manifests at the level of the spine (occurring in fewer than 1% of TB cases [1]). Involvement of the craniovertebral junction (CVJ) in TB is even rarer and occurs in only 0.3-1% of all spinal TB cases [2]. However,

G. Molliqaj (⊠) · K. Schaller · E. Tessitore Department of Neurosurgery, Geneva University Hospitals, Geneva, Switzerland e-mail: Granit.Molliqaj@hcuge.ch

P. Dammann Department of Neurosurgery, Geneva University Hospitals, Geneva, Switzerland

Department of Neurosurgery, University Hospital Essen, Essen, Germany

U. Sure

Department of Neurosurgery, University Hospital Essen, Essen, Germany

with 10.4 million new incident cases of TB worldwide (of which 580,000 are multidrug resistant), the TB epidemic is larger than previously estimated, according to a 2016 World Health Organization report [3]. With eastern hemisphere countries accounting for the majority of new cases, western hemisphere countries face significantly smaller numbers of TB cases. Nevertheless, the incidence of CVJ-TB is increasing even in western countries because of intercontinental migration and increased prevalence rates of acquired immune deficiency syndrome [4, 5].

Atlantoaxial dislocation (AAD) is the most commonly observed CVJ lesion in patients with TB [6]. It is associated with destruction of bone, ligaments and the articular process, causing local instability [7].

While treatments for CVJ-TB without spinal instability are well standardized and rely on conservative measures such as external immobilization and antibiotics, the treatment of cases with AAD is still controversial, ranging from collar immobilization to surgery. In this paper we present a review of the literature and elucidate our approach to CVJ-TB with AAD through a case illustration.

Materials and Methods

A search for all relevant PubMed-listed publications from 1990 to the present was performed, using the following search terms: 'tuberculosis', 'craniocervical junction', 'craniovertebral junction' and 'atlantoaxial dislocation'. Only English-language literature was chosen. If relevant studies were found in the reference lists of selected articles, they were also included if they met the following inclusion criteria: either (1) clinical series of at least 20 adult patients with CVJ-TB with a standardized treatment algorithm and standardized outcome assessment; or (2) systematic reviews of CVJ-TB.

Results

A total of 55 relevant articles were found. Of these, five papers [4, 6, 8–10] met our inclusion criteria (see Table 1). The five clinical series comprised analysis of a total of 197 patients affected by CVJ-TB (see Table 2).

The initial clinical findings corresponded in all series. Neck pain was the dominant initial symptom. Signs of myelopathy were frequently present (occurring in 48–80% of patients). Radiographic evidence of AAD, which is defined by an atlantodental interval (ADI) >3 mm, occurred in 54–100% of patients in the different series [4, 6, 8–10]. Basilar invagination is defined by the presence of the odontoid tip above the McRae line drawn on a lateral skull radiograph or in a midsagittal view on a computed tomography (CT) scan. The initial grading of TB at the CVJ differed in all studies. Arora et al. [8] used the disability grading for CVJ malformation proposed by Di Lorenzo [11], combined with the radiological grading system proposed by Lifeso (see below) [2]. The Di Lorenzo system is





 Table 2
 Recent series of craniovertebral tuberculosis

based on assessment of neurological deficits and disability: grade 1 corresponds to neck pain only; grade 2 represents an autonomous patient with a minor disability; at grade 3 the patient is not fully independent in terms of daily life activities (DLA); and at grade 4 the patient is completely dependent in terms of ADL [11]. Behari et al. [9] also used the Di Lorenzo grading. Gupta et al. used a combination of the Nurick disability scale and their own specific radiological grading system [6]. Shukla et al. [4] utilized the grading system proposed by Lifeso (see below) [2]. Teegala et al. [10] proposed their own grading system based on a neck movement score, motor score and radiological score (assessing bony destruction, cord compression and retropharyngeal collection). Corresponding to the different grading systems used, the descriptions of preoperative radiological findings varied widely.

The postoperative clinical outcome was defined in all series as improvement, stability or deterioration of functional scores over time [4, 6, 8–10]. Common disability scoring systems (the Nurick scale, Frankel scale and Ranawat score) are also routinely used in assessment of patients with CVJ-TB [9, 10, 12–14]. An improved outcome was observed in the majority of patients (91–100%); however, it was not further detailed in most series. Furthermore, complete relief of initial neck pain was mentioned in all series, accounting for all patients. Mortality ranged between 0% and 4%, in all cases being attributed to general progression of systemic TB (see Table 2).

The recommended treatment algorithms for CVJ-TB varied in the different series [4, 6, 8–10]. The majority of treatment decisions were based on the presence of neurological deficits, associated anterior compression (with a granuloma or abscess) and reducible/non-reducible AAD [4, 9, 10]. Gupta et al. considered only the presence of AAD and bony alterations, proposing a specific grading system on this basis [6].

Authors	Year	Cases	Period (years)	Symptoms neck pain	Symptoms myelopathy	Grading preop.	AAD	ATT ent	Mortality	Neurological outcome improved or stable
Behari et al. [9]	2003	25	8	25/25 (100%)	18/25 (72%)	Disability score (1–4)	17/25 (68%)	All	1/25 (4%)	24/25 (96%)
Shukla et al. [4]	2005	24	14	24/24 (100%)	16/24 (67%)	Radiological score	14/24 (58%)	All	0/24 (0%)	24/24 (100%)
Gupta et al. [<mark>6</mark>]	2006	51	27	48/51 (94%)	41/51 (80%)	Radiological score	51/51 (100%)	All	1/51 (2%)	48/52 (91%)
Teegala et al. [10]	2008	71	9	71/71 (100%)	34/71 (48%)	Combined score	38/71 (54%)	All	0/71 (0%)	71/71 (100%)
Arora et al. [8]	2011	26	6	26/26 (100%)	17/26 (65%)	Combined score	17/26 (65%)	All	0/26 (0%)	26/26 (100%)

AAD atlantoaxial dislocation, ATT anti-tuberculous therapy

Discussion

Radiological Features and Classification Systems

Over time, progression of TB at the CVJ may lead to atlantoaxial instability and dislocation. A summary of typical radiological findings in CVJ-TB can be found elsewhere [15]. Goel et al. recently described the evolution of the disease in three stages, emphasizing that bony structures are the first ones to be destroyed, causing displacement and subsequent rupture of ligaments [7]. The initial stage is characterized by unilateral implication of the facet of C2 without destructive deformation, causing mainly neck pain. At the second stage, the disease progresses with destruction of the atlantoaxial joint by inflammation and necrosis, extending over the rest of the C1 and C2 vertebra and leading to ineffectiveness of the transverse and alar ligaments through destruction of their bony attachments. Symptoms include neck pain, muscle spasms, torticollis and potential neurological deficits. At the third stage, the contralateral atlantoaxial joint is involved, and AAD with a neurological deficit is frequently seen.

In 1987, Lifeso et al. [2] proposed a three-stage radiological classification system (including treatment recommendations). At stage 1 there is ligamentous integrity but bony destruction is discrete, without signs of C1–C2 dislocation. Slight odontoid invagination may be present. At stage 2 there is AAD including discrete bony destruction and ligament rupture, with or without C2 invagination of the odontoid process. Patients at this stage may require fusion. At stage 3 there is AAD with significant bony destruction and closure of the anterior arch of the axis. Fixation may be required between the occiput, the axis and C3 [13].

Apart from having the potential to show CVJ instability, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or CT scan findings are mandatory to confirm suspicion of CVJ-TB, especially in western European countries, where the disease is extremely rare. The typical radiological presentation for TB in the CVJ includes destruction of the vertebral body with the presence of an abscess with an irregular and large periphery, inside which there is calcification. This should differentiate TB from other inflammatory, rheumatoid, tumorous or infectious lesions of the CVJ [16].

Diagnosis

Independently of the radiological aspect of CVJ-TB, establishing a formal diagnosis usually relies on staining or culture of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Most authors agree that at least a needle aspiration or biopsy should confirm the diagnosis [4, 6, 8–10, 17]. However, other diagnostic criteria exist to provide an objective diagnosis of CVJ-TB. A diagnosis can be retained when a patient presents with a cervical collection on imaging with or without instability and bony destruction. For the diagnosis to be confirmed, the patient should present with one additional major criterion or four minor additional criteria [10]. The major criteria are polymerase chain reaction positivity, and histopathological or microbiological evidence of TB. The minor criteria include radiological evidence of pulmonary TB, a positive Mantoux test result, a history of TB, an erythrocyte sedimentation rate >50 mm/h, constitutional symptoms such as weight loss or nocturnal fever, and a clinicoradiological response to antitubercular therapy (ATT).

Treatment

Prolonged systemic ATT is naturally the mandatory baseline treatment in CVJ-TB and should follow the guidelines for TB treatment [3]. Collection of pre- or paravertebral fluid (tubercular pus) by needle aspiration is also recommended (see case illustration in Sect. 4.5) and may require decompression of nervous structures [6-8]. However, surgical decompression and/or posterior fixation of the CVJ are controversial, and expert opinions on the optimal treatment have shifted in recent decades [6, 7, 10]. In our review of the five largest and most recent series, we found overall that there were two opposed treatment approaches for CVJ-TB and AAD: (1) a tailored treatment algorithm including surgical options (ranging from simple decompression to radical surgical correction) based on radiological findings and the patients' initial clinical condition; and (2) a tailored treatment algorithm relying solely on conservative measures such as traction and collar immobilization. The two algorithms essentially differ in the treatment of patients with extensive radiological changes (such as fixed or reducible AAD) and a significantly impaired neurological condition. While the former approach advocates surgical fixation (with or without decompression), the latter approach advocates long-term rigid external immobilization (with or without traction). Regarding the clinical outcomes in the presented series, equally favourable results have been reported with both approaches [4, 6, 8–10]. Overall, all authors discuss the need to balance surgical risks (especially wound healing in immune-deficient patients) with the inconvenience of longterm rigid external immobilization. Arora et al. and Gupta et al. recommend conservative treatment in all patients with CVJ-TB, regardless of the neurological condition and the

presence or absence of spinal instability [6, 8]. On the other end, Behari et al. and Shukla et al. suggest surgical treatment in patients with severe deficits as a result of spinal cord injury induced by AAD [4, 9].

Teegala et al. described an interesting approach to management of these patients. They classified patients into three grades of severity according to clinical and radiological evaluations of limitation of cervical motion, weakness and imaging of lesions [10]. Patients with a severe clinicoradiological disability (grade 3) benefited from anterior decompression and posterior fixation. Patients with grade 1 or 2 clinicoradiological disability were initially treated conservatively, but those whose condition evolved poorly or who had AAD underwent surgical treatment as well [10]. Of course, all patients were treated with a four-drug ATT regimen from the time of diagnosis.

Treatment Algorithm

On the basis of the literature we analysed, we propose a comprehensive treatment algorithm taking into consideration the most relevant criteria analysed in the different studies we reviewed (see Fig. 2).

We remain convinced that consideration of both clinical and radiological findings is necessary for good management. Moreover, some patients present with a discrepancy between their radiological severity and clinical performance. Having reviewed the literature we selected and analysed, as discussed above, we consider that consideration of these two aspects in the therapeutic decision-making tree may avoid delays in diagnosing patients and offering them adequate treatment to avoid morbidity associated with longterm neck brace immobilization, appearance of new neurological deficits or death induced by neural squeeze. This algorithm is based on our interpretation of the existing literature, with adaptation to the patient's clinical situation and severity of illness, in order to standardize treatment of CVJ-TB on the basis of integration and consideration of the current data.

Like Teegala et al., we propose to first evaluate disease severity at the outset by using their clinicoradiological grading system [10]. This grading system assesses limitation of cervical motion, weakness and imaging of lesions (see Table 3). However, we propose to simplify the grading by dividing patients into two groups on the basis of their clinicoradiological score. Patients with a score ≥ 6 should

Table 3 Craniovertebral junction tuberculosis grading system

, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
Parameter	Score
Restriction of active neck movement score ^a	
No	1
Yes	2
Motor score	
No	1
Minimal (MRC ^b motor power ≥ 4)	2
Severe (MRC motor power ≤3)	3
Radiological score	
Retropharyngeal collection ≥7 mm in anteroposterior diameter at C2 body level without evidence of bone destruction or radiological instability	1
Retropharyngeal collection evidence of bone destruction (involvement of 1 Dennis vertebral column), thecal sac compression without cord compression, or cord changes	2
Severe bone destruction (involvement of >1 Dennis vertebral column), with cord compression and/or cord signal changes	3

Based on composite score, patients were divided into 3 grades in Teegala et al series [10]: Grade 1: score of 3–4; Grade 2: score of 5–6; Grade 3 score of 7–8

We propose to split the score on 2 grades: Grade 1: score <6; Grade 2 ≥ 6

^aPatients who could not flex more than 50% of mentosuprasternal distance in a military erect position

^bMRC Medical Research Council

undergo surgical treatment, while patients with a score <6 should receive conservative treatment.

According to this scoring system, a score of ≥ 6 points means that the radiological and clinical situation has to be considered severe. To obtain a score of ≥ 6 the patient must at least have a motor deficit and bony destruction, with a risk of cervical stenosis. Teegala et al. noted that some patients with a score of 5–6 were initially treated conservatively but subsequently required surgery for their residual disease. To avoid the occurrence of a new neurological deficit after the diagnosis is made, and to minimize the need to compromise the patient's daily life with long-term neck brace immobilization, we consider that patients with a score of ≥ 6 could safely benefit from surgical treatment. Of course, if we take as reference points the clinical series of Arora et al. and Gupta et al., we can concede that some patients would be 'overtreated' with our algorithm [6, 8].

In patients with a clinicoradiological score <6, conservative management should be tried, comprising an ATT regimen for at least 6 months and neck stabilization with a rigid collar the time that bone fusion occurs on follow-up at 3 weeks, 6 weeks, 3 months, 6 months and 1 year. Any patient who shows no evidence of clinicoradiological improvement or who presents with neurological impairment will have to join the surgical treatment arm. Patients with a clinicoradiological score >6 should undergo surgical treatment. The type of surgical treatment will depend on the status of cervical stability. In our opinion, posterior fusion surgery should be reserved for patients presenting with clear spinal instability (AAD) and major bone/ligamentous disruption to prevent further spine misalignment and neurological deterioration, and to reduce instability-related pain. If AAD is reducible by traction, surgical treatment should be limited to posterior fixation involving the destroyed segments. In the event of condyle involvement and disruption, the occiput should be included in the fixation (see case illustration in Sect. 4.5). If the AAD is fixed, a posterior approach should be followed by transoral or transnasal odontoid resection for anterior decompression. We recommend immobilization in a hard collar for 6 weeks after the surgical procedure. Any attempts to conservatively treat cases with AAD and instability may result in a secondary deformity, which may lead to chronic neck pain. Of course, all patients must be prescribed a four-drug ATT regimen from the outset in accordance with infectious disease guidelines.

Case Illustration

A 35-year-old woman, originally from Pakistan, presented with neck pain and severe tetraparesis. A CT scan showed a vertical AAD, cranial settling of the odontoid process (which was beyond the McRae line and compressing the spinal cord) and lateral subluxation to the left (Fig. 1a, b). The anteriorly displaced C1 posterior arch impinged on the spinal cord as well. The left C1 lateral mass and condyle were completely destroyed, such as the transverse ligament. MRI confirmed spinal cord compression and showed tissue with intense contrast enhancement surrounding the atlantoaxial region and a prevertebral retropharyngeal abscess (Fig. 1c, d). The abscess was transorally drained by an ear, nose and throat (ENT) surgeon (using open drainage), and tissue sampling confirmed TB. The patient was then submitted to gentle traction with Gardner tongs with a 3 kg weight, which allowed partial reduction of the cranial settling (reducible AAD) and improvement of the patient's neurological condition. Then, posterior C1 arch decompression and occiput–C4 stabilization and fusion were performed. The patient was prescribed antibiotic treatment with isoniazid, ethambutol, rifampicin and pyrazinamide for a total of 6 months. CT scanning (Fig. 2a) and MRI (Fig. 2b, c) at 1-year follow-up confirmed the absence of disease recurrence and a well-decompressed spinal cord. A 2-year x-ray control showed stability of the implants (Fig. 2d).

Conclusion

Tuberculosis rarely involves the craniocervical junction. Neck pain and neurological deficits are the most common findings. Computed tomography (CT) scanning and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) may show a retropharyngeal vertebral abscess or granulation tissue, bony and/or ligamentous disruption, and spinal instability (atlantoaxial dislocation [AAD]). While the treatment of cases with mild symptoms and instability is well defined and relies on traction, external immobilization and antibiotics, the management of patients with severe pain and neurological deficits is still controversial. We recommend surgical treatment in cases with severe AAD and signs of spinal cord compression. Posterior-only fixation is recommended in cases of reducible AAD, while patients with fixed AAD should undergo both posterior fixation and anterior decompression. Antibiotic treatment is mandatory and should be started as soon as possible in the postoperative period (Fig. 3).



Fig. 1 (a) Preoperative coronal computed tomography (CT) scan showing atlantoaxial dislocation (AAD) with lateral subluxation caused by a left C1 lateral mass and condyle destruction. (b) Preoperative sagittal CT scan showing AAD with odontoid cranial settling (the odontoid tip is well above the McRae line). (c) Axial T1 gadolinium-enhanced

magnetic resonance image (MRI) showing atlantoaxial and soft tissue infiltration. (d) Sagittal T1 gadolinium-enhanced MRI showing a prevertebral retropharyngeal abscess and spinal cord compression by pathological retro-odontoid soft tissue


Fig. 2 (a) Postoperative sagittal computed tomography (CT) scan showing good alignment and posterior decompression. (b) Axial T1 gadolinium-enhanced magnetic resonance image (MRI) at 1-year follow-up, showing almost complete resolution of tissue infiltration. (c)

Sagittal T2 MRI at 1-year follow-up after successful spinal cord decompression. (d) Two-year X-ray control showing stability of the implants and good spinal alignment



Fig. 3 Treatment algorithm flow chart showing the management approach proposed by the authors. *AAD* atlantoaxial dislocation, *ATT* antitubercular therapy, *CVJ* craniovertebral junction, *PF* posterior fixation, *TB* tuberculosis, *TOD* transoral decompression

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

References

- Tuli SM. Tuberculosis of the craniovertebral region. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1974;104:209–12.
- Lifeso R. Atlanto-axial tuberculosis in adults. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1987;69(2):183–7.

- World Health Organization. Global tuberculosis report 2016. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2016.
- Shukla D, et al. Management of craniovertebral junction tuberculosis. Surg Neurol. 2005;63(2):101–6.
- 5. Gokengin D, et al. The growing HIV epidemic in Central Europe: a neglected issue? J Virus Erad. 2016;2(3):156–61.
- Gupta SK, et al. Tuberculosis of the craniovertebral junction: is surgery necessary? Neurosurgery. 2006;58(6):1144–50.
- Goel A. Tuberculosis of craniovertebral junction: role of facets in pathogenesis and treatment. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2016;7(3):129–30.
- Arora S, et al. The results of nonoperative treatment of craniovertebral junction tuberculosis: a review of twenty-six cases. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2011;93(6):540–7.
- Behari S, et al. Craniocervical tuberculosis: protocol of surgical management. Neurosurgery. 2003;52(1):72–81.
- Teegala R, et al. Craniovertebral junction tuberculosis: a new comprehensive therapeutic strategy. Neurosurgery. 2008;63(5):946–55.
- Di Lorenzo N. Craniocervical junction malformation treated by transoral approach. A survey of 25 cases with emphasis on postoperative instability and outcome. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 1992;118(3–4):112–6.
- Arunkumar MJ, Rajshekhar V. Outcome in neurologically impaired patients with craniovertebral junction tuberculosis: results of combined anteroposterior surgery. J Neurosurg. 2002;97(2 Suppl):166–71.
- Dhammi IK, Singh S, Jain AK. Hemiplegic/monoplegic presentation of cervical spine (C1–C2) tuberculosis. Eur Spine J. 2001;10(6):540–4.
- Sinha S, et al. Surgical management and outcome of tuberculous atlantoaxial dislocation: a 15-year experience. Neurosurgery. 2003;52(2):331–89.
- Krishnan A, et al. Craniovertebral junction tuberculosis: a review of 29 cases. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2001;25(2):171–6.
- Sharif HS, et al. Granulomatous spinal infections: MR imaging. Radiology. 1990;177(1):101–7.
- Chandra SP, et al. Analysis of changing paradigms of management in 179 patients with spinal tuberculosis over a 12-year period and proposal of a new management algorithm. World Neurosurg. 2013;80(1–2):190–203.

Extensive Spinal Epidural Abscesses Resolved with Minimally Invasive Surgery: Two Case Reports and Review of the Recent Literature



Luca Proietti, Luca Ricciardi, Giovanni Noia, Giuseppe Barone, Eugenio Valenzi, Andrea Perna, Ilaria Giannelli, Laura Scaramuzzo, Massimiliano Visocchi, Fabio Papacci, and Francesco Ciro Tamburrelli

Abstract *Purpose:* An extensive spinal epidural abscess is a rare condition and causes significant morbidity and mortality. Few authors have described this uncommon entity, which requires early diagnosis and optimal treatment to avoid devastating complications. The purpose of this study was to evaluate a minimally invasive technique for treatment of an extensive spinal epidural abscess by describing two cases. Furthermore, we conducted a review of the recent literature on the management of this rare condition.

Methods: We report two cases of spinal abscesses extending to the whole epidural space, successfully treated by use of a minimally invasive technique consisting of multilevel laminotomy and catheter irrigation to decompress and drain the epidural space.

Results: This technique is able to decompress the spinal cord, isolate the pathogen and evacuate the abscess. No complications, late spine deformity or dura penetration were observed in our patients.

Conclusion: Urgent surgical decompression, in combination with long-term antibiotic treatment, is generally considered the treatment of choice for an extensive spinal epidural abscess. A minimally invasive technique can be very useful as a surgical option.

L. Ricciardi · M. Visocchi · F. Papacci Institute of Neurological Surgery, Catholic University of the Sacred Heart of Rome, Agostino Gemelli Hospital, Rome, Italy e-mail: fabio.papacci@policlinicogemelli.it

G. Barone

Keywords Extensive spinal epidural abscess · Holocord abscess · Minimally invasive surgery

Introduction

A spinal epidural abscess (SEA) is an uncommon condition with potentially devastating consequences, with a major incidence in the sixth and seventh decades of life. Historically, the reported rates of SEA have ranged from 0.2 to 1.2 cases per 10,000 hospital admissions [1]. An SEA is defined as extended when it involves more than five vertebral levels; the estimated mortality rate is around 15% [2, 3]. Nowadays the prevalence is increasing because of increases in predisposing conditions such as diabetes mellitus, intravenous drug abuse (IVDA), chronic renal failure, systemic immunodeficiency and previous spinal surgery. The aetiology is bacterial contamination due to haematogenous spread in half of all cases, contiguous spread in one third of cases and other unidentified causes in the remaining cases [4]. Approximately 50% (range 11-75%) of patients are initially misdiagnosed at the time of presentation [5, 6]. The combination of a low incidence and non-specific symptoms such as back pain or localized spinal tenderness can make early recognition difficult. Unrecognized SEA may progress not only to a potentially irreversible neurological deficit but also to life-threatening sepsis. The first cause of death is represented by septic shock. Patients with SEA often have numerous comorbidities; severe thrombocytopenia or a massive infection often worsen the patient's outcome [7-10]. The accuracy of diagnosis has been improved by the use of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI); in fact, this technique represents the gold standard for diagnosis of SEA [11]. Although rapid surgical decompression and specific antibiotic therapy make up the cornerstone of therapy for SEA, the ideal management of this condition remains controversial. We report two cases of extensive SEA treated successfully with a minimally invasive technique.

L. Proietti · G. Noia (\boxtimes) · E. Valenzi · A. Perna · I. Giannelli F. C. Tamburrelli

Spine Surgery Division, Agostino Gemelli Hospital, Catholic University of the Sacred Heart of Rome, Rome, Italy e-mail: francesco.ciro.tamburrelli@policlinicogemelli.it

Division of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Santa Maria della Misericordia Hospital, University of Perugia, Perugia, Italy

L. Scaramuzzo

Spine Surgery Division 1, IRCCS Galeazzi Orthopaedic Institute, Milan, Italy

Furthermore, we conduct a review of the recent literature to investigate the features and the kinds of treatment for this rare condition.

Case 1

A 62-year-old man presented at our emergency department with an acute exacerbation of chronic back pain and lowgrade fever. The clinical examination showed no signs of neurological symptoms in the four extremities or sphincter disturbances. There were no sensory deficits. On admission the patient presented with a very limited range of motion of the lumbar spine and diffuse tenderness on palpation over his back. He had a history of previous surgical debridement for a flesh-eating disease of the right leg, arising from a total knee arthroplasty. In the previous 10 days the patient had received high-dose steroid therapy for low back pain. Laboratory tests showed a small increase in the white cell count (13,400 cells/ mm³), with an erythrocyte sedimentation rate of 57.2 mm/h (normal value 0-15 mm/h) and a C-reactive protein (CRP) level of 54.7 mg/dL (normal value 0-3 mg/dL). Plain radiographs of the cervical, thoracic and lumbar spine showed no abnormal findings. The patient clinically deteriorated over the next 6 h after admission to the spinal surgery division and showed a fever of 38.6 °C and progressive flaccid tetraplegia with subsequent breathing difficulty requiring ventilatory support. A whole-spine MRI examination was performed, showing an epidural abscess extending from the craniocervical junction (CCJ) to T8, located anterior to the cord, and

from T12 to S1, located in the anterior and posterior epidural space, determining a compromise in the canal diameter and cord compression (Fig. 1). T2W sagittal sections showed L1/ L2 discitis. The patient was taken to the operating room for an emergency evacuation. With use of a minimally invasive anterior approach, drainage of the upper cervical epidural abscess was performed with a 1.3-mm-diameter smooth catheter inserted from the C2-C3 disc space into the bulbar region under fluoroscopic guidance. Through a posterior midline approach, at the same time, we performed minimally invasive laminotomy and flavectomy on the left side in the T11-T12, L1-L2 and L3-L4 spaces, in an attempt to preserve the midline structures (Fig. 2). The pus was drained, under mild continuous suction, using a 2.7-mm-diameter silicone catheter, inserted caudally and cranially into the epidural space at the laminotomy sites. The catheter was inserted through each laminotomy site and advanced for up to 5 cm gently in both upward and downward directions (Fig. 3). Irrigation was performed with several litres of normal saline until clear fluid was obtained. Samples were obtained and sent for Gram staining and culture. The cervical wound was closed over a drain, which was retained for 3 days. Microbiological examinations were positive for methicillinsensitive Staphylococcus aureus. Targeted antibiotic therapy was administered, and the patient showed improvements in ventilation and neurological condition. Three-month followup MRI studies showed complete resolution of the epidural abscess without vertebral malalignments, thus avoiding the need for fixation (Fig. 4). At 2-year follow-up, the patient had no clinical, radiological or laboratory evidence of residual or recurrent spinal infection.



Fig. 1 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showing an epidural abscess extending from C1 to T8 and from T12 to S1

Fig. 2 Unilateral laminotomies to preserve midline structures and exposition of the epidural space





Fig. 4 Postoperative magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showing evacuation of the spinal epidural abscess and satisfactory decompression of the neurological structures

Fig. 3 Pus drainage, under mild continuous suction, using two 2.7-mmdiameter silicone catheters, inserted caudally and cranially into the epidural space at the laminotomy sites

Case 2

A 72-year-old female complained of increasing pain in the thoracolumbar spine, which was not responsive to antiinflammatory therapy. She did not present with any neurological disorders at the four extremities or the sphincter, or any sensory deficit. She had severe obesity (body mass index (BMI) 44 kg/m²) and a history of lupus erythematosus (LES), which had been treated with steroids for 20 years, but this treatment had been suspended 5 years ago. She was admitted to our emergency department with low back pain, fever, hypotension and oliguria. A complete blood count, CRP level and procalcitonin level were obtained, showing a white blood cell count of $18.57 \times 10^{9}/L$ with neutrophilia, a CRP level of 204 mg/dL (range 0-3 mg/dL), and a procalcitonin level of 24 (range <0.05). She was admitted to the department of internal medicine with a diagnosis of septic shock. In this department, more tests were required. Plain radiographs of the cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spine showed no findings. A total-body computed tomography (CT) scan showed multiple renal abscesses and a swollen appearance of the piriformis muscle. She clinically deteriorated over the next 5 days after admission, showing a reduction in her conscious state (with a Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score of 11) and a fever of 39 °C. A whole-spine MRI (with gadolinium) was performed, showing an epidural abscess extending from T1 to L4, located posterior to the cord and causing a compromise in the canal diameter and cord compression. T2W sagittal sections showed L1/L2 discitis and enhancement of the paraspinal muscles, particularly to the right, where there were three abscess cavities at the level of L1. The patient underwent emergency surgical spinal decompression. With use of a minimally invasive technique, two levels of unilateral laminotomies on the left side at T7 and L2 were performed in an attempt to preserve the midline structures. The pus was drained, under mild continuous suction, using two 2.7-mm-diameter silicone catheters, inserted caudally and cranially into the epidural space, at the laminotomy sites. Both catheters were passed into the posterior epidural space under the legamentum flavum, upward and downward. Irrigation was performed with several litres of normal saline until clear fluid was obtained. Samples were obtained and sent for Gram staining and culture. The microbiological examination was positive for Escherichia coli. Targeted antibiotic therapy was administered, and the patient showed an improved neurological condition. A 3-month follow-up MRI showed a clear reduction of the abscess involving the posterior epidural space from T1 to L4. At 6-month follow-up, the patient had achieved an excellent neurological recovery, with thoracolumbar pain reduction, and radiographs showed no signs of instability that required additional surgical treatment.

Literature Review and Discussion

In the emergency department, a diagnosis of SEA is often not considered when a patient shows no neurological deficit. Knowledge of the aetiopathology and natural history of this disease may decrease the number of misdiagnosed cases. Bacteria gain access to the epidural space by three mechanisms: per continuitatem from a neighbouring infected structure (10–30%), through haematogenous dissemination (50%) or through iatrogenic inoculation (15%). In 30–40% of cases, no source can be identified [10]. A large variety of pathogens have been found as causative agents for SEA, with *S. aureus* involved in 60% of cases, Gram-negative rods in 10%, *Streptococcus* spp. in 9% and anaerobes in 2% [10].

Heusner et al. [12] described the clinical features and progression of SEA, occurring in four stages. At the first stage, the patient has back pain, fever and tenderness; at the second stage, radicular pain, nuchal rigidity/neck stiffness and reflex changes appear; at the third stage, the patient presents with sensory abnormalities, motor weakness, and bowel and bladder dysfunction; at the last stage, paralysis occurs. Despite the availability of increasingly refined methods of imaging, this staging system remains a valuable tool because it can allow diagnosis of SEA before the appearance of irreversible neurological damage [3, 12]. Neurological deficit can be caused by direct mechanical compression or indirect vascular occlusion by septic thrombophlebitis. Patel et al. [13] reported that diabetes mellitus, leucocytosis (a white blood cell count >12.5 \times 10⁹/L), positive blood cultures and a CRP level >115 mg/dL represent the four risk factors associated with failure of medical treatment of SEA.

In cases of a suspected acute epidural abscess, it is mandatory to perform a whole-spine MRI to exclude the possibility of multisegmentary involvement. Contrast-enhanced MRI represents the gold standard because it allows us to identify abscess extension in the sagittal, coronal and axial planes. Epidural abscesses usually show hyperintense signals on T2-weighted images with enhancement in postcontrast studies; homogeneous enhancement on T1-weighted sequences obtained with gadolinium and hyperintensity throughout the lesion on T2-weighted sequences are more consistent with phlegmon; a bright edge with a hypointense nucleus on T1-weighted images is indicative of liquid pus [14–17]. Use of MRI is essential to distinguish phlegmon from liquid pus in order to choose the better surgical approach. Lumbar puncture plays a less important role in diagnosing SEA and should not be performed routinely. The result of Gram staining of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) is frequently negative, so we believe that CSF sampling is to be avoided if we suspect SEA, as that procedure could introduce pathogens into the thecal sac, causing fulminant meningitis.

Above the foramen magnum the dura is tenaciously adherent to the bone. Below this level there is a real epidural space, posterior and lateral to the spinal cord, that extends along the entire length of the spine. This space is poorly represented in the cervical region and largest in the thoracic and lumbosacral regions, and it is filled with fat, arteries and venous plexus. SEA is typically located in the 'true' posterior space. Anteriorly there is only a potential epidural space because the dura is adherent to the vertebral bodies from the foramen magnum down to L1. For this reason the majority of SEAs are localized posteriorly. In rare cases the epidural abscess can involve more than five vertebral levels (a socalled extensive epidural abscess) or the entire spinal canal from the cervical region to the sacrum (a so-called holocord or holospinal epidural abscess).

Only a few cases of extensive or holocord SEA have been described. We performed a review of the recent literature in the PubMed, Embase and Google Scholar databases by conducting a keyword search for the terms 'extensive spinal epidural abscess', 'holospinal epidural abscess' and 'holocord abscess'. We included only studies published between 2006 and 2016 that reported cases of spinal abscess involving five levels or more and confined in the epidural space. Cases in which there was previous spinal surgery, subdural extension of the abscess or without indication on treatment, and publications with no abstract available, were excluded. Therefore, we selected just 19 articles (including the cases described in this paper), for a total of 22 patients (Table 1). The average age was 53.6 years (range 25-77 years), and 17 male versus five female patients were affected (male to female ratio 3.4:1). Most of the patients (n = 13 (59%)) with extensive SEA had at least one of the known predisposing factors, including diabetes mellitus (27%), a history of IVDA (18%), cancer (9%), hepatitis C virus (HCV), immunodeficiency, alcoholism, obesity, chronic renal failure, Crohn's disease or cardiovascular disease. Regarding the spinal levels involved, the epidural abscess extended from the cervical region to the lumbar region in seven patients (40.9%), from the cervical region to the sacrum in eight patients (36%), from the cervical region to the thoracic region in four patients [14, 36] and from the thoracic region to the lumbar spine in one patient. The abscess was associated with S. aureus-positive cultures of the drained fluid or blood culture in most of the cases we reviewed (14 patients (63.6%)), Streptococcus spp. in two patients (9%), and E. coli and Aeromonas hydrophila in two patients; in four papers the pathogen was not specified. In all cases the clinical suspicion was confirmed by MRI of the entire spine.

Both the diagnosis and the treatment of this disease should be done as early as possible [37, 38]. The treatment of SEA is controversial, with reports of surgical and non-surgical treatment [39–43]. In Table 1 we give a brief summary of the surgical procedures performed in 20 of the overall 22

patients. Urgent surgical decompression in combination with long-term antibiotic treatment is generally considered the treatment of choice for extensive SEA. Some factors, however, such as a high surgical risk and a minor neurological deficit, favour non-surgical treatment. In the case described by Van Bergen [23], given the extent of the abscess and the numerous septations on the one hand and the minor neurological deficit on the other hand, it was decided to not perform a surgical procedure, keeping in mind that in the event of neurological deterioration, surgery would be considered. In the same way, Killen [34] reported successful non-surgical treatment of a 77-year-old patient, in whom a course of antibiotics resulted in complete radiological resolution of the abscess and a full neurological recovery. However, in this case the clinical examination did reveal a mild neurological deficit: globally reduced power (Medical Research Council (MRC) grade 4/5) in all muscle groups of the lower limbs and normal power in both upper limbs. Many surgical strategies have been described in the literature to evacuate an SEA and decompress the spinal cord, from open decompression and late closure to limited decompression (1-level laminectomy or hemilaminectomy with the use of a Fogarty embolectomy catheter) [3] and percutaneous CT-guided needle aspiration [44]. Some authors have reported performing a wide decompression through multilevel laminectomies [45], inducing postoperative instability of the spine, which could be followed by postsurgical kyphosis, important blood loss, increased postoperative pain and a prolonged recovery time [17]. CT-guided needle aspiration could cause extension of the infection to the subdural area by accidental penetration of the dura [41]. Other authors have recommended less invasive techniques involving placement of small catheters within the epidural space [3, 19, 22, 25, 32, 33, 35, 36, 41]. These side effects could be avoided by the minimally invasive technique used in our two cases. We believe that use of a minimally invasive technique in patients affected by extensive SEA is both effective and safe. It is possible through multiple laminotomies and fenestrations introducing a flexible catheter that is able to drain the epidural abscess while preserving the stability of the posterior elements of the spine. It is essential to perform unilateral decompression in order to not compromise the posterior ligamentous complex. This procedure is associated with minimum blood loss, faster functional recovery, reduction of postoperative pain and no need for subsequent stabilization surgery. This less invasive technique can treat the infection, and it can also avoid a long-term deformity. In the literature, cases of neurological deficits are not reported due to the positioning of such catheters into the epidural space. In the first case we have described, the abscess was unusually localized in the anterior cervical epidural space, making the choice of surgical approach more complex; we performed an anterior approach to the C2–C3 disc space and drainage with a 1.3-mm smooth catheter,

Table 1 Rev Study	iew of the	Age (ware)	erature Dieb factore	T avial involved	Dathoren	Concernative treatment	Sumical tractment	Duration of	Neurological
Payer and	202	(ycais)	NISK IACIOIS		raurogen		Multilevel unilateral laminar fenestrations	dn-womor	sequerae
Walser [18]	Male	70	Gastric cancer	C2-T8	MSSA	IV flucloxacillin for 5 weeks	from C2 to T8; irrigation and drainage of the abscess	2 months	
Urrutia and Rojas [19]	Male	36	None	C2-sacrum	Peptostreptococcus	IV cefotaxime and clindamycin	Limited laminectomies in the cervical (C3–C5), thoracic (T5–T6) and lumbar spine (L4–L5); irrigation with a paediatric urinary catheter	5 years	None
Chang et al [20]	Male	45	None	C3-lumbar tract (C4–C6 osteomyelitis)	MSSA	Hyperbaric oxygenation and 6 weeks of IV oxacillin	Anterior cervical corpectomies; internal spinal fusion with a mesh cage with morselized autogenous bone grafts and a titanium plate	3 months	Yes
Gorchynski et al. [21]	Male	33	None	C1–L5	MRSA	IV vancomycin and oral rifampicin	Laminectomy of the entire spine; drainage (no other information available)	1 year	Yes
Smith and Kavar [22]	Male	25	Crohn's disease	C2-S1	NK	IV antibiotics	C5, T8 and L3 laminectomies; saline washout at each laminectomy site, using a ventricular catheter	NK	Yes
Van Bergen et al. [23]	Male	50	None	C2-L3	MSSA	IV flucloxacillin for 5 weeks	None	2 months	None
Elsamaloty et al. [24]	Male	53	Diabetes mellitus	C1-L1	MSSA	IV methicillin	Multilevel laminectomics performed at C5-C6, T2-T3 and L1-L2; irrigation	6 months	Yes
Tahir et al. [25]	Female	38	IVDA, HCV	C1-sacrum	MSSA	IV vancomycin and ciprofloxacin for 4 weeks	T4-T5 and L3-L5 laminotomies and flavectomy, soft silicone catheter advanced for up to 3-5 cm gently in both upward and downward directions to flush the epidural space with saline	1 year	NK
Deshmukh [26]	Female	59	Alcohol abuse, IVDA, progressive breast cancer	C2-T3 (C5-C6 spondylodiscitis)	MSSA	Ceftriaxone (2 g twice daily) for 8 weeks and a cervical collar for 3 months	Anterior contiguous 5/7-mm midline trough corpectomies in the vertebrae and intervening disc spaces from C2 to T3; drainage	1 year	Yes
Lehman and Lenke [27]	Female	38	IVDA	C7–L4	NK	NK	Thoracic laminoplasty, hinged open; multiple laminotomies in the lumbar spine; irrigation	NK	NK
O'Brien et al. [28]	Male	71	Diabetes mellitus	CCJ-sacrum	MSSA	IV piperacillin/ tazobactam	None	2 months	None
Lau et al. [29]	Male	50	Diabetes mellitus	CCJ-L5 (L3-L4 osteomyelitis)	MSSA	IV broad-spectrum antibiotics	Decompression through a transoral odontoidectomy; removal of the anterior arch of C1; partial corpectomy of C2; laminectomies of C3–C6 and C1–C2; posterior cervical fusion	13 months	Yes

350

									thicillin-
None	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	None	None	None	None	None ISSA me
2 years	NK	2 months	1 month	11 months	1 year	1 year	1 year	2 years	6 months
Multilevel laminectomies from C5 to T8; posterior instrumentation from T3 to T10 (to stabilize pregress T7 vertebral fracture)	Anterior cervical decompression	Vertebroplasty of L4; laminectomy of T6 and T8; subcutaneous drainage tube	Segmental laminectomies of C3–C6, T6– T9 and L2–L3 for abscess drainage; a red rubber catheter was used to irrigate the epidural spaces	Laminectomy of L3; a catheter was used to wash out the epidural space rostral and caudal to the laminectomy; C1–C2 laminectomy 6 days postoperatively to drain residual ventral collection at the CCJ	None	Apical skip laminectomy (2/3 levels, centred at the apexes of the natural spinal lordosis and kyphosis in the cervical, thoracic and lumbar spine); epidural irrigation (saline + vancomycin) using a small-bore paediatric feeding tube	Apical skip laminectomy and irrigation (as in the above case)	Anterior approach to the C2–C3 disc space; drainage with a 1.3-mm smooth catheter; posterior laminotomies on the left side at T11/T12, L/2 and L3/L4; irrigation using a 2.7-mm-diameter silicone catheter inserted caudally and cranially	Posterior unilateral laminotomies at T7 and L2; irrigation with two 2.7-mm silicone catheters inserted caudally and cranially into the epidural space osus, <i>MRSA</i> methicillin-resistant <i>Staphylococ</i>
IV ampicillin/ sulbactam	IV antibiotics	IV antibiotics	IV broad-spectrum antibiotics	Linezolid and rifampicin for 3 months	IV flucloxacillin and oral fusidic acid for 4 weeks, then oral flucloxacillin for a further 5 weeks	IV daptomycin	NK	IV antibiotics	IV antibiotics use, <i>LES</i> lupus erythemate
Aeromonas hydrophila	NK	Streptococcus intermedius	MSSA	MRSA	MSSA	MSSA	NK	MSSA	Escherichia coli 1 intravenous drug ab
C4–T8 (T6–T8 osteomyelitis)	CCJ–T4 (C6/C7 discitis)	Whole spinal canal (L3–L4 osteomyelitis)	C1–L5	CI-SI	C2-L1	C2-S2	C1-L4	CCJ-S1 (L1-L2 discitis)	T1-L4 (L1-L2 discitis) Vintravenous, IVD/
Diabetes mellitus (T7 vertebroplasty 5 weeks later)	None	Diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease	None	None	None	Diabetes mellitus	IVDA	None	Obesity, LES 7V hepatitis C virus, I/
72	67	69	46	51	LL	51	46	62	72 :tion, HC
Male	Male	Male	Male	Male	Female	Male	Male	Male	Female vical june
Lee et al. [30]	Velpula et al. [31]	Shiu et al. [32]		Smith et al. [33]	Killen et al. [34]	Abd-El- Barr et al. [35]		Proietti (2016)	<i>CCJ</i> craniocer

followed by irrigation through posterior skip laminotomies in the thoracic and lumbar regions. Most of the authors in our review reported good results obtained by emergency surgical treatment in patients affected by extensive SEA, in combination with intravenous antibiotic therapy. However, neurological sequelae persisted in most cases, especially when the pretreatment deficit was severe. Delays in diagnosis and treatment of extensive SEA lead to poor results; moreover, if surgical intervention occurs after a long course of failed medical management, the ability to recover motor function is significantly limited [13].

Conclusion

An extensive spinal epidural abscess is a rare but lifethreatening condition, which requires early diagnosis and prompt management. The main pathogenic mechanism seems to be bacterial haematogenous dissemination, in most cases involving S. aureus. Magnetic resonance imaging is crucial to confirm the clinical suspicion and to show the real extension of the abscess. The recent literature mostly recommends surgical decompression followed by intravenous antibiotics in patients with neurological abnormalities. Patients with a high surgical risk and a minor neurological deficit should receive non-surgical treatment. The minimally invasive technique used in our cases is very useful to treat an extensive epidural abscess of the spine. Thanks to this approach, spinal surgeons can treat most extensive spine epidural abscesses, decompressing the spinal cord and isolating the pathogen, with fewer side effects.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/ or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

The patients discussed in this paper have expressed their consent for the presentation of their cases and the processing of their personal data.

References

- Nussbaum ES, Rigamonti D, Standiford H, Numaguchi Y, Wolf AL, Robinson WL. Spinal epidural abscess: a report of 40 cases and review. Surg Neurol. 1998;38:225–31.
- Ansari A, Davies DW, Lohn JW, Culpan P, Etherington G. Extensive spinal epidural abscess associated with an unremarkable recovery. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2004;32:825–9.
- Schultz K Jr, Comey C, Haid R Jr. Technical note. Pyogenic spinal epidural abscess: a minimally invasive technique for multisegmental decompression. J Spinal Disord. 2001;14(6):546–9.

- 4. Darouiche RO. Spinal epidural abscess. N Engl J Med. 2006;355:2012–20.
- Davis DP, Wold RM, Patel RJ, Tran AJ, Tokhi RN, Chan TC, Vilke GM. The clinical presentation and impact of diagnostic delays on emergency department patients with spinal epidural abscess. J Emerg Med. 2006;26:285–91.
- Tang HJ, Lin HJ, Liu YC, Li CM. Spinal epidural abscess—experience with 46 patients and evaluation of prognostic factors. J Infect. 2002;45:76–81.
- Darouiche RO, Hamill RJ, Greenberg SB, Weathers SW, Musher DM. Bacterial spinal epidural abscess. Review of 43 cases and literature survey. Medicine. 1992;71:369–85.
- Rigamonti D, Liem L, Sampath P, Knoller N, Namaguchi Y, Schreibman DL, Sloan MA, Wolf A, Zeidman S. Spinal epidural abscess: contemporary trends in etiology, evaluation, and management. Surg Neurol. 1999;52:189–96.
- Soehle M, Wallenfang T. Spinal epidural abscesses: clinical manifestations, prognostic factors, and outcomes. Neurosurgery. 2002;51:79–85.
- Sendi P, Bregenzer T, Zimmerli W. Spinal epidural abscess in clinical practice. QJM. 2008;101(1):1–12.
- Ruiz A, Post MJ, Sklar EM, Holz A. MR imaging of infections of the cervical spine. Magn Reson Imaging Clin N Am. 2000;8:561–80.
- Heusner AP. Nontuberculous spinal epidural infections. N Engl J Med. 1948;239:845–54.
- Patel AR, Alton TB, Bransford RJ, Lee MJ, Bellabarba CB, Chapman JR. Spinal epidural abscesses: risk factors, medical versus surgical management, a retrospective review of 128 cases. Spine J. 2014;14(2):326–30.
- 14. Adogwa O, Karikari IO, Carr KR, Krucoff M, Ajay D, Fatemi P, Perez EL, Cheng JS, Bagley CA, Isaacs RE. Spontaneous spinal epidural abscess in patients 50 years of age and older: a 15-year institutional perspective and review of the literature: clinical article. J Neurosurg Spine. 2014;20:344–9.
- Euba G, Narváez JA, Nolla JM, Murillo O, Narváez J, Gómez-Vaquero C, Ariza J. Long-term clinical and radiological magnetic resonance imaging outcome of abscess-associated spontaneous pyogenic vertebral osteomyelitis under conservative management. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2008;38:28–40.
- Küker W, Mull M, Mayfrank L, Töpper R, Thron A. Epidural spinal infection. Variability of clinical and magnetic resonance imaging findings. Spine. 1997;22:544–51.
- Pfister HW, von Rosen F, Yousry T. MRI detection of epidural spinal abscesses at noncontiguous sites. J Neurol. 1996;243: 315–7.
- Payer M, Walser H. Evacuation of a 14-vertebral-level cervicothoracic epidural abscess and review of surgical options for extensive spinal epidural abscesses. J Clin Neurosci. 2008;15:483–6.
- 19. Urrutia J, Rojas C. Extensive epidural abscess with surgical treatment and long term follow up. Spine J. 2007;7(6):708–11.
- Chang WC, Tsou HK, Kao TH, Yang MY, Shen CC. Successful treatment of extended epidural abscess and long segment osteomyelitis: a case report and review of the literature. Surg Neurol. 2008;69:117–20.
- Gorchynski J, Hwang J, McLaughlin T. A methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*-positive holospinal epidural abscess. Am J Emerg Med. 2009;27:514.e7–9.
- 22. Smith C, Kavar B. Extensive spinal epidural abscess as a complication of Crohn's disease. J Clin Neurosci. 2010;17:144–6.
- Van Bergen J, Plazier M, Baets J, Jan Simons P. An extensive spinal epidural abscess successfully treated conservatively. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2009;80:351–3.
- Elsamaloty H, Elzawawi M, Abduljabar A. A rare case of extensive spinal epidural abscess in a diabetic patient. Spine. 2010;35(2):E53–6.

- Tahir MZ, Hassan RU, Enam SA. Management of an extensive spinal epidural abscess from C-1 to the sacrum. Case report. J Neurosurg Spine. 2010;13:780–3.
- Deshmukh VR. Midline trough corpectomies for the evacuation of an extensive ventral cervical and upper thoracic spinal epidural abscess. J Neurosurg Spine. 2010;13:229–33.
- 27. Lehman RA, Lenke G. Extensive epidural abscess treated with a thoracic laminoplasty. Spine J. 2011;11(8):798–9.
- O'Brien C, Lenehan B, Street J. Non-operative management of an extensive anteriorly located epidural abscess. J Clin Neurosci. 2011;18:1401–2.
- 29. Lau D, Maa J, Mummaneni PV, Chou D. Holospinal epidural abscess. J Clin Neurosci. 2014;21:517–20.
- Lee JS, Choi SM, Kim KW. Triparesis caused by gas-containing extensive epidural abscess secondary to *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection of a thoracic vertebroplasty: a case report. Spine J. 2013;13:e9–e14.
- Velpula JM, Gakhar H, Sigamoney H, Bommireddy R. Cervical epidural abscess mimicking as stroke—report of two cases. Open Orthop J. 2014;8:20–3.
- Shiu SI, Lee BJ, Chen HC, Lin YH, Wang CY. Holospinal epidural abscess complicated with bilateral psoas muscle abscess. Spine J. 2014;14:1072–3.
- 33. Smith GA, Kochar AS, Manjila S, Onwuzulike K, Geertman RT, Anderson JS, Steinmetz MP. Holospinal epidural abscess of the spinal axis: two illustrative cases with review of treatment strategies and surgical techniques. Neurosurg Focus. 2014;37(2):E11.
- Killen MC, Hernandez M, Berg A, Bhatia C. Nonoperative management of a multi-regional epidural abscess with neurological dysfunction. Int J Spine Surg. 2015;9:47.
- 35. Abd-El-Barr MM, Bi WL, Bahluyen B, Rodriguez ST, Groff MW, Chi JH. Extensive spinal epidural abscess treated with "apical laminectomies" and irrigation of the epidural space: report of 2 cases. J Neurosurg Spine. 2015;22:318–23.

- Lange M, Tiecks F, Schielke E, Yousry T, Haberl R, Oeckler R. Diagnosis and results of different treatment regimes in patients with spinal abscesses. Acta Neurochir. 1993;125:105–14.
- Firsching R, Frowein RA, Nittner K. Acute spinal epidural empyema: observations from seven cases. Acta Neurochir. 1985;74:68–71.
- Hancock DO. A study of 49 patients with acute spinal extradural abscess. Paraplegia. 1973;10:285–8.
- Ahl T, Hedstrom M, Von Heijne A, Stiernstedt SH. Acute spinal epidural abscess without concurrent spondylodiscitis. Acta Orthop Scand. 1999;70:199–202.
- 40. Leys D, Lesoin F, Viaud C, Pasquier F, Rousseaux M, Jomin M, Petit H. Decreased morbidity from acute bacterial spinal epidural abscess using computed tomography and nonsurgical treatment in selected patients. Ann Neurol. 1985;17:350–5.
- Panagiotopoulos V, Konstantinou D, Solomou E, Panagiotopoulos E, Marangos M, Maraziotis T. Extended cervicolumbar spinal epidural abscess associated with paraparesis successfully decompressed using a minimally invasive technique. Spine. 2004;29:300–3.
- Stewart IC, Ford MJ, Heading RC. Acute spinal epidural abscesses—a cause of meningism. Scott Med J. 1981;26:348–9.
- Wheeler D, Keiser P, Rigamonti D, Keay S. Medical management of spinal epidural abscesses: case report and review. Clin Infect Dis. 1992;15:22–7.
- 44. Lyu RK, Chen CJ, Tang LM, Chen ST. Spinal epidural abscess successfully treated with percutaneous, computed tomography–guided, needle aspiration and parenteral antibiotic therapy: case report and review of the literature. Neurosurgery. 2002; 51:509–12.
- Richmond B, Schmidt J. Seventeen level laminectomy for extensive spinal epidural abscess: case report and review. W V Med J. 1994;90:468–71.

Complications of Halo Placement



Giuseppe Talamonti, Alberto Debernardi, Massimiliano Visocchi, Fabio Villa, and Giuseppe D'Aliberti

Abstract *Background:* The halo vest is widely used throughout the world to manage craniovertebral and cervical instabilities. It can be used for postoperative immobilization or as an alternative to surgical fixation.

Method: In this paper we present some cases of severe complications from our own practice and review the literature on halo complications.

Results: Like any therapeutic manoeuvre, halo placement may be followed by various complications. In the meantime, modern techniques of fixation offer safe and immediate stabilization.

Conclusion: The halo vest remains a formidable method for cervical immobilization. However, it should not be used a priori instead of surgery.

Keywords Cervical fixation \cdot Cervical immobilization \cdot Complications \cdot Cranio-vertebral joint \cdot Halo vest

In the late 1950s, halo vests became available for the treatment of cervical instability. These devices rapidly gained wide acceptance for the management of a number of cervical diseases. Conservative (nonsurgical) treatment became possible in several types of cervical fractures [1]; adequate and effective postoperative immobilization allowed improved surgical results and permitted development of new surgical strategies for management of injuries, malformations, tumours, infections and inflammation. However, as the use of the halo vest has proliferated worldwide, knowledge has also increased regarding its limitations, failures and possible complications.

In the meantime, the enormous development of surgical techniques and instrumentation have radically changed cervical spine surgery.

In this paper, we present some cases of halo complications that have led us to reconsider the spread of halo indications.

Case Presentation

Case No. 1

This 7-year-old boy presented with a 3-month history of streptococcal pharyngitis and progressive development of cervical pain and torticollis. Neuroradiological assessments (Fig. 1a, b) documented Grisel's syndrome [2] (nontraumatic atlantoaxial subluxation), which was identified as grade 3, according to the Fielding classification [3]. Accordingly, treatment consisted of antibiotics and halo vest placement. A couple of weeks later, the patient was again referred to us because of local skin swelling and intense pain triggered by light finger pressure. A computed tomography (CT) scan revealed a depressed skull fracture without any intracranial haemorrhage (Fig. 1c). The relatives denied any traumatic event. The halo vest was removed, the fracture was repaired and C1–C2 fusion was performed during a single procedure. The results were excellent (Fig. 1d, e).

G. Talamonti (\boxtimes) \cdot A. Debernardi \cdot M. Visocchi \cdot F. Villa

G. D'Aliberti

Department of Neurosurgery, AO Niguarda Ca'Granda Hospital, Milan, Italy

Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University, Rome, Italy



Fig. 1 Initial cervical computed tomography (CT) scans (threedimensional reconstructions): (a) lateral view and (b) inferior view showing rotational luxation of the atlas (grade 3 Grisel's syndrome). Cranial CT scan: (c) axial view showing halo pin penetration with a

corresponding depressed skull fracture. Follow-up cervical CT scans: (d) coronal view and (e) sagittal view showing restoration of normal atlantoaxial relationships and laminar fusion achieved using an autologous bone graft and sublaminar hooks

Case No. 2

This 11-year-old girl suffered with Costello's syndrome. Therefore, she underwent transoral odontoid resection and occipitocervical screw fixation at another hospital. Unfortunately, an infection of the posterior wound required partial removal of the occipitocervical instrumentation and placement of a halo device. Two months later, two halo pins loosened and the patient was referred to our emergency room. The skin was lacerated by the right posterior pin and a small skull lacuna was evident (Fig. 2a). The halo device was removed and the wound was cleaned and repaired; no local infection was evident. Afterward, the craniocervical fixation was renewed. Three months later, the patient came back to our emergency room because of a headache and opisthotonus.



Fig. 2 Cranial computed tomography (CT) scan: (a) axial view obtained when two halo pins loosened; a skull defect was evident but there were no sign of infection. Cervical CT scans: (b) sagittal view and (c) axial view obtained when the patient came back because of a head-ache and neck stiffness; no cervical misalignment or instrument misplacement was evident, but the upper slices (bone window at cranial

level) showed a cystic lesion corresponding to the skull defect. Enhanced cerebral magnetic resonance image (MRI): (d) axial view confirming an intracerebral abscess at the right parieto-occipital level. Follow-up enhanced cerebral MRI: (e) axial view showing favourable postoperative evolution

There was no fever, and the wounds appeared completely healed. A craniocervical CT scan was immediately obtained. The fixation devices were normally placed, but a cerebral cystic lesion was incidentally partially seen at the top of the scan (Fig. 2b, c). Enhanced CT scanning and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain confirmed the presence of a large cerebral abscess under the small skull lacuna, corresponding to the position of the previously loosened pin (Fig. 2d). The girl underwent immediate abscess excision, while the fixation device was left untouched. The results were excellent (Fig. 2e).

Other Cases

Reviewing our series, we found other two old cases: in 1989 an extradural haematoma had to be removed after halo pin placement (Fig. 3), and in 1996 a 12-year-old girl with a craniocervical injury developed an unrecognized chronic local infection around a halo pin, which eventually led to cranial osteomyelitis (Fig. 4a, b) requiring a wide craniectomy and subsequent cranioplasty. Finally, recently, we had to remove a halo vest because it triggered panic attacks in a young doctor with cervical fracture, who preferred to be operated on rather than continue wearing the device.



Fig. 3 Cranial computed tomography (CT) scan showing a relatively large extradural haematoma originating from a depressed skull fracture due to halo pin penetration



Fig. 4 Cranial computed tomography (CT) scans (three-dimensional reconstructions): (a) bird's-eye view and (b) lateral view showing a skull defect due to osteomyelitis originating at the site of halo pin insertion. This condition was not recognized and not adequately treated, leading to enlargement of the bone lesion and eventual need for a wide craniectomy and subsequent cranioplasty

Discussion

The halo vest consists of a titanium ring, which is firmly screwed to the skull by means of four pins. Four rods keep the ring attached to a special vest, thus immobilizing the cervical spine. This device has several advantages: it allows transskeletal traction and may be placed to reduce cervical misalignments [1]; the cervical immobilization is virtually absolute; the mandible is free; the whole neck remains accessible in both its anterior and posterior aspects; the patient can ambulate freely; and the halo can be maintained for months. Accordingly, a common policy consists of halo vest placement to firmly maintain the cervical spine in the correct position for a given period of months; afterward, the healing of the instability is assessed and the halo is either removed or maintained for some further months. Eventually, if cervical stabilization has not been yet achieved, the only remaining option is surgical arthrodesis.

Of course, some limitations exist in the use of halo device. For instance, halo ring placement requires an adequately developed skull, which makes it unsuitable for small infants [4]. Some pinless devices have been developed recently [5], but they do not seem to achieve the same degree of immobilization as the traditional halo system. Moreover, prolonged immobilization (by whatever means) is generally poorly tolerated by children, in whom more aggressive surgical indications may therefore be considered from the outset [6]. Psychiatric patients and even very anxious subjects may not be ideal candidates for a halo vest. Finally, in elderly patients, use of a halo vest results in a low rate of effective and permanent stabilization; thus, direct surgical arthrodesis may be indicated.

Apart from the aforementioned limitations, as with any surgical procedure, several problems may follow halo placement. Poorly outlined side effects are the discomfort of wearing the halo vest for months and the possible psychological problems it may elicit.

However, the most widely reported complications are pin loosening, pin site infection, pressure sores, pin site discomfort, loss of reduction, pneumocephalus, epidural abscess, brain abscess, subdural haematoma and seizures [1, 5, 7–12]. Even a fracture of a ventriculoperitoneal shunt and orbital violation by a pin have been reported [13, 14]. All of these complications mainly result from inadequate techniques of halo placement; for instance, a pin that is placed too deeply can be responsible for intracranial troubles, but pin that is not placed deeply enough may lead to system loosening, misplacement, skin injury and so on. Moreover, infective complications may result from poor pin care, especially in outpatients. Accordingly, adequate education of both physicians and patients is mandatory [9].

In 1986, Glaser et al. [8] reported pin complications in about 7% of cases. In the same year, Garfin et al. [7] published estimates of a 36% incidence of pin loosening, a 20% incidence of pin site infection, an 18–19% incidence of wound problems, a 2% incidence of nerve injuries and a 1% incidence of dural violation. Indeed, halo complications are mainly reported as anecdotal case reports [1, 8–14], and their actual rate of occurrence is quite difficult to assess precisely [7]. Undoubtedly the most frequent problem is pin loosening. Following halo placement, the pins usually need to be retightened. This is quite normal and is related to minimal, nearly physiological bone lysis at the pin tip. However, late loosening is typical of local infection, and this should be stressed to patients and their relatives to avoid management delays [9]. General diseases, osteoporosis, radiation therapy, the presence of foreign material and skull lesions are obvious risk factors for pin placement [9, 10, 12]. Accordingly, preoperative recognition of poor bone density is of tantamount importance to prevent complications [10].

However, cranial penetration of halo pins remains a rare event [1, 9]. It usually results from an incorrect placement technique and/or excessive pin tightening. The degree of torque application and the timing of pin retightening have been calculated to minimize the risk of skull penetration [15, 16]. Other possible causes of pin misplacement are falls, head injuries, prolonged halo use and poor patient compliance [1].

Depressed fractures of the skull are easy to understand but are uncommonly reported [7, 8, 15, 16]. They mainly depend on unexpected bone weakness and/or excessive strength or incongruous depth of pin application. We always use a dynamometric screwdriver to place the halo pins. In our case no. 1, the pins were inserted with a torque of about 4 inches per pound, as is usual in small children in our practice. Probably, the bone strength was less than expected, but we detected no anomalous sensation and remained unaware of the underlying bone complication. The procedure was conducted under local anaesthesia and mild sedation, and the patient presented no particular complaints. We did not notice any anomalous motility of the halo ring, which appeared well held to the skull. When the patient returned because of local pain and swelling at the site of one pin, the device still seemed well positioned. Indeed, we suspected a local infection, and the depressed skull fracture was a surprise. Maybe the pin could have been replaced in another position, but we preferred to repair the skull fracture and to fuse C1-C2 during the same procedure. The postoperative immobilization consisted of 2 weeks' use of a soft cervical collar. There were no complications, and the results were excellent. Now, we wonder whether the direct C1-C2 fusion might have been indicated from the outset.

Intracranial abscess is one of the most serious complications of pin penetration. An abscess may be extradural, subdural or parenchymal [1, 7, 12]. In our case no. 2, the halo had to be removed a couple of months after placement, because of pin loosening and skin laceration. A local infection was suspected, but no infective evidence was found. When the patient came back to our emergency room, her only complaints were headache and nuchal stiffness. Recurrence of the craniocervical instability was the main suspect, but neuroradiological assessments revealed a large cerebral abscess corresponding to a small skull lacuna where the previously loosened pin was placed. The opisthotonus probably was due to the downward displacement of the cerebellar tonsils, and more severe brainstem signs were absent owing to the enlarged foramen magnum. Anyway, the patient eventually underwent successful abscess excision, but we seriously risked missing the correct diagnosis because initially we did not perform a cerebral CT scan and the abscess was only incidentally included in the upper slices of the craniocervical CT scan, which were performed just to build craniocervical CT reconstructions. The lesson learned from this case was that late pin loosening must always be regarded with a high degree of suspicion, and probably an infective disease cannot be ruled out by simple local inspection and a simple CT scan. In such cases, adequate serial clinical and neuroradiological assessments should be planned to prevent more serious complications.

Conclusion

There are patients in whom halo placement is the only therapeutic option. For instance, we recently reported [4] an 8-month-old infant who required occipitocervical arthrodesis using autologous ribs. The skull immaturity mandated the use of a customized brace for postoperative immobilization, which led to progressive graft reabsorption. Five months later, when the skull maturation allowed halo placement, this infant could be effectively treated because the adequate immobilization enabled bone strut engrafting.

There are patients in whom surgery represents the best option; for instance, patients with severe vertebral disruption and elderly patients generally have poor chances of healing without surgical repair.

There are other patients in whom both halo placement and direct surgery are valuable options.

Both options have their pros and cons. Even rare, possible complications of halo placement exist, while modern surgery is no longer as hazardous as in the past. The halo system may allow healing without open surgery, but its potential risks, the discomfort of wearing the device for months and the possibility of needing eventual open surgery because of failed healing must be pondered. On the other hand, the discomfort and the risks of direct surgery are well known and surely not negligible, but modern techniques and the present sophisticated surgical devices usually permit safe procedures and immediate solution of the cervical instability. In the last three decades, we used a halo device in dozens of patients and had to manage the four cases of serious complications cited in the present paper. In the last 10 years, we performed about 100 craniocervical arthrodesis procedures and surely we had to face some postoperative complications and failures, but satisfactory results were soon achieved in the vast majority of cases. Accordingly, the lesser invasiveness of the halo system seemed to be counterbalanced by the immediate and lowrisk effectiveness of surgery.

We do not deny the importance and usefulness of the halo system, but we think that the option of surgery should be not rejected a priori. The choice of the most suitable therapeutic option should be tailored for each individual case and discussed in depth with the patient and his or her relatives.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

References

- Gelais ID, Christoforou G, Motsis E, Arnaoutoglou C, Xenakis T. Brain abscess and generalized seizure caused by halo pin intracranial penetration: case report and review of the literature. Eur Spine J. 2009;18(2 Suppl):172–5.
- Pilge H, Holzapfel BM, Lampe R, Pilge S, Prodinger PM. A novel technique to treat Grisel's syndrome: results of a simplified, therapeutical algorithm. Int Orthop. 2013;37(7):1307–13.
- Fielding JW, Hawkins RJ. Atlanto-axial rotatory fixation. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1977;59:37–44.
- Talamonti G, D'Aliberti G, Debernardi A. Craniovertebral fusion in an infant using struts of banked adult bone. Childs Nerv Syst. 2016;32(4):753–7.
- Sawers A, DiPaola CP, Rechtine GR. Suitability of the noninvasive halo for cervical spine injuries: a retrospective analysis of outcomes. Spine J. 2009;9(3):216–20.
- Talamonti G, D'Aliberti GA, Debernardi A, Picano M. Paediatric spinal Langerhans cell histiocytosis requiring corpectomy and fusion at C7 and at Th8–Th9 levels. BMJ Case Rep. 2012. doi: https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2012-007660.
- Garfin S, Botte M, Waters R. Complications in the use of halofixation device. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1986;65:320–5.
- Glaser JA, Whitenill R, Stamp WG, Jane JA. Complications associated with the halo-vest. A review of 245 cases. J Neurosurg. 1986;65(6):762–9.
- Glover AW, Zakaria R, May P, Barret C. Overtightening of halo pins resulting in intracranial penetration, pneumocephalus, and epileptic seizure. Int J Spine Surg. 2013;7:42–4.
- Medhkour A, Massie L, Horn M. Acute subdural hematoma following halo pin tightening in a patient with bilateral vertebral artery dissection. Neurochirurgie. 2012;58(6):386–90.

- Nottmeier EW, Bondurant CP. Delayed onset of generalized tonic– clonic seizures as complication of halo orthosis. Case report. J Neurosurg. 2000;92(2 Suppl):233–5.
- 12. Papagelopoulos PJ, Sapkas GS, Kateros KT, Papadakis SA, Vlamis ME, Falagas ME. Halo pin intracranial penetration and epidural abscess in a patient with a previous cranioplasty: case report and review of the literature. Spine. 2001;26(19):463–7.
- Blakeney WG, D'Amato C. Ventriculoperitoneal shunt fracture following application of halo–gravity traction: a case report. J Pediatr Orthop. 2015;35(6):e52–4. https://doi.org/10.1097/ BPO.0000000000000510.
- Menon KV, Al Rawi AE, Taif S, Al Ghafri K, Mollahalli KK. Orbital roof fracture and orbital cellulitis secondary to halo pin penetration: case report. Global Spine J. 2015;5(1):63–8.
- Rizzolo SJ, Piazza MR, Cotler JM, Hume EL, Cautilli G, O'Neill DK. The effect of torque pressure on halo pin complication rates: a randomized prospective study. Spine. 1993;18:2163–6.
- Vertullo CJ, Duke PF, Askin GN. Pin-site complications of the halo thoracic brace with routine pin re-tightening. Spine. 1997;22:2514–6.

CVJ Neurophysiology

Occipital Nerve Stimulation for Refractory Pain after Occipitocervical Fusion



Giusy Guzzi, Attilio Della Torre, Donatella Gabriele, Giorgio Volpentesta, Domenico Chirchiglia, Carmelino Angelo Stroscio, and Angelo Lavano

Abstract Occipital nerve stimulation (ONS) is electric stimulation of the distal branches of the greater occipital nerve by cylindrical or paddle leads implanted in subcutaneous occipital tissue. This surgical option has emerged as a promising treatment for different types of disabling medical refractory headache and recently also for residual occipital and nuchal pain after previous occipitocervical fusion. The mechanisms of action have not yet been clearly explained: electrical stimulation of the occipital nerve has both peripheral and central effects on the nervous system, which may modulate nociception. ONS is a well-tolerated and safe procedure in comparison with other invasive modalities of treatment. Lead migration/dislodgement is a common complication, but use of new surgical techniques and leads may reduce the rate of this complication.

Introduction

Occipital nerve stimulation (ONS) is used for various medically intractable cranial and neck pain syndromes such as trigeminal autonomic cephalalgia (TAC), migraine, occipital neuralgia, hemicrania continua, posttraumatic headache and transformed migraine [1–5]. More recently, good outcomes have been reported with ONS for occipital and cervical pain after occipitocervical fusion with subcutaneous placement of leads intersecting with the greater occipital nerve at the level of C1 [6]. This pain is characterized by neuropathic features involving the territory of the greater occipital nerve in the upper part of the neck and the back of the head. The pain is often refractory to conventional medical management and may impair the individual's lifestyle, quality of life and ability to work, resulting in a significant economic burden [6, 7]. The major causes of refractory occipital pain after occipitocervical fusion may be lesions of the occipital nerves, secondary to the surgical procedure; entrapment and infection of occipital nerves at the surgical site; and postfusion arthritis of the C1–C2 segment.

Surgical Procedure

The surgical procedure is structured into two phases: lead placement with subchronic stimulation; and fitting of an implantable pulse generator (IPG) with chronic stimulation.

Lead Placement with Subchronic Stimulation

Under local anaesthesia, and with the patient placed in a prone position, a linear incision of 4 cm is made on the midline from the external occipital protuberance to the posterior cervical region. Blunt dissection of the subcutaneous tissue is performed bilaterally. Under fluoroscopy control, a Tuohy needle is passed transversely in the epifascial plane across the base of the greater occipital nerve at the level of C1, starting from the midline incision, moving toward the mastoid process and following the trajectory of the nuchal line. A quadripolar/octopolar cylindrical lead is introduced into the Tuohy needle, medial to the lateral direction. Then the needle is pulled back and the lead is anchored to the underlying fascia in the midline and connected to an external cable for intraoperative acute testing with an external stimulator. The same procedure is performed on the other side. The stimulation parameters are chosen to obtain paraesthesia in the innervation territory of the greater occipital nerve. The procedure has lead migration rates of up to 24%. To avoid this

G. Guzzi $(\boxtimes) \cdot A.$ Della Torre \cdot D. Gabriele \cdot G. Volpentesta

D. Chirchiglia · C. A. Stroscio · A. Lavano

Department of Neurosurgery, Magna Graecia University of Catanzaro, Catanzaro, Italy

complication, according to the Franzini lead fixation technique [8], the cylindrical lead may be fixed to the lateral portion of the superficial fascia by transfixation of the plastic tip of the lead with a suture needle through a vertical incision of 4 cm, lateral to the external occipital protuberance. Patients are evaluated after a 7- to 15-day trial period of external stimulation, and only those reporting at least a 50% decrease in pain intensity, associated with a decrease in medication use, are selected for permanent implantation of an IPG.

In cases of cylindrical lead migration during subchronic stimulation, it is possible to replace it with a narrow paddle electrode [9].

The Implantable Pulse Generator and Chronic Stimulation

In patients with a positive response to the subchronic stimulation phase, under general anaesthesia a wire cable is tunnelled from the occipital lead to a subcutaneous pocket in the subclavian region, where an IPG is implanted. It is possible to connect both wire cables to a dual-channel IPG or each wire cable to a single-channel IPG. The usual parameters used for chronic stimulation are a frequency of 30–60 Hz, pulse width of 90–120 μ s, amplitude of 1.5–9.0 V and bipolar stimulation configuration in the cyclic mode.

Discussion

Occipital nerve stimulation is used with good clinical results in various types of headache involving both the cervical and trigeminal innervation territories, such as occipital neuralgia, cervicogenic headache and TAC [3, 4, 10]. Patients with occipital pain due to degenerative diseases of the cervical spine or pain after surgery on the cervical spine, including ventral discectomy and fusion, have also been reported to benefit from this procedure [6]. Electrical stimulation of the greater occipital nerve, performed through lead implantation by a percutaneous approach, was first described by Weiner and Reed in occipital neuralgia [11], but it reduces pain in both the cervical and trigeminal innervation territories [4].

The greater occipital nerve (GON) arises from fibres (the medial branch) of the dorsal primary ramus of the C2 spinal root and, to a lesser extent, from fibres of the C3 spinal root. The nerve crosses deep to the semispinalis capitis muscle

and pierces the fascia just below the superior nuchal line between the semispinalis capitis and trapezius muscles. The GON supplies sensation to the skin in the medial portion of the posterior scalp up to the vertex. Its dorsal root ganglion also innervates the atlantoaxial C1–C2 joints and zygapophyseal C2–C3 joints. The convergence of the C2 dorsal horn with the trigeminal nerve in the 'trigeminal–cervical nucleus' extending from the trigeminal nucleus caudalis to C3 level [10] may explain the effect of ONS on pain located in different territories.

The pathophysiological mechanisms underlying ONS effects on pain have not yet been clearly explained. There are many—and often conflicting—theories, since electrical stimulation of the occipital nerve may modulate nociception by both peripheral and central effects on the nervous system:

- (1) Stimulation could lead to depolarization blockade of the small-diameter afferent A δ and C fibres [12]. Stimulation of the large-diameter afferent A β fibres produces an antinociceptive effect due to activity suppression in the C fibres and A δ fibres of inhibitory interneurons at the level of gate control in the spinal dorsal horn [7].
- (2) ONS may stimulate the supraspinal structures involved in central nociceptive control and located in the dorsal pons, with activation of descending antinociceptive pathways, which can modulate nociceptive input at the supraspinal and spinal levels by means of the trigeminal-vascular system at the level of upper cervical pain [13, 14].
- (3) ONS may influence the anterior cingulate cortex and the pulvinar nucleus of the thalamus, which are involved in the affective component of pain [12].

Lead migration/dislodgement is the most common complication, occurring in up to 24% of cases. It is due to the wide range of neck movements [2]. Lead and implant techniques have evolved over time to minimize lead displacement. Transfixation of the plastic tip of the cylindrical lead by a needle and suturing of the tip to the superficial fascia with a non-absorbable suture, as proposed by Franzini, is effective in preventing this complication [8]. Replacement of the cylindrical lead with a narrow paddle electrode may be a solution in cases of lead migration [9]. The reported infection rates have ranged from 4% to 30% with varied lengths of follow-up [15, 16].

ONS may require early replacement of the IPG because of power loss/battery failure if high voltage is needed to effectively stimulate a nerve that is not in anatomical contact with the lead. The use of new rechargeable batteries increases IPG longevity and output capability, reducing the size of the device and the need for device replacement surgery.

Conclusion

Subcutaneous occipital nerve stimulation (ONS) for residual and refractory occipital and neck pain after previous occipitocervical fusion surgery is a well-tolerated and effective procedure in comparison with other invasive modalities of treatment. Moreover, the use of drugs can be reduced, with a significant reduction in side effects. The reversibility of the procedure and the absence of side effects during chronic stimulation make this technique ethically acceptable in otherwise untreatable patients, whose quality of life is consistently improved by this neuromodulation technique.

Further development of application of ONS in this field requires continuous accumulation of clinical evidence, further studies on pain pathophysiology, and improvements in implant techniques and equipment technology.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

References

- Vallejo R, Benyamin R, Kramer J. Neuromodulation of the occipital nerve in pain management. Tech Reg Anesth Pain Manag. 2006;10:12–5.
- Schwedt T. Occipital nerve stimulation for medically intractable headache. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2008;12:62–6.
- Paemeleire K, Bartsch T. Occipital nerve stimulation for headache disorders. Neurotherapeutics. 2010;7(2):213–9.

- Goasby PJ. Neuromodulatory approaches to the treatment of trigeminal autonomic cephalalgias. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2007;97(2):99–110.
- Weiner RL. Occipital neurostimulation for treatment of intractable headache syndromes. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2007;97(1):129–33.
- Ghaemi K, Capelle HH, Kinfe TM, Krauss JK. Occipital nerve stimulation for refractory occipital pain after occipitocervical fusion: expanding indications. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 2008;86(6):391–3.
- Slavin KV, Nersesyan H, Wess C. Peripheral neurostimulation for treatment of occipital neuralgia. Neurosurgery. 2006;58:112–9.
- Franzini A, Messina G, Leone M, Broggi G. Occipital nerve stimulation (ONS): surgical technique and prevention of late electrode migration. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2009;151:861–5.
- Abhinav K, Park ND, Prakash SK, Love-Jones S, Patel NK. Novel use of narrow paddle electrodes for occipital nerve stimulation: technical note. Neuromodulation. 2013;16(6):607–9.
- Lee P, Billy K. Peripheral nerve stimulation for the treatment of primary headache. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2013;17:319.
- Weiner RL, Reed KL. Peripheral neurostimulation for control of intractable occipital neuralgia. Neuromodulation. 1999;2:217–21.
- Lavano A, De Rose M, Guzzi G, Romano M, Della Torre A, et al. Neurostimulation for the treatment of cluster headache. Austin J Anesth Analg. 2015;3(1):1041.
- Schwedt TJ, Dodick DW, Hentz J, Trentman T, Zimmerman R. Occipital nerve stimulation for chronic headache, long-term safety and efficacy. Cephalalgia. 2007;27:153–7.
- Matharu MS, Bartsch T, Ward N. Central neuromodulation in chronic migraine patients with suboccipital stimulators: a PET study. Brain. 2004;127:220–30.
- Chen YF, Bramley G, Unwin G, Hanu-Cernat D, Dretzke J, Moore D, Bayliss S, Cummins C, Lilford R. Occipital nerve stimulation for chronic migraine—a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2015;10(3):e0116786.
- 16. Silberstein SD, Dodick DW, Sape J, Huch B, et al. Safety and efficacy of peripheral nerve stimulation of the occipital nerves for the management of chronic migraine: results from a randomized, multicenter, double-blinded, controlled study. Cephalalgia. 2012;32(16):1165–79.

Intraoperative Neurophysiological Monitoring for Craniovertebral Junction Surgery



Francesco Sala and Pietro Meneghelli

Abstract Craniovertebral junction (CVJ) surgery encompasses a wide spectrum of neurosurgical procedures ranging from transoral approaches for CVJ bone anomalies to surgery for intramedullary tumours. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IONM) has been increasingly used in recent years because of its ability to prevent neurological complications during surgery. In CVJ surgery the risk of neurological injuries is related first to the positioning of the patient and then to the surgical procedure. Application of IONM during the positioning of the patient permits fast recognition of impending causes of neurological injury. During surgery, continuous IONM permits real-time assessment of the functional integrity of the spinal tracts and provides useful feedback during surgical manoeuvres. The applications of IONM are mainly related to intradural procedures, but wider application of these techniques during surgery for CVJ instability and degenerative disorders has recently been described, leading also to better understanding of the pathophysiology of spinal cord injuries. In this paper we review and discuss the principal IONM techniques used during surgery around the CVJ.

Keywords Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IONM) \cdot Motor evoked potentials (MEPs) \cdot Somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs) \cdot Craniovertebral junction (CVJ) \cdot Surgery

Introduction

The craniovertebral junction (CVJ) is a complex transition zone between the skull base and the cervical spine, composed of the occiput, axis and atlas. The structures that must be considered in planning an operative approach to this region include the brainstem and spinal cord, the lower cranial and upper spinal nerves, the vertebral artery and its branches, and the ligaments uniting the atlas, axis and occipital bone. The pathological entities related to this segment of the spine are various: congenital malformation of the CVJ, Chiari malformations, inflammatory diseases (mainly rheumatoid arthritis), traumatic injuries of the CVJ, intramedullary tumours and vascular malformations. Therefore, the anatomical complexity of this region and the different pathologies related to the CVJ region underline the technical challenges of CVJ surgery.

The risk of developing new neurological deficits is related to two principal steps of the surgical procedure: the positioning of the patient and the surgery itself. Positioning, flexion or extension of the head, and the traction used on the shoulders may influence the diameter of the spinal canal, possibly leading to medullary compression and injury [1] or brachial plexus injury [2]. During surgery, a spinal cord injury may occur through either primary or secondary mechanisms: the former category defines injuries caused by surgical manoeuvres performed directly on the spinal cord (intramedullary tumours, above all); the latter defines injuries caused by indirect manoeuvres performed on the spine (e.g. traction and realignment manoeuvres).

Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IONM) is aimed at preventing neurological complications related to the surgical procedure and has been widely adopted during surgery for cervical spine degenerative diseases [3] and for intramedullary tumours [4]. The application of IONM techniques provides continuous assessment of the functional integrity of the spinal tracts and allows us to avoid, or at least limit, neurological injuries during the positioning of the patient and during surgery.

The aim of this paper is to provide a review of current IONM techniques and their applicability to CVJ surgery.

F. Sala (🖂) · P. Meneghelli

Institute of Neurosurgery, University Hospital, Verona, Italy e-mail: francesco.sala@univr.it

Intraoperative Neurophysiological Monitoring Techniques and Interpretation

IONM techniques represent a group of different intraoperative evoked potential (EP)–monitoring modalities; during CVJ surgery the techniques most commonly used are somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs), muscle motor evoked potentials (mMEPs) and corticospinal motor evoked potentials (D-wave monitoring).

Somatosensory evoked potential monitoring provides continuous assessment of the dorsal column pathways of the spinal cord, from the periphery to the cerebral cortex. The median nerve and the posterior tibial nerve are normally used for SSEP monitoring of the upper extremities and lower extremities, respectively. Upper-extremity monitoring starts with depolarization of the median nerve by electrical stimulation to produce a synchronous action potential volley through the sensory fibres of the dorsal root, which travels through the fasciculus cuneatus to reach the nucleus cuneatus (above T6) and then the contralateral medial lemniscus, and terminates in the ventral posterolateral (VPL) nucleus of the thalamus; third-order neurons reach the somatosensory cortex and parietal association fields and are processed by cortical scalp leads. Lower-extremity monitoring starts with depolarization of the posterior tibial nerve: the action potential travels through the fasciculus gracilis to the nucleus gracilis, then second-order neurons decussate, travel through the contralateral medial lemniscus and terminate in the VPL nucleus of the thalamus. As previously described, third-order neurons project to the somatosensory area and parietal association fields, and are processed by scalp leads. Scalp leads are placed at CP3 and CP4 with a forehead reference (Fpz or Fz). The parameters monitored are the SSEP amplitude and the latency, which refers to the transit time from the point of stimulation along the peripheral nerve to the cortex. Baseline values are recorded prior to incision, before dural opening and at the beginning of intradural manipulation. A standard protocol then has to be used for decision making in the event of a decrease in SSEP amplitude >50% and/or a latency delay >10%.

Motor evoked potential monitoring is used to assess the integrity of motor pathways. These can be assessed with two modalities. Muscle MEPs are recorded via couples of needle electrodes, 2–3 cm apart, inserted into upper and lower-extremity muscles, following activation of the corticospinal (CST) motor tract, as well as other descending motor tracts such as the propriospinal or the rubrospinal pathways, via transcranial electrical stimulation (TES). Muscle MEPs are not specific to the CST. Conversely, D-wave monitoring permits specific evaluation of the fast-conducting fibres of the CST. TES of the motor cortex is usually applied using corkscrew electrodes, which guarantee low impedance [5]. In our daily practice we use short trains of 5–7 square-wave stimuli

of 0.5 ms duration and an interstimulus interval of 4 ms. delivered at a repetition rate of up to 2 Hz through corkscrew electrodes placed at the C1 and C2 scalp sites, according to the 10-20 EEG system for electrode placement. A C1-C2 montage preferentially elicits right-extremity mMEPs, whereas a C2-C1 montage favours left-extremity mMEPs. For monitoring of lower-extremity muscles, sometimes a Cz-Fz montage is preferred, producing less intense muscle twitching. The stimulation intensity usually does not exceed 200 mA. We usually monitor mMEPs from the abductor pollicis brevis and the extensor digitorum longus for the arm and from the tibialis anterior and the abductor hallucis for the leg. Muscle MEP amplitude and latency should be evaluated in comparison with baseline values and through a standard step-by-step protocol to exclude anaesthetic or technical abnormalities. Complete loss of mMEPs correlates with permanent paresis; no change in mMEPs usually predicts a good motor outcome from an early stage after surgery. However, because of their polysynaptic pathway, mMEPs are very sensitive to the effects of anaesthesia. Therefore, even when muscle relaxants are not given, wide variations in mMEP amplitude and latency can be observed, and this variability explains the lack of a linear correlation between intraoperative changes in mMEP amplitude and/or latency, and the motor outcome [6].

D-wave monitoring permits direct evaluation of the integrity of the CST along the spinal cord. A single TES stimulus is applied, using the same montage as for mMEPs, and the D-wave is recorded by an electrode placed in the epidural or subdural space of the spinal canal, caudal to the lesion. Signals are amplified 10,000 times, and the bandwidth is amplified from 1.5 Hz to 1700 Hz. Baseline D-waves are recorded after exposure of the spinal cord. According to the literature, a decrease of more than 50% of the baseline amplitude is considered significant and is related to long-lasting neurological deficits, whereas decrements of the D-wave amplitude between 30% and 50% of the baseline are considered minor warning signs [7]. The D-wave has proven to be the strongest predictor of long-term motor outcome, and its preservation above 50% of the baseline amplitude typically correlates with only a transient deficit. Therefore, with regard to intramedullary spinal cord tumour surgery, in consideration of the wide variability in mMEP amplitude, whenever the D-wave is monitorable, we use an 'all or nothing' criterion for mMEPs. However, this criterion should not be applied to other spinal procedures and scenarios when the D-wave is not monitorable, because motor deficits can occur in the presence of a significant amplitude drop. In general it is advisable to inform the surgeon of any 'significant' (50-75%) drop in mMEP amplitude [7–9].

Lower cranial nerve monitoring assesses the functional integrity of the IX, X, XI and XII cranial nerves. For recording, needle or wire electrodes are inserted into the following

muscles: the posterior wall of the pharvnx (IX–X), the vocal cords or cricothyroid muscle (X), the trapezius (XI) and the tongue (XII). Monitoring of lower cranial nerves can be performed by means of free-running electromyography (EMG) with identification of different discharge patterns, related to either irritative or injury activity [10]; the triggered EMG mapping technique can also be used during surgery. However, the interpretation and value of free-running EMG for the lower cranial nerves have been rather disappointing, as both false positive and false negative results are possible [11]. Therefore, to improve the reliability of cranial nerve monitoring, the principles of mMEP monitoring for limb muscles have been extended to monitoring of muscles that are innervated by cranial motor nerves. Muscle MEPs are recorded, after TES, by wire electrodes inserted into the muscles innervated by the lower motor cranial nerves. The main advantage of this technique is that the functional integrity of the corticobulbar tracts is assessed continuously from the motor cortex down to the neuromuscular junction. A reproducible mMEP can be continuously recorded from the pharyngeal and tongue muscles while the lower brainstem is being surgically manipulated. In our department, we use TES with a train of four stimuli at a rate of 1-2 Hz and an intensity of 50-150 mA. The electrode montage is usually C3-Cz for right-side muscles and C4-Cz for left-side muscles. Additional details on this technique have been described elsewhere [12].

Anaesthesia Protocol

IONM can be deeply influenced by the nature and depth of anaesthesia. Halogenated anaesthetics elevate the synaptic threshold for activation and transmission through the motor pathways, thus affecting the reliability of mMEPs. The recommended regimen for general anaesthesia is based on the total intravenous anaesthesia, which is based on the use of propofol and opioids in continued infusion. The use of muscle relaxants should be limited to the induction of general anaesthesia because of their ability to abolish mMEPs. Conversely, D-wave monitoring is not affected by muscle relaxation and, in general, is very little affected by anaesthesia because of its monosynaptic pathway.

Discussion

CVJ surgery is highly demanding because of the eloquence of the regions involved and the bony–ligamentous complexity. The multiplicity of risky steps and the evolution of surgical techniques have rapidly increased the need for IONM to avoid iatrogenic injury during surgery. The risk of new neurological injury or worsening of previous deficits during CVJ surgery is related to two principal steps: the positioning of the patient and the surgical procedure itself.

During the positioning of the patient, various degrees of flexion or extension of the cervical spine are related to changes in the spinal canal and thus also the potential risk of neurological injury. During surgery for degenerative cervical spondylosis, changes in SSEPs [13] and mMEPs [14] have been reported in relation to the position of the cervical spine. Plata Bello et al. reported that IONM changes were more common during positioning than during surgery. The warning criteria were an amplitude reduction of more than 50% and/or a latency increase of more than 10% on SSEP monitoring. On mMEP monitoring, an amplitude reduction of more than 80% and/or a latency increase of more than 10%, uni- or bilaterally, were considered significant. IONM changes were recorded in five patients, all during positioning. There was complete mMEP loss in all five patients and in two cases it was associated with SSEP loss; restoration of baseline IONM values after repositioning was achieved in all but one patient. This latter case showed a transient tetraparesis, which disappeared within 2 weeks after surgery. The other four patients did not show any postoperative deficits [15]. This report may further explain the presence of 'false negative' results reported in other surgical series, which were probably related to the fact that at the beginning of the surgical procedure, neurological injuries were already present, having been induced by the patient positioning [16, 17]. It should also be considered that surgical access to the CVJ sometimes requires moderate traction on the shoulders to achieve adequate visualization of the region; however, traction on the shoulders has been related to SSEP changes during surgery for cervical myelopathy [1]. Labrom et al. [18] reported an ulnar nerve SSEP amplitude decrease greater than 30% in 27 patients prior to scoliosis surgery in the prone position; clinically identifiable brachial plexus palsy occurred in only one case, in which all attempts to regain electrical function by repositioning failed. Furthermore, Schwartz et al. [19] reported impending injury to the brachial plexus as the most frequent cause of SSEP and/or mMEP changes in patients undergoing anterior cervical spine surgery in the supine position: 65% of the patients with neuromonitoring changes (1.1% of a total of 3806 patients) showed position-induced injury to the brachial plexus. Impending brachial nerve injury was most commonly noted immediately following shoulder taping; neck extension for optimal surgical access was the second most frequent cause. The American Society of Anesthesiology has identified male sex as a prominent risk factor for position-related nerve injuries; other patient characteristics that have been reported to carry a greater risk of position-related injury include obesity, preexisting spinal cord disease and diabetes mellitus [20].

CVJ malformation requires instrumented surgery to restore the normal realignment of the bony-ligamentous structure and thus enlarge the spinal canal. In most cases, the main principle of the surgical procedure is distraction to make the odontoid process move away from the CVJ [21]. The surgical approaches and techniques used to accomplish the target are various but are mainly represented by transoral decompression followed by posterior fusion, and posterior decompression and fusion. Kim et al. [22] investigated the role of distraction during surgery for congenital CVJ anomalies with the aid of SSEP and mMEP monitoring; the reported warning criteria were more than a 50% decrease in amplitude or more than a 10% increase in latency (in comparison with the baseline values) for SSEP, and disappearance of the wave for mMEP monitoring. Two patients experienced significant changes in mMEPs during distraction, with subsequent normalization of the potentials after the release of the tension; these two patients also presented with Klippel-Feil syndrome (KFS). The authors stated that there was no univocal relationship between the length of the distraction and the risk of a new postoperative neurological deficit; conversely, the preoperative condition of the spinal cord (e.g. the presence of syringomyelia or oedema) could influence its sensitivity to external manipulations. Patients with KFS may be at higher risk of spinal cord injury because of a narrower spinal canal, hypermobility and an anomalous course of the vertebral artery, in comparison with non-syndromic patients with atlantoaxial dislocation [23]. Overstretching of the spinal cord and the related decrease in blood perfusion are potential causes of neurological injury [24].

During surgery for CVJ malformation, especially basilar invagination, the presence of Chiari malformation type I (CM) is a frequent feature (37-94%), which develops because of progressive herniation of the odontoid process into the posterior fossa, forcing the tonsils into the spinal canal [21]. Apart from CVJ anomalies, surgery for CM itself is considered to be low risk, and there have been few reports of application of IONM in this context. Danto et al. [25] reported that significant SSEP changes (>10% latency prolongation and/or >50% amplitude reduction) occurred in 32% of 500 patients operated on for CM over a 2-year span at the Chiari Institute. Notably, 75% of these changes were related to positioning and 80% of these patients were repositioned following neurophysiological alerts. Such a high incidence of position-related neurophysiological changes was likely due to a unique pattern of patient referral to that institution, including very complex malformations of the craniocervical junction and/or second-look surgeries.

In general, surgery for CM carries a very low risk of neurological injury, to the point that reports of positive IONM findings are merely anecdotal in the literature [26, 27]. Conversely, IONM has played a part in investigating the role of different surgical steps (bony versus dural decompression) in achieving decompression of the lower brainstem (Fig. 1). Some studies [27, 28] have suggested that the most effective improvements in SSEPs and brainstem auditory evoked potentials (BAEPs) are achieved following bony decompression rather than following opening of the dura. Although there is no evidence that these electrophysiological findings have clinical relevance, it is conceivable that a more conservative approach with bony decompression and dural 'tearing' alone, as is common practice in paediatric neurosurgery, still effective in achieving may be brainstem decompression.

More recently, the role of IONM in the positioning of paediatric patients with CM for foramen magnum decompression has been highlighted by Barzilai et al. [29], who reported three cases of position-related attenuation of potentials (SSEPs and mMEPs) without any postoperative deficit. Finally, Skinner described use of accessory nerve (cranial nerve XI) motor evoked potential monitoring during CVJ surgery to augment the sensitivity to spinal cord injury, especially at the level of the C1–C5 ventral horn columns [30].

Tumours at the level of the CVJ include extramedullary tumours (meningiomas, schwannomas, chordomas) and intramedullary tumours. In lesions located within the brainstem or in its vicinity, the roles of BAEPs [31] and mapping of cranial nerve function have proven useful [32]. More recently, monitoring of corticobulbar function with corticobulbar motor evoked potentials was introduced and has proven reliable with regard to neurological outcomes in cerebellopontine angle surgery [33]. Kodama et al. recently reviewed the intraoperative course of long-tract monitoring during infratentorial surgery to evaluate the correlation of mMEP and SEP changes with the clinical outcome, and pointed out that long-tract mMEP and SEP behaviour follows the 'all or nothing' criterion applied to intramedullary spinal cord procedures and is therefore different from the scenario in supratentorial surgery, where minor changes such as an increase in the motor threshold or an amplitude decrement can be followed by long-lasting neurological sequelae. The negative predictive value in their series was very high (0.989), demonstrating the efficacy of long-tract monitoring to predict the postoperative outcome. Conversely, the positive predictive value was 0.467; the authors stated that this might have been explained by the fact that they did not distinguish between permanent and transient alterations in monitoring [34]. In the same study the authors reported a 35% incidence of mMEP and SEP deterioration during posterior fossa surgery, and they pointed out that the risk of such deterioration occurs mainly at the final stage of tumour removal; at this point the higher risk is due to manoeuvres around the brainstem and to the manipulation of perforating vessels. Thus, brainstem ischaemia and vascular damage are the main putative causes of mMEP deterioration during surgery around the lower brainstem [35].



Fig. 1 An 18-year-old woman presented with a long history of headache exacerbated by Valsalva manoeuvres and four-limb paraesthesia. *Upper panels:* Preoperative magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (**a**) showed a typical Chiari malformation type I with tonsillar herniation >5 mm inferior to the foramen magnum. The patient underwent foramen magnum decompression and duroplasty; postoperative MRI (**b**) showed the results of surgery with enlargement of the cisterna magna and foramen magnum decompression (*white arrowhead*). *Lower pan*-

One of the most challenging surgical procedures at the level of the CVJ is surgery for cervicomedullary tumours. True cervicomedullary tumours, per se, behave like true intramedullary spinal cord tumours (ISCTs) and tend to displace the lower cranial nerve nuclei upward. In these cases, surgery should proceed as for a classical ISCT. The tumour is approached through the dorsal longitudinal raphe, initially focusing on SSEPs. As soon as the dorsal column has been displaced laterally and the tumour is exposed, mMEPs and D-wave monitoring becomes critical. At this stage, surgery should proceed in a stop-and-go fashion, based on the neurophysiological feedback, and according to the warning criteria described in Table 1. Whenever the mMEPs and/or the D-wave decrease in amplitude, corrective measures should be taken, which are summarized by the acronym 'TIP': 'T' stands for 'time', 'I' stands for 'irrigation' and 'P' stands for 'blood pressure' or 'papaverine' (Table 2).

The time variable is a critical one. We have consistently observed that if surgery is transiently stopped immediately after mMEPs have disappeared or the D-wave has significantly deteriorated, these potentials often spontaneously

els: Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring of left median nerve somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs) (*upper four traces*) and right median nerve SSEPs (*lower four traces*) during the stages of surgery: at the beginning of the procedure, following craniectomy and foramen decompression, after dural opening and at closure. There is a progressive reduction in both the left and median nerve SSEP latency following each step of decompression, suggesting an improvement in conduction velocity through the lemniscal pathway

recover. Conversely, to ignore these events and continue any cord manipulation may transform a reversible injury into an irreversible one. IONM allows us to tailor the surgical strategy to the spinal cord's level of tolerance of surgical manipulation (traction, compression, coagulation, etc.) during the procedure.

With regard to irrigation, while the mechanism behind the beneficial effect of warm irrigation of the surgical field has not yet been explained, it is a common observation that this facilitates evoked potential recovery. A possible explanation is that irrigation affects the washout and dilution of extracel-

Table 1 Motor evoked potential (MEP) interpretation during surgery for intramedullary spinal cord tumours

D-wave	Muscle MEPs	Motor outcome
Unchanged or decreased by 30–50%	Preserved	Unchanged
Unchanged or decreased by 30–50%	Lost unilaterally or bilaterally	Transient motor deficit
Decreased by >50%		Long-term motor deficit

D-wave	Muscle MEPs	Corrective measures	Predicted outcome
Unchanged	Present	None	Unchanged
Unchanged or above 50%	Present with minor changes (decreased amplitude)	Transiently move surgical manipulation to a different area and apply warm irrigation (37 °C)	Unchanged
Unchanged or above 50%	Lost unilaterally or bilaterally	Transiently move surgical manipulation to a different area and apply warm irrigation (37 °C), then transiently stop the surgery and/or improve spinal cord blood flow (using local irrigation with papaverine, slight hypertension). If the MEPs do not recover, surgery can still proceed, since the D-wave is preserved	Transient motor deficit (affecting the involved extremity)
Decreased by >50%	Lost bilaterally	Stop surgery immediately. If the D-wave does not recover, abandon the surgery	Permanent motor deficit
Unmonitorable	Lost bilaterally	Transiently move surgical manipulation to a different area and apply warm irrigation (37 °C), then transiently stop the surgery and/or improve spinal cord blood flow (using local irrigation with papaverine, slight hypertension). If the MEPs do not recover, abandon the surgery	Inability to differentiate between transient and permanent deficit

 Table 2
 Intraoperative management of motor evoked potential (MEP) changes during intramedullary spinal cord surgery (from [4])

lular potassium, which may accumulate with the disruption of cell membranes and as a result of depolarization [36, 37]—or, more simply, the effect of the higher temperature may be beneficial to evoked potential recovery.

Local application of papaverine and an increase in the mean arterial pressure are both methods used to improve local perfusion to counteract incipient ischaemia. Sometimes, mMEPs are dramatically correlated with blood pressure values, and sustained hypotension may affect mMEPs and unfavourably affect the outcome [38].

Much care should be taken during the last part of the surgery when the tumour is devascularized from the perforating branches of the anterior spinal artery axis. It is of paramount importance to avoid any coagulation in these vessels and to keep both the mMEPs and D-wave under continuous monitoring.

Corticospinal MEP monitoring (D-wave) during intramedullary tumour surgery provides the most reliable information about the functional integrity of the CST and demonstrates a clear relationship between intraoperative modification and postoperative outcome (Figs. 2, 3, 4, and 5) [6]. The combined use of D-wave and mMEPs may be the most specific and sensitive measure of motor tract integrity during ISCT resection [39], but careful analysis of intraoperative data is needed [7]. Sudden disappearance of both the D-wave and mMEPs is rare and is likely related to a vascular insult caused by bipolar coagulation. D-wave deterioration is usually gradual and thus permits to take corrective measures. Disappearance of mMEPs usually precedes changes in the D-wave, although the D-wave may remain stable or may drop insignificantly despite complete mMEP loss. It should be stressed that these presence and absence criteria for mMEPs should be applied only to spinal cord surgery, not to supratentorial surgery, in which permanent and even transient alterations in mMEPs may result in permanent new deficits [40]. When judging mMEP loss, it should be taken into consideration that the specificity of mMEP monitoring and therefore its predictive value increase with the number of muscles that are monitored [4]. SSEP monitoring in ISCT surgery has proven useful. Kearse et al. [41] prospectively evaluated the relation between intraoperative SSEP changes and clinical outcome, and concluded that deficits were always predicted by SSEP changes; however, a high rate of false positive results was observed. Nevertheless, preservation of SSEPs during ISCT surgery facilitates postoperative functional sensorimotor integration [4]. Although our historical control study on the value of IONM in spinal cord tumour surgery did not focus solely on cervicomedullary tumours, it suggested that the outcome was improved in the monitored patient group as compared with the non-monitored group [4], and there is a broad consensus on the use of IONM as a standard of care for ISCTs [42].

Unlike cervicomedullary spinal cord tumours, true intrinsic, focal medullary tumours tend to displace the lower cranial nerve nuclei ventrally rather than upward [32]. Therefore, it is valuable to perform neurophysiological mapping of the obex to localize the nuclei and the intramedullary roots of the lower cranial motor nerves IX–XII. To do so, a handheld monopolar (or bipolar concentric) stimulating probe can be used. A single stimulus of 0.2-ms duration is delivered at a repetitive rate of 1–2 Hz. By moving the tip of the stimulator 1 mm away, it is then possible to explore the floor of the fourth ventricle and identify the areas with the lowest threshold (which is the one closer to either the nucleus or the



Fig. 2 A 46-year-old woman presented with an 8-month history of bilateral numbness in the inferior limbs. *Upper panels:* Preoperative magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showed a D1–D2 intramedullary spinal cord tumour with cystic components above and below the tumour (**a**), and homogeneous enhancement by contrast medium

(b). Lower panels: Postoperative MRI 2 months after surgery showed complete removal of the tumour and a reduction in the sizes of the satellite cysts (c, d); a small pseudomeningocele developed after surgery and disappeared a few months later without further intervention



Fig. 3 (a) Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IONM) of tibialis anterior and abductor hallucis motor evoked potentials (MEPs) during different stages of surgery. Disappearance of the right tibialis anterior (RT) MEP was reported, and it did not recover despite corrective measures (a transient halt in the surgery, warm irrigation, moderate hypertension); later on, the right abductor hallucis (AR) MEP also disappeared but partially recovered at the end of surgery. (b) RT MEPs (*first two traces*) and left tibialis anterior (LT) MEPs (*third and fourth traces*) at opening and closing, showing loss of the RT MEP. (c) Somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs) of the right posterior tibial

nerve (RPTN) (*first two traces on the left*) and left posterior tibial nerve (LPTN) (*last two traces on the right*), showing a bilateral drop in amplitude at the end of the surgery, likely related to the incision of the dorsal median raphe. (**d**) D-wave monitoring with catheter electrodes placed both rostrally (*upper two traces*) and caudally to the lesion (*lower three traces*) during the different stages of surgery; the distal D-wave did not present any relevant amplitude change during surgery. The patient experienced transient paresis of the right inferior limb and gradually recovered within 3 weeks after the surgery; the stability of the D-wave, despite the loss of the RT MEP, was predictive of motor recovery

intramedullary root of the nerve) and with the highest threshold or no response at all. These latter areas are likely to be the safer entry zones, as the nuclei or tracts are far from the tip of the stimulator. To avoid any cardiovascular derangement, no stimulation intensity higher than 2 mA should be used at the level of the medulla. To record the responses from cranial motor nerves IX/X and XII, wire electrodes are inserted into the innervated muscles.

With regard to glial tumours of the medulla, these are usually focal, low-grade astrocytomas, especially in children, and there is no reason to be aggressive from a surgical standpoint, as violation of the ependymal layer with an injury to the underlying nuclei may expose the patient to unacceptable morbidity in terms of dysphagia, loss of the coughing reflex and other life-threatening conditions. With this in mind, however, most tumours in this region can be surgically resected with good results following appropriate perioperative management (airway and respiratory function). Furthermore, in well-demarcated tumours the extent of surgical resection clearly correlates with the long-term outcome; radiation therapy as a primary modality of treatment is inappropriate in such conditions, thus elevating surgery to the main treatment modality. Conversely, surgical treatment of diffusely infiltrative or malignant tumours offers little benefit and should be discouraged [43].



Fig. 4 A 10-year-old boy presented with a short history of neck pain, which progressively worsened. *Upper panels:* (\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{b}) Spinal magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) revealed a large cervicomedullary spinal cord tumour extending from the medulla to C7, with heterogeneous

enhancement and with cystic components. At surgery, both lower cranial nerves and upper- and lower-extremity muscle motor evoked potentials (mMEPs) were monitored. Postoperative MRI documented total tumour removal (*lower panels*; (c, d))



Fig. 5 During surgery, muscle motor evoked potentials (MEPs) from both left- and right-side muscles progressively decreased in amplitude. The worsening was more marked on the right side. The surgery was repeatedly halted to allow for muscle MEP recovery, and the usual corrective measures were taken (warm irrigation, mild hypertension). Despite the pauses and corrective measures, at the end of the surgery a small response was still present for all left-side muscles except for the tibialis anterior (LT) response (**a**), while all right-side muscle MEPs were lost except for the abductor hallucis (AR) MEP (**b**). Nevertheless, D-wave monitoring remained stable throughout the procedure and the amplitude never

Conclusion

Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IONM) is a valuable aid for craniovertebral junction (CVJ) surgery and permits safer surgical management. Application of IONM during positioning, especially in patients with an unstable CVJ, reduces the risk of presurgical neurological injury, and continuous monitoring during surgery provides data on the functional status of the tracts during intramedullary surgery and during instrumented surgery for CVJ instability.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

decreased by more than 20–30%. So, in consideration of the D-wave stability, the decision was made to carry on with the surgery (c). Postoperatively the child experienced tetraparesis, which was initially severe on the right side, but at 3-month follow-up he was able to walk independently (McCormick grade II) and he made a full recovery within about 9 months. Cranial nerve muscle MEPs (not shown) also showed various fluctuations during the surgery and an amplitude drop of about 50% at the end of the surgery. The child experienced a transient swallowing problem early after surgery but did not require a tracheostomy or a gastrostomy, and this problem completely resolved within about 1.5 months

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

References

- Bose B, Sestokas AK, Schwartz DM. Neurophysiological monitoring of spinal cord function during instrumented anterior cervical fusion. Spine J. 2004;4:202–7.
- Jahangiri FR, Holmberg A, Vega-Bermudez F, Arlet V. Preventing position-related brachial plexus injury with intraoperative somatosensory evoked potentials and transcranial electrical motor evoked potentials during anterior cervical spine surgery. Am J Electroneurodiagnostic Technol. 2011;51:198–205.

- Hilibrand AS, Schwartz DM, Sethuraman V, Vaccaro AR, Albert TJ. Comparison of transcranial electric motor and somatosensory evoked potential monitoring during cervical spine surgery. J Bone Joint Surgery Am. 2004;86-A:1248–53.
- Sala F, Palandri G, Basso E, Lanteri P, Deletis V, Faccioli F, Bricolo A. Motor evoked potential monitoring improves outcome after surgery for intramedullary spinal cord tumors: a historical control study. Neurosurgery. 2006;58:1129–43. discussion 1129–1143.
- Journee HL, Polak HE, de Kleuver M. Influence of electrode impedance on threshold voltage for transcranial electrical stimulation in motor evoked potential monitoring. Med Biol Eng Comput. 2004;42:557–61.
- Sala F, Bricolo A, Faccioli F, Lanteri P, Gerosa M. Surgery for intramedullary spinal cord tumors: the role of intraoperative (neurophysiological) monitoring. Eur Spine J. 2007;16(Suppl 2):S130–9.
- Macdonald DB, Skinner S, Shils J, Yingling C. Intraoperative motor evoked potential monitoring – a position statement by the American Society of Neurophysiological Monitoring. Clin Neurophysiol. 2013;124:2291–316.
- Burke D, Nuwer MR, Daube J, Fischer C, Schramm J, Yingling CD, Jones SJ. Intraoperative monitoring. The International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1999;52(Suppl):133–48.
- Pelosi L, Lamb J, Grevitt M, Mehdian SM, Webb JK, Blumhardt LD. Combined monitoring of motor and somatosensory evoked potentials in orthopaedic spinal surgery. Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;113:1082–91.
- Eisner W, Schmid UD, Reulen HJ, Oeckler R, Olteanu-Nerbe V, Gall C, Kothbauer K. The mapping and continuous monitoring of the intrinsic motor nuclei during brain stem surgery. Neurosurgery. 1995;37:255–65.
- Schlake HP, Goldbrunner RH, Milewski C, Krauss J, Trautner H, Behr R, Sorensen N, Helms J, Roosen K. Intra-operative electromyographic monitoring of the lower cranial motor nerves (LCN IX–XII) in skull base surgery. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2001;103:72–82.
- Sala F, Lanteri P, Bricolo A. Motor evoked potential monitoring for spinal cord and brain stem surgery. Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg. 2004;29:133–69.
- Morishita Y, Maeda T, Ueta T, Naito M, Shiba K. Dynamic somatosensory evoked potentials to determine electrophysiological effects on the spinal cord during cervical spine extension: clinical article. J Neurosurg Spine. 2013;19:288–92.
- Heidegger T, Ziemann U. Prolongation of central motor conduction time by neck extension in compressive cervical myelopathy. Clin Neurophysiol. 2011;122:1891–3.
- Plata Bello J, Perez-Lorensu PJ, Roldan-Delgado H, Brage L, Rocha V, Hernandez-Hernandez V, Doniz A, Garcia-Marin V. Role of multimodal intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring during positioning of patient prior to cervical spine surgery. Clin Neurophysiol. 2015;126:1264–70.
- Eggspuehler A, Sutter MA, Grob D, Jeszenszky D, Porchet F, Dvorak J. Multimodal intraoperative monitoring (MIOM) during cervical spine surgical procedures in 246 patients. Eur Spine J. 2007;16(Suppl 2):S209–15.
- Sutter M, Eggspuehler A, Grob D, Jeszenszky D, Benini A, Porchet F, Mueller A, Dvorak J. The diagnostic value of multimodal intraoperative monitoring (MIOM) during spine surgery: a prospective study of 1,017 patients. Eur Spine J. 2007;16(Suppl 2):S162–70.
- Labrom RD, Hoskins M, Reilly CW, Tredwell SJ, Wong PK. Clinical usefulness of somatosensory evoked potentials for detection of brachial plexopathy secondary to malpositioning in scoliosis surgery. Spine. 2005;30:2089–93.
- Schwartz DM, Sestokas AK, Hilibrand AS, Vaccaro AR, Bose B, Li M, Albert TJ. Neurophysiological identification of position-

induced neurologic injury during anterior cervical spine surgery. J Clin Monit Comput. 2006;20:437–44.

- 20. American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Prevention of Perioperative Peripheral Neuropathies. Practice advisory for the prevention of perioperative peripheral neuropathies: an updated report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Prevention of Perioperative Peripheral Neuropathies. Anesthesiology. 2011;114:741–54.
- 21. Klekamp J. Treatment of basilar invagination. Eur Spine J. 2014;23:1656–65.
- Kim CH, Hong JT, Chung CK, Kim JY, Kim SM, Lee KW. Intraoperative electrophysiological monitoring during posterior craniocervical distraction and realignment for congenital craniocervical anomaly. Eur Spine J. 2015;24:671–8.
- Ogihara N, Takahashi J, Hirabayashi H, Mukaiyama K, Kato H. Surgical treatment of Klippel–Feil syndrome with basilar invagination. Eur Spine J. 2013;22(Suppl 3):S380–7.
- Dolan EJ, Transfeldt EE, Tator CH, Simmons EH, Hughes KF. The effect of spinal distraction on regional spinal cord blood flow in cats. J Neurosurg. 1980;53:756–64.
- 25. Danto JMT, Hertzberg H, Bolognese P, Conlon J, Korn A. The neurophysiological intraoperative monitoring of Chiari malformation surgery. Rivista Medica. 2006;12:51–4.
- Anderson RC, Dowling KC, Feldstein NA, Emerson RG. Chiari I malformation: potential role for intraoperative electrophysiologic monitoring. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2003;20:65–72.
- Zamel K, Galloway G, Kosnik EJ, Raslan M, Adeli A. Intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring in 80 patients with Chiari I malformation: role of duraplasty. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2009;26:70–5.
- Anderson RC, Emerson RG, Dowling KC, Feldstein NA. Improvement in brainstem auditory evoked potentials after suboccipital decompression in patients with Chiari I malformations. J Neurosurg. 2003;98:459–64.
- Barzilai O, Roth J, Korn A, Constantini S. The value of multimodality intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in treating pediatric Chiari malformation type I. Acta Neurochir. 2016;158:335–40.
- Skinner SA. Neurophysiologic monitoring of the spinal accessory nerve, hypoglossal nerve, and the spinomedullary region. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2011;28:587–98.
- Legatt AD. Mechanisms of intraoperative brainstem auditory evoked potential changes. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;19:396–408.
- Morota N, Deletis V, Lee M, Epstein FJ. Functional anatomic relationship between brain-stem tumors and cranial motor nuclei. Neurosurgery. 1996;39:787–93. discussion 793–784.
- Matthies C, Raslan F, Schweitzer T, Hagen R, Roosen K, Reiners K. Facial motor evoked potentials in cerebellopontine angle surgery: technique, pitfalls and predictive value. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2011;113:872–9.
- Kodama K, Javadi M, Seifert V, Szelenyi A. Conjunct SEP and MEP monitoring in resection of infratentorial lesions: lessons learned in a cohort of 210 patients. J Neurosurg. 2014;121:1453–61.
- Neuloh G, Bogucki J, Schramm J. Intraoperative preservation of corticospinal function in the brainstem. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2009;80:417–22.
- Young W, Koreh I. Potassium and calcium changes in injured spinal cords. Brain Res. 1986;365:42–53.
- Young W, Rosenbluth J, Wojak JC, Sakatani K, Kim H. Extracellular potassium activity and axonal conduction in spinal cord of the myelin-deficient mutant rat. Exp Neurol. 1989;106:41–51.
- Sala F, Niimi Y, Krzan MJ, Berenstein A, Deletis V. Embolization of a spinal arteriovenous malformation: correlation between motor evoked potentials and angiographic findings: technical case report. Neurosurgery. 1999;45:932–7. discussion 937–938.
- Kothbauer KF, Deletis V, Epstein FJ. Motor-evoked potential monitoring for intramedullary spinal cord tumor surgery: correlation of

clinical and neurophysiological data in a series of 100 consecutive procedures. Neurosurg Focus. 1998;4:e1.

- Neuloh G, Pechstein U, Cedzich C, Schramm J. Motor evoked potential monitoring with supratentorial surgery. Neurosurgery. 2004;54:1061–70. discussion 1070–1062.
- Kearse LA Jr, Lopez-Bresnahan M, McPeck K, Tambe V. Loss of somatosensory evoked potentials during intramedullary spinal cord surgery predicts postoperative neurologic deficits in motor function [corrected]. J Clin Anesth. 1993;5:392–8.
- 42. Jallo GI, Kothbauer KF, Epstein FJ. Intrinsic spinal cord tumor resection. Neurosurgery. 2001;49:1124–8.
- 43. Lustgarten J, McCormick P. Management of intramedullary lesions of the cervicomedullary junction and high cervical spinal cord. In: Bambakidis NC, Spetzler RF, Sonntag VKH, editors. Surgery of the craniovertebral junction (II ed). Stuttgart: Thieme Medical Publishers; 2013. p. 181–92.

Management of Anaesthesia

Federica Tosi, Orazio Genovese, Tamara Jovanovic, and Massimiliano Visocchi

Check for updates

Abstract Surgical treatment of the craniovertebral junction (CVJ) requires excellent management by the anaesthetist. Patients undergoing this type of surgery have a wide range of concomitant diseases. Therefore, before proceeding to CVJ surgery, it is recommended to analyse the clinical aspects of the patient that could complicate the outcome of the surgical procedure.

In this paper we aim to establish what constitutes the best surgical and anaesthesia management of these patients. We consider airway management, trying to identify the gold standard for the patient. We also consider the most appropriate intraoperative approach to guarantee the best management of the patient.

Introduction

Anaesthesia and intensive care for the treatment of craniovertebral junction (CVJ) anomalies are difficult. The anaesthetist has to deal with different kinds of pathological conditions ranging from neurosurgical and vascular malformations to acquired disorders (traumas, infections, tumours and metabolic disorders) and congenital bone lesions (Table 1). During childhood the main pathological conditions are congenital. Adult patients present mainly for surgery with one of four pathologies: trauma, infections, congenital lesions or degenerative lesions. The most important factor to consider is the patient's age, since the surgical procedure exposes the patient to potential blood loss. Other important factors to be considered are the extent of the surgical procedure, especially if it involves

F. Tosi (🖂) · O. Genovese · T. Jovanovic

Institute of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, Catholic University of Rome, Rome, Italy

M. Visocchi Institute of Neurosurgery, Catholic University of Rome, Rome, Italy

 Table 1
 American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) physical status classification system

Classification	Definition
ASA I	A normal healthy patient
ASA II	A patient with mild systemic disease
ASA III	A patient with severe systemic disease
ASA IV	A patient with severe systemic disease that is a constant threat to life
ASA V	A moribund patient who is not expected to survive without the operation
ASA VI	A declared brain-dead patient whose organs are being removed for donor purposes

multiple levels; the position of the patient on the table (for example, prone); and the necessity for a combined approach, both anterior and posterior. The intubation manoeuvre and the position of the patient are made dangerous by the presence of an anomaly in the cervical spinal cord and atlantoaxial instability. Kyphoscoliosis can lead to pulmonary and corpulonal hypertension may be the consequence of kyphoscoliosis. In many cases, patients are subjected to repeated interventions with repeated risks related to multiple anaesthesia. Therefore, in this type of surgery, a comprehensive approach to patients is recommended, including complete metabolic, neurophysiological and cardiorespiratory assessment.

Preoperative Anaesthesia Assessment

A general assessment of the patient's physical state is done using the classification system established by the American Society of Anaesthesiologists (Table 1), which considers the patient's physical state regardless of the surgical event he will undergo and the possible coexistence of malformations or physiological problems associated with pathogenic conditions that need to be dealt with. Anaesthetists should also not underestimate the importance of the patient's psychological background, especially in patients whose interventions are being repeated over and over again.

Intubation Versus Tracheostomy

Whether intubation or tracheotomy is the best choice for optimal airway management is agreed between the anaesthetist and the surgeon. This decision must be made considering, first of all, anatomical characteristics that could limit the intubation manoeuvres and/or an in-depth evaluation of the risk of execution of the surgical procedure itself, as well as the risk of upper airway oedema as a dangerous postoperative complication.

A careful assessment should be made to identify previous difficult intubation, restriction of neck movement or instability of the cervical spine.

The stability of the spine must be checked preoperatively with both clinical assessments (of both pain and neurological deficit) and computed tomography (CT) scanning of the vertebral column.

For this goal, either plain lateral films or CT scans of the spine are useful. For example, above-C2 unstable injuries include a Jefferson burst fracture, lesions of the transverse atlas ligament, condylar fractures, and lesions of the alar and tectorial ligaments [1].

During preoperative assessment the anaesthetist must decide whether to awake intubate the patient or not.

Indications for awake intubation include the presence of a full stomach (as can happen in an emergency setting), the necessity to evaluate the neurological status after intubation in the presence of spine instability or the presence of a neck stabilization device such as a halo device. Direct laryngos-copy can contribute to vocal cord injury, but, if team members help each other with manual stabilization of the head, it is considered an accepted means of intubation provided that one can ensure absence of neck movement. A further aspect to be taken into account is the choice between an anterior or posterior surgical approach [2, 3].

Micrognathy, mandibular hypoplasia and macroglossia are the main causes of difficult intubation as the mobility of the soft palate during laryngoscopy is made difficult because the space between the hyoid bone and the jaw is limited. Goldenhar syndrome and Klippel-Feil syndrome are characterized by difficult intubation due to hypomotility between the cervical vertebrae and the atlanto-occipital joint. Compression of the cervical cord requires a clinical examination and an accurate patient history [4, 5]. In mucopolysaccharidosis type IV (i.e. Morquio syndrome), choosing orotracheal intubation with a laryngoscope can expose the anaesthetist to major problems with airway management given the macroglossia and the reduction in the ventilatory space. Difficulty in airway management pertains to masked ventilation and/or laryngoscopy and/or tracheal tube placement.

There are some evaluation scales that can be used to try to prevent difficulty in managing the airway. The Mallampati classification, which is based on anatomical structures when the patient opens his mouth (Table 2), is one of these. A

Table 2



The Mallampati Score
Mallampati score of III or IV may be suggestive of a potentially difficult intubation or ventilation [6]. In addition to the Mallampati test, there is also the upper lip bite test (ULBT), which is used to evaluate the airway in older children (Table 3). A higher ULBT classification may be predictive of difficulty in managing the airway [7]. During laryngoscopy, we use the Cormack and Lehane classification (Table 4). Intubation is likely to be difficult in patients with a Cormack grading of 3 or 4 during laryngoscopy manoeuvres.

It is important to know that atlanto-occipital and atlantoaxial rotation movements performed during laryngoscopy can endanger the patient. There are now various devices (videolaryngoscopes) available that allow us to minimize flexion–extension movements of the cervical spine. For example, studies have shown that with an airway scope there was 39% less extension of the cervical spine between the occiput and C4, and 42% less movement of the atlantooccipital region [8, 9]. Difficulty in management of the airways can, as previously mentioned, involve difficulty in ventilation or intubation. Intubation is considered difficult when an expert anaesthetist is not able to intubate the patient after three attempts. In this case, fibre-optic intubation is strongly recommended in the case of a surgical procedure on the CVJ, but tracheotomy should also be considered.

Use of fibre-optic technology requires an expert operator. The last few years have seen the introduction of optical fibres that are suitable for very young children and therefore are also suitable for anatomically altered airways or compromised air spaces. This technology offers a safe and effective method of airway management (which can otherwise be very difficult to perform in uncooperative patients and children), consequently overcoming the difficulties encountered in the past when only an adult-sized fibreoptic apparatus 6 mm in diameter was available. There are intubation support devices available, such as the aforemen-

Table 3



Table 4



Grade I

Grade II

Grade III

Grade IV

tioned videolaryngoscopes or laryngeal masks that allow intubation [4, 5].

Should we intubate or tracheostomize? With agreement between the anaesthetist and the surgeon, if the postoperative course involves massive oedema, then it is clear that a decision to perform a preventive tracheostomy is certainly the wisest choice. In addition, this choice allows quicker reawakening of the patient than intubation does, with all of the advantages resulting from this choice rather than prolonged intubation [10].

This is the reason why better intubating devices such as video laryngoscopes are able to provide a better laryngeal view than direct laryngoscopy [11].

Although the terms 'tracheostomy' and 'tracheotomy' are often used interchangeably, it should be remembered that 'tracheostomy' (which comes from the Greek word *stomoun*) refers to the act of creating an opening, whereas 'tracheotomy' (which comes from the Greek word *tome*, meaning 'to cut') specifically refers to the result of a surgical cut. The need for an external cervical orthosis, such as a halo vest, suggests that a tracheostomy should be performed to avoid the need for an emergency procedure to treat overwhelming respiratory distress in the postoperative phase.

Choice of Surgical Route

Two surgical routes can be chosen by the paediatric neurosurgeon: the anterior route, to deal with direct decompression of the cervical spinal cord; and the posterior route, to deal with neurological decompression, and for instrumentation and fusion of the cervical spine [12].

The Anterior Route

Orotracheal intubation can be chosen in cases of an endoscopic transnasal approach, since no conflict with the surgeon's activity is provoked. The choice of orotracheal intubation may be more debatable in cases of transoral, transmandibular or transmaxillary approaches, as some surgeons do not worry about possible conflict between the pharyngeal spreaders of the oral distractor and the orotracheal tube, whereas others prefer nasotracheal intubation to be performed by the anaesthetist to reduce the chance of possible conflict with the oral distractor, and others prefer to keep the surgical channel free of any foreign body by using a tracheostomy.

The Posterior Route

In cases of a posterior surgical approach (for decompression and for instrumentation and fusion techniques), a tracheostomy is not used for surgical requirements, since the airways are far from the surgical target. Nevertheless, in patients with pre-existing brainstem damage, which could increase the likelihood of postoperative respiratory disturbance and necessitate use of a halo vest, a tracheostomy could be advocated [2, 3].

Sedation and the Drug Delivery System

Sedation during spontaneous breathing before laryngoscopy is necessary to evaluate adequate oxygenation and ventilation. Anaesthetic induction is carried out with non-irritating agents (such as sevoflurane) or intravenous drugs (such as propofol and remifentanil). It is useful to consider the use of a fibre-optic bronchoscope in cases of difficult intubation.

The use of optical fibre techniques has increased in selected paediatric patients, thanks to the combined techniques of topical anaesthesia with local airway blocks and intravenous sedation, or general anaesthesia with use of a mask with maintenance of spontaneous ventilation [13].

The ideal dimension of the fibrescope is modified in relation to the diameter of the endotracheal tube (ETT) to be crossed. Intubation requires an ETT dimension only slightly larger than the diameter of the fibrescope. Modern flexible fibrescopes reach a diameter of 2 French and allow passage of a 2.5-French endotracheal tube.

Dexmedetomidine produces moderate sedation without respiratory distress, apnoea or haemodynamic instability, so it can be successfully used in patients who need awake fibre-optic intubation for cervical spine surgery [14]. Electrocardiographic monitoring with pulse oximetry and pressor monitoring are required throughout the procedure in all patients. Maintenance of anaesthesia is achieved with sevoflurane (minimum alveolar concentration (MAC) 1, 1.5) in O₂ plus air, with a target partial pressure of carbon dioxide (paCO₂) of 32–35 mmHg. Muscle relaxation is obtained with cisatracurium besilate.

Induction

Intravenous or inhalation induction depends on the difficulty of managing the airway and the physical condition of the patient [15, 16]. The use of succinylcholine in such patients is no longer recommended, as use of this drug has been completely abandoned by many centres because of the numerous complications caused by its use [17].

Maintenance

During maintenance we need to use a technique that is compatible with somatosensory evoked potential (SSEP) and motor evoked potential (MEP) monitoring. A technique involving nitrous oxide 60% and isoflurane <0.5 MAC is acceptable [17], but an intravenous technique using propofol is recommended. Neurophysiologists should be aware of any decrease in arterial pressure or the need to administer a bolus of an opioid or another agent.

Intraoperative Monitoring

Respiratory monitoring should include end-tidal CO_2 , peak airway pressure and serial measurement of arterial oxygen tension. The temperature should be monitored, intravenous fluid should be warmed and a warm air mattress device is recommended.

Invasive arterial pressure assessment is mandatory. Prolonged anaesthesia, combined with blood loss, necessitates detailed monitoring of the cardiovascular system.

Intraoperative Neurophysiological Monitoring

Assessment of the functionality and control of the spinal cord during surgery is now possible through the use of intraoperative monitoring techniques [18]. The integrity of the spinal cord can be evaluated with different techniques, which include:

- 1. The alarm test
- 2. Somatosensory evoked potentials
- 3. Motor evoked potentials
- 4. Dermatomal responses

The Wake-Up Test

One of the first spinal cord function tests to be used is an evaluation of the patient's intraoperative motility by awakening him for a period of time to evaluate his movements. This test has been used during corrective procedures on the spine, but the complications of the test have not been underestimated: accidental extubation, detachment of fixers and gaseous embolism on deep inspiration. The main limitation of this test is that the spinal cord is evaluated only in a small phase without taking into account the phases in which the patient is subjected to deep narcosis. Another limitation of this test is the fact that it cannot be applied to infants and young children. Alternative tests such as tetanic stimulation of the lower leg and observation of the clinical response can be used in those age groups.

For the awakening test, all possible anaesthetic choices can be used.

To perform this test, many anaesthetic techniques have been advocated. Koscielniak-Nielsen suggested use of midazolam, instead of propofol, for the maintenance of these patients. The presence of a midazolam antagonist could make this intraoperative awakening test much easier.

Use of midazolam has been associated with a shorter intraoperative wake-up time, a better quality of wake-up and a shorter postoperative wake-up time. Even remifentanil has a pharmacokinetic profile suitable for this test, with a delay of only 5 min between the request for the test and adequate conditions for neurological assessment.

Somatosensory and Motor Evoked Potentials

The use of SSEPs is now the most widely used method for study of the spinal cord [19]. Through stimulation of peripheral nerves, the responses at the level of the cerebral cortex are observed by using superficial electrodes placed on the scalp and deeper electrodes at the epidural site. Basal SSEPs are recorded in order to exclude neurological dysfunction.

The stimulus is applied to the peripheral nerve on both sides as a square wave at 3-7 Hz, and the response is recorded with electrodes over the somatosensory cortex on the scalp. The intensity of the stimulus is typically in the range of 25-40 mA. Baseline data are obtained after skin incision to assess the effect of the anaesthetic agents on the amplitude of the recording. During surgery, responses are recorded repeatedly, comparing the amplitude and the latency of the response to evaluate the integrity of the sensor spinal pathways. A 0.50% decrease in the SSEP amplitude or a 10% increase in the latency are deemed significant. It should be stressed than the blood supply of the motor pathways differs from that of the sensory tracts. It is therefore possibly to have normal recordings from the SSEPs but a tetraplegic patient postoperatively. Numerous anaesthetic agents, the level of surgical stimulation and hypothermia may alter the SSEP results, while other factors such as hypothermia, inhalation anaesthetics, hypercapnia and hypoxia suppress both SSEPs and MEPs. As for the muscular artefacts that are recorded on SSEPs, they are reduced by a neuromuscular block induced by curarization.

It is essential to use both SSEPs and MEPs in spine surgery. It should be stressed, however, that MEPs are the most effective instrument available to evaluate the motor integrity of the spinal cord [20].

Electrical or magnetic means can stimulate the motor cortex, and myogenic or neurogenic responses are recorded. The myogenic response of a stimulated muscle is evaluated by electromyography (EMG) and abolished by neuromuscular blockade.

Even with a neuromuscular block, it is possible to obtain neurogenic responses in a peripheral nerve or in the spinal cord.

Anaesthetic agents have a greater impact on cortical evoked responses than on spinal responses. Propofol is a potent suppressor of cortical evoked responses, midazolam has a lesser effect and opioids do not seem to cause effects.

Dermatomal Potentials

Dermatomal somatosensory evoked potentials (DSEPs) give us information about the brain response to a certain stimulated dermatomal. It is a pure sensory input into any level of the spinal cord. Unfortunately, the literature concerning this monitoring is not sufficient, and this makes this procedure difficult to apply.

Competing Interests The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Compliance with Ethical Standards No financial support was received for this work.

References

- 1. White AA, Johnson RM, Panjabi MM. Biomechanical analysis of clinical stability in the cervical spine. Clin Orthop. 1975;109:85–96.
- Visocchi M, Fernandez EM, Ciampini A, Di Rocco C. Reducible and irreducible os odontoideum treated with posterior wiring, instrumentation and fusion. Past or present? Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2009;151:1265–74.
- Visocchi M, Pietrini D, Tufo T, Fernandez E, Di Rocco C. Preoperative irreducible C1–C2 dislocations: intraoperative reduction and posterior fixation. The always posterior strategy. Acta Neurochir (Wein). 2009;151:551–9.

- Menezes AH. Surgical approaches: postoperative care and complications "posterolateral–far lateral transcondylar approach to the ventral foramen magnum and upper cervical spinal canal". Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24:1203–7.
- Menezes AH. Specific entities affecting the craniocervical region: Down's syndrome. Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24:1165–8.
- Sharma D, Prabhakar H, Bithal PK, Ali Z, Singh GP, Rath GP, Dash HH. Predicting difficult laryngoscopy in acromegaly: a comparison of upper lip bite test with modified Mallampati classification. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2010;22:138–43.
- Khan ZH, Kashfi A, Ebrahimkhani E. A comparison of the upper lip bite test (a simple new technique) with modified Mallampati classification in predicting difficulty in endotracheal intubation: a prospective blinded study. Anesth Analg. 2003;96:595–9.
- Hrabayashi Y, Fujta A, Seo N, Sugimoto H. Cervical spine movement during laryngoscopy using the airway scope compared with Macintosh laryngoscope. Anaesthesia. 2007;207:1050–5.
- Bhardwaj N, Jain K, Rao M, Mandal AK. Assessment of cervical spine movement during laryngoscopy with Macintosh and Trueview laryngoscopes. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. 2013;29(3):308–12.
- Serocki G, Bein B, Scholz J, Dorges V. Management of the predicted difficult airway: a comparison of conventional blade laryngoscopy with video-assisted blade laryngoscopy and the GlideScope. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2010;27:24–30.
- White MC, Marsh CJ, Beringer RM, Nolan JA, Choi AY, Medlock KE, Mason DG. A randomised, controlled trial comparing the Airtraq[™] optical laryngoscope with conventional laryngoscopy in infants and children. Anaesthesia. 2012;67:226–31.
- Visocchi M. The craniovertebral junction: posterior and anterior approaches. State of art. Crit Rev Neurosurg WFNS. 2010;1:1–11.
- 13. American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Management of the Difficult Airway. Practice guidelines for management of the difficult airway: an updated report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Management of the Difficult Airway. Anesthesiology. 2003;98:1269–77.
- Mason KP, Lerman J. Dexmedetomidine in children: current knowledge and future applications. Anesth Analg. 2011;113:1129–42.
- Sagi HC, Beutler W, Carroll E, Connolly PJ. Airway complications associated with surgery on the anterior cervical spine. Spine. 2002;27:949–53.
- Sagi HC, et al. Airway complications associated with surgery on the anterior cervical spine. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2002;27(9):949–53.
- Peterson DO, Drummond DC, Todd MM. Effects of halothane, enflurane, isoflurane and nitrous oxide on somatosensory potential in humans. Anesthesiology. 1986;65:35–40.
- Sala F, Krzan MJ, Deletis V. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in pediatric neurosurgery: why, when, how? Childs Nerv Syst. 2002;18:264–87.
- Kombos T, Suess O, Da Silva C, Ciklatekerlio O, Nobis V, Brock M. Impact of somatosensory evoked potential monitoring on cervical surgery. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2003;20(2):122–8.
- Sala F, Squintani G, Tramontano V, Coppola A, Gerosa M. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring during surgery for Chiari malformations. Neurol Sci. 2011;32:S317–9.

Author Index

A

Abbritti, R.V., 133–138, 197–206 Agur, A., 37–43 Alsagheir, M., 297–301, 303–306, 309–311, 313–316 Alshafai, N.S., 147–149, 159–163, 171–173, 265–271 Angileri, F.F., 45–49, 197–206 Armando, R., 279–287 Ashafai, N.S., 247–251

B

Barbagallo, G.M.V., 181–185, 225–227, 259–263 Barbanera, A., 229–232 Barone, G., 345–352 Basile, L., 17–22 Behboudi, M., 265–271 Belotti, F., 37–43 Benedetto, N., 235–239 Boszczyk, B., 273–276

С

Cacciola, F., 197-206, 235-239, 273-276 Caldarelli, M., 119-123, 253-257 Canevari, F.R., 209-222, 229-232 Cappabianca, P., 45-49 Castelnuovo, P., 209–222 Cattalani, A., 229–232 Cavallo, M.A., 279-287, 329-332 Cebula, H., 187-194 Certo, F., 259-263 Chibbaro, S., 151-156, 187-194 Chieffo, D., 119-123 Chirchiglia, D., 243-244, 365-367 Ciappetta, P., 97-98, 165-168, 175-178, 181-185, 297-301, 303-306, 309-311, 313-316 Ciccia, F., 79-85 Conforti, G., 51-53 Conti, A., 45-49 Cornelius, J.F., 151-156 Costantini, A., 51-53, 165-168

D

D'Aliberti, G., 355–360 Dammann, P., 337–344 De Bonis, P., 279–287, 329–332 de Divitiis, O., 45–49 Debernardi, A., 355–356 Debry, C., 187–194 Delfini, R., 89–94 Della Torre, A., 243–244, 365–367 Di Lorenzo, N., 235–239, 273–276 Doglietto, F., 37–43 Ducati, A., 25–35 Dugoni, D., 329–332

Е

Esposito, F., 197-206

F

Ferdinando, A., 279–287 Ferrante, A., 79–85 Fiumara, E., 317–323 Fontanella, M.M., 37–43 Francaviglia, N., 125–130 Francesca, O., 279–287 Franco, S., 279–287 Frassanito, P., 119–123 Fricia, M., 151–156

G

Gabriele, D., 243-244, 365-367 Gaillard, S., 187–194 Gallina, P., 235-239, 273-276 Ganau, M., 187–194 Garbossa, D., 25-35 Genovese, O., 381-386 Gentili, F., 37-43 George, B., 151-156 Germanò, A., 133-138, 197-206 Ghadirpour, R., 329-332 Giammalva, G.R., 17-22, 79-85, 325-327 Giannelli, I., 345-352 Gioia, F., 317-323 Giugno, A., 17-22 Giuseppe, C., 279–287 Goel, A., 59-61, 63-68, 71-77, 101-109 Gorgoglione, N., 197-206 Grasso, V.M., 229-232 Graziano, F., 17-22, 325-327 Gulì, C., 17–22, 325–327 Gunness, V.R.N., 147-149 Guzzi, G., 243-244, 365-367

I

Iaccarino, C., 279–287, 329–332 Iacopino, D.G., 17–22, 79–85, 125–130, 317–323, 325–327 Imperato, A., 125–130 **J** Jovanovic, T., 381–386

K

Karligkiotis, A., 209–222 Kaswa, A., 101–109 Klepinowski, T., 159–163, 171–173 Kramarz, A., 265–271 Kucharczyk, W., 37–43

L

La Fata, G., 197–206 Landi, A., 89–94 Lavano, A., 243–244, 365–367 Lavorato, L., 139–142 Li, S., 111–117 Liao, C., 111–117, 181–185, 225–227 Liu, P., 111–117 Locatelli, D., 209–222 Lofrese, G., 329–332 Lombardo, M.C., 317–323

Μ

Macaluso, F., 79–85 Maione, M., 259–263 Mancarella, C., 89–94 Marino, D., 197–206 Massimi, L., 119–123 Maugeri, R., 17–22, 79–85, 125–130, 317–323, 325–327 Meneghelli, P., 369–378 Merlo, L., 133–138 Molinari, F., 329–332 Molliqaj, G., 337–344 Mongardi, L., 279–287, 329–332 Monica, R., 279–287 Musio, A., 329–332

Ν

Nannavecchia, B., 187–194 Nicolai, P., 37–43 Noia, G., 345–352

0

Olei, S., 329–332 Oliva, A., 13–15 Olivi, A., 13–15, 51–53, 165–168, 175–178, 181–185, 187–194, 225–227, 253–257

Р

Pacca, P., 25–35 Pace, M., 165–168 Paludetti, G., 225–227 Papacci, F., 345–352 Pascali, V.L., 13–15 Pecorari, G., 25–35 Perna, A., 345–352 Perrini, P., 235–239, 273–276 Pescatori, L., 313–316 Piero, S., 279–287 Pisciotta, W., 175–178 Pop, R., 151–156 Porcaro, S., 317–323 Pozzi, F., 209–222 Priola, S.M., 133–138 Proietti, L., 345–352 Proust, F., 187–194

Q Qiu, J., 37–43

R

Radovanovic, I., 37–43 Raffa, G., 133–138, 197–206 Ricciardi, L., 345–352 Rigante, M., 181–185, 225–227 Roca, E., 37–43 Romano, A., 187–194

S

Sala, F., 367-376 Scaramuzzo, L., 344-352 Schaller, K., 337-344 Schreiber, A., 37-43 Scibilia, A., 133-138, 197-206 Servadei, F., 329-332 Shah, A., 101-109 Signorelli, F., 11-15, 51-53, 97-98, 165-168, 175-178, 181-185, 225-227, 253-257, 297-301, 303-306, 309-311, 313-316 Somma, T., 45-49, 229-232 Sonntag, V.K.H., 289-294 Spallone, A., 139-142 Stroscio, C.A., 243-244, 365-367 Stumpo, V., 13-15, 51-53, 165-168, 175-178 Sure, U., 337-344

Т

Talamonti, G., 355–360 Tamburrelli, F.C., 345–352 Tamburrini, G., 119–123 Tardivo, V., 25–35 Tessitore, E., 337–344 Todeschi, J., 187–194 Tosi, F., 381–386 Trapella, G., 279–287, 329–332 Tumbiolo, S., 317–323 Turri-Zanoni, M., 209–222

V

Valenzi, E., 345–352 Villa, A., 125–130 Villa, F., 355–360 Villaret, A.B., 37–43 Visocchi, M., 3–8, 13–15, 17–22, 51–53, 79–85, 97–98, 111–117, 125–130, 139–142, 165–168, 175–176, 181–185, 187–194, 225–227, 247–251, 253–257, 259–263, 297–301, 303–306, 309–311, 313–323, 345–352, 355–360, 381–386 Vitali, M., 229–232 Volpentesta, G, 243–244, 365–367

W Walker, C.T., 289–294 Wąsik, N., 247–251

Y

Yang, M., 111–117

Z Zenga, F., 25–35 Zhang, W., 111–117 Zhong, W., 111–117

Subject Index

A

Acoustic-facial bundle, 47 Activated fibroblasts. 82 Adenotonsillectomy, 281 Adjuvant radiation therapy, 210 Alarm test, see Wake-up test Anaesthesia ASA physical status classification system, 381 drug delivery system, 384 intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring dermatomal somatosensory evoked potentials, 386 motor evoked potentials, 385-386 somatosensory evoked potentials, 385-386 wake-up test, 385 intubation vs. tracheostomy anterior route, 384 Cormack and Lehane classification, 383 fibre-optic technology, 383 indications, 382 Mallampati test, 382-383 posterior route, 384 preoperative assessment, 382 spine stability, 382 surgical route, 384 ULBT classification, 383 preoperative anaesthesia assessment, 381-382 sedation and drug delivery system induction, 384 intraoperative monitoring, 385 maintenance, 385 Anterior atlantodental interval (ADI), 80 Anterior inferior cerebellar artery (AICA), 168 Anterior osteosynthetic stabilization, 148 Anterior retropharyngeal approach, 147 Anterolateral approach, 6 ApproachViewer, 38, 39, 42 Aqueductal stenosis, 90 Arachnoid veils in CM, 97-98 Arm dysaesthesia, 142 Arnold-Chiari malformation, 90 type II, 199 Arthrodesis, 250 Atlantoaxial dislocation (AAD), 59-61, 64, 80-82, 303-304, 337, 340, 341 neural alteration, 115 Atlantoaxial fixation, Chiari formation arthrodesis, 102 with basilar invagination, 101, 104 bone anomalies at craniovertebral junction, 102 bone anomaly, 101 cerebrospinal fluid, 102 clinical grading system, 107

foramen magnum decompression, 101 internal and neural manifestations, 108 patients clinical profile, 102 postoperative MRI, 102-107 postoperative phase, 102 radiological parameters, 108 screw fixation technique, 108 Atlantoaxial instability, see Atlantoaxial dislocation (AAD) Atlantoaxial stabilization techniques anterior approach, 269-270 biomechanical testing, 269 C1-C2 stabilization techniques, 266 computed tomography-guided neuronavigation, 269, 270 Gallie technique, 266, 267 interlaminar clamps, 268 magnetic resonance imaging, 268 minimally invasive anterior transarticular screw fixation, 270 minimally invasive techniques, 269, 270 Pott's disease, 265 screw-rod constructs, 269 search strategy and study selection, 265-266 transarticular screw, 269 wiring techniques, 266, 268 Atlantoaxial subluxation (AAS), 80, 81 Atlantoaxial synovitis, 82 Atlantodental interval (ADI), 19 Atlanto-occipital dissociation (AOD), 299 Atlanto-occipital joint axis angle, 19 Atlantooccipital membrane (AOM), 26 Atlantosuperior dental arch line (ASA), 20 Atlas assimilation, 230 Atypical hangman's fractures, 315 Autoantibodies against citrullinated peptides (ACPAs), 82 Axis fractures, 305

B

Bacterial contamination, risk of, 198
Basilar impression/invagination (BI), 80, 84, 85, 187, 189–193, 230, 231, 246, 247
aetiology, 111
C1–C2 joint distraction, 273–276
clinical presentations, 112
and CM-I, 115–117
craniometric measurement, 112–113
definition, 111
diagnosis, 112–113
joint distraction, 276
posterior lateral interbody fusion, 276
treatment strategy, 113
with/without CM-I, 115–116
Beckwith–Wiedemann syndrome, 92

BHS, *see* Bow hunter's syndrome (BHS) Bilateral laterocervical lymphadenopathy, 281 Biomechanical studies, 25 Bone mineral deficiency, 92 Bone-only decompression, 142 Boogard's angle, 19 Bow hunter's syndrome (BHS), 151, 152, 154, 155 Brainstem auditory evoked potentials (BAEPs), 370 Brooks technique, 243 Bulbomedullary junction compression, 231–232

С

Cartilage matrix, 82 C1-C2 angle, 20 C0-C2 arthrodesis, 27 C2-C7 Cobb's angle, 20 C2-C7 Harrison's angle, 20 C1-C2 laminectomy, 28 C1-C2 stabilization techniques, 266 Cerebellar hypoplasia/aplasia, 90 Cerebellar tonsil ectopia, brainstem, caudal displacement, 140 Cerebellar tonsil shrinkage, 127, 129, 130 Cervical lordosis, 20-21, 64 Cervical spinal spondylosis, 61 Cervical Spine Outcome questionnaire (CSOQ), 330, 331 Cervical spondylosis, 80 Cervical spondylotic myelopathy, 260 subaxial spinal and atlantoaxial instability, 71-77 Chamberlain's and McGregor's lines, 21 Chamberlain's line, 18 CHERI syndrome, see CM type I with or without a cleft palate, deviant electrocardiogram or epilepsy, and retarded intelligence with delayed language development (CHERI) syndrome Chiari formation using atlantoaxial fixation, 101-109 Chiari malformations (CMs), 230, 231 in adults, 139-142 anatomical forms, 90 atlantoaxial fixation, 94 cerebrospinal fluid flow dynamics restoration, 142 clinical presentation, 91 CM-I, 90, 139 CM-II, 90, 139 CM-III, 90, 139 CM-IV, 90, 139 CSF leakage, 141 epidemiology, 91 history, 89-90 neurological examination, 93 optimal surgical treatment, 141 pathogenesis, 140 pathophysiology, 90-91 preoperative evaluation, 93 prevalence, 91 surgery history, 93-94 midline posterior approach, 94 surgical treatment, 140 symptoms, 91 treatment, 94 Chiari malformation type I (CM-I), 370 aetiology, 113 arachnoid veils in, 97-98 bony decompression, 119-123 clinical presentations, 113-114 definition, 113

diagnosis, 114 intraoperative ultrasound, 120 patient characteristics, 120 posterior cranial fossa, 114-115 radiological measurement, 114 surgical outcomes, 120-121 symptomatic basioccipital hypoplasia, 125 bony decompression, 129 clinical indications, 128 clinical presentation, 126 complications, 128 definition, 125 duraplasty with sutured patch, 127 evolutionary observations, 125 follow-up evaluations, 126 long-term overall outcome, 127 long-term symptomatic outcome, 128 management, 126 microsurgical procedure, 129 neurological deficit, 125-126 neurological examination, 126 platybasia, 125 posterior fossa volume, 125 postoperative assessment, 127 postoperative symptomatic improvement, 129 prevalence, 125 radiological evaluation, 126 sensory deficits, 128 subarachnoid exploration, 129 suboccipital craniectomy with C1 laminectomy, 126 surgery indications, 125 surgical decision making, 129 surgical treatment, 127, 129 tonsil herniation, 125 Valsalva manoeuvres, 126, 130 treatment strategy, 115 with/without BI, 116-117 C1 lateral mass screws and C2 pedicle screws (C1LMS-C2PS), 269 Cleland theory, 90 Clinical grading system, 67 Clival epidural haematomas, 300 Clival subdural haematomas, 300-301 Clivodens angle, 19 Clivus-canal angle (CCA), 19 Cloacal exstrophy, 92-93 CM type I with or without a cleft palate, deviant electrocardiogram or epilepsy, and retarded intelligence with delayed language development (CHERI) syndrome, 92-93 Cobb's method of measurement, 64 Combined Denker's approach, 215 Compression syndromes of vertebral artery, CVJ, 151-156 anterolateral cervical approach, 152 C1-C2 decompression, 152, 155 demography and clinical features, 152, 153 dynamic angiography, 155 micro-Doppler imaging, 156 neuroimaging modalities, 155 osseous malformation, extrinsic compression, 152, 154 sites of, 151, 152 thromboembolic stroke, 155 Compressive myelopathy, 260, 262 Costello's syndrome, 92, 356, 357 Cranial fossa, posterior morphological analysis, 114 volumetric analysis, 114-115

Craniocaudal exposure, 52 Craniocervical junction (CCJ) basilar invagination, 187 bulbomedullary compression, 187 compression syndromes, vertebral artery (see (Compression syndromes of vertebral artery, CVJ)) congenital malformations, 187 EEA advantages, risks and limitations, 193 anatomical aspects, 188 complication and outcome features, 189-192 demographic, clinical, radiological features, 189-192 haemostasis, 193 neuronavigation pointer, intraoperative guidance, 189 preoperative antibiotic prophylaxis, 189 primary surgical management, 188 surgical corridor, 189 surgical strategy, 189 transnasal endoscopic odontoidectomy, 188 osteoligament complex, 187 traumatic C1-C2 dislocations, 187 Craniosynostosis, 92 Craniovertebral junction (CVJ) acquired pathological alterations., 21 anatomical dissections, 12 anatomy and surgical approaches axial plane, 19-20 coronal plane, 19 sagittal plane, 18-19 anterior and anterolateral approach, 209 cadaver specimens anatomical specimens, preparation phases, 14 fresh cadavers, 14 fresh-frozen specimens, 14 injected 'head and neck' specimens, 14 cerebrospinal fluid leakage, 32 classification, 18 complications, 219, 222 computed tomography scan, 28, 31 congenital/acquired anomalies, 17 CSF leakage rates, 35 direct approaches, 4-6 endoscopic resection surgical techniques, 215 technical consideration, 212-214 endoscopic skull base reconstruction duraplasty, 216 flap harvestiong, 216-217 'gasket-seal' closure technique, 216 Hadad-Bassagasteguy flap, 216 multilayer technique, 216 technical consideration, 214 'triple F' technique, 216 Eustachian tubes, 31 and foramen magnum, endoscopic approach, 26-29 functional and safe exposition, 18 impregnation contrastographic protocol, 15 inferior and middle turbinates, 31, 32 instrumentation and fusion, 4 and laboratory experience, 11-13 malformations BI (see (Basilar impression/invagination (BI))) CM-I (see (Chiari malformation type I (CM-I))) neural and cerebrospinal fluid, 111 MRI, 28, 30 neck movement, 22

neurological symptoms, 17 neuronavigation, 15 neurophysiological monitoring, 29 objectives, 209 oblique approaches, 6 occipitocervical alignment assessment, 20-21 outcomes, 219-221 physiological airflow, 31 posterior and posterolateral approaches, 14 postoperative care and follow-up, 218-219 preoperative assessment, 212 primary malformations, 21 proliferation of, 3 in RA, 79-85 radiological and surgical lines, 18 rostrum, sphenoid bone, 34 sphenoid sinus, ostium, 33 stability maintenance, 34 surgical approaches, 13-15, 209-210 temporoparietal fascia flap flap harvesting, 217 infratemporal corridor, 217 posterior cranial fossa reconstruction, 217, 218 transpterygoid transposition of the flap, 218 transoral approach, 51-53 transoral vs. transnasal approach, 181-185 treatment planning, 210-211 ventral craniovertebral junction approach, 20 C7 slope, 20 Cutaneous disorders, 92 Cystic fibrosis, 92

D

Dandy-Walker syndrome, 90, 98 Decision-making process atlanto-occipital dislocation/dissociation, 309-310 combination fractures, 316 elements, 309, 310 isolated fractures of atlas, 313 of axis, 313 condylar fractures, 310-311 odontoid fractures, 313-314 traumatic spondylolisthesis, axis, 314-315 Denis thoracolumbar three-column model, 269 Dermatomal somatosensory evoked potentials (DSEPs), 386 Di Lorenzo system, 338 Disability scoring systems, 338 Disc-centric theory, 60 Disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs), 84 Dorsal approach, 18 Double-loop technique, 243 Down's syndrome, 199 Duraplasty, 119, 120, 122, 123, 126, 128, 129, 142 Dura-splitting approach, 142 D-wave monitoring, 370

E

Effective canal diameter (ECD), 19 Ehlers–Danlos syndromes, 92 ELA, *see* Extreme lateral approach (ELA) ELITE, *see* Extreme lateral inferior transcondylar–transtubercular exposure (ELITE) Endocrinopathy, 92 Endonasal endoscopic approach (EEA), CCJ advantages, risks and limitations, 193 anatomical aspects, 188 complication and outcome features, 189-192 demographic, clinical, radiological features, 189-192 haemostasis, 193 neuronavigation pointer, intraoperative guidance, 189 preoperative antibiotic prophylaxis, 189 primary surgical management, 188 surgical corridor, 189 surgical strategy, 189 transnasal endoscopic odontoidectomy, 188 Endoscope-assisted far lateral approach to CVJ, neuronavigation, 165-168 Endoscopically assisted transcervical procedures, 5 Endoscopically assisted transoral procedures, 4-5 Endoscopic endonasal approach, 4, 21, 185, 200 anatomical descriptions, 37 CVJ pathology, 225-227 tumours, 209-222 limitations, 210 pathologies treatment, 37 quantifications, 38-39 radiological and surgical lines, 39 specimens, 38 statistical analyses, 39-40 surgical approaches, 38 Endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy, 28, 29, 33-35 anterior vs. posterior approach, 198 C1 anterior arch preservation, 202 craniovertebral junction phase and closure, 202-203 hard palate line, 200 indications, 198-199 nasal phase, 201 nasoaxial line, 200 nasopalatine line, 200 nasopharynx phase, 201 operative technique, 201 patient positioning and preparation, 201 posterior occipitocervical fusion, 204 postoperative management, 205-206 preoperative neuroimaging studies, 199 rhinopalatine line, 200-201 series presentation, 204-205 stability sparing, CVJ malformation atlas assimilation, 230 basilar invagination, 230, 231 bulbomedullary junction compression, 231-232 Chiari malformation (CM), 230, 231 chronic bronchopneumopathy, 230 complex musculoskeletal organization, 229 gait abnormality, 230 hypertension, 230 operative approaches, 230 soft tissue pannus or irreducible bony compression, 230 transnasal approach, 198 transoral approach, 198 Endoscopic endonasal skull base approach, 18 Endoscopic endonasal transclival transodontoid approach, 18 Endoscopic intradural exploration, 167 Endoscopic minimally invasive approach, 49 of intradural lesions treatment, 48 Endoscopic skull base reconstruction duraplasty, 216 flap harvestiong, 216-217

'gasket-seal' closure technique, 216 Hadad-Bassagasteguy flap, 216 multilayer technique, 216 technical consideration, 214 'triple F' technique, 216 Endoscopic transnasal transsphenoidal approach, 198 Endoscopic video-assisted microsurgery, 182-184 Endoscopy in transnasal approach, 85 in transoral surgery, 85 Enlarged transoral approaches, 85 Extended maxillo/mandibulotomy, 4 Extra-axial tumour, 46 Extradural dissection, ELA, 176, 177 Extreme lateral approach (ELA), 6, 18 complications, 173 to CVJ, 171-173, 175-178 extradural dissection, 176, 177 VA transposition, 161, 176, 178 Extreme lateral inferior transcondylar-transtubercular exposure (ELITE), 173

F

Fabry disease, 92 Facetal instability, 71-74 Facet subluxations, 84 Far lateral approach (FLA), 18 CVI methods, 160 muscular stage, 160-161 with neuronavigation, 165-168 occipital condyle, 161-162 safety and efficacy, 159 skin incision minimization, 160 vertebral artery handling, 161 for vertebral artery aneurysms, 6 Fielding classification system, 304 Foramen magnum, 161 anterolateral, 159, 162 decompression, 101, 102, 104, 108, 109 Functional decompression, 256

G

Gait abnormality, 230 Galeal flap, 217 Gallie technique, 243, 266, 267 'Gasket-seal' closure technique, 216 Genetic degenerative transformation, 199 Goel clinical grading systems, 64, 102 Goldenhar syndrome, 382 Grabb-Oakes method, 19 Grisel's syndrome, 355, 356 due to pharyngotonsillitis, 281 patient demographic and diagnostics, 281 rotatory atlantoaxial subluxation Fielding type I, 281, 282 Fielding type II, 281-284 Fielding type III, 283-285 Growth hormone deficiency, 92

H

Hadad-Bassagasteguy flap (HBF), 214, 216 Halo placement

advantages, 359 complications, 359-360 Costello's syndrome, 356, 357 due to osteomyelitis, 358 Grisel's syndrome, 355, 356 halo pin penetration with depressed skull fracture, 355, 356 large extradural haematoma, 358 limitations, 359 Hangman's fracture, 306 Hans Chiari theory, 90 Hard palate (palatine) line (HPL), 4, 20, 200 High cervical anterolateral retropharyngeal (HCALR) approach, 147-149 Hindbrain herniation syndrome, 97-98 Holocord/holospinal epidural abscess, 347 Holocord syringomyelia, 133-138 Hydrocephalus, 90, 91 Hyperostosis, 92

I

Inter-Eustachian line, 20 Interlaminar clamps, 268 Intraoperative navigation, 292-294 Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IONM) anaesthesia protocol, 371 bilateral numbness in inferior limbs, 375 dermatomal somatosensory evoked potentials, 386 D-wave monitoring, 370, 374 lower cranial nerve monitoring, 370-371 motor evoked potential monitoring, 385-386 intramedullary spinal cord tumours, 373 intraoperative management, 373, 374 left- and right-side muscles progressive, 378 propriospinal or rubrospinal pathways, 370 somatosensory evoked potential monitoring, 370, 385-386 tibialis anterior and abductor hallucis motor evoked potentials, 376 wake-up test, 385 Ipsilateral transclival approach, 217 Ipsilateral transpterygoid approach, 216 Isolated condylar fractures (ICF), 310-311 Italian paradox, 11–12 36-Item Short Form Survey (SF-36), 330, 331

J

Japanese Orthopaedic Association (JOA) scale, 64, 67, 73, 75, 102, 107 Joint damage and dens dislocation, 84 Jugular compression test, 225

K

Kabuki syndrome, 92 Klippel–Feil syndrome (KFS), 372, 382

L

Learning curve, 325 Longus capitis and rectus capitis anterior (RCpA), 26 Lower cranial nerve monitoring, 370–371

\mathbf{M}

Mallampati test, 382–383 Mandibulopalatine line, 20 Marfan syndrome, 92 McGregor's lines, 18, 21 McRae's line, 18 Menezes algorithm, 7 Meningiomas, 171, 172 Microneurosurgery, 182-184 Microsurgical transoral approach, 38 Microvascular free flap, 214 Minimally invasive supracondylar transtubercular (MIST) approach, 162 Modified Japanese Orthopaedic Association (mJOA) scale, 134, 136 Modified Ranawat's line, 19 Morquio syndrome, 382 Motor evoked potentials (MEPs), 29, 249, 385-386 monitoring, 370, 372-374 intramedullary spinal cord tumours, 373 intraoperative management, 373, 374 left- and right-side muscles progressive, 378 propriospinal or rubrospinal pathways, 370 Multisegmental cervical spondylotic myelopathy, subaxial spinal and atlantoaxial instability, 71-77 Myelopathy, 83

Ν

Nasal phase, 201 Nasoaxial line (NAxL), 20, 200 Nasopalatine (Kassam's) line (NPL), 20, 34, 39, 200 Nasopharynx phase, 201 Nasoseptal flap, 214, 216 Navigated transoral approach, 5 Neck disability index (NDI), 330, 331 Neck movements, 83 Neoplastic and malformative lesions, 45 Neuronavigated cadaver study, 51–53 Non-parametric Welch analyses of variance, 40, 41

0

Occipital condylectomy advantages and disadvantages, 161 fusion after drilling, 161-162 Occipital condyle fractures (OCFs), 310 Occipital hypoplasia, 140 Occipital nerve stimulation (ONS) chronic stimulation, 366 cranial and neck pain syndromes, 365 greater occipital nerve, 366 implantable pulse generator, 366 lead and implant techniques, 366 lead migration/dislodgement, 366 lead placement with subchronic stimulation, 365-366 pathophysiological mechanisms, 366 peripheral and central effects, 366 surgical procedure, 365 trigeminal-cervical nucleus, 366 Occipitocervical alignment assessment, 20-21 Occipitocervical angle, 19 Occipitocervical fusion (OCF), 243-244 anatomy and biomechanics basilar invagination, 246, 247 screw-based constructs, 246, 248 thickness, 246, 247 arthrodesis, 250 C0-C1-C2 complex, 247 complication, 250-251

Occipitocervical fusion (cont.) indication, 248 limitations, 247 occipital condyle screw, 247 postoperative immobilization, 250 surgical technique, 248-250 transarticular occipito-condylar screw, 247 types of, 250 vertebral artery anatomical variations and feasibility, 247 Odontoid fixation, 325-327 Odontoid fractures, 305-306, 313-314 in elderly patients clinical results, 330-331 functional outcome, 330, 331 Global Health and Aging report, 329 materials and methods, 330 type II advantages, 320 C1-C2 articular facets, 318, 321 C1-C2 instability, 319, 322, 323 follow-up, 318 materials and methods, 317-318 oblique down and back odontoid fracture, 317, 318 with posterior dislocation, 318, 320 screw placement, 317, 318 Odontoid fusion minimally invasive techniques intraoperative navigation, 292-294 percutaneous screw placement, 291-292 tubular retractor systems, 291, 292 safe and efficacious method, 294 traditional surgical technique, 289-291 Odontoid length, 19 Odontoid process, 25, 27, 30, 39 Oliver pedicle palatal flap, 214 Osseous condylar lesions, 301 Ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament (OPLL), 61, 65, 66 anterior stabilization techniques, 67 atlantoaxial facetal instability, 68 atlantodental interval, 68 cerebrospinal fluid leakage, 67 materials and methods, 63-64 neural compression, 68

pathogenesis, 67, 68 transarticular screw fixation, 68

P

Palatine inferior dental arch line (PIA), 20 Pannus tumour, see Retro-odontoid degenerative pseudotumour Paracondylar angle, 19-20 Percutaneous screw placement, 291-292 Phantom tumour, see Retro-odontoid degenerative pseudotumour Pierre Robin syndrome, 92 Posterior atlantodental interval (PADI), 19, 80 Posterior cranial fossa morphological analysis, 114 volumetric analysis, 114-115 Posterior fossa bony decompression plus duraplasty (PFDD), 122-123 Posterior fossa decompression (PFD), 97, 120, 122-123, 125, 129, 130, 133-138 Posterior lateral interbody fusion (PLIF), 276 Posterior pedicle inferior turbinate flap, 214 Posterolateral approach for vertebral artery aneurysms, 6 Posttraumatic anatomical injuries, 297-301, 303-306 atlantoaxial dislocation, 303-304

atlanto-occipital dissociation, 299

atlanto-occipital joint space, 299 axis fractures, 305 cephalad cervical vertebrae, 297 combination fractures, 306 computed tomography, 298 features, 297 isolated fractures, atlas, 305 lateral projections, 298 ligaments, 297-298 magnetic resonance imaging, 299 measurements, 298 occipital bone, 299 odontoid fractures, 305-306 osseous condylar lesions, 301 plain radiography, 298 posttraumatic anatomical modifications, 297 retroclival haematoma, 300 traumatic spondylolisthesis of the axis, 306 upper cervical spine, 297 Pott's disease, 265 Prevascular extraoral retropharyngeal approach, 147, 148

Q

Queckenstedt test, 225

R

Ranawat index, 18, 21, 84 Redlund-Johnell method, 19, 84 Retractor system, 46 Retroclival haematoma (REH), 299, 301 Retro-odontoid degenerative pseudotumour aetiology and pathophysiology, 259 C1-C2 fixation treatment, 260 clinical and radiological assessments, 260, 261 compressive myelopathy, 260, 262 'delayed' indirect neural decompression, 262 follow-up, 260, 262 patients selection, 260 simple posterior neural decompression, 262 spinal cord compression, 262 Retropharygeal prevascular approach, 147, 148 Retropharyngeal space, anatomical corridor, 147 Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) age-related degenerative alterations, 80 anatomy and physiopathology, 80-82 cervical spine involvement, 79, 80 clinical manifestations, 82-83 diagnosis, 83-84 innate and adaptive immunity, 79 joint damage and disability, 79 management, 84-85 microvascular endothelial cell activation, 79 pathogenesis, 79, 82 polyarticular inflammation, 79 Rhinopalatine line, 20, 200-201 Rotatory atlantoaxial subluxation Fielding type I, 281, 282 Fielding type II, 281-284 Fielding type III, 283-285

.

Salpingopharyngeus myomucosal flap, 214 Scoliosis, 92 Segmental arthrodesis, 108 Single-stage single approach, 133-138 Situs inversus, 92 Skull base approach, 45 Skull base craniometry, 18, 21-22 Smiley-Webster scale, 331 Soft-palate splitting, 4 Somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs), 29, 249, 385-386 monitoring, 370, 372 Sonntag technique, 243 Space-occupying lesions, 92 Spinal cord injuries without radiological abnormalities (SCIWORA), 298 Spinal defects, 92 Spinal epidural abscess (SEA), 345-352 Spondyloptosis, 60 Stability-sparing endoscopic endonasal odontoidectomy, CVJ malformation, 229-232 Subaxial spinal and atlantoaxial instability, cervical spondylotic myelopathy age-related reduction, 75 central/axial dislocation, 76 clinical and radiological features, 73, 75 clinical grading system, 73, 75 degenerative spinal changes, 77 Subaxial subluxation, 82 Sublaminar instrumented wiring versus lateral mass screw implants, 5-6 Suboccipital aponeurosis, 162 Suboccipital midline approaches, 4 Suboccipital/retrosigmoid craniotomy, 166 Superior nostril hard palatine line, 20 Syringomyelia, 90, 97–98, 102–105, 108, 109, 120, 121, 123, 125-129 Syringomyelia-Chiari complex pathophysiological mechanisms, 137 shunt catheter positioning, 137-138 Syringosubarachnoid (S-S) shunting, 133-138

Т

Tectorial membrane (TM), 310 Teeth traumatism, 187 Temporoparietal fascia flap (TPFF), 214 flap harvesting, 217 infratemporal corridor, 217 posterior cranial fossa reconstruction, 217, 218 transpterygoid transposition of the flap, 218 Traction theory, 91 Transarticular screw (TAS) technique, 64, 269 Transcondylar angle, 19 Transcondylar fossa approach (TCFA), 162 Transcondylar, supracondylar and paracondylar approaches, 6 Transjugular ELA (tjELA), 173 Transnasal approaches, 4, 40-42 Transnasal decompression, 85 Transoral approach (TOA), 21, 40-42, 185 anterior, 4 complications and avoidance CSF leakage, 239 injury of the vertebral artery, 239 pharyngeal wound dehiscence, 239 postoperative neurological deterioration, 239 soft tissue swelling, 239 velopharyngeal dysfunction, 237-239 to CVJ, 51-53 operative technique anaesthetic considerations and positioning, 236 incision and soft tissue dissection, 236

transoral atlas-sparing technique, 236, 237 transoral transatlas technique, 236-238 postoperative management, 239 surgical strategy, 235-236 vs. transnasal approach, 181–185 Transoral atlas-sparing technique, 236, 237 Transoral transatlas technique, 236-238 Traumatic spondylolisthesis of the axis, 306, 314-315 'Triple F' technique, 216 Truncated pyramids, 38, 39 Tuberculosis (TB) atlantoaxial dislocation, 337, 340, 341 diagnosis, 339 disability scoring systems, 338 good alignment and posterior decompression, 340, 342 implants stability, 340, 342 initial clinical findings, 338 materials and methods, 337 postoperative clinical outcome, 338 radiological features and classification systems, 338 spinal cord decompression, 340, 342 tissue infiltration, 340, 342 treatment, 339-340 algorithms, 338-340, 343 Tubular retractor systems, 291, 292 Type A facetal dislocation, 60 Type B facetal instability, 60 Type C facetal instability, 60 Type II C2 fractures, 325-327 Type II odontoid fracture advantages, 320 C1-C2 articular facets, 318, 321 C1-C2 instability, 319, 322, 323 follow-up, 318 materials and methods, 317-318 oblique down and back odontoid fracture, 317, 318 with posterior dislocation, 318, 320 screw placement, 317, 318

U

Ultrasound-guided biopsies of joints, 82 Upper cervical spine, 297 Upper lip bite test (ULBT), 383

V

Ventral approaches, 18
Ventral brainstem anatomy, 45–49
Ventral craniovertebral junction approach, coronal plane, 20
Ventrolateral bulbomedullary junction, 166
Vertebral and vertebrobasilar aneurysms, lateral suboccipital approach, 159
Vertebral artery (VA) handling, 161
Vertebral artery transposition, 172 ELA, 176, 178
Vertebrobasilar insufficiency, 83 and stroke, 155
Video-assisted procedures in pituitary surgery, 4
Video-capture system, 46
Visual analogue scale (VAS), 64, 67, 73, 102, 107

W

Wackenheim's Clivus Base line, 19 Wake-up test, 385 functiona

Welcher's basal angle, 19 Williams–Beuren syndrome, 92 Wiring/screwing technique, 266, 268 bone fusion, 256 complications, 256–257 follow-up, 256 functional decompression, 253 posterior instrumentation and fusion, 254 postoperative care, 254–255 sublaminar instrumented wiring *vs.* lateral mass screw implants, 256